
Meeting of
West Berkshire
District Council

Thursday 8 December 2016

Summons and Agenda

Public Document Pack



To:  All Members of the Council

You are requested to attend a meeting of
WEST BERKSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

to be held in the
COUNCIL OFFICES, MARKET STREET, 

NEWBURY
on

Thursday 8 December 2016
at 7.00pm

Andy Day
Head of Strategic Support
West Berkshire District Council

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Wednesday 30 November 2016

AGENDA
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any).  

2.   CHAIRMAN'S REMARKS
The Chairman to report on functions attended since the last meeting and other matters 
of interest to Members.  

3.   PRESENTATION OF THE WEST BERKSHIRE COMMUNITY CHAMPION AWARDS 
(C3096)
The Chairman will present the following Community Champion Awards for 2016:

 Volunteer of the Year

 Community Group of the Year

 Lifetime Achievement Award



Agenda - Council to be held on Thursday, 8 December 2016 (continued)

  
4.   MINUTES

The Chairman to sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 
15 September 2016 and the Extraordinary Council meeting held on 22 November 
2016. (Pages 7 - 26)

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To remind Members of the need to record the existence and nature of any Personal, 
Disclosable Pecuniary or other interests in items on the agenda, in accordance with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct.  

6.   PETITIONS
Councillors may present any petition which they have received. These will normally be 
referred to the appropriate body without discussion.  

7.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS
(Note: There were no questions submitted relating to items not included on the 
agenda)  

8.   MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES
The Monitoring Officer to advise of any changes to the membership of Committees 
since the previous Council meeting.  

9.   LICENSING COMMITTEE
The Council is asked to note that since the last meeting of the Council, the Licensing 
Committee has not met.    

10.   PERSONNEL COMMITTEE
The Council is asked to note that since the last meeting of the Council, the Personnel 
Committee met on 21 October 2016.  Copies of the Minutes of this meeting can be 
obtained from Strategic Support or via the Council’s website.  

11.   GOVERNANCE AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Council is asked to note that since the last meeting of Council, the Governance 
and Ethics Committee met on 28 November 2016.  Copies of the Minutes of this 
meeting can be obtained from Strategic Support or via the Council’s website.  

12.   DISTRICT PLANNING COMMITTEE
The Council is asked to note that since the last meeting of the Council, the District 
Planning Committee met on 28 September 2016.  Copies of the Minutes of this 
meeting can be obtained from Strategic Support or via the Council’s website.  

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=19557
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2510
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15446


Agenda - Council to be held on Thursday, 8 December 2016 (continued)

13.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMISSION
The Council is asked to note that since the last meeting of the Council, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Commission met on 6 December 2016.  Copies of the 
Minutes of this meeting can be obtained from Strategic Support or via the Council’s 
website.  

14.   JOINT PUBLIC PROTECTION PARTNERSHIP (C3158)
This report proposes the creation of a Joint Committee to deliver a shared service 
arrangement between West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils. 
This new arrangement will be known as the Public Protection Partnership (PPP). 
This report follows the decision by all three Councils’ Executives to enter into this 
arrangement. (Pages 27 - 86)

15.   PROPOSED MAIN MODIFICATIONS TO THE HOUSING SITE ALLOCATIONS 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT (HSA DPD) (C3188)
To consider the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD), the updated Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and updated Habitats Regulations Assessment, and to approve these 
for publication for a 7 week period of public consultation. This is a regulatory stage of 
the DPD process and requires Council resolution. (Pages 87 - 1080)

16.   NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING (C3198)
To inform Members of the Neighbourhood Planning process and to set out the 
proposed approval process for the adoption of a Neighbourhood Plan. (Pages 1081 - 
1118)

17.   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2017/18 (C3171)
To advise Council of the scope for changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme for 
2017/18. Review of the scheme is a statutory responsibility and, in addition, the 
Council needs to identify the scope for cost reduction in the light of budget pressures.   
(Pages 1119 - 1180)

18.   ACTIVITY TEAM WEST BERKSHIRE FEES AND CHARGES 2017/18 (C3098)
To consider the fees and charges for the 2017/18 Activity Team West Berkshire 
programme in order to enable the service to competitively advertise and promote 
activities, and maximise advanced bookings and income. (Pages 1181 - 1190)

19.   LEISURE CENTRE FEES AND CHARGES 2017 (C3099)
To implement the contractual requirement for an annual price review for 2017 for the 
leisure contractor to come into effect from 1 January 2017. (Pages 1191 - 1202)

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=3846
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=3846


Agenda - Council to be held on Thursday, 8 December 2016 (continued)

20.   PROPOSED MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME - 2017/18 (C3097)
To agree the proposed Member Development Programme for 2017/18. (Pages 1203 - 
1210)

21.   2017/18 WEST BERKSHIRE COUNCIL TIMETABLE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS 
(C3197)
To recommend a timetable of meetings for the 2017/18 Municipal Year. (Pages 1211 - 
1218)

22.   NOTICES OF MOTION
(a) The following Motion has been submitted in the name of Councillor Lee 

Dillon:
Transitional Funding
“That this Council agrees to award transitional funding to the Short Breaks 
programme for the 2017/18 financial year to the value of £170,000. 
This will ensure that voluntary organisations have a longer term period to 
consider their strategy to combat the reduction of Council funding in the longer 
term and for this Council to consider other ways to secure the provision of or 
fund short breaks”.
Comment from the Section 151 Officer:
“The proposed use of £170k for short breaks would be funded from the yet to be 
allocated £1.37m of Transitional Grant Funding for 2017/18.”  

23.   MEMBERS' QUESTIONS
(Note: There were no questions submitted relating to items not included on the 
agenda)  

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Moira Fraser on telephone (01635) 519045.



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT
Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

COUNCIL
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON

THURSDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2016
Councillors Present: Pamela Bale, Jeremy Bartlett, Jeff Beck, Dennis Benneyworth, 
Dominic Boeck, Graham Bridgman, Paul Bryant, Anthony Chadley, Jeanette Clifford (Vice-
Chairman), Hilary Cole, James Cole, Roger Croft, Richard Crumly, Rob Denton-Powell, 
Lee Dillon, Lynne Doherty, Adrian Edwards, Sheila Ellison, Marcus Franks, James Fredrickson, 
Dave Goff, Paul Hewer, Clive Hooker, Carol Jackson-Doerge (Vice-Chairman), 
Marigold Jaques, Rick Jones, Tony Linden, Mollie Lock, Gordon Lundie, Alan Macro, 
Tim Metcalfe, Ian Morrin, Anthony Pick, James Podger, Garth Simpson, Richard Somner, 
Anthony Stansfeld, Virginia von Celsing, Quentin Webb (Chairman), Emma Webster and 
Laszlo Zverko

Also Present: Sarah Clarke (Legal Services Manager), Mac Heath (Head of Children and 
Family Services), Peta Stoddart-Crompton (Public Relations Officer), Rachael Wardell 
(Corporate Director - Communities), Robert Alexander (Group Executive (Conservatives)), 
Moira Fraser (Democratic and Electoral Services Manager), Jo Reeves (Policy Officer) and 
Honorary Alderman Andrew Rowles

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Steve Ardagh-Walter, Councillor 
Peter Argyle, John Ashworth, Nick Carter, Councillor Keith Chopping, Councillor Billy 
Drummond, Councillor Manohar Gopal, Councillor Mike Johnston, Councillor Graham Jones, 
Councillor Alan Law, Honorary Alderman Royce Longton, Honorary Alderman Joe Mooney, 
Councillor Graham Pask and Honorary Alderman Alan Thorpe

Councillors Absent: Councillor Howard Bairstow and Councillor Nick Goodes

PART I
23. Appointment of Vice Chairman

The Chairman requested nominations for the position of Vice-Chairman of Council for the 
remainder of the Municipal Year 2016/17. In response to this request Councillor Carol 
Jackson-Doerge was nominated by Councillor Jeanette Clifford and the nomination was 
seconded by Councillor Anthony Pick. There were no further nominations for the position 
of Vice-Chairman.
Councillor  Clifford stated that Councillor Jackson-Doerge, a former Vice Chairman of 
Council, was experienced, good humoured, stylish, knowledgeable and hard working and 
she had the attributes needed to fulfil the role of Vice-Chairman.
Councillor Pick commented that Councillor Jackson-Doerge had previously undertaken 
the role of Vice Chairman with great dignity and would do so again.
RESOLVED that Councillor Carol Jackson-Doerge be appointed Vice-Chairman of 
Council for the remainder of the Municipal Year 2016/17.  
The Vice-Chairman read and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office. Councillor 
Jackson–Doerge thanked the Council for electing her. She noted that this was a huge 
honour and she would support Councillor Webb to the best of her ability.
Councillor Jackson-Doerge thanked the outgoing Vice-Chairman, Councillor Clifford, for 
her contribution to the Council since being elected as Vice Chairman in May 2016.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4.



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

24. Chairman's Remarks
The Chairman conveyed his sincere thanks to the previous Vice-Chairman, Councillor 
Jeanette Clifford, for her support during the first half of the year and also congratulated 
her on her appointment to the Executive.
The Chairman also thanked Jo Watt who had supported all Members, including all 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen, for the past 18 Years. He expressed gratitude for the 
contributions she had made during her time as a Member Support Officer and he wished 
her every success in her new role as Appeals Officer.
The Chairman reported that he had attended 57 events since the last Council meeting; 
Councillor Clifford had attended ten events and Councillor Adrian Edwards had attended 
one event on the Chairman’s behalf.  
In particular he highlighted the Duke of Edinburgh’s Awards, judging of the Queen’s 
birthday card competition and the subsequent prize giving, the Bayer 10k race, being 
invited to the ‘Dream of Production’ event at Parsons Down School, the armed service 
briefing at Sandhurst, the ‘Tigris’ commemoration service and meeting relatives of the 
submariners who had died in the 1943 tragedy, celebrating 10 years of the Autism 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Department at Theale Green School and attending the 
reaffirmation of the civic honour of the Royal School of Military Survey Freedom of the 
Town of Thatcham.

25. Minutes
The Minutes of the meeting held on 19 May 2016 and the extraordinary meeting on the 
31 May 2016 were approved as a true and correct record and signed by the Chairman.

26. Declarations of Interest
Councillor Alan Macro declared an interest in Agenda Items 18 and 21, and reported that, 
as his interest was personal and prejudicial and a disclosable pecuniary interest, he 
would be leaving the meeting during the course of consideration of the matter.
Councillor Pamela Bale declared an interest in Agenda Items 18 and 21, but reported 
that, as her interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, 
she determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.
Councillor Lynne Doherty noted that she had previously declared an interest in item 17 
(Short Breaks for Disabled Children) by virtue of the fact that she was employed by 
Homestart. She had been granted a dispensation by the Governance and Ethics 
Committee to speak and vote on associated matters. She was however no longer an 
employee of Homestart and therefore no longer needed to declare this interest. 
Councillor Jeanette Clifford declared a personal interest in question 7(e) which she would 
be answering but it was noted that no decision on this matter was required. Councillor 
Clifford declared the interest by virtue of the fact that her son was employed by BT 
Openreach.

27. Petitions
Councillor Gordon Lundie, on behalf of Ms Sue Cocker, presented a petition containing 
378 signatures relating to the West Berkshire Library Service.
The petition requested that the Council:

1. Publish the full Libraries’ Needs Assessment Report in the interests of 
transparency and decision making.

Page 8



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

2. Consult with stakeholder groups on proposals resulting from the Needs 
Assessment in order to allow co-creation of practical joint solutions.

3. Discuss and decide on the proposals in Full Council so that all Members can 
participate.

The Chairman thanked the petitioner for the petition. He explained that the petition would 
be referred to the appropriate Officers. He commented that in relation to points 1 and 2 
the Council had committed to publishing the Needs Assessment and to consulting with 
the public. In relation to point 3 it was proposed that the final decision would be made at 
Council.

28. Public Questions
A full transcription of the public and Member question and answer sessions are available 
from the following link: Transcription of Q&As. 
(a) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing 

submitted by Paul Inman.
A question standing in the name of Paul Inman on the subject of using s106 contributions 
from new developments (including the Living at the Racecourse development) to mitigate 
the harm of visitors to Greenham Common was answered by the Portfolio Holder for 
Planning and Housing. As the questioner was not present they would also be sent a 
written response to their question.
(b) Question to be answered by the Leader of the Council submitted by Balu 

Sidra.
A question standing in the name of Balu Sidra on the subject of marketing costs for the 
Greenham Control Tower was answered by the Leader of the Council. As the questioner 
was not present they would also be sent a written response to their question.
(Councillor Gordon Lundie left the meeting at 7.35pm)
(c) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing 

submitted by John Gage.
A question standing in the name of John Gage on the subject of a failure to identify the 
existence of an existing planning permission for change of use of the Control Tower to a 
visitor centre was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing.
(d) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport  

submitted by Elizabeth O’ Keefe.
A question standing in the name of Elizabeth O’ Keefe on the subject of measures being 
taken by the Council to ensure that the new link road on the Sterling Industrial Estate was 
built in accordance with the LEP funding requirements was answered by the Portfolio 
Holder for Highways and Transport.
(e) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport 

submitted by Kim Hetherton.
A question standing in the name of Kiim Hetherton on the subject of minimising disruption 
to businesses as a result of utility companies digging up the highway was answered by 
the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport. As the questioner was not present they 
would also be sent a written response to their question.
(Councillor Jeremy Bartlett arrived at 7.40pm)

Page 9

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12419/2016-09-15%20Council%20Questions%20and%20Answers%2015th-Sep-2016%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=9


COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

29. Membership of Committees
The Leader of the Council took this opportunity to welcome Councillors Jeanette Clifford 
and Rick Jones to the Executive. Following their appointments it had been necessary to 
make some adjustments to other Committees.
The Leader of the Council therefore proposed that the Council approve the following 
appointments:

Councillor Keith Chopping to replace Councillor Rick Jones on the Governance and 
Ethics Committee.

Councillor Marigold Jaques to replace Councillor Rick Jones on the Communities Select 
Committee.

Councillor Marigold Jaques to replace Councillor Rick Jones as substitute on the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission.

Councillor Jeanette Clifford to replace Councillor Garth Simpson on the Planning 
Advisory Group

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Emma Webster.

The Council agreed to the changes to the membership of Committees.

30. Licensing Committee
The Council noted that, since the last meeting, the Licensing Committee had not met.

31. Personnel Committee
The Council noted that, since the last meeting, the Personnel Committee had met on 30 
June 2016.

32. Governance and Ethics Committee
The Council noted that, since the last meeting, the Governance and Ethics Committee 
had met on 05 September 2016.

33. District Planning Committee
The Council noted that, since the last meeting, the District Planning Committee had met 
on 27 July 2016 and 30 August 2016.

34. Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission
The Council noted that, since the last meeting, the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Commission had met on 07 June 2016.

35. Changes to the Constitution - Part 11 (Contract Rules of Procedure) 
(C3134)
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 14) concerning proposed amendments to 
the Council’s Contract Rules of Procedure (Part 11 of the Constitution).
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor James Fredrickson and seconded by Councillor 
Jeanette Clifford.
That the Council:
“the proposed amendments to Part 11 (Contract Rules of Procedure) be agreed and that 
the changes come into effect on the 16th September 2016”.

Page 10



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

AMENDMENT: Proposed by Councillor James Fredrickson and seconded by Councillor 
Jeanette Clifford:

“That the recommendations set out in Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 set out in the report be 
approved and adopted subject to the following amendments:

11.4 Authority

That the first column of paragraph 11.4.4 be amended to read:

Total Contract Value
per annum*
Less than £100,000
£100,000 or more and less than £500,000
£500,000 or more and less than £2.5 million
£2.5 million or more

11.5 Tendering

That the first column of paragraph 11.5.2 be amended to read:

     Total Value £
A             Less than 10,000
B             10,000 or more and less than 100,000
C             100,000 or more and less than relevant EU threshold2

D            Relevant EU threshold or more2

Councillor Fredrickson commented that the amendments which had been previously 
circulated to Members and also tabled at the meeting were minor amendments to clarify 
the action required if contracts amounted to the exact value of some of the thresholds. 
The amendment was put to the vote and declared CARRIED.
Councillor Fredrickson noted that the report sought to adjust the thresholds required for 
the Executive to sign off contracts. The key change was that contracts valued between 
£500k and £2.5m would be signed off by Heads of Service, in consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder, under delegated authority. As these decisions were key 
decisions they would still have to appear on the Forward Plan for 28 days and would be 
subject to the Council’s usual call-in procedures. These changes were designed to 
streamline decision making. 
Councillor Lee Dillon commented that he was happy to support the changes as Members 
and the public would still be aware of forthcoming decisions as they would appear on the 
Forward Plan and the decisions could still be called-in. He requested that the decisions 
be monitored to ensure that Heads of Service did not aggregate or disaggregate 
contracts to circumvent the agreed processes.
Councillor Alan Macro commented that, although not a contract, the Council had recently 
spent significant sums of money (around £250k) on legal fees associated with a Judicial 
Review. He stated that although he did not necessarily disagree with the decision to 

Page 11



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

review he felt that the process was not transparent and he asked if this was something 
that the Governance and Ethics Committee could look into.
Councillor Clifford noted that the changes had involved a lot of work and she thanked all 
Members and Officers for their input. She noted that the Council had a duty to obtain best 
value and these changes represented a more mobile and streamlined process but 
retained the checks and balances described by Councillor Fredrickson.
Councillor Fredrickson thanked Councillors Dillon and Clifford for their comments. He 
responded to Councillor Macro by explaining that the sums he was quoting for the 
Judicial Review covered a five year period and that a large proportion of the costs had 
been funded by the Local Enterprise Partnership. He therefore stated that there was no 
need for the Governance and Ethics Committee to consider this matter.
The Substantive Motion, as amended, was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.

36. A New Councillors Code of Conduct (C3066)
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 15) concerning revisions to the 
Councillor’s Code of Conduct.
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor James Fredrickson and seconded by Councillor 
Graham Bridgman:
That the Council:

(1) Approves and adopts the new Councillors Code of Conduct.
(2) Delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to make any required changes 

to the Council’s Constitution in light of the new Councillors Code of 
Conduct.

(3) Delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to update the process for 
investigating alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct.

(4) Delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to publicise the revisions and 
replacement of the Councillors Code of Conduct in accordance with Section 
28 (12) of the Localism Act 2011.”

AMENDMENT: Proposed by Councillor James Fredrickson and seconded by Councillor 
Graham Bridgman:
That the Council:
“That the recommendation set out in paragraphs 2.1 (1), (2), (3) and (4) be approved and 
adopted subject to the following amendments:

Page 66 (of agenda pack) - “How does a Councillor register gifts and hospitality that they 
receive?” should be amended to read “How does a Councillor register gifts and 
hospitality they are offered or receive?”

Page 75 at 11.1 – “Other Interest” should be amended to read “Other Registerable 
Interest”.

Page 78 (Flowchart) – “Has the Monitoring Officer granted you a Dispensation?” (in two 
places) should be amended to read “Has the Monitoring Officer or Governance & Ethics 
Committee granted you a Dispensation?”.

Page 12



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

Councillor Fredrickson noted that this was a minor amendment to ensure that gifts, both 
received and offered, needed to be reported by Members and clarified the role of the 
Governance and Ethics Committee in respect of granting dispensations.

The amendment was put to the vote and declared CARRIED.
Councillor Fredrickson noted that the changes were largely cosmetic but were designed 
to ensure that Members met their legal duties under the Bribery Act 2010. Officers had 
been asked to review the guidance to ensure that it was clear and precise so that 
Members were able to understand their obligations. He thanked Councillor Quentin Webb 
for the work he had done on getting the changes made.
Councillor Bridgman noted that a Task Group had been set up to review the documents. 
He paid tribute to the Officers especially Jo Reeves who had spent a lot of time on 
getting the work done. The document was designed to be more accessible on a tablet, 
and sought to clarify the Gifts and Hospitality Protocol. He reminded Members of the 
need to declare gifts that were both received and offered.
Councillor Webb commented that it would be useful for Parish Councils to have sight of 
the revised document. Councillor Bridgman commented that it was hoped that a template 
could be produced for the parishes to use.
The Substantive Motion, as amended, was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.

37. Response to the Motion that the Council investigates Webcasting 
(C3065)
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 16) which provided a response from the 
Webcasting Task and Finish Group to Councillor Alan Macro’s Motion that the Council 
investigated the cost and practicality of webcasting all Council, Executive and Committee 
meetings which was put to the Council on the 02 July 2015.
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor James Fredrickson and seconded by Councillor Alan 
Macro:
That the Council:

“(1) The Council to webcast meetings of particular public interest.
(2) A project board of officers from Property, IT and Strategic Support be set up 

to make arrangements to complete the repairs and acquire the equipment 
needed to webcast meetings in the Council Chamber and at other locations.

(3) The Governance and Ethics Committee to develop a Webcasting Policy, to 
include a procedure for identifying meetings to be webcast and guidance for 
Members.”

Councillor Fredrickson reported that following the submission of a Motion to Council by 
Councillor Macro a cross party task group had been set up to look into webcasting 
Council meetings. He noted that the anticipated expenditure of £80k would be met from 
the Capital Programme and would not incur a revenue cost burden. He also highlighted 
that around £35k would be spent on equipment and that the remaining £45k was 
associated with maintenance costs that would have to be incurred in any event to ensure 
that the Council was meeting all its statutory requirements.
Councillor Fredrickson reported that the recent level of interest in the Full Council 
meeting where the Development Plan Document had been discussed had highlighted the 
need for the Council to consider webcasting future meetings. A process would be put in 
place whereby the agreement of the Group Leaders and relevant Officers would be 

Page 13



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

required as to which meetings should be broadcast. He thanked Councillor Macro for 
agreeing to second the motion.
Councillor Macro congratulated the task Group on the work they had done to progress 
this matter. He welcomed the additional transparency that webcasting would provide.
The Motion was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.

38. Short Breaks for Disabled Children (C3173)
Prior to the discussion on this item commencing the Chairman clarified why Members 
were being asked to consider this matter. On 1 March 2016 and 31 May 2016, the 
Council made decisions relating to the budget for Short Breaks for disabled children.
Those decisions had both been quashed by High Court judgement. As detailed in the 
executive summary in regards to decision 1, Justice Laing concluded that Members did 
not ask ‘the right questions’ regarding the Council’s obligations under the Equalities Act 
2010. In regards to decision 2, Justice Laing assessed that this decision addressed the 
flaws of decision 1. However, this decision was also quashed, as Justice Laing 
concluded that Members were not informed as to how to rescind the previous decision 
should they have been minded to, through suspending standing orders.
The Chairman commented that as a Council, Members and Officers were obviously 
disappointed with this result. This was particularly so for decision 2, given that 
Councillors received training regarding the rules of the Constitution, including how to 
suspend Standing Orders.

The Chairman noted that the Council respected the Court’s judgement and Members 
were being asked to consider the matter completely afresh at this meeting. He invited 
Councillors to consider the issue with fresh eyes, casting discussions at the previous 2 
meetings of Council concerning this matter aside.”
 (Councillor Lynne Doherty clarified that although she had previously declared an interest 
in this item, this conflict no longer existed as she had left the employment of a provider in 
July 2016.)
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 17) following the High Court decision on 
the 22nd July 2016 that ordered that the Council’s previous decisions, made on the 01st 
March 2016 and the 31st May 2016, relating to the reduction in funding for short breaks, 
be quashed. 
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor Lynne Doherty and seconded by Councillor James 
Fredrickson:
That the Council:

1. “having considered this report and its appendices fully agrees that the service 
redesign, reductions and budgetary measures proposed relating to short breaks 
funding are appropriate and proportionate following assessment of the statutory 
requirements.

2. Instructs that Officers robustly monitor the impact of the budgetary reduction and 
continue to work in close partnership with local providers of short breaks provision 
in West Berkshire.”

Councillor Doherty, in introducing this item reminded Members that they were required to 
make a new decision on the redesign of short breaks for disabled children, for reasons 
already explained by the Chairman.
Councillor Doherty explained that as elected Members it was their duty to question 
whether the proposed budget reduction was justifiable in the context of the important 

Page 14



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

need to protect and promote the welfare of disabled children and their carers. She 
reported that the information set out within the report should enable Members to consider 
the impact on this extremely vulnerable cohort of residents.
Councillor Doherty commented that she could not fully comprehend the daily difficulties 
faced by these children or their families. She accepted that this was a highly emotive 
decision but that Members were charged with balancing the needs of all residents as well 
as this vulnerable group. Councillor Doherty noted that the Council had received a 
petition containing 4,447 signatures from West Berkshire Mencap the previous day 
requesting that: ‘West Berkshire Council change their mind on their proposal to cut the 
funding of disabled children’s short breaks at West Berkshire Mencap’.
Councillor Doherty commented that she had carefully studied the information within the 
report and attached appendices, met with the services involved, both internal to the Local 
Authority and External Providers, she had met and heard from parents and she had 
compared ‘Short Break Services’ data from across the country. As a result she was of the 
opinion the Council provided a ‘good’ service to these children and their families.
The March 2015 Ofsted Inspection had highlighted that the ‘specialist team provides 
good quality child-focused work’. She noted that the Disabled Children’s Team worked 
hard to provide the support needed through Education, Health and Care Plans and were 
making good progress with required Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND) 
reforms. This would be tested by the new Ofsted SEND inspections which had just 
started, but initial feedback from parents was positive. 
Councillor Doherty cited an email from a parent received two weeks previously with 
regard to the Castlegate service: “my younger son who would literally run to their door to 
be let in so I can only assume he loved to go there and felt safe and secure”.
Councillor Doherty commented that the financial implications were set out in paragraph 
6.1 of the report. She asked Members to note that the spend for 2016/17 was actually 
£1,335,252.00) which totalled nearly 9% of the total Children’s Services budget. Short 
Breaks, which were provided by voluntary groups, should be viewed as a part of a larger 
service delivered by the Local Authority for disabled children and their families. Members 
needed to determine if the level of expenditure was proportionate and justifiable in light of 
other savings that had to be made. The Council had protected frontline services for 
disabled children, and invested in them at the last Full Council in the Getting to Good 
Paper. The Council continued to support and invest in its overnight facility Castlegate 
which provided the largest component of the Council’s Short Break Service and enabled 
the Council to meet its statutory obligations. She noted that there would be no change to 
the care packages for children with the highest level of need.

Paragraph 8.3 explained that it was the discretionary element that might change, 
particularly for those individuals who did not meet statutory levels of need. Councillor 
Doherty stated that through her research and working knowledge of this area she was 
confident that an effective service could still be delivered and that the Council would be 
able to minimise the effect such a reduction would have on the needs of both children 
and carers within West Berkshire.
The local offer which was promoted to all families would be key in ensuring clear detail in 
what and where support was available. It contained information not only on current 
providers who were continuing to deliver but also new providers and new supported 
services coming to some of our local communities that were self-funded and run by the 
communities themselves.

Page 15



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

Transition Funding was enabling the Council to manage any changes carefully and over 
an extended period of time as the Council recognised that change could be difficult and 
even more so for vulnerable individuals.
Councillor Roger Croft commented, albeit that this was a very difficult decision, it was 
one of many that Councillors had to make. He urged all Members to take careful 
consideration of their legal duties (set out in section 7 of the paperwork), and the legal 
processes they were required to follow. Members had a duty to take account of legal 
restrictions, balancing the needs of all the District’s vulnerable groups yet at the same 
time producing a balanced budget. 
Members were being asked to consider reducing funding for short breaks for the carers 
of disabled children. The Council needed to make decisions on the balance of the 
services it was able to provide whilst being mindful of the needs of all those they served. 
Councillor Croft noted that the Council provided lots of services, around 800, all of which 
were important in varying degrees. The decision before Members was about balancing 
those difficult options and making decisions that were appropriate and proportionate 
given the wider context of all the Council’s functions. The Council’s financial position had 
meant that services had to be reduced in many discretionary areas including rural buses, 
neighbourhood wardens, cross boundary waste and recycling services to name but a 
few.
 
Councillor Croft stated that the Council’s financial position had been well publicised and 
all decisions needed to take cognisance of the Council’s duty to operate within a 
balanced budget. Unlike other organisations the Council did not have the luxury of being 
able to operate a deficit budget. 
He asked Members to consider what kind of service would remain if Members were 
minded to approve this proposal and how that offer compared with other parts of 
England.  
Councillor Richard Somner asked the Portfolio Holder to explain how this proposal would 
compare to other Local Authorities offering Short Break Services.
Councillor Alan Macro noted that Justice Laing had made mention of the fact that at the 
31 May 2016 meeting Members had not been informed about the ability to rescind the 
March 2016 decision. He had pointed this issue out at the time and his comments had 
not been well received. 
Councillor Macro drew Members’ attention to the statement of Christine Lanehan, the 
Director of the Council for Disabled Children, set out from page 250 of the paperwork. He 
made specific reference to paragraph 17 on page 255 where Ms Lanehan stated that the 
Council had misinterpreted the Government’s intention regarding Aiming High Funding. 
She commented that in the final year of the ring fenced funding the Regulations and 
Short Breaks funding statement were introduced which made it clear to both parents and 
local authorities that it was the Government’s intention that the local provision should 
continue.
Councillor Macro also commented on paragraph 18 of Ms Lanehan’s statement where 
she stated that the Council’s distinction between Aiming High short breaks provision and 
core provision was inaccurate as it carried the same statutory intent. In paragraph 19 she 
stated that in her view it was not appropriate for local authorities to focus solely on 
meeting assessed need as stated by the Council. He asked that Members take these 
comments into account in reaching a decision at the meeting.

Page 16



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

Councillor Lee Dillon noted that the report directed Members to consider various pieces 
of legislation. He stated that Members also had a moral imperative to ensure that the 
District’s most vulnerable individuals and their carers got the care that they required. The 
Care Act 2004 stated that where appropriate the Council should use reserves to fund 
services or seek to increase charges elsewhere to meet these costs. He accepted that in 
West Berkshire Council’s case it would not be appropriate to use reserves but that the 
report did not set out any detailed analysis of charges that could potentially be increased. 
He asked Members to consider using some of the 2017/18 Transitional Funding to give 
more time to consider all the options for this important service.
Councillor Emma Webster sought assurance from the Portfolio Holder that in her opinion 
this proposal was both proportionate and appropriate given the Council’s financial 
position.
Councillor Anthony Chadley, the Portfolio Holder for Finance, reminded Members of the 
need to operate within a balanced budget. He noted that Members had been required to 
make very difficult decisions during the previous financial year and the Council was still in 
the same financial cycle. The Council would again be required to find additional savings 
for the forthcoming financial year. In terms of making use of the Council’s reserves both 
the S151 Officer and the Council’s external auditors were clear that the Council’s current 
reserves were very close to the minimum reserve levels. Members could use reserves 
but any depletion would mean that the Council might be unable to respond to any other 
unforeseen emergencies.
Councillor Pamela Bale queried whether the Council had looked at other options and 
alternative income generation. 

Councillor Fredrickson stated that Members had a lot of information to consider at this 
meeting and that it was important to consider the decision afresh. The Council had 
decided to reduce funding for short breaks by £175k. Members were being asked to 
decide whether or not that decision could be justified. Members would need to balance 
the Council’s statutory and discretionary responsibilities whilst being mindful of the needs 
of all residents and being mindful of the Council’s budgetary environment. He stated that 
Members would need to determine if this proposal was appropriate and proportionate.
Councillor Fredrickson stated that a number of comments had been made about 
spending the Council’s reserves. It would be permissible to suspend standing orders and 
agree to spend the reserves. As the Portfolio Holder for Finance had already stated the 
Council’s reserves were very close to the minimum prudent level. Should the Council be 
minded to spend the reserves it might not be possible to react to an emergency or to fund 
other services.
Members had also discussed generating other income. Council Tax had been increased 
already. Other income could be generated from other sources such as staff car parking 
charges or increasing other fees across the Council. These options were being looked at 
but were not unique to this proposal. Councillor Fredrickson queried whether cuts could 
have been made to other services instead. Members however had a duty to be mindful of 
the needs of all residents and service users and as Members made this decision they 
needed to be mindful of all the obligations that had to be met. Members needed to 
compare West Berkshire Council’s offering in terms of this area with those of other 
authorities. 
Councillor Doherty commented that mention had been made of how West Berkshire 
Council’s offering compared with other authorities. During the research that she had 
conducted she had established that this Council’s offering was good and would compare 

Page 17



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

favourably with other authorities. The ‘Local Offer’ set out available services and she was 
pleased to note that new providers and community groups were coming into the market. 
She stated that the discretionary services would still be provided but just not by the 
Council.
Transition Funding had already been granted for this area as Members recognised that 
change was difficult. The funding had meant that the Council was able to work with 
partners to allow for positive transition to take place. 
Councillor Doherty commented that should Members be minded to approve the 
recommendations she would, as set out in recommendation in 2.3, advocate that this 
process be continually reviewed to ensure the Council’s offer was meeting need. The 
Council would however have to reduce and realign budgets over the coming years to 
ensure that it continued to meet its statutory duties. Councillor Doherty commented that 
although this budgetary reduction might adversely impact on some people, in the light of 
the Council’s need to appropriately balance all of its strategic aims and priorities and to 
fairly secure protection and support across the wide range of vulnerable people who 
needed this, the recommendation remained to approve the proposal.

The Motion was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.
In accordance with paragraph 4.17.3 of the Constitution, immediately after the vote was 
taken Councillors Alan Macro, Lee Dillon and Mollie Lock asked that their vote against 
the proposal be recorded.

39. West Berkshire District Council (land at Englefield Road and North 
Street, Theale) Compulsory Purchase Order 2016 (C3172)
(Councillor Alan Macro declared a personal and a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Agenda item 18 by virtue of the fact that was a Member of Theale Parish Council, he was 
a Governor at Theale Church of England Primary School and was a member of the 
project team. As his interest was personal and a disclosable pecuniary interest he 
determined to leave the meeting and took no part in the debate or voting on the matter).
(Councillor Pamela Bale declared a personal interest in Agenda item 18 by virtue of the 
fact that she was a governor at Theale Green School (one of the discounted options). As 
her interest was personal and not a disclosable pecuniary interest she determined to take 
part in the debate and vote on the matter). 
(Councillor Alan Macro left the meeting at 8.30pm and returned at 8.40pm)
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 18) which sought approval to purchase 
land using compulsory purchase powers to replace Theale Church of England Primary 
School. The Council would be unable to provide sufficient primary school places in 
Theale by September 2017 if agreement to purchase the land by negotiation did not 
occur immediately.
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor Lynne Doherty and seconded by Councillor Dominic 
Boeck:
That the Council:

Page 18



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

1. “Having given consideration to all the provisions of this report including the impact 
on Human Rights and Equalities, resolves to delegate to the Head of Legal 
Services authority to make a Compulsory Purchase Order(s) and other such 
powers as detailed in the appropriate Section  of this report.

2. Whilst negotiations are continuing to take place, successful negotiated purchase 
agreements cannot be reached despite numerous attempts to engage over the 
last 18 months.

3. Without the Council's involvement to acquire the necessary interests in land, the 
Council will be unable to unlock the site for the relocation of Theale Church of 
England Primary School.  The school has already exceeded capacity and there is 
an urgent need to provide more primary school places in Theale to meet current 
demand and projected pupil modelling numbers.  The proposal will assist with 
meeting the Council's duty to provide sufficient primary school places.”

Councillor Doherty noted that the National Audit had warned that there was a national 
shortage of places at both primary and secondary level. West Berkshire Council had a 
duty to ensure that there were sufficient school places available to every West Berkshire 
resident child that requested one between the ages of five and eleven and thereafter to 
seventeen.
The Council had therefore been working with Theale Church of England Primary School 
to replace the existing school situated in Church Street in Theale as part of the Education 
Capital Programme. The existing school was already over capacity and there was an 
urgent need to deliver suitable accommodation for a new school.
The land identified for the relocation was currently owned by Englefield Estate but was 
leased by Theale Parish Council. Negotiations had been progressing over the past 18 
months with the freeholder but the Parish Council had not engaged and the Council was 
being forced to consider making a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) to acquire the 
land. 
Councillor Emma Webster commented that it was sad that the Council was having to 
resort to a CPO and she hoped that the process could now be expedited.
Councillor Lee Dillon stated that while he supported the CPO route he hoped that the 
Council would not have to resort to this costly and time consuming process. He would 
prefer to see the costs spent on legal fees being used towards the building of the school.
Councillor Roger Croft explained that Members had not suggested this CPO lightly. 
There was a need for additional school spaces in Theale. The Council wanted to agree a 
way forward with the Parish Council that would allow it to build this school, but 
unfortunately the Council had been unable so to do. The Council had only proposed the 
CPO so that it could build a new school for Theale based children to educate them 
without them having to travel too far. The Council did not like CPO’s as they were 
expensive and coercive and it would introduce a further delay with no guarantee of 
success. If the Council did not undertake this CPO or it was not granted then there would 
sadly be no new school in Theale. He therefore recommended that Members support the 
motion so that the Council could take another step forward towards making a £7m 
investment in a new school in Theale. 
Councillor Fredrickson stated that he too did not like making use of the CPO process but 
that it seemed that only option available to the Council to deliver this new school.
Councillor Boeck stated that he too would prefer to see all of the £7m spent on the school 
for the residents of Theale. Theale had a growing population and by 2017 there would be 
insufficient places available at the current school to meet demand. This would mean that 

Page 19



COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

pupils would have to be bussed to nearby schools or more temporary accommodation 
would need to be placed on the already over crowded site. Unfortunately Theale Parish 
Council had refused to relinquish the lease and as a last resort the Council was being 
forced to use the CPO process.
Councillor Doherty stated that the children deserved the new school and it was the 
Council’s duty to ensure that it was delivered. 
The Motion was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.
(Councillor Pamela Bale, in accordance with paragraph 4.17.3 of the Constitution  
requested that her abstention from voting be recorded.)

40. Members' Questions
(a) A question standing in the name of Councillor Billy Drummond on the subject of 

safety concerns on the A34 was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways 
and Transport. As the questioner was not present they would also be sent a 
written response to their question.

A full transcription of the public and Member question and answer sessions are available 
from the following link: Transcription of Q&As. 

41. Exclusion of Press and Public
RESOLVED that members of the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
under-mentioned item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as contained in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information)(Variation) Order 2006. Rule 8.10.4 of the Constitution also refers.

42. West Berkshire District Council (Land at Englefield Road and North 
Street, Theale) Compulsory Purchase Order 2016 (C3172a)
(Councillor Alan Macro declared a personal and a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Agenda item 21 by virtue of the fact that was a Member of Theale Parish Council, he was 
a Governor at Theale Church of England Primary School and was a member of the 
project team. As his interest was personal and a disclosable pecuniary interest he 
determined to leave the meeting and took no part in the debate or voting on the matter).

(Councillor Pamela Bale declared a personal interest in Agenda item 21 by virtue of the 
fact that she was a governor at Theale Green School (one of the discounted options). As 
her interest was personal and not a disclosable pecuniary interest she determined to take 
part in the debate and vote on the matter). 
(Councillor Alan Macro left the meeting at 8.42pm and returned at 8.44pm).
The Committee considered an exempt report (Agenda Item 21) concerning the exempt 
Exchange Land Plan.
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor Lynne Doherty and seconded by Councillor James 
Fredrickson:
That the Council agrees the exempt element of the report.
The Motion was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.

(The meeting commenced at 7.00pm and closed at 8.44pm)

Page 20

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12419/2016-09-15%20Council%20Questions%20and%20Answers%2015th-Sep-2016%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=9
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197


COUNCIL - 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

CHAIRMAN …………………………………………….
Date of Signature …………………………………………….

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



DRAFT
Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

COUNCIL
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON

TUESDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 2016
Councillors Present: Steve Ardagh-Walter, Howard Bairstow, Pamela Bale, Jeff Beck, 
Dennis Benneyworth, Dominic Boeck, Graham Bridgman, Paul Bryant, Keith Chopping, 
Jeanette Clifford, Hilary Cole, James Cole, Roger Croft, Richard Crumly, Rob Denton-Powell, 
Lee Dillon, Lynne Doherty, Billy Drummond, Adrian Edwards, Marcus Franks, 
James Fredrickson, Dave Goff, Nick Goodes, Clive Hooker, Carol Jackson-Doerge (Vice-
Chairman), Marigold Jaques, Mike Johnston, Graham Jones, Rick Jones, Tony Linden, 
Mollie Lock, Gordon Lundie, Alan Macro, Tim Metcalfe, Ian Morrin, Graham Pask, Anthony Pick, 
James Podger, Quentin Webb (Chairman), Emma Webster and Laszlo Zverko

Also Present: John Ashworth (Corporate Director - Environment), Nick Carter (Chief 
Executive), Andy Day (Head of Strategic Support), Martin Dunscombe (Communications 
Manager), Rachael Wardell (Corporate Director - Communities), Robert Alexander (Group 
Executive (Conservatives)) and Moira Fraser (Democratic and Electoral Services Manager)

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Peter Argyle, Councillor Anthony 
Chadley, Councillor Sheila Ellison, Councillor Manohar Gopal, Councillor Alan Law, Honorary 
Alderman Royce Longton, Councillor Richard Somner, Councillor Anthony Stansfeld and 
Councillor Virginia von Celsing

Councillors Absent: Councillor Jeremy Bartlett, Councillor Paul Hewer and Councillor Garth 
Simpson

PART I
43. Declarations of Interest

All Councillors present declared an interest in Agenda Item 3, but reported that, as their 
interest was a personal but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to 
remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

44. Council Size Boundary Review - Phase 1 (C3029)
(All Councillors declared a personal interest in Agenda item 3 by virtue of the fact that as 
Councillors they could be affected by the reduction in the number of Councillors being 
proposed. As their interest was personal they determined to take part in the debate and 
vote on the matter). 
The Council considered a report (Agenda Item 3) which appraised them of the work that 
had been undertaken in relation to the Boundary Review (Council Size) and 
recommended a single figure as the proposed future number of Members with effect from 
the 2019/20 District Council elections.
Prior to the Motion being introduced the Chairman explained that Councillor Graham 
Jones would be proposing the recommendation as set out in paragraph 2.1 of the report 
and as part of his introduction he would also be proposing an amendment to the 
recommendation set out in paragraph 2.2 of the report which had been circulated to all 
Members in advance of the meeting.
MOTION: Proposed by Councillor Graham Jones and seconded by Councillor Steve 
Ardagh-Walter:

Page 23



COUNCIL - 22 NOVEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

That the Council:
“2.1 approves and adopts the Governance Report.”

AMENDMENT: Proposed by Councillor Graham Jones and seconded by Councillor Alan 
Macro:
That:
“2.2 for the purposes of Phase 1 of the Boundary Review process, the Council be 

requested to agree that the number of Members required from 2019/20 be 
reduced from the current number of 52 to 42 (+ or -1).”

Councillor Graham Jones noted the current boundaries were established in 2002. Since 
then the profile of the wards had changed over time as developments were erected. As a 
result of the development the disparity between the number of electors in various wards 
had grown. This imbalance meant that it had become necessary to revisit the ward 
boundaries and this was seen as an opportune time to examine the number of Members 
the authority needed to effectively govern the district. 
In terms of governance the authority operated a Strong Leader Model supported by an 
Executive. The Council had scrutiny arrangements in place to hold the Executive to 
account and to review decisions which had an impact across the district. Quasi judicial 
committees such as Licensing and Planning were also in place as part of a 
comprehensive governance structure. The governance needs had however to be 
balanced against a membership that was affordable. These proposals could generate 
around £70k of savings.
At the September 2015 Council meeting it was agreed that the Local Government 
Boundary Commission (LGBC) would be approached about undertaking a Council Size 
Boundary Review so that the discrepancies between wards could be corrected. 
Councillor Graham Jones noted that typically each Ward Member in West Berkshire 
represented around 2208 residents which was significantly lower than many other 
authorities in the South East e.g. Wiltshire (3538) and Portsmouth (3502). He noted that 
some other nearby unitary authorities operated with fewer than 52 Councillors e.g. 
Bracknell (42 Councillors). From this data it was apparent that if Members were minded 
to approve the recommendations, as amended, West Berkshire Council would not be an 
outlier in terms of its configuration. The implications of the changes for Councillors were 
clear and he urged Members to have the courage to do the right thing for the residents of 
West Berkshire. 
Councillor Graham Jones noted that the amendment had originally been proposed by the 
Liberal Democrat Group. They had originally suggested a figure of 44 (+ or – 1) 
Councillors but following discussions between the Leaders this had been revised down to 
42 (+ or -1). Councillor Jones’s personal view was that he would have preferred a figure 
of 40 (+ or -1) but that he felt that it was more important to present a unanimous view to 
the LGBC.
Councillor Steve Ardagh-Walter stated that he was pleased to second the Motion in 
relation to paragraph 2.1. As paragraph 2.2 was the subject of an amendment he would 
only be seconding the first recommendation. 
Councillor Alan Macro, in seconding the amendment to recommendation 2.2, stated that 
it was the role of a Councillor not only to represent the residents of their own ward but 
also to represent the residents of the district as a whole. The compromise that needed to 
be sought was the ability to effectively represent those residents against the ability to 

Page 24



COUNCIL - 22 NOVEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

have a useful Council. He commented that West Berkshire was one of the most sparsely 
populated parts of the South East of England. 
Decreasing the number of Councillors to 42 would constitute a 24% increase in the 
number of residents a Councillor would be representing. This would be the fourth highest 
figure for a district unitary authority. Councillor Macro noted that some wards already 
covered a large geographical area and noted that one single member ward currently 
covered eight parishes. Attending all eight parish meetings could be difficult for a ward 
member that chose to do so. 
Councillor Macro acknowledged that modern technology did make it easier to contact 
residents but highlighted that Members did not have electronic contact details for all their 
residents and indeed some residents did not have access to electronic communication. 
This would still mean that Members would need to distribute leaflets and do some ‘door 
knocking’ to keep their residents informed. 
The Amendment was put to the vote and declared CARRIED.
The debate then returned to the Substantive Motion. Councillor Steve Ardagh-Walter 
accepted that decreasing the number of Councillors would mean that the workload of 
individual Councillors might increase but felt that in the current financial climate this was 
the right thing to do. 
(Councillor Mike Johnston arrived at 7.13pm)
Councillor Graham Jones questioned some of the statistics that were quoted by 
Councillor Macro. He also noted that issues such as the geographical size of wards, 
rurality and deprivation issues were outside of the criteria for this exercise.  
The Substantive Motion was put to the meeting and duly RESOLVED.
(Councillor Mike Johnston did not vote on this item as he was not present for the whole 
discussion)

(The meeting commenced at 7.00pm and closed at 7.15pm)

CHAIRMAN …………………………………………….
Date of Signature …………………………………………….

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Joint Public Protection Partnership 
Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 08 December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Marcus Franks
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 29 November 2016

Report Author: Sean Murphy
Forward Plan Ref: C3158

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 West Berkshire District Council currently delivers its Trading Standards, 
Environmental Health and Licensing functions as part of a shared service 
arrangement with Wokingham Borough Council. The current agreements end on the 
8th January 2017. 

1.2 This report proposes the creation of a Joint Committee to deliver a shared service 
arrangement between West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils. 
The new arrangement will be known as the Public Protection Partnership (PPP). 

1.3 This report follows the decision by all three Councils Executives to enter into this 
arrangement.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Insofar as the functions and arrangements are for the Council it resolves:-

2.2 To authorise the arrangements set out in this report including the creation of a Joint 
Committee with Wokingham Borough Council and Bracknell Forest Council through 
the Public Protection Partnership (PPP) with effect from the 9th January 2017.

2.3 To delegate authority to the Head of Legal Services, in consultation with the Head 
of Finance and Head of Culture and Environmental Protection, to finalise the terms 
of the PPP as set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) between the three 
Councils and to make any necessary drafting or other amendments to the terms of 
the draft Agreement which are necessary to reach final agreement but do not 
materially affect the intent and substance of the Agreement.

2.4 To authorise the Joint Committee to determine policy, strategy and oversee the 
performance monitoring and management of the new PPP and have the powers set 
out in the terms of reference contained in Schedule 1 of the draft Inter Authority 
Agreement.

2.5 To authorise the Head of Culture and Environmental Protection and Public 
Protection Service Managers (Currently known as Trading Standards and Building 
Control Manager and Environmental Health and Licensing Manager) to receive a 
delegation of Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing functions 
from Bracknell Forest Council and Wokingham Borough Council and to exercise 

Page 27

Agenda Item 14.



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

those functions jointly with West Berkshire District Council functions under the 
strategy direction and oversight of the Joint Committee. 

2.6 The proposed agreement authorises West Berkshire District Council to institute and 
defend proceedings on behalf of Wokingham and Bracknell.  This does not preclude 
the other authorities from taking their own legal actions. 

2.7 To receive a TUPE transfer of the staff of Bracknell Forest Council currently 
providing the Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing functions on 
the terms set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement and authorise any relevant 
pensions and employment implications.

2.8 To appoint Head of Culture and Environmental Protection as the Council's Lead 
Officer to manage the Councils arrangements under the Agreement on the 
Council's behalf and to authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any necessary 
variations to the Agreement as may be required from time to time in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council.

2.9 To appoint Councillor Emma Webster to represent the Council on the Joint 
Committee. The Executive previously approved the appointment of Cllr Marcus 
Franks as its Member on the Joint Committee and Cllr Dominic Boeck as substitute 
Member 

2.10 To authorise the Joint Committee and the Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection to enter into arrangements with other local authorities, shared services or 
other bodies for the provision of Trading Standards, Licensing or Environmental 
Health Services, up to the limits permitted within the Council's Contract Rules 
(pursuant to the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970, sections 111 and 
113 Local Government Act 1972 and other enabling legislation

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The model which governs the PPP budget has a flexible approach 
which accommodates fluctuating demands and the potential for partner 
authorities to request changes in the activity levels.

An initial full year budget (for 2017/18) has been set based on agreed levels from 
each of the partner authorities using retrospective activity level data. Ongoing 
activity levels will be monitored to inform subsequent budgets to be considered 
and proposed annually by the Joint Committee. Each Council will subsequently 
approve the budget, retaining control of allocations to the Joint Committee at all 
times. This process is set out in more detail in Schedule 4 of the legal agreement. 

The initial budget for the part year (9th Jan 2017 – 31st Mar 2017) will be based 
on existing budgets. 

The proposal will deliver a recurring saving in 2017-18 of £120K for West 
Berkshire. 

The agreement also sets out in detail how unforeseen expenditure is managed. 
Examples of this would include major investigations or a major animal health 
disease outbreak. Initially this would need to be managed from existing budget 
but where this is not possible then the matter would need to be referred back to 

Page 28



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

the relevant council or councils.

It is important to note that any subsequent efficiencies made through the PPP will 
also be redistributed using the budget proportions, once agreed by the governing 
Committee. This is set out in the business plan and the agreement.

It has been acknowledged that there will be resource implications for the host in 
supporting the PPP a series of agreements for the following services have been 
made:

-Finance; ongoing accountancy support to contribute to discussions around in 
year budget management and year end reconciliation.

-Legal; direct costs as a result of initiating the project and any costs specifically 
incurred as a result of operating the PPP i.e. those over and above that 
covered by the legal agreement.

-Democratic services; direct support to the Committee.

- HR; to manage the initial TUPE process as part of the project.

These costs will be met by the PPP and in accordance with the model these 
costs will be split proportionately.

3.2 Policy: The PPP will be an important contributor to Council objectives around 
protecting vulnerable people and the operating model being considered shows 
strong, effective leadership which focuses on the most important issues affecting 
communities and business. The proposals build on increased resilience, reduced 
risk to the community and the Council, building expertise in areas where cost 
recovery is possible and giving employees improved professional opportunities. All 
policy will have input from the Joint Committee and wherever possible a common 
approach will be sought.
  

3.3 Personnel: This proposal will result in the TUPE transfer of 25 employees from 
Bracknell Forest Council. Whilst it will require existing West Berkshire employees to 
carry out their functions across a wider geographical area, they acknowledge the 
professional development opportunities that this will bring. The existing employees 
have been kept informed on a regular basis as the business case was developed. 
Appropriate indemnifications will be put in place as part of the finalisation of the 
legal arrangements.

3.4 Legal: The proposed shared service model is based on a Joint Committee under 
Section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 which will have powers delegated to 
it by each of the participating authorities to take decisions on behalf of all of them.  

As a Joint Committee is not a legal entity separate from its constituent authorities, it 
cannot enter into contracts, own land or employ staff in its own right but can have 
delegated authority to enter into arrangements conducive to the partnership.  There 
is therefore a need for one of the Authorities (in this instance, West Berkshire 
Council) to take a lead authority role to undertake these activities on behalf of the 
other authorities.  It is possible for one or more of the participating authorities to 
decide to pull out of the joint arrangements.  Any financial implications arising from 

Page 29



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

this will be dealt with in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

An inter Authority Agreement will be entered into prior to the shared service 
becoming operational setting out the contractual obligations of the three parties 
under the arrangement including withdrawal by notice requirements.

As a Joint Committee is a voluntary arrangement, it is always possible for one or 
more of the participating authorities to decide to pull out of the joint arrangements. 
The IAA has provisions to require participating authority wishing to withdraw from 
the arrangements to have to give reasonable notice to the remaining authorities 
and to be liable to those remaining authorities for any loss which its withdrawal 
causes to the remaining authorities.

As the Joint Committee is intended to carry out a combination of Executive and 
Non-Executive functions the decision to set up the Joint Committee must be 
considered by Council, but both Council and the Executive must agree the 
arrangements and each must separately resolve to delegate their particular 
functions to the Joint Committee.  

The Councils existing scrutiny arrangements are not affected by the transfer of 
functions to the Joint Committee i.e. the right to call in decisions remains in place.

To avoid the risk of procurement challenge the arrangement must demonstrate 
genuine cooperation between the parties. The Joint Committee arrangement and 
the IAA satisfy this requirement

3.5 Risk Management:  These proposals if adopted will be notified to the Councils 
insurers. The legal agreement deals with allocation of risk and liability in significant 
detail. The underlying principal is one a shared liability. Safeguards exist to 
indemnify the parties against the actions of other parties in appropriate 
circumstances.  One identified risk is that one or other of Executive or Council do 
not approve the recommendations.

In terms of insurance the relevant notifications will be made to the councils 
insurers. As with the existing shared service it is not anticipated that this would 
present any issues.    

3.6 Property: There are no property implications as accommodation will be retained 
at Bracknell Forest Council Offices.  
  

4. Other options considered

4.1 Alternatives considered would be to revert to West Berkshire only provision or retain 
the current combination of authorities i.e. West Berkshire and Wokingham. Neither 
option would deliver the savings identified above without further cuts to service 
provision which in turn would have the effect of reducing resilience which is one of 
the strengths in the proposal. The currently proposal allows for the management of 
potential further saving through providing services to others or developing the 
shared service through the admission of further Councils. 

4.2 Another option taken by handful of Councils has been outsourcing to the private 
sector. There significant complexities around this arrangement not least of which 
are the fact that many of the functions can only be delegated to ‘officers’ of local 

Page 30



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

authorities and certain functions such as decisions on legal actions can only be 
made by the authority. These services are very much in their infancy and time will 
tell whether this is an effective way of delivering enforcement services. It is certainly 
clear that the current legislative framework with respect to the statutory duties of a 
local authority do not lend themselves easily to this model. For this reason it has not 
been explored further at this stage. It is of course something the joint committee 
could consider in due course.  

4.3 In the final instance this proposed approach builds on the experience drawn from 
our own shared service and that of others. The proposal for a combined single 
service involves joining these service areas into one large unit with the licensing 
function.  It is believed that the joining of these three service areas in this way 
provides the greatest opportunity to improve efficiencies, maintain service standards 
and further reduce costs.  The model proposed allows for further expansion, income 
generation and should it ever be considered a better option, outsourcing to the 
benefit of the partner organisations.

Page 31



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 In June 2010 West Berkshire Council entered into a five year shared service 
arrangement with Wokingham Borough Council for the delivery of the Trading 
Standards Service. This was followed by a five year agreement for Environmental 
Health and Licensing Services in January 2012. These combined arrangements 
have delivered savings of £200K per annum for West Berkshire. 

5.2 Additionally the new arrangements have assisted in a number of key areas of 
delivery around sustainability. They have also allowed the service to meet changing 
patterns of offending and the enforcement regime around them. For the Trading 
Standards service the integration of the National Intelligence Model into day to day 
delivery along with a new integrated operating model with Thames Valley Police has 
again further improved efficiency in targeting resource.

5.3 Whilst both of the shared services at their time of development were not exclusive 
nationally they were relatively pioneering. The prevailing economic climate since 
2010 has seen a steady increase in the number of collaboration arrangements 
particularly in the area of Trading Standards and we have been consulted and 
advised on shared services by a number of county council’s, unitary authorities and 
welsh unitary authorities. We have considered other models and particularly the 
merits of the joint Surrey / Buckinghamshire which developed the initial West 
Berkshire / Wokingham model to introduce governance by Joint Committee. This is 
now seen as the favourable model going forward.  

5.4 The initial legal agreement for trading standards ran for five years to June 2015. 
This was extended by Executive decision to bring it into line with the Environmental 
Health and Licensing agreement which is due to end in January 2017. 

5.5 Towards the end of 2015 we were approached by officers of Bracknell Forest 
District Council about the possibility of looking at a new shared service arrangement 
to cover West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils areas. This 
matter was considered by Corporate Board and Operations Board and authority 
granted to work up a proposal for further consideration. There are ongoing 
discussions with Reading Borough Council and Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead about they may engage with the new arrangement in the future.

5.6 A significant amount of work has now been conducted by officers across a number 
of work streams relating to legal, HR, finance, ICT and operational matters as well 
consideration of other models and in particular the merits of the joint Surrey / 
Buckinghamshire Joint Committee Model. This has concluded in draft inter-authority 
agreement (Appendix C) and recommendation at page 1. 

5.7 Should these proposals be approved by Executive and its functions delegated as 
set out in the resolutions the matter will then go before full Council to consider the 
proposal to delegate its functions also.

5.8 Any additional costs for support services (including for any legal activity) will be met 
by the PPP.    

6. Conclusion

6.1 These proposals will delivery further opportunities to reduce revenue costs of 
delivering Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing. In addition the 

Page 32



Joint Public Protection Partnership

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

potential for operational efficiencies, service resilience and the likelihood of income 
generating opportunities is enhanced. For these reasons this is the option 
recommended to Executive and Council.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A – Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Draft Inter-Authority Agreement

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting 
Information

1. Background

1.1 West Berkshire and Wokingham currently share environmental health and trading 
standards functions. These currently operate as two separate services under two 
separate agreements having commenced at different times.  This arrangement has 
already delivered significant savings for both authorities primarily through reducing 
management overheads, merging of systems and procurement savings. This 
proposal seeks to take the learning from the current arrangement and Bracknell 
Forest and combine it into one service department serving the Southern half of 
Berkshire.

1.2 There are several drivers for seeking change within all three councils, not least the 
need to contribute to the savings targets.  A merger enables the realisation of 
significant savings whilst also providing greater opportunity for job enrichment and 
advancement.  The proposals would result in one large team of over 100 staff. 
Bigger teams working across a wider area provide a greater range of professional 
challenge as well as scope for operational and management efficiencies.  The 
alternative is limited to ongoing small cuts year on year potentially making the 
service unviable and filling vacant posts challenging. 

1.3 The existing arrangements have provided savings to West Berkshire Council in the 
order of £200K per annum. These proposals will increase the annual saving by 
£110K to a total of £310K This will be done through further reduction in 
management overhead by the new partnership arrangement and through 
rationalisation of systems, licensing and supplies costs.     

2. Remit of the New Partnership and Support Arrangements

2.1 The current shared service arrangements cover the Environmental Health and 
Licensing and Trading Standards functions of both West Berkshire and Wokingham. 
Operationally these are delivered by West Berkshire Council with staff based in 
Newbury and Wokingham. Each Council still maintains its own Licensing Committee 
and sub committees / panels as required. Included in this arrangement are the pest 
control functions and animal warden service.

2.2 This proposal would extend to include those services on behalf of Bracknell Forest 
Council.  Bracknell Forest also has a number of small contracts for example in 
relation to stray dogs and air quality monitoring.  These would be transferred as part 
of the arrangements and in time they would be renegotiated by the new 
organisation to establish common arrangements to cover all three councils.

2.3 The legal functions associated with enforcement of legislation will also become the 
responsibility of the partnership and these will be funded from the overall revenue 
budget of the partnership. Where there are financial implications for west Berkshire 
Legal Services these will be met by the Partnership. 

Page 35



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

    
3. Governance arrangements 

3.1 The proposed Governance arrangements are set out in Schedule 1 of the draft 
agreement attached at Appendix 3 to this report.    As can be seen from that detail 
the proposal is for the new service to be given the strategic direction and be held to 
account through joint management arrangements led by a statutory Joint 
Committee. This will comprise of two members from each council and one 
substitute is permitted. Legislation requires one of the nominees to be an Executive 
Member. It is suggested that this should be the Executive Member within whose 
remit the services fall.   

3.2 The Joint Committee would not assume any responsibility that already falls to the 
Licencing Committee of the Council.  Each council would retain its own licensing 
functions, associated legal processes and appeal panels.  

3.3 The Board would be supported by the Joint (Officer) Management Group.  This 
Group would and would comprise of nominated senior (client) officers from each of 
the three councils. The Group will be responsible for driving core business and 
ensuring the respective needs of the three councils are properly considered at an 
operational level.  Overall daily management will be a function of the operational 
management team lead by the host authority through the Joint Service Managers 
and the operational team managers.  The Group would manage the overall 
operational needs and ensure progress against targets are reported to the Joint 
Committee through a number of pre determined key performance indicators.

3.4 In order to drive out efficiencies one of the early needs would be to try to develop 
common policies and practices.  When it comes to licensing for example the Joint 
Committee would be responsible for ensuring that the necessary resources are 
available to do this.  Each licensing Authority would then be asked to adopt them.  
The need is to ensure an effective interface between the Joint Committee at all 
times.  The Committee would have the authority and responsibility to manage risk 
and deliver the required service levels within the approved budget.  The committee 
will propose a fee structure for consideration by each Council on an annual basis.

3.5 From a practical point of view the Joint Committee will be hosted by West Berkshire 
Council and the standing orders of West Berkshire Council would apply. The Chair 
will rotate annually and it is proposed the initial Chair is from Bracknell Forest and 
Vice Chair from Wokingham. 

4. Staff implications

4.1 West Berkshire would under the proposals become the employing and 
administrative authority.  They are the current employer for the Wokingham and 
West Berks joint services arrangements and there is no merit in changing this 
arrangement.  To get the efficiencies needed there can only be one central body 
with such responsibilities.  West Berkshire has the necessary experience to perform 
this role and the implications are set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement. 
Effectively West Berkshire will become the delivery body for the Partnership. Given 
the nature of the service and the need to take responsibility for the actions of staff 
within the service it is proposed that existing Bracknell Forest staff transfer to West 
Berkshire where the functions they perform fall within the scope of the agreement. 

Page 36



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

TUPE will apply to these transfers and HR have been involved in the discussions 
with counterparts in Bracknell.   

4.2 The nature of any proposal of this nature inevitably has a bearing on the current 
workforce. For these reasons regular updates and briefings have taken place. Most 
staff having worked in the existing shared service recognise the benefits of such 
arrangements.  Within regulatory services the proposed model is becoming more 
common across the country.  The main implication for existing staff initially will be 
that their geographical remit will be extended to include Bracknell Forest Council 
area. In due course the structure of the Service will become a matter for the Joint 
Committee. 

4.3 In terms of accommodation Bracknell are making available the existing 
accommodation at their offices at Times Square. Both West Berkshire and 
Wokingham will permit the staff to use their offices for the duration of this 
agreement. ICT equipment for existing Bracknell staff is being provided by Bracknell 
Forest Council along with network access etc. Access to West Berkshire systems 
will be via Citrix.   

5. Service Delivery Model

5.1 Reducing budget cannot be done without there being some service reduction.  The 
proposed arrangements will achieve the most significant level of saving by a 
reduction in management costs and service efficiencies from day one.  However, 
there will be some other operational changes relative to what and how the service in 
Bracknell and the existing Environmental Health and Licensing function at West 
Berkshire and Wokingham is currently delivered. Those services will be brought into 
line with the existing model for Trading Standards which is based on the National 
Intelligence Model to set priorities and to identify and respond to those matters which 
are considered to be of high risk or impact whilst allowing for the development of an 
understanding of emerging issues.  The benefits of this can be seen in the work 
relating to tackling doorstep crime and financial abuse. 

5.2 Effective relationships with key Council delivery services such as Adult Social Care, 
Housing, Planning and Building Control be key to effective service delivery as will 
effective partnerships with the myriad of bodies. These include the Police, Royal 
Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards South East and National 
Trading Standards, Housing Associations, 3rd Sector bodies along with neighbouring 
and other local authorities. Where service specific grants are available these will be 
sought on behalf of all three Councils to maintain and improve effective delivery. 

5.3 The core service objectives and specification is set out in Schedule 5 to the 
agreement. 

6. Opportunities for the future

6.1 The new service would be able to seek new sources of income. This will include the 
considering the admittance of additional Councils into the arrangements or other 
such arrangement collaborative or otherwise for the delivery of services. Where the 
Committee considers the business case to be made out (including an assessment 
of the implications for support services) they will make recommendations for 
consideration by the partners  Where efficiencies give rise to savings the proposals 

Page 37



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

provide a mechanism for equitable sharing of any future savings based on the 
original cost basis.   

7. Contract term and time table 

7.1 The timetable for any change is tight and the proposal is to enter into an agreement 
commencing 13 January 2017.   The initial agreement is for a ten year term.  The 
agreement includes for break clauses and extensions.  

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:    No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
All
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:
X SLE – A stronger local economy
X MEC – Become an even more effective Council
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:
X MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

Officer details:
Name: Sean Murphy
Job Title: Trading Standards and Building Control Manager
Tel No: 01635 519930
E-mail Address: sean.murphy@westberks.gov.uk

Page 38



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Shared Public Protection Service

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Steve Broughton

Name of assessor: Sean Murphy

Date of assessment:

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed /No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function Yes Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To develop a more robust and effective Public 
Protection Service covering West Berkshire, 
Wokingham and Bracknell

Objectives: To provide sustainability of the service and improve its 
effectiveness

Outcomes:

Benefits: A strong and effective high quality service.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 39



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Further Comments relating to the item:

None

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name: Sean Murphy Date:

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 40



Dated                                                                                 2016

  

WEST BERKSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

AND

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

AND

BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL

DRAFT INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT
in relation to

the Public Protection Partnership
31.10.16 v4

Page 41



 

1

Contents

Item Page

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................4
2 TERM ......................................................................................................................................................8
3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES........................................................................................8
4 ESTABLISHMENT OF JOINT COMMITTEE..........................................................................................9
5 HOST AUTHORITY.................................................................................................................................9
6 GOVERNANCE.....................................................................................................................................10
7 BUDGET SETTING AND SUPPORT COSTS ......................................................................................10
8 MONITORING OF THE SERVICES......................................................................................................10
9 EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS.................................................................................................................10
10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY...............................................................................................................11
11 STAFFING.............................................................................................................................................12
12 APPLICATION OF SECTION 113 LGA 1972.......................................................................................15
13 PROCUREMENT PROCESS................................................................................................................15
14 ACCOMMODATION .............................................................................................................................15
15 BRANDING ...........................................................................................................................................16
16 DEFAULTS ...........................................................................................................................................16
17 TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT ..............................................................................................16
18 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION ................................................................................................17
19 INSURANCE .........................................................................................................................................18
20 INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITIES .........................................................................................................18
21 MEMBER AND OFFICER LIABILITY...................................................................................................19
22 DISPUTES.............................................................................................................................................19
23 CONDUCT OF CLAIMS........................................................................................................................20
24 CONFIDENTIALITY ..............................................................................................................................21
25 DATA PROTECTION ............................................................................................................................22
26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS 
2004 22
27 WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY ............................................................................................................23
28 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .................................................................................................................23
29 ENTIRE AGREEMENT .........................................................................................................................24
30 EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE..............................................................24
31 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY........................................................................................................24
32 THIRD PARTIES ...................................................................................................................................24
33 VARIATIONS ........................................................................................................................................24
34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING...........................................................................................25
35 GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT..........................................................................................25
36 NOTICES...............................................................................................................................................25
SCHEDULE 1 - GOVERNANCE .....................................................................................................................27
SCHEDULE 2 - RELEVANT FUNCTIONS .....................................................................................................32

Page 42



 

2

SCHEDULE 3 - BRANDING ...........................................................................................................................36
SCHEDULE 4 – AGREED PERCENTAGES AND BUDGET SETTING.........................................................37
SCHEDULE 5 – SERVICE SPECIFICATION .................................................................................................40
SCHEDULE 6 – BRACKNELL FOREST EMPLOYEES.................................................................................43

Page 43



 

3

THIS AGREEMENT is made on day of 2016  

BETWEEN:

(1) WEST BERKSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL of Council Offices, Market Street, Newbury, Berkshire 
RG14 5LD ("West Berkshire")

(2) WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Shute End, 6 Wokingham, Berkshire RG40 
1BN ("Wokingham")

(3) BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL of Market Street, Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 1JD ("Bracknell 
Forest")

together known as the “Councils” and each as a “Council”. 

BACKGROUND

(A) The Councils have recognised that there are significant potential gains to be made by working 
together in delivering public protection services in partnership in order to provide advantages and 
economies of scale and deliver robust and flexible services. West Berkshire and Wokingham already 
collaborate through a shared service supported by two Shared Services Agreements in relation to 
the provision of trading standards; and environmental health and licensing.

(B) Building upon the collaboration described above Bracknell Forest will join the existing shared service 
arrangements described above. The Councils will establish a Joint Committee pursuant to Sections 
101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972; Sections 9EA and 9EB of the Local Government 
Act 2000 (as amended); the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012; section 111 Local Government Act 1972 and all other enabling powers, 
for the purpose of jointly managing and providing trading standards, environmental health and 
licensing to the Councils. 

(C) West Berkshire has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [        ] 2016 
and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 that the Joint Committee should discharge West Berkshire's 
Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. West Berkshire shall 
receive a TUPE transfer of staff from Bracknell Forest. Operational delivery of the functions shall be 
delegated by the Council and the Executive to the Council's Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection, who may further delegate functions to Service Managers.

(D) Wokingham has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [                      ] 2016 
and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 that the Joint Committee should discharge Wokingham's 
Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. 

(E) Bracknell Forest has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [                     ] 
2016 that and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 the Joint Committee should discharge Bracknell 
Forest's Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Government (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. It has been 
agreed that the staff of Bracknell Forest involved in provision of the Services will TUPE transfer to 
West Berkshire.

(F) This Agreement shall bring into effect the Service and shall set up and regulate the Joint Committee 
and the relationship between the Councils and the Joint Committee and the terms on which the 
Relevant Functions will be discharged. 

Page 44



 

4

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise:

Actuary means the actuary to the Fund as appointed by the Fund from time to time.

Agreed Percentages means the percentages as agreed for the relevant Financial Year in 
accordance in Schedule 4. 

Agreement means the agreement between the Councils in relation to the Joint Committee and the 
Service it shall provide as contained in this document.

Assets means all assets and equipment which belong to West Berkshire and which are used by 
West Berkshire in the performance of the Service and which for the avoidance doubt includes 
Bracknell Forest's Assets (as defined in Clause 9.1).

Bracknell Forest Employees means those employees listed Schedule 6.

Bribery Act: the Bribery Act 2010 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act from time to 
time together with any guidance or codes of practice issued by the relevant government department 
concerning the legislation.

Chief Finance Officer means the Head of Finance from time to time for West Berkshire, who will be 
the section 151 Officer for the Joint Committee and prepare accounts for the Joint Committee in 
accordance with best practice.

Commencement Date means [9th] January 2017. 

Confidential Information means any information, data and/or material of any nature which has 
been designated as confidential by the Councilsin writing or that ought to be considered as 
confidential (however it is conveyed or on whatever media it is stored) including information which 
relates to the business, affairs, properties, assets, trading practices, services, developments, trade 
secrets, Intellectual Property Rights, know-how, Staff and other personnel, Service Users and 
suppliers of the Councils and all personal data and sensitive personal data within the meaning of the 
Data Protection Act 1998. 

Councils means West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest and their successors and 
permitted assignees.

Default means any breach of any breach of the Agreement which does not amount to a 
Fundamental Breach or any failure to meet the agreed KPIs.

Direct Losses means all damages, losses, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses (including the 
cost of legal or professional services, legal costs being on an indemnity basis), proceedings, 
demands and charges whether arising under statute, contract or at common law.

Dispute means any dispute relating to or arising from the terms of this Agreement.

DPA means the Data Protection Act 1998.

EIR means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and any subordinate legislation made 
under the Regulations from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued 
by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation.

Employment Claim means any claim (whether in contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European 
law or otherwise) including, without limitation, any claim for unfair dismissal, wrongful dismissal, a 
redundancy payment, breach of contract, unlawful deduction from wages, discrimination on the 

Page 45



 

5

grounds of sex, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or religious belief, personal injury, a 
protective award or a claim or demand of any other nature.

Exit Deficit shall have the meaning given to the term in Clause 11. 

Exit Plan has the meaning given at Clause 17.5.

Exit Valuation means any sum determined by the Actuary as being owed to the Fund in respect of 
the Bracknell Forest Employees on cessation of Bracknell Forest's participation in the Fund as their 
scheme employer in accordance with Regulation 64 of the LGPS Regulations.

Financial Year means each financial accounting period of 12 months ending on the 31 March of 
each year. 

FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made under the 
Act from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information 
Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation.

Fund means the Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund within the LGPS of which the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is the Administering Authority;

Fundamental Breach means:

a) three or more Defaults in a six month period;

b) a default which is not capable of remedy in accordance with Clause 16 (Defaults) and which has 
or will have a material adverse impact on the Service Users.

Future Exit Valuation means any sum determined by the Actuary as being owed to the Fund in 
respect of the Staff upon expiry or termination of the Agreement in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations.

Host Authority means a Council that has entered into legal obligations and created legal rights on 
on behalf of the Councils in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Initial Term has the meaning given to it in Clause 2.1.

Intellectual Property Rights means any and all patents, inventions, trade marks, logos, service 
marks, domain names, registered designs, utility models, copyright, moral rights, rights in design, 
know-how, confidential information and all or any other intellectual or individual property rights 
whether or not registered or capable of registration and whether nor or in future residing in the 
United Kingdom or any other part of the world together with all or any goodwill and accrued rights of 
action.

Joint Committee means the joint committee set up by the Councils pursuant to Section 102 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and section 9EA and 9EB Local Government Act 2000.

Joint Management Board means the joint management board established pursuant to Clause 6.2 
and 6.3.

Joint Management Team means the joint management team established pursuant to Clause 6.4. 

KPI means the key performance indicators set out in Schedule 5.

Lead Officer means the nominated lead officer for each participating Council as notified to the Joint 
Committee in writing from time to time.

LGA 1972 means the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 46



 

6

LGPS means the Local Government Pension Scheme established pursuant to regulations made by 
the Secretary of State in exercise of powers under sections 7 and 12 of the Superannuation Act 
1972.

LGPS Regulations means the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (SI 
2013/2356).

Monitoring Officer means the Monitoring Officer from time to time of each the Councils. 

Premises means any office address in any of the Council’s administrative areas from which the PPP 
operates or requires access to from time to time.

Prohibited Act: the following constitute Prohibited Acts:

(a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person working for or engaged by the Councils a 
financial or other advantage to:

(i) induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity; or

(ii) reward that person for improper performance of a relevant function or activity;

(b) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any financial or other advantage as an 
inducement or a reward for improper performance of a relevant function or activity in connection with 
this Agreement;

(c) committing any offence:

(i) under the Bribery Act 2010;

(ii) under legislation or common law concerning fraudulent acts;

(iii) defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Councils.

(d) any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute one of the offences listed under (c) above 
if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK.

Procurement Agent means West Berkshire procuring a contract for the provision of goods and 
services on behalf of the Councils for the purposes of the PPP.

PPP means the Public Protection Partnership which is not a separate legal entity in its own right and 
for which West Berkshire is the Host Authority.

Redundancy Payment means in respect of any Staff :

(a) any statutory redundancy payment entitlement; and

(b) any contractual enhancements of the entitlement referred to in (a) above to which they are 
entitled at the Commencement Date; and 

(c) any notice payments or payments in lieu of notice, 

(d) pension strain, where applicable

payable by West Berkshire to the Staff on or after the Commencement Date, but excluding for the 
avoidance of doubt, all other costs incurred by West Berkshire relating to any such redundancy 
process such as, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing: 

(i) management and HR costs in dealing with any such redundancy process; and

Page 47



 

7

(ii) any Direct Losses in relation to any employment tribunal claims or other litigation or 
claims arising from any such redundancy process.

Redundancy Payment Share means in respect of any Redundancy Payments incurred, the costs 
shall be apportioned in the Agreed Percentages. 

Relevant Functions means those functions as set out in Schedule 2. 

Replacement Services means any services which are the same as or substantially similar to any of 
the Services and which the Councils receive in substitution for any of the Services following the 
expiry or termination of this Agreement, whether those services are provided by the Councils 
internally and/or by any third party.

Service means the provision of trading standards, licensing and environmental health services as 
more particularly set out in Schedule 5 (Service Specification). For the purposes of the Agreement 
any reference to Services has the same meaning as Service. 

Service Specification means the specification set out in Schedule 5 to this agreement

Service User means a person receiving the Service from the PPP.

Staff means those employees (including the Bracknell Forest Employees) engaged by West 
Berkshire in the delivery of the Service. 

Sub-Contract means any contract or agreement, or proposed contract or agreement between West 
Berkshire and any third party whereby that third party agrees to provide to West Berkshire the 
Service or any part of the Service, or facilities or services necessary for the provision of the Joint 
Services or any part of the Services, or necessary for the management, direction or control of the 
Services or any part of the Services.

Sub-Contractor means the third parties that enter into a Sub-Contract with West Berkshire.

1.2 In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise:

1.2.1 references to clauses, paragraphs, recitals and Schedules are references to clauses and 
paragraphs of, and recitals and schedules to, this Agreement.  The Schedules form part 
of this Agreement and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the 
body of this Agreement, and any reference to this Agreement shall include the 
Schedules.  The recitals and headings to clauses and Schedules are for convenience 
only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement;

1.2.2 a reference to a statute or a statutory provision includes a reference to:

(a) the statute or statutory provision as modified or re-enacted or both from time to 
time (whether before or after the date of this Agreement); and

(b) any subordinate legislation made under the statute or statutory provision 
(whether before or after the date of this Agreement),

provided that any such modification, re-enactment or legislation made after the date of 
this Agreement does not materially change the relevant provision;

1.2.3 references to a person shall be construed so as to include any individual, firm, corporation, 
government, state or agency of a state or any joint venture, trust, association or 
partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);

1.2.4 references to any gender shall include every gender, and the singular shall include the plural 
and vice versa;

Page 48



 

8

1.2.5 words and expressions defined in the Companies Acts shall have the same meanings when 
used in this Agreement;

1.2.6 references to writing or written shall include any mode of reproducing words in a legible and 
non-transitory form;

1.2.7 references to a party, Council or the Councils includes any person who agrees to be 
bound by the provisions of this Agreement from time to time but, for the avoidance of 
doubt, shall not refer to any person who has ceased to have any obligations under this 
Agreement from time to time;

1.2.8 in construing this Agreement, the rule known as ejusdem generis rule shall not apply nor 
shall any similar rule or approach to the construction of this Agreement and accordingly 
general words introduced or followed by the word(s) other or including or in particular 
shall not be given a restrictive meaning because they are followed or preceded (as the 
case may be) by particular examples intended to fall within the meaning of the general 
words; 

1.2.9 references to a month shall be construed as a reference to a period starting on one day in a 
calendar month and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the next calendar 
month or, if there is no numerically corresponding day in the next calendar month, the 
last day in the next calendar month;

1.2.10 references to a document in the agreed form are to a document in a form agreed by the 
Parties and initialled by or on behalf of each of them for the purpose of identification; 
and

1.2.11 where in this Agreement an individual is referred to by name or by the post they hold within 
their organisation, such reference shall be deemed to mean either that individual or the 
person from time to time holding that appointment or post or such suitably qualified 
person as may from time to time be nominated by that organisation. 

2 TERM 

2.1 Subject to Clause 2.2 this Agreement will start on the Commencement Date and shall 
continue for a period of ten (10) years ("the Initial Term"). 

2.2 Subject to Clause 2.3 upon the expiration of the Initial Term this Agreement shall automatically 
renew for a further period of ten (10) years on the same terms as set out in this Agreement 
unless notice is provided in accordance with Clause 6.

2.3 Not less than twenty four months before the expiry of the Initial Term the Joint Management 
Board shall meet to decide whether to recommend to the Joint Committee and the Councils 
that the Agreement continues, having regard to whether the:

2.3.1 Objectives set out in Clause 3.5 having been met;

2.3.2 Performance of the Service is satisfactory and any agreed KPIs are 
substantially met;

2.3.3 Agreed savings and costs are in accordance with expectations; and 

2.3.4 Agreement should continue or be modified or changed in any respect.

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES

3.1 This Agreement has been entered into by the Councils to establish and effect provisions for 
performance of the Service and to clarify the Councils’ responsibilities in respect thereof and 
to each other.

Page 49



 

9

3.2 The Councils will work together in good faith and in an open, co-operative and collaborative 
manner for the duration of this Agreement. The Councils’ members and officers will work 
together in the spirit of mutual trust in order to endeavour to successfully deliver the Service 
and will respond in a timely manner to all relevant requests from the other Council.

3.3 The Councils shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that their respective members 
and officers who are involved in the Joint Committee shall at all times act in the best interests 
of the Service. 

3.4 Each of the Councils hereby represents to each other that it has obtained all necessary 
consents sufficient to ensure the delegation of the Relevant Functions provided for by this 
Agreement.

3.5 The Councils shall establish, develop and implement their relationship with the objectives of: 

3.5.1 implementing the Service from the Commencement Date in accordance with the 
Service Specification set out in Schedule 5 and within the agreed budgets; 

3.5.2 utilising resources to best effect and delivering long term savings and benefits to 
the Councils; 

3.5.3 delivering the priorities for the Service set out in the Service Specification; and

3.5.4 commitment to people including Staff and Service Users.

4 ESTABLISHMENT OF JOINT COMMITTEE

4.1 The Councils shall establish a Joint Committee under Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972; Sections 9EA and 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000; and the 
Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

4.2 The functions of the Joint Committee shall be as set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement or as 
varied by the Councils from time to time.

4.3 Each Council shall appoint two members as set out in Schedule 1 onto the Joint Committee to 
decide the policy and strategy of the Service and to oversee the provision of the Service 
throughout each Council’s administrative area from the Commencement Date.

4.4 The Joint Committee shall be authorised to exercise the functions set out in Schedule 2 and 
shall have the powers of the Councils over the finances made available as set out in Schedule 
4, except to the extent delegated to the West Berkshire Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection and/or relevant Service Manager. 

4.5 Each Council warrants that it shall not do or omit to do or permit to be done anything which 
prevents or inhibits or seeks to prevent or inhibit the Joint Committee from carrying out all or 
any of the Relevant Functions.

5 HOST AUTHORITY

5.1 West Berkshire will act as the Host Authority from the Commencement Date in respect of all 
aspects of the delivery of the Services unless stated otherwise in this Agreement. 

5.2 Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall delegate the operational management of the Service to 
West Berkshire and West Berkshire shall delegate the same to the West Berkshire Head of 
Culture and Environmental Protection and the relevant Service Manager to operate, pursuant 
to the policy direction set by the Joint Committee.  The Service Managers shall deliver regular 
performance management and monitoring reports to the Joint Committee.

Page 50



 

10

5.3 All legal rights and obligations of the Host Authority shall be held on behalf of the Councils and 
shall be exercised in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

5.4 The Councils agree that the Host Authority (in accordance with its Constitution) shall be 
authorised to institute and defend legal proceedings in relation to the Relevant Functions and 
the PPP.

6 GOVERNANCE

6.1 The Councils confirm that the Service shall be delivered through the PPP under the terms of 
this Agreement. Strategic policy, performance monitoring and oversight will be delegated to 
the Joint Committee and day to day management and operation will be delegated to West 
Berkshire's Head of Culture and Environmental Protection and then sub-delegated to the 
Service Managers.

6.2 The Councils will establish a Joint Management Board with the overall purpose of advising the 
Joint Committee to enable it to carry out its governance role as effectively as possible. 

6.3 The Joint Management Board will have the membership and terms of reference as set out at 
Schedule 1 of this Agreement provided always that the Joint Committee may agree at any 
time to amend the membership and/or terms of reference of the Joint Management Board. 

6.4 The Councils will establish a Joint Management Team, which will have the membership and 
terms of reference as set out at Schedule 1 of this Agreement provided always that the Joint 
Committee may agree at any time to amend the membership and/or terms of reference of the 
Joint Management Team. 

6.5 The Councils agree that they shall seek to operate this Agreement through consensus 
wherever possible and shall use the Joint Management Board as a forum for discussing and 
seeking to resolve any issues, concerns or complaints arising in relation to the operation of 
this Agreement. 

7 BUDGET SETTING AND SUPPORT COSTS

7.1 The budget setting process for the PPP is as set out in Schedule 4.

7.2 All support costs or liabilities necessarily incurred by the Councils in connection with the 
operation of the PPP will be borne: 

7.2.1 jointly by the Councils in the Agreed Percentages; or

7.2.2 as expressly set out elsewhere within this Agreement; or 

7.2.3 as agreed between the Councils in such specific or unusual circumstances as 
may arise from time to time.

7.3 Any costs or payments made by West Berkshire as the Host Authority in cases of emergency 
shall be in accordance with the provisions set out in Schedule 4.

8 MONITORING OF THE SERVICES

8.1 The Service will be monitored in accordance with the procedures and service standards 
referred to in the Business Plan which will be agreed annually by the Joint Committee. 

9 EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS

9.1 Bracknell Forest shall on the Commencement Date transfer [free from any encumbrance] to 
West Berkshire for the consideration of £1(one pound) all assets and equipment which 
immediately prior to the Commencement Date were used by Bracknell Forest to deliver 

Page 51



 

11

trading standards, licensing and environmental health services ("the Bracknell Forest Assets") 
Prior to the Commencement Date Bracknell Forest shall provide a list of Bracknell Forest 
Assets to West Berkshire;

9.2 Bracknell Forest shall to the extent that may be necessary execute any documents and do all 
such acts or things to give effect to the transfer of the Bracknell Forest Assets to West 
Berkshire.

9.3 Upon the Commencement Date the Bracknell Forest Assets shall form part of the Assets and 
shall remain the property of West Berkshire for the purposes of provision of the Service.

9.4 Any equipment or assets procured for the purposes of the Service after the Commencement 
Date shall be procured in accordance with Clause 13 (Procurement Process).

9.5 The Service Managers shall be responsible for arranging for the maintenance and repairing of 
all Assets, the cost of which shall be paid for from the Budget.  

9.6 The Joint Management Board will be responsible for identifying security and insurance 
arrangements for all the Assets and items listed in the inventory, in particular assets and items 
held within the Premises; at other Council locations; or within the homes of individuals.

9.7 On termination of this Agreement and the Joint Committee, all Assets relating to the Service 
shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed Percentages. 

10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

10.1 Each Council grants to the other Councils for the duration of this agreement an irrevocable, 
non-exclusive, royalty free licence to copy and use in connection with PPP any IT systems or 
materials (“Joint Committee Materials”) in which it has Intellectual Property Rights but this 
licence is not to extend to:

10.1.1 copying or using those IT systems other than in connection with the Joint 
Committee and the Service;

10.1.2 granting any other person the right to copy or to use those IT systems;

10.1.3 selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of or granting rights in those IT 
systems; or

10.1.4 any IT systems in which it does not own the Intellectual Property Rights.

10.2 A Council which makes available IT systems to the PPP under Clause 10.1 shall indemnify 
and hold harmless the Council to whom those materials are supplied against any liability or 
damages (including costs) that may be awarded or agreed to be paid to any third party 
because of a claim or action that the normal operation, possession or use of the Joint 
Committee Materials by that Council under Clause 10.1 infringes the Intellectual Property 
Rights of that third party.

10.3 All Intellectual Property Rights in any Joint Committee Materials or any other materials which 
are produced or developed for or in connection with the Joint Committee and the Services are 
to belong to the Councils jointly.

10.4 Each Council agrees to co-operate with the others in the protection of the Intellectual Property 
Rights in the Joint Committee Materials and in connection with this to take all action 
reasonably required by the Council which has the Intellectual Property Rights (subject to being 
reimbursed for all costs reasonably incurred).

Page 52



 

12

10.5 Each Council agrees promptly to notify each other in writing of any infringement or potential 
infringement of that Council’s Intellectual Property Rights in connection with this Joint 
Committee and the Services of which it becomes aware.

11 STAFFING

11.1 The Councils acknowledge and agree that the provision of the Service through the PPP from 
the Commencement Date shall, with respect to each of the Bracknell Forest Employees 
constitute a relevant transfer to West Berkshire, acting as the Host Authority, for the purposes 
of TUPE. The Councils further agree that as a consequence of that transfer the contracts of 
employment made between Bracknell Forest and the Bracknell Forest Employees shall have 
effect from and after the Commencement Date as if originally made between West Berkshire 
and the Bracknell Forest Employees.

11.2 On or before twenty eight (28) days before the Commencement Date, Bracknell Forest shall in 
relation to all Bracknell Forest Employees provide (and where necessary update) such 
information as West Berkshire may reasonably request (subject to all applicable provisions of 
the Data Protection Act 1998), but including : 

11.2.1 their ages, dates of commencement of employment or engagement and gender;

11.2.2 details of whether they are employed, self-employed contractors or consultants, 
agency workers or otherwise;

11.2.3 the identity of the employer or relevant contracting party;

11.2.4 their relevant contractual notice periods and any other terms relating to 
termination of employment, including redundancy procedures, and redundancy 
payments;

11.2.5 their wages or salaries;

11.2.6 details of other employment-related benefits, including (without limitation) 
medical insurance, life assurance, pension or other retirement benefit schemes 
and company car schedules applicable to them;

11.2.7 any outstanding or potential contractual, statutory or other liabilities in respect of 
such individuals (including in respect of personal injury claims);

11.2.8 details of any sickness absences

11.2.9 details of any such individuals on long term sickness absence, parental leave, 
maternity leave or other authorised long term absence;

11.2.10 details of any proposals or agreement to vary their terms and conditions of 
employment including any re-grading, pay increases or promotions;

11.2.11 copies of all relevant documents and materials relating to such information, 
including copies of relevant contracts of employment (or relevant standard 
contracts if applied generally in respect of such employees); and

11.2.12 details of any disciplinary action taken or grievances raised;

11.2.13 any other Employee Liability Information.

11.3 Bracknell Forest shall warrant that such information is complete and accurate as far as it is 
aware or should reasonably be aware as at the date it is disclosed and shall indemnify and 
keep indemnified West Berkshire against any Direct Losses caused to West Berkshire by any 
inaccuracy or incompleteness in such information.

Page 53



 

13

11.4 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire against all Direct Losses incurred by West 
Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand by or on behalf of any 
employee of Bracknell Forest (including the Bracknell Forest Employees) (whether in contract, 
tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, without limitation, any 
"Employment Claim" in each case arising directly or indirectly from any act, fault or omission 
of Bracknell Forest in respect of any such employee in the period before the Commencement 
Date, provided that such costs, claims, expenses and liabilities are not payable as a result of 
any act or omission of West Berkshire. 

11.5 Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire will comply with their obligations under TUPE for each 
relevant transfer under TUPE pursuant to this Agreement (including without limitation the 
obligations under Regulation 13 of TUPE) and each Council shall indemnify the other against 
all Direct Losses incurred in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand (whether in 
contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise including, without 
limitation any Employment Claim, provided that such Direct Losses are not payable to the 
extent that they are as a result of any act or omission of the Council claiming under this 
Clause. 

11.6 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire against all Direct Losses and/or Employment 
Claims incurred by West Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand 
(whether in contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, 
without limitation, any Employment Claims made at any time by or on behalf of any employee 
of Bracknell Forest other than the Bracknell Forest Employees who claim to have become an 
employee of or have rights against West Berkshire by virtue of TUPE.

11.7 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify and keep indemnified West Berkshire against all Direct 
Losses and/or Employment Claims including without limitation claims under Regulations 4(9) 
and/or 4(11) of TUPE arising from or as a consequence of:

11.7.1 any changes to terms and conditions of employment or to working conditions 
proposed by West Berkshire in relation to the Service on or after the 
Commencement Date which are required in order to deliver the Service as 
required by Bracknell Forest; 

11.7.2 any of the Bracknell Forest Employees informing Bracknell Forest or West 
Berkshire they object to being employed by West Berkshire; and 

11.7.3 any change in identity of the Bracknell Forest Employees' employer as a result 
of the operation of TUPE.  

save to the extent that any such Loss or Employment Claim arises from or is due to any 
unlawful act or omission on the part of West Berkshire or any of its agents.

11.8 West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall share in the Agreed Percentages all 
costs, claims, liabilities and expenses (including reasonable legal expenses) incurred by West 
Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand by any Staff (whether in 
contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, without 
limitation, any Employment Claims in each case arising directly or indirectly from any act, fault 
or omission of any Council in respect of any such Staff on or after the Commencement Date. 

Redundancy Costs

11.9 West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest acknowledge and agree that in relation to 
any redundancy or reorganisation process following the Commencement Date, the provisions 
of this Clause 11.9 shall apply:

11.9.1 West Berkshire shall no later than twenty-one (21) days prior to the potential 
termination of the employment of any Staff notify Wokingham and Bracknell 
Forest in writing of the reasons for such redundancy in connection with such 
redundancy or reorganisation process together with, on an open book basis, 

Page 54



 

14

confirmation of any Redundancy Payment it is obliged to pay to such Staff in the 
event that their employment is terminated by reason of redundancy;

11.9.2 West Berkshire and Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall use reasonable 
endeavours to mitigate any costs incurred in relation to any potential 
redundancy and shall, as far as reasonably practical, seek to redeploy any 
potentially redundant Staff to other roles within West Berkshire, Wokingham and 
Bracknell Forest;

11.9.3 where West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest have complied with 
the requirements of Clauses 11.9.1 and 11.9.2 and they have been unable to 
redeploy such employees in order to avoid the redundancy, the costs in relation 
to the Redundancy Payment incurred in relation to any Staff following the 
Commencement Date which arise as a result of any redundancy or 
reorganisation process shall be borne in the Agreed Percentages.

Pensions on Transfer 

11.10 The Parties agree that, following discussion and agreement with the Fund: 

11.10.1 Bracknell Forest is to be treated as a scheme employer that ceased to be the 
employer of the Bracknell Forest Employees with effect from the 
Commencement Date; 

11.10.2 Bracknell Forest will procure that the Fund instructed the Actuary to produce an 
Exit Valuation for Bracknell Forest and Bracknell Forest agrees upon receipt to 
disclose the same to West Berkshire; 

11.10.3 West Berkshire will be the scheme employer in respect of the Bracknell Forest 
Employees within the Fund with effect from the Commencement Date; and

11.10.4 that any sum identified as being owed by Bracknell Forest to the Fund by the 
Exit Valuation ("Exit Deficit") shall be the responsibility of and paid to the Fund 
by Bracknell Forest, subject to Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire agreeing 
with the Fund within thirty (30) Working Days of confirmation of the Exit Deficit 
in the Exit Valuation, the payment terms and timescale for Bracknell Forest to 
pay the Exit Deficit to the Fund. 

11.11 Bracknell Forest undertakes to indemnify and keep indemnified West Berkshire for any liability 
towards any Bracknell Forest Employees arising in respect of;

11.11.1 pension rights within the LGPS for periods of employment prior and up to the 
Commencement Date; and

11.11.2 any claim by, payment to, or loss incurred by West Berkshire in respect of the 
failure of Bracknell Forest to account to the Fund for any payments or any 
arrears of any sum payable by Bracknell Forest pursuant to clause 11.10.4.

Pensions after Transfer 

11.12 In the event that an election, decision or action of the PPP in relation to any Staff leads to 
immediate payment being due to the West Berkshire Pension Fund in accordance with the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (or any such amending or replacing 
regulations) then these costs shall be borne in the Agreed Percentages provided always that 
wherever possible the Joint Committee and the Service Managers shall consult with the 
Councils and take into consideration their views as to the impact of such an election, decision 
or action prior to making it. 

Page 55



 

15

11.13 In the event of expiry or termination of this Agreement the Councils agree that the following 
principles shall apply in relation to any sum identified as being owed by West Berkshire to the 
Fund by the Future Exit Valuation ("Future Exit Deficit");

11.13.1 In the event of the Staff being the subject of a relevant transfer under TUPE to a 
third party service provider of Replacement Services appointed by the Councils 
following the termination or expiry of this Agreement then any Future Exit Deficit 
shall be apportioned between the Councils in line with the Agreed Percentages.

11.13.2 In the event that a Council or the Councils decide to take back any 
Replacement Services internally then;

(a) the Councils shall identify and agree the appropriate numbers of Staff that 
each Council requires in order to deliver the Replacement Services (the 
"Identified Staff"); and 

(b) any Future Exit Deficit in respect of Identified Staff shall be the responsibility 
of the Council which has accepted the Identified Staff in order to deliver its 
Replacement Services.

11.13.3 Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire in respect of 
any sums that they have agreed to incur in line with the principles set out in 
11.13.1 and 11.13.2 above in respect of the Future Exit Deficit and for which 
West Berkshire must make payment to the Fund.

12 APPLICATION OF SECTION 113 LGA 1972

Wokingham and Bracknell Forest agree that where the employees of West Berkshire are engaged 
on work for Wokingham and Bracknell Forest the provisions of section 113 of the 1972 Act will apply 
and that those employees will be placed by West Berkshire at the disposal of Wokingham and 
Bracknell Forest for the purposes of their functions. West Berkshire confirms that it shall have duly 
consulted such employees prior to placing them at Wokingham and Bracknell Forest's disposal and 
that West Berkshire shall continue to treat such employees as its own employees.

13 PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

13.1 West Berkshire shall act as Procurement Agent for any procurement of a contract in relation to 
the Services.

13.2 Any procurement by the Procurement Agent shall adhere to the constitution for the Council 
acting as Procurement Agent, including which officers are authorised to enter into contracts.

13.3 Where the Procurement Agent enters into any contract or communications with any 
prospective supplier in relation to the Services, it shall make it clear in any such contract or 
communication that it is doing so on behalf of the Councils. 

14 ACCOMMODATION 

14.1 The Councils agree that to retain local working the PPP is to be hosted in locations in the 
administrative areas of the Councils and the Councils accordingly undertake to make available 
all necessary accommodation, working space, internet access and associated facilities and 
services, including such associated facilities as shall be necessary to host the PPP each of 
the Councils unless otherwise agreed by the Councils.

14.2 The other Councils hereby licenses all appropriately authorised employees of West Berkshire 
engaged in the delivery of the Service to enter its premises for the purposes of the 
performance of the Service and to utilise free of charge such associated services and facilities 
as shall be provided by West Berkshire to the other Councils for the purposes of the Service 
from time to time.

Page 56



 

16

14.3 The Councils shall use reasonable endeavours to avoid or minimise any disruption to the 
other Party's operations for the duration of the Agreement. 

15 BRANDING

15.1 Joint branding will be deployed across all publications relating to the Joint Committee and the 
Services it provides, unless agreed otherwise in writing between the Councils.

15.2 Use of any Council’s logo and other branding shall be governed by the provisions of Schedule 
3. 

16 DEFAULTS

16.1 If any of the Councils commit a Default then they shall as soon as reasonably practicable 
notify the other Councils in writing and take such steps as are necessary to rectify the Default.

16.2 If the Default has not been rectified within thirty (30) Working Days to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the other Councils then the matter shall be referred to the Joint Management 
Board unless the Councils agree a longer period.

16.3 The Councils shall use reasonable endeavours to resolve the Default through the Joint 
Management Board.

16.4 If the Councils cannot resolve the Default through the Joint Management Board within a 
reasonable time any of the Councils may escalate the matter for resolution, in accordance with 
Clause 22 (Disputes). 

17 TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT

17.1 Any Council may give at least twelve (12) months' notice to terminate ("Notice of Termination") 
to the other Councils after three years of operation of this Agreement, such Notice of 
Termination to expire on the next following 31st March, or twelve months' notice to expire at 
the end of the Initial Term, as the case may be. Once a Notice of Termination has been 
served the Councils shall within 6 months make all reasonable endeavours to sign off an 
agreed Exit Plan in accordance with the principles set out Clause 17.5.

17.2 Any Council may terminate this Agreement by serving notice immediately at any time upon 
another Council committing a Fundamental Breach of this Agreement. Such a notice can only 
be served when the process set out in Clause 16 has been exhausted. 

17.3 This Agreement may be terminated upon the mutual consent of all of the Councils by giving 
Notice of Termination.

17.4 Where by reason of any change in law or other reason not attributable to the fault of the 
Councils prohibits or prevents one of the Councils from giving effect to their obligations under 
this Agreement, any of the Councils to this Agreement may terminate this Agreement so as to 
avoid the Councils from breaching legislative or otherwise binding obligations upon it by 
written notice effective upon receipt by the other Councils, specifying the date upon which the 
termination should take effect, provided that the terminating Council has first entered into 
discussion in good faith with the other Councils and used all reasonable endeavours to 
negotiate a solution with the other Councils, whereby the intent and purpose of this Agreement 
may be fulfilled by another mechanism. 

17.5 West Berkshire as Host Authority may terminate this Agreement by serving notice immediately 
at any time upon either Bracknell Forest or Wokingham reducing the payments to be made 
pursuant to Clause 7.2 and Schedule 4 of this Agreement to a level which West Berkshire as 
Host Authority deems unacceptably low.

Page 57



 

17

17.6 If a Notice of Termination is served the Joint Management Team shall cooperate in good faith 
to agree an 'Exit Plan' setting out how the arrangements considered in this Agreement will be 
ended and which shall be in accordance with the agreed principles:

17.6.1 that continuation and quality of service delivery are paramount and options 
should be assessed in this light; 

17.6.2 exit arrangements shall seek to minimise the costs to the Councils of exiting or 
terminating this agreement;

17.6.3 the Exit Plan for each Service shall identify critical timescales and issues as 
appropriate with proposals to address them;

17.6.4 the option of transferring the entire workforce to a new host should be explored 
before deciding to split the Service; 

17.6.5 where the Councils decide to return to direct service provision then the Service 
Managers shall produce recommendations for the staffing structures to be 
considered by the Councils according to previous usage and future perceived 
need.  Where any staff cannot be placed with any Council then all Councils shall 
consider redeployment; 

17.6.6 the Councils in consultation with the Fund shall instruct the Actuary to produce 
an Exit Valuation to enable the Joint Committee and the Councils to consider 
the pension implications of transferring staff in accordance with the principle that 
any deficit on the Fund arising from the break-up of PPP shall be attributable to 
each of the Councils in the Agreed Percentages (where the Services are 
outsourced) or attributable to the Councils based upon the transfer of staff back 
to them; 

17.6.7 liabilities relating to the Services shall be, in the absence of specific agreed 
alternatives or provision in this Agreement, shared and/or borne by the Councils 
in accordance with the Agreed Percentages.

17.6.8 the Assets shall be dealt with in accordance with the provisions set out in 9.7.

18 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 

18.1 All liabilities under Clause 20 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

18.2 The Council which exercises its right to terminate under Clause 17.1 shall indemnify the other 
Councils against all Direct Losses (which the other parties shall take all reasonable steps to 
mitigate) arising out of such termination. 

18.3 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.2 any Direct Losses of the 
Councils arising out of such termination shall be borne by the Council that has committed the 
Fundamental Breach of this Agreement. 

18.4 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.2 any of the Councils shall also 
be at liberty to pursue all remedies available to them at law.

18.5 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.3 each Council shall bear its 
own losses incurred by the other Council as a result of such termination.

18.6 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.4 each Council shall bear its 
own losses, provided however that if the terminating Council has not entered into discussions 
in good faith with the other Councils and/or not use all reasonable endeavours to negotiate a 
solution with the other Councils, whereby the intent and purpose of this agreement may be 
fulfilled by another mechanism, the terminating Councils shall indemnify the other Councils 

Page 58



 

18

against all Direct Losses (which the other Councils shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate) 
incurred by the other Councils as a result of such termination. 

18.7 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.5 any Direct Losses of West 
Berkshire and the other Council which has not reduced its payments under this Agreement 
arising out of such termination shall be borne by the Council which reduced its payments 
under the Agreement resulting in its termination under Clause 17.5.

19 INSURANCE

19.1 West Berkshire shall take out and maintain or procure the taking out and maintenance of the 
following insurances and any other insurance as may be required by law to cover the activities 
of the PPP:

19.1.1 Public liability insurance; 

19.1.2 Employers liability insurance; and

19.1.3 Professional indemnity insurance.

If there is an increased cost to this insurance because it relates to the PPP, the additional 
costs shall be borne by the PPP in the Agreed Percentages.

19.2 West Berkshire must also ensure that any of its Sub-Contractors that are providing any or all 
of the Services on its behalf take out and maintain equivalent insurance to levels of cover 
agreed by the Councils. 

19.3 Each Council shall, at its own cost, take out and maintain or procure the taking out and 
maintenance of insurance to cover Premises it occupies. 

19.4 All Assets shall be insured by West Berkshire.

19.5 No Council shall take any action or fail to take any reasonable action or (insofar as it is 
reasonably within its power) allow anything to occur (including a failure to disclose any fact) 
which would entitle any insurer to refuse to pay any claim under an insurance policy in which 
that Council is assured, a co-insured or an additional person or which may make such a claim 
wholly or partly repayable. 

19.6 Each Council shall provide to the others on request:

19.6.1 Copies of insurance policies required to be maintained under this Clause 19; 
and

19.6.2 Evidence that the premiums under all insurances have been paid and that the 
insurances are in full force and effect in accordance with the requirements of 
this Clause 19. 

20 INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITIES

20.1 Each Council (“Indemnifying Council”) shall be wholly liable for any loss suffered by another 
Council (“Benefiting Council”) in relation to the operation of the Services in respect of the 
Indemnifying Council prior to the Commencement Date (except any accrued redundancy 
liabilities) and shall indemnify the Benefiting Council against any loss suffered by the 
Benefiting Council to the extent such loss relates to the operation of the Indemnifying 
Council’s Service department(s) prior to the Commencement Date. 

20.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 20.3 and subject to Clause 20.1 any loss or costs 
suffered by any Council arising from or relating to the operation of the Services and the terms 
of this Agreement shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed 

Page 59



 

19

Percentages unless and to the extent that alternative arrangements are agreed in writing by 
the Councils or provided for in this Agreement. The Councils acknowledge that the 
governance arrangements provided for in this Agreement will be the primary means by which 
the Councils will monitor and manage the risk of liability arising from or relating to the 
operation of the PPP. 

20.3 No Council limits its liability for:

20.3.1 death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, 
agents or sub-contractors; 

20.3.2 fraud by it or its employees; 

20.3.3 breach of any obligation as to title implied by statute; or

20.3.4 any other act or omission, liability for which may not be limited under applicable 
law.

21 MEMBER AND OFFICER LIABILITY

21.1 When working as a member of the Joint Committee, the members shall be deemed to be 
working on behalf of their own Council even where the particular matter under consideration 
relates to or also relates to another Council.

21.2 When working on the Service, employees shall be deemed to be working on behalf of their 
employing authority and, where relevant, made available and working on behalf of the other 
Councils under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972.

21.3 In consequence of Clauses 21.1 and 21.2 both members and officers shall be treated as 
falling within the statutory immunity provided by Section 265 of the Public Health Act 1875, as 
applied by Section 39 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, in 
respect of their actions or omissions in connection with the Service, provided they act bona 
fide in good faith.

22 DISPUTES

22.1 The Councils shall attempt, in good faith, to resolve any Dispute promptly by negotiation which 
shall be conducted as follows:

22.1.1 the Dispute shall be referred to the Lead Officers;

22.1.2 if the Dispute cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the Councils by the Lead 
Officers within fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been referred in writing 
to the Lead Officers, the Dispute may be referred, by any Council, to the Joint 
Management Team for resolution;

22.1.3 if the Dispute cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the Councils by the Joint 
Management Team within fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been 
referred in writing to the Joint Management Team, the Dispute may be referred, 
by any Council, to the Joint Management Board for resolution;

22.1.4 if the Dispute cannot be resolved by the Joint Management Board within 
fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been referred in writing, any Council 
may give notice to the other Council in writing (“Dispute Notice”) that a Dispute 
has arisen; and

22.1.5 within seven (7) days of the date of the Dispute Notice, each Council shall refer 
the Dispute to the chief executives of the Councils who shall consider the 

Page 60



 

20

Dispute Notice and forward it together with a recommendation on resolution to 
the Councils within fourteen (14) days of receiving the Dispute Notice.

22.2 If the Councils are unable, or fail, to resolve the Dispute within twenty-one (21) days of receipt 
of the Dispute Notice the Councils may attempt to resolve the Dispute by mediation in 
accordance with Clause 22.3.

22.3 If the Councils have failed to agree on a resolution, any Council may refer any Dispute for 
mediation pursuant to this Clause 22.3. No Council may commence any court proceedings / 
arbitration in relation to any Dispute until it has attempted to settle the Dispute by mediation 
and either the mediation has terminated or the relevant Council has failed to participate in the 
mediation, provided that the right to issue proceedings is not prejudiced by a delay.  The 
following provisions shall apply to any such reference to mediation:

22.3.1 the reference shall be a reference under the Model Mediation Procedure (MMP) 
of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR) for the time being in 
force;

22.3.2 the Councils shall, immediately on such referral, co-operate fully, promptly and 
in good faith with CEDR and the mediator and shall do all such acts and provide 
all such information or documents as CEDR or the mediator may reasonably 
require to give effect to such mediation, including entering into an agreement in, 
or substantially in, the form of CEDR's Model Mediation Agreement for the time 
being in force; and

22.3.3 to the extent not provided for by such agreement of the MMP:

(a) the mediation shall commence by a Council serving on the others written notice 
setting out, in summary form, the issues in dispute and calling on theother Councils 
to agree the appointment of a mediator; and

(b) the mediation shall be conducted by a sole mediator (which shall not exclude the 
presence of a pupil mediator) agreed between the Councils or, in default of 
agreement, appointed by CEDR.

22.4 Should the mediation fail, in whole or in part, any of the Councils may, upon giving written 
notice, and within twenty eight (28) days thereof, apply to the President or the Deputy 
President, for the time being, of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, for the appointment of a 
single arbitrator, for final resolution. The arbitrator shall have no connection with the mediator 
or the mediation proceedings, unless the Councils have consented in writing. The arbitration 
shall be governed by both the Arbitration Act 1996 and the Controlled Cost Rules of the 
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (2000 Edition), as amended, which Rules are deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into this clause. The seat of the arbitration shall be England and 
Wales

22.5 Without prejudice to any rights to seek redress in court, the Councils shall continue to provide 
the Service and to perform their obligations under this Agreement notwithstanding any Dispute 
or the implementation of the procedures set out in this Clause 22.

23 CONDUCT OF CLAIMS

23.1 This Clause 3 shall apply to the conduct, by a Council, of claims made by a third person 
against any Council in connection with any liability described in Clause 20.

23.2 If a Council (“the Notifying Council”) receives any notice, demand, letter or other document 
concerning any claim for which it appears that the Notifying Council is or may become entitled 
to, be indemnified under this Agreement, the Notifying Council shall notify the other Councils 
in writing as soon as reasonable practicable and in any event within twenty (20) Working Days 
of its receipt.

Page 61



 

21

23.3 The Notifying Council shall be free at any time to give notice to the other Councils that it is 
retaining or taking over (as the case may be) the conduct of any defence, dispute, 
compromise or appeal of any claim made by a third party in connection with any matter 
described in Clause 20 or any incidental negotiations.  On receipt of such a notice a Council 
shall promptly take all reasonable steps necessary to transfer the conduct of such claim to the 
Notifying Council, and the other Councils shall provide to the Notifying Council all reasonable 
co-operation, access and assistance for the purposes of considering and resisting such claim. 
If the Notifying Council gives any notice pursuant to this clause, then the other Councils shall 
be released from any future liability under its indemnity in respect of such claim.

23.4 If another Council pays to the Notifying Council an amount in respect of an indemnity and the 
Notifying Council subsequently recovers (whether by payment, discount, credit, saving, relief 
or other benefit or otherwise) a sum which is directly referable to the fact, matter, event or 
circumstances giving rise to the claim under the indemnity, the Notifying Council shall 
immediately repay the other Council the lesser of:

23.4.1 the sum recovered (or the value of the saving or benefit obtained) less any out-
of-pocket costs and expenses properly incurred by the Notifying Council in 
recovering it; and 

23.4.2 the amount paid to the Notifying Council by the other Council in respect of the 
claim under the relevant authority.

23.5 The other Council is repaid in accordance with Clause 23.4 only to the extent that the amount 
of the recovery aggregated with the amount paid by that Council exceeds the Notifying 
Council’s losses.

23.6 The Councils shall comply with the requirements of any insurer who may have an obligation to 
consider any claim made in respect of any liability arising under this Agreement.

24 CONFIDENTIALITY

24.1 Each Council undertakes to the other Councils that neither it nor any of its sub-contractors will 
at any time after the date of this Agreement (save as required by Law or by order of a Court of 
competent jurisdiction or any other relevant regulatory authority or as expressly permitted to 
be disclosed) use any Confidential Information (other than for the purposes of this Agreement) 
or disclose or divulge any Confidential Information to any person (other than to officers or 
employees of the Councils) and that it shall use its best endeavours to prevent such use or 
publication or disclosure of any Confidential Information by any other person.

24.2 Except to the extent set out in this Clause 24, or where disclosure is expressly permitted 
elsewhere in this Agreement, each Council shall:

24.2.1 treat the other Councils' Confidential Information as confidential; and

24.2.2 not disclose the other Councils' Confidential Information to any other person 
without the owner's prior written consent. 

24.3 Clause 24.1 shall not apply to the extent that:

24.3.1 such information was in the possession of the Council making the disclosure, 
without obligation of confidentiality, prior to its disclosure; 

24.3.2 such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of 
confidentiality; 

24.3.3 such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure 
otherwise than through a breach of this Agreement; or 

Page 62



 

22

24.3.4 such information was independently developed without access to the other 
Councils' Confidential Information.

24.4 Each Council may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees who are directly 
involved in the provision of the Services and who need to know the information for the 
purposes of the Service. Each Council shall ensure that such employees are aware of, and 
comply with, these confidentiality obligations.

25 DATA PROTECTION

25.1 Each Council agrees that in relation to any personal data (as defined in the DPA) it holds in 
relation to this Agreement it will comply, as a data controller if necessary, with the DPA 
including:

25.1.1 the eight data protection principles listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the DPA;

25.1.2 requests from data subjects for access to data held by it; and

25.1.3 the requirements relating to notification to the Information Commissioner by 
data controllers under Part 11 of the DPA.

25.2 Each Council agrees that if it acquires personal data from the other Councils in connection 
with this Agreement it will:

25.2.1 maintain a valid and up to date registration or notification under the DPA which 
covers all processing of such data which it undertakes;

25.2.2 only undertake processing of such personal data where it is reasonably required 
in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement;

25.2.3 not disclose such personal data to any third party other than:

(i) a disclosure on terms substantially the same as and no less stringent than 
those required by this Clause, to its employees, agents and contractors to 
whom such disclosure is reasonably necessary in connection with the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement; or

(ii) as required by court order;

25.2.4 bring into effect and maintain all technical and organisational measures to 
prevent unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and accidental 
loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data including taking reasonable 
steps to ensure the reliability of staff having access to the personal data; and

25.2.5 obtain the consent of data subjects to the disclosure of any personal data 
disclosed under this Agreement.

25.3 Nothing in this Agreement requires any Council to disclose any information to another party if 
that Council considers that to do so would be in breach of the DPA.

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 
REGULATIONS 2004 

26.1 Each Council acknowledges that the others are subject to the requirements of the FOI 
Legislation and shall where reasonable assist and co-operate to enable the other Councils to 
comply with these information disclosure obligations.

Page 63



 

23

26.2 Where a Council receives a request for information under the FOI Legislation in relation to 
information which it is holding on behalf of the other Councils in relation to the Service, it shall 
(and shall procure that its sub-contractors shall) :

26.2.1 transfer the request for information to the other Council as soon as practicable 
after receipt and in any event within two  (2) Working Days of receiving a 
request for information;

26.2.2 provide the other Council with a copy of all information in its possession or 
power in the form that the authority requires within ten (10)  Working Days (or 
such longer period as the authority may specify) of the Council requesting that 
information; and

26.2.3 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Council 
to enable the Council to respond to a request for information within the time for 
compliance set out in the FOI Legislation.

26.3 Where a Council receives a request for information under the FOI Legislation which relates to 
the Agreement or the Service, it shall inform the other Council of the request for information as 
soon as practicable after receipt and in any event at least two (2) Working Days before 
disclosure and shall use all reasonable endeavours to consult with the other Councils prior to 
disclosure and shall consider all representations made by the other Councils in relation to the 
decision whether or not to disclose the information requested.

26.4 Each of the Councils shall be responsible for determining in their absolute discretion whether 
any information requested under the FOI Legislation:

26.4.1 is exempt from disclosure;

26.4.2 is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.

26.5 Each of the Councils acknowledges that the other Councils may be obliged under the FOI 
Legislation to disclose information:

26.5.1 without consulting with the other Councils where it has not been practicable to 
achieve consultation; or

26.5.2 following consultation with the other Councils and having taken their views into 
account.

27 WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY

27.1 A failure or delay in exercising any rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement will not 
operate as a waiver of them. The single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege 
does not prevent any other exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege 
(whether arising out of the same factual situation or otherwise). Any waiver of a breach of this 
Agreement is not to be effective unless given in writing signed by the Council waiving its 
entitlement. No waiver is to be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default nor is it 
to affect the other terms of this Agreement.

27.2 The receipt of money does not prevent the Councils receiving it questioning the correctness of 
the amount or any other statement in respect of the money.

27.3 If any term of this Agreement is illegal, void or unenforceable the remainder of this Agreement 
will continue in force as though that term had not been included in it.

28 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Page 64



 

24

28.1 If any situation arises where there is an actual or potential conflict of interest or a perceived 
conflict of interest between the Councils or any of the Officers of the Councils then such 
conflict of interest shall be drawn to the attention of the Monitoring Officer of the relevant 
Council, in writing, specifying the details of the actual, potential or perceived conflict.

28.2 Upon receipt of written notice of such a conflict the Monitoring Officer shall advise the 
Monitoring Officer of the other Councils and the three Monitoring Officers shall:

28.2.1 consider the position in relation to their own Council; 

28.2.2 notify the Joint Management Board of the circumstances of the conflict;

28.2.3 prepare recommendations for consideration by the Joint Management Board as 
to how such a conflict may be managed or avoided or other appropriate action 
with a view to ensuring that Officers or the Councils are not compromised in 
performing their functions; 

28.3 The Monitoring Officer of the Host Council shall keep a record on behalf of the Joint 
Committee specifying the details of all actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest and 
how each one was managed or resolved.

29 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

29.1 This Agreement sets out the whole agreement between the Councils in relation to the 
Services. It supersedes the existing arrangements and invalidates all other commitments, 
representations and warranties relating to its subject matter which any of the Councils has 
made orally or in writing.

29.2 Each of the Councils warrants that it has not entered into this Agreement on the basis of any 
representation made by the other except to the extent that such representation is expressly 
included in it (but nothing in this Clause 29 excludes any liability for fraudulent 
misrepresentation).

30 EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE

30.1 Nothing in this Agreement is to require any Council to act in anyway which is inconsistent with 
its obligations as a local authority.

30.2 Each Council subject to Clause 30.1 shall do all things and execute all further documents that 
the other may reasonably require to give effect to this Agreement.

31 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY

31.1 Nothing in this Agreement is to constitute or be deemed a partnership within the meaning of 
the Partnership Act 1890, the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, the Limited Liability Partnerships 
Act 2000 or any other legislation concerning partnerships or limited liability partnerships. 

31.2 No Council shall hold itself out as the agent of the other or have any authority to bind the other 
except to the extent that this Agreement expressly provides otherwise.

32 THIRD PARTIES

32.1 This Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as creating, any right under the 
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 which is enforceable by any person who is not 
party to this Agreement.

33 VARIATIONS

Page 65



 

25

33.1 Any variations to this Agreement shall only be effective where agreed in writing by all of the 
Councils.

33.2 No consents to any variation to this Agreement are required from any person who is not a 
Council.

34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING

34.1 No Council may transfer, assign or pledge its rights or obligations under this Agreement 
(without the consent of the other Councils).

34.2 Any Council may subcontract any of its obligations under this Agreement with the consent of 
the other Councils (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) but the Council 
that subcontracts is to be liable for the performance of its subcontractors.

35 GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

35.1 The formation, construction, performance, validity and all aspects of this Agreement are to be 
governed by English law and subject to where provided otherwise under Clause 35 the 
Councils agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

35.2 The rights and remedies given by this Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any other 
rights or remedies given by law or under this Agreement.

36 NOTICES 

36.1 Notices or other communications under this Agreement will be duly served if given by and sent 
to the nominated representative of the Council to be served in accordance with the following 
table with the date of service and method of proof being as set out in it:

Method of service Date of service Proof of service
Personal delivery to the 
nominated representative

Day of delivery Proof of handing to the 
nominated 
representative

Personal delivery of a letter 
addressed to the nominated 
representative at the address for 
service.

Day of delivery if before 16.00 on 
a Working Day otherwise 10.00 
on the next Working Day 
thereafter.

Proof of delivery.

First class letter addressed to the 
nominated representative at the 
address for service.

48 hours after posting if that is a 
Working Day otherwise 10.00 on 
the next Working Day thereafter.

Proof of posting unless 
returned through the 
Post Office undelivered 
service within twenty 
one (21) days of 
posting.

Facsimile addressed to the 
nominated representative at the 
address for service.

Day of transmission if before 
16.00 on a Working Day 
otherwise 10.00 on the next 
Working Day thereafter.

Transmission report 
showing a successful 
transmission to the 
correct number plus proof 
of posting of a hard copy.

36.2 Each Council’s address for service is the address set out at the start of this Agreement or 
such other address as it notifies to the other in writing.

36.3 The nominated representative for the receipt of notices under this Agreement is the Chief 
Executive of each Council or such other person as that Council nominates by written notice to 
the other.

Page 66



 

26

IN WITNESS hereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a Deed the day and year first 
written 

The Common Seal of )
West Berkshire District Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

 

 Authorised sealing officer

The Common Seal of )
Wokingham Borough Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

Authorised signatory

The Common Seal of )
Bracknell Forest Borough Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

Authorised signatory

Page 67



 

27

SCHEDULE 1 - GOVERNANCE

The Councils shall set up the following governance arrangements.

1 Joint Committee 

1.1 The purpose of the Councils in establishing the Joint Committee is to facilitate an effective joint 
approach between the Councils in delivering the Services. 

1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Joint Committee shall have decision making powers vested in it by 
the Councils and is a Joint Committee for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Government Act 2000.

2 Interpretation

2.1 Unless expressly stated otherwise the expressions within this Schedule 1 will have the same 
meaning as in the main body of this Agreement.

3 The membership of the Joint Committee

3.1 The Joint Committee shall comprise six voting members. One member from each authority shall be 
an executive member. The second member is any other non-executive member who is appointed by 
the Council or Leader of each Council (depending upon who has the authority to make the 
appointment). 

3.2 Each Council or Leader will nominate a substitute executive member who may act as substitute for 
both the executive and non- executive member of the Joint Committee. The substitute member is 
entitled to attend all meetings of the Joint Committee but will only be classed as a member of the 
Joint Committee and vote when acting as a substitute. 

3.3 Each member of the Joint Committee shall act in the overall interests of the Joint Committee.

3.4 Each member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct and relevant 
training programmes of their Council when acting as a Member of the Joint Committee.

3.5 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its Members to be Chairman of the Joint Committee who 
shall, unless he or she resigns his or her office or ceases to be a member of the Joint Committee, 
continue in office for a period of up to 16 months or until his/her successor becomes entitled to act.

3.6 The first Chairman of the Joint Committee shall be a person nominated by [Wokingham] and shall 
hold office for the period up to Annual Council in May 2018.

3.7 The Chairmanship of the Joint Committee following the initial appointment shall rotate between the 
three Councils on an annual cycle. The Vice Chairman shall ordinarily become the next Chairman.

3.8 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its Members to be Vice Chairman of the Joint Committee 
who shall, unless he or she resigns his or her office or ceases to be a member of the Joint 
Committee, continue in office for a period of 16 months or until his/her successor becomes entitled to 
act.

3.9 The first Vice Chairman of the Joint Committee shall be a person nominated by [Bracknell Forest] 
and shall hold office for the period up to Annual Council in May 2018.

3.10 The Vice Chairmanship of the Joint Committee following the initial appointment shall rotate between 
the three Councils on an annual cycle.

3.11 The chairman shall have a casting vote. 

Page 68



 

28

3.12 The role of Treasurer to the Joint Committee will be provided by the Chief Finance Officer and the 
role of Secretary to the Joint Committee will be provided by the Host Council.

4 The terms of reference of the Joint Committee

4.1 The terms of reference of the Joint Committee are as set out in the Responsibilities in Appendix A 

5 Meetings of the Joint Committee

5.1 The Joint Committee shall hold meetings twice yearly unless otherwise determined by the Joint 
Committee. The venue for the meetings will alternate between locations in Berkshire. The costs of 
the meeting shall be borne by the Council which is hosting the meeting of the Joint Committee.

5.2 The first meeting of the Joint Committee shall held on {insert date} February 2016. 

5.3 The Joint Committee may in every year hold in addition other meetings as they may determine 
necessary. 

6 Role of the Joint Management Board

6.1 The Joint Management Board shall be a senior level forum for advice, consultation, discussion, 
resolution of issues and recommendations back to the Joint Committee or the Councils on all 
aspects of the delivery of the Service. 

6.2 The membership of the Joint Management Board shall be: 

6.2.1 A senior officer from Bracknell Forest; A senior officer from West Berkshire; A Senior 
officer from Wokingham:  The West Berkshire Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection; and the joint Service Managers of the PPP. 

6.3 The terms of reference for the Joint Management Board are as set out in the Responsibilities in 
Appendix 1 to this Schedule 

6.4 The Joint Management Board will meet every three (3) months or more frequently as agreed. 

7 Joint Management Team

7.1 A Joint Management Team, comprising the joint Service Managers of the PPP and such other 
professional and practitioner officers as determined by the Joint Management Team, meeting as 
required, to oversee the general operation of the Service, as set out in the Responsibilities in 
Appendix 1.

8 Changes to the Constitution

8.1 No change may be made to the governance arrangements of the Joint Committee in this Schedule 1 
unless it has been agreed unanimously at a meeting of the Joint Committee.

8.2 Each of the Councils may request a change to the constitution of the Joint Committee by sending to 
the Joint Committee:

8.2.1 Details in writing of the proposed change to the governance arrangements;

8.2.2 A request in writing for the proposed change to be included in the agenda for the next 
meeting of the Joint Committee.

8.3 If the Joint Committee agrees to a change to the governance arrangements of the Joint Committee, 
the change shall take effect immediately after it has been agreed.  The costs associated with the 
agreed change shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed Percentages, 
unless agreed otherwise. 

Page 69



 

29

9 Additional councils

9.1 The PPP shall be able to provide the Services or ancillary services to any councils, shared services 
or authorities (“Additional Council”) in addition to the Councils party to this agreement subject to the 
provisions of this paragraph 9 and provided that the engagement of an Additional Council shall not 
create any detriment to the cost and quality of the services provided to nor otherwise be injurious to 
the interests of the Council’s party to this agreement.  Such services may be provided contractually 
or may be undertaken by the Additional Council joining a shared service arrangement with the 
Councils.

9.2 It is agreed by the Councils that requests from Additional Councils to join the PPP will be actively 
considered by the Joint Committee.  The Joint Committee will discuss any such requests taking into 
account:

9.2.1 Whether the enlargement of the PPP will improve the cost effectiveness and 
sustainability of the PPP;

9.2.2 Ensuring no detriment to the level and quality of service provided to the Councils; 

9.2.3 The implications of Additional Councils joining the PPP on this Agreement;

9.2.4 Ensuring the Councils incur no additional costs. 

9.3 Discussions on this issue will be approached in the spirit of partnership and good faith and the Joint 
Committee will seek to agree an outcome which will be at no detriment to the cost or quality of the 
Service provided to the Councils.

9.4 If having considered the request by an Additional Council to join the PPP the Joint Committee 
determine that the criteria set out in 9.2 above are met they shall make a recommendation for 
consideration by the Councils.  

10.  STANDING ORDERS

9.1 The standing orders and procedure rules of the Host Council will apply to meetings of the Joint 
Committee and the transaction of business through PPP unless otherwise provided for in this 
Agreement. 

9.2 The quorum for any meeting of the Joint Committee will be three members being at least one voting 
executive member or their substitute from each Council. 

9.3 The Joint Committee shall be responsible for agreeing any virement within the total cost of the 
Service where that exceeds the level of officer delegation to approve virement within the Host 
Council's Standing Orders and is within the agreed Budget for the Service.

9.4 Virement outside of the agreed Budget and Policy framework will require approval by the Councils. 

Page 70



 

30

Page 71



 

31

APPENDIX 1 - RESPONSIBILITIES

Joint Committee Joint Management Board Joint Management Team
Purpose: To provide strategic direction 

and make key decisions that enable 
this

Purpose: Advisory Purpose: Delivery & Operational 
Decisions

Meeting frequency: Twice each year, or 
more frequently if deemed necessary.

Meeting frequency: Quarterly Meeting frequency: Monthly

Led by: Executive Members Led by: Senior Officers Led by: Two Joint Service Managers
Comprises:

JC Members: Executive Member from 
each Council plus one further Non- 

Executive Member from each Council
One Substitute Executive/Non- 

Executive Members from each Council
The Chair to have a casting vote unless 

otherwise stated in the Agreement.

Comprises:
Senior Client Officer identified by 
each of the Councils and the two 

Joint Service Managers

Comprises:
Two Joint Service Managers and 

Operational Team Managers

Responsibilities assigned:
To provide strategic direction for the 
service and monitor delivery of the 

Service.

To act as an informal sounding 
board for the Joint Committee. The 

Board shall be a forum for 
consultation, discussion, resolution 
of issues and recommendation to 

the Joint Committee on all aspects 
of delivery of the service.

Day to day management of the 
Service, including providing statutory 

returns: monitoring day to day 
performance of the Service and 

teams: responding to information 
needs identified by the Joint 

Committee or Joint Management 
Board.

To ensure effective performance of the 
Service:

Agreeing key performance indicators at 
a strategic level for the Service by the 

end of February in the preceding 
financial year:

Formally by considering performance 
against agreed measures.

To review reports from the Joint 
Management Team to work 

collaboratively with the Service to 
improve overall performance, 

helping ensure links are made to 
other Council Services and helping 
to break down barriers that inhibit 
performance. (Capitalising on the 

Board’s networks)

Production of reports to be 
considered by the Joint Committee or 
Joint Management Board including:
An annual report on delivery of the 
Business Plan: Proposed charges: 
Performance against key measures 

(which may include statutory returns); 
HR issues and Resource issues 

where relevant.
To set the overall strategic direction of 

the service through developing and 
agreeing the business plan.

To be consulted on the draft 
Business Plan, including priorities 

and measures.

Production of a draft Business Plan 
for the coming financial year, 

including service priorities and 
anticipated performance measures.

To set key policy for the service taking 
into account relevant information.

To be consulted on proposed key 
policy changes – where relevant / 

necessary.

To develop reports on proposed key 
policy changes e.g. Enforcement 

Policy.
To consider and agree key policy 

documents
To be aware of the joint service 
policy in respect to prosecutions 

and other disposals.

 

To maintain financial oversight of the 
Service to ensure sound financial 

management. To propose fee structure, 
annual budget to the Councils and 

agree any variations from the budget 
from the Inter Authority Agreement.

To quarterly review the budget 
monitoring information

Monitor the budget, approve spend in 
accordance with Standing Orders for 
financial processes. Provide budget 
monitoring reports to the JMB and 

JC.

To monitor delivery of the Business To provide support and guidance To provide annual reports to the 

Page 72



 

32

Case including delivery of savings and 
additional income.

to the Joint Management Team to 
assist achievement of delivering 

the Business Case.

JMB/JC on delivery of the business 
case.

To decide how to spend any additional 
surplus income, additional savings or 

under spend – whether these should be 
reinvested in the Service or returned to 

each local authority in the usual 
proportions.

To suggest alternatives for the 
Joint Management Team to 

develop and to provide 
constructive challenge to ideas to 

enable the Joint Committee to 
make well informed decisions.

To provide comprehensive 
information on possible ways to 

spend any additional surplus 
income/savings or under spend 
including a consideration of the 

impact of any such spend.
To receive reports on the performance 

of the Inter Authority Agreement.
To identify defaults against the 
Inter Authority Agreement and 

resolve these to the satisfaction of 
both Councils.

To monitor operational delivery 
against strategic priorities

Page 73



 

33

SCHEDULE 2 - RELEVANT FUNCTIONS

1 Excluded Functions 

1.1 For the avoidance of doubt each of the Council's Licensing Committees do not form part of the 
Relevant Functions.

2 Relevant Functions

2.1 The Relevant Functions shall be those environmental, licensing, gambling, trading standards and 
related functions set out in the following list of legislation ("the statutes") together with:

(a) Any amendments, modifications or replacements to the statutes

(b) Any new legislation relating to the trading standards or environmental health and 
licensing functions of local authorities or in other ways related to the statutes 

(c) Any subsidiary legislation or statutory guidance made under the statutes or under 
provisions in (a) and (b) above 

(d) Any other function or a local authority calculated to facilitate or conductive or 
incidental to the functions in the statutes or any provisions in (a), (b) and (c) above 

(e) The Primary Authority functions of a local authority as set out in the Regulatory, 
Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 and

(f) The general power of competence in section 1 Localism Act 2011. 

2.2 The Statutes are:

Administration of Justice Act 1970

Agricultural Act 1970

Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963

Animal Health Act 1981

Animal Welfare Act 2006

Animals Act 1971

Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003

Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

Berkshire Act 1980

Breeding of Dogs Act 1973, 1991

Building Act 1984

Cancer Act 1939

Caravan Act 1968, 1985

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960-1985

Charities Act 1992

Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991

Children and Young Persons Act 1933

Chiropractors Act 1994

Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970

Cinema Act 1968-1985

Clean Air Acts 1956-1993

Page 74



 

34

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Companies Act 2006

Consumer Credit Act 1974, 2006

Consumer Protection Act 1987

Consumer Rights Act 2015

Control of Pollution Act 1974

Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988

Courts and Legal Services Act 1990

Crime and Disorder Act 1997

Criminal Justice Act 1988

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

Customs & Excise (Management) Act 1979

Dangerous Dogs Act 1991

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976

Disabled Persons Act 1981

Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996

Education Reform Act 1988

Enterprise Act 2002

Environment Act 1995

Environmental Protection Act 1990

Estate Agents Act 1979

European Communities Act 1972

Explosives Act 1875, 1923

Factories Act 1961

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

Fireworks Act 2003

Food and Environment Protection Act 1985

Food Safety Act 1990

Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981

Fraud Act 2006

Gambling Act 2005

Guard Dogs Act 1975

Hallmarking Act 1973

Health Act 2006

Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974

Home Safety Act 1961

Housing Acts 1957, 1985, 1996, 2004

Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985

Knives Act 1997

Land Compensation Act 1973

Late Night Refreshment Houses Act 1969

Page 75



 

35

Licensing Act 2003

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 1982

Local Government Acts 1953-1989

Local Government Act 1972

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Malicious Communications Act 1988

National Assistance (Amendment) Act 1951

National Assistance Act 1948

National Lotteries etc Act 1993

Noise Act 1996

Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993

Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963

Olympic Symbols etc. (Protection) Act 1995

Osteopaths Act 1993

Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925

Pesticides Act 1996

Pet Animals Act 1951

Pollution, Prevention and Control Act 1999

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949

Prices Acts 1974

Private Hire Vehicles (Carriage of Guide Dogs etc.) Act 2002

*Proceeds of Crime Act 2002*

Protection from Harassment Act 1997

Psychoactive Substances Act 2016

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984

Public Health Act 1936-1984

Radioactive Substances Act 1993

Rag Flock Act 1961

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008

Riding Establishments Act 1964, 1970

Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972

Road Traffic Act 1988, 1991

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975

Scotch Whisky Act 1982

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964, 2013

Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967

Slaughterhouses Act 1974

Solicitors Act 1974

Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 2010

Sunday Trading Act 1994

Page 76



 

36

Tattooing of Minors Act 1969

Theatres Act 1968

Theft Act 1968

Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002

Tobacco Products Duty Act 1979

Town Police Clauses Acts 1847-1889

Trade Descriptions Act 1968

Trade Marks Act 1994

Transport Act 1980

Unsolicited Goods and Services Act 1971, 1975

Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001

Video Recordings Act 1984, 2010

Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006

Water Acts 1945-1989

Water Industries Act 1991

Weights and Measures Act 1985

Zoo Licensing Act 1981

* Accredited financial investigators are authorised by the National Crime Agency  

a) any Orders or Regulations made there-under or relating to any of the foregoing or having effect 
by virtue of the European Communities Act 1972; or any statute that may replace the European 
Communities Act 1972 resulting from any decision by the United Kingdom to leave the European 
Union or enter into alternative arrangements with the European Union and;

b) any offence under any legislation, or at common law, which is of a similar nature or related to 
the foregoing including offences of aiding, abetting, counselling and procuring, incitement, 
conspiracy, perverting the course of justice and criminal attempts; and

c) any modification or re-enactment to the foregoing.

Page 77



 

37

SCHEDULE 3 - BRANDING

1. The service will be known as the Public Protection Partnership. The identifiers for the 
Service are set out below:

             

 

   

2. Joint branding (the West Berkshire Crest and Wokingham Crest along with the Bracknell 
Deer) will also be deployed across all collateral including digital presence. 

3. A statement of acknowledgement (e.g. ‘A shared service provided by Bracknell Forest 
District Council, West Berkshire District Council and Wokingham Borough Council’) will be 
deployed across all collateral (including digital presence) 

4. These branding principles will be reviewed as part of the mainstream review process 
enshrined in this Agreement. This will include any instances not specified within this 
Schedule, such as new independent structures and subsidiaries, which will be subject to 
mutual agreement of specific guidance between the two Councils.

5. Each Council reserves the right to withdraw its branding at any time.

Page 78



 

38

SCHEDULE 4 – AGREED PERCENTAGES AND BUDGET SETTING

Definitions:

Budget means the total monies allocated to the PPP for each Financial Year by the Councils from 
time to time and includes employee costs, supplies and services and income.

Initial Budget means the forecast Budget for the remainder of the Financial Year 16/17 and full 
Financial Year 17/18 including Start-up costs.

Major Adjustment means an increase or decrease in the contributions paid by the Councils which 
amounts to a change of 2.5% or more of the total Budget for that Financial Year.

Minor Adjustment means an increase or decrease in the contributions paid by the Councils which 
amounts to a change of less than 2.5% of the total Budget for that Financial Year.

Start-up Costs means the costs associated the integration of the individual Council services into 
the PPP, asidentified in Appendix 1 to this Schedule and will be included in the initial payment for 
16/17 Financial Year based on the Agreed Percentages.

Submission Date means 30 November or such other date agreed between the Councils from time 
to time.

Threshold Limit means the amount of £50,000 or such other sum as agreed between the 
Councils from time to time.

Unbudgeted Expenditure means an expense that is unaccounted for in the Budget for that 
Financial Year.

Year End Reconciliation means an annual reconciliation undertaken by West Berkshire of the 
actual expenditure of the PPP against the Budget and contributions made by the Councils during 
that Financial Year.

First Financial Years

The Initial Budget of the PPP to cover the period from commencement of the Agreement until 31st 
March 2017 shall be {insert} and the Agreed Percentages for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 
2018 and the budget allocated to PPP shall be {insert} and the percentages shall be as below.

shall be:

Bracknell Forest – 27%

West Berkshire – 40%

Wokingham – 33%

Future Financial Years

The recommended Budget and Agreed Percentage figures for the PPP for each subsequent 
Financial Year shall be prepared by the Joint Committee and sent to the Councils for consideration 
by the Submission Date during the immediately preceding Financial Year. 

In preparing its recommended Budget and Agreed Percentage figures, the Joint Committee shall 
specifically consider:

Page 79



 

39

- The previous expenditure of the PPP and levels of service achieved;

- Any proposals for the development of the PPP or the services it offers;

- Any material changes in the activities provided by the PPP to either Council or any 
requests by either Council to make material changes in the following Financial Year; and

- Any other matters of relevance from time to time. 

The Councils shall consider the recommendations as part of their internal budget setting processes 
and the Joint Committee shall provide such assistance and response as is necessary to meet 
financial challenges or alternative proposals that may be put forward by the Councils. 

The final Budget for the forthcoming Financial Year shall be approved by each Council by no later 
than the 28 February in the immediately preceding Financial Year.

Payments 

Bracknell Forest and Wokingham shall pay its Agreed Percentage of the Budget for any given 
Financial Year to West Berkshire in two equal instalments falling due on the 1st April and 1st 
October in any year. For the remainder of 2016/17 the payment shall fall due on the date of 
commencement 

Any additional payments due by Bracknell Forest or Wokingham to West Berkshire in accordance 
with the following provisions of this Schedule shall be made within 30 days of notification. 

Monitoring and Adjustments 

The actual spend of the PPP against its Budget for each Financial Year shall be monitored by 
West Berkshire throughout the year and formally reviewed at the 6 month point by the Joint 
Committee. The Joint Committee shall then determine whether any action is necessary to ensure 
the forecast spend closely aligns with the Budget for that Financial Year or if an adjustment to the 
contributions allocated by the Councils is appropriate to meet the forecasted year end position:

- If a Minor Adjustment is necessary this shall be implemented from the 6 month period 
until the end of the Financial Year to which it applies; 

- If a Major Adjustment is necessary this shall be referred back to the Councils respective 
Executives for consideration and to agree a resolution within 60 days. 

Unbudgeted Costs

In the event that the PPP incurs Unbudgeted Expenditure this shall be reviewed by the Joint 
Committee for appropriate action: 

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure exceeds the Threshold Limit, the Joint Committee shall 
submit this sum to the Councils for payment as a one-off cost, split between them in the 
Agreed Percentages for that Financial Year. The Joint Committee shall also issue a 
report to the Councils detailing why the cost occurred and any actions that may be 
necessary to avoid a similar situation in the future; 

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure does not exceed the Threshold Limit, the Joint 
Committee shall authorise the payment out of the existing Budget for that Financial Year 
and deal with any shortfall by way of the Minor Adjustment or Year End Reconciliation 
processes;

Page 80



 

40

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure arises as a result of a request from one Council and 
relates wholly to that Council, then the cost shall be borne by that Council alone. 

Emergency Payments

In the event that the PPP has to incur Unbudgeted Expenditure in the event of an emergency then 
the Councils hereby authorise such expenditure provided that the PPP shall promptly refer such 
payments to the Joint Committee for ratification of the expenditure already made and authorisation 
of any further expenditure to deal with the emergency situation. For the purposes of this paragraph 
an emergency shall be situations beyond the control of the Councils which are unforeseen and 
unavoidable and which result in a risk to the protection of the public.

Year End Reconciliation

The Chief Finance Officer of West Berkshire shall be responsible for ensuring that there is a Year 
End Reconciliation within reasonable time period at the end of the Financial Year. The result of this 
reconciliation shall be reported to the Joint Committee and in the event that: 

- A surplus has been generated then West Berkshire shall make payments to the Councils 
in the Agreed Percentages for that Financial Year as are necessary to clear the surplus; 

- A shortfall has been identified then the Councils shall make payments in the Agreed 
Percentages for that Financial Year as are necessary to clear the shortfall; 

- The surplus or shortfall is de minimis then it shall be carried forward/written off without 
further payments being due. The de minimis figure shall be agreed between the Councils 
from time to time.

Page 81



 

41

SCHEDULE 5 – SERVICE SPECIFICATION 

Priorities: In addition to enforcing the legislation set out in Schedule 2 (the Relevant Functions) the PPP will 
support the corporate priorities of the Councils and align its work to those priorities.

At the time of the Agreement, the agreed priorities are:

1. Community Protection

 Contribute to the effective tackling of crime and disorder
 Tackling the issues that cause the greatest harm to individuals and communities
 Protection of the most vulnerable residents
 To act as champion for the local area
 Providing safeguards to the community through an effective licensing service

2. Protecting and Improving Health

 Protecting people from harmful products and services (including food)
 Allowing residents to make informed choices on matters that impact their health
 Developing and delivering initiatives designed to improve and enhance the health and wellbeing of 

individuals
 Supporting relevant priorities identified by local Strategic Joint Needs Assessments
 Tackling the causes of health inequalities

3.  Protection of the Environment

 Protecting the environment from harm 
 Tackling those that chose to harm the environment

4. Supporting Prosperity and Economic Growth 

 Supporting compliant local businesses to thrive through the provision of advice and guidance
 Protecting businesses from illegal activities that damage their economic interests
 Supporting the rural economy 

5. Effective and improving service delivery

 Implementation of the national intelligence model to identify and effectively tackle priority areas
 Building effective working relationship with key partners within the Councils to deliver the key 

objectives of the Service and the Councils
 Building effective relationships with key external partners including Thames Valley Police, Royal 

Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, housing providers, other local authorities, national and regional 
delivery bodies and community based groups and organizations. 

 Improvement and enhancement of the service through effective evaluation and quality management
 Communicating well with local people and businesses  

Aims: The key Strategic Aims of that build the case for the Partnership are:

 The sharing of expertise and best practice
 The creation of greater resilience and robustness to cope with unforeseen challenges such as 

disease outbreaks, large scale investigations or loss of key personnel 
 Sharing and developing resources to drive efficiency and effectiveness including systems and areas 

of specialist knowledge such as legal, finance and investigative skills
 Eliminating duplication by needing to do things only once across all locations and elements of the 

service for example procedures and standard documentation
 Building on the success and innovation of the partners to the Agreement and learning from each 

other and implementing that learning.

Page 82



 

42

 The effective use of communication to protect communities and enhance the reputation of the 
Partnership and the Councils

 Reduce costs by operating jointly
 Making effective use of partnership funding, service specific grants and monies received from the 

Proceeds of Crime Incentivisation Scheme 
 Development of the service in ways which drive further efficiencies and service improvements
 Playing our role and enhancing our reputation on a regional and national level

Enforcement Policy: The following Enforcement Policy will apply: 

(1) the Regulators Code will form the basis for the general approach to delivery of the Service; and

(2) the Code for Crown Prosecutors (as amended from time to time) will be the policy basis for decisions 
on institution or otherwise of legal proceedings 

Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18

 Decreasing the level of detriment suffered by residents 
 Increasing levels of compliance in critical areas
 Effective budget management and use of resources
 Preventing residents from harm through expanding the use of social media and key communication 

channels
 Maintain high levels of customer and business satisfaction

Page 83



 

43

Page 84



 

44

SCHEDULE 6– BRACKNELL FOREST EMPLOYEES

Page 85



 

45

Page 86



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 08 December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Hilary Cole
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 20 October 2016

Report Author: Paula Amorelli
Forward Plan Ref: C3188

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To consider the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD), the updated Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and updated Habitats Regulations Assessment and to approve 
these for publication for a 7 week period of public consultation.  This is a regulatory 
stage of the DPD process and requires Council resolution.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Council resolves that:

(1) The Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document is published in accordance 
with Section 20 (7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended) for a 7 week period of consultation

(2) The accompanying updated SA/SEA Report and updated Habitats 
Regulations Assessment are published in accordance with Section 20 
(7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
for a 7 week period of consultation where they relate to the Proposed 
Main Modifications

(3) Delegated authority is given to the Head of Planning and Countryside 
in consultation with the Portfolio member for Planning and Housing, to 
agree any non-material supporting documentation and any other non-
material refinements to the wording of the DPD before consultation.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The Council is committed to producing planning policy 
documents within the stated timescale set out in the 
adopted Local Development Scheme. Budgetary provision 
has been made to carry out the relevant work.

Page 87

Agenda Item 15.



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

3.2 Policy: The West Berkshire Core Strategy sets out the strategic 
direction for the Council’s planning policy, setting out the 
broad strategy for development in West Berkshire to 2026. 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD implements the spatial 
framework of the Core Strategy to allocate non-strategic 
housing sites to contribute towards meeting the District’s 
longer term objectively assessed housing need. It is also 
an opportunity to update some parts of the planning 
policies that provide the starting point for development 
management decisions. 

3.3 Personnel: N/A

3.4 Legal: The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) requires the local planning authority to keep 
under review the matters which may be expected to affect 
the development of their area or the planning of its 
development. The West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations 
DPD seeks to take forward a commitment to fulfil this 
obligation.

3.5 Risk Management: The risks to development management are much higher 
without an up to date development plan in place. Having a 
development plan in place will boost the Council’s 5 year 
housing land supply position bringing forward development 
in a coordinated and managed way and reducing the risk of 
planning by appeal.

3.6 Property: N/A

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

4.1 The preparation of the DPD is an iterative process and involves exploring different 
options to accommodate development, within the framework of the adopted Core 
Strategy. The process began with a ‘call for sites’ following which sites were 
included within the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and 
were assessed according to their potential for future development. The sites 
assessed as ‘potentially developable’ then had their suitability for development 
explored further through the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SA/SEA) and site selection process.  Consultation on the preferred 
options version of the DPD took place in the summer of 2014 as well as further 
technical work which enabled the sites to be assessed further. The proposed 
submission version of the DPD was published for consultation in 
November/December 2015 and was accompanied by a number of supporting and 
evidence based documents which informed its preparation. Following the 
consultation all the responses were submitted to the Secretary of State.

Page 88



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD) is currently 
being independently examined by a Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary 
of State. The Inspector’s role is to assess whether the DPD has been prepared in 
accordance with the Duty to Cooperate, legal and procedural requirements and 
whether it is sound (positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with 
national policy). If the Inspector concludes that the Housing Site Allocations DPD is 
sound and meets the necessary tests, it can then be adopted by Council and will 
form part of the Local Plan for the District. 

5.2 The Inspector is examining the DPD as it was submitted to the Secretary of State 
on 6th April 2016. Examination hearing sessions were held in June and July 2016 to 
discuss a number of issues upon which the Inspector required clarification. The 
purpose of the discussions at the hearings was for the Inspector, the Council and 
participants to gain the fullest possible understanding of any Main Modifications that 
may be required to make the DPD sound and legally compliant. The Council was 
then invited by the Inspector to make a formal request under section 20(7C) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) for him to recommend 
Main Modifications to the DPD. The Council made this formal request on 2nd 
September 2016.

5.3 During the hearing sessions, the Inspector asked the Council to undertake 
additional work on a number of issues.  This work was completed in August 2016 
and was submitted to the Inspector at the beginning of September.  The Inspector 
then sought additional comments on this work from those participants who attended 
the relevant hearing sessions. 

5.4 Based on the outcomes of the hearing sessions and the additional work undertaken, 
the Inspector issued his preliminary findings on 17th October 2016. The findings are 
without prejudice to his final report but set out the Main Modifications he considers 
are required in order to make the DPD sound.

5.5 In many cases it is the Council that has proposed the Main Modifications but in 
some cases the Inspector has amended or added to them in order to make the DPD 
capable of adoption. These Main Modifications usually consist of redrafted text, the 
omission of a policy or section of text (or the inclusion of a new one). As far as the 
housing sites are concerned, other than the Main Modifications already put forward 
by the Council, the Inspector has not proposed the inclusion of any additional 
housing sites, nor has he identified any sites which should be removed from the 
DPD.   

5.6 It is important that any proposed Main Modifications do not undermine, or possibly 
undermine, the sustainability process that has informed the preparation of the DPD. 
The Council has therefore updated the SA/SEA Report (Appendix C ii) and 
produced an addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment (Appendix C iii), 
both of which accompany the DPD.

6. Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications

6.1 The proposed Main Modifications are set out as a schedule in Appendix Ci with 
either the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for 
additions of text. The main changes are summarised as follows:

Page 89



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 To set out the role of the DPD, its relationship to the Core Strategy and its time 
frame by clarifying the DPD is a daughter document to the Core Strategy, that it 
covers the period 2006-2026 and that it does not reassess the housing 
requirement  of ‘at least’ 10,500 new additional dwellings per annum set out in 
the Core Strategy. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment, and what the 
future requirement should be, will be considered as part of the preparation of 
the new Local Plan. This will allocate additional development and will look 
longer term to 2036, as well as dealing with other policy issues.

 To clarify the Council’s approach to development within the AONB by including 
the windfall allowance in the first five years of the plan period only. Core 
Strategy Policy ADPP5 says that provision will be made for the delivery of “up to 
2,000” dwellings over the plan period. As at March 2016, 1,230 homes had 
already been completed in the spatial area and 200 units had planning 
permission. The HSA DPD allocates approximately a further 385 dwellings in 
the AONB. If the DPD is adopted, specific provision will therefore have been 
made for the delivery of 1,815 units in accordance with bullet point 1 of ADPP5. 
A windfall allowance has also been assumed of 251 between 2016 and 2026. If 
this is correct, this would then result in the completion of more than 2,000 
dwellings in the AONB. Should this windfall allowance be shown only for the 
first five years, as in the other spatial areas, the total anticipated completions for 
the AONB to 2026 would be slightly over 1,900 units.  As a new Local Plan is 
due to be adopted in 2019, the spatial strategy would by that time have been 
reviewed anyway.

 To clarify that the DPD has only reviewed the settlement boundaries for those 
settlements within the settlement hierarchy set out in the Core Strategy.  All 
settlement boundaries will be reviewed through the preparation of the new Local 
Plan.

 To clarify that the Council will support communities wishing to develop a 
Neighbourhood Plan. Any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward following the 
adoption of this DPD will help to boost the supply of housing across the District, 
adding additional flexibility. Any future allocations and housing requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered as part of the new Local 
Plan.

 To make specific changes to policies dealing with individual housing sites, 
including the clarification of developable areas and the development potential of 
some sites. The most significant of these are:

(a) the removal of Policy HSA14 North Lakeside, Theale and redrawing 
the settlement boundary of Theale around the whole of the Lakeside 
site.  The southern portion of the site already has an extant planning 
permission for residential development and inclusion of the whole site 
would help to enable a comprehensive scheme which takes account of 
the nature and character of the area.

(b) to increase the developable area of site ref:THE009 land between the 
A340 and The Green, Theale (Policy HSA 15) from 2.3 hectares to 3.4 
hectares and increase the development potential of the site from 
approximately 70 dwellings to approximately 100 dwellings.

Page 90



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(c) to increase the developable area of site ref:EUA025 land adjacent to 
Junction 12 of M4, Bath Road, Calcot (Policy HSA 12) from 1.7 
hectares to approximately 4 hectares and increase the development 
potential of the site from approximately 100 dwellings to between 150 
and 200 dwellings.

(d) the removal of Policy TS3 relating to the Clappers Farm Area of 
Search, Beech Hill (site ref:GTTS6) for Gypsies and Travellers. The 
evidence is now not sufficient to support the allocation, whose pitches 
were not profiled to be needed until later in the plan period, after 2021. 

 To make specific changes to some settlement boundaries, the most significant 
of which are:

(e) to delete the proposed inclusion of Green Lane within the settlement 
boundary of Chieveley

(f) to include the properties at Hermitage Green within the settlement 
boundary of Hermitage 

 To clarify that there is a presumption in favour of development and 
redevelopment within the settlement boundaries of Burghfield, Curridge, 
Donnington, Eddington, Upper Bucklebury and Wickham. These settlements 
had been erroneously omitted from Policy C1 at the submission stage.

 To clarify Policy C1 that the circumstances where new dwellings in the 
countryside can be permitted will include limited infill in settlements in the 
countryside with no defined boundary. 

 To clarify that Policy C5 does not apply to the existing educational and 
institutional establishments within the rural area of West Berkshire. The policy 
provisions for new development associated with these establishments are set 
out in saved policy ENV.27 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan. 

 To clarify Policy P1, parking standards in relation to new development, with 
regard to visitor spaces for flats and reduce the requirement for two bed flats in 
Zone 1 to one space per dwelling in line with two bed houses in this zone. 

7. Next steps

7.1 Any proposed Main Modifications to the DPD require consultation in accordance 
with Section 20 (7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended). If Council approves the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
consultation will take place for a 7 week period from 12 December 2016 to 30 
January 2017.  Copies of the Schedule will be made available for inspection on the 
Council’s website together with: 

 a Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the DPD setting out the changes 
being proposed by the Council in order to address issues of “soundness” 
identified by the Planning Inspector during the examination process;

 an updated Sustainability Appraisal and an updated Habitats Regulations 
Assessment.

Page 91



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD)

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

7.2 The Council will also publish a Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes comprising 
modifications of a minor nature to update the DPD, to correct errors and to provide 
clarification in interpreting the policies of the DPD.  This is not subject to public 
consultation and so will not be considered by the Inspector, but will be published for 
information.

7.3 Following the consultation the Council will be able to make a brief written response 
to any submissions received.  All submissions and the Council’s response will then 
be sent to the Inspector so that he can prepare his final report. If the Inspector 
concludes that the HSA DPD is sound and meets the necessary tests, it can then 
be adopted by the Council and form part of the Local Plan for the District.

8. Conclusion

8.1 As set out earlier, in many cases it is the Council that has proposed the Main 
Modifications but in some cases the Inspector has amended or added to them in 
order to make the DPD capable of adoption. None of the proposed Main 
Modifications are considered to be significant or would cause concern for the 
Authority.  All relate to issues that were discussed at the hearing sessions.

8.2 If the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications is approved by Council a seven 
week period of consultation will be held between 12 December 2016 and 30 
January 2017 in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement.  As this is a regulatory period of consultation, views will be sought on 
the ‘soundness’ of the proposed Main Modifications. 

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information 

9.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
(including Proposed Main Modifications) 

9.3 Appendix C – 

(i) Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD

(ii) Updated SA/SEA Report

(iii) Addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening 
Report

Page 92



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD) is currently 
being independently examined by a Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary 
of State. The Inspector’s role is to assess whether the DPD has been prepared in 
accordance with the Duty to Cooperate, legal and procedural requirements and 
whether it is sound (positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with 
national policy). If the Inspector concludes that the Housing Site Allocations DPD is 
sound and meets the necessary tests, it can then be adopted by Council and will 
form part of the Local Plan for the District. 

1.2 The Inspector is examining the DPD as it was submitted to the Secretary of State 
on 6th April 2016. Examination hearing sessions were held in June and July 2016 to 
discuss a number of issues upon which the Inspector required clarification. The 
purpose of the discussions at the hearings was for the Inspector, the Council and 
participants to gain the fullest possible understanding of any Main Modifications that 
may be required to make the DPD sound and legally compliant. The Council was 
then invited by the Inspector to make a formal request under section 20(7C) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) for him to recommend 
Main Modifications to the DPD. The Council made this formal request on 2nd 
September 2016.

1.3 During the hearing sessions, the Inspector asked the Council to undertake 
additional work on a number of issues.  This work was completed in August 2016 
and was submitted to the Inspector at the beginning of September.  The Inspector 
then sought additional comments on this work from those participants who attended 
the relevant hearing sessions. 

1.4 Based on the outcomes of the hearing sessions and the additional work undertaken, 
the Inspector issued his preliminary findings on 17th October 2016. The findings are 
without prejudice to his final report but set out the Main Modifications he considers 
are required in order to make the DPD sound.

1.5 In many cases it is the Council that has proposed the Main Modifications but in 
some cases the Inspector has amended or added to them in order to make the DPD 
capable of adoption. These Main Modifications usually consist of redrafted text, the 
omission of a policy or section of text (or the inclusion of a new one). 

1.6 It is important that any proposed Main Modifications do not undermine, or possibly 
undermine, the sustainability process that has informed the preparation of the DPD. 
The Council has therefore updated the SA/SEA Report (Appendix C ii) and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (Appendix C iii), both of which accompany the DPD.

Page 93



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

2. Supporting Information

2.1 The Council adopted its Core Strategy in July 2012. This sets out a housing 
requirement for the District of 'at least' 10,500 dwellings from 2006-2026. The Core 
Strategy sets out an overall spatial strategy to accommodate this level of housing 
across the District and in addition it allocates two large strategic sites in Newbury 
(Newbury Racecourse and Sandleford Park). 

2.2 Whilst the Core Strategy allocates strategic development and sets out strategic 
policies, it only forms one part of the Local Plan. There is therefore a requirement to 
prepare additional document/s to allocate non-strategic housing sites across the 
District and to allocate sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. 

2.3 The major part of the HSA DPD is the site allocations for housing. The purpose of 
the HSA DPD is to allocate smaller (non-strategic in scale and function) extensions 
to settlements within the settlement hierarchy in accordance with the spatial 
strategy of the adopted West Berkshire Core Strategy. It is a regulatory requirement 
of the HSA DPD to be in general conformity with the Core Strategy.

2.4 The opportunity is being taken to update some policies as part of this process, 
namely those related to development in the countryside and residential parking 
standards. 

2.5 The DPD is prepared in a series of stages and information about these is set out in 
the Statement of Consultation which accompanied the DPD when it was submitted 
to the Secretary of State on 6th April 2016. This sets out the key issues raised 
through the consultation and the Council’s response to these issues.  The 
consultations have resulted in a significant number of comments, which have been 
fully considered as part of the process. 

3. Proposals

3.1 The HSA DPD is currently being independently examined by a Planning Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State. The Inspector’s role is to assess whether the 
DPD has been prepared in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate, legal and 
procedural requirements and whether it is sound (positively prepared, justified, 
effective and consistent with national policy). If the Inspector concludes that the 
Housing Site Allocations DPD is sound and meets the necessary tests, it can then 
be adopted by Council and will form part of the Local Plan for the District. 

3.2 The Inspector is examining the DPD as it was submitted to the Secretary of State 
on 6th April 2016. Examination hearing sessions were held in June and July 2016 to 
discuss a number of issues upon which the Inspector required clarification. The 
purpose of the discussions at the hearings was for the Inspector, the Council and 
participants to gain the fullest possible understanding of any Main Modifications that 
may be required to make the DPD sound and legally compliant. The Council was 
then invited by the Inspector to make a formal request under section 20(7C) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) for him to recommend 
Main Modifications to the DPD. The Council made this formal request on 2nd 
September 2016.

3.3 During the hearing sessions, the Inspector asked the Council to undertake 
additional work on a number of issues.  This work was completed in August 2016 

Page 94



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

and was submitted to the Inspector at the beginning of September.  The Inspector 
then sought additional comments on this work from those participants who attended 
the relevant hearing sessions. 

3.4 Based on the outcomes of the hearing sessions and the additional work undertaken, 
the Inspector issued his preliminary findings on 17th October 2016. The findings are 
without prejudice to his final report but set out the Main Modifications he considers 
are required in order to make the DPD sound.

3.5 In many cases it is the Council that has proposed the Main Modifications but in 
some cases the Inspector has amended or added to them in order to make the DPD 
capable of adoption. These Main Modifications usually consist of redrafted text, the 
omission of a policy or section of text (or the inclusion of a new one). As far as the 
housing sites are concerned, other than the Main Modifications already put forward 
by the Council, the Inspector has not proposed the inclusion of any additional 
housing sites, nor has he identified any sites which should be removed from the 
DPD.   

3.6 It is important that any proposed Main Modifications do not undermine, or possibly 
undermine, the sustainability process that has informed the preparation of the DPD. 
The Council has therefore updated the SA/SEA Report and Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, both of which accompany the DPD.

4. Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications

4.1 The proposed Main Modifications are set out as a schedule in Appendix Ci with 
either the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for 
additions of text. The main changes are summarised as follows:

 To set out the role of the DPD, its relationship to the Core Strategy and its time 
frame by clarifying the DPD is a daughter document to the Core Strategy, that it 
covers the period 2006-2026 and that it does not reassess the housing 
requirement  of ‘at least’ 10,500 new additional dwellings per annum set out in 
the Core Strategy. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment, and what the 
future requirement should be, will be considered as part of the preparation of 
the new Local Plan. This will allocate additional development and will look 
longer term to 2036, as well as dealing with other policy issues.

 To clarify the Council’s approach to development within the AONB by including 
the windfall allowance in the first five years of the plan period only. Core 
Strategy Policy ADPP5 says that provision will be made for the delivery of “up to 
2,000” dwellings over the plan period. As at March 2016, 1,230 homes had 
already been completed in the spatial area and 200 units had planning 
permission. The HSA DPD allocates approximately a further 385 dwellings in 
the AONB. If the DPD is adopted, specific provision will therefore have been 
made for the delivery of 1,815 units in accordance with bullet point 1 of ADPP5. 
A windfall allowance has also been assumed of 251 between 2016 and 2026. If 
this is correct, this would then result in the completion of more than 2,000 
dwellings in the AONB. Should this windfall allowance be shown only for the 
first five years, as in the other spatial areas, the total anticipated completions for 
the AONB to 2026 would be slightly over 1,900 units.  As a new Local Plan is 
due to be adopted in 2019, the spatial strategy would by that time have been 
reviewed anyway.

Page 95



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 To clarify that the DPD has only reviewed the settlement boundaries for those 
settlements within the settlement hierarchy set out in the Core Strategy.  All 
settlement boundaries will be reviewed through the preparation of the new Local 
Plan.

 To clarify that the Council will support communities wishing to develop a 
Neighbourhood Plan. Any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward following the 
adoption of this DPD will help to boost the supply of housing across the District, 
adding additional flexibility. Any future allocations and housing requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered as part of the new Local 
Plan.

 To make specific changes to policies dealing with individual housing sites, 
including the clarification of developable areas and the development potential of 
some sites. The most significant of these are:

(a) the removal of Policy HSA14 North Lakeside, Theale and redrawing 
the settlement boundary of Theale around the whole of the Lakeside 
site.  The southern portion of the site already has an extant planning 
permission for residential development and inclusion of the whole site 
would help to enable a comprehensive scheme which takes account of 
the nature and character of the area.

(b) to increase the developable area of site ref:THE009 land between the 
A340 and The Green, Theale (Policy HSA 15) from 2.3 hectares to 3.4 
hectares and increase the development potential of the site from 
approximately 70 dwellings to approximately 100 dwellings.

(c) to increase the developable area of site ref:EUA025 land adjacent to 
Junction 12 of M4, Bath Road, Calcot (Policy HSA 12) from 1.7 
hectares to approximately 4 hectares and increase the development 
potential of the site from approximately 100 dwellings to between 150 
and 200 dwellings.

(d) the removal of Policy TS3 relating to Clappers Farm Area of Search, 
Beech Hill (site ref:GTTS6). The DPD sets out the provision of Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople pitches over a 15 year period 
based on the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA) prepared for the Council in 2014.  Following a change in the 
government’s revised ‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) of the 
definition of Gypsies and Travellers the consultants who carried out 
the GTAA have confirmed that they are not confident that the GTAA i 
could now be fully relied upon as a reflection of need. Whilst the 
evidence for the short term remains reasonably robust, the evidence is 
now too uncertain and is not robust for the later part of the plan period.  
The evidence is now not sufficient to support the Clappers Farm Area 
of Search, Policy TS3 whose pitches were not profiled to be needed 
until later in the plan period, after 2021. 

 To make specific changes to some settlement boundaries, the most significant 
of which are:

Page 96



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(e) to delete the proposed inclusion of Green Lane within the settlement 
boundary of Chieveley. Whilst Green Lane is functionally part of 
Chieveley its character in the south relates more to the open 
countryside rather than the main settlement area. Any future review of 
the settlement boundary in this location would take place as part of the 
new Local Plan.

(f) to include the properties at Hermitage Green within the settlement 
boundary of Hermitage. These properties were already included on the 
map for Hermitage but had been omitted within the text. 

 To clarify that there is a presumption in favour of development and 
redevelopment within the settlement boundaries of Burghfield, Curridge, 
Donnington, Eddington, Upper Bucklebury and Wickham. These settlements 
had been erroneously omitted from Policy C1 at the submission stage.

 To clarify Policy C1 that the circumstances where new dwellings in the 
countryside can be permitted will include limited infill in settlements in the 
countryside with no defined boundary. 

 To clarify that Policy C5 does not apply to the existing educational and 
institutional establishments within the rural area of West Berkshire. The policy 
provisions for new development associated with these establishments are set 
out in saved policy ENV.27 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan. 

 To clarify Policy P1, parking standards in relation to new development, with 
regard to visitor spaces for flats and reduce the requirement for two bed flats in 
Zone 1 to one space per dwelling in line with two bed houses in this zone. 

5. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)

5.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) and a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) to be carried out 
for all DPDs.  Both of these appraisals can be carried out in one appraisal process. 
In order to avoid any confusion, all references to the SA will refer to both the SA and 
the SEA. 

5.2 The objective of the SA is to promote sustainable development through the 
integration of social, environmental and economic considerations in the preparation 
of new or revised DPDs. The SA focuses on the significant sustainability effects of 
the DPD and considers alternatives that take into account the social, environmental 
and economic objectives and the geographical scope of the documents. 

5.3 The proposed Main Modifications have been reviewed and the SA/SEA updated 
where required. The updated SA/SEA is attached as Appendix C ii. For ease of 
reference, the changes made since the submission of the DPD are shown with 
purple underlined text with deletions crossed through.

5.4 The proposed Main Modifications have not resulted in any significant changes to the 
outcome of the SA/SEA and are not considered to impact on the overall 
sustainability of the DPD.  

Page 97



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

6. Habitats Regulations Assessment

6.1 European legislation and government regulations mean that a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) needs to be carried out for the DPD, in order to protect the 
integrity of internationally important nature conservation sites. These sites, 
collectively known as Natura 2000 sites include Special Areas of Conservation 
(SACs) and Special Protection Area (SPAs).

6.2 The HRA assesses the likely impacts of the policies of the DPD and possible ‘in 
combination’ effects with other policies and proposals. 

6.3 The proposed Main Modifications have been reviewed and the HRA updated where 
required. An addendum to the submission HRA Screening Report (April 2016) has 
been produced which considers the Main Modifications to the DPD. It also takes 
into account the proposed minor changes necessary to improve the clarity of the 
document, correct factual information, and correct typographical errors. The 
addendum is attached as Appendix C iii. The proposed Main Modifications have not 
resulted in any significant changes to the outcome of the HRA and are not 
considered to impact on the overall integrity of internationally important nature 
conservation sites.  

7. Duty to Cooperate

7.1 Section 110 of the Localism Act places a legal duty on local planning authorities and 
other prescribed bodies to cooperate with each other when preparing development 
plan documents in order to address strategic planning issues relevant to their areas. 
Failure to satisfy the Duty will mean that plans cannot be adopted as a Planning 
Inspector cannot make Main Modifications to remedy this through the examination 
process. The Examination also assesses how effective cooperation has been as 
one of the tests of soundness. Work on satisfying the Duty has been ongoing 
throughout the preparation of the DPD. A Duty to Cooperate Statement 
accompanied the HSA DPD when it was submitted to the Secretary of State on 6th 
April 2016. This explains how the Council has carried out the Duty throughout the 
preparation of the DPD.

8. Next steps

8.1 Any proposed Main Modifications to the DPD require consultation in accordance 
with Section 20 (7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended). If Council approves the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
consultation will take place for a 7 week period from 12 December 2016 to 30 
January 2017.  Copies of the Schedule will be made available for inspection on the 
Council’s website together with: 

 a Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the DPD setting out the changes 
being proposed by the Council in order to address issues of “soundness” 
identified by the Planning Inspector during the examination process;

 an updated Sustainability Appraisal and an updated Habitats Regulations 
Assessment.

8.2 The Council will also publish a Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes comprising 
modifications of a minor nature to update the DPD, to correct errors and to provide 

Page 98



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

clarification in interpreting the policies of the DPD.  This is not subject to public 
consultation and so will not be considered by the Inspector, but will be published for 
information.

8.3 Following the consultation the Council will be able to make a brief written response 
to any submissions received.  All submissions and the Council’s response will then 
be sent to the Inspector so that he can prepare his final report. If the Inspector 
concludes that the HSA DPD is sound and meets the necessary tests, it can then 
be adopted by the Council and form part of the Local Plan for the District.

9. Conclusion

9.1 As set out earlier, in many cases it is the Council that has proposed the Main 
Modifications but in some cases the Inspector has amended or added to them in 
order to make the DPD capable of adoption. None of the proposed Main 
Modifications are considered to be significant or would cause concern for the 
Authority.  All relate to issues that were discussed at the hearing sessions.

9.2 If the main modifications are approved by Council a seven week period of 
consultation will be held between 12 December 2016 and 30 January 2017 in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement.  As 
this is a regulatory period of consultation, views will be sought on the ‘soundness’ of 
the proposed main modifications.

10. Consultation and Engagement

10.1 Consultation is a key part of the preparation of the DPD and provides important 
evidence to help to inform decision making. Consultation has taken place at each 
stage of the preparation of the DPD in accordance with the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement. In addition, a Statement of Consultation 
accompanied the DPD when it was submitted to the Secretary of State on 6th April 
2016.

10.2 The proposed Main Modifications outlined in this report will require consultation in 
accordance with Section 20 (7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended). This consultation will take place for seven weeks between 12 
December 2016 and 30 January 2017. The responses received will then be 
considered by the Inspector in the preparation of his final report.

Background Papers:
West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006 to 2026
West Berkshire Statement of Community Involvement (as amended Jan 2015)
HSA DPD Duty to Cooperate Statement (April 2016)
HSA DPD Statement of Consultation (April 2016)

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position

Page 99



Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA 
DPD) – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
All
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:

SLE – A stronger local economy
HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities

The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priorities:

SLE1 – Enable the completion of more affordable housing
SLE2 – Deliver or enable key infrastructure improvements in relation to roads, 

rail, flood prevention, regeneration and the digital economy
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the above Council Strategy aims 
and priorities by: the DPD will bring forward sites for development across the District, 
boosting the supply of housing and enabling the delivery of affordable housing. This will 
also help support the local economy and enable the provision of infrastructure that is 
planned in a coordinated way.

Officer details:
Name: Paula Amorelli
Job Title: Principal Planning Officer
Tel No: 01635 519233
E-mail Address: paula.amorelli@westberks.gov.uk

Page 100



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function:
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

General Sites Policy (GS1)

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed:
Paula Amorelli – 

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor:
Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 

The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.

Page 101



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in 
the Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant 
as a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change

To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth

To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs

To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements

To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 

Page 102



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage

To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside.

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the General Sites Policy 
in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change

The need to provide in advance of any 
development a water supply and drainage 
strategy will help to inform the provision of 
adequate water supply and provision 
infrastructure.

The promotion of non-car transport modes and 
the linking of internal walking and cycle route to 
the Public Rights of Way network with reduce 
emissions and improve air quality.

B. Housing Growth

The delivery of at least 10,500 homes across 
West Berkshire up to 2026 will help grow the 
authority in a sustainable manner. 

C. Housing Needs

The aim of providing at least 40% of affordable 
dwellings on new housing on sites is a positive 
attempt to meet the housing need in the 
authority.

D. Infrastructure Requirements

The policy aims to ensure water supply, 
wastewater provision, mitigate the impact of 
new development on the local road network and 
other infrastructure requirements in advance of 
development in accordance with the most up to 
date Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

E. Heritage

The policy seeks the conservation of the natural 
heritage via mitigation through avoidance, 

Page 103



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

buffering and other compensation measures.

Benefits: The General Site Policy has been positively prepared 
setting out criteria that all of the sites proposed for 
development must comply with.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Age

Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing.  The average age 
of first time buyers has gone up 
nationally and house prices in 
the District are higher than the 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 104

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

national and regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability

The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 

Page 105



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil 
partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The HSA DPD provides specific 
sites for these communities. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 106

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD General Site Policy which could 
have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

Page 107

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

The wording of the General Site Policy is positive and non discriminatory by not 
prescribing in detail any specific type of housing provision other than at least 40% 
affordable housing on all sites. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the policy 
no stage 2 is required.

Name: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 108



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Allocation of housing Sites 

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

5. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 

Page 109



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

Page 110



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Allocation of 
Housing Sites in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The proposed Allocated housing Sites have all 
been subject to individual sustainability 
appraisals/Strategic Environmental 
Assessments and other assessments.  The 30 
sites proposed are the most sustainable sites 
put forward for development.  
The proposed allocated sites, builds on the 
existing settlement pattern within West 
Berkshire and focuses on the main urban areas 
in line with the Core Strategy.  The proposed 
allocated sites are located adjacent to existing 
settlements in the West Berkshire settlement 
hierarchy as set out in the West Berkshire Core 
Strategy. 

B. Housing Growth
The Core Strategy sets out a housing 
requirement for the District of ‘at least’ 10,500 
dwellings from 2006 to 2026 which is an annual 
requirement of 525 dwellings per annum.

The National Planning Policy Framework 
requires local plans to meet the “objectively 
assessed housing needs of the area”.  This 
work has to be done in 
consultation/collaboration with other local 
authorities.  This work has identified an initial 
figure of 665 dwellings per annum might be 
required.  This does not translate directly into a 
housing requirement for the District due to the 

Page 111



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

need to take into account factors such as 
environmental constraints and the Duty to 
Cooperate.

The HSA DPD allocates slightly more than the 
remaining requirement of the Core Strategy 
10,500 housing figure.

C. Housing Needs
The HSA DPD allocates slightly more than the 
remaining requirement of the Core Strategy “at 
least 10,500” housing figure to provide some 
flexibility.

The work on the Objectively Assessed Need is 
not fully complete and the HSA DPD is clearly 
providing future housing to meet the need in the 
District now.
By proposing to allocate residential 
development sites in the four spatial areas 
identified in the Core Strategy the needs of all 
the communities in West Berkshire are being 
provided for.
The HSA DPD also makes proposals to allocate 
sites for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople.
While there is predominantly urban focus to the 
new development proposals, the needs of the 
rural community have not been excluded as 
sites are proposed in the Rural Service Centres 
and policies introduced to allow for more limited 
development in the countryside.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
The West Berkshire Core Strategy is 
accompanied by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
which will have to be updated following the 
allocation of the residential housing sites 
proposed in the HSA DPD.  
However, if specific site infrastructure is 
required this has already been identified in the 
specific site allocation policy.

E. Heritage
The Allocation of Heritage has been taken into 
account as the proposed sites have been 
selected following the undertaking of the 
sustainability appraisal / strategic environmental 
assessment.  If specific heritage issues have 
been identified then this has already been 

Page 112



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

identified in the specific site allocation policy.  
For example each Site Allocation Map shows 
public open space / landscape buffers if 
required.

Benefits: The Allocation of Housing Sites contained within the 
HSA DPD has been positively prepared.  

6. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

Group 
Affected

What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 113

http://www.decc.gov.uk/
http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 

Page 114



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil 
partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 115

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Allocation of Housing Sites which 
could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the HSA DPD is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in 
detail any specific type of housing provision other than at least 40% affordable 

Page 116

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

housing on all sites. 

All four spatial areas of West Berkshire (as identified in the Core Strategy) have 
proposed Residential Housing Allocations with detailed maps showing the extent of 
development.

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory.  

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

7. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

8. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Revised Settlement Boundaries for 
Settlements within the Settlement 

Page 117



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Hierarchy 

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

9. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 

Page 118



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 

Page 119



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Revised Settlement 
Boundaries in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The proposed Revised Settlement Boundaries 
have all been subject to individual sustainability 
appraisals/Strategic Environmental 
Assessments and other assessments.  The 
changes follow on from the proposed allocation 
of residential development sites and a review of 
the existing boundaries of the settlements in the 
settlement hierarchy to see if they are 
sustainable.   

B. Housing Growth
The proposed Settlement Boundary Reviews 
allow for the growth of settlements in the 
settlement hierarchy in a sustainable way. 

C. Housing Needs
The settlement boundaries around the 
settlements within the settlement hierarchy have 
been re-drawn to include the developable areas 
of the proposed site allocations.  Additional sites 
which are too small to be housing allocations 
(typically those which are below 5 dwellings) 
have also been included within revised 
settlement boundaries where this is in 
accordance with the criteria. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
The West Berkshire Core Strategy is 
accompanied by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
which will have to be updated following the 
allocation of the residential housing sites 
proposed in the HSA DPD.  
However, if specific site infrastructure is 
required this has already been identified in the 
specific site allocation policy.

E. Heritage

Page 120



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

The Allocation of Heritage has been taken into 
account as the proposed sites have been 
selected following the undertaking of the 
sustainability appraisal / strategic environmental 
assessment.  If specific heritage issues have 
been identified then this has already been 
identified in the specific site allocation policy.  
For example each Site Allocation Map shows 
public open space / landscape buffers if 
required.

Benefits: The revision to the Settlement Boundaries of 
settlements within the West Berkshire settlement 
hierarchy has been positively prepared.  

10.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 121

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 122



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

NPPF).

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 123

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Settlement Boundary Review which 
could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements

Page 124

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Accessibility 

By reviewing the Settlement Boundaries of settlements within the settlement hierarchy, 
the potential for sustainable growth has been identified.  This positively allows for 
additional housing to be provided and meet the housing needs of the Distinct.

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory.  

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD settlement boundary review has been positively planned and evidence 
based resulting in positive outcomes in relation to equalities. 

11.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

12. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

TS1 New Stocks Farm Paices Hill

Page 125



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

13.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 

Page 126



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Page 127



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that GTS1 New Stocks 
Farm, Paices Hill in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The proposal in not located in a flood zone.

B. Housing Growth
The GTAA identifies a need of 17 Gypsy and 
traveller pitches up to 2026.  

C. Housing Needs
The allocation will convert 8 transit pitches to 
permanent pitches helping to provide for need 
identified in the GTAA.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable.

E. Heritage
Not applicable.

Benefits: Policy GTS1 New Stocks Farm has been positively 
prepared and provides 8 permanent pitches.  

14.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services.  

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 

Page 128



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing.  The average age 
of first time buyers has gone up 
nationally and house prices in 
the District are higher than the 
national and regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 

Page 129

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 

Page 130

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The HSA DPD provides specific 
sites for these communities. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Page 131

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD GTS1 New Stocks Farm Policy 
which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the GTS1 New Stocks Farm Policy is positive and non discriminatory in 
by providing for 8 permanent pitches.  Permanent pitches help provide this community 
with greater accessibility to health services and education for example.

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

15.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Policy GTS1 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

Policy GTS1 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

16. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Page 132



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed:B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

TS2 Long Copse Farm Enborne 

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

17.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 

Page 133



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

Page 134



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that GTS2 Longcopse Farm 
Enborne in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The proposal avoids development in a flood 
zone.

B. Housing Growth
The GTAA identifies a need of 24 travelling 
showpeople plots up to 2026.

C. Housing Needs
The allocation of this site helps to provide for an 
identified need. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
The allocation also has a requirement for 
highway improvements.

E. Heritage
Environmental heritage is enhanced by the 
requirement to provide a landscape buffer 
around the site prior to occupation.

Page 135



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Benefits: Policy GTS2 Long Copse Farm has been positively 
prepared and provides a site to meet the identified 
needs of this community.  

18.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services.  

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing.  The average age 
of first time buyers has gone up 
nationally and house prices in 
the District are higher than the 
national and regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 136

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 

Page 137



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The HSA DPD provides specific 
sites for these communities. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 138

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD GTS2 Long Copse Farm Policy 
which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding
 Heritage

The wording of the GTS2 Long Copse Farm Policy is positive and non discriminatory in 
by providing for 24 permanent plots.  Permanent plots help provide this community with 
greater accessibility to health services and education for example.

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 

Page 139

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

19.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Policy GTS2 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

Policy GTS2 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

20. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed:B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

TS4 Detailed Planning Considerations

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Page 140



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

21.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Page 141



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 

Page 142



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that GTS4 Detailed 
Planning Considerations in the HSA DPD helps to 
achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
Not Applicable

B. Housing Growth
Not Applicable.  

C. Housing Needs
Not Applicable 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Requirement for foul sewerage disposal and 
surface water drainage to be provided in 
advance.

E. Heritage
Landscaping proposals should reflect the 
landscape character.

Benefits: Policy GTS4 Detailed Planning Considerations has 
been positively prepared.  

22.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services.  

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 143

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing.  The average age 
of first time buyers has gone up 
nationally and house prices in 
the District are higher than the 
national and regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 144



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The HSA DPD provides specific 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 145

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

sites for these communities. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Page 146

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

and facilities.  

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD GTS4 Detailed Planning 
Considerations Policy which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Accessibility 

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory in by providing for an area 
of search for the remaining pitches up to 2026.  Permanent pitches/plots help provide 
these communities with greater accessibility to health services and education for 
example.

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

23.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Policy GTS4 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

Policy GTS4 has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

24. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Page 147



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C1 – Location of New Housing in 
the Countryside

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

25.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 

Page 148



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 

Page 149



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Location of New 
Housing in the Countryside Policy in the HSA DPD 
helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The policy makes reference to the effects on the 
landscape, dark skies, highway network and the 
measures for foul and surface water disposal.

B. Housing Growth
The HSA DPD provides details of how housing 
growth will be accommodated across the District 
in line with the Core Strategy.  This policy allows 
for more limited infill development within smaller 
villages with settlement boundaries.  It also 
provides for limited infill development without 
defined settlement boundary. 

C. Housing Needs
The policy provides details of how limited 
development can take place throughout the 
District and not just in the main urban areas.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
The policy aims to ensure water supply, 
wastewater provision, mitigate the impact of 
new development on the local road network and 
other infrastructure requirements in advance of 
development.

E. Heritage

Page 150



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

The policy seeks the use of materials 
acceptable within the local architectural context.  

Benefits: The Location of New Housing in the Countryside Policy 
has been positively prepared setting out criteria for 
development in rural areas must comply with.  

26.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 151

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Page 152



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 153

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Location of New housing in the 
Countryside which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the Location of New housing in the Countryside is positive and non 
discriminatory by not prescribing in detail any specific type of housing provision and 
allowing limited development in rural settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 

Page 154

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

27.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

28. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C2 – Rural Housing Exceptions 
Policy

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Page 155



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

29.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more 
attractivplaces within which to live, work and enjoy 
leisure time. The Core Strategy provides an overall 
framework for the more detailed policies and site 
specific proposals contained in the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Page 156



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 

Page 157



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Rural Housing 
Exceptions Policy in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
Not applicable to this policy.

B. Housing Growth
The HSA DPD provides details of how housing 
growth will be accommodated across the District 
in line with the Core Strategy.  This policy allows 
for rural housing exceptions adjacent to smaller 
villages. 

C. Housing Needs
The policy allows for rural housing exceptions 
adjacent to smaller villages when identified 
through a local housing needs survey.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
Not applicable to this policy.

Benefits: The policy has been positively prepared setting out 
criteria for rural housing exceptions to provide 
affordable housing in perpetuity.  

30.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Page 158

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Wording in the Policy.

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Page 159



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 160

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Page 161

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

and facilities.  

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Rural Housing Exceptions Policy 
which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 

The wording of the Rural Housing Exceptions Policy is positive and non discriminatory 
by not prescribing in detail any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited 
development in rural settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

31.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

32. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 

Page 162



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C3 – Design and Materials

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

33.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 

Page 163



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 

Page 164



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Design and 
Materials policy in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The design of new housing including 
conversions to residential use must have regard 
to sustainability.

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
Not applicable to this policy.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
The policy requires new development to have 
regard to the impact both individually and 
collectively on service provision.

E. Heritage
The policy requires new development to have 
regard to the impact both individually and 
collectively to landscape character and the 
environment.

Benefits: The Design and Materials Policy has been positively 
prepared.  

34.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 

Page 165



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 166

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 

Page 167



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 

Page 168

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Design and Materials which could 
have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in detail 
any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited development in rural 
settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

35.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 

No

Page 169

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

inequality?

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

36. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C4 – Conversion of Existing 
Redundant Buildings in the Countryside to 
Residential Use

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Page 170



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

37.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Page 171



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Conversion of 
Existing Redundant Buildings in the Countryside to 
Residential Use in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The policy allows for the conversion of existing 

Page 172



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

redundant buildings to residential use provided 
certain conditions are met.  These conditions 
are worded to prevent unsustainable 
development using an existing structure to gain 
inappropriate permission.  

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
Not applicable to this policy.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
The policy requires the conversion of existing 
redundant buildings provided that it does not 
have a harmful effect on the rural character, 
retains the character, fabric and historic interest 
of the building. 

Benefits: The Conversion of Existing Redundant Buildings in the 
Countryside to Residential Use Policy has been 
positively prepared.  

38.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 173

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 174



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 175

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 

Page 176

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Conversion of Existing Redundant 
Buildings in the Countryside to Residential Use which could have an impact on 
equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in detail 
any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited development in rural 
settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

39.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

40. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Page 177



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Signed: B Lyttle Date:07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C5 – Housing related to Rural 
Workers

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

41.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 

Page 178



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 

Page 179



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Housing related to 
Rural Workers policy in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The policy allows for the new dwellings in the 
countryside and located adjoining a rural 
enterprise in certain circumstances.  These 
conditions are worded to prevent unsustainable 
development using and inappropriate 
development.  

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
The policy allows for new dwellings to be 
permitted in the countryside provided they are 
related to and adjoin a rural enterprise provided 
they are essential continuing use of the land, 
buildings for agriculture, forestry or business 
and other conditions are met.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
The policy requires development not to have an 
adverse impact on the rural character and 
heritage assets of the area. 

Page 180



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Benefits: The policy has been positively prepared.  

42.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 181

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 

Page 182



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 183

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Conversion of Existing Redundant 
Buildings in the Countryside to Residential Use which could have an impact on 
equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in detail 
any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited development in rural 
settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

Page 184

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

43.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

44. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C6 – Extension of Existing 
Dwellings within the Countryside

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Page 185



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

45.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Page 186



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Page 187



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Extension of 
Existing Dwellings within the Countryside in the HSA 
DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
Not applicable to this policy.  

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
The policy allows for dwellings to be extended 
provided it is subservient to the original dwelling 
thereby taking account of changes in need. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
The policy requires development not to have an 
adverse impact on the rural character and 
heritage assets of the area. 

Benefits: The Extension of Existing Dwellings within the 
Countryside policy has been positively prepared.  

46.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 188

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 189



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 190

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual There is no evidence available 

Page 191

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Orientation to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Extension of Existing Dwellings 
within the Countryside to Residential Use which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in detail 
any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited development in rural 
settlements. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

47.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

48. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Page 192



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C7 – Replacement of Existing 
Dwellings

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

49.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 

Page 193



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 

Page 194



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Replacement of 
Existing Dwellings in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
A replacement dwelling would be likely to be 
constructed to a more sustainable / energy 
efficient level than the dwelling it was replacing.  

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
The policy allows for replacement dwellings to 
be provided in the countryside. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
The policy requires development not to have an 
adverse impact on the rural character and 
heritage assets of the area. 

Benefits: The Replacement of Existing Dwellings within the 
Countryside policy has been positively prepared.  

50.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Page 195



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 
buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 196

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race Gypsies & Travellers are an Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 

Page 197



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 

Page 198

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Replacement of Existing Dwellings 
within the Countryside to Residential Use which could have an impact on equalities are:

 Affordable Housing
 Type of housing and special housing requirements
 Accessibility 
 Flooding

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory by not prescribing in detail 
any specific type of housing provision and allowing limited development in rural areas. 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

51.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Page 199

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

52. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy C8 – Extension of Residential 
Curtilages 

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Page 200



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Function No Is changing No

Service No

53.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth

Page 201



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 
Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the Extension of 
Residential Curtilages in the HSA DPD helps to 
achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
Not applicable to this policy. 

B. Housing Growth
Not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
Not applicable to this policy. 

Page 202



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

D. Infrastructure Requirements
Not applicable to this policy.

E. Heritage
The policy requires extensions to existing 
residential curtilages to only be permitted if they 
do not result in the significant loss of landscape 
features.  

Benefits: The Extension of Residential Curtilages has been 
positively prepared.  

54.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 
access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing in their local area.  
The average age of first time 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 203

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

buyers has gone up nationally 
and house prices in the District 
are higher than the national and 
regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 204



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 205

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers notice board.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 
and facilities.  

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

There are no issues covered by the HSA DPD Extension to Residential Curtilages 
which could have an impact on equalities.

The wording of the policy is positive and non discriminatory.  

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 

Page 206

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

55.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

56. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Equality Impact Assessment Template – Stage One

Name of policy, strategy or function: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document –

Policy P1 Residential Parking for New 
Development

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

As submitted and including Main 
Modifications 

November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Paula Amorelli –

Principal Planning Officer

Page 207



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Name of assessor: Bryan Lyttle – 

Planning and Transportation Policy Manager

Date of assessment: November 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed

No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

57.What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2012 set out a long 
term vision for West Berkshire to 2026 setting out 
general proposals for where development would go. 
The aim of the Core Strategy was to make the different 
settlements within West Berkshire even more attractive 
places within which to live, work and enjoy leisure time. 
The Core Strategy provides an overall framework for 
the more detailed policies and site specific proposals 
contained in the Housing Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (HSA DPD). 
The HSA DPD aims to implement the framework by 
allocating non-strategic housing sites across the District 
in accordance with the spatial strategy set by the Core 
Strategy.
The HSA DPD contains the following: 

Sites for future housing development by each of 
the four spatial areas. 
Settlement boundary reviews of settlements in 
the settlement hierarchy where development is 
likely to be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to other policy considerations.
An allocation of 8 permanent pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers.
An allocated site for Travelling Showpeople.  
Policies to guide development in the countryside. 
Revised parking standards for residential 
development. 

Page 208



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Objectives: The following strategic objectives where identified in the 
Core Strategy and are still appropriate and relevant as 
a starting point for the HSA DPD.

A. Tackling Climate Change
To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide 
emissions reduction.

Deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps 
to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

B. Housing Growth
To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West 
Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. 

These homes will be delivered in an effective 
and timely manner, will maximise the use of 
suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities 
and services and will be developed at densities 
within make the most efficient use of land whist 
responding to the existing build environment. 

C. Housing Needs
To secure provision of affordable and market 
housing to meet local needs in both urban and 
rural areas of the district. 

To provide homes in a way that promotes 
sustainable communities, providing a mix of 
house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing 
demographic profile of the District. 

D. Infrastructure Requirements
To ensure that infrastructure needs (including 
community services and facilities) arising from 
the growth in West Berkshire are provided in a 
timely and coordinated manner, which keeps 
place with development in accordance with the 
detail set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

E. Heritage
To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, 
designed and managed in a way that ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the local 
distinctive character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment in West 

Page 209



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Berkshire’s Towns, villages and countryside. 

Outcomes: The key delivery outcomes that the General Sites 
Policy in the HSA DPD helps to achieve:

A. Tackling Climate Change
The requirement for a new minimum level of 
parking to be provided on site, together with the 
non eligibility of residents in new developments 
for residents’ parking permits will help to 
promote non-car transport modes.  

B. Housing Growth
This is not applicable to this policy.

C. Housing Needs
This is not applicable to this policy.

D. Infrastructure Requirements
This is not applicable to this policy

E. Heritage
This is not applicable to this policy.

Benefits: The Residential Parking Policy has been positively 
prepared setting out the minimum residential parking 
criteria that all new development must comply with.  

58.Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or service.  
Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or negatively and 
what sources of information have been used to determine this.

Group Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this.

Age Older people may require 
different types of housing or 
adjustments to their 
accommodation to enable them 
to live independently because 
they are more likely to live on 
their own, suffer from long term 
illness or disability.  As a result 
they tend to require greater 
access to health services. 

Older people are more likely to 
have lower incomes and are 
more likely to suffer from fuel 
poverty. 

Older people are generally more 
reliant on public transport to 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

ONS sub-national population 
projections 

Annual Report on Fuel Poverty 
Statistics 2015, Department of 
Energy and Climate Change 
www.decc.gov.uk 

Wording in the Policy.

Page 210

http://www.decc.gov.uk/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

access essential services and 
facilities than those of working 
age. 

Care homes where older people 
live are considered to be a 
‘more vulnerable’ use in floods. 

Population forecasts indicate 
that the number of older people 
in the District is set to increase 
by 2026. 

Many younger people are less 
able to afford to buy their own or 
rent housing.  The average age 
of first time buyers has gone up 
nationally and house prices in 
the District are higher than the 
national and regional averages. 

Younger people are also often 
reliant on public transport to 
access education, employment 
and training opportunities, as 
well as for social and leisure 
activities.  The barriers for 
mobility for young people 
include cost and availability of 
public transport, especially in 
rural areas. 

Care homes where young 
people live are considered to be 
a ‘more vulnerable’ use in 
floods. 

Parking design guidance – 
Building for Life Partnership 
2012

Disability The term ‘disabilities’ covers a 
multitude of issues, such as 
physical mobility and sensory 
problems, as well as learning 
difficulties.  Therefore the needs 
of people with disabilities are 
wide-ranging and solutions will 
be different for individuals.  

The HSA DPD aims to address 
this by making helping to 
provide suitable accommodation 
in accordance with the Housing 
Strategy, and improving 
disabled access to public 
transport in accordance with the 
Local Transport Plan. 

Attitudes of Disabled People to 
Public Transport: Research 
Study – Disabled Persons 
Transport Advisory Committee 
(2002).

National Planning Policy 
Framework

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

Wording in the Policy.

Page 211



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

People with disabilities may 
require specific adjustments to 
their accommodation to facilitate 
their lives. 

Disabled people also tend to 
have less accessibility as they 
tend to drive less and can also 
have problems using public 
transport. 

Disabled people can be more 
vulnerable in situations of 
flooding. (Paragraph 102 of the 
NPPF).

Gender 
reassignment

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
gender reassignment.

Marriage and 
Civil partnership

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
Marriage or Civil partnership.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people according to 
pregnancy and maternity.

Race

Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople

Gypsies & Travellers are an 
ethnic minority, whose rights are 
protected from discrimination by 
the Race Relations Act 1976 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, 
together with all ethnic groups 
who have a particular culture, 
language or values. 

The accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople need to be 
specifically catered for.  There is 
evidence that additional 
authorised pitches are required 
in West Berkshire to meet 
identified needs. 

The HSA DPD provides specific 

Housing Strategy 2010-2015, 
West Berkshire Council, 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/in
dex.aspx?articleid=28839

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

West Berkshire Gypsy and 
traveller Accommodation 
Assessment March 2015.

Page 212

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28839
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

sites for these communities. 

The Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 places a 
general duty of public authorities 
to actively promote race 
equality.  The Council’s Equality 
Scheme 2010-2013 recognises 
that there is a need for equality 
of access to information and so 
consultation throughout the 
emergence of the HSA DPD has 
been published on the Council’s 
Consultation Finder and 
published documents can be 
made available in alternative 
languages upon request.

In addition through the GTAA 
contact has been made/ 
attempted to be made with 
residents of the two main sites 
in the District, Gypsy Council, 
Berkshire Showmen’s Guild and 
advertisements placed in Worlds 
Fair and on the Friends Families 
and Travellers noticeboard.

Religion and 
Belief

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
Core Strategy impacts 
differently upon people 
according to their religion or 
belief.  

Sex Evidence from national surveys 
indicates that women in general 
have less accessibility than men 
due to having less access to 
cars and women are more likely 
to use public transport.

The Council is committed to 
improving accessibility for all. 

The HSA DPD aims to improve 
accessibility for everyone by 
locating development where 
there is already good access to 
key services and facilities, 
safeguarding essential local 
services and facilities and by 
improving connections between 
communities and key services 

Equality Scheme 2010-2013, 
West Berkshire Council 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/C
HttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p
=0  

Wording in the Policy.

Page 213

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25866&p=0


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

and facilities.  

Sexual 
Orientation

There is no evidence available 
to suggest that planning or the 
HSA DPD impacts differently 
upon people of according to 
their sexual orientation.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

The main issues that are covered by the HSA DPD Residential Parking Policy for New 
Development which could have an impact on equalities is:

 Accessibility 

The wording of the Residential parking Policy for New Development is positive and non 
discriminatory by applying a minimum level of provision on site. 

However, new development is directed to the most accessible parts of the district and 
all developments of over 10 units are expected to provide new residents with a travel 
information pack which will encourage sustainable travel.

In addition the policy has been informed by “Parking design guidance from Building for 
Life Partnership” which seeks to design out opportunities for anti social parking which 
would be a positive 

Consultation on the HSA DPD has been widespread and given people the opportunity 
to comment on all these issues.  Further details of how and when consultation took 
place are in the Statement of Consultation.

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities. 

59.Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users?

No

The HSA DPD has been positively planned and evidence based resulting in positive 
outcomes in relation to equalities.

60. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Page 214



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Given the positive benefits of the 
policy no stage 2 is required.

Signed: B Lyttle Date: 07/11/16

Please now forward this completed template to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 216



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     Appendix Ci 

West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications      
The modifications below are expressed in the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text. 
The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the submission plan, and do not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM1 4 Title 
Background 
Paras 1.1 to 
1.9 

Add date covered by plan (2006 – 2026) in the title 

Amend Background section as follows: 
The Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) is the second DPD within West Berkshire’s Local Plan. 
It has been prepared following the adoption of the West Berkshire Core Strategy in July 2012 which sets out the overall planning 
framework for the site specific proposals and policies to be contained in other documents. 1.3 The Core Strategy allocates strategic 
development sites in Newbury (Newbury Racecourse and Sandleford Park). It also sets out strategic policies. 
The role of the Housing Site Allocations DPD is now to implement the framework set by the Core Strategy by allocating non-strategic 
housing sites across the District in accordance with the spatial strategy of the Core Strategy. This means that the sites to be allocated 
are in the areas that the Core Strategy sets out, based on evidence, as suitable for some level of future growth and that the proposals 
will conform to the policy details set out in the Core Strategy. 
Sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople are also proposed for allocation and the Housing Site Allocations DPD also 
includes updated residential parking standards and a set of policies to guide housing in the countryside. 

Approach to housing numbers 
This DPD does not reassess the housing requirement set out in the Core Strategy. This set out a housing requirement for the District of 
‘at least’ 10,500 net additional dwellings from 2006 to 2026 which is an annual requirement of 525 dwellings per annum. The Core 
Strategy was prepared at a time when the housing number for the District was allocated via the regional tier of Government which has 
now been abolished. 
The Council is now required by national policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to meet the ‘objectively 
assessed housing needs’ of the area. Work has been undertaken in partnership with the other local authorities in Berkshire and the 
Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP(1)) to establish how much housing West Berkshire will need in the future 
through the production of a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). This has identified given an objectively assessed need 
figure of 665 dwellings per annum over the period 2013-2036. This does not translate directly into a housing requirement for the District 
due to the need to take into account factors such as environmental constraints and the Duty to Cooperate. The SHMA, and what the 
future requirement should be, will be considered as part of the preparation of the new Local Plan. This will allocate additional 
development and will look longer term to 2036, as well as dealing with other policy issues. 1000 homes are already committed post 
2026 as part of the long term Sandleford Park allocation. 

1 

P
age 217



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

The Housing Site Allocation DPD implements first phase of the remainder of the future housing requirement identified in the Core 
Strategy is being met through the preparation of the Housing Site Allocations DPD which will allocate the remainder of the ‘at least’ 
10,500 housing figure from the Core Strategy, with additional flexibility around these numbers. The sites allocated by this DPD will help 
boost the supply of housing land significantly in the short to medium term. Appendix 1 demonstrates how the housing requirement in 
the Core Strategy can be met. 
Once the DPD has been adopted, the second phase of the future housing requirement will be met through the preparation of a new 
Local Plan which will allocate additional development and look longer term to 2036, as well as dealing with other policy issues. 1000 
homes are already committed post 2026 as part of the long term Sandleford Park allocation. 
The Council reports on the progress that is made on the provision of housing in its Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) which is available 
on the Council’s website. approach to the housing numbers is set out in more detail in a background paper that accompanies the 
DPDADD. 

Following Section 1.9 Add section on the Policies Map as follows: 

Policies Map 
The Plan should be read in conjunction with the Policies Map, which shows all policy boundaries and the areas to which the policies 
apply. 

Appendix 1 Amend the text as follows:  
Housing Land Supply Position at March 2015 2016 
Net completions April 2006 - March 2015 2016  4,387 5,012 
Planning permissions + 1,000 units allocated at Sandleford Park 3,982 3,920 
Identified sites including those identified through prior approval process 449 422 
Windfall allowance (to 2026 in AONB and to 20/21 in remainder of District) 564 284 
Proposed allocations 1,575 – 1,605  1,640 – 1,720 
TOTAL 10,957 – 10,987 11,278 – 11,358 

The trajectory demonstrates how the housing requirement set out in the Core Strategy can be met. It shows how the sites identified in 
the Housing Site Allocations DPD would assist in delivering the housing to meet the Core Strategy requirement, and contribute to the 
housing needs of the District in the short to medium term. and to meet the early part of the objectively assessed need (OAN) assessed 
in the 2015 Berkshire SHMA. The trajectory is indicative in that additional work on phasing will be carried out as part of the update of 
the Five Year Housing Land Supply. The trajectory and is also a snapshot in time. It, and represents the position at the date that the 
DPD was examined. The trajectory is updated annually as part of the annual monitoring process and reported in the Annual Monitoring 

2 

P
age 218



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Report (AMR). 
The trajectory assumes that the Housing Site Allocations DPD sites will be delivered between 2017 and 2026 with the majority 
developed in the period from 2017/18 to 2022/23. Those sites identified as developable later in the plan period, together with the 
Pirbright Institute Site in Compton, are phased from 2021/22 to 2025/26. 

Summary of Allocated Residential Sites 
Amend table as follows: 
Site reference     Site        Policy no  Number of dwellings 
NEW047(B)        Land off Greenham Road and New Road       HSA4        30 (later in plan period) 
NEW047(C)        Land off Greenham Road and New Road       HSA4        65 (later in plan period) 
EUA025        Land adjacent to junction 12 if M4.....            HSA12           100 150 (later in plan period) 
THE003       North Lakeside, Theale                                 HSA14      15 
THE009       Field between A340 and The Green, Theale   HSA15       70  100 

The figures in the trajectory have included a 10% discount for those sites with planning permission or identified through the prior 
approval process, where development had not commenced at March 20152016. The windfall allowance is applied up to 2020/21 for the 
whole District and only in the AONB in the last years of the plan period. 
The trajectory shows that the Core Strategy target is met over the plan period and that the DPD allocations will help meet the OAN up 
to 2022/23. There is flexibility in these numbers: there will be additional windfall and further identified sites which will enter the supply 
and the re-drawing of settlement boundaries will enable some additional smaller sites to come forward for development. The Council 
will be preparing the new Local Plan, with a new housing requirement, following work with our neighbouring authorities on how best to 
meet the objectively assessed needs identified in the SHMA taking account of the planning constraints that apply. This new Local Plan 
will cover the period up to 2036 and will need to consider allocating new sites and to look again at the proposed housing distribution. 
and allocate new sites which will deliver in the later stages of the current plan period. 

Delete existing Housing Site Allocations Indicative Trajectory 2006-2026 table on page 110 and replace with the following: 

Scenario 1 : HSA DPD Trajectory September 2016 

06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 

Past 
Completions - 
Allocated Sites 390 236 50 7 0 0 0 127 140 183 

3 

P
age 219



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Past 
Completions -
Unallocated 
Sites 674 447 478 239 199 162 552 330 356 442 

Core Strategy 
Strategic Sites 83 298 375 327 342 209 110 110 110 110 

Sites with 
planning 
permission 313 162 295 403 215 91 90 65 

Identified sites 62 105 107 114 217 

Windfall 
allowance 8 39 65 80 92 

HSA DPD Site 
Allocations 110 469 501 120 100 100 100 75 75 

Total Past 
Completions 1064 683 528 246 199 162 552 457 496 625 

Total Projected 
Completions 466 714 1311 1425 986 400 300 275 185 185 

Cumulative 
Completions 1064 1747 2275 2521 2720 2882 3434 3891 4387 5012 5478 6192 7503 8928 9914 10314 10614 10889 11074 11259 

PLAN - Strategic 
Allocation 
(annualised) 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 525 

PLAN 
Cumulative 
Allocation 

525 1050 1575 2100 2625 3150 3675 4200 4725 5250 5775 6300 6825 7350 7875 8400 8925 9450 9975 10500 

MONITOR - No. 
dwellings above 
or below 
cumulative 
allocation 539 697 700 421 95 -268 -241 -309 -338 -238 -297 -108 678 1578 2039 1914 1689 1439 1099 759 

4 

P
age 220



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MANAGE - 
Annual 
requirement 
taking account of 
past/projected 
completions 525 497 486 484 499 519 544 544 551 556 549 558 539 428 262 117 47 -38 -195 -574 

Delete both existing charts on page 111 and replace with the following chart: 

MM2 8 Section 1.6 
Settlement 
boundary 
reviews 

Amend Para 1.36 as follows: 
Criteria for reviewing the settlement boundaries formed part of the preferred options consultation and have been updated as a result of 
the consultation.  This DPD has only reviewed the settlement boundaries for those settlements within the settlement hierarchy set out in 
the Core Strategy. These boundaries and All other settlement boundaries, including those below the settlement hierarchy, will be 
reviewed through the Local Plan The settlement boundaries around the settlements within the settlement hierarchy These The 

5 

P
age 221



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

settlement boundaries have been re-drawn... 

MM3 8 Before 
section on 
settlement 
boundary 
reviews 

Add section on Neighbourhood Plans as follows: 
Neighbourhood Plans 
The Council will support communities wishing to develop a Neighbourhood Plan. Any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward following 
the adoption of this DPD will help to boost the supply of housing across the district, adding additional flexibility. Any future allocations 
and housing requirements for Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered as part of the new Local Plan. 

MM4 13 Policy 
HSA1 

Amend developable area as follows: 
just over 0.5 approximately 0.7 hectares..... 

MM5 14 Policy 
HSA2 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 3.5 4.8 hectares..... 

MM6 14 Policy 
HSA2 

Amend the second sentence of the second bullet point of the policy and add a third sentence as follows: 
...The final choice/s will be informed by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) for the site which. This will consider the 
development, design and layout. including a full consideration of the heritage setting of the site.  

Amend bullet point 4 as follows: 
Informed by an archaeological desk based assessment as a minimum and field evaluation if required to assess the historic 
environment potential of the site 

Amend penultimate bullet point as follows:  
Development will protect and enhance the local distinctive character the special architectural and historic interest of the Speen 
Conservation Area. 

Update indicative site plan to reflect further landscape work and access points: 

6 

P
age 222



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Amend legend as follows: 
Potential Access Access 
Tree/Hedge Planting 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

MM7 16 Policy 
HSA3 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2.5 3.3 hectares..... 

MM8 16 Policy 
HSA3 

Add new bullet point as follows: 
The following landscape mitigation is required soften the edge and help integrate the site into the landscape: 

Retention of vegetation along Stoney Lane, except at the access point  
Development will be set back from Stoney Lane and a wide landscape buffer provided.  
Development will be set back from the northern boundary and a woodland belt provided 

Update indicative site plan to show a landscape buffer as follows: 

7 

P
age 223



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM9 18 Policy 
HSA 4 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... 8.5 approximately  7.7 hectares..... 

MM10 21 Policy 
HSA 5 

Amend relevant bullet point as follows: 
Development will be informed by an extended phase 1 habitat survey together with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will need to be implemented to ensure any protected habitats and species 
are not adversely affected. 

Add additional bullet point as follows:  
Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage system and an integrated water supply and drainage strategy will would be 
required for this site. 

MM11 22 Policy 
HSA 6 

Amend the sixth point of policy HSA6 as follows: 
A heritage impact assessment will be required to assess the impact of development on the Grade II listed Poplar Farmhouse and its 
setting and to inform development on the site. Development will be required to ensure the conservation and enhancement of the 
Farmhouse and its setting. 

8 

P
age 224



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Update indicative site plan in relation to listed building 

Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

MM12 23 Policy 
HSA 6 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.7 1.1 hectares..... 

MM13 25 Policy Amend the fifth bullet point of policy HSA 7 as follows: 

9 

P
age 225



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

HSA 7 
Where possible, To facilitate the future provision of a footways to link from the site with existing footways fronting St Finian’s School. 
This would include the provision of a footway across the frontage of the site. 

MM14 28 & 29 Policy 
HSA 8 

Amend 2nd bullet point as follows: 
The site will be accessed from either Clements Mead or Sulham Hill, with the final access being determined by the LVIA, in order to 
preserve the semi-rural character of Sulham Hill. 
Consequent amendments to indicative site plan and legend as follows: 

MM15 28 Policy 
HSA 8 

Amend developable area as follows: 
This site is 1.4 hectares with has a developable area of  approximately 1 1.2 hectares and will deliver in accordance with the following 
parameters:  

MM16 30 Para 2.26 Amend developable area of both sites as follows: 
... EUA003 (0.8 approximately 0.7 hectares) and EUA008 (3.2 hectares with a developable area of 2.2 approximately 2.5 

MM17 34 Policy 
HSA 11 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 1.2 1 hectares..... 

10 

P
age 226



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM18 36 Policy 
HSA 12 

Amend the beginning of the policy, the first bullet point and the seventh bullet point (sub-bullet 2) as follows:   
The site has a developable area of 1.7 approximately 4 hectares and will be delivered in accordance with the following parameters: 

The provision of approximately 100 between 150 and 200 dwellings... 
The scheme will comprise a development design and layout that will: ..... 
Front onto the A4 Bath Road to deal with potential noise pollution issues. A semi-continuous development frontage would act as a 
buffer to protect the rear gardens. Be based upon good acoustic design, to ensure a good standard of amenity for the occupants. 

Update indicative site plan to show revised developable area 

11 

P
age 227



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map in Appendix 6 as follows: 

12 

P
age 228



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM19 38 Policy 
HSA 13 

Amend policy bullet point 6.2 as follows: 
Front onto the A4 Bath Road to deal with potential noise pollution issues. A semi-continuous development frontage would act as a 
buffer to protect the rear gardens. Be based upon good acoustic design, to ensure a good standard of amenity for the occupants. 

MM20 38 Policy 
HSA 13 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... of just under a  approximately 1 hectare..... 

MM21 40 & 
41, 

Policy 
HSA 14 

Delete policy, indicative site plan and delivery and monitoring section from DPD 
Removal of site and figures in relevant text and tables in Appendix 1 

13 

P
age 229



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

107,108 
& 110, 
141 

Appendix 1 
and 
Appendix 6 

Removal of site from Theale map in Appendix 6 
Amend paragraph 2.28 as follows: 
The settlement boundary of Theale has been redrawn around the developable area of the site being allocated, and around the whole 
committed south Lakeside site. The southern portion of the site already has an extant planning permission for residential development 
and inclusion of the whole site would help to enable a comprehensive scheme which takes account of the nature and character of the 
area. No other changes have been made. This is shown on the Policies Map and a map of Theale can be found in Appendix 6. 

MM22 42 Policy 
HSA 15 

Amend policy as follows:  
The site has a developable area of 2.3 3.4 ha hectares... 
Provision of approximately 70 100 dwellings... 

Update indicative site plan to show the revised developable area and to reflect removal  of site ref THE003 as follows: 

14 

P
age 230



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Amend legend as follows: 
Tree/Hedge Planting 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map of Theale in Appendix 6 

MM23 45 Policy 
HSA 16 

Amend developable area as follows: 

... approximately 3.5 4.8 hectares..... 

MM24 47 Policy 
HSA 17 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2 2.7 hectares..... 

MM25 50 Policy 
HSA 18 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 1 hectare 1.2 hectares..... 

Amend the indicative site plan as follows: 

15 

P
age 231



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Extend the developable area in the north western part of the site to include land behind 13 Orchard Close   
Extend the site boundary in the north to include the area required in the policy to be kept as open space/biodiversity corridor. 

Consequent amendment to legend as follows: 
Required Open Space/Biodiversity Corridor 

Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map in Appendix 6 as follows: 

16 

P
age 232



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM26 53 Policy 
HSA 19 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 5 5.7 hectares..... 

MM27 53 Policy 
HSA 19 

Add bullet point to policy as follows:  
Provision of permanent allotments in association with the development of the site will be explored. 

MM28 55 Policy 
HSA 20 and 
indicative 
site plan 

Amend 2nd bullet point as follows: 
To ensure effective integration with existing residential areas the development will be accessed via Lynch Lane., with additional access 
points to be delivered via The Park and/or Essex Place.  To enhance permeability through the site pedestrian and cycle links will be 
provided to enable connection with existing housing and the land to the north west of the site. it is preferred to have more than one 
access serving the development In addition, connections for pedestrians to link the existing housing with the development will be 
provided. 

Consequent amendments to indicative site plan as follows: 
Remove all orange ‘potential access’ arrows 

17 

P
age 233



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Add red ‘access’ arrow from Lynch Lane    
Add  two new pedestrian/cycle links to the north west 

Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LSA) 

MM29 55 Policy 
HSA 20 

Amend 5th and 6th bullet points as follows: 
Development will need to ensure the retention of existing riverside vegetation and the provision of a significant buffer/stand-off between 
the woodland and adjacent River Lambourn SSSI/SAC and any development. In light of an initial Phase 1 Habitat Survey it is 
considered that no development shall take place within 15m of the outer edge of Flood Zone 2, allowing a minimum buffer/stand-off 
from the SSSI/SAC of 38m (max. 88m). 
Development will be informed by an further Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey together with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will need to be implemented, to ensure any protected habitats and species 
are not adversely affected. 

Amend 10th bullet point as follows:  
Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage system.  Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been identified 

18 

P
age 234



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

as a strategic issue within Lambourn; therefore an integrated water supply and drainage strategy will be required. particularly useful for 
this site 

MM30 55 Policy 
HSA 20 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 3 4.5 hectares..... 

MM31 57 Policy 
HSA 21 
and HRA 
pages 14 
and 15 

Amend 7th bullet point as follows: 
Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage system.  Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been identified 
as a strategic issue within Lambourn; therefore an integrated water supply and drainage strategy will be required for this site. Would be 
particularly useful for this site 

Add another bullet point as follows:  
Development will be informed by an extended phase 1 habitat survey together with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will need to be implemented to ensure any protected habitats and species 
are not adversely affected 

MM32 57 Policy 
HSA 21 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.6 0.8 hectares..... 

MM33 60 Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy 
HSA 22 

Amend indicative site plan as follows: 
Remove sub-station from developable area.  
Replace tree/hedge planting along Pangbourne Hill with narrow landscape buffer and extend across the front of the electricity sub-
station 
Move potential access arrow to west of the electricity sub-station and confirm it will be the access to the site 
Extend the site boundary to the north of the sub-station in order to accommodate the main road to the site and widen the landscape 
buffer accordingly. 

19 

P
age 235



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Consequent amendment to legend as follows: 
Tree and Hedge Planting 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LSA) 

Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map in Appendix 6 as follows: 

20 

P
age 236



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM34 Policy 
HSA 22 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2.4 2.24 hectares..... 

MM35 61 Policy 
HSA 23 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... 0.58 approximately 0.6 hectares..... 

Amend the indicative site plan as follows:  
Remove the protected trees in the eastern part of the site from the developable area 

21 

59

P
age 237



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

MM36 61 Policy 
HSA 23 

Add new bullet point: 
An arboricultural survey will be required to inform the delivery of the site as there are protected trees present. 

MM37 63 Paragraph 
2.54 

Delete final bullet point: 
Boundary altered to south of Chieveley at Green Lane to follow curtilage of dwellings.  Includes sites CHI017 and CHI001 
Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map as follows: 

22 

P
age 238



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM38 65 Policy 
HSA 24 

Add a final sentence to the final bullet point of the policy as follows: 
....It will also explain how the special architectural and historic interest of the Compton Conservation Area and its setting has been 
taken into account. 

MM39 64 Policy Amend developable area as follows: 

23 

P
age 239



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

HSA 24 ... approximately 7 9.1 hectares..... 

MM40 67 Policy 
HSA 25 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.8 1.1 hectares..... 

MM41 67-68 Policy 
HSA 25 
and 
indicative 
site plan 

Amend second bullet point as follows: 
The site will be accessed via Station Road and Charlotte Close with the provision of linkages through the site to HER004 (Land to the 
south east of the Old Farmhouse. 

Consequent amendment to the indicative site plan to add a second access arrow at Charlotte Close. 

Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

MM42 67 Policy 
HSA 25 

Delete sub-bullet 4 of bullet point 5: 
It is expected that the site is developed comprehensively together with HER004 (Land to the south east of The Old Farmhouse) to 
ensure an integrated development. Both sites should ensure consistency of design and the provision of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle 

24 

P
age 240



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

linkages between the two. 

MM43 69 Policy 
HSA 26 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.5 0.6 hectares..... 

MM44 69 Policy 
HSA 26 

Delete sub bullet 3 of bullet point 2: 
It is expected that the site is developed comprehensively together with HER001 (Land off Charlotte Close) to ensure an integrated 
development. Both sites should ensure consistency of design and the provision of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle linkages between the 
two. 

Amend bullet point 4 as follows: 
The site will be accessed via Lipscombe Close with the provision of linkages through the site to HER001 (Land off Charlotte Close). 
Access can also be provided off Station Road if the site is developed in conjunction with HER001. An additional access to the site can 
be obtained via Lipscombe Close, with the provision of linkages through the site to HER001 (Land off Charlotte Close). 

Amend indicative site plan: 
Extend the south eastern boundary of the site slightly southwards to show the developable area of the site includes the access to 
Lipscombe Close with the landscape buffer widened to the south. 

25 

P
age 241



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map in Appendix 6 as follows: 

26 

P
age 242



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM45 69 Policy 
HSA 26 

Amend bullet point 6: 
An extended phase 1 habitat survey will be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great 
Crested Newt Survey will also be required to cover all ponds within the vicinity of the site. The final developable area will be dependent 
upon the extent of any Aappropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will need required to be implemented, to ensure any protected 
species are will not be adversely affected. 

MM46 70 2.57 Add additional bullet point: 
Boundary altered to include the properties at Hermitage Green 

MM47 79 Policy TS 3 Delete policy, supporting text and indicative site plan. Update subsequent policy numbers. 
Amend paragraph 3.19: 

Clappers Farm Area of Search (GTTS6) 

MM48 85 Policy C1, 
table 

Include the following settlements in the table:  
Burghfield, Curridge, Donnington, Eddington, Upper Bucklebury, Wickham. 

MM49 84-85 Policy C1 
and para 

Amend 3rd sentence of policy as follows:  
Exceptions to this are limited to rural exception housing schemes, conversion of redundant buildings, housing to accommodate rural 

27 

Para 1.42
Para 3.19

Remove paragraph 1.42

P
age 243



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

4.9 workers, and extension to or replacement of existing residential units and limited infill in settlements in the countryside with no defined 
settlement boundary. 

Remove the first sentence of para 4.9 as follows: 
In the wider countryside, residential development will be restricted to the provision of rural workers accommodation, or the conversion 
or replacement of an existing dwelling. 

MM50 93-94 Policy C5, 
Supporting 
Text 

Include after existing paragraph 4.37: 
There are a number of existing educational and institutional establishments within the rural area of West Berkshire. Policy C5 does not 
apply to these uses. The policy provisions for new development associated with these establishments are set out in saved policy 
ENV.27 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan. 

Subsequent paragraphs need re-numbering. 
Amend first sentence of paragraph 4.42 as follows: 
Many people work in rural areas in offices, schools, workshops...... 

MM51 93 Policy C5, 
criterion vii 

Reword criteria as follows:  
No dwelling serving or closely associated with the rural enterprise has recently been either sold or changed converted from a 
residential use or otherwise separated from the holding within the last 10 years. The act of severance may override the evidence of 
need.  of the application for a new dwelling or converted from a residential use.  

MM52 100 Policy P1 Amend table as follows:  
Merge columns for 1 and 2 bed flats in EUA zones, so 1 & 2 bed flats require 1.5 spaces. Change the requirement for 2 bed flats in 
zone 1 to 1 space per dwellings in line with 2 bed houses in this zone. 

Flats (+1 additional space per 5 
flats for visitors) 

Houses 

Bedrooms 1 2 3 1 2 3 4 

Zone 1 0.75 1.251 2 1 1 2 2 

Zone 2 1.25 1.5 2 1.25 2 2.5 2.5 

Zone 3 1.5 1.75 2 1.5 2 2.5 3 

EUA Zone 1.5 2 1 2 2 3 

28 

P
age 244



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM53 121 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘developable area’: 
The site area in the policy relates to the developable, or gross area, shown in blue on the accompanying indicative site plan.  
For some sites, the developable area shown on the plan is smaller than the site area shown by the red line.  This is to take account of 
physical or landscape issues which limit development of the whole site.  Areas of land unsuitable for development, such as wooded 
areas, flood zones or those areas deemed unacceptable for development in landscape terms have been excluded from the 
developable area.  
For the purposes of calculating the approximate number of dwellings an adjustment has been made to allow for any landscape buffers, 
main access roads, open space and any other infrastructure or community provision.  Densities have then been applied to the “net” 
area. No adjustment has been made for small sites of under 0.4 hectares.  For sites of greater than 0.4 hectares but less than 2 
hectares it has been assumed that the net area is 80% of the gross area and for sites of over 2 hectares, 70%.  For most sites an 
average density of 30 dwellings per hectare has been assumed, with a lower density of 20 dwellings per hectare in the AONB. 
In some cases, where LCA/LSA has specified the need for a landscape buffer, the net area has been taken to be the same as the 
gross or developable area. Where this is the case the detailed requirements for the open space/landscape buffer are set out in the site 
policy. 
The net area achieved will depend on the detailed design work carried out in preparation for a planning application and will be 
influenced by the topography and specific site characteristics.  Final densities will depend on the housing type and mix.  Approximate 
numbers are therefore given in the site policies to enable some flexibility at the more detailed design stage. 

MM54 124, 

26, 31, 
33, 35, 
54, 58, 
66 

Appendix 4: 
Glossary 
and 
indicative 
site plans  
for 
HSA7, 
HSA9, 
HSA10, 
HSA11, 
HSA19, 
HSA21, 
HSA24 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘landscape buffer’: 
The area shown as a landscape buffer on the indicative site plan which accompanies each site policy should be regarded as an area 
where all built development is excluded.  The size of each of the buffers has been assessed as appropriate for that particular location in 
order to mitigate the impact of new development. Landscape buffers are designed to meet a number of purposes which will vary from 
site to site.  Further details are set out in the relevant Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity Assessments (LSA/LCA) but in general these are 
to: 

Integrate the development into the surrounding landscape pattern 
Protect existing landscape features and sensitive landscapes such as the AONB or built environments such as  Conservation 
Areas 
Contain the development or limit it to a certain area (such as below a particular contour) or relate it to the existing settlement 
pattern 
Provide informal open space to serve the development 
Respond to the local open space pattern  
Screen the housing to limit visual intrusion or soften the urban edge 
Provide new landscape features to enhance the local landscape as a landscape benefit of the development 
Protect the landscape character of gateways to the settlement 
Act as an acoustic buffer 
Conserve and enhance biodiversity 

29 

P
age 245



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Where appropriate, the following features are considered suitable in a landscape buffer: 
Woodland 
Tree belts and tree groups 
Hedgerows and hedgerow trees 
Grassland and meadow 
Wetland and SuDS 
Informal open space with footpaths, picnic areas 
Agricultural use, particularly pasture 
Orchards and foraging area 
Village greens 

The following would not normally be included in order to avoid urbanisation of the buffer but may be acceptable in some locations if 
specified in the DPD or LSA/LCA: 

Private gardens  
Allotments 
Play equipment 
Community buildings 
Sports facilities and other formal recreational facilities 
Road access to the adjoining housing allocation provided it is in keeping with the character of the receiving landscape.  Lighting 
is unlikely to be acceptable.  

Where buffers lie on the outer edge of a site next to open countryside they are shown outside of the proposed settlement boundary and 
are considered to be part of the open countryside not the development area.  This approach accords with the Council’s criteria for the 
review of settlement boundaries. 

Consequent amendments to relevant indicative site plans where these have not been picked up in other main modifications: 

Policy HSA 7  
Amend legend as follows: 

Required Landscape Buffer/Garden (in accordance with LCA) 

30 

P
age 246



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 9  
Amend legend as follows: 
Tree/Hedge Planting 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 
Required Woodland Buffer 

31 

P
age 247



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 10 
Amend legend as follows: 
Tree/Hedge Planting 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 
Required Woodland Buffer 

32 

P
age 248



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 11 
Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LSA) 

33 

P
age 249



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 19 
Amend legend as follows: 
Potential Possible Foot & Cycle Link 
Right of Way to be Retained 
Required Woodland Buffer 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LSA) 

34 

P
age 250



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 21 
Amend legend as follows: 
Tree and Hedge Planting 
 Required Landscape Buffer/Garden (in accordance with LCA) 

35 

P
age 251



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

Policy HSA 24 
Amend legend as follows: 
Tree and Hedge Planting 
 Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with Landscape Framework) 

36 

P
age 252



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM55 125 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘masterplan’: 
A Master Plan provides design guidance for areas that are likely to undergo some form of development. They should be: 

• Visionary, raising aspirations for an area,
• Deliverable, taking into account likely constraints and implementation timescales,
• Integrated into the land use planning system,

37 

P
age 253



West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications - December 2016     

Ref Page 
Policy/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Main Modification 

• Flexible, allowing for changing circumstances and new opportunities,
• Inclusive, being prepared with participation from local communities, and
• Adaptable, allowing for existing areas to be thought of differently.

The scope of a Master Plan should be proportionate to the scale of development. 

MM56 126 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of ‘parking zones’: 
West Berkshire has 4 parking zones, covering the areas set out below: 
Zone 1 - Core Town Centres plus 5 minute walking zone (eg.Newbury, Thatcham, Hungerford, Pangbourne and Theale town centres) 
Zone 2 - Communities with core town centre zones, with a 500m buffer outside adopted settlement boundary (eg. Newbury, Thatcham, 
Hungerford, Pangbourne and Theale 
Zone 3 - Remainder of the District (eg. All areas of District not within zones 1, 2, or EUA zone) 
EUA Zone - Entirety of the Eastern Urban Area with 500m buffer outside adopted settlement boundary (Calcot, Purley-on-Thames, 
Tilehurst). 
Maps showing the zones are available on the Council's interactive map 

38 

P
age 254



 
 

West Berkshire Local Plan 
 

West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) 
 
 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 
 

Environmental Report for Submission  
(including Proposed Main Modifications) 

 
 

April December 2016 
 
 

1 
 

Page 255



Contents 
1 Non-Technical Summary ......................................................................................................... 4 
2 Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 18 

2.1 The Development Plan for West Berkshire ..................................................................... 18 
3 The Appraisal Methodology ................................................................................................... 19 

3.1 What is the SA/SEA? Why does it need to be done? ...................................................... 19 
3.2 Stages to the SA / SEA ................................................................................................... 20 
3.3 Consultation .................................................................................................................... 21 
3.4 Difficulties encountered in compiling information or carrying out the assessment ........... 21 

4 Background to the SA Report ................................................................................................ 22 
4.1 Requirement for the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) ........................................................... 22 
4.2 Stages of the SA ............................................................................................................. 22 
4.3 Compliance with the SEA Directive / Regulations ........................................................... 24 

5 Sustainability Objectives, Baseline and Context .................................................................... 25 
5.1 Link to other policies, plans and programmes ................................................................. 25 
5.2 Key environmental, social and economic issues and opportunities ................................. 26 
5.3 Developing the SA Framework ....................................................................................... 26 
5.4 Background to Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects ........................ 32 

6 Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects ...................................................... 33 
6.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 33 
6.2 Developing the Options ................................................................................................... 34 
6.3 Method of Approach ....................................................................................................... 34 
6.4 Reasonable Alternatives ................................................................................................. 34 

6.4.1 Approach to Site Allocations .................................................................................... 34 
6.4.2 Housing Sites .......................................................................................................... 34 
6.4.3 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites .............................................. 37 
6.4.4 Countryside Policies ................................................................................................ 37 
6.4.5 Parking Standards Policy ......................................................................................... 38 
6.4.6 Sandleford Park Policy ............................................................................................. 38 

6.5 Assessment of Options ................................................................................................... 39 
7 Appraisal ............................................................................................................................... 40 

7.1 Approach to Site Allocations ........................................................................................... 40 
7.2 Housing Site Selection .................................................................................................... 42 

7.2.1 Newbury & Thatcham Spatial Area .......................................................................... 42 
7.2.2 Eastern Area Spatial Area ....................................................................................... 84 
7.2.3 East Kennet Valley Spatial Area ............................................................................ 100 
7.2.4 AONB Spatial Area ................................................................................................ 119 

7.3 Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Selection ............................... 178 
7.4 Countryside Policies ..................................................................................................... 184 
7.5 Parking Standards Policy .............................................................................................. 188 
7.6 Sandleford Park Policy .................................................................................................. 189 

8 Next Stages ........................................................................................................................ 191 
9 Implementation .................................................................................................................... 191 
10 Conclusions on the Overall Sustainability of the Housing Site Allocations DPD ................ 192 
 
Appendices ................................................................................................................................. 194 
 
 

2 
 

Page 256



List of appendices: 
(for clarity, please note that the only Appendices which have been updated for this December 2016 
update are Appendices 9, 10 and 14.  Within Appendices 9 and 10, only those site assessment 
sheets which have been updated since the submission of the DPD are included within this 
December 2016 update) For all other Appendices, please refer to the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report for Submission (April 2016). 
 
1  Relevant Plans and Programmes 
2  Baseline Information 
3  Compatibility of the SA Objectives with the West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations 

Objectives 
4  Glossary 
5  Scoping Report environmental bodies consultation responses 
6A  Site Selection Criteria – Housing Sites 
6B Site Selection Criteria – Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Sites (Core 

Strategy policy CS7) 
7  List of sites eliminated from consideration at sifting stage 
8  SA/SEA tables for the Approach options tested 
9A  Housing Site Selection – Newbury and Thatcham  
9B Housing Site Selection – Eastern Area  
9C Housing Site Selection – East Kennet Valley  
9D Housing Site Selection – AONB  
10  Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople site selection  
11  Residential Parking Policy for new development SA/SEA assessment 
12  SA/SEA for Sandleford Park policy options 
13  SA/SEA for Countryside policies 
14  Assessment of the Proposed Main Modifications and their implications for the outcome of 

the SA/SEA 
 
 
 

3 
 

Page 257



1 Non-Technical Summary 

1.1 Background 
The purpose of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Report is to ensure that sustainability issues are 
considered during the preparation and adoption of the Local Development Plan Documents (DPD). 
The SA is an iterative process and it identifies the likely significant effects of each DPD and the 
extent to which implementation of the policies it contains will achieve social, environmental and 
economic objectives. This ensures that the SA results and consultation responses can feed into 
and influence the production of the DPD. 
 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD is a daughter document to the Council’s adopted Core Strategy 
(July 2012), and forms part of the Local Plan for the District. The Core Strategy sets out the overall 
planning strategy for the District, explaining the vision for the area and how it will be delivered. The 
Housing Site Allocations DPD identifies specific sites for housing and Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople, as well as setting out a limited number of development management 
policies.  
 
The SA Report has been produced by the Council for the Housing Site Allocations DPD. The SA 
Report was published at the Preferred Options consultation stage in 2014, and updated to 
accompany the proposed submission consultation in 2015.  
 
As a result of the Proposed Submission consultation no significant changes have been made to the 
DPD, which would require re-assessment.  
 
Following the examination hearing sessions a number of Main Modifications have been proposed. 
These have been reviewed (please see Appendix 14) and the SA/SEA updated where required. 
The Main Modifications have not resulted in any significant changes to the outcome of the SA/SEA.  
 
A number of proposed minor changes have also been identified. These have also been reviewed, 
however these do not result in any significant changes to the outcome of the SA/SEA. 

1.2 Purpose of the Sustainability Appraisal 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD is subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) to ensure economic, 
environmental and social effects of the plan are in line with sustainable development targets. The 
SA provides an integrated, ongoing assessment of the likely significant effects of the DPD as it is 
being prepared. It provides a means of translating sustainability objectives for the area into 
sustainable planning policies and should reflect global, national, regional and local sustainability 
problems and issues. The process involves a series of stages by which the content of the 
emerging DPD is appraised against a series of sustainability objectives. The SA should be fully 
integrated into the preparation of the DPD.  
 
The SA must also incorporate the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC on the 
‘assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment’. This is commonly 
referred to as the Strategic Environmental Assessment or ‘SEA’ Directive.  

1.3 Summary of the SA Process 
The first stage of the SA process is the production of the Scoping Report. This is where the scope 
and overall level of detail of the SA is set out. The Scoping Report sets out the sustainability 
objectives and these are then used to assess the options of the DPD. The sustainability objectives 
are derived from the review of other plans and programmes, analysis of the baseline data and of 
the specific environmental issues and opportunities identified in West Berkshire. Much of the 
background information is based on the Core Strategy SA but has been updated to take into 
account the most up to date information.  
 

4 
 

Page 258



The next stage of the SA process is where the options are developed and refined and the effects of 
the options are assessed. The options are tested against the SA objectives to predict and evaluate 
the effects of the sites/policies set out in the DPD. Mitigation measures are identified where 
necessary and recommendations to changes to the options are made. Any significant changes and 
revised options are then reassessed, and monitoring processes are set out in the Report.  
 
As part of the process of selecting the proposed submission sites and policies, the likely significant 
effects of each option are evaluated. The effects of each of the options are then tested against the 
SA objectives and the results are set out in the SA Report. The aim of the appraisal is to identify 
any significant conflicts or combined effects between the options and the SA objectives. 
 
The SA Report contains the following:  

• Outline of contents, the methodology and description of the SA/SEA process and the 
specific SA/SEA tasks undertaken  

• A review of other plans and programmes and their relationship to the West Berkshire Core 
Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD  

• A description of the environmental and sustainability context (known as the baseline 
information)  

• A summary of the key sustainability issues) 
• The SA/SEA Framework which sets out the SA/SEA objectives for assessing the Housing 

Site Allocations DPD  
• A review of the site and policy options considered  
• A review of the Preferred Options Housing Site Allocations DPD 
• A review of the Proposed Submission and Submission Housing Site Allocations DPD 
• A review of the Main Modifications proposed following the examination hearing sessions. 
• A review of the minor changes proposed following the examination hearing sessions. 

 
The SA Report has been produced in tandem with the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

1.4 Statement dealing with the difference which the SA process has made 
The SA Report and the preparation of the Housing Site Allocations DPD have been carried out 
concurrently to ensure that the findings from the SA process have informed the emerging DPD.  
 
In July 2014 the Council published its Preferred Options Housing Site Allocations DPD. This set 
out the sites the Council considered to be the best sites for allocation at that stage. In some areas 
options were suggested, with final decisions to be made following the consultation. The SA/SEA 
process was used to identify the sites and policy options to be taken forward as preferred options, 
and all proposed policies were also subject to SA. The Housing Site Allocations DPD and the SA 
Report were then updated following the Preferred Options consultation and now forms part of the 
Proposed Submission documents. Modifications to policies or sites since the preferred options 
stage have been reassessed.  
 
The SA is an iterative process and so the comments received from the consultation on the 
Preferred Options and proposed submission versions of the DPD have fed into the development of 
the Submission DPD, so that the process of drafting policies, allocating sites and appraising the 
potential impacts could continue. As a result of the proposed submission consultation no major 
changes, requiring reassessment, are proposed. Following the examination hearing sessions a 
number of Main Modifications have been proposed. These have been reviewed (please see 
Appendix 14) and the SA/SEA updated where required.  
 
A summary of the SA and Site Assessments can be found below.  

1.5 Summary of likely significant effects of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
The summary of the SA findings have been divided up into three sections, Housing Site 
Allocations, Sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and, finally,  Policies.  
 

5 
 

Page 259



Full details can be found in the SA Report (Section 7), with the full site assessments and SA/SEA 
assessment forms in the appendices, (Appendix 9 - Housing Site Assessments, Appendix 10 – 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Assessments, Appendix 11 - Countryside 
Policies, Appendix 12 - Parking Policy and Appendix 13 - Sandleford).  

1.5.1 Housing Site Allocations 
Potential housing sites have been taken to be sites promoted through the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) process. All SHLAA sites are assessed as one of four categories,  

• Deliverable (e.g. Sites with planning permission), 
• Developable (e.g. Sites within the settlement boundary),  
• Potentially developable (Sites adjacent to the settlement boundary with no significant 

issues that would be difficult to overcome), and  
• Not currently developable (Sites with significant constraints that mean they are unlikely to 

come forward in the plan period) 
 
All sites assessed as potentially developable were taken forward through the site selection process 
for the Housing Site Allocations DPD. This process was split into two sections, Part A – automatic 
exclusions, and Part B – considerations. Automatic exclusions identify sites where there are 
significant constraints to development, such as flood risk, national or international 
ecological/biodiversity designation or the proposed scale of development in terms of the role and 
function of the settlement.  
 
Sites not ruled out thought the automatic exclusions assessment (Part A) are considered to be 
reasonable alternatives for development, and therefore, Part B and a SA/SEA has been 
undertaken to inform the site selection work. This phase of the site assessment process has been 
used to identify the sites to be taken forward for consultation as preferred options. In some cases 
the SA/SEA outcomes are the same for a number of sites; where this is the case, other factors in 
the site assessment are taken into account to help the decision making process.  
 
The outcomes of the Preferred Options consultation, along with any further technical work have 
been used to further refine the site assessments and inform the recommendation of sites for 
allocation within the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
With regard to the SA/SEA conclusions all sites are predicted to have a number of positive 
sustainability effects, including social sustainability as they will deliver new good quality housing, 
including affordable housing.  
 
Economic sustainability is predicted to be neutral for the majority of sites, as while development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term, it is not seen as promoting key 
business sectors/development in the longer term.  

1.5.1.1 Newbury and Thatcham  
Newbury 
A significant number of sites were promoted through the SHLAA for housing in the Newbury area. 
Some of these are in Protected Employment Areas (PEAs), which will be reviewed in the new 
Local Plan following an objective assessment of the needs for housing and employment growth, as 
well as a review of the District’s Protected Employment Areas. These sites, including the London 
Road Industrial Estate, have therefore not been assessed for potential allocations as part of this 
Housing Site Allocations DPD. It is recognised however that they may add some flexibility to the 
strategy in the medium to longer term, depending on a review of employment land in the District. 
 
21 sites were considered as options for allocation in Newbury. Of these, one site was shown to 
have a predominantly negative impact on sustainability through the SA/SEA (NEW031), with five 
sites showing at least one significantly negative effect against the SA/SEA objectives (NEW001 / 
NEW008 / NEW010 / NEW011 / NEW054). These sites were therefore, discounted. All the other 
sites showed predominantly neutral impacts on sustainability, with some positive and some 

6 
 

Page 260



negative impacts. Where there was no significant difference in the SA/SEA outcomes then other 
factors in the site assessment, including the responses to consultation have led to the 
recommendation of sites for allocation.  
 
The Council have been unable to confirm the availability of NEW040, and therefore, the site is not 
considered appropriate for allocation, as its deliverability cannot be confirmed. NEW019 and 
NEW108 are not recommended for allocation due to their distance from local service and facilities, 
and the potential negative impact this could have on sustainability compared to other sites. 
NEW105 was considered alongside NEW045 and considered to be unsuitable for development 
due to the ancient woodland buffers required, and the impact this would have on the development 
potential of the site promoted through the Preferred Options consultation.  
 
The outcomes of the public consultation and further technical work have led to one of the preferred 
option sites (Land at Moor Lane Depot – NEW106) being rejected in Newbury and another site, 
(land south of Warren Road – NEW104) being included within a revised settlement boundary 
rather than being an allocated site. Following reassessment additional sites at south east Newbury 
(NEW047B and NEW047C) have also been included as allocated sites, to add some flexibility to 
the housing provision in the medium term.  
 
Overall six sites in Newbury are recommended for allocation in the DPD. All six sites are predicted 
to have a number of positive sustainability effects, including social sustainability as they will deliver 
new good quality housing, including affordable housing. All sites are located close to local services 
and facilities, and therefore, provide opportunities to promote and encourage active, healthy 
lifestyles and use of sustainable transport. Economic sustainability is predicted to be neutral for all 
sites, as while development contributes towards economic development in the short term, it is not 
seen as promoting key business sectors/development in the longer term.  
 
For NEW012 the only predicted negative sustainability effect is as a result of development on a 
greenfield site. 
 
At preferred options NEW042 predicted a potential negative impact on Green Infrastructure due to 
the relocation of the allotments. Following the consultation the site promoter has now committed to 
retaining the allotments as situ, which results in a neutral impact.  
 
The SA/SEA predicts that without adequate mitigation there could be a potential negative impact 
on environmental sustainability at NEW045. Mitigation measures, including sensitive design and 
design informed by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) will mitigate this potential 
negative impact. Landscaping on the site would provide additional biodiversity habitat.  
 
There is a potential negative sustainability impact predicted for NEW047D in terms of impact on 
biodiversity, however, mitigation measures are proposed that include retaining in perpetuity a large 
area of open space/wildlife habitat and a green corridor linking to the east. The site is a former 
landfill site, therefore, development of the site could result in a positive impact in terms of 
improving soil quality in the area, through mitigation measures to clean up the contamination on 
the site. The SA/SEA for NEW047B and NEW047C predicted similar outcomes to those for area 
NEW047D, which with mitigation would not result in any significant impacts on sustainability. 
Development of the sites together would ensure that an area of open space/wildlife corridor was 
retained in perpetuity, to maintain the gap between Newbury and Greenham. These sites would 
provide some flexibility to the housing provision in the medium term. 
 
Thatcham 
Nine sites were considered as options for development at Preferred Options stage, with an 
additional site submitted at preferred options and another site previously excluded being 
resubmitted. This resulted in the assessment of 11 sites as reasonable alternatives (THA006; 
THA007; THA008; THA011; THA014; THA019; THA024; THA025; THA027; THA028 and 
THA037).  
 

7 
 

Page 261



One site was recommended for allocation through the Preferred Options DPD and remains the 
only site recommended for allocation in Thatcham. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to 
receive a lower allocation that other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent 
years, to allow for a period of consolidation for infrastructure and town centre facilities to be 
upgraded to meet the demands of the existing population. 
 
A major consideration in Thatcham is the potential for development to lead to the coalescence of 
individual settlements. This is particularly the case with development to the north of Thatcham that 
could result in the coalescence of Cold Ash and Thatcham. Therefore, a number of sites were 
ruled out.   
 
THA025 is recommended for allocation, as it is seen as the most appropriate site for allocation in 
the Town. The site is close to local services and facilities, with a number of public transport 
options, all meaning that there are opportunities for walking and cycling an promoting active, 
healthy lifestyles. There is a predicted negative impact from the in relation to the proximity of the 
site to the SAC and SSSI, however, adequate mitigation measures would ensure these sites are 
protected and enhanced.  
 
Cold Ash 
Four sites were considered as reasonable alternatives for allocation, with one site being ruled out 
due to its relationship to the existing settlement pattern (COL004). The remaining three sites were 
consulted on as preferred options. COL011 has been subsequently rejected on landscape 
grounds, leaving two sites recommended for allocation in Cold Ash.  
 
COL002 is recommended for allocation. The site is close to local services and facilities, and 
therefore will have a positive sustainability impact through the promotion of sustainable modes of 
travel, and the promotion of active, healthy lifestyles. It is noted that due to the rural location of the 
site, there will be some reliance on the car for access to employment and higher level services and 
facilities. There is potential for a negative sustainability impact due to surface water flood risk on 
the site, however, with appropriate mitigation this negative impact will be reduced.  
 
A small amount of linear development, in keeping the surrounding character is proposed for 
COL006. Many of the sustainability impacts are similar to COL002, although there is not the same 
level of flood risk predicted. There is a potential negative impact on road safety, as the site is in a 
rural location, although it is expected that mitigation measures would lead to a reduction in this 
impact.  

1.5.1.2 Eastern Area 
Eastern Urban Area 
Nine sites were considered as options for development in the Eastern Urban Area. There are a 
number of technical issues in the Eastern Spatial area that were highlighted by the site selection 
process, therefore, a wider range of options were consulted on as preferred options, with further 
technical work and the outcomes of consultation to inform the sites to be recommended for 
allocation. Eight sites were consulted on as preferred options, with two being discounted following 
public consultation and further technical work (EUA007 and EUA033).  
 
EUA032 was not considered as a preferred option. While the SA/SEA did not highlight any 
significant sustainability issues, the Landscape Assessment work states that access to the site 
should not come from Sulham Hill due to the negative impact this would have on the character of 
the AONB. As an alternative access cannot be found the site is not considered to be deliverable 
without a negative impact on environmental sustainability and the AONB that could not be 
mitigated.  
 
While the SA/SEA did not rule out EUA007 from being considered for allocation, the site is 
accessed from Pincents Lane, which is also used to access a retail park and a proposed new IKEA 
store. Transport Assessment work indicates there is much sensitivity in the area, and there are 
serious concerns regarding the traffic impact of additional development. It is considered prudent to 

8 
 

Page 262



monitor the impact of IKEA on the junctions in the area once the scheme has been implement and 
then reconsider the site for allocation at a later date, through the new Local Plan.    
 
EUA033 was included as a preferred option, but is no longer recommended for allocation. The 
SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability issues on the site; however, the Landscape 
Assessment states that only one of the large sites on Long Lane should be developed due to the 
potential negative impact on environmental sustainability and the AONB. The Landscape 
Assessment states a preference for EUA003/008 to be developed over EUA033. There are also 
concerns over the traffic impact of several developments in this area, along with a risk of surface 
water flooding at the proposed access point to the site. While technical solutions are available they 
could impact on viability and deliverability of the site in the short term, and therefore, the site is not 
recommended for allocation.  
 
Overall six sites are recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA shows that EUA003 and EUA008 
could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the sites being located within 
the AONB.  Landscape Assessment work has been carried out by the Council, and shows that 
development of the sites is acceptable subject to certain mitigation measures. These measures are 
set out in the site policies within the DPD to ensure the potential negative impact is mitigated. The 
sites are well related to existing development, and therefore, are predicted to have positive 
sustainability impacts in terms of access to services and facilities which will enable the promotion 
of healthy, active lifestyles. Planning permission was granted for EUA008 in August 2016, subject 
to completion of a legal agreement.  
 
EUA025 and EUA026 are located adjacent to the A4 and M4, at M4 junction 12. This results in 
predicted negative impacts in terms of air quality and noise. Mitigation, including the 
recommendation for only a small part of EUA025 to be allocated for development will reduce this 
impact. The remaining area of EUA025 will be retained as a landscape buffer, and open space, 
increasing the availability of public open space in the area. This reduced developable area on 
EUA025 also ensures that no development will take place within the flood zones.   
 
The only predicted negative sustainability impact for EUA031 is as a result of the site being 
greenfield land. Planning permission was granted in August 2016, subject to completion of a legal 
agreement.  
 
EUA035 has a number of predicted positive sustainability impacts. While the site is close to the 
railway line, only part of the site has been proposed for development, which will provide a 
landscape buffer to the railway, reducing the air quality and noise impacts the railway could have. 
The site is adjacent to the AONB, therefore, there is a potential negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation as set out in the Landscape Assessment would minimise this impact.  
 
Theale 
Five sites were considered as options of development in Theale. Of these five, one site was 
rejected at preferred options due to flood risk and concerns over proximity to the M4 (THE002). 
The SA/SEA indicates a potentially significant impact in terms of flood risk, and following advice 
from the Environment Agency it was not considered appropriate to consider the site for allocation. 
The remaining four sites were consulted on as preferred options.  
 
The outcomes of the public consultation and further technical work, plus the requirement for Theale 
to have a period of consolidation led to two of these being discounted (THE001 and THE005).  
 
THE005 is located in flood zone 2, and therefore, there is a potential negative sustainability impact 
as a result of flood risk. The site is no longer recommended for allocation as the Environment 
Agency requested that any sites in flood zones are subject to a sequential test. As other sites are 
available, both in Theale and across the District, the test cannot be carried out.  
 
THE001 did not show any significant sustainability impacts, however, through the preferred options 
significant concern was raised regarding access to the site, with limited scope for improvements to 

9 
 

Page 263



be made without acquiring third party land. Landscape Assessment work carried out following the 
preferred options indicated that the site would be suitable for development subject to various 
mitigation measures, including a buffer to separate the site from the existing village. As a result the 
site is not considered to be well related to the existing settlement, and could result in a negative 
impact in terms of impact on the character of the built environment.  
 
Two sites were recommended for allocation in the Submission HSA DPD (THE003 and THE009). 
Due to uncertainties relating to the deliverability of THE003, following planning permission being 
granted for part of the site, it was proposed to withdraw the site from the DPD at the examination 
hearing sessions. This modification is subject to the Main Modifications consultation. This site will 
however, remain within the proposed new settlement boundary of Theale.  
 
As a result two sites are recommended for allocation. The developable area of the remaining 
allocated both sites (THE003 and THE009) has been reduced as a result of further landscape 
work carried out following the preferred options, to ensure no negative impacts on the AONB or 
environmental sustainability. At the examination hearing sessions, the Inspector asked the Council 
to reconsider the developable area of the site and the size of the landscape buffer. As a result the 
developable area has been enlarged slightly, to that which was originally proposed, following 
additional landscape advice. This still retains a wide landscape buffer to the west adjacent to the 
A340 to ensure no negative impacts on the AONB or environmental sustainability.  
 
East Kennet Valley 
Burghfield Common 
Nine sites were considered as options for development. Several of the sites were rejected due to 
their development potential in respect of Burghfield Common as a rural service centre.  
 
BUR005 and BUR008 were considered to be less well related to the existing settlement pattern, 
and this could have a potentially negative impact on the character of the built environment. Locally 
there is strong opposition to development to the west of the village (BUR006, BUR007, BUR011), 
as development would impact on the character of built environment. Both BUR007 and BUR008 
submitted smaller site proposals through the preferred options, but the reasons for rejection are 
considered to be the same whether the whole or part of the site is considered for development.  
 
Two sites were included as preferred options, with both sites being recommended for allocation, 
one as at preferred options (BUR015), and one with a reduced developable area following the 
Preferred Options consultation and further technical work (BUR002/002A/004) to ensure that the 
existing woodland is retained as a wildlife habitat.   
 
BUR007A (Firlands) has subsequently been granted planning permission on appeal. It is not 
proposed to change the allocations for Burghfield Common, rather this additional site will give 
additional flexibility to the housing numbers.  
 
Mortimer 
Mortimer Parish Council is in the process of developing a Neighbourhood Plan (NP). 
Representations through the public consultation as well as discussion with the neighbourhood 
planning group has led to an agreement that the site allocations for Mortimer will be made through 
the NP, which also reviews the settlement boundary in accordance with the criteria. The NP for 
Stratfield Mortimer is therefore, required to allocate 110 dwellings. The NP has been was 
submitted to the Council for examination in February 2016. the submission consultation runs from 
4th March to 22nd April 2016. It is expected the examination will take place in May or June, with the 
referendum taking place in September or October. The Council received the examiner’s report at 
the end of October 2016. The Parish Council has requested that the Council delays making a 
decision on the examiner’s report until May 2017 to allow time for full consideration of the 
recommendations and issues raised in the report. 
 
Aldermaston 

10 
 

Page 264



No sites were considered options for development due to Aldermaston being within the inner AWE 
consultation zone.  
 
Woolhampton 
Five sites were considered as options for development. Two of the sites were ruled out due to flood 
risk (WOOL002 and WOOL003), with a third ruled out due to its poor relationship with the existing 
settlement and potential flood risk (WOOL005).  
 
Two alternative sites were recommended as preferred options, and a choice between these has 
been made following the consultation and further technical assessment. This has resulted in 
WOOL006 being recommended for allocation rather than WOOL001.  
 
The sites have very similar outcomes in the SA/SEA, however there is a local preference for 
WOOL006, and for development along the A4 between the existing edge of the village and the 
petrol station. This has resulted in a change in the orientation of the developable area to that 
proposed at preferred options.  

1.5.1.3 North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Hungerford 
Nine sites were considered as options for development, none of which were predicted to have any 
significant negative environmental effects. Six sites were recommended as preferred options, with 
five of the sites being considered as a single site.  
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out 
regarding the approach to allocations in Hungerford. Hungerford is defined in the Core Strategy as 
a Rural Service Centre, and is also one of only two town centres within the District. Therefore, it is 
considered that as the largest, most sustainable settlement within the AONB, serving a significant 
catchment area, Hungerford should support a higher level of development than other smaller 
settlements in the AONB to help to maintain its vitality and viability.  
 
HUN001 is not recommended for allocation. There are no significant sustainability effects picked 
up by the SA/SEA. There are concerns over access to the site, which is via a narrow road, where 
as both of the preferred options sites are accessed via main roads. The site is located to the west 
of Hungerford adjacent to a protected employment area, and consideration could be given in the 
future to the redevelopment of the area as a single site. While there are no significant sustainability 
effects, the site only has capacity for approximately 30 dwellings, and it is not considered that 
allocation of only 30 dwellings in Hungerford would be in keeping with the role and function of the 
settlement. Allocation of two sites in Hungerford was also not considered appropriate due to the 
cap the Core Strategy put on development in the AONB (up to 2,000 dwellings).  
 
HUN022 and HUN028 are not recommended for allocation. While the SA/SEA does not pick up 
any significant sustainability issues the sites are considered to be less well related to the existing 
settlement than either of the preferred options, and there are concerns over access without other 
sites to the west of Hungerford being developed. The proposed access points to the sites are 
located outside the area considered suitable for development; therefore, access to the sites could 
only be delivered in conjunction with other sites.   
 
Two options were included as preferred options, and as the SA/SEA did not indicate significant 
differences in terms of sustainability the consultation was used to get an indication of which would 
be preferable in terms of local impacts. A reassessment of the sites following the consultation has 
resulted in HUN007 being recommended for allocation rather than the Eddington group of sites 
(HUN003, HUN005, HUN006, HUN015, HUN020).  
 
The main concern raised regarding development in Hungerford is in relation to traffic generation 
through the High Street. Transport Assessment (TA) work carried out indicates that HUN007 will 
have less of an impact as it is close to local education facilities. The Eddington sites are close to a 
SSSI and SAC, and therefore, the SA/SEA does indicate that there will be potential negative 

11 
 

Page 265



impacts on these protected areas without adequate mitigation. This is not an issue faced by 
HUN007. Additional landscape work has also suggested that the Eddington sites should not be 
delivered as a whole, which has resulted in uncertainty as to whether the site can or should be 
delivered holistically, which could result in piecemeal development in the area. Therefore, HUN007 
is recommended for allocation.  
 
Lambourn 
Five sites were considered as options for development, with one new site submitted as part of the 
Preferred Options consultation. This new site was also considered to be an option for 
development.  
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out 
regarding the approach to allocations in Lambourn. Lambourn is defined in the Core Strategy as a 
Rural Service Centre, and is also one of three district centres within the District, therefore, it is 
considered acceptable that a degree of development is allocated to help sustain the role and 
function of Lambourn.  
 
Two sites were considered as preferred options, LAM005 and LAM007. Following the Preferred 
Options consultation it became clear that LAM007 was currently in use associated with the 
racehorse industry, and that its allocation would therefore be contrary to policy CS12 of the Core 
Strategy. This is not a factor picked up by the SA/SEA process, but the site assessments as a 
whole. In addition, the overall conclusions of the LSA recommended that the larger sites within 
Lambourn, LAM007 and LAM005, are either only developed in part concurrently, or either one or 
the other selected, to continue the pattern of sequential small developments in the village. 
At the Proposed Submission consultation stage the site promoter provided additional evidence to 
show that there may still be the potential for the site to be taken forward in the future.  Therefore 
although the Council has concerns about the immediate deliverability of the site as part of the HSA 
DPD, it is proposed to consider the site further as part of the new Local Plan. It is not considered 
appropriate to allocate both sites due to the cap the Core Strategy puts on development in the 
AONB (up to 2,000 dwellings).  
 
LAM002A is also  potentially currently in use as part of the racehorse industry,  and therefore, this 
along with a concern regarding the relationship of the proposals with the existing settlement pattern 
the site was not recommended for allocation.  
 
The topography of LAM009 raises concerns over the ability to achieve suitable access, and the 
site is considered to be poorly related to the existing settlement, therefore it was not recommended 
for allocation.  
 
LAM013 is located within a groundwater emergence zone, surface water flood risk area and critical 
drainage area, with a history of flooding in both the 2007 and 2014 floods. Due to the concern over 
the flood risk on the site it was considered that there are more appropriate sites within the village 
and therefore the site is not recommended for allocation.  
 
Two sites in Lambourn are recommended for allocation. LAM005 is well related to the existing 
settlement and close to the centre of the village. Development will not take place within the flood 
zones and a significant buffer will be provided to the SSSI/SAC to ensure no negative sustainability 
impacts.  
 
Development on the south western part of LAM015 (new site submission) could be developed 
without resulting in harm to the AONB. The site can deliver a low density linear development, 
reflecting the existing settlement pattern.  
 
Pangbourne 
Two sites were considered as options for development, with both being included as preferred 
options (PAN001 and PAN002). Much of Pangbourne is at risk from flooding which significantly 

12 
 

Page 266



limits where development could reasonably take place. Neither of the preferred options sites is at 
risk from flooding.  
 
Neither preferred options sites were shown to have any significant sustainability impacts. There are 
potential access concerns relating to both sites, however, significant concerns were raised through 
the preferred options consultation in relation to PAN001, in terms of the suitability of the local roads 
for additional traffic. No options are available to improve access arrangements to the site, and 
therefore, the site is no longer recommended for allocation.  
 
Highways concerns relating to PAN002 have been tested through a planning application and no 
concerns have been raised. The site was proposed for allocation in the Proposed Submission 
Housing Site Allocations DPD, and planning permission was granted in February 2016.   
 
Bradfield Southend 
Three sites were considered as options for development, with an additional site that was submitted 
as part of the Preferred Options consultation also being considered as an option for development. 
 
One site (BRS004) was included as a preferred option and is now recommended for allocation. 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, and is only suitable for a small number of 
dwellings, that would be in keeping with the size and function of the village. The SA/SEA did not 
highlight any significant negative impacts.   
 
Of the rejected sites the Landscape Assessment indicated that development of both BRS003 and 
BRS004 would impact negatively on environmental sustainability and the character of the AONB, 
and stated that development of BRS003 without BRS004 would result in a poorly related 
development, therefore BRS003 is not recommended for development.  BRS003 is also at risk 
from surface water flooding, with some evidence of flooding in 2014.  
 
The Landscape Assessment indicated that development of BRS005 would result in harm to the 
AONB, and therefore, the site is not recommended for development.  
 
While some development on BRS006 (site submitted at Preferred Options) is considered 
acceptable in landscape terms, a limited amount of development is considered appropriate for the 
village, and BRS004 is considered to be a more suitable site as it is better related to the existing 
residential development in the village. Therefore BRS006 is not recommended for allocation. 
 
Chieveley 
Three sites were considered as options for development. Of these three sites (CHI010), one was 
consulted on as a Preferred Option.  
 
Following the consultation the development potential on the three sites was reassessed, and on all 
occasions reduced to less than 5 dwellings, meaning that the sites were automatically excluded 
from the site selection process, but also removing one of the negative SA/SEA impacts (impact on 
the character of the area). As a result, the sites have been considered as part of the settlement 
boundary review process. The sites meeting the review criteria and therefore, have been included 
within the revised settlement boundary.  
 
No sites will be allocated for development in Chieveley.  
 
Compton 
Five sites were originally considered as options for development. Three sites were submitted 
through the Proposed Submission consultation. Two of the original sites were  ruled out following 
additional landscape work indicating development would cause harm to the AONB (COM011/ 
COM012), The three newly submitted sites (COM013, COM014, COM015) have been assessed 
and automatically excluded due to the scale of the proposed site in relation to the role and function 
of the settlement.  
 

13 
 

Page 267



COM004 was included as the preferred option and is recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA 
predicts that development of the site will have a predominantly positive effect on sustainability, 
whereas the other sites will have a predominantly neutral effect.  
 
Development of COM004 would result in the redevelopment of a large brownfield site, which is well 
related to the existing settlement. There are a number of benefits of redevelopment of the site, 
including providing areas of green infrastructure, improvements to the character of the AONB, and 
cleaning up of contamination on the site as a result of the previous land use. The site is identified 
as an opportunity site within the Core Strategy, and has an adopted SPD.  
 
While neither of the other sites (COM001 and COM010) have any significant negative impacts 
highlighted in the SA/SEA, the overall positive sustainability impact and positive benefits of 
redevelopment COM004 has resulted in it being recommended over the other sites in Compton. 
 
Great Shefford 
Great Shefford is subject to a significant level of flood risk, with ground, surface and fluvial flood 
risk areas. As a result of significant flooding in 2014 (and previously) no development is proposed 
for the village.  
 
GSH001 was considered as an option for development, and while the SA/SEA does not highlight 
any significant sustainability issues on the site itself, it is not recommended for allocation due to the 
significant flood risk in the village, which can result in the village being cut off from the surrounding 
area during times of flooding.  
 
Hermitage 
Five sites were considered as options for development. One site was included as a preferred 
option, and is now recommended for allocation (HER001). Part of a second site (HER004) was 
proposed to be included within the settlement boundary, but has been reassessed as being more 
suitable as an allocation due to the development potential on the site.  
 
HER011 and HER016 are not recommended for allocation. Development of these sites would 
extend the village to the north of Manor Lane. It is considered that such expansion would not be 
appropriate and would be poorly related to the existing settlement pattern.  
 
HER009 is not recommended for allocation. The site is prominent in location, but largely screened 
from the AONB. The landscape assessment indicates that part of the site would be suitable for 
development subject to certain mitigation measures. However, it is considered that other sites in 
Hermitage are more appropriate for development.  
 
HER001 and part of HER004 are recommended for development. The sites are well related to the 
existing settlement and development would result in little harm to the AONB, subject to mitigation 
measures. Parts of the sites are at risk from flooding, but Flood Risk Assessments would set out 
appropriate mitigation to minimise this impact.  
 
Kintbury 
Eight sites were considered as options for development. Two adjacent sites were included as a 
preferred option, and are now recommended for allocation (KIN006/007). 
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out 
regarding the approach to allocations in Kintbury. The Council has reviewed the proposed 
allocation for Kintbury and considers that it is a justified local choice.  
 
KIN004 is not recommended for allocation. Development of the site is likely to have a negative 
impact on the impact of the character of the area, and impact on the conservation area. 
 
KIN008, KIN009, KIN015 and KIN016 are not recommended for allocation. They are poorly 
related to the existing residential development, additional sites would need to be developed to 

14 
 

Page 268



improve this relationship and provide access to the sites. Development would result in a negative 
impact on the character of the area, with a possible negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. Development of additional sites to link the sites to the existing settlement would not 
be in keeping with the role and function of Kintbury as a service village.  
 
KIN006/007 are recommended for allocation as a single combined site. The sites are well related 
to the existing settlement and close to local services and facilities, and can deliver housing without 
causing harm to the AONB.   
 
KIN011 was not included as a preferred option primarily because of highways concerns. Sight lines 
are poor at the Inkpen Road/The Haven junction and the Inkpen Road/High Street junction. 
However, further technical work has been undertaken since the preferred options, which show that 
acceptable visibility splays at the Inkpen Road/The Haven junction can be achieved, therefore, 
resolving the issue. Although the main technical reasons for not proposing the site at the preferred 
options stage have been overcome, Council Members have responded to the concerns expressed 
locally over the cumulative impacts of additional development in Kintbury and the surrounding 
area. As KIN006/007 was previously consulted upon as a preferred option, they consider that the 
public have been give more opportunity to comment on this as an option for future development, 
and therefore, have requested that KIN011 is deferred until an informed assessment can be made 
of the cumulative impact of traffic generated from additional development in the area. It is proposed 
that the site should be considered further through the preparation of the new Local Plan.  

1.5.2 Sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
Six sites were considered as options for development. Two sites are recommended for allocation, 
one for Gypsies and Travellers (GTTS5) and one for Travelling Showpeople (GTTS2). A further 
site (GTTS6) is recommended as an area of search.  
 
GTTS2 is recommended for allocation for Travelling Showpeople. This is an established existing 
yard, with good access to services and facilities. Effective landscaping will be required to ensure 
the impact of any development on the wider landscape is minimised. There is also a risk of flooding 
on the site, but the developable area is outside this zone, therefore, the impact is minimised.  
 
GTTS3 and GTTS7 are not recommended for allocation. Both sites are adjacent to existing 
settlements, and the SA/SEA highlights a potential negative impact on the character of the built 
environment, although mitigation measures could be put in place to minimise the impact. Due to 
concerns regarding the impact on the existing settled community these sites are not recommended 
for allocation. GTTS7 has subsequently been taken forward as a housing site allocation.  
 
GTTS9 is not recommended for allocation. It was consulted upon as preferred option site, 
however, following the Preferred Options consultation certainty of site delivery could not be 
ascertained.  
 
GTTS5 is recommended for allocation for Gypsies and Travellers. The site is an existing Gypsy 
and Traveller site and while allocation of the site would result in changing existing transit pitches to 
permanent pitches, the principle of Gypsies and Travellers on the site is established. The Gypsy 
and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) concluded that there is no demand for 
additional transit pitches.  
 
GTTS6 was recommended as an area for search in the submission version of the HSA DPD. 
However, following a change in the definition of Gypsies and Travellers there is no evidence of 
need for this additional area of search and therefore, the Council proposed, at the examination 
hearing sessions, to remove the site from the DPD. is recommended for allocation as an area of 
search. GTTS6B, identified as a preferred option, forms part of wider Council landholding. 
Comments and concerns raised through the preferred options has resulted in the wider Clappers 
Farm landholding being considered as an area of search from within which a site for up to 9 
pitches to accommodate Gypsies and Travellers will be delivered. While the site is rural in location, 
it is close to some local services and facilities.  

15 
 

Page 269



 

1.5.3 Policies 
Countryside Policies 
The majority of effects resulting from the policies are very positive, positive or neutral. Both Policy 
1 (Location of New Housing in the Countryside) and Policy 2 (Rural Housing Exceptions) are 
predicted to have a positive impact on the opportunity to provide sustainable housing to meet local 
needs. Both policies may have a negative environmental impact as a result of higher greenhouse 
gases and air pollution which stem from the need for greater car use in rural areas.  
 
Policy 2 is showing to have a significantly positive impact on maximising the provision of 
affordable housing. Policy 2 could result in some negative impacts in terms of sustainable transport 
options as rural exceptions sites can be located in areas where there are few facilities and poor 
transport facilities.  There is a risk with policy 2 that environmental sustainability could be 
overridden by greater benefits to social or economic sustainability, although the policy does require 
that sites under consideration by the policy would need to review whether there are any more 
suitable alternatives available locally.  
 
Policy 3 is predicted to have positive impacts in relation to the protection and enhancement of the 
built and natural environment. All other impacts are likely to be neutral.  
 
Policy 4 is likely to have a significantly positive impact on maximising the use of previously 
developed land and buildings, along with positive impacts in relation to waste disposal and the 
reuse of mineral and materials, which will all in turn help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
through the promotion of reuse of existing resources.  
 
At preferred options four policies were consulted upon dealing with different elements of housing 
for the rural economy. As a result of the consultation, and to bring the policy more in line with the 
NPPF, the individual policies have been replaced by a single policy for housing relating to rural 
workers (Policy 5). The policy will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability, 
although there is potential for a negative environmental sustainability due to the loss of a green 
field site. It is proposed to clarify within the policy that it does not relate to existing schools, 
colleges and institutions within the rural areas, but this does not affect the sustainability 
assessment of the policy.  
 
Policies 6, 7 and 8 are likely to have a number of positive impacts, especially in relation to the 
improvements to the quality of housing and the reuse of previously developed land. There is a 
potential negative impact in relation to the impact on the character of the countryside and potential 
impacts on biodiversity, where existing habitat is to be lost through the replacement of a dwelling. 
The potential negative impacts can be mitigated through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Changes have been made to the wording of most of the policies since the Preferred Options 
consultation, but this has not changed to SA/SEA outcome, as the principle of the policy has 
remained the same.  
 
Residential Parking Policy 
A new residential parking policy is proposed through the Housing Site Allocation DPD. The new 
policy takes into account the parking guidance set in the NPPF (paragraph 39). Two policy options 
were assessed, with the option to use a location/dwellings size policy being favoured. The actual 
parking policy has not been subject to a separate SA/SEA as the level of detail provided in the 
policy is far greater than would be picked up in the SA tables, and the assessment of the options is 
considered to be representative of the final policy. 
 
The policy will have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, however, there are positive 
impacts in relation to supporting and encouraging healthy, active lifestyles and improving and 
promoting opportunities for sustainable travel and reducing green house gas emissions. There are 
no negative impacts from the proposed policy.  

16 
 

Page 270



 
Following the Preferred Options consultation changes were made to the parking zones and levels 
of parking expected, taking into account new and updated evidence.  
 
Sandleford Park  
New evidence has come forward regarding infrastructure at Sandleford Park, and as a result the 
Supplementary Planning Document supporting the Core Strategy policy has been updated. At the 
Preferred Options stage it was anticipated that the existing Core Strategy policy would be updated 
to take into account this new evidence and to require a single Masterplan to ensure that the site 
came forward in a comprehensive manner. However, in light of the expected timing of the planning 
application for the site, there was a necessity to provide this guidance more speedily.  
 
Following legal advice, it was decided to update the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for 
the site, rather than amend the policy through the DPD process. Consultation on the updated SPD 
took place from 12th December 2014 to 30th January 2015. The updated SPD was adopted by the 
Council on 3rd March 2015. The original SPD was subject to screening to determine whether an SA 
was required. This was revised in light of the amendments to the SPD and the amendments were 
not considered to change the outcome of the screening opinion. The SPD to guide development of 
the site was adopted on 3rd March 2015 and has weight as a material consideration in the planning 
process. 
 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD will not contain a specific policy on Sandleford Park. 

1.6 Conclusion 
As a result of the SA work undertaken during the development of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
and following the Preferred Options and Proposed Submission consultations, the most sustainable 
options were taken forward into the Proposed Submission version of the DPD.  
 
The Preferred Options DPD represented the best available options at that stage and were 
considered to achieve the sustainability objectives of the Housing Site Allocations DPD. The 
approach taken in the Proposed Submission Housing Site Allocations DPD is considered to 
represent the most suitable site from the options assessed in order to achieve the sustainability 
objectives of the DPD, and no significant changes have been made as a result of the consultation 
that would require re-assessment. A number of Main Modifications are proposed to the DPD as a 
result of discussions at the examination hearing sessions and the Council’s additional work.  These 
have been reviewed and the SA/SEA updated where required. The Main Modifications are not 
considered to impact on the overall sustainability of the DPD.   
 
If the DPD is successfully implemented and the negative effects identified are successfully 
mitigated where appropriate, then future development in West Berkshire will result in positive 
sustainability impacts and sustainable development. This SA Report recommends that the sites 
and policies are accepted as set out in the Proposed Submission document (as submitted and with 
proposed Main Modifications).  
 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD sits under the Core Strategy, to deliver the housing 
requirement, with additional flexibility, as required by the Core Strategy. The Core Strategy and 
Housing Site Allocations DPD achieve a balance between making provision for development to 
meet local needs, taking into account infrastructure requirements and the extensive environmental 
constraints of the area, and displaying flexibility to response to changing circumstances across the 
time frame of the Core Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

17 
 

Page 271



2 Introduction 
 
West Berkshire Council has prepared a Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD).  
 
This report constitutes the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the Submission version of the Housing 
Site Allocations DPD.  
 
The main aim of the Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) is to promote sustainable development through the 
integration of social, environmental and economic considerations into the preparation of new or revised Development Plan Documents (DPD). This 
document incorporates the requirements of a SEA for the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) as required by the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the European Directive on SEA (2001).  
 
This report should be read in conjunction with the full SA / SEA Environmental Report for the Adopted Core Strategy. 

2.1 The Development Plan for West Berkshire 
 
The Council’s adopted Core Strategy (July 2012) forms part of the Local Plan for the District. The Core Strategy sets out the overall planning strategy 
for the District, explaining the vision for the area and how it will be delivered.  
 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD will identify specific sites for housing and Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites, as well as set out a 
limited number of development management policies to enable development to be managed within the context of the spatial strategy set out in the 
Core Strategy DPD.  
 
It was originally intended that a Site Allocations and Delivery DPD would be produced; however the change in approach from a Site Allocations and 
Delivery DPD to a Housing Site Allocations DPD was taken in order to prioritise and encourage housing delivery in the District in accordance with 
Government policy. There is also a pressing requirement to address through the plan led system the need for Traveller sites, and the need for a 
priority review of several housing development management policies.  
 
The West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991 – 2006 was adopted in June 2002, and in 2007 a number of the policies were extended, producing a 
Saved Policies version of the Local Plan. Any policies not saved are either no longer required or are covered by national or local policies. The 
adopted Core Strategy replaced a number of policies within the West Berkshire District Local Plan, and the Housing Site Allocations DPD will replace 
other policies, once adopted.  
 
After 2016, another Local Plan will be prepared which is intended to replace the current folder of documents (the Core Strategy DPD, Housing Site 
Allocations DPD, and the saved policies of the West Berkshire District Local Plan) with a comprehensive Local Plan which is anticipated for adoption 
in September 2019.   

18 
 

P
age 272



 
In July 2014 the Council published its preferred options Housing Site Allocations DPD. The main aim of the Preferred Options Stage was for the 
Council to explain to the community and partner organisations what the Council’s preferred approach was and to enable comments to be made so 
that these could inform the Proposed Submission and Submission Housing Site Allocations DPD. While the preferred options was a voluntary stage, it 
was seen as being important to give people early input into the plan making process, and concurred with the principles of the planning system which 
are based around the front-loading of evidence and continuous public participation in order to achieve a sound plan.  
 
The preparation of the Housing Site Allocations DPD has taken into account comments made through two stages of consultation, Preferred Options in 
Summer 2014, and Proposed Submission Winter 2015 as well as the evidence base. No significant changes, requiring reassessment, were made 
have been made following the Proposed Submission consultation.  
 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD underwent the hearing stage of its Examination in Public in June and July 2016. As part of the examination 
process, the independently appointed Planning Inspector is able to recommend ‘Main Modifications’ (changes that materially affect the policies) to 
make the Housing Site Allocations DPD ‘sound’ and/or ‘legally compliant’, but only if asked by the local planning authority. West Berkshire Council 
can also put forward minor changes of its own to improve the plan, but they can only deal with minor matters not relate to soundness or legal 
compliance.  
 
Depending upon the scope and extent of the Main Modifications, further SA/SEA work may be required, therefore this update to the SA/SEA report 
includes a review of the proposed Main Modifications as they address issues of soundness. Whilst the proposed minor changes do not affect the 
soundness of the DPD, they are also considered in the context of this report for completeness.  
 
There will be a period of consultation on the proposed Main Modifications/minor changes as well as the update to the SA/SEA report between 12 
December 2016 and 30 January 2017. 
 

3 The Appraisal Methodology 

3.1 What is the SA/SEA? Why does it need to be done? 
The purpose of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is to ensure that sustainability issues are considered during the preparation of plans. The SA is an 
iterative process which identifies the likely effects of options and subsequently the effect of the Housing Site Allocations DPD, and the extent to which 
these options and the DPD help to achieve economic, environmental, and social objectives.  
 
The SA must also incorporate the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC on the ‘assessment of the effects of certain plans and 
programmes on the environment’1. This is commonly referred to as the Strategic Environmental Assessment or ‘SEA’ Directive. This was transposed 

1 European Parliament. (2001) “The Assessment of the Effects of Certain Plans and Programmes on the Environment”, Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament, Luxembourg, 2001 
http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/environment/general_provisions/l28036_en.htm   

19 
 

                                                 

P
age 273

http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/environment/general_provisions/l28036_en.htm


into UK law by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, (the SEA Regulations). Under these requirements, plans 
that set out the framework for future development consent of projects must be subject to an environmental assessment to determine if the plan, the 
DPD, will have any significant effects on the environment. This context is reiterated in paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF)2  
 

“A sustainability appraisal which meets the requirements of the European Directive on strategic environmental assessment should be an 
integral part of the plan preparation process, and should consider all the likely significant effects on the environment, economic and social 
factors”. 
 

Further to the NPPF, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 20043 requires an SA and SEA to be carried out for DPDs. Both of these 
requirements can be carried out in one appraisal process. In order to avoid any confusion, the reference to SA throughout this document will refer to 
both the SA and the SEA.  

3.2 Stages to the SA / SEA 
The SA is made up of a series of stages (A to E) which are detailed in the Table below.  
 

Table 1 SA/SEA Stages 
Stage A Setting the context and objectives, establishing the baseline and deciding the scope 
Stage B Developing and refining the options 
Stage C Appraising the effects of the plan 
Stage D Consultation 
Stage E Monitoring the significant effects of implementing the plan 

 
This report accompanies the Submission version of the Housing Site Allocations DPD. This SA report builds on the Scoping Report and the Core 
Strategy SA/SEA Environmental Report. The SA Report contains the following: 

 
• An outline of the contents, the methodology and description of the SA/SEA process and the specific SA/SEA tasks undertaken 
• A review of other plans and programmes and their relationship to the West Berkshire Core Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD 

(Appendix 1) 
• A description of the environmental and sustainability context (known as the baseline information) (Appendix 2) 
• A summary of key sustainability issues 
• The SA/SEA Framework which sets out the SA/SEA objectives for Assessing the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
• A review of the options considered and the preferred options selected 
• A review of the Preferred Options consultation and the proposed allocations and policies 

2 National Planning Policy Framework: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf   
3 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents  

20 
 

                                                 

P
age 274

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents


• A review of the Proposed Submission consultation and the proposed allocations and policies 
• A review of the Main Modifications and minor changes proposed following the examination hearing sessions  

 
This SA report has been produced alongside the Housing Site Allocations DPD. 

3.3 Consultation  
Public involvement through consultation is a key element of the sustainability appraisal. During the development of the SA there are several formal 
stages of consultation. Informal comments received can also be taken into consideration.  
 
Consultation on the SA Scoping report took place in September 2013 and July 2014 for five weeks. A summary of the comments made during the 
consultation are set out in appendix 5. 
 
Following the Regulation 18 consultation on the change to approach to produce a Housing Site Allocations DPD, rather than a Site Allocation and 
Delivery DPD, the Scoping Report was updated and the three statutory consultees given a further opportunity to comment. This consultation took 
place in July 2014.  
 
A Preferred Options version of the Housing Site Allocations DPD was subject to a seven week consultation between 25 July and the 12 September 
2014. A version of the SA/SEA was published alongside the Preferred Options DPD. Results from the consultation are published in the Statement of 
Consultation, and a summary of the key issues raised and how these have been taken into account in the production of the final SA/SEA are set out 
in section 6 – Appraisal. 
 
A Proposed Submission version of the Housing Site Allocations DPD was subject to a six week consultation between 9th November and 24th 
December 2015. A version of the SA/SEA was published alongside the Proposed Submission DPD. Results from the consultation are published in the 
Statement of Consultation, and a summary of the key issues raised and how these have been taken into account in the production of the final DPD 
are set out in appendices FF to NN.   
 
Following the examination hearing sessions a number of Main Modifications have been proposed to the DPD. Consultation on the proposed Main 
Modifications will take place between 12 December 2016 and 30 January 2017.  

3.4 Difficulties encountered in compiling information or carrying out the assessment 
The collection of the baseline information identified issues relating to accuracy of data, format of data and whether the research was up to date. This 
can cause limitations with the identification of issues (in the scoping stage) and the monitoring of SA objectives. Where there are gaps in the baseline 
data this has been identified and therefore poses a degree of difficulty in forecasting effects.  
 
The appraisal of policies is not always a straightforward process, particularly with it being an iterative process, and therefore there will be some 
degree of uncertainty in the predicted outcomes.  Uncertainties can arise from scientific uncertainties, natural variability and lack of precision. A 

21 
 

P
age 275



number of policy options were difficult to assess against the SA objectives and sub-objectives.  This is particularly the case with topic specific policy 
options which may only have a significant impact on a small number of SA sub-objectives. 
 
Where there is uncertainty this can be reduced through research and professional judgement, although there will still remain an element of 
uncertainty. Where necessary a precautionary approach has been taken in the SA. This is to make sure that where there are threats to the 
environment and a lack of scientific knowledge, action is taken. 

4 Background to the SA Report 

4.1 Requirement for the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) to be 
carried out for Development Plan Documents (DPDs).  The SA and the SEA requirements can be carried out in one appraisal process. Throughout 
this document, reference to the SA refers to both the SA and the SEA process4.  
 
Under the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) England (Amendment) Regulations 2012 there is no formal requirement for a Preferred 
Options stage and the SA is now only required under Section 20 to be published for consultation when the proposed submission document is 
published for consultation (current consultation stage). There is therefore no formal requirement for an SA report to be published with a preferred 
options style consultation document. The Council however, saw a preferred options style consultation as allowing members of the public early 
involvement in the development of the options for development. As the SA/SEA had formed an important part of the site selection process, an 
SA/SEA report was published alongside the preferred options consultation.  

4.2 Stages of the SA 
The sustainability appraisal is made up of a series of stages (stages A to E) see table 1 below. 
 

Table 2 – Summary of the SA/SEA Stages 
Stage A Setting the context and objectives, establishing the baseline and deciding the scope 
Stage B Developing and refining the options 
Stage C Appraising the effects of the plan 
Stage D Consultation 
Stage E Monitoring the significant effects of implementing the plan 

 
The first stage (Stage A) is the production of the Scoping Report. This is where the scope and overall level of detail of the SA is set out. The Scoping 
Report was published in September 2013 and revised in July 2014, and went out to consultation to the statutory environmental bodies for 5 weeks. 

4 European Parliament. (2001) “The Assessment of the Effects of Certain Plans and Programmes on the Environment”, Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament, Luxembourg, 2001 
http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/environment/general_provisions/l28036_en.htm  

22 
 

                                                 

P
age 276

http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/environment/general_provisions/l28036_en.htm


Consultation responses received as part of the Scoping Report consultation have been taken into account in the production of a revised Scoping 
Report.   
 
The scoping report sets out the sustainability objectives and Core Strategy objectives (which are also being used for the Housing Site Allocations 
DPD) and these are then used to assess the preferred options of the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
The SA objectives have been carried forward from the Core Strategy SA Environmental report as the DPD will sit under the Core Strategy. Some 
tweaks have been made to ensure that the objectives are in line with the updated background information and with the aims of the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD. Stage A has been completed.  
 
The next stage is Stage B. This is the stage where options are developed and refined and the effects of the options are assessed. This stage is an 
iterative process where the options are tested against the SA objectives to predict and evaluate the effects of options in the DPD. Mitigation measures 
are identified where necessary and recommendations to changes of the options are made and the revised options reassessed where necessary. 
Stage B has been completed for the Preferred Options and Proposed Submission versions of the DPD.  
 
The findings of Stage B have been pulled together to produce this SA report, which is known as Stage C.  
 
Following the preferred options consultation, changes have been made and the options reassessed or updated where appropriate. The SA report was 
updated for the Proposed Submission consultation of the DPD, known as Stage D. No significant changes are were proposed as a result of the 
proposed submission consultation, therefore, there is was no need for reassessment. Following the examination hearing sessions a number of Main 
Modifications have been proposed to the DPD. These have been reviewed (please see Appendix 14) and the SA/SEA updated where required. 
Consultation on the proposed Main Modifications will take place between 12 December 2016 and 30 January 2017.  
 

Table 3 - Stages of the SA Report (based on the Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Directive5 
DPD stage SA/SEA Stage 
Pre-production 
 
 
COMPLETE 

A Setting the context and objectives, establishing the baseline and deciding on the 
scope. 

A1 Identify other relevant policies, plans and programmes, and sustainability objectives. 
A2 Collect baseline information. 
A3 Identify sustainability issues and problems. 
A4 Develop the SA framework. 
A5 Consult on the scope of the SA. 

Production and B Developing and refining options and assessing effects. 

5 A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive: Practical guidance on applying European Directive 2001/42/EC “on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes 
on the environment”, (ODPM) September 2005 

23 
 

                                                 

P
age 277



Table 3 - Stages of the SA Report (based on the Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Directive5 
DPD stage SA/SEA Stage 
Publication 
 
 
COMPLETE  

B1 Test the DPD objectives against the SA framework. 
B2 Develop the DPD options. 
B3 Predict the effects of the DPD. 
B4 Evaluate the effects of the DPD. 
B5 Consider mitigation measures and ways to maximise beneficial effects. 
B6 Propose measures to monitor the significant effects of implementing the DPD. 
C Preparing the SA Report 
C1 Prepare the SA Report. 

 D Consulting on the draft DPD and SA Report. 
COMPLETE D1 Public participation on the draft DPD and the SA Report. 
 D2 (i) Appraise significant changes. 
Submission and 
Examination  
 
IN PROGRESS 

D2 
(ii) 

Appraise significant changes resulting from representations. 

Adoption and Monitoring D3 Make decisions and provide information. 
E Monitoring the significant effects of implementing the DPD. 
E1 Finalise aims and methods for monitoring. 
E2 Respond to adverse effects. 

4.3 Compliance with the SEA Directive / Regulations 
The requirement to carry out a SA also incorporates the provision of the European Directive 2001/42/EC to include a SEA. The distinction between 
the two is that the SEA primarily focuses on environmental effects, whereas the SA expands this remit to incorporate economic and social 
sustainability. In line with the requirements of the European Directive, the SA report seeks to identify only the likely significant effects of the DPD.  
 
The table below shows the locations in this Report which meet the Directive (referring in particular to Annex I which specifies the information required 
by Article 5(1)). 
 

Table 4 Requirement of the SEA Directive 
Directive requirement  SECTION OF 

REPORT  
(a) An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or programme and relationship with other relevant plans and 

programmes; 
2, 5, Appendix 1 

24 
 

P
age 278



Table 4 Requirement of the SEA Directive 
Directive requirement  SECTION OF 

REPORT  
(b) The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely evolution thereof without implementation of 

the plan or programme; 
5,  Appendix 2, 
Appendix 9 

(c) The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected;  5,  Appendix 2, 
Appendix 9 

(d) Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan or programme including, in particular, those 
relating to any areas of a particular environmental importance, such as areas designated pursuant to Directives 
79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC; 

6, 7 Appendix 2 

(e) The environmental protection objectives, established at International, Community or Member State level, which are 
relevant to the plan or programme and the way those objectives and any environmental considerations have been 
taken into account during its preparation; 

6, 7, Appendix 1, 
Appendix 9 

(f) The likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human health, 
fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 
archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors6.    

6, 7,  Appendix 9 

(g) The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects on the 
environment of implementing the plan or programme; 

3, 6, 7, Appendix 9 

(h) An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a description of how the assessment was 
undertaken including any difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling 
the required information;  

6, 7, Appendix 9 

(i) A description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring in accordance with Article 10; 9, Appendix 9.  
(j) A non-technical summary of the information provided under the above headings;  1 

5 Sustainability Objectives, Baseline and Context 

5.1 Link to other policies, plans and programmes 
The Council must take account of relationships between the West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations DPD and other relevant policies, plans, 
programmes and sustainability objectives. This is in addition to the need to take into account environmental protection objectives established at 
international, European Community and national levels. All of these may influence the options to be considered in the preparation of the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD. By reviewing these, relationship inconsistencies and constraints can be addressed and potential synergies can be exploited.   
 
This list of relevant policy guidance, plans and strategies has been updated from the Core Strategy SA to take into account any changes that have 
taken place. The key emerging objectives, targets and issues which have been considered for the SA objectives are summarised in Appendix 1. 

6 These effects should include secondary, cumulative, synergistic, short, medium, and long-term permanent and temporary, positive and negative effects 
25 

 

                                                 

P
age 279



 
Screening exercises were undertaken as part of the Habitats Regulations Assessment. Article 6 (3) and (4) of the Directive 92/43/EEC on the 
Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora require an Appropriate Assessment of Development Plans and relates to European 
sites of nature conservation interest, including Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs). 

5.2 Key environmental, social and economic issues and opportunities  
The key environmental, social and economic issues for West Berkshire have been identified through a review of the baseline data collected 
(Appendix 2), the background information and the evidence base for the Core Strategy and the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
These are largely the same as for the Core Strategy, but due to the nature of the Housing Site Allocations DPD some are less relevant than those for 
the Core Strategy.  
 

Table 5 Key Sustainability Issues 
Sustainability Element Local Impact 
Social Ageing population and impact on health care facilities 

Availability of affordable housing 
Access to essential facilities 

Environmental Protecting the historic environment and the heritage assets therein 
Protecting the historical / archaeological, landscape and townscape character of the district 
Impact of nuclear installations within the district 
Reduction in carbon emissions 
Air Quality 
Minimisation of waste production and increase in recycling 
Impact of climate change 
Water supply and sewerage, usage and quality 
Flooding 

Material Assets Unemployment as a result of the recession 
Waste minimisation and recycling 
Use of renewable energy 
Congestion and reliance on the car 

5.3 Developing the SA Framework 
Developing an SA framework provides a way in which sustainability effects can be described, analysed and compared and forms a central part of the 
SA process.  
 

26 
 

P
age 280



A set of sustainability objectives and their indicators, which may be in the form of targets and are a way in which the achievement of the objectives 
can be measured, make up the SA framework. These objectives and indicators can also be used to monitor the implementation of the DPD.  
 
The objectives were developed for the Core Strategy SA/SEA, having reviewed relevant plans, programmes and policies, the baseline information 
and previous consultation on the SA. The objectives were updated to reflect changes to the background information and the consultation on the 
Scoping Report. Due to the scope of the Housing Site Allocations DPD, some of the objectives have been deleted because they either have no 
relevance or are covered off by the Core Strategy DPD. This is outlined in the Scoping Report (July 2014) and subsequent chapters of this report. 
 
Table 6 below shows the framework for the SA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD. There is reference in the table to the SEA topics to show how the 
SA objectives have complied with the SEA Directive. 
 

Table 6 Proposed framework for the SA/SEA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
SA Objective SA Sub-Objective Suggested Indicators SEA topic 

1. To secure provision of 
sufficient good quality housing to 
meet objectively assessed needs 

1.1 Will it maximise the provision 
of affordable housing to meet 
identified need? 

• No. of housing completions 
• No. of Affordable housing completions 
• Households on housing register (WBC Housing 

Operations) 

Population 
 
Human Health 1.2 Will it enable the provision of 

good quality market housing 
required to meet identified need? 

2. To improve health and well 
being and reduce inequalities 

2.1 To support and encourage 
healthy, active lifestyles 

• General health “not good” 
• Years of potential life lost (ONS) 
• No. of people visiting spots/recreation facilities per 

annum 
• No. of people visiting parks and gardens per annum 

Human Health 
 
Population 

2.2 To increase opportunities for 
access to sports facilities  

2.3 To reduce levels and fear of 
crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Fear of crime surveys (WBC) 
• No. of violent crime, robberies, vehicle crimes and 

domestic burglaries per 1000 population 

2.4 To protect and enhance green 
infrastructure across the district 

• Residents perception of quality of open space (PMP 
study) 

• Availability, use and access to green space 
• Percentage of the Rights of Way network in a 

“favourable” condition 

27 
 

P
age 281



Table 6 Proposed framework for the SA/SEA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
SA Objective SA Sub-Objective Suggested Indicators SEA topic 

3. To safeguard and improve 
accessibility to services and 
facilities 

3.1 To improve access to 
education, employment  services 
and facilities 

• Percentage of new residential development within 30 
min public transport (or walk) times of a GP, hospital, 
primary & Secondary school, employment and a major 
retail centre 

• Proportion of 19yr olds with Level 2 qualifications (5 + 
GCSEs A* to C) Population 

3.2 Will it support development of 
access to IT facilities including 
Braodband particularly in rural 
areas?  

• Extend of coverage of Broadband / telecommunications 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for sustainable 
travel 

4.1 To increase travel choices, 
especially opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public 
transport 

• Travel to Work data (Census) 
• Bus passenger numbers (LA subsidised) 
• Percentage of new residential development within 30 

min public transport (or walk) times of a GP, hospital, 
primary & Secondary school, employment and a major 
retail centre 

Human Health 
 
Air 
 
Population 4.2 To reduce the no. of road 

traffic accidents and improve 
safety 

• No deaths and serious injuries (for all ages and 
children) on the District’s roads 

5. To protect and enhance the 
natural environment 

5.1 To conserve and enhance the 
biodiversity and geodiversity 
assets across West Berkshire 

• % SSSI land in favourable condition 
• Loss in ha of SSSIs WHS and ancient woodlands 
• Extent of BAP priority habitats 
• Area of statutory LNRs per number of population (EN) 
• Loss of Geologically/geomorphologically important sites 

(RIGs)  
• Changes in areas and population of biodiversity 

importance, including i) change in priority habitat and 
species (by type) and ii) change in areas designated for 
their intrinsic environmental value 

Biodiversity 
 
Fauna  
 
Flora  
 
Landscape 

5.2 To conserve and enhance the 
local distinctiveness of the 
character of the Landscape 

• Change in Countryside Quality based on the 
Countryside Quality Counts data used to inform 
condition of Countryside Character Areas 

• % building on greenfield land 

28 
 

P
age 282



Table 6 Proposed framework for the SA/SEA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
SA Objective SA Sub-Objective Suggested Indicators SEA topic 

• % land under the new agri-environmental schemes 
• Landscape Assessment (AONB) / Landscape character 

assessment  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural environment 
is conserved and enhanced 

6.1 To conserve and enhance the 
local distinctiveness of the 
character of the built environment 

• No. and % of all designated heritage assets at risk 
• Areas of highly sensitive Historic Landscape 

Characterisation types which have been altered and 
their character eroded 

• No. nationally important archaeological sites identified 
in the planning process and preserved in situ or by 
record 

• No. of applications approved contrary to the advice of 
the Council’s conservation officer 

• % change in visits to historic sites 

Cultural 
heritage (inc. 
architectural 
and 
archaeological) 
 
Material 
Assets 
 
Landscape 

6.2 To conserve and enhance the 
significance of the District’s 
heritage assets 
6.3 To promote, conserve and 
enhance the District’s cultural 
assets 
6.4 Provide for increased access 
to and enjoyment of the historic 
environment 

7. To protect and improve air, 
water and soil quality, and 
minimise noise levels throughout 
West Berkshire 

7.1 To reduce air pollution 
• Level of air pollutants (NO2) 
• Level of traffic flows 
• Proximity to source of poor air quality 

Air 
 
Water 
 
Soil 
 
Human Health 

7.2 To reduce noise levels in 
main settlements 

• No. of noise complaints per annum received by WBC 
• Proximity to source of noise 

7.3 To maintain and improve soil 
quality 

• Loss of high grade agricultural land to development 
• Loss of greenfield land to development 

7.4 To maintain and improve 
water quality 

• Measures of chemical and biological water quality of 
inland watercourses “good” and “fair” (EA) 

• Incidents of major and significant water pollution (EA) 
• No. of planning permissions granted contrary to the 

advice of EA on water quality grounds 
• No. of planning approvals granted contrary to the 

statutory water/sewerage undertakers advice (Thames 
Water Property Services) 

8. To improve the efficiency of 
land use 

8.1 To maximise the use of 
previously developed land and 
buildings where appropriate 

• % new dwellings completed at: i) less than 30dph; ii) 
between 30 and 50dph iii) above 50dph 

• % new and converted dwellings on previously 

Material 
Assets 
 

29 
 

P
age 283



Table 6 Proposed framework for the SA/SEA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
SA Objective SA Sub-Objective Suggested Indicators SEA topic 

developed land Soil 

9. To reduce consumption of 
natural resources and manage 
their use efficiently 

9.1 Will it reduce energy use and 
promote the use of sustainable / 
renewable energy technologies? 

• % new development achieving EcoHomes “Excellent” 
of Code Level 3* standards 

• % commercial buildings meeting BREEAM “very good” 
• Installed capacity for energy production from renewable 

sources 
Material 
Assets 
 
Climate 
Factors 

9.2 Will it promote the adoption of 
sustainable design and 
construction practices? 
9.3 Will it reduce waste 
generation and disposal in line 
with the waste hierarchy and 
reuse of materials? 

• % total tonnage of all types of waste that has been 
recycled, composted or used to recover heat power and 
other sources of energy 

9.4 Will it reduce water 
consumption and promote reuse? 

• % development incorporating water conservation and/or 
water efficiency measures 

• New development with SUDs installed (EA) 
9.5 Will it reduce the consumption 
of minerals and promote reuse of 
secondary materials? 

• % development achieving EcoHomes / BREEAM 
“excellent” of Code level 3* Standards 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate change 
and ensure adaptation measures 
are in place to respond to climate 
change 

10.1 Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

• Level of car use to work 
• % development achieving EcoHomes / BREEAM 

“excellent” of Code level 3* Standards Climate 
Factors 

10.2 Will the policy impact on 
flood risk? 

• No. of planning permissions granted contrary to the 
advice of the EA, Lead Local Flood Authority or other 
relevant bodies on flooding grounds 

11. To ensure a strong, diverse 
and sustainable economic base 
which meets objectively 
assessed economic needs 

11.1 Will it enable the provision of 
high quality economic 
development which responses to 
business needs and delivers a 
range of employment 
opportunities?  

• % people of working age in employment 
• % population claiming Job Seekers Allowance 
• No. and type of non-residential completions 
• % land developed for employment by type which is on 

previously developed land 
• Vacancy rates within existing centres 
• Footfall rates within existing centres 

Population 
11.2 Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and utilise 
employment land effectively and 
efficiently? 
11.3 Will it promote and support 

30 
 

P
age 284



Table 6 Proposed framework for the SA/SEA of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
SA Objective SA Sub-Objective Suggested Indicators SEA topic 

the vitality and viability of the 
District’s commercial centres? 

 
All the objectives have been used for the policies (countryside policies, parking policy). For the housing and Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople sites not all objectives have been used as many of the objectives give exactly the same outcome for all housing sites. As a result the 
following objectives and sub objectives have not been included in the housing site assessments: 
 
Table 7 - SA Objectives not used for Housing and Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Sites 
Objective/Sub Objective Reason for exclusion 
Objection 1 
To secure provision of sufficient good quality 
housing to meet objectively assessed needs 

The allocation of housing sites by definition secures the provision of sufficient good quality 
housing, therefore, all sites would score significantly positive in response to this objective. The 
Housing Site Allocations DPD will meet the remainder of the Core Strategy housing requirement 
and the first part of the Council’s new SHMA figure.  

Sub Objective 2.3 
To reduce levels and fear of crime and anti-social 
behaviour 

The Core Strategy requires all sites to have regard to ‘Secured by design’ principles, therefore, 
the sub objective has no effect.  
 

Sub Objective 3.2 
Will it support development of access to IT 
facilities including broadband particularly in rural 
areas? 

The sub objective will have no effect.  

Objective 9 
9. To reduce consumption of natural resources 
and manage their use efficiently 

It will not be possible to tell if the objectives have been achieved through the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD alone. Assessment will be made through the determination of a planning 
application which will need to have reference to Core Strategy policy CS15 that has specific 
regard to sustainable construction and energy efficiency.  

 
Table 8 confirms that all of the SEA objectives have been considered in the SA/SEA framework.  
 

Table 8 – integrating the SEA objectives 
SEA Directive Issue SA Objective 
Biodiversity 5 
Population 1, 2, 3, 11 
Human Health 1, 2, 4, 7 
Fauna 5 
Flora 5 

31 
 

P
age 285



Table 8 – integrating the SEA objectives 
SEA Directive Issue SA Objective 
Soil 7, 8 
Water 7 
Air 4. 7 
Climatic Factors 9, 10 
Material Assets 6, 8, 9 
Cultural heritage (inc. architectural and archaeological) 6 
Landscape 5, 6 

5.4 Background to Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD will have the same objectives as the Core Strategy at this stage. Two of the Core Strategy objectives are not 
considered relevant to the Housing Site Allocations DPD as they relate to the Economy and Retail, neither of which are to be dealt with by the DPD.  
A review of the compatibility between the SA objectives and the Core Strategy objectives was carried out in the Core Strategy SA scoping report, 
however, as some of the objectives have been tweaked for the Housing Site Allocations DPD, an updated compatibility test has been carried out (see 
table 9 below). Potential tensions identified in the Core Strategy SA scoping report are the same for this scoping report:   
 

• Impacts on the built and natural environment are heavily dependent on the siting and type of development being proposed and their proximity 
to sensitive sites.  

• Like the remainder of the South East, all future development proposals need to minimise energy consumption, ensure new design incorporate 
water conservation measures to mitigate against a potential shortage in water supply and reduce where possible vehicular trips. 

 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD objectives are set out in Table 9 below: 
 

Table 9 – Housing Site Allocations DPD Objectives 
A. Tackling Climate 
Change 

To exceed national targets for carbon dioxide emissions reduction and deliver the District’s growth in a way that helps to 
adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change 

B. Housing Growth To deliver at least 10,500 homes across West Berkshire between 2006 and 2026. These homes will be delivered in an 
effective and timely manner, will maximise the use of suitable Brownfield land and access to facilities and services and will 
be developed at densities within make the most efficient use of land whist responding to the existing build environment.  

C. Housing Needs To secure provision of affordable and market housing to meet local needs in both urban and rural areas of the district. To 
provide homes in a way that promotes sustainable communities, providing a mix of house sizes, types and tenures to meet 
identified needs, and respond to the changing demographic profile of the District. 

E. Infrastructure 
Requirements 

To ensure that infrastructure needs (including community services and facilities) arising from the growth in West Berkshire 
are provided in a timely and coordinated manner, which keeps place with development in accordance with the detail set 
out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

32 
 

P
age 286



Table 9 – Housing Site Allocations DPD Objectives 
F. Green Infrastructure To ensure that West Berkshire contains a strong network of well-connected and multi-functional green infrastructure which 

provides an attractive environment to live, work and spend leisure time, providing benefits for health and opportunities for 
formal and informal recreation.  

G. Transport To put in place a sustainable transport network which supports the growth in West Berkshire, links existing and new 
development, prioritises walking, cycling and public transport and provides a genuine choice of modes. Traffic 
management measures will minimise the impact of new development on the existing network.  

I. Heritage To ensure that development to 2026 is planned, designed and managed in a way that ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive character and identity of the built, historic and natural environment in West Berkshire’s 
Towns, villages and countryside.  

Core Strategy objectives D (Economy) and H (Retail) are not considered relevant to the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
Table 10 below shows the compatibility between the SA objectives and the proposed Housing Site Allocations DPD objectives. The full details of the 
compatibility test are given in appendix 3.  

  
Table 10 – SA / DPD objective compatibility 

  

   SA objectives  Key: 
++  Strongly supports sustainable objectives 
+ Supports sustainable objectives 
0 Neutral 
? Uncertain 
- Works against sustainable objectives- - 
 Works strongly against sustainable objectives 

  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

 W
B

C
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e A + + + ++ ++ 0 + + ++ ++ ++ 

B ++ ++ ++ + +/? 0 ? ++ ? ? ? 
C ++ ++ ++ + +/? 0 ? ++ ? ? ? 
E + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
F 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 0 0 0 
G 0 + ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 
I + + 0 0 0 ++ ++ + 0 0 0 

6 Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects 

6.1 Introduction 
Stage B of the Sustainability Appraisal is the development and refinement of options and policies and an assessment of the effects. This stage 
incorporates the development of the options and policies, the prediction and evaluation of the effects of the options and subsequent policies that 
make up the Preferred Options Housing Site Allocations DPD, along with the consideration of any mitigation measures and ways to maximise 
beneficial effects along the way.  

33 
 

P
age 287



6.2 Developing the Options  
The West Berkshire Preferred Options Housing Site Allocations DPD implements the framework set by the Core Strategy by allocating non-strategic 
housing sites across the District in accordance with the spatial strategy of the Core Strategy. This means that the sites to be allocated are in the areas 
that the Core Strategy has set out as suitable for some level of further growth and that the proposals will conform to the policy details set out in the 
Core Strategy. Sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople are also proposed for allocation and the DPD will include updated polices to 
guide certain development in the countryside as well as updated parking standards.  

6.3 Method of Approach 
The affects of each option have been tested against the SA objectives that were adopted Scoping Report. The aim of the appraisal was to identify any 
significant conflicts or combined effects between the options and the SA objectives. 
 
Changes made to the SA assessments as a result of consultation have been made as tracked changes. Insertions are shown with blue underlined 
text (example), with deletions crossed through (example) for changes made since the preferred options consultation and with green underlined text 
(example), with deletions double crossed through (example). Changes made since the submission of the DPD are shown with purple underlined text 
with deletions crossed through (example). 

6.4 Reasonable Alternatives  

6.4.1 Approach to Site Allocations 
Four options were considered for progressing Site Allocations: 
 

• Option 1 – Prepare a Site Allocation and Development Management DPD, undertake Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and 
follow with a new Local Plan 

• Option 2 – Prepare a Housing Site Allocations DPD, undertake SHMA, and follow with a new Local Plan 
• Option 3 – Prepare a Housing Site Allocations DPD, plus selected housing development management policies, undertake a SHMA, and follow 

with a new Local Plan 
• Option 4 – New Local Plan, based on a new housing number.  

 
All of these options area considered to be reasonable alternatives as they are all approaches that could be taken to producing a new plan for future 
development in the district.  

6.4.2 Housing Sites 
Within the SA/SEA, only options which are considered reasonable need to be assessed. For the Housing Site Allocations DPD, potential housing 
sites have been taken to be sites submitted in the SHLAA. All potential sites were assessed in the SHLAA as one of four categories as Table 11 
illustrates:  
 

34 
 

P
age 288



Table 11 SHLAA assessment 
SHLAA assessment Description Example 
Deliverable Available now, offers a suitable location for development now and is achievable 

with a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within the next 
five years, and in particular that development of the site is viable.  

Sites with planning permission 

Developable Sites are in a suitable location for housing development and there is a 
reasonable prospect that the site is available and could be viably developed at 
the point envisaged.  

Sites within the settlement boundary 

Potentially 
Developable 

Sites where their suitability needs to be further assessed through the plan 
making process and therefore it is difficult to say that there is a reasonable 
prospect that a particular site could be delivered at a specific point in time.  

Sites adjacent to the settlement boundary 
with no significant issues that would be 
difficult to overcome within the plan period 

Not currently 
developable 

These sites have significant constraints that mean they are unlikely to come 
forward in the plan period 

Sites in the significant national or 
international protection / flood zone 3 etc. 

 
All sites were also subject to the Site Assessment process. This process was split into two sections, automatic exclusions (part A) and considerations 
(part B).  
 
Automatic exclusions identify sites where there are significant constraints to development. This could be a site within flood zone 3, a national or 
international ecological/biodiversity designation or related to the scale of development in terms of the role and function of a settlement within the 
settlement hierarchy. In many cases the automatic exclusions support the SHLAA assessment of ‘Not Currently Developable’.   
 
A full list of the automatic exclusions and their reasons for inclusion are set out in Table 12 below:  
 

Table 12 Automatic Exclusions 
Exclusion Criteria Details Justification 
Less than 5 dwellings  Site is too small to be allocated, the majority of these sites will be considered as part of the 

settlement boundary review.  
Planning Permission  These sites do not need to be allocated as they already have planning permission  
Within flood zone 3  The NPPF states that residential development is not compatible or suitable in Flood Zone 3. Only 

sites completely in FZ3 have been excluded at this stage. Further details of the flood risk are 
taken into consideration at the next stage of assessment.  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat/environmental/ 
historic protection 

Site of Special 
Scientific Interest 
(SSSI),  
Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC),  
Special Protection Area 

The NPPF states that SSSIs, SACs and SPAs should have the same level of protection as 
European Sites. Therefore sites within these areas have been excluded.  
The NPPF also states that great weight should be given to significant heritage assets and their 
settings, and substantial harm to or loss of designated heritage assets of the highest significance 
(eg. Registered Battlefields and Grade I and II* Registered Parks and Gardens) should be wholly 
exceptional, therefore sites which have these designations have also been excluded. The 

35 
 

P
age 289



Table 12 Automatic Exclusions 
Exclusion Criteria Details Justification 

(SPA),  
Registered Battlefield, 
Grade 1 / II* Parks and 
Gardens 

Registered Newbury Battlefield and Sandleford Priory Historic Park and Garden are included on 
the English Heritage ‘At Risk’ Register.  

Landscape  Adverse impact on the 
character of the AONB 
(from LSA) 

The NPPF states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in 
the AONB. Landscape Assessments have been carried out on the sites in the AONB and its 
setting, and where this indicates development would cause harm to the AONB the sites have 
been excluded.   

SHLAA Assessment Not currently 
developable 

Sites assessed in the SHLAA as not currently developable imply that there are issues with the 
site that could not easily be resolved within the plan period, or would impact significantly on the 
deliverability or availability of the site.  

Land Use Protected Employment 
Land 

Areas within a Protected Employment Land designation are protected by policy and without a 
review of the employment policy it is not acceptable to release land for housing development.  

Atomic Weapons 
Establishment (AWE) 
consultation zone 

Inner Government policy limits development within Inner Land Use planning consultation zones. This is 
regulated by the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR). Development within the inner zone is 
unlikely to receive approval from ONR.   

Relationship to the 
surrounding area  

Relative scale in 
relation to existing 
settlement 

The focus for development is in the Settlement Hierarchy. Within in this each settlement has a 
role and function. Where the size of a site would be out of keeping with this the site has been 
excluded.  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 Sites within the settlement boundary do not need to be allocated as there is a presumption in 
favour of development.  

 
Those sites not ruled out through the automatic exclusion assessment (part A) are considered to be realistic alternatives for development. Part B of 
the site selection assessment has then been carried out on the sites and SA/SEA was undertaken to inform the site selection work and the 
subsequent selection of preferred options. The full list of site selection criteria, with their justification is set out in appendix 6A, as this has also formed 
part of the site assessment work, and informed the SA/SEA. The consultation on the preferred options and further technical work have informed 
which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD.  
 
A list of the sites automatically excluded is given in appendix 7. 
 
Consultation on the Council’s Preferred Options was carried out in the summer of 2014 (25th July to 12th September 2014). Members of the public 
were consulted on preferred sites for allocation, in some cases including options from which choices would were to be made. All comments have 
been taken into account. They have been summarised as key points and a Council response provided to each point (see Statement of Consultation). 
Further discussions have also taken place with site promoters to discuss specific issues on sites. The site assessments and SA/SEA has been 
updated, where this is appropriate, to inform the Proposed Submission DPD.  Any change made to the Site Assessment and SA/SEA have been 

36 
 

P
age 290



made as manual tracked changes. Text additions are shown as underlined blue text (example) with deletions crossed through (example). A further 
period of consultation, on the Proposed Submission DPD, was carried out in the winter of 2015 (9th November to 24th December 2015). All comments 
have been noted, and summarised as key points. A Council response has been provided to each point (see Statement of Consultation). No significant 
changes have been made as a result of the proposed submission DPD, and therefore, no reassessment has taken place. Where changes have been 
made to the Site Assessments and SA/SEA these are shown as manual tracked changes. Text additions are shown as underlined green text 
(example) with deletions double crossed through (example). Changes made since the submission of the DPD are shown with purple underlined text 
(example) with deletions crossed through (example), this includes where Main Modifications have been proposed following the examination hearing 
sessions.  

6.4.3 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites 
The potential suitability of each site submitted to the Council for consideration as a Traveller site was assessed to determine which, if any would be 
suitable to take forward as preferred sites. Existing sites without the benefit of planning permission and sites which had been granted planning 
permission but this permission had lapsed  were also assessed to determine their suitability.  
 
National policy requires local authorities to make their own assessment of need; identify and update annually a five year land supply of deliverable 
sites; identify a supply of developable sites for 6 – 10 years and 11 – 15 years of the plan period.  
 
In accordance with the Core Strategy all sites were assessed against the criteria set out in policy CS7. Core Strategy policy CS7 applies to proposed 
sites located outside settlement boundaries.  Any sites proposed within settlement boundaries are considered acceptable in principle, as with 
conventional housing, subject to material considerations.  Policy CS7 will assist in providing suitably located and designed sites.  The Core Strategy 
policy complies with the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS).   In addition to assessing each site against the criteria set out within the policy, 
regard has also been had to the relevant national guidance, including the NPPF and PPTS. Details of the assessment against CS7 are shown in 
appendix 6B. 
 
The site assessments and SA/SEA have then been considered against any technical evidence, supporting information provided with the site 
submissions and advice from internal consultees to draw conclusions on the suitability of each site for allocation.  
 
A call for sites was carried out in April/May 2014 at which time the Council invited landowners and developers to submit sites they felt were suitable 
and available as a site for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople.  Five sites were submitted during this process and the Council also 
considered a further four sites.  Where sites conflicted with the criteria in the policy they were automatically excluded. Details are set out in Appendix 
7.  
 
The remaining sites are considered to be realistic alternatives, and have had SA/SEA carried out on them as alternatives options for development.  

6.4.4 Countryside Policies 
The Housing Site Allocations DPD provides an opportunity to review the approach to policies relating to housing, with a particular focus on 
development in the countryside. This will ensure that there is an up to date policy framework in accordance with the NPPF.  

37 
 

P
age 291



 
There is considerable reliance on the Saved Policies from the previous Local Plan to determine planning applications. The consistent management of 
development in the countryside is a priority for the Council with a high number of planning applications each year. Whilst the Planning Inspectorate 
has generally been supportive of the context of the saved policies it is recognised that as the policies were all drafted and approved prior to the 
publication of the NPPF and adoption of the Core Strategy, they have ‘due weight’ in the planning process, rather than full weight.  
 
No reasonable alternatives have been assessed for producing a new set of housing in the countryside policies. Whilst the NPPF provides the 
framework for development, it does not provide the level of detail required for development management at the local level.  The Housing Site 
Allocations DPD provides an opportunity to provide an up to date set of policies at the earliest opportunity so this option was presented to Members 
when they were making decisions about the way forward for the development plan and was their preferred way forward. The approach to the 
development plan is described further in section 6.1.  

6.4.5 Parking Standards Policy 
New parking standards are proposed to accompany the Housing Site Allocations DPD. Four options were considered.  
 

• Option 1 - Maintain the current parking policy (An average of 1.5 spaces per dwellings across the district) 
• Option 2 - No policy – deal with parking on a case by case basis 
• Option 3 - New policy A – a single standard across the whole district 
• Option 4 - New policy B – parking standards based on accessibility and location of a site and the type and size of dwellings.  

 
Options 1 and 2 were not considered to be reasonable alternatives.  
 
There are many issues with the implementation of the current parking standards (Option 1), in terms of some areas not having enough parking for the 
number of cars in a development, and limited amount of flexibility for different types of residential development. Therefore, doing something to change 
the current position is seen as being important. 
 
Option 2, having no parking policy, would mean that parking would need to be dealt with on a case by case basis. This would not give developers or 
members of the public certainty of the requirements for new development and could lead to many other difficulties such as a lack of consistency in 
approach, lack of transparency and difficulties at planning appeals.  
 
Options 3 and 4 are considered to be reasonable alternatives and so will be assessed through the SA/SEA.  

6.4.6 Sandleford Park Policy 
New evidence has come forward regarding infrastructure at Sandleford Park, and as a result the Supplementary Planning Document supporting the 
Core Strategy policy has been updated. At the preferred options stage it was anticipated that the existing Core Strategy policy would be updated to 
take into account this new evidence and to require a single masterplan to ensure that the site came forward in a comprehensive manner. However, in 
light of the expected timing of the planning application for the site, there was a necessity to provide this guidance more speedily. Following legal 

38 
 

P
age 292



advice, it was decided to update the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for the site, rather than amend the policy through the DPD process. 
Consultation on the updated SPD took place from 12th December 2014 to 30th January 2015. The updated SPD was adopted by the Council on 3rd 
March 2015. The original SPD was subject to screening to determine whether an SA was required. This was revised in light of the amendments to the 
SPD and the amendments were not considered to change the outcome of the screening opinion. The SPD to guide development of the site was 
adopted on 3rd March 2015 and has weight as a material consideration in the planning process. 
 
Two options were considered at preferred options, while both were considered as reasonable alternatives at preferred options, neither were taken 
forward in light of the updated SPD.  
 

• Option 1 – keep the existing Core Strategy policy  
• Option 2 – update the Core Strategy policy to reflect the updated evidence.  

6.5 Assessment of Options  
Within each spatial area the DPD is looking to allocate the remaining housing requirement from the Core Strategy. More sites have been identified as 
realistic alternatives than are required, so these form the options tested through the SA/SEA. It is from these options, through the SA/SEA and Site 
Assessment process and the preferred options consultation, that the sites proposed for allocation have been selected. 
 
The options, preferred policy approaches and policies have been assessed in terms of probability, duration, frequency and reversibility. The following 
issues have been considered: 
 

• Effect – What is the overall sustainability impact on the SA objectives? 
• Likelihood – How likely is it that the effect will actually occur? 
• Scale – What is the potential scale of the effect, considering the geographical area and size of the population likely to be affected? 
• Duration - Are the potential effects likely to be permanent or temporary? 
• Timing – Are the potential effects short, medium or long term? 

 
Potential mitigation has been identified where necessary where the adverse effects could be avoided through introducing conditions or changes in the 
way in which policies are implemented.  
 
Many of the options had a predominantly neutral effect on the SA objectives. Where sites had a predominantly negative impact they have not been 
recommended for allocation.   
 
The assessment of the options and policies has been based on the information available at the time and on professional judgement.   

39 
 

P
age 293



7 Appraisal 
All the objectives have been used for the policies (countryside policies, parking policy). For the housing and Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople sites not all objectives have been used as many of the objectives give exactly the same outcome for all housing sites. As a result the 
following objectives and sub objectives have not been included in the housing site assessments: 

7.1 Approach to Site Allocations 
Four options for the approach to Site Allocations were assessed.  
 

Table 13 Summary of SA/SEA of Approach to Site Allocations 
Approach Option Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of effects Recommendation 
Option 1  
 
Prepare Site 
Allocation and 
Delivery  DPD, 
undertake SHMA 
and follow up with 
new Local Plan 

Overall the site is likely to have a positive effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
highlights two significant positive sustainability effects in terms of delivering 
new housing.  
This option has a number of positive sustainability impacts as the DPD would include a 
wide range of policies. These would include aiming to focus development in sustainable 
locations where walking, cycling and public transport options are available and where 
there are a range of local services and facilities easy accessible. Policies included 
within the plan would aim to reduce or neutralise any negative or uncertain 
sustainability impacts. This option does have a significantly positive effect on delivery of 
new homes, as it looks to allocate sites for development in the short time, and following 
the SHMA develop a Local Plan to allocated additional sites for development to meet 
the identified objectively assessed need of the District.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
positive 
Likelihood: High. 
Scale: District Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short Term 
with longer term plan 
for new Local Plan. 

Option is not to be taken 
forward 

Option 2 
 
Prepare Housing 
Site Allocations 
DPD, undertake 
SHMA, followed by 
new Local Plan  

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
highlights two significant positive sustainability effects in terms of delivering 
new housing.  
This option aims to allocate sites in the short term under the framework set out in the 
adopted Core Strategy, with a medium term plan to produce a new Local Plan following 
the SHMA. This option gives a significantly positive impact on sustainability due to the 
provision of allocated sites for housing (affordable and market) in the short term. Over 
the medium and long term the new Local Plan will do this and ensure that policies 
provide for good quality affordable and market housing, with a knock-on effect on all 
elements of sustainability. This option does not review a full range of policies or 
consider development other than Housing. While this does not have a negative impact 
on sustainability, it is also not positive, as planning applications would be determined 
using the existing policy framework of the Core Strategy and the Local Plan saved 
policies.   

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral  
Likelihood: High 
Scale: District Wide 
– Initial focus on 
settlement hierarchy 
settlements.  
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short term 
with longer term plan 
for new Local Plan. 

Option is not to be to be 
taken forward 
 

Option 3 
 
Prepare Housing 
Site Allocations 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
highlights two significant positive sustainability effects in terms of delivering 
new housing.  
This option aims to allocate sites in the short term under framework set out in the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral  
Likelihood: High 

Option is to be taken 
forward.  
 

40 
 

P
age 294



Table 13 Summary of SA/SEA of Approach to Site Allocations 
Approach Option Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of effects Recommendation 
DPD plus selected 
development 
management 
policies, undertake 
SHMA, followed by 
new Local Plan 

adopted the Core Strategy, with a medium term plan to produce a new Local Plan 
following the SHMA. This option gives a significantly positive impact on sustainability 
due to the provision of allocated sites for housing (affordable and market) in the short 
term. Over the medium and long term the new Local Plan will do this and ensure that 
policies provide for good quality affordable and market housing, with a knock-on effect 
on all elements of sustainability. This option does not review a full range of policies or 
consider development other than Housing. While this does not have a negative impact 
on sustainability it is also not positive, as many planning applications would be 
determined using the existing policy framework of the Core Strategy and the Local Plan 
saved policies. The option includes some updates to policies, specifically countryside 
policies which would have a positive impact on environmental sustainability.  

Scale: District Wide 
– initial focus on 
settlement hierarchy 
settlements 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short term 
with longer term plan 
for new Local Plan. 

Option 4 
 
Prepare new Local 
Plan following 
SHMA 

Overall the site is likely to have a positive effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability effects in terms of delivering new 
housing.  
This option has a predominantly positive effect on sustainability. A new Local Plan 
would allow for all policies in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Saved Policies to be 
updated, giving the greatest opportunities for positive impacts on sustainability.  Where 
there are potential negative or uncertain sustainability effects, the policies within the 
plan, or mitigation provided by individual developments outlined in the plan, would 
reduce or neutralise this effect, and in some cases could lead to a positive effect on 
sustainability.   

Effect: 
Predominantly 
positive 
Likelihood: High 
Scale:  District Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Long Term 

Option is not to be to be 
taken forward 

 
The SA/SEA indicates that options 1 and 4 will have a predominantly positive impact on sustainability. Options 1, 2, and 3 are shown to have a 
significantly positive impact on sustainability due to the quicker allocation of sites for housing. While these options would not fully meet the Council’s 
objectively assessed need, they would meet the short term need, with the new Local Plan meeting the medium and longer term need for housing 
identified in the SHMA. Option 4 would lead to a significant delay in the Council publishing a plan to allocate housing sites, which would be likely to 
result in a number of speculative planning applications coming forward. Therefore, this option is not considered to be the best option for the District, 
as it would result in a significant degree of uncertainty in relation to where new development will go.  
 
Option 3 has been chosen for the approach as this would allow the Council to take forward housing allocations at the earliest opportunity rather than 
waiting for the SHMA to be published, thereby giving  some certainty to members of the public and developers as to where development, in the short 
term, will take place. The new Local Plan will take into account the full objectively assessed need and allocate sites to meet the medium and longer 
term, with the Housing Site Allocations DPD meeting the short term need. This approach was chosen over option 2, as it would allow for some 
policies to be updated. The SA/SEA shows that this element gives option 3 as a slightly more positive impact on sustainability than option 2, as these 
policies would be based around the Countryside and parking Policies included in the Local Plan Saved Policies (2007) positively impacting on 
environmental sustainability.  
 

41 
 

P
age 295



Further reasons for this option being chosen are set out in the Background Topic Paper.   

7.2 Housing Site Selection 
All sites submitted though the SHLAA have been considered as part of the site selection process. The site selection process has identified realistic 
alternatives for sites, meaning that only sites with a realistic chance of being deliverable have been considered and taken through the SA and site 
selection process, as set out above.  
 
In each spatial area all sites considered would be reasonable alternatives, and therefore, the SA/SEA process has been used to identify proposed 
sites, which are favourable in terms of the impact on sustainability.  
 
All of the site assessment forms, including the SA/SEA, are set out in appendix 9 in the same order as the settlements are discussed below. The 
tables below outline the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and site selection information to detail whether or not the sites are recommended for 
being taken forward for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage. 

7.2.1 Newbury & Thatcham Spatial Area 

7.2.1.1 Newbury 

Newbury 
Newbury is the main urban area within West Berkshire. It is the main focus for housing growth over the plan period with new housing development. 
Newbury is the main administrative centre for the district with a wide range of retail, employment, leisure and community services and facilities. The 
town is on the crossroads of the A34/M4, with a number of locally important roads and a railway station linking Newbury to Reading and London to 
the east and The West Country to the west. Bus services link many of the outlying villages to Newbury. A number of rivers and water courses flow 
through Newbury, with the River Kennet and Kennet and Avon Canal running through the centre of the town, the river Enborne to the south and the 
river Lambourn entering the town to the north west and reaching its confluence with the River Kennet to the east of the town. The areas immediately 
adjacent to these water courses are within flood zone 2 or 3. Much of the north of Newbury is within a groundwater emergence zone.  
 
There are a number of important environmental and heritage assets within Newbury. The Rivers Lambourn and Kennet are both SSSIs and there are 
a number of local wildlife sites to the north and south of the town. To the west of Newbury is the site of the First Battle of Newbury and to the south of 
Newbury lies the Registered Park and Garden of Sandleford Priory.  Both of these heritage assets are listed in Historic England’s Heritage at Risk 
Register due to the threat from development.    
 
87 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, 34 sites were assessed to be potentially developable within the SHLAA. Of these 13 sites were 
ruled out through the automatic exclusion part of the site assessment criteria (Part A). The remaining 21 sites were considered reasonable 
alternatives for development and so an SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of 
preferred options (Part B). The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken 

42 
 

P
age 296



forward for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the as preferred options stage. Where changes have been made to the SA/SEA 
as a result of the Main Modifications this is indicated where required.  
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  

• Newbury (general) – 3 responses 
• NEW012 – 11 responses 
• NEW042 – 76 responses 
• NEW045 – 70 responses 
• NEW047D – 36 responses (1 inadmissible) 
• NEW104 – 8 responses 
• NEW106 – 142 responses 
• Newbury rejected sites – 24 responses  

o NEW001 – 3 responses 
o NEW010 – 3 responses 

• Newbury rejected sites (cont.) 
o NEW019 – 1 response (relating to NEW031A/B) 
o NEW031A/B – 13 responses 
o NEW047A – 1 response 
o NEW047B – 1 response 
o NEW047C – 1 response 
o NEW057 – 1 response 
o NEW103 – 1 response 
o NEW105 – 2 responses 
o NEW121/121A/122 – 1 response 
o RUR193 – 1 response  

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Newbury (general, inc. rejected sites) – 8 responses 
• HSA1 (NEW012) – 5 responses 
• HSA2 (NEW042) – 23 responses 

• HSA3 (NEW045) – 17 responses 
• HSA4 (NEW047B,C,D) – 5 responses 
• Newbury Settlement Boundary revisions – 2 responses 

 
Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

NEW001 
 
Land at Long 
Lane, 
Newbury 
 
140 2 
dwellings 
(4.72ha at 
30dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, although the SA/SEA does highlight a 
significantly negative effect on all elements of 
sustainability due to the flood risk on the site. Flood risk 
gives a significant negative impact on sustainability on this 
site.  While mitigation measures could be considered it is 
unlikely that these could fully mitigate the flood risk. The site 
is close to local services and facilities within Newbury, which 
would have a positive impact on sustainability by encouraging 
walking, cycling and the use of public transport. There are a 
number of negative impacts on sustainability from 
development on this site. Development would change the 
character of the landscape and built environment as 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral  
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is at significant risk 
from surface water flooding, 
with a history of flooding 
impacting on the adjacent road, 
cemetery and properties to the 
south.  
 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised regarding 
flooding.  

43 
 

P
age 297



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

development is not adjacent to existing residential 
development. Development would also lead to the loss of 
grade 2 agricultural land, which would have a negative impact 
on environmental sustainability. 
 The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

NEW008 
 
Land 
adjoining 
Mencap 
Respite 
Centre, 
Pinchington 
Lane, 
Newbury 
 
<5  4 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, although the SA/SEA does highlight a 
significantly negative effect on environmental 
sustainability due to the presence of a great crested 
newts breeding pond.  
The great crested newts breading pond on this site means 
that development would have a significant negative impact on 
environmental sustainability.  The site is close to local service 
and facilities within Newbury and at the retail park which give 
good opportunity for walking, cycling and public transport, all 
of which would have a positive impact on sustainability. Flood 
risk on the site means that there could be a negative impact 
on sustainability. Mitigation measures could be introduced to 
minimise this impact. The development of the site for housing 
will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is largely taken up by a 
breeding pond for great crested 
newts. 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised regarding 
great crested newts.  

NEW010 
 
Land at Long 
Lane, 
Newbury 
 
85 dwellings 
(2.8ha at 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, although the SA/SEA highlights a 
significantly negative effect on all elements of 
sustainability due to the flood risk on the site. Flood risk 
gives a significant negative impact on sustainability on 
this site.   
While mitigation measures could be considered it is unlikely 
that these could fully mitigate the flood risk. The site is close 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
There is a significant risk of and 
history of flooding on the site, 
impacting on the road, 
NEW001 and properties to the 
south of NEW001.   
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised regarding 
flooding. 

44 
 

P
age 298



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

30dph) to local services and facilities within Newbury, which would 
have a positive impact on sustainability by encouraging 
walking, cycling and the use of public transport. There are a 
number of negative impacts on sustainability from 
development on this site. Development would change the 
character of the landscape and built environment as 
development would extend into the rural approach to 
Newbury. Development would also lead to the loss of grade 2 
agricultural land, which would have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

NEW011 
 
Land 
adjacent to 
Oxford Road, 
Newbury 
 
25 3 
dwellings 
(0.75ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, although the SA/SEA highlights a 
significantly negative effect on all elements of 
sustainability due to the flood risk on the site.  
Flood risk gives a significant negative impact on the 
sustainability of the site.  While mitigation measures could be 
considered it is unlikely that these could fully mitigation the 
flood risk. The site is close to local services and facilities 
within Newbury, which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability by encouraging walking, cycling and the use of 
public transport. There are a number of negative 
sustainability impacts from development on this site.  The site 
is adjacent to a SSSI and SAC, while being within a LWS, 
making the site very sensitive in terms of biodiversity. 
Significant mitigation would be required to reduce this impact. 
Development of the site would have the potential to link 
Newbury and Donnington, impacting on the integrity of 
Donnington. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
There is a significant risk of and 
history of flooding on the site. 
The site is also sensitive in 
terms of ecology, within a Local 
Wildlife Site and adjacent to a 
SAC and SSSI.  
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised regarding 
flooding. 

45 
 

P
age 299



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

business development in the longer term.  
NEW012 
 
Land north of 
Newbury 
College, 
Monks Lane, 
Newbury 
 
23 dwellings 
(0.78ha at 
30dph) 
15 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities giving 
opportunities for walking, cycling and the use of public 
transport all of which will help to promote active healthy 
lifestyles. The location of the site close to the A339 means 
that the impact of air quality on the site would need to be 
considered. The development of the site for housing will have 
a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities 
within good links (walking, 
cycling and public transport) 
into Newbury town centre. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
 
No additional information 
submitted or comments 
received through the 
consultation at preferred 
options to change the 
recommendation.  
 
Site area reduced by site 
promoter as a pub has been 
built on part of the site.  

NEW019 
 
Land at 
Sandpit Hill / 
Andover 
Road, 
Newbury 
 
195 
dwellings 
(6.5ha at 
30dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is some distance from facilities within Newbury Town 
Centre, although there are local facilities within Wash 
Common. Opportunities for use of public transport are 
currently limited, although there is potential for improvements 
alongside the development at Sandleford. Flooding is an 
issue on the southern part of the site, and could impact on 
sustainability without appropriate mitigation measures.  The 
site is within an area designated as a UKBAP Woodland and 
Grassland and mitigation measures would need to be 
provided to limit the negative impact on environmental 
sustainability.  The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is close to the strategic 
site allocation of Sandleford 
Park, and therefore, it is 
considered that this part of 
Newbury should not have 
further development of this 
scale in the short to medium 
term.  
 
The site is some distance from 
services and facilities within 
Newbury Town Centre, with 
limited public transport 
opportunities.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted or comments 
received through the 
consultation at preferred 
options that would resolve the 
concerns previously raised.  

NEW031 
 
Land at 

Overall the site is likely to have a negative effect on 
sustainability. The site scores positively in terms of access 
to services and facilities and potential opportunities for public 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
negative 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site needs to be 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 

46 
 

P
age 300



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

Shaw, West 
and East of 
the A339.  
 
550 49 
dwellings 
(1.83ha at 
30dph) 

transport and active travel. However, there are a number of 
negative sustainability impacts in terms of ecology and 
environmental impacts, air quality and noise and potential 
impacts on the historic environment and landscape character 
of the area. There are limited mitigation measures that would 
be able to significantly reduce this impact. The site also has a 
risk of flooding and evidence of standing water during 
Jan/Feb 2014 which would also have an impact on 
sustainability. Flood mitigation could be provided which would 
reduce this impact.  The development of the site for housing 
will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

considered as a strategic site, 
which is outside the scope of 
the Housing Site Allocations 
DPD.  
 

submitted or comments 
received through the 
consultation at preferred 
options that would resolve the 
concerns previously raised. 
  

NEW032 
 
The 
Bungalow, 
Shaw Farm 
Road 
 
8 dwellings 
(0.25ha at 
30dph)  
<5 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities and local 
public transport services, with opportunities for walking and 
cycling which will have a positive impact on sustainability.  
There are a number of unknown impacts, including potential 
for protected species on the site, which if found, could lead to 
a negative impact on environmental sustainability. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The small size of the site 
means and existing 
development on the site means 
that it is not suitable to be 
considered for allocated.  
 
The site will be considered as 
part of the settlement 
boundary review.  
 

The site is to be included 
within the settlement 
boundary. 
Much of the site is already 
developed, and meets the 
settlement boundary review 
criteria.   

NEW040 
 
Land south 
of Kimbers 
drive, Speen 
 
10 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and 
cycling and in close proximity to open countryside and local 
sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of 
which have a positive impact on sustainability. There would 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is sensitive in terms of 
biodiversity and impact on the 
landscape character of the area 
means that the site is not 
considered suitable for 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted or comments 
received at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised. 

47 
 

P
age 301



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

(0.33ha at 
30dph) 

be a negative impact on the character of the landscape as 
the site is in an area of medium / high landscape sensitivity 
and in a Local Wildlife Site, which would be a negative impact 
on environmental sustainability. Some mitigation measures 
could be introduced to reduce the impact on the landscape 
and information would need to be provided as to why the 
LWS could be destroyed. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

allocation.  
 
Availability of the site has not 
been confirmed.  
 

NEW042 
 
Land at Bath 
Road, Speen 
 
104 100 
dwellings 
(3.45ha at 
30dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and 
cycling and with close proximity to open countryside and local 
sports facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle all of 
which will have a positive impact on sustainability. Part of the 
site is currently used as allotments which would need to be 
retained or relocated should the site be developed, or there 
would be a negative impact on environmental sustainability. 
The site previously encompassed allotment areas, however 
in line with the new scheme the allotments would no longer 
be developed. Two rights of way cross the site, and if they 
were not protected there could be a negative impact on social 
sustainability. The site’s proximity to the A34 means that 
there could be issues of air or noise pollution, with a 
consequential impact on sustainability unless suitable 
mitigation measures are provided. The development of the 
site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term   

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to 
Newbury, close to local 
services and facilities. There 
are no significant issues with 
the site.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
or comments received through 
the consultation to change the 
recommendation. 
 
The allotments are now to be 
retained in situ, following 
comments received at preferred 
options.  
 
Landscape Assessment work 
carried out at preferred options 
and following the proposed 
submission consultation 
provides further details as to 
the area of the site suitable for 
development.   
 
Following the hearing sessions 
of the Housing Site Allocations 
DPD, the Inspector has 
proposed Main Modifications 

48 
 

P
age 302



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

that require development to 
protect and enhance the 
special architectural and 
historic interest of the Speen 
Conservation Area. 
Furthermore the Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment 
must consider the heritage 
setting of the site. 

NEW045 
 
Coley Farm, 
Stoney Lane, 
Ashmore 
Green 
 
75 dwellings  

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling and good access to the 
countryside. All of these aspects have a positive impact on 
sustainability. There are potential negative impacts on 
environmental sustainability due to the rural location of the 
site and potential impact on the landscape. Mitigation 
measures would reduce this impact, by providing appropriate 
landscaping. It is considered that with regard to biodiversity 
on the site, appropriate measures would mitigate any 
negative impact. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to 
existing residential 
development in Newbury, close 
to local services and facilities. 
The site is not at risk from 
flooding.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
or comments received through 
the consultation to change the 
recommendation. 
 

NEW047B 
 
South East 
Newbury 
 
69 dwellings 
(2.29ha at 
30dph) 
30 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well related to existing development both to the 
north, close to local services and facilities, with good 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. All of 
this means that there would be a positive impact on 
sustainability. The site is in an area of medium/high 
landscape sensitivity and so there could be a negative impact 
on environmental sustainability should development take 
place. Careful design and landscaping mitigation measures 
could reduce this impact. The site is adjacent to ancient 
woodland and may have protected species on the site, both 
of which could be negatively affected by development, 

Summary of 
effects: 
Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Development of the site would 
have an impact on the 
character of the landscape. Is 
less well related to Newbury 
that other sites in this group.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
There are no significant issues 
on the site that cannot be 
resolved through sensitive 
design.  
 
At preferred options the site 
promoter submitted proposals 
for a reduced development 
potential on the site.  
 
The site, when developed 
together with NEW047C and D 

49 
 

P
age 303



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

impacting negatively on sustainability. Appropriate mitigation 
measures, including buffers and maintenance of a green 
corridor between the site and Newbury Racecourse would 
help to mitigation the impact. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

has the potential to be 
delivered holistically, with 
significant open space 
provision, retained in 
perpetuity.  

NEW047C 
 
South East 
Newbury 
 
84 dwellings 
(2.8ha at 
30dph) 65 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well related to existing development to the north, 
close to local services and facilities, with good opportunities 
for walking, cycling and public transport. All of this means that 
there would be a positive impact on sustainability. The site is 
in an area of medium/high landscape sensitivity and so there 
could be a negative impact on environmental sustainability 
should development take place. Careful design and 
landscaping mitigation measures could reduce this impact. 
The site is adjacent to ancient woodland, and may have 
protected species on the site, both of which could be 
negatively affected by development, impacting negatively on 
sustainability. Appropriate mitigation measures, including 
buffers and maintenance of a green corridor between the site 
and Newbury racecourse would help to mitigation the impact. 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

Summary of 
effects: 
Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Development of the site would 
have an impact on the 
character of the landscape. The 
site has views over the whole of 
Newbury. Other sites in 
Newbury considered more 
appropriate for development.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
There are no significant issues 
on the site that cannot be 
resolved through sensitive 
design.  
 
At preferred options the site 
promoter submitted proposals 
for a reduced development 
potential on the site, indicating 
that development would be 
restricted to the lower part of 
the site.  
 
The site, when developed 
together with NEW047B and D 
has the potential to be 
delivered holistically, with 
significant open space 
provision, retained in 
perpetuity. 

NEW047D 
 
South East 
Newbury 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well related to existing development both to the 
north, close to local services and facilities, with good 

Summary of 
effects: 
Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to 
existing development in 
Newbury and close to local 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
 No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change the recommendation; 

50 
 

P
age 304



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

116 140-160 
dwellings 
(3.87ha at 
30dph) 

opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. All of 
this means that there would be a positive impact on 
sustainability. The site is in an area of low/medium landscape 
sensitivity and so it is unlikely that there would be an impact 
on sustainability, especially with mitigation measures 
introduced. There are great crested newts on the site, which 
without adequate protection and green corridors would mean 
development would have a negative impact on sustainability. 
A small area of the site is at risk from surface water flooding, 
but with appropriate mitigation the potential negative impact 
should be mitigated. The development of the site for housing 
will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

services and facilities. Two 
areas of the site are promoted 
for development, which leave a 
wildlife corridor and maintain a 
gap between Newbury and 
Greenham.  
 

however the wider scope of the 
site has been reconsidered as 
a whole. 
 
The majority of the site would 
be retained in perpetuity as a 
wildlife corridor/public open 
space to maintain a gap 
between Newbury and 
Greenham.  
 
The site, when developed 
together with NEW047C and B 
has the potential to be 
delivered holistically, with 
significant open space 
provision, retained in 
perpetuity. 

NEW051 
 
Foxglove 
House, Love 
Lane, 
Donnington 
 
10 dwellings 
(0.34ha at 
30dph) 
<5 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are a number of positive impacts on sustainability as 
the site is close to local services and facilities, with good 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport.  Part of 
the site is allotments, which if developed would have a 
negative impact on sustainability. The proposals indicate that 
the allotments will be retained, meaning that the impact on 
sustainability should be neutralised. The site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone, although there is no history of 
flooding on the site. Flooding can impact negatively on 
sustainability, but with appropriate mitigation measures this 
impact can be reduced. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
The site is well related to 
existing residential 
development in Newbury. The 
size of the site means that it 
could be included in the 
settlement boundary, rather 
than allocated as a site for 
development.  
 
The site will be considered as 
part of the settlement 
boundary review.  

The site is to be included 
within the settlement 
boundary. 
Part of the site, excluding the 
allotments, meets the 
settlement boundary review 
criteria and therefore, will be 
included within the settlement 
boundary.  

51 
 

P
age 305



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

NEW054 
 
The 
Vicarage, 
Greyberry 
Copse Road, 
Newbury 
 
11 dwellings 
(0.36ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, although the SA/SEA highlights a 
significantly negative effect on environmental 
sustainability due to the archaeological potential on the 
site.  
There would be a significant negative impact on 
environmental sustainability due to the impact on heritage 
assets of development on this site. The site is well related to 
local services and facilities, with opportunities for walking and 
cycling, giving a positive impact on all elements of 
sustainability. There are uncertain effects on the character of 
the landscape, as without landscaping mitigation there could 
be a negative impact on the character of the landscape. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Archaeology on the site is a 
major constraint to 
development. Impact on the 
adjacent listed building and 
archaeology would be 
significant.  
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised. 

NEW103 
 
Sanfoin 
Cottage, 
Garden 
Close Lane, 
Newbury 
 
90 dwellings 
(3ha at 
30dph) 
<5 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site will have positive impacts on sustainability as it is 
close to local services and facilities with opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public transport. There are a number of 
unknown impacts on sustainability due to the site’s location 
adjacent to the Sandleford Park site. There is a risk of 
surface water flooding on the site, but with mitigation 
measures the potential negative impact on sustainability 
should be neutralised. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
The site is adjacent to the 
Sandleford Park strategic site. 
Significant development has 
already been allocated to his 
area.  
 
 Access to the site is a concern 
as additional land from third 
parties would be required to 
provide a suitable access, 
which could impact on 
deliverability, unless access is 
provided from Sandleford Park.  

The site is to be included 
within the settlement 
boundary. 
Access to the site is via a 
private road, the site promoter 
has revised the development 
potential on the site to less than 
5 dwellings, to allow for access 
to be provided without 
improvements change the 
private drive into an adoptable 
road.  
 
The site is adjacent to the 
strategic site of Sandleford 
Park, and will be included 
within the settlement boundary, 
as reviewed for Sandleford 

52 
 

P
age 306



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

Park.  
NEW104 
 
Land at 
Warren 
Road, 
Newbury 
 
10 dwellings 
(0.32ha at 
30dph) 
<5 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
It is close to local services and facilities within Wash 
Common and would benefit from the neighbouring 
development at Sandleford Park all of which have a positive 
impact on sustainability. The site is greenfield could have a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should be able to reduce the impact on the 
environment. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to 
existing development and is a 
small site adjacent to 
Sandleford Park.  
 

The site is to be included 
within the settlement 
boundary. 
Following the preferred options 
and a review of the 
development potential of the 
site, the site is considered too 
small to be an allocated site.  
 
The site will now be included 
within the settlement boundary, 
as reviewed for Sandleford 
Park 

NEW105 
 
Land at 
Yates Copse, 
Newbury 
 
45 dwellings 
(1.5ha at 
30dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling and good access to the 
countryside. All of these aspects have a positive impact on 
sustainability. There are potential negative impacts on 
environmental sustainability due to the rural location of the 
site and potential impact on the landscape, and as a result of 
flood risk on the site. Mitigation measures would help to 
mitigate this impact, by providing appropriate landscaping 
and flood mitigation through SUDs. The development of the 
site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Development of this site in 
addition to NEW045 is 
considered overdevelopment of 
the area. NEW045 was 
considered to be better related 
to the existing settlement than 
this site. There is potential to 
impact on Yates Copse area of 
ancient woodland. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted or comments 
received at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised. 
 
A revised site area was 
promoted through the preferred 
options, but this area is already 
within the existing settlement 
boundary, and the site area 
proposed would not allow for 
appropriate buffers to the 
ancient woodland and an 
access road into the site.  

NEW106 
 
Land at Moor 
Lane Depot, 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA highlights significantly 
positive impacts in terms of sustainability due to the 
location of the site giving good opportunities for 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to 
Newbury Town Centre, close to 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The Council are concerned 
regarding access to the site 

53 
 

P
age 307



Table 14 Summary of Newbury Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as allocated site.  

Hill Road, 
Moor Lane, 
Speen 
 
42 40 
dwellings 
(1.04ha at 
40dph) 

sustainable modes of travel and access to local services 
and facilities.  
The site’s location very close to Newbury town centre means 
that it scores significantly positive in terms of opportunities for 
sustainable modes of travel and therefore, on sustainability. 
The site is close to local services and facilities, with easy 
access to the countryside for supporting active healthy 
lifestyles, all of which impact positively on sustainability.  The 
area is at risk from ground and surface water flooding, which 
without appropriate mitigation could have a negative impact 
on sustainability. Unless the required highway improvements 
can be made there could potentially be a negative impact on 
social sustainability due to safety concerns. It is likely that 
with regard to biodiversity on the site, appropriate measures 
would mitigate any negative impact. The development of the 
site for housing would have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. 

High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

local services and facilities, with 
good opportunities for walking 
and cycling as well as public 
transport.  
 

(sightlines and gradient). 
Additional information was 
submitted by the site promoter 
as part of the Proposed 
Submission consultation, 
however, no change is 
proposed to the DPD.  
 
The site promoter has been 
unable to demonstrate the 
ability to achieve suitable, 
adequate highway access 
(sightline and gradient are of 
particular concern). For these 
reasons the site is not being 
proposed to be taken forward 
for allocation as it is not been 
proven to be deliverable.    

NEW108 
 
Land at 
Wildwoods, 
Kendrick 
Road, Wash 
Common 
 
70 69 
dwellings 
(2.3ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no positive impacts from this site as it is some 
distance from local services and facilities, with limited 
opportunities for walking, cycling and using public transport.  
There are a number of uncertain impacts as the site is poorly 
related to existing residential development. Development 
could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability 
without appropriate mitigation and buffers. The site is within a 
surface water flood risk area, which could have a negative 
impact on sustainability without appropriate mitigation 
measures. The development of the site for housing will have 
a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
The site is poorly related to the 
existing settlement boundary 
and would require development 
at Sandleford Park to take 
place before it was adjacent to 
residential development. The 
site is largely wooded with 
many of the trees being 
protected by TPOs. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
that would resolve the concerns 
previously raised. 

 
54 

 

P
age 308



Site selection summary 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however comments made at Preferred 
Options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation.  
 
Of the 21 sites considered, six sites were considered to have either a significantly negative impact on at least one element of sustainability (NEW001 / 
NEW008 / NEW010 / NEW011/ NEW054), or a predominantly negative impact on sustainability overall (NEW031). Therefore, these sites are not 
recommended for allocation. 
 
Of the remaining sites, none are anticipated to have a significantly negative impact on sustainability. There are a number of positive and negative 
sustainability impacts predicted, which have been used to determine whether a site is suitable to be taken forward for allocation. In some cases, a 
negative sustainability impact means that a  site is considered less suitable for development than other sites available. As a result of the SA/SEA and 
site selection process, and following comments received from the preferred options consultation six sites are recommended for allocation in Newbury.  
 
NEW012 and  is recommended for allocation as the SA/SEA does not indicate any potential negative sustainability effects, but does give a number of 
positive effects due to the proximity of the site to local services and facilities.  
 
NEW042 is recommended for allocation. The site is located to the north west of Newbury, close to the junction of the A4 and the A34. There are a 
number of potentially negative sustainability effects from development of the site, all of which could be mitigated against through careful design or 
specific mitigation measures, such as relocation of the allotments and developing away from the A34 to minimise potential noise and air quality 
issues.  The site was chosen as it is close to local services and facilities, with opportunities for walking and cycling as well as public transport, all of 
which have a positive impact on sustainability. Consultation with the Parish Council indicated that the principle of development here was acceptable 
as long as allotments were still available on the site. The proposals for the site do include relocation and expansion of the allotments. As a result of 
the preferred options consultation the allotments are proposed to be retained in situ, and as a result of landscape assessment work carried out further 
information regarding the mitigation measures required on the site is available. Additional landscape work carried out following the proposed 
submission consultation suggests a slightly different developable area to that originally considered, this will provide further landscape mitigation by 
developing an area of the site previously developed. Overall this does not impact on the sustainability of the site.  
 
NEW045 and NEW105 are two sites to the north east of Newbury. There is no significant difference between the two sites in terms of the SA/SEA; 
the only difference between the two sites is the NEW105 is within a surface water flood risk area and adjacent to an ancient woodland (Yates Copse) 
and critical drainage area. NEW045 has been recommended for development, over NEW105 as NEW045 is considered to be better related to the 
existing residential development, without the potential effects on sustainability that could occur as a result of being adjacent to ancient woodland and 
being within a surface water flood risk area. Additional landscape work carried out for the site suggests the landscape mitigation measures required 
for the site. This does not impact on the sustainability of the site as the need for landscape mitigation was already picked up in the SA/SEA however, 
it does mean that the policy contains more information as to the sort of mitigation measures required. A reduced site area for NEW105 was promoted 
through the preferred options consultation, but this area is already within the settlement boundary, and when considering the buffers required for the 
ancient woodland the development potential on the site is limited.  
 

55 
 

P
age 309



A group of sites were submitted to the south east of Newbury (NEW047). At preferred options Oonly one of these sites (area D) has been was 
recommended for allocation, although the SA/SEA does not show any there is no discernible difference between the sites based on the SA/SEA. All 
the sites have protected species on the site, which, without appropriate mitigation measures, would lead to a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. Only part of each of the sites has been proposed for development, maintaining a green corridor between the sites and Newbury 
Racecourse. Following the preferred options sites B and C are now were recommended for allocation, to help provide additional flexibility in the 
housing numbers allocated through the DPD and enable the sites to be masterplanned as a whole. Development of the sites will result in the 
‘undeveloped’ areas being retained as public open space/wildlife corridors in perpetuity. This will result in improved public access to open space in 
the area.  
 
NEW106 was recommended for allocation at preferred options as the SA/SEA did not highlight any potential negative sustainability effects. Concern 
was raised regarding access and the highway impact as a result of development on the site, this was also raise as a significant issue through the 
preferred options consultation. Additional information was sought from the site promoters to ensure deliverability of the site, in terms of delivering 
appropriate access, but the information has not been forthcoming, and therefore, the site is no longer recommended for allocation.  
 
The SA/SEA highlights that of the 21 sites considered; one site was highlighted as having a predominantly negative impact on sustainability, five sites 
are predicted to have a predominantly neutral impact, but are also shown to have a significant negative impact on sustainability. 
 
NEW001, NEW010 and NEW011 are all at risk from and have a history of flooding which has lead to flooding of neighbouring residential areas, even 
within potential mitigation measures it is not considered appropriate to allocate these sites for residential development.  
 
NEW008 is a small site which contains a great crested newt breeding pond. Development of the site would be likely to cause harm to these protected 
species impacting on environmental sustainability and therefore, the site is not recommended for allocation.  
 
NEW031, is made up of two parcels of land, separated by the A339. was o Originally the site was promoted through the Core Strategy as a strategic 
site. The site is being promoted as a whole for approximately 500 dwellings, with potential for an additional 300 in a future phase. The Council have 
calculated a development potential of has potential for approximately 550 dwellings, which is still considered to be strategic in nature and therefore, 
the site is not considered suitable for allocation at this stage. There are both a number of positive and negative sustainability effects from the site. To 
overcome the negative impacts, which include, impacting on the character of Donnington, highways, flooding and biodiversity, would require 
significant amount of mitigation would be required. There is also concern regarding the ability of a site split into two sections by a main road to deliver 
a cohesive community. All of which mean that it is not considered appropriate to recommend the site for allocation.  to reduce the impact. A planning 
application has been received for the site for 401 dwellings, a local centre, primary school, open space, landscape and associated highway works. In 
addition to being contrary to policy there are a number of significant highways concerns which have not been resolved. A planning application for the 
site has been refused and has been appealed, with a public inquiry the appeal is expected to take place in late 2016 January 2017.  
 
NEW054 contains a number of archaeological features, development would lead to a negative impact on the heritage assets of the district, and 
therefore the site is not considered appropriate for development. While all the sites have good access to local services and facilities within Newbury, 
these negative impacts are seen to outweigh the positive sustainability impacts of the sites and as a result the site is not recommended for allocation. 

56 
 

P
age 310



 
NEW040 is sensitive in terms of biodiversity with potential for a negative effect on environmental sustainability, the proximity to the conservation area 
and setting of the site also impacts negatively on environmental sustainability. The site is not recommended for allocation due to this potential 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. In addition the Council has been unable to confirm the site’s availability, and therefore, the site is not 
considered suitable for allocation. 
 
Of the remaining sites, the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant differences between the sites. Not all sites are required in Newbury to meet the 
remaining Core Strategy requirement,  
 
NEW019 is also adjacent to Sandleford Park, but is located further from local services and facilities, giving a greater distance required for walking or 
cycling, and with a limited bus service passing near to the site. The SA/SEA does not give this site any positive effects on sustainability, the effects 
are either neutral, uncertain or negative, and as a result the site is not recommended for allocation.  
 
NEW103 and NEW108 are is adjacent to Sandleford Park strategic site, and it was considered that development at Sandleford Park would need time 
to consolidate into the community without additional development. NEW108  The site is largely wooded, with many of the trees protected by TPOs. 
Removal of the woodland would have a negative impact on environmental sustainability, strengthening the case that this site should not be allocated 
for development.  
 
Following the preferred options, two sites (NEW103 and NEW104) are now recommended for inclusion within the settlement boundary, both sites are 
adjacent to the Sandleford Park strategic site. NEW103 was a rejected site at the preferred options stage due to concerns over access as a result of 
access being from a private driveway. At preferred options the development potential of the site was reduced to five dwellings, which is acceptable to 
be accessed from a private driveway, and therefore, the site is recommended for inclusion within the settlement boundary, as part of the boundary 
review around Sandleford Park.  NEW104 was considered for allocation at preferred options, however, a review of the development potential of the 
site shows that the site would be more suitable for inclusion within the settlement boundary, than as an allocated site. Neither site have any significant 
negative sustainability effects, the only negative effects are that both sites are Greenfield, and NEW103 is within a surface water flood risk area, 
although there is no history of flooding on the site, and the risk could be mitigated against with SUDs.  
 
 Both sites had additional issues that would have needed to be resolved, access to NEW103 would require upgrading of a private road (Garden Close 
Lane) to adoptable standards, or access to come from Sandleford Park, while NEW104 is a small site adjacent to Sandleford Park. As the site is 
small it was recommended for including within the settlement boundary. When discussed with members of the Planning Policy Task Group they 
asked that the site be a preferred option for allocation, to improve the chances of deliverability. The only negative sustainability effect for the site is 
that it is a greenfield site, the other effects are either positive, neutral or uncertain.  
 
NEW047D has been recommended for allocation over sites B and C as the areas proposed for development are better related to the existing 
residential development and closer to local services and facilities at Newbury Retail Park. Areas B and C are used by members of the public as local 
amenity space and have views over Newbury, which if lost would potentially have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability 
 

57 
 

P
age 311



have been recommended for allocation as they do not have any potential negative sustainability effects highlighted by the SA/SEA. NEW106 has a 
significant positive impact on sustainability due to its location close to the town centre and opportunities for sustainable modes of transport.  
 
NEW032 and NEW051 are considered too small for allocation and so will be considered as part of the settlement boundary review. Both NEW032 
and NEW051 sites are well related to the existing settlement and have some level of development already on the site. NEW032 does not have any 
negative impacts highlighted on the SA/SEA. Part of NEW051 is currently allotments, which would need to be maintained should any development 
take place to ensure no negative sustainability effects occurred. The proposals for the site include maintaining and improving the allotments and only 
developing on a small section to the south east of the site. To ensure no negative impact on the allotments, they will remain outside the settlement 
boundary.    

7.2.1.2 Thatcham 
Thatcham is the second identified as a main urban area within West Berkshire, sitting within the Newbury and Thatcham spatial area. The Core 
Strategy identifies Thatcham as needing a period of consolidation following a significant period of growth in recent years. This means that through the 
plan-led system Thatcham will only receive a limited amount of growth during this plan period. The A4 runs through the town, splitting it into two 
sections, north Thatcham and south Thatcham. A number of buses serve the town and it has a railway station.  
 
To the south of Thatcham runs the River Kennet (which is a SSSI) and the Kennet and Avon Canal. The town itself is not at risk from fluvial flooding 
(the flood zones are located to the south of the developed area of the town), although did suffer badly from surface water flooding during July 2007, 
with large areas within a surface water flood risk area and two areas designated as critical drainage areas through the SFRA.  
 
In addition to the SSSI, Thatcham Reeds Beds (SAC) and a Local Nature Reserve also lie to the south of the town. 
A SSSI runs along the River Kennet and Thatcham Reed Beds nature reserve is located to the south of Thatcham.  
 
27 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, with 11 assessed as potentially developable. All sites promoted through the SHLAA were 
considered against site selection criteria, which resulted in most sites being automatically excluded in accordance with part A of the assessment. The 
remaining 9 sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development and so a SA/SEA was undertaken, along with part B of the site 
assessment, to inform the site selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further 
technical work have informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD. In addition to the 9 remaining sites, 1 
new site was submitted as part of the preferred options consultation and 1 site that was previously excluded was resubmitted. Both sites were 
appraised as reasonable alternatives resulting a total of 11 sites being considered. 
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific assessments/SA/SEAs and details of whether or not the sites are being taken forward for 
allocation as well as outlining the recommendation from the preferred options stage.  
No sites were automatically excluded, and so all sites were considered to be reasonable alternatives and so an SA/SEA was undertaken for all 11 
sites to inform the site selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options. The table below outlines the findings of the site specific 
SA/SEAs and details whether or not the site are being taken forward as preferred options.  
 

58 
 

P
age 312



Preferred Options consultation responses: 
• THA004 – 1 response 
• THA006 – 1 response 
• THA007 – 2 responses 
• THA008 – 2 responses 
• THA009 – 2 responses 
• THA011 – 2 responses 

• THA014 – 1 response 
• THA019 – 2 responses 
• THA024 – 2 responses 
• THA025 – 264 responses and 2 

petitions with 600 and 170 
signatures.  

• THA027 – 1 response 
• THA028 – 4 responses 
• General – 3 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Thatcham (general, inc. rejected sites) – 8 responses 
• HSA5 (THA025) – 16 responses 

• Thatcham Settlement Boundary Revisions – 2 responses  

 
Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

THA006 
 
Land at 
Lower Way 
Farm, 
Thatcham 
 
50 dwellings  
 

Overall the effect on sustainability will be 
predominantly neutral and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities with 
opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public 
transport, which could have a positive effect in 
terms of sustainability. The site is adjacent to the 
sewage treatments works, which could negatively 
impact upon the air quality. There is also the 
potential for an impact on noise levels, as well as 
soil and water quality given the close proximity to 
the treatment works. The majority of development 
on the site would take place on greenfield land 
which could negatively impact on the environmental 
sustainability of the site, and the sites proximity to 
the SSSI, SAC and Local Nature Reserve mean 
development on the site could have a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability. The site 
could also negatively impact upon the landscape 
character and built environment as the area 
provides an important open area which physically 
and visually separates Newbury from 
Thatcham.Flooding can have a negative impact on 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale:  
Newbury and 
Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing:  
Short to Long 
term 

This site was not appraised as a 
reasonable alternative at the 
preferred options stage. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located on the 
southern part of the site, and as the EA 
have advised that development must be 
avoided in Flood Zones 2 and 3 this 
reduces the development capacity on 
the site. Development is constrained 
further by the presence of a rising main 
which runs along the northern part of 
the site. With a reduced development 
capacity it is considered that 
development (see concept plan 
submitted at Preferred Options stage) 
fails to reflect the existing settlement 
pattern and would not relate well to 
existing development on Lower Way.  
 
The Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (LSS, 2009) identifies the site as 
being located within an area (Thatcham 
Lakes) which provides an important 
open area which physically and visually 

59 
 

P
age 313



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

all elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures 
should reduce this impact. 
 

separates Newbury from Thatcham and 
it is considered that the development of 
this site would fail to reflect this 
principle and detract from the separate 
identities of the two settlements.  
 
In addition, the site is adjacent to 
sewage treatment works which is 
known to release a foul smell, 
especially in the summer months. It is 
considered that the location of the site, 
adjacent to the sewage treatment works 
would impact on the quality of life for 
future residents.  
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and, 
whilst this site is not large scale, it is 
considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 

60 
 

P
age 314



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

for allocation.  
THA007 
 
Land at 
Harts Hill, 
Thatcham 
 
450 
dwellings 
(15ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects.  
The site is easily accessible by public transport, 
walking and cycling and within close proximity of 
open countryside and local sports facilities to help 
promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a 
positive impact on sustainability. The site is also in 
close proximity to employment opportunities and 
local services and facilities which will have a 
positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability. Potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact 
on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on 
the character of both landscape and the built 
environment. Flood risk on the site would have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as 
the site is at risk from surface water flooding. 
Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability. 
Development could have an impact on the 
landscape and change the character of the built 
environment, which could have a negative impact 
on sustainability.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out that 
Thatcham only needs a small 
amount of development over the 
plan period. The potential on this 
site is much larger than 
required, and there are other 
smaller sites, that are 
considered more suited to 
development at this stage. 
Development on this site of 
Floral Way would change the 
character of the built 
environment, but moving 
residential development to the 
east of Floral Way.  
 
Availability of the site has not 
been confirmed.  

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and it 
is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Floral Way is not 
acceptable at this stage and would be 
contrary to the Core Strategy. The 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is 
clear that the area to the east of 
Thatcham provides a strong contrast to 
the more immediate urban form, 
providing an important setting to 
Thatcham and rural transition zone 
between the urban area and the AONB. 

61 
 

P
age 315



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

The area is characterised by its open 
farmland with major blocks of woodland 
and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an 
important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this are as a whole as part of a 
revised Local Plan, when the area can 
be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA008 
 
Land at 
Siege Cross, 
Thatcham 
 
353 
dwellings 
(21. 11.76ha 
at 30dph)  

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, 
walking and cycling and within close proximity of 
open countryside and local sports facilities to help 
promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a 
positive impact on sustainability. The site is also in 
close proximity to employment opportunities and 
local services and facilities which will have a 
positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability. Potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact 
on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on 
the character of both landscape and the built 
environment. In addition, tThere are protected 
species on the site, without appropriate mitigation 
measures development could have a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability. Flood risk 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
Only a small amount of 
development is required in 
Thatcham under the Core 
Strategy framework, 
development of this site would 
be out of keeping with this 
principle. This site should be 
considered as a strategic site.  
Development on this site of 
Floral Way would change the 
character of the built 
environment, but moving 
residential development to the 
east of Floral Way.  

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and it 

62 
 

P
age 316



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

on the site would have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from 
surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability.  
Development could have an impact on the 
landscape and change the character of the built 
environment, which could have a negative impact 
on sustainability. 

is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Floral Way is not 
acceptable at this stage and would be 
contrary to the Core Strategy. The 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is 
clear that the area to the east of 
Thatcham provides a strong contrast to 
the more immediate urban form, 
providing an important setting to 
Thatcham and rural transition zone 
between the urban area and the AONB. 
The area is characterised by its open 
farmland with major blocks of woodland 
and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an 
important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this are as a whole as part of a 
revised Local Plan, when the area can 
be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA011 
 
Land to the 
north of 
Bowling 
Green Road, 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
The site is well located for access close to some 
local services and facilities, although is some 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
Only a small amount of 
development is required in 
Thatcham under the Core 
Strategy framework, 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 

63 
 

P
age 317



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

Thatcham 
 
225 
dwellings 
(8.5ha at 
30dph) 

distance from the centre of Thatcham. There are 
with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of 
which have a positive impact on sustainability, 
although car dependency is likely to be high given 
the limited public transport options and level of local 
services and facilities. Potential negative impacts 
could occur in relation to the environmental 
sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the 
site, impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the 
built environment. Flooding can have a negative 
impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should reduce this impact. Development 
of the site would alter the character of the built 
environment as development would be taking place 
on the opposite side of the road to existing 
residential development. This could have a negative 
impact on sustainability. There are a number of 
unknown impacts, relating to the impact on ecology 
and flood risk. Impacts on ecology and subsequent 
environmental sustainability should be able to be 
mitigated against with appropriate buffers and 
wildlife protections. The site is not officially within a 
flood zone, although it is on the edge of a critical 
drainage area. Surface water runoff caused 
significant flooding in Thatcham in 2007, therefore, 
there is a possibility that without appropriate 
mitigation measures flooding could occur impacting 
negatively on all elements of sustainability. 

and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

development of this site would 
be out of keeping with this 
principle.   
Development of the site would 
be out of keeping with the 
exiting development pattern, as 
there is currently no residential 
development to the north of Tull 
Way. 
 

Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and it 
is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the 
Core Strategy is to ensure that 
development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive 
character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment across 
the District. The Core Strategy notes 
that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the 
way in which few have coalesced in 
recent times and so the blurring of the 
physical distinction between places has 
largely been avoided.  New 
development therefore needs to be 
appropriate in terms of location, scale 
and design in the context of the existing 
settlement form, pattern and context. 

64 
 

P
age 318



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

Any scheme for a particular site would 
therefore need to be in accordance with 
policies CS14 and CS19 of the Core 
Strategy and the Quality Design SPD.  
 
Conserving and enhancing the 
distinctive landscape character of the 
AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. 
The Council has therefore ensured that 
sites within or within the setting of the 
AONB have been subject to a 
Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity 
Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is a 
consistent assessment carried out by 
the Council’s landscape consultant to 
determine whether a site could be 
developed without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of 
the AONB.  The LCA (2015) for this site 
has concluded that development on the 
whole of this site would result in harm 
to the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB. Cold Ash is an 
AONB settlement and although it has 
expanded southwards out of the AONB 
and down the slope towards Thatcham, 
it retains a distinctive separate identity. 
The development of the whole of this 
site would lead to the perception of a 
merging of the two settlements and 
would therefore have an adverse 
impact on the AONB settlement pattern.  
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Bowling Green 
Road, for a large scale development is 

65 
 

P
age 319



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

not acceptable at this stage and would 
be contrary to the Core Strategy. It 
would lead to the perception of merging 
Cold Ash and Thatcham and would 
have adverse impact on the settlement 
pattern.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this area as a whole as part of 
a revised Local Plan, when the area 
can be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA014 
 
Land at 
Regency 
Park Hotel 
 
42 dwellings 
(1.4ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and 
facilities, it is some distance from the centre of 
Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing 
settlement. This has the potential to have a 
negative impact upon environmental sustainability. 
There are opportunities for walking and cycling and 
whilst public transport options are available these 
are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of 
car dependency. The site is brownfield land which 
will have a positive impact on environmental 
sustainability. Potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature of the site and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the 
built environment.  
The site is well located for access to local services 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
The site is separated from the 
existing settlement pattern by 
Tull Way and is some distance 
from the centre of Thatcham. 
The site is at risk from flooding.  
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 

66 
 

P
age 320



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

and facilities, although is some distance from the 
centre of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking 
and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability. Development of the site would alter 
the character of the built environment as 
development would be taking place on the opposite 
side of the road to existing residential development. 
This could have a negative impact on sustainability. 
There are a number of unknown impacts, relating to 
the impact on ecology and flood risk. Impacts on 
ecology and subsequent environmental 
sustainability should be able to be mitigated against 
with appropriate buffers and wildlife protections. 
The site is within a surface water flood area, 
surface water runoff caused significant flooding in 
Thatcham in 2007, therefore, there is a possibility 
that without appropriate mitigation measures 
flooding could occur impacting negatively on all 
elements of sustainability.  

scale development at this stage and it 
is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation. 
 
Conserving and enhancing the 
distinctive landscape character of the 
AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. 
The Council has therefore ensured that 
sites within or within the setting of the 
AONB have been subject to a 
Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity 
Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is a 
consistent assessment carried out by 
the Council’s landscape consultant to 
determine whether a site could be 
developed without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of 
the AONB. The LCA has recommended 
that this site is not developed in 
isolation but as part of a larger scheme 
in conjunction with THA011 and 
THA027, creating a large scale 
development to the north of Thatcham.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the 
Core Strategy is to ensure that 
development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive 
character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment across 
the District. The Core Strategy notes 
that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the 
way in which few have coalesced in 

67 
 

P
age 321



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

recent times and so the blurring of the 
physical distinction between places has 
largely been avoided.   
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Bowling Green 
Road, for a large scale development is 
not acceptable at this stage and would 
be contrary to the Core Strategy. It 
would lead to the perception of merging 
Cold Ash and Thatcham and would 
have adverse impact on the settlement 
pattern.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this area as a whole as part of 
a revised Local Plan, when the area 
can be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA019 
 
Land at Little 
Copse, off 
Cold Ash Hill 
and 
Lawrence’s 
Lane 
 
72 dwellings 
(2.4ha at 
30dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
The site is well located for access to local services 
and facilities, although is some distance from the 
centre of Thatcham, and relates poorly to the 
existing settlement. This has the potential to have a 
negative impact upon environmental and social 
sustainability. There are with opportunities for 
walking and cycling and whilst public transport 
options are available these are limited and it is likely 
will lead to a high level of car dependency. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
Half of the site is required for 
flood alleviation works as part of 
the Thatcham flood alleviation 
scheme. The remainder of the 
site is poorly related to the 
existing settlement pattern of 
Thatcham. Flood risk on the site 
is high.  
Only a small amount of 
development is required in 
Thatcham under the Core 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The site, although close to some local 
services and facilities, is poorly related 
to the existing settlement and would 
result in the encroachment of 
development towards Cold Ash. 
 
One of the strategic objectives of the 
Core Strategy is to ensure that 
development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive 

68 
 

P
age 322



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

A new 
proposal 
was 
submitted for 
25 dwellings 
(approx. 
1.4ha) at 
Preferred 
Options 
stage 

Development of the site would have a negative 
impact on both the landscape character and the 
character of the built environment. There would also 
be an impact on the identity of settlements as 
development would expand Thatcham to the north, 
encroaching upon Cold Ash. Development is likely 
to negatively impact on the environmental 
sustainability as the site is adjacent to a Local 
Wildlife Site. 
 all of settlement pattern. This could have a 
negative impact on sustainability. Appropriate 
mitigation, including buffers would be needed on 
the site to ensure there was not a negative impact 
on ecology and environmental sustainability. Flood 
risk on the site would have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from 
surface water flooding. Part of the site is required 
as part of the Thatcham flood alleviation works, 
meaning development on this part of the site would 
not be appropriate. Mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability. 

Strategy framework, other sites 
within the town are considered 
more appropriate for 
development.  

character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment across 
the District. The Core Strategy notes 
that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the 
way in which few have coalesced in 
recent times and so the blurring of the 
physical distinction between places has 
largely been avoided.  The 
development of this site would lead to 
the perception of a merging of the two 
settlements and would therefore have 
an adverse impact on the settlement 
pattern.  
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally.  
 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and, 
although this site is not large scale, it is 
considered that there are other sites 

69 
 

P
age 323



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation.  

THA024 
 
Land at 
Harts Hill 
Farm, 
Thatcham 
 
252 
dwellings 
(8.4ha at 
30dph) 
138 
dwellings 
(4.6ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect 
on sustainability. The SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
Whilst the site is well located for access to local 
services and facilities, although is some distance 
from the centre of Thatcham, with opportunities for 
walking and cycling, all of which will have a positive 
impact on sustainability. The site is also in close 
proximity to employment opportunities and local 
services and facilities which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability. There 
are opportunities for walking and cycling, although 
public transport options adjacent to the site are 
limited. This means that there is a neutral impact on 
sustainability in terms of transport. There are 
protected species on the site, and without 
appropriate mitigation there would be negative 
impact on sustainability. Potential negative impacts 
could occur in relation to the environmental 
sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the 
site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and 
the impact on the character of both landscape and 
the built environment. Flood risk on the site would 
have a negative impact on all elements of 
sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface 
water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce 
the impact of flooding and reduce the impact on 
sustainability. 
Development would change the character of the 
built environment in this part of Thatcham, with a 
potential negative impact on social and 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out that 
Thatcham only needs a small 
amount of development over the 
plan period. The potential on this 
site is much larger than 
required, and there are other 
smaller sites, that are 
considered more suited to 
development at this stage. 
 
Development on this site of 
Floral Way would change the 
character of the built 
environment, by moving a 
significant amount of residential 
development to the north east of 
Floral Way.  

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and it 
is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Floral Way is not 
acceptable at this stage and would be 
contrary to the Core Strategy. The 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is 
clear that the area to the east of 
Thatcham provides a strong contrast to 
the more immediate urban form, 
providing an important setting to 
Thatcham and rural transition zone 

70 
 

P
age 324



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

environmental sustainability.  The site is at risk from 
surface water flooding, with two water courses 
flowing through the site. Without flood mitigation 
and SUDs there is potential for a negative impact 
on sustainability. 

between the urban area and the AONB. 
The area is characterised by its open 
farmland with major blocks of woodland 
and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an 
important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this area as a whole as part of 
a revised Local Plan, when the area 
can be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA025 
 
Land at 
Lower Way, 
Thatcham 
 
87 
Approximatel
y 85 
dwellings 
(2.9ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, 
close to local services and facilities with a number 
of public transport options and opportunities for 
walking and cycling, which result ingive a positive 
effect in terms of sustainability. Potential negative 
impacts could occur in relation to environmental 
sustainability due to the site being greenfield, 
however the adopted Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing 
requirement to be met, development on greenfield 
sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements 
of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures 
would need to be put into place to reduce any 
potential negative impacts. 
Further potential negative impacts on environmental 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities with 
public transport opportunities 
and walking and cycling routes 
into Thatcham Town Centre.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 

71 
 

P
age 325



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

sustainability could occur due the proximity of the 
site to areas with ecological designations (SSSI, 
SAC and a Local Nature Reserve).  The site could 
also negatively impact upon the landscape 
character and the character of the built environment 
as the area provides an important open area which 
physically and visually separates Newbury from 
Thatcham (LSS, 2009). As long as appropriate 
mitigation measures are introduced then these 
negative impacts could be reduced and positive 
effects on sustainability will be delivered.  The site 
is close to the sewage treatments works, and the 
impact that this would have on development is 
unknown, however appropriate mitigation measures 
will reduce any possible effects on social 
sustainability.  The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the 
short term through the construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. which 
without appropriate mitigation could have a 
negative impact on social sustainability.  The site is 
not at risk from flooding, which has a positive 
impact on sustainability; SUDs would be required to 
ensure that development did not have a negative 
impact on flooding elsewhere. 

scale development at this stage. 
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Thatcham (north of 
Floral Way and Bowling Green Road) is  
not acceptable at this stage and would 
be contrary to the Core Strategy. The 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is 
clear that the areas to the north of 
Thatcham provide an important setting 
to Thatcham and a rural transition zone 
between the urban area and the AONB. 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this area as a whole as part of 
a revised Local Plan, when the area 
can be holistically planned for. 
 
This site (THA025) to the south of 
Thatcham offers a site which is well 
related to the existing settlement and is 
of a scale appropriate to the level of 
growth required for the town. In 
addition, whilst the Landscape 
Sensitivity Study (2009) outlines that 
the site is in an important area 
(Thatcham Lakes) which physically and 
visually separates Newbury from 
Thatcham it is not considered that 
development on this site, given its 
particular location, would detract from 
the principle of maintaining the 
separate identity of the two settlements.  
 
Provided the necessary information and 
assessments are provided, along with 
the implementation of appropriate 

72 
 

P
age 326



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

avoidance and mitigation measures, to 
ensure the legally protected habitats 
and species present in the SAC and 
SSSI are not adversely affected, it is 
considered this site is suitable for 
allocation.  

THA027 
 
The Creek, 
Heath Lane, 
Thatcham 
 
40 1 
dwellings 
(1.36ha at 
30dph) 
 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and 
facilities, it is some distance from the centre of 
Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing 
settlement. This has the potential to have a 
negative impact upon environmental sustainability. 
There are opportunities for walking and cycling and 
whilst public transport options are available these 
are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of 
car dependency.  The site is well located for access 
to local services and facilities, although it is some 
distance from the centre of Thatcham, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which 
have a positive impact on sustainability.  The 
majority of the site is greenfield land as it 
iscomprising residential garden, meaning there 
could be and as a result could have a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should be introduced to reduce this 
impact. Additional potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature of the site and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the 
built environment.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
The site is poorly related to 
Thatcham without adjacent sites 
being developed. This would 
lead to a much larger area being 
developed. The Core Strategy 
sets out that Thatcham only 
needs a small amount of 
development over the plan 
period, so development of this 
site, with other adjacent sites is 
not required at this stage.  

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and it 
is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation.  
 
Conserving and enhancing the 
distinctive landscape character of the 
AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. 
The Council has therefore ensured that 
sites within or within the setting of the 

73 
 

P
age 327



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

AONB have been subject to a 
Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity 
Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is a 
consistent assessment carried out by 
the Council’s landscape consultant to 
determine whether a site could be 
developed without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of 
the AONB. The LCA has recommended 
that this site is not developed in 
isolation but as part of a larger scheme 
in conjunction with THA011 and 
THA014, creating a large scale 
development to the north of Thatcham.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the 
Core Strategy is to ensure that 
development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive 
character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment across 
the District. The Core Strategy notes 
that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the 
way in which few have coalesced in 
recent times and so the blurring of the 
physical distinction between places has 
largely been avoided.   
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Bowling Green 
Road, for a large scale development is 
not acceptable at this stage and would 
be contrary to the Core Strategy. It 
would lead to the perception of merging 
Cold Ash and Thatcham and would 

74 
 

P
age 328



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

have adverse impact on the settlement 
pattern.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this area as a whole as part of 
a revised Local Plan, when the area 
can be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA028 
 
Land north 
of Floral 
Way and 
East of Harts 
Hill Road 
 
103 90 
dwellings 
(3ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
There are no significant sustainability impacts from 
this site. The site is easily accessible by public 
transport, walking and cycling and within close 
proximity of open countryside and local sports 
facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle, 
all of which have a positive impact on sustainability.  
The site is also in close proximity to employment 
opportunities and local services and facilities which 
will have a positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability.  Potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature of the site and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the 
built environment. Flood risk on the site could have 
a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, 
as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. 
Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability. 
Development could have an impact on the 
landscape and change the character of the built 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out that 
Thatcham only needs a small 
amount of development over the 
plan period. The potential on this 
site is larger than required, and 
there are other smaller sites, 
that are considered more suited 
to development at this stage. 
 
Development would change the 
character of the built 
environment, by developing to 
the north of Floral Way.  

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally. 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and 
although this site is not considered 
large scale in terms of allocations for 
Thatcham, it is considered that there 

75 
 

P
age 329



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

environment, which could have a negative impact 
on sustainability. While the site is not within an 
official flood risk area, there is evidence of surface 
water flows along the boundary of the site, which 
could lead to flooding and a negative impact on 
sustainability unless suitable mitigation measures 
were considered.   

are other sites within the town which 
are more suitable for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of 
developing north of Floral Way is not 
acceptable at this stage and would be 
contrary to the Core Strategy. The 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is 
clear that the area to the east of 
Thatcham provides a strong contrast to 
the more immediate urban form, 
providing an important setting to 
Thatcham and rural transition zone 
between the urban area and the AONB. 
The area is characterised by its open 
farmland with major blocks of woodland 
and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an 
important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in 
accordance with the Core Strategy, to 
consider this are as a whole as part of a 
revised Local Plan, when the area can 
be holistically planned for ensuring 
infrastructure requirements can be 
delivered to meet the demand from new 
development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal 
manner. 

THA037 
 
Land at 
Lawrences 
Lane, 
Thatcham 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA 
does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and 
facilities, it is some distance from the centre of 
Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
 
Likelihood: 
High 
 

This site was not appraised as a 
reasonable alternative at the 
preferred options stage – new 
site submission. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The site, although close to some local 
services and facilities, is poorly related 
to the existing settlement and would 
result in the encroachment of 
development towards Cold Ash. 

76 
 

P
age 330



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

Approximatel
y 15 
dwellings 

settlement. This has the potential to have a 
negative impact upon environmental and social 
sustainability. There are opportunities for walking 
and cycling and whilst public transport options are 
available these are limited and it is likely will lead to 
a high level of car dependency. Development of the 
site would have a negative impact on both the 
landscape character and the character of the built 
environment. There would also be an impact on the 
identity of settlements as development would 
expand Thatcham to the north encroaching upon 
Cold Ash.  
 

Scale:  
Newbury and 
Thatcham 
spatial area 
 
Duration: 
Permanent 
 
Timing:  
Short to Long 
term 

 
One of the strategic objectives of the 
Core Strategy is to ensure that 
development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and 
enhancement of the local distinctive 
character and identity of the built, 
historic and natural environment across 
the District. The Core Strategy notes 
that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the 
way in which few have coalesced in 
recent times and so the blurring of the 
physical distinction between places has 
largely been avoided.  The 
development of this site would lead to 
the perception of a merging of the two 
settlements and would therefore have 
an adverse impact on the settlement 
pattern.  
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial 
Strategy for the District and provides an 
overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is 
to receive a lower allocation than other 
urban areas given the rapid expansion 
of the town in recent years. This is to 
allow Thatcham a period of 
consolidation, ensuring the 
infrastructure and town centre facilities 
can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. 
This will enable Thatcham to become 
more self-contained, encouraging 
residents to shop and socialise locally.  

77 
 

P
age 331



Table 15 – Summary of Thatcham Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, 
Thatcham will not accommodate large 
scale development at this stage and, 
although this site is not large scale, it is 
considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable 
for allocation.  

 
 
 
Summary 
The SA/SEAs do not show any sites to have any significant effects on sustainability; all sites are shown to have a predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments made at Preferred 
Options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. Following the 
Preferred Options consultation 1 One site (THA025) is being recommended for allocation in Thatcham. 
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide development over the plan period. The 
Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. 
This is to allow Thatcham a period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the demands of 
the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance 
with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will not accommodate large scale development at this stage. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Thatcham (north of Floral Way and Bowling Green Road) is not acceptable at this stage and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy. The Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the areas to the north of Thatcham provide an important 
setting to Thatcham and a rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the 
Core Strategy, to consider this area (including THA007, THA008 THA024 and THA028) as a whole as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can 
be holistically planned for ensuring the infrastructure requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
The Core Strategy notes that a key feature of even the larger settlements in West Berkshire is the way in which few have coalesced in recent times 
and so the blurring of the physical distinction between places has largely been avoided. For the remaining sites in north Thatcham (THA011, THA014, 

78 
 

P
age 332



THA019, THA027 and THA037) the above principle is compounded by the perception of merging Cold Ash and Thatcham and the potential adverse 
impact on the settlement pattern, either individually or combined. Other sites in Thatctam are considered to be more appropriate for allocation. 
 
As a result the sites north of Thatcham (THA007, THA008, THA011, THA014, THA019, THA024, THA027, THA028 and THA037) are not 
recommended for allocation.  
 
Of the 2 sites to the south of Thatcham, THA006 is not recommended for allocation. The Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study (LSS, 2009) 
identifies the site as being located within an area (Thatcham Lakes) which provides an important open area which physically and visually separates 
Newbury from Thatcham and it is considered that the development of this site would fail to reflect this principle and detract from the separate 
identities of the two settlements. The constraints on the site reduce the developable area, setting any development back from Lower Way which 
would fail to reflect the existing settlement pattern and would not relate well to existing development along this road. In addition, the close proximity of 
the sewage treatment works could impact on the quality of life for future residents. Another site in Thatcham is considered to be more appropriate for 
development. 
 
THA025 is recommended for allocation. THA025 offers a site which is well related to the existing settlement and is of a scale appropriate to the level 
of growth required for the town. In addition, whilst the Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) outlines that the site is in an important area (Thatcham 
Lakes) which physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham it is not considered that development on this site, given its particular location, 
would detract from the principle of maintaining the separate identity of the two settlements. Provided the necessary information and assessments are 
provided, along with the implementation of appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures, to ensure the legally protected habitats and species 
present in the SAC and SSSI are not adversely affected, it is considered this site is suitable for allocation.  
 
Thatcham only needs a limited number of dwellings through the core strategy (approximately 60 dwellings). The majority of the sites submitted have 
potential for significantly more than the required number of dwellings and so it would not be appropriate to consider the sites for allocation through this 
DPD. Consideration of these sites would be more appropriate through the new Local Plan. THA007 / THA008 / THA011 / THA024 / THA028 all have 
a development potential of more than 100 dwellings. Development of these sites would be most appropriate as a comprehensive development of the 
whole site, rather than as part of a site and so they are not recommended for allocation.  
 
THA014 / THA027 are poorly related to the existing settlement without additional sites being developed. The SA/SEA highlights that development of 
these sites would have a negative impact on the character of the built environment and subsequently have a negative effect on environmental 
sustainability. As a result these sites have not been recommended for allocation. 
 
THA025 is the only site in Thatcham to be recommended for allocation. The only negative sustainability impact highlighted on the SA/SEA is due to 
the site being Greenfield. The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities with good opportunities for walking 
and cycling, as well as use of public transport. All of which have a positive effect on sustainability.  

79 
 

P
age 333



7.2.1.3 Cold Ash 
Cold Ash is a Service Village, where some limited development is appropriate. Cold Ash is located to the north of Thatcham, with the north and 
eastern part of the village adjacent, or within the AONB. No water courses run through the village, so there is no risk of fluvial flooding, surface water 
flood risk is limited to a small area to the south of the village. Run off from Cold Ash can have an impact on surface water flooding in Thatcham and 
any development would need to take account of this risk.  
 
Eight sites were submitted through the SHLAA process, with four sites being assessed as potentially developable. Following landscape assessment 
work COL010 was ruled out on landscape grounds. A ninth site (COL011) was submitted after the initial finalisation of the SHLAA in December 2013. 
This site was assessed as potentially developable, although following landscape work the site was ruled out on landscape grounds. A SA/SEA was 
subsequently undertaken on these four three sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. The 
consultation on the preferred options and further technical work have informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed 
submission DPD.  The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward as 
preferred options for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage.  
 
Preferred options consultation responses: 

• COL002 - 40 responses 
• COL004 – 1 response 

• COL006 - 29 response 
• COL011 – 19 responses 

• Cold Ash - 4 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Cold Ash (general, inc. rejected sites) – 2 responses 
• HSA6 (COL002) – 4 responses 

• HSA7 (COL006) – 4 responses 
• Cold Ash Settlement Boundary Revisions – 0 responses 

 
 
Table 16 – Summary of Cold Ash Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

COL002 
 
Land at 
Poplar 
Farm, 
Cold Ash 
 
21 
dwellings 
(0.7ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is located within a village setting, with good access to 
local services and facilities within the village, which will have a 
positive impact on sustainability. However, there will be a 
degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider 
higher level services and facilities, which could have a 
negative impact on sustainability, without the promotion of 
alternative modes of transport. in terms of an increase in 
greenhouse gas emissions.There is potential for protected 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to Cold 
Ash and sits within an area of 
low/medium landscape 
sensitivity. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
Significant concerns were raised 
in the preferred options 
consultation about the impacts 
on flooding, highway safety and 
the rural character of the area.  
These concerns have been 
followed up but no new or 
additional information has been 
submitted that show that the site 

80 
 

P
age 334



Table 16 – Summary of Cold Ash Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

Approx 10 
– 20 
dwellings 

species on the site, and should this be confirmed appropriate 
mitigation would be required to ensure that development does 
not have a negative effect on environmental sustainability. 
The site is at risk from surface water flooding, without 
appropriate mitigation flooding can have a negative impact on 
all elements of sustainability. There would be potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the 
site was developed in line with the Landscape Assessment 
and ensured the conservation and enhancement of the Grade 
II listed Poplar Farmhouse and its setting. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures may also need to be 
implemented so that any protected species were not 
adversely affected. The site is susceptible to surface water 
flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements 
of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need 
to be put into place to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   

to Long term is not deliverable if the 
appropriate mitigation is put in 
place.  
 
This mitigation will include 
taking into account the 
outcomes of a Flood Risk 
Assessment which includes the 
provision of safe flow routes and 
appropriate flood mitigation 
measures. The scheme will also 
be informed by an extended 
phase 1 habitat survey.  

COL004 
 
Liss, Cold 
Ash Hill, 
Cold Ash 
 
27 
dwellings 
(0.9ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects  
The site is located within a village setting, with good access to 
local services and facilities within the village, giving a positive 
impact on sustainability. However, there will be a degree of 
car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher 
level services and facilities, which would have a negative 
impact on sustainability without the promotion of alternative 
modes of transport in terms of an increase in greenhouse gas 
emissions. The site has easy access into Newbury and 
Thatcham for a wider range of service and facilities. 
Development on this site has the potential to detract from the 
landscape character, leading to a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. There is anecdotal evidence that 
surface water flooding occurs on the site, meaning that 
mitigation measures would be required to ensure no negative 
effects on sustainability.  There would be potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability due to 
landscape and visual impacts and also unless appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures were implemented so that 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
While the site is adjacent to the 
settlement boundary the site 
itself is poorly related to the 
existing settlement pattern and 
has the potential to adversely 
impact on the setting and 
separate identity of Cold Ash 
and Ashmore Green.  
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
No change to recommendation 
from preferred options.  
 
Other sites in Cold Ash are 
considered more appropriate for 
development 

81 
 

P
age 335



Table 16 – Summary of Cold Ash Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

any protected species were not adversely affected. There is 
anecdotal evidence that surface water flooding occurs on the 
site. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to 
be put into place to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   

COL006 
 
St 
Gabriel’s 
Farm, 
Cold Ash 
 
12 
dwellings 
(0.4ha at 
30dph) 
approx 5 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects  
The site is located within a village setting, with good access to 
local services and facilities within the village, which will have a 
positive impact on sustainability. However, there will be a 
degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider 
higher level services and facilities, which could have a 
negative impact on sustainability, without the promotion of 
alternative modes of transport in terms of an increase in 
greenhouse gas emissions. Development of the site has 
potential to change the character of the built environment and 
impact negatively on environmental sustainability unless it is 
developed in line with the Landscape Assessment and the 
existing settlement pattern. Due to the lack of pavements 
along this part of The Ridge there is potential for a negative 
impact on all elements of sustainability due to road safety 
concerns and so consideration of appropriate mitigation 
measures to reduce this impact would be required. There is 
the potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless the site is developed in line with the 
outcome of the contamination assessment. Flooding has the 
potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  
Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into 
place to reduce any potential negative impacts.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation for 6 dwellings 
The site is well related to the 
existing development. The 
proposed number for allocation 
has been reduced to ensure 
development remains in line 
with the existing settlement 
pattern.   
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
Particular concerns were raised 
in the preferred options 
consultation about the impact on 
the rural character of the area 
and highway safety.  These 
have been carefully assessed 
but no new or additional 
information has been submitted 
that would rule the site out if the 
appropriate mitigation is put in 
place.  
 
This mitigation will include 
taking into account the 
outcomes of technical studies 
including a Flood Risk 
Assessment and an extended 
phase 1 habitat survey and the 
contamination assessment. 

COL011 
 
Land at 
Cold Ash 
Hill 
 
15 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is located within a village setting, with good access to 
local services and facilities within the village, which will have a 
positive impact on sustainability. However, there will be a 
degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 

The site is recommended for 
allocation for 6 dwellings 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement and in line 
with the exiting building line.  
 

Additional landscape work 
carried out following the 
preferred options consultation 
indicates that development of 
this site would result in harm to 
the AONB. 

82 
 

P
age 336



Table 16 – Summary of Cold Ash Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

dwellings 
(0.5ha at 
30dph) 

higher level services and facilities, which could have a 
negative impact on sustainability , in terms of an increase in 
greenhouse gas emissions. The site is at risk from surface 
water flooding, without appropriate mitigation flooding can 
have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability.  

spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

 
Site Selection Summary 
The SA/SEAs do not show any of the sites to have any significant sustainability effects, all sites are shown to have a predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments made at preferred 
options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. Following the 
Preferred Options consultation 2 Two sites are now recommended for allocation.   
 
As Cold Ash is in close proximity to the AONB the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is the 
paramount consideration when sites are being assessed. A Landscape Assessment has been undertaken for sites COL002, COL006 and COL011 
and advised of whether the sites should be allocated and whether mitigation/enhancement measures would be possible to ensure that the negative 
impact on the character of the AONB, and consequential negative impact on environmental sustainability, is minimized 
 
COL002 is recommended for allocation. The developable area takes into account the potential deliverability of the site. Appropriate mitigation will be 
required. This will include taking into account the outcomes of a Flood Risk Assessment which includes the provision of safe flow routes and 
appropriate flood mitigation measures. This will reduce the potential for negative environmental impact. The FRA will inform the final capacity of the 
site.  
 
COL004 has is not been recommended for allocation due to the site’s relationship to the existing settlement. The SA/SEA highlights a potential 
negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the impact on the character of the landscape and built environment.  
 
COL006 is recommended for allocation. The site can deliver a low density linear development in accordance with the outcomes of the Landscape 
Capacity Assessment which reflects the existing settlement pattern. 
 
significant difference between the SA/SEAs for COL002 / COL006 / COL011. All three sites have been recommended for allocation. COL002 and 
COL011 are recommended for a lower number of dwellings than the development potential. This is because development of the sites needs to be 
done in keeping with the existing building line of linear development, or there would be a negative effect on environmental sustainability.  

83 
 

P
age 337



7.2.2 Eastern Area Spatial Area 

7.2.2.1 Eastern Urban Area 
The Eastern Urban Area consists of Purley on Thames, Tilehurst and Calcot and lies within the Eastern spatial area. The area has a close functional 
relationship with Reading. A broad location was identified in the Core Strategy covering the Eastern Urban Area, the Rural Service Centre of Theale 
and the land in between as an area of search within which to find future development sites.  
 
 As one of the District’s urban area, the Eastern Urban Area is a focus for development within the District and has relatively good accessibility to 
employment opportunities. Access to other facilities and services varies and the area draws upon the wider range of facilities available in Reading.   
 
There are good local bus connections and a mainline station at Tilehurst with trains to Reading and London and northwards to Oxford.   
 
The Core Strategy points out that there are high quality landscape and environmental assets in this part of West Berkshire which includes the 
Thames National Path and North Wessex Downs AONB which adjoins the urban area. The Kennet Valley East Biodiversity Opportunity Area lies to 
the south of Reading. Landscape assessment work was carried out on 3 sites due to the relationship between this part of the District and the North 
Wessex Downs AONB. This has advised on developable area and necessary mitigation for these sites.  
 
To the south of the urban area much of the land is within Flood Zones 2 and 3. There are also issues relating to traffic congestion, particularly in the 
vicinity of the motorway junction. Proximity to Junction 12 of the M4 as well as the A4 causes additional impacts in terms of noise and air quality.  
 
25 sites were identified in the SHLAA and 12 were assessed as potentially developable. Three were automatically excluded as they are located within 
the settlement boundary. The remaining nine sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development and an SA/SEA was undertaken for 
these sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. Due to the technical issues in the Eastern spatial area 
that were highlighted by the site selection process, a wider range of options were tested in the Eastern spatial area than in the other three spatial 
areas. The consultation on the preferred options, and further technical work has informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the 
proposed submission DPD.  The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken 
forward for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage. 
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked the Council to reconsider the approach to the Eastern Area (including Theale) to see 
whether the shortfall in allocated sites could be met. Where changes have been proposed to sites, they have been reassessed and the assessments 
updated where required.  
 
The site selection process has highlighted some technical issues in the Eastern spatial area as a whole. This has resulted in a wider range of options 
being tested in the Eastern spatial area than in the other three spatial areas. This is to enable final choices to be informed by additional technical work 
and consultation.  
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  

84 
 

P
age 338



• EUA003/008 – 1370 responses, 71% template 
• EUA007 – 1210 responses, 69% template 
• EUA025 – 100 responses, 30% template 
• EUA026 – 94 responses, 32% template 

• EUA031 – 1290 responses, 70% template 
• EUA033 – 1317 responses, 72% template 
• EUA035 – 53 responses, 15% template  

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses 

• EUA (General, inc. rejected sites) – 14 responses 
• HSA8 (EUA031) – 794 responses, 90% template 
• HSA9 (EUA003) – 794 responses, 90% template 
• HSA10 (EUA008) – 796 responses, 90% template  

• HSA11 (EUA035) – 8 responses 
• HSA12 (EUA025) – 7 responses 
• HSA13 (EUA026) – 6 response 
• EUA settlement Boundary Revisions – 1 response 

 
Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

EUA003 
 
Stoneham’s 
Farm, Long 
Lane, 
Reading, 
RG31 5UG 
 
15 dwellings 
(0.77ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
Development of this site would not lead to any significant 
sustainability issues. There are positive impacts on 
sustainability as the site is close to local services and facilities 
enabling walking and cycling and the promotion of healthy, 
active lifestyles. There is potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability unless the mitigation measures 
set out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to. The 
cumulative impact of developing both EUA003/008 and 
EUA033 would have a negative impact on the character of the 
AONB and therefore, on environmental sustainability which 
could not be mitigated. Due to the site’s proximity to ancient 
woodland and trees protected by TPOs, appropriate buffers 
would need to be provided to avoid negative impacts on 
sustainability. The site is within an area at risk from surface 
water flooding. Although there is no evidence of the site 
flooding, if it did this would have a negative effect on 
sustainability. The development of the site for housing will 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
option to be explored 
further, alongside EUA008.  
The site is well related to 
local services and facilities 
with good opportunities for 
walking and cycling both 
locally and in towards 
Reading.  
Development will need to 
take into account the 
Landscape Assessment, with 
only part of the site being 
considered suitable for 
development. Appropriate 
mitigation measures will be 
required to ensure no harm 
to the landscape character of 
the AONB.  

The site is recommended for 
allocation in conjunction with 
EUA008.  
A significant number of 
responses were received during 
the consultation, however these 
have been followed up and no 
significant new or additional 
information was submitted that 
would rule the site out for 
development.  
 
The site is being promoted for 15 
dwellings, in a mix of sizes.  
 
The site should be planned and 
developed comprehensively with 
EUA008, including footpath and 
cycle linkages.  

85 
 

P
age 339



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

EUA007 
 
Turnhams 
Farm, 
Pincents 
Lane, 
Tilehurst 
(Pincents 
Hill).  
 
285 dwellings 
(9.5ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.   
There are positive impacts on sustainability as the site is 
close to local services and facilities enabling walking and 
cycling and the promotion of healthy, active lifestyles. 
However, there are also a number of negative environmental 
impacts resulting from the development of the site including 
the site’s proximity to biodiversity and geodiversity assets. 
Appropriate buffers, mitigation and careful design would be 
required to mitigate the potential negative environmental 
impacts. As the areas proposed for development are not 
adjacent to existing residential areas this has the potential for 
a negative impact on social sustainability.  Part of the site is 
within a surface water flood risk area; although there is no 
evidence of the site flooding, if it did, this would have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. 
The site is well related to 
local services and facilities, 
both for access locally and in 
to Reading. Work has been 
done since the previous 
planning application (and 
subsequent appeal) to take 
into account the impact on 
the landscape. There are a 
number of ecological, 
environmental, water supply, 
archaeological and highways 
issues that would need to be 
resolved.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Significant concern was raised 
during the preferred options 
consultation regarding the traffic 
impact from IKEA, as both IKEA 
and the site would share access 
from Pincents Lane. This is also 
indicated by the Council’s 
Transport Assessment.  
 
Further landscape work carried 
out as part of the preferred 
options reduced the developable 
area of the site from that 
proposed by the site promoter, 
but removing the eastern portion 
of the site.  
 
Given that the IKEA scheme is 
yet to be fully implemented, it is 
considered appropriate to allow 
time for the IKEA traffic situation 
to be monitored before allocation 
of the site can be considered.   

EUA008 Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on Effect: The site is recommended The site is recommended for 

86 
 

P
age 340



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

 
Stoneham’s 
Farm, Long 
lane, 
Reading 
RG31 5UG 
 
60 dwellings 
 44 dwellings 
(2.1ha at 
20dph) 
 
 

sustainability, and the SA/SEA highlights potentially 
negative effects on environmental sustainability (without 
mitigation).  
There would be no significant sustainability impacts from 
development on this site. The site scores predominantly 
neutral, with positive scores in relation to sustainable 
transport, walking and cycling options as well as opportunities 
for active, healthy lifestyles and lack of flood risk.  The site is 
in the AONB, therefore there is potential, without mitigation, 
for the site to have a significantly negative impact on the 
character of the landscape. The Landscape Assessment 
indicates that development would be appropriate on part of 
the site, and sets out the mitigation measures that would be 
required to reduce the impact of development on the 
environment. The cumulative impact of development of both 
EUA003/008 and EUA033 would have a negative impact on 
the character of the AONB and therefore, on environmental 
sustainability which could not be mitigated. The development 
of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 

Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further, alongside EUA003.  
The site is well related to 
local services and facilities 
with good opportunities for 
walking and cycling both 
locally and in towards 
Reading.  
Development will need to 
take into account the 
Landscape Assessment, with 
only part of the site being 
considered suitable for 
development. Appropriate 
mitigation measures will be 
required to ensure no harm 
to the landscape character of 
the AONB. 

allocation in conjunction with 
EUA003. 
A significant number of 
responses were received during 
the consultation, however, these 
have been assessed and 
followed up and no significant 
new or additional information was 
submitted that would rule the site 
out.  
 
The site is being promoted for up 
to 80 dwellings, by the site 
promoter. However, the Council 
believe that a density similar to 
that of the surrounding area 
would be more appropriate giving 
approximately 60 dwellings on 
the site.  
 
The site should be planned and 
developed comprehensively with 
EUA003 including footpath and 
cycle links.  
 
Conditional planning permission 
has been granted for up to 66 
dwellings on the site, subject to 
completion of a legal agreement.  

EUA025 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA highlights that development 

Effect: 
Predominantly 

Part of the site is 
recommended for 

Part of the site is 
recommended for allocation.  

87 
 

P
age 341



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

Land 
adjacent to 
Junction 12 
of the M4, 
Bath Road 
 
50-100 150-
200 dwellings 
(1.7ha to 
3.4ha at 
30dph) 
 

of the whole site would have a negative and potentially 
significantly negative impact on social sustainability. 
Limiting the size of developable area and introducing 
mitigation would mean no significant sustainability 
effects.   
There is potential for significant negative impacts of air quality 
and noise on this site due to the proximity to the M4/A4 
junction. Mitigation measures would need to be included, 
including careful design to minimise the impact. Flooding is 
also a risk on the southern part of the site, with ground water 
and surface water flood risk also present on the site. An FRA 
will identify the risk of flooding and direct development 
towards the least risky parts of the site. SUDs and other flood 
mitigation will be required. The site scores positively in terms 
of access to employment and services and facilities and 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 
 
Following a question from the Inspector during the 
examination hearing sessions the developable area of the site 
has been extended. The site has been reassessed and there 
is no change in the SA/SEA outcome as a result of this 
change in developable area. 

neutral (with 
mitigation)  
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
long term 

allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local service and facilities, 
including the bus interchange 
at the retail park.  
Only part of the site is 
recommended for allocation 
due to air and noise pollution 
generated by the M4/A4 and 
the flood risk on the southern 
part of the site. The 
Environment Agency strongly 
recommends that this site is 
not allocated. The smaller 
area for development will 
also reduce any conflict with 
the Highways Agency’s 
proposed Smart Motorway 
Scheme (proposed to start at 
junction 12).  

Only a small part  proportion of 
the site is considered appropriate 
for development due to the 
proximity to M4 junction 12 
causing amenity issues in terms 
of exposure to noise and air 
pollution. This was an issue 
raised during the consultation.   
 
Highways England has not raised 
any objection to development on 
the site, however, the site is 
proposed to be used as a 
compound site for the M4 Smart 
Motorway scheme, and, 
therefore, the site would need to 
come forward slightly later in the 
plan period.  
 
The developable area of the site 
was reconsidered following the 
examination hearing sessions to 
allow for some additional 
development in the Eastern 
Urban Area. The site has been 
reassessed and it is not 
considered that increasing the 
developable area of the site will 
result in a negative impact on 
sustainability. The final number of 
dwellings on the site will be 

88 
 

P
age 342



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 
determined by the various 
technical assessments required 
at planning application stage.  

EUA026 
 
Land 
adjacent to 
Bath Road 
and Dorking 
Way, Calcot 
 
 
35 dwellings  
 
24 dwellings 
(0.8ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability (with mitigation) and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
There is potential for negative impacts of air quality and noise 
due to proximity to the A4 but with appropriate mitigation 
measures and design this impact should be mitigated against. 
A small part of the site is within an area at risk from surface 
water flooding, with the appropriate Flood Risk Assessment 
and mitigation measures (inc. SUDs) there should not be an 
impact on sustainability.  There are a number of positive 
impacts in relation to sustainable transport and access to local 
services and facilities. This easy access should reduce the 
need for private car travel, reducing the impact on 
environmental sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
predominantly 
neutral (with 
mitigation) 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local service and facilities, 
including the bus interchange 
at the retail park.  
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
Highways England has not raised 
any objection to development on 
the site, however, the site is 
proposed to be used as a 
compound site for the M4 Smart 
Motorway scheme, and, 
therefore, the site would need to 
come forward slightly later in the 
plan period. 
 
The proposed number of 
dwellings has been increased to 
take into account comments 
made by the site promoter in the 
consultation (who would like to 
see a minimum of 50dph), and 
considering the density of the 
neighbouring residential areas.   

EUA031 
 
Land to the 
east of 
Sulham Hill 
 
 
Approx. 35 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant, positive or negative, impacts from 
this site. The site is well located for services and facilities as 
well as having good public transport links into Reading, giving 
a number of positive sustainability impacts. There are 
potential negative impacts relating the loss of greenfield land, 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. 
The site is well related to the 
existing residential 
development, and local 
service and facilities and is 

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
A significant number of 
responses were received during 
the consultation, however, these 
have been assessed and 
followed up and no significant 
new or additional information was 

89 
 

P
age 343



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

dwellings  
29 dwellings 
(0.96ha at 
30dph) 

although with appropriate mitigation the negative impact could 
be reduced. Whilst housing development contributes towards 
economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 

Permanent 
Timing: short to 
long term 

not at risk from flooding. 
There are no significant 
issues on the site.  
 

submitted that would rule the site 
out.  
 
The capacity of the site has been 
increased to take into account 
the site promoter’s comments 
(who would like to see 
approximately 40 dwellings), and 
considering the density of the 
neighboring residential areas.   
 
Conditional planning permission 
has been granted for up to 39 
dwellings on the site subject to 
completion of a legal agreement.  

EUA032  
Land to the 
East of 
Sulham Hill, 
between 
Barefoot 
Copse and 
Cornwell 
Copse 
 
45 dwellings 
(1.5ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant impacts from this site. The site is well 
located for services and facilities as well as having good 
public transport links into Reading. There is potential for 
development of the site to have a negative impact on the 
character of the landscape as the site is rural in nature, 
despite being adjacent to residential development on one site. 
The Landscape Assessment work carried out indicates that 
the site would be suitable for development with appropriate 
mitigation.  Access to the site is via Sulham Hill which is 
narrow in places, and does not have footways, which could 
lead to issues of Road Safety without appropriate and 
extensive mitigation. Access would need to come from 
Vicarage Wood Way. Access onto Sulham Hill would have a 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term. 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation. 
While the site is close to local 
services and facilities, 
significant improvements 
would be required to the 
highway network to enable 
development to take place. 
This would significantly 
change the character of the 
rural lane (Sulham Hill). This 
is not considered 
appropriate.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No alternative access is available 
to the site, meaning that access 
would need to come from Sulham 
Hill, which is not considered 
acceptable in landscape terms. 

90 
 

P
age 344



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

negative impact on the character of the landscape, and 
therefore, the impact on environmental sustainability could not 
be mitigated. Whilst housing development contributes towards 
economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 

EUA033 
 
Land to the 
east of Long 
Lane and 
south of 
Blackthorn 
Close 
 
30 dwellings 
(1ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant impacts from this site. The site is well 
located for services and facilities as well as having good 
public transport links into Reading, meaning the site scores 
positively on these elements of sustainability.  The site is rural 
in nature and adjacent to the AONB, meaning that there 
would be potential for development to harm the character of 
the landscape or to change the character of the built 
environment. The Landscape Assessment work indicates that 
the site would be suitable for development, although 
appropriate mitigation measures would be required to ensure 
that the potential negative impact was reduced and 
neutralised where possible. The cumulative impact of 
development of both EUA0033 and EUA003/008 would have 
a negative impact on the character of the AONB and 
therefore, on environmental sustainability which could not be 
mitigated. The site is adjacent to ancient woodland and a local 
wildlife site, as well as having some TPOs on site. Appropriate 
mitigation and buffers would be required to mitigate this 
impact. A small part of the site is within an area at risk from 
surface water flooding, with the appropriate Flood Risk 
Assessment and mitigation measures (inc. SUDs) there 
should not be an impact on sustainability. Whilst housing 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term. 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. The site is adjacent 
to existing residential 
development, close to local 
service and facilities. There 
are no significant issues on 
the site.  
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The landscape assessment 
states that this site should not be 
developed alongside 
EUA003/008, giving a preference 
for development on EUA003/008, 
due to the cumulative impact 
development of both sites would 
have on the AONB.  
 
Highway improvements to reduce 
flood risk and improve road 
safety along Long Lane and at 
the junction with Long 
Lane/Sulham Hill would also be 
required. While these issues do 
not impact on the SA/SEA, they 
are a implementation issue, 
which could impact on viability, 
developablility and deliverability, 
which other sites being 
considered in the area do not 
have.    

91 
 

P
age 345



Table 17 Summary of Eastern Urban Area Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

EUA035 
 
72 Purley 
Rise, Purley 
on Thames 
 
35 7 
dwellings 
(1.24 at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant positive or negative impacts on 
sustainability from this site. The site scores positively in terms 
of opportunities for sustainable travel and health, active 
lifestyles as it is close to local services and facilities. There 
are no biodiversity or environmental designations near to or 
on the site. The proximity to the railway line could cause noise 
and air pollution, but careful design and use of only part of the 
site could mitigate this impact.  The site is at risk from surface 
and groundwater flooding, although with appropriate 
mitigation the negative impact should be reduced. Landscape 
work carried out during the preferred options stage states that 
only part of the site would be suitable for development (in line 
with the proposed developable area). Without adequate 
mitigation, as set out in the landscape assessment there 
would be potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term. 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as one of the 
options to be explored 
further. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities.  
Access to the site would 
need to be resolved.   
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
Landscape work carried out for 
the site states that part of the site 
would be suitable for 
development, subject to 
appropriate mitigation.  
 
The site promoter has confirmed 
that adequate access can be 
provided to the site.   

 
Site Selection Summary 
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments made at preferred 
options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation.  
 

92 
 

P
age 346



Following the Preferred Options consultation Five sites are recommended for allocation, with three sites being rejected.   
 
EUA003 site is recommended for allocation. The developable area of the site takes into account the outcomes of the Landscape Assessment to 
mitigate the potential negative environmental sustainability effects.  
 
It is proposed that the site should be developed comprehensively alongside EUA008. The policy for the site will also ensure that linkages between the 
sites are encouraged, especially for pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
EUA007 – This site is not recommended for allocation, although it was one of the preferred option. At preferred options stage a number of potential 
negative effects were predicted, particularly in terms of environmental sustainability, it is acknowledged that appropriate buffers, careful design and a 
number of other mitigation measures, inducing improvements to the access, would be required to mitigate the potential negative environmental 
impacts. Further landscape work carried out as part of the preferred options consultation reduces the proposed developable area to the western area 
only, stating that for landscape reasons, development would need to relate to the industrial estate, rather than the residential areas to the east. 
 
Through the consultation significant concern was raised regarding the impact of IKEA, in particular the impact on traffic, given that the site and IKEA 
share an access road (Pincents Lane). Significant modelling work has been carried out to assess the impact of IKEA. Modelling of the A4 Bath 
Road/Dorking Way/Pincents Lane junction has revealed much sensitivity north of the A4 due to multiple accesses and activities in this location. 
Significant mitigation will be required in the area to alleviate queuing. The TA work to accompany the DPD also shows the potential for traffic queuing 
back from the A4 in the ‘assessment case’ with development at Pincents Lane. Therefore, it is considered that it would be prudent to monitor the 
impact of IKEA on the Pincents Lane/A4 junction and the A4 and then consider the site for allocation at a later date, potentially through the new Local 
Plan once IKEA has been implemented.  
 
EUA008 – The site is recommended for allocation. The developable area of the site takes into account the location of the site within the AONB, in line 
with the landscape assessment. Mitigation, as set out in the Landscape Character Assessment would be required to ensure no negative impacts on 
environmental sustainability. The site promoters would like to see up to 80 dwellings on the site, however, the Council have considered the density of 
the surrounding residential development and therefore, propose that the site would only be suitable for approximately 60 dwellings, up from the 44 
proposed as part of the Preferred Options consultation.  
 
It is proposed that the site should be developed comprehensively alongside EUA003. The policy for the site will also ensure that linkages between the 
sites are encouraged, especially for pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
The Landscape Character Assessment has raised concern over the cumulative impact of developing EUA003/008 and EUA033, stating that 
development of both sites would have a negative impact on the AONB. The LCA states a preference for development of EUA003/008 over EUA033. 
Conditional planning permission has been granted for up to 66 dwellings on the site, subject to completion of a legal agreement.  
 
EUA025 - part of the site is recommended for allocation, despite the site promoter wishing to develop the whole of the site outside the flood zones for 
up to 250 dwellings. The SA/SEA gives a neutral effect for the site as a result of limiting the developable area of the site to take account of flood risk 

93 
 

P
age 347



and the potential impact on air and noise pollution from the M4. Mitigation to address the potential negative impacts of air and noise pollution will still 
be required. The developable area of the site was reconsidered following the examination hearing sessions to allow for some additional development 
in the Eastern Urban Area. The site has been reassessed and it is not considered that increasing the developable area of the site will result in a 
negative impact on sustainability as long as adequate mitigation measures are provided. 
 
The developable area proposed is located in between the A4 and the existing residential development. Highways England have said that the site 
would need to be developed later in the plan period as the site is required as a site compound for the M4 Smart Motorway scheme until September 
2018.   
 
EUA026 is recommended for allocation. Mitigation to address the potential negative impacts of air and noise pollution will be required due to the close 
proximity of the site to the A4.  
 
Highways England have said that the site would need to be developed later in the plan period as the site is required as a site compound for the M4 
Smart Motorway scheme until September 2018.   

 
EUA031 is recommended for allocation. The only negative impact in the SA/SEA resulting from development of this site is due to the Greenfield 
nature of the site. The development potential of the site has been increased to take into account the density of the existing surrounding development. 
Conditional planning permission has been granted for up to 39 dwellings on the site, subject to completion of a legal agreement. 
 
EUA032 is not recommended for allocation, and did not form one of the preferred options. The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability issues however, the Landscape Character Assessment undertaken for the site states that access to the site from Sulham Hill would 
have a negative impact on character of the AONB, and an alternative access would need to be provided. No alternative access is possible to the site, 
and therefore, development of the site would lead to a negative impact on environmental sustainability that could not be mitigated. Other sites 
recommended for allocation do not have this negative impact and therefore, this site is not recommended for allocation. 
 
EUA033 is not recommended for allocation, although it was included as a preferred option. The Landscape Character Assessment indicated that 
development of this site, alongside EUA003/008 would have a negative cumulative impact on the AONB and only one of EUA008 or EUA033 the 
sites should be developed with a preference for EUA003/008 to be developed together. The preferred options consultation raised significant concerns 
regarding flooding of Long Lane adjacent to the site, at the proposed access point to the site. During the exceptionally wet weather in 
January/February 2014 the road was closed for several weeks due to flooding in this location. The Council are content that the existing arrangements 
are adequate during normal wet weather conditions, but that during exceptionally wet weather the flood can flood, and this would need to be address 
in order to safeguard the development. A solution is possible, but would involve expensive engineering to raise the road level and provide a culvert for 
the surface water flow path.  
 
The Council’s Highways Development Control Team has also raised concerns about the width of Long Lane and sight lines at the junction of Long 
Lane and Sulham Hill with additional traffic using the road from the site. Improvements would be required for the development to be considered 
acceptable.  

94 
 

P
age 348



 
These highways improvement requirements are a constraint on development which the other sites being considered for allocation do not have. While 
a solution is possible it could impact on viability and deliverability of the site and therefore, the sites are not justified to be taken forward at this stage.  
 
EUA035 is recommended for allocation. Landscape work carried out on the site as part of the preferred options indicates that part of the site is 
suitable for development, subject to certain mitigation measures. The SA/SEA has been updated to reflect this, a negative score is now recorded 
against conserving and enhancing the local distinctiveness of the character of the landscape, however, with the required mitigation there would be a 
neutral impact on environmental sustainability. The site promoter has confirmed that a suitable access to the site can be provided in line with Manual 
for Streets.  
 
The Inspector at the examination hearing sessions raised concerns regarding the level of allocations in the Eastern Area. As a result the Council was 
asked to carry out further work to determine if additional development could be provided in the spatial area. As a result of this further work, increases 
to existing proposed allocations were considered more appropriate than the allocation of an additional site.  

7.2.2.2 Theale 
Theale is a rural service centre located to the east of West Berkshire. Theale has a wide range of shops and businesses that need to be maintained 
an enhanced. The Village is located along the A4, adjacent to junction 12 of the M4 and the A340 to Pangbourne. There is also a railway station 
linking the village to Reading and London to the east and Newbury to the west.  
 
The river Kennet and the Kennet and Avon canal flow to the south of the village. Much of the land to the south and east of the village is within flood 
zone 2. Flood zone 3 does not extend north of the railway line. The AONB is to the north east of the village.   
 
13 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, five sites were assessed as potentially developable, three sites were promoted for employment, 
rather than housing sites. None of the potentially developable sites were excluded through the automatic exclusion, and so were considered 
reasonable alternatives for development.  
 
An SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. The table below 
outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details from the preferred options, and following the consultation.  whether or not the site are 
being taken forward as preferred options.  
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked the Council to reconsider the approach to the Eastern Area (including Theale) to see 
whether the shortfall in allocated sites could be met. Where changes have been proposed to sites, they have been reassessed and the assessments 
updated where required.  
 
Preferred options consultation responses:  

• Theale general – 47 responses 
• THE001 – 81 responses 

• THE003 – 66 responses 
• THE005 – 72 responses 

• THE009 – 70 responses 
• Rejected sites – 4 responses 

 

95 
 

P
age 349



Proposed Submission consultation responses:  
• Theale general (inc. rejected sites) – 9 responses 
• HSA14 (THE003) – 5 responses 

• HSA15 (THE009) – 8 responses 
• Theale Settlement Boundary Revisions – 2 responses  

 
Table 18 – Summary of Theale Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

THE001 
 
Former 
Sewage 
Works, 
Theale 
 
138 90 
dwellings 
(3.45ha at 
40dph) 

Overall the site has an unknown effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, 
with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport all giving the site a positive score in terms of 
sustainability. The Landscape Assessment for the site has 
indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for 
development, with significant buffers required to mitigate the 
impact on the AONB.  The site is a brownfield site, on 
previously contaminated land, meaning that development of 
the site could have a positive impact on soil quality and 
improve the character of the area. The site is close to the 
M4 which, without appropriate mitigation could lead to 
significant noise and air quality issues and a knock-on effect 
on sustainability.  The site is also at risk from flooding, from 
a number of sources, which without appropriate mitigation 
would lead to a negative impact on sustainability. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the 
longer term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
unknown 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation for 
approximately 90 dwellings 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities within 
Theale. The site area has 
been reduced to take into 
account the area of the site 
within flood zone 2.  
 
Access to the site is an issue 
and would need to be 
resolved.  

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
There are significant concerns 
regarding access to the site, 
as additional land would be 
required along Blossom Lane 
to provide adequate access.  
 
The site is poorly related to the 
existing settlement. and the 
landscape assessment states 
that buffers would be required 
to the edge closest to the 
settlement, further separating 
the site from the existing 
settlement.  
 

THE002 
 
Whitehart 
Meadow, 
Theale 
 
224 225 
dwellings 

Overall the site has largely neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, 
with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport all giving the site a positive score in terms of 
sustainability. The site is close to the M4 which, without 
appropriate mitigation could lead to significant noise and air 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation 
The site is adjacent to the M4 
meaning noise and air quality 
issues on the site. A pylon is 
located in the centre of the 
site.  
 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
A sequential test would be 
required to allocate the site. 
Other suitable sites with a 
lower risk of flooding are 
available in Theale and across 
the district, so the Council 

96 
 

P
age 350



Table 18 – Summary of Theale Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

(5.6ha at 
40dph) 

quality issues and a knock-on effect on sustainability.  The 
site is also at risk from flooding, from a number of sources, 
which without appropriate mitigation would lead to a 
negative impact on sustainability. The development of the 
site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The Environment Agency 
strongly recommends that this 
site is not allocated as 90% of 
the site is in flood zone 2.  

would be unable to carry out 
the sequential test.  
 
 

THE003 
 
North 
Lakeside, 
The Green, 
Theale 
 
42 15 
dwellings 
(1.4ha at 
30dph) 
 
 

Overall the site has largely neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, 
with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport all having a positive impact on sustainability. The 
Landscape Assessment on the site has indicated that only 
part of the site would be suitable for development, with 
significant buffers required to mitigate the impact on the 
AONB. There is a small risk of surface water flooding on the 
site, which could have a negative impact on sustainability 
without appropriate mitigation measures. The development 
of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities 
within Theale.  
 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation for 
approximately 15 dwellings 
The developable area of the 
site has been reduced in size 
after a Landscape Assessment 
was carried out for the site and 
concluded that only a smaller 
area of the site would be 
suitable for development. 
 
The site is not 
recommended for allocation 
Following the granting of 
planning permission on part of 
the site, there are concerns 
regarding the deliverability of 
the site and therefore, it is no 
longer recommended for 
allocation.  

THE005 
 
Land at 
junction 12, 
Theale 
 
154 50 

Overall the site has largely neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects  
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, 
with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport. All having a positive impact on sustainability. 
There are a number of potential negative impacts on 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation for 
approximately 50 dwellings 
The site is well related to 
Theale and close to local 
services and facilities. 
Development of a small part if 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation 
The Council cannot carry out 
the required sequential test as 
other sites, with a lower flood 
risk, are available in the area. 
Therefore, the site cannot be 

97 
 

P
age 351



Table 18 – Summary of Theale Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

dwellings 
(3.86ha at 
40dph) 
 
 

sustainability, unless mitigation measures are introduced. 
The site is close to the M4/A4 motorway junction, which 
would lead to noise and air quality issues. Development of 
the site would also reduce the gap between Calcot and 
Theale which would have an impact on environmental 
sustainability. Development of a small area of the site 
adjacent to Theale itself would help to mitigation these 
impacts, along with other mitigation measures that could be 
considered. Flood risk is an issue on the site and could have 
a negative impact on sustainability without appropriate 
mitigation measures. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of 
the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

the site reduces the impact on 
some of the negative factors 
impacting on the site and 
would help to improve the 
pedestrian / cycle route along 
High Street between Theale 
and Calcot. 
 

allocated for development. 
 

THE009 
 
Field 
between 
A340 and 
The Green 
 
125  70 100 
dwellings 
(3.17ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site has largely neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects  
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, 
with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability. The Landscape Assessment on the site has 
indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for 
development, with significant buffers required to mitigate the 
impact on the AONB. The site is adjacent to the AONB, 
meaning there could be a negative impact on the character 
of the landscape and environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should reduce this impact. The site is also at risk 
from flooding, with some evidence of flooding having taken 
place. Flooding can impact negatively on sustainability, but 
mitigation measures work to reduce this impact. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern 
Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities in 
Theale. There are no 
significant issues on the site 
that could not be overcome.  
 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation for 
approximately 70 dwellings 
The developable area of the 
site has been reduced in size 
after a Landscape Assessment 
was carried out for the site and 
concluded that only a smaller 
part of the site would be 
suitable for development.  
 
The developable area of the 
site was reconsidered 
following the examination 
hearing sessions to allow for 
some additional development 
in the Eastern Urban Area. 
The site has been reassessed 
and further landscape advice 
sort and it is not considered 
that increasing the 

98 
 

P
age 352



Table 18 – Summary of Theale Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

longer term. 
The developable area of the site was revised following the 
examination hearing sessions as a result of a question from 
the Inspector and further landscape work. The site has been 
reassessed and there is no change in the SA/SEA outcome 
as a result of this change in developable area. 

developable area of the site 
will result in a negative impact 
on the landscape character of 
the area.  

 
Site selection summary 
The SA/SEA shows that all the sites are likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. None of the sites have any significantly 
negative impacts. At preferred options four sites were recommended as options for development (THE001, THE003, THE005 and THE009), with one 
site being rejected (THE002). Following the preferred options consultation two sites are were recommended for allocation (THE003 and THE009) but 
for a smaller amount of development, with THE001 and THE005 being rejected. Planning permission was granted for development on part of 
THE003, which lead to concerns regarding the deliverability of THE003 and therefore, at the examination hearing sessions, the Council proposed to 
remove the site from the DPD.  
 
THE001 was a preferred option, but is no longer recommended for allocation. While the SA/SEA does not show any significant effects on 
sustainability, there are a number of concerns regarding access to the site and the relationship of the site to the existing settlement of Theale, which 
is considered to be detached from the main settlement of Theale. There is limited scope for improving the accessibility to the site along Blossom 
Lane, without acquiring third party land. The Landscape Assessment carried out for the site states that part of the site would be suitable for 
development, but requires landscaping on the boundaries of the site., inducing the boundary with the existing open space to the south of the site. 
Therefore, the site, which is already detached from the existing residential development, would be further removed and screened from the settlement.   
 
THE002 was not has not been recommended for allocation at preferred options and that remains the recommendation. due to the site’s location 
adjacent to the M4 and the fact that high voltage cables cross the site, with a pylon located in the centre of the site. The SA/SEA indicates a number 
of potential negative sustainability impacts in terms of potential for air and noise pollution, due to the proximity of the site to the M4 and flood risk on 
the site. The Environment Agency has strongly recommended that the site is not allocated as 90% of the site is located within flood zone 2. If the site 
was to be allocated then a sequential test would be required, but as other suitable sites are available for development the Council would be unable to 
carry out this assessment. It is noted that the site promoter has lodged a flood map challenge with the Environment Agency, but no changes have 
been made to the flood zones at this time.   In line with the sequent approach other sites, where there is no flood risk, or a lower risk of flooding, are 
considered for allocation before sites where there is a risk of flooding. High voltage cables also cross the site, with a pylon located in the centre of the 
site. While this is not a showstopper in terms of actually preventing development it does result in  an amenity impact that other sites in the area do not 
have.  
 

99 
 

P
age 353



All other sites in Theale have been recommended as options for allocation, with the final recommendation for allocation coming following the 
consultation.  
 
THE003 and THE009 have few potential negative impacts highlighted in the SA. They are well related to the settlement, close to local services and 
facilities, and any potential negative impacts could be mitigated against. THE001 and THE005 have more potential negative sustainability impacts 
due to their location in flood zone 2 and the proximity of the M4, and or, A4 to the sites. Mitigation measures would be possible, but more would be 
required that for THE003 and THE009. Flood risk at THE001 could be mitigated by only allocating part of the site, outside the flood zone, in line with 
the sequential approach and advice from the EA.  
 
THE003 was a preferred option and part of the site is was recommended for allocation in the DPD. While Tthe SA/SEA does not show any significant 
sustainability impacts, and overall the effect is considered to be predominantly neutral. There are concerns regarding the deliverability of the site, as 
set out in the proposed submission DPD which lead the Council to propose to remove the site as an allocation. Landscape assessment work carried 
out on the site indicates that part of the site is suitable for development, with adequate mitigation being provided to protect the setting of the AONB.  
The landscape assessment requires a 10m buffer to the lake, which significantly reduces any potential flood risk on the site.  
 
Part of THE005 was a preferred option, but is no longer recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability 
issues, although there are a number of potential impacts due to the location of the site adjacent to the M4 and A4 and the flood risk on the site. The 
site is largely located within flood zone 2, with a small part of the site in flood zone 3. The Environment Agency requires any allocation for 
development in a flood zone to be subject to a sequential test. Other suitable sites are available across the District and therefore, the sequential test 
cannot be carried out.  
 
THE009 was a preferred option and part of the site is recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant negative effects. 
The site is located within the setting of the AONB, and therefore, there would be a potential negative effect on environmental sustainability in terms of 
the impact on the setting of the AONB. Landscape Assessment work states that approximately half of the site would be suitable for development, with 
the remaining western part of the site being retained as an open landscape buffer between the edge of the village and Englefield Park. With the 
mitigation proposed, including the smaller site area it is unlikely that there would be a negative impact on the AONB. The developable area of the site 
was reconsidered following the examination hearing sessions to allow for some additional development in the Eastern Area. The site has been 
reassessed and further landscape advice sort. It is not considered that slightly increasing the developable area of the site will result in a negative 
impact on the landscape character of the area. 

7.2.3 East Kennet Valley Spatial Area 

7.2.3.1 Burghfield Common 
Burghfield Common is one of the two Rural Service Centres within the East Kennet Valley spatial area and will be a focus for development within this 
area because of the range of services and facilities available.  
 

100 
 

P
age 354



The Atomic Weapons Establishment (AWE) has a base to the west of Burghfield Common and the village falls within the middle and outer 
consultation zones.   
 
There are several environmental assets in Burghfield Common – there are local wildlife sites immediately north and south of the settlement boundary 
and areas of ancient woodland scattered around the eastern part of the village.  
 
13 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process and 10 of these sites were assessed to be potentially developable within the SHLAA. Two were 
ruled out through the automatic exclusion part of the site assessment criteria because of significant environmental constraints (BUR003) and poor 
relationship to the settlement (BUR009). A further site was taken out of the site selection process (BUR017) because it falls within the settlement 
boundary where there is a presumption in favour of development it and has planning permission (14/03422/FLUEXT).  Another site was subsequently 
withdrawn. The remaining 91 sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development and so a SA/SEA was undertaken on these sites to 
inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options, and further technical work 
has informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD. Since the consultation planning permission has been 
granted on appeal for one site (BUR007).  
 
Two sites were submitted through the preferred options consultation. One was automatically excluded as it is not adjacent to the Burghfield Common 
settlement boundary, and would result in development of a scale not in keeping with the role and function of the rural service centre (BUR018). The 
second site, originally formed part of BUR002, but the landowners have requested that the site be considered independently as part of the settlement 
boundary review (BUR019) rather than as part of BUR002. The site was promoted for up to 4 dwellings, and therefore, was automatically excluded 
from the site selection process.  
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward for allocation as well as 
setting out the recommendation from the as preferred options stage. 
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  

• Burghfield Common – 14 responses 
• BUR002, 002A, 004 – 554 

responses, 91% template  
• BUR015 – 284 responses, 87% 

template 

• Rejected Sites – 2 general responses 
o BUR005 – 1 response 
o BUR007 – 1 response 
o BUR008 – 2 responses 
o BUR011 – 1 response 

 
Proposed submission consultation responses:  

• Burghfield Common general (inc. rejected sites) – 19 
• HSA16 (BUR015) – 6 responses 
• HSA17 (BUR002/002A/004) – 8 responses 

• Burghfield Common Settlement Boundary Revisions – 0 
responses 

 
Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  

101 
 

P
age 355



Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

BUR002 
(includes 
BUR002A & 
BUR004) 
 
Land to the rear 
of The Hollies 
Nursing home, 
Reading Road 
 
75 dwellings 
(2.5ha at 
30dph) 
60 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site would have a positive impact on sustainability in 
terms of access to local services and facilities, including 
access to the countryside. The site is not at risk from 
flooding, which gives a positive impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Without mitigation measures the site could 
have a negative impact on environmental sustainability in 
terms of biodiversity and ecology. The development of the 
site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation, with BUR002A 
and BUR004. 
The site is well related to 
existing services and facilities, 
close to local services and 
facilities. There are no 
significant issues on the site 

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation.  
 
The site area has been reduced 
following confirmation from the 
site promoters that the 
developable area will not 
include the woodland on the 
site and following the request 
for part of the site to be 
removed from the site area (site 
ref: BUR019) 

BUR002A 
(forms part of 
BUR002) 
 
Land adjacent 
to Primrose 
Croft, Reading 
Road, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
25 6 dwellings 
(0.86 at 30dph)  

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site would have a positive impact on sustainability in 
terms of access to local services and facilities, including 
access to the countryside. There is potentially a negative 
impact from the site being Greenfield. The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation, with BUR002 and 
BUR004. 
The site is well related to 
existing services and facilities, 
close to local services and 
facilities. There are no 
significant issues on the site 

The site is recommended for 
allocation as part of BUR002.  
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation 

BUR004 
 
Land opposite 
44 Lamden 
Way, Burghfield 
Common 
 
10 dwellings 
(0.32ha at 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site would have a positive impact on sustainability in 
terms of access to local services and facilities, including 
access to the countryside and for opportunities to use 
walking, cycling and public transport. The site is not at risk 
from flooding, which is also positive in terms of 
sustainability. There are potentially negative impacts from 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 

The site is recommended for 
allocation, with BUR002 and 
BUR002A. 
The site is well related to 
existing services and facilities, 
close to local services and 
facilities. There are no 
significant issues on the site. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation as part of BUR002.  
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation 

102 
 

P
age 356



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

30dph). the site being greenfield. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Timing: Short to 
Long term 

BUR005 
 
Land between 
Reading Road 
and Gully 
Copse, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
70 1 dwellings 
(2.35ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is quite close to local services and facilities, 
although is on the very edge of the village. There are 
opportunities for walking, cycling and using of public 
transport. The extension of the village outside the existing 
building line could have a negative impact on social 
sustainability, but changing the character of the village.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
The site is not as well related 
to the existing settlement 
pattern as other sites within 
the village. Development of the 
site would extend the village 
well beyond the existing 
building line 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation  

BUR006  
 
Land adjacent 
to Bolt Hole, 
Hollybush 
Lane, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
60 58 dwellings 
(1.92ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site will have positive impacts in relation to access to 
local services and facilities and opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public transport. There are potential negative 
impacts on environmental sustainability in relation to 
protected species on the site, mitigation measures would be 
required to minimise this impact. The development of the 
site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
village, close to the infant and 
secondary schools as well as 
other local facilities. However, 
development of the site would 
extend the village to the west, 
and without other neighbouring 
sites being developed this 
would extend the village’s 
building line. 
 
The site is unpopular locally 
and other sites within the 
village are seen as preferable 
to this one. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation  

BUR007 Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on Effect: The site is not The site is not recommended 
103 

 

P
age 357



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

 
Land adjoining 
Man’s Hill, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
Firlands Farm, 
Hollybush 
Lane, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
600 dwellings 
(20ha at 30dph) 
300 dwellings  

sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well related to the existing settlement with good 
access to local services and facilities which has a positive 
impact on sustainability. Opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport are also positive in terms of 
sustainable travel. There are potential negative impacts on 
environmental sustainability in relation to protected species 
on the site. Mitigation measures would be required to 
minimise this impact. There is a negative impact on 
sustainability as the site is greenfield. Mitigation measures, 
including good design methods, would help to reduce this 
impact. The site as a whole is very large, and so in many 
cases the level of the impact would depend on the size of 
development taking place. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 
 

Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

recommended for allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
village, close to the infant and 
secondary schools as well as 
other local facilities. However, 
development of this site would 
extend the village to the west. 
Development potential on the 
site is greater than is required 
for Burghfield Common, as a 
Rural Service Centre within the 
Settlement Hierarchy. 
 
The site is unpopular locally 
and other sites within the 
village are seen as preferable 
to this one. 

for allocation. 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation  
 
Development of the whole site 
is not considered of an 
appropriate scale of 
development for the role and 
function of Burghfield Common 
as a rural service centre.  
 
Despite submitting a planning 
application for up to 129 
dwellings (revised to 90 
dwellings on appeal) the site 
promoter has made it clear they 
would like to see up to 300 
dwellings on the site.  
 
Part of the site has been 
granted planning permission for 
up to 90 dwellings on appeal.  
The Council are challenging the 
decision.   

BUR007A 
Firlands Farm, 
Hollybush 
Lane, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
Planning 
application 
14/01730/OUT
MAJ) for 129 
dwellings. 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
 
The site is well related to the existing settlement with good 
access to local services and facilities which has a positive 
impact on sustainability. Opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport are also positive in terms of 
sustainable travel. There are potential negative impacts on 
environmental sustainability in relation to protected species 
on the site. Mitigation measures would be required to 
minimise this impact. There is a negative impact on 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Smaller site submitted for 
consideration through 
Preferred Options consultation.   

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Other sites in Burghfield 
Common are seen as 
preferable by the local 
community. There is strong 
opinion that this site should not 
be developed.  
 
Despite being submitted as a 
smaller site for consideration 
following the preferred options 

104 
 

P
age 358



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

Refused, 
allowed on 
appeal for up to 
90 dwellings 
(July 2015).  
 
 

sustainability as the site is greenfield. Mitigation measures, 
including good design methods, would help to reduce this 
impact. The site as a whole is very large, and so in many 
cases the level of the impact would depend on the size of 
development taking place, a smaller site will obviously have 
less of a negative impact than a larger one. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

consultation the site promoter 
has made it clear they would 
like to see up to 300 dwellings 
on the site. Development of this 
scale would be out of keeping 
with the role and function of 
Burghfield Common in the 
settlement hierarchy.  
 
The site has been granted 
planning permission for up to 
90 dwellings on appeal. The 
Council are challenging the 
decision.  

BUR008 
 
Land adjoining 
Man’s Hill, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
315 dwellings 
(10.5ha at 
30dph).   
 
Planning 
Application 
14/00962/OUT
MAJ for 210 
dwellings 
pending 
consideration 
(July  2014) 
refused and 
dismissed on 
appeal (Mar 
15). 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects, although there are 
both a number of positive and negative impacts as a 
result of development.  
The site is close to local services and facilities within the 
village, and would provide opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport. Negative sustainability issues exist in 
relation to Road Safety, impact on landscape and the built 
environment, as well as being a greenfield site at risk of 
flooding. Mitigation measures would reduce some of the 
impact on sustainability in some of these areas.  
The site is close to local services and facilities within the 
village, and would provide opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport. Negative sustainability issues exist in 
relation to Road Safety, impact on landscape and the built 
environment, as well as being a greenfield site at risk of 
flooding. Mitigation measures would reduce some of the 
impact on sustainability in some of these areas.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
The site is located on the edge 
of Burghfield, extending out 
into the countryside. The site is 
rural in nature and 
development would have an 
impact on the landscape 
character and the character of 
the built environment. 
 
Development of the whole site 
is out of keeping with the 
village’s role and function 
within the settlement hierarchy 
and other sites within 
Burghfield Common are 
considered to be better related 
to the existing settlement. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
No changes to justification from 
preferred options stage.  
 
The potential for a smaller scale 
development was not promoted 
through the Preferred Options 
consultation, but subsequent 
planning application received 
(Aug 2015) so a smaller site 
area has been assessed 
separately as BUR008A.  

105 
 

P
age 359



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

14/03001/OUT
MAJ for 197 
dwellings 
refused (Feb 
15).   

the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

BUR008A 
 
Land to the 
south of Man’s 
Hill, Burghfield 
Common, RG7 
3BD 
 
Planning 
Application 
15/02019/OUT
MAJ for 70 
dwellings 
pending 
consideration 
(September 
2015) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects, although there are 
both a number of positive and negative impacts as a 
result of development.   
 
The site is close to local services and facilities within the 
village, and would provide opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport. Negative sustainability issues exist in 
relation to Road Safety, impact on landscape and the built 
environment (as the site is not adjacent to the existing 
settlement), as well as being a greenfield site at risk of 
flooding. Mitigation measures would reduce some of the 
impact on sustainability in some of these areas.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Smaller site submitted as 
planning application in August 
2015.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
The site is poorly related to the 
existing settlement, separated 
by a wooded area and not 
adjacent to the existing 
settlement boundary. 
 
It is likely that this would form 
phase 1 of a larger site to come 
forward on the north of Mans 
Hill (the rest of BUR008) in the 
future. This smaller site was not 
promoted through the preferred 
options consultation.  

BUR011 
 
Benhams 
Farm, 
Hollybush 
Lane, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
80 79 dwellings 
(2.63ha at 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant sustainability issues on this site. 
The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport, this 
has a positive impact on sustainability. Development of the 
site could lead to a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless suitable mitigation measures are 
introduced. The site is greenfield, and will be likely to 
increase greenhouse gas emissions, which both have a 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
Development of the site would 
extend the village to the west, 
and would not be that well 
related to the existing 
settlement, as it would change 
the character of the existing 
settlement pattern. Other sites 
within the village are better 
related to the existing 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
A number of planning 
applications have been 
submitted for parts of this site in 
the last two years. An 
application for 2 dwellings has 
been granted permission, which 
would provide access into the 
site. Several subsequent 
applications have been 

106 
 

P
age 360



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

30dph) 
 
Planning 
Applications 
14/01395/FULD 
& 
14/03205/FULD 
for demolition 
and 
construction of 
2 dwellings with 
access 
Approved (Sept 
2014) &  
allowed on 
appeal (Nov 
15) 

negative impact on sustainability. Mitigation measures such 
as good design techniques would help to mitigate this 
impact. The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

settlement pattern. submitted and are either at 
appeal or pending 
consideration.  

BUR015 
 
Land adjoining 
Pondhouse 
Farm, Clay Hill 
Road, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
287 dwellings 
(9.56ha at 
30dph) 
 
Approx. 100 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability 
issues. The site is close to local services and facilities with 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport all of 
which have a positive impact on sustainability.  There is a 
potential negative impact on environmental sustainability 
without appropriate ecological mitigation measures. The 
site is greenfield which has a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures such as 
good design techniques would help to mitigate this impact.  
Housing development contributes towards economic 
sustainability during the construction stage of the site and 
through the lifetime of the development as it will provide a 
workforce and increased population using local economies. 
Housing development contributes towards economic 
sustainability in the short term during the construction stage 
of the site it is not seen to promote key business sectors 
and business development in the longer term. Development 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation for approximately 
100 dwellings. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities. 
There are no significant issues 
on the site. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation for approximately 
100 dwellings. 
There are no significant issues 
on the site, and development of 
part of the site is considered 
appropriate.  

107 
 

P
age 361



Table 19 Summary of Burghfield Common Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification for proposed 
submission 

of this site would result in the loss of agricultural land. The 
land owner has stated that mitigation in the form of 
additional land elsewhere close to the farm could be 
provided if required, however, this gives an uncertain 
sustainability impact.   

 
Site selection summary 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however the comments made at preferred 
options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation.  
 
Following the preferred options consultation Two sites are recommended for allocation, with six sites being rejected. One site has been granted 
planning permission on appeal since the preferred options consultation, , although the Council are challenging the decision.  
 
The SA/SEAs of the specific sites for Burghfield Common highlighted that all 11 sites assessed in the SHLAA as potentially developable had 
predominantly neutral effects and none had any significant effects.  
 
BUR005 and BUR008 are not considered suitable for development because they are not as well related to the settlement pattern as other sites in 
Burghfield Common (for example BUR002, BUR002a, BUR004 and BUR015) and development would extend the village well beyond the existing 
building line. Furthermore, site BUR008 is rural in nature and development would have an impact on the landscape character and the character of the 
built environment. Development of the whole site would be out of keeping with the village’s role and function within the settlement hierarchy. This 
would have a negative impact on the character of the built environment, with a possible negative effect on environmental sustainability. However, 
careful design and smaller site areas could reduce the impact. 
 
BUR008 lies within an area of surface water flood risk. As highlighted in the table above, flooding has the potential to impact upon all elements of 
sustainability, and mitigation includes choosing sites that are not at risk of flooding. BUR002, BUR002a, BUR004, BUR005, BUR006, BUR009, 
BUR011 and BUR015 are not at risk of flooding. There are access concerns with BUR008; however these can be mitigated against by way of road 
impacts thus reducing the negative environmental effect. It is for these reasons that BUR005 and BUR008 are not recommended for allocation. A 
planning application was submitted for BUR008, refused and dismissed on appeal (March 2015). An application for a smaller site has now been 
submitted (August 2015). The reasons for rejecting the site are considered to be the same whether the whole site, or part of the site is considered for 
development. 
 
BUR006, BUR007 and BUR011 have a number of positive effects – they are well related to the existing settlement and close to local facilities. 
However development would extend the village to the west, well beyond the existing building line, resulting in a negative impact on the character of 
the built environment, with a possible negative effect on environmental sustainability. Whilst mitigation could reduce the impact to some degree, to 

108 
 

P
age 362



overcome the out of keeping extension to the west, additional sites to the west would need to be found. There is a further negative effect on 
environmental sustainability due to the presence of protected species on both BUR006 and BUR007 and a wetland on BUR011, although mitigation 
would reduce the impact. BUR007 is at risk of surface water flooding. It is for these reasons that the sites are not reasonable alternatives for 
considered unsuitable for development and are not being recommended for allocation. Planning permission has been granted on appeal for part of 
BUR007 (BUR007A) however, this is currently being challenged by the Council. Through the preferred options consultation the site promoters 
requested that the smaller site area be considered. The smaller site was reassessed for the planning appeal, and did not show any significant 
differences from the consideration of the whole site. As the appeal outcome is being challenged, it is necessary to assess the smaller scheme. It is 
not proposed to change the allocations for Burghfield Common; rather this additional site will give additional flexibility to the housing numbers.  
 
BUR002, BUR002A, BUR004 and BUR015 have been recommended for allocation and have a number of positive impacts in terms of sustainability 
due to their location close to local services and facilities. All four sites None of the sites are not at risk of flooding, which has gives a neutral impact 
upon sustainability. There are potential negative environmental sustainability impacts on all sites in relation to the greenfield nature of the sites. 
Furthermore, BUR002 and BUR015 have potential negative environmental sustainability impacts as a result of ecology constraints; however 
mitigation measures can reduce the impacts. The site promoters for BUR002/002A/004 have confirmed that no development would take place on the 
wooded parts of the site, which will help to further reduce the potential negative impact on environmental sustainability. The development potential for 
BUR002/002A/004 has been reduced to take into account the need to preserve the existing woodland on the site. 
 
BUR019 was originally promoted as part of BUR002, 002A, 004, but at preferred options the site promoter requested that the site be excluded from 
the larger group and considered as part of the settlement boundary review. The site has a development potential of less than 5 dwellings, and meets 
the settlement boundary review criteria, and therefore, will be included within the settlement boundary. 

7.2.3.2 Mortimer 
Mortimer is one of the two Rural Service Centres within the East Kennet Valley spatial area and will be a focus for development within this area 
because of the range of services and facilities available.  
 
There is a train station to the east of Mortimer which provides connections to Reading and Basingstoke. The village is served by a regular bus service 
to Tadley, Burghfield, Mortimer rail station and Reading. There are local wildlife sites immediately north of the settlement boundary and one south of 
the recreation ground in the centre of the village.  
 
Stratfield Mortimer Parish Council are producing a Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Seven sites were promoted through the SHLAA process and four of these sites were assessed to be potentially developable within the SHLAA. Two 
were ruled out through the automatic exclusion part of the site assessment criteria because of TPOs across the whole of site (MOR002) and a poor 
relationship to the settlement (MOR007). A further site was taken out of the site selection process (MOR004) because it has planning permission. The 
remaining four sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development and so a SA/SEA was undertaken on these sites to inform the site 
selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options.  
 

109 
 

P
age 363



The Preferred Options consultation asked for comments on two options for allocating sites in Mortimer.  
• Option 1, through the Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP),  
• Option 2 where the Council would allocate the site/s, with two preferred options sites to be considered if the Council were to allocate sites 

The consultation responses gave significant support for the allocation of sites to come through the NDP.  
 
As a result of the consultation, the Housing Site Allocations DPD allocates Mortimer Parish Council approximately 110 dwellings to be allocated 
through the Neighbourhood Plan. As a result the Council have not assessed the options for development in Mortimer since the Preferred Options 
consultation, and the site assessment forms are available from the Neighbourhood Plan evidence base.  
 
 The proposed Neighbourhood Plan has been was submitted to the Council for examination in February 2016. The Council received the examiner’s 
report at the end of October 2016. The Parish Council has requested that the Council delays making a decision on the examiner’s report until May 
2017 to allow time for full consideration of the recommendations and issues raised in the report. 
  and is currently subject to consultation (from  4th March to 22nd April 2016). It is expected that the examination will take place in May or June, with the 
referendum taking place in September or October 2016.  
 
The Council propose to allocate Mortimer Parish Council, approximately 110 dwellings, allowing them to choose the specific site to allocate through 
the NPD. At this stage the Council do not proposed to allocate a site in Mortimer. However, should the NDP not come forward within 2 years of the 
adoption of the DPD, the council would look to step in and allocate a site or sites within the village.   
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward as preferred options. 
 
Preferred Options consultation responses: 

• Mortimer General – 36 responses 
• MOR005 – 12 responses 

• MOR006 – 29 responses 
• Rejected sites – 7 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Mortimer – 6 responses 
 

Table 20 Summary of Mortimer Sites SA/SEA  
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

MOR001 
 
Land at 
Kiln Lane, 
Mortimer 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects, whether the development 
potential is assessed as 150 as in the original assessment or 
for the 110 dwellings promoted by the site promoter.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Other sites within the village are 
close to local services and 
facilities. Development of this 
site would have an impact on 

Mortimer’s NDP will allocate a 
site, or sites, for development.  

110 
 

P
age 364



Table 20 Summary of Mortimer Sites SA/SEA  
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

150 1 
dwellings 
(5.04ha at 
30dph) 

Development could have a negative impact on the character 
of the landscape as it is surrounded by countryside on three 
sites. Mitigation would be required to minimise this impact. 
There are a number of positive impacts on sustainability due 
to the site’s location in relation to accessibility to local services 
and facilities. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term. 

the character of the landscape 
as it is surrounded by 
countryside on three sites. 
The site is within Flood Zone 1. 
Additionally, there is an area of 
surface water flood risk adjacent 
to the site 

MOR005 
 
Land 
Adjoining 
West End 
Road, 
Mortimer 
 
47 50 
dwellings 
(1.57ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site scores positively in relation to the promotion of active, 
healthy lifestyles as it is close to local services and facilities. 
The southern part of the site is an area of surface water flood 
risk which could have a negative impact on any development 
that may take place on the site, without appropriate mitigation 
provided. There is also a potentially negative impact on 
biodiversity and geodiversity unless appropriate mitigation is 
provided. The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities. 
There are no significant issues 
on the site. 
The site is within FZ1. While the 
site is at risk from surface water 
flooding, there is no evidence of 
the site flooding. A FRA would 
be required, with appropriate 
mitigation including SUDs. 

Mortimer’s NDP will allocate a 
site, or sites, for development. 

MOR006 
 
Land to 
the south 
of St 
John’s 
Church of 
England 
Schools, 
Victoria 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
Due to its central location within the village the site scores 
positively in relation to opportunities for walking and cycling 
and healthy, active lifestyles. There is potential for flood risk 
on the site, which could have a negative impact unless 
appropriate mitigation measures are implemented. Mitigation 
would also be required in terms of ecology and biodiversity to 
ensure there would not be a negative impact on environmental 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is located to the south 
of Mortimer, surrounded by 
residential development on three 
sites. Close to local services and 
facilities within the village. 
Access issues would need to be 
resolved. 

Mortimer’s NDP will allocate a 
site, or sites, for development. 
 
 

111 
 

P
age 365



Table 20 Summary of Mortimer Sites SA/SEA  
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

Road, 
Mortimer 
 
177 110 
dwellings 
(5.89ha at 
30dph) 

sustainability.The development of the site for housing will have 
a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

to Long term 

MOR008 
 
Land at 
north east 
corner of 
Spring 
Lane, 
Mortimer 
 
15 
dwellings 
(0.5ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are a number of positive impacts as the site is close to 
local services and facilities and well related to existing 
development. The main negative impact of the site is that 
there is a risk and history of surface water flooding. Mitigation 
measures could help to reduce this risk. The NPPF sequential 
test requires that where there are options without a risk of 
flooding these are considered before sites with a risk of 
flooding. Development without appropriate mitigation could 
also have a negative impact on ecology and biodiversity.  The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
While the site is well related to 
existing services and facilities 
and well related to existing 
development surface water 
flooding is a concern. There are 
other sites within the village 
which do not have the same 
level of flood risk, or history of 
flooding which are considered 
more appropriate for 
development in line with the 
sequential approach. 

Mortimer’s NDP will allocate a 
site, or sites, for development. 
 
 

 
 
Site selection summary 
It has been agreed that the allocation of sites in Mortimer will be done through the Neighbourhood Development Plan. Therefore, there is no need for 
the council finalise the site selection process as this will be done through the NDP.   
 
The SA/SEAs of the specific sites for Mortimer highlighted that all four sites assessed in the SHLAA as potentially developable had predominantly 
neutral effects and none had any significant effects.  
 
Sites MOR005 and MOR006 have been recommended for allocation. Both sites are well related to the existing settlement and local services and 
facilities thus having a positive impact in terms of sustainability. There are potential negative environmental effects for both sites; however the effect 

112 
 

P
age 366



can be reduced through mitigation. MOR005 is adjacent to trees that are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs), and there are TPOs to the 
west of site MOR006. Appropriate buffers will therefore be required between the trees and any development.  
 
MOR006 is near to a site with Great Crested Newts, so an extended phase 1 habitat survey will be required. Parts of MOR005 and MOR006 are 
within areas at risk from surface water flooding – the southern half of MOR005 and two narrow sections of MOR006. There is no evidence of flooding 
on MOR006, but with appropriate design and mitigation measures, including SUDs, this impact would be minimised.  
 
MOR001 was not considered suitable for development because of the impact that development would have upon the character of the landscape, with 
a possible negative effect on environmental sustainability. For this reason the site was not considered suitable for allocation, particularly because 
there are sites in Mortimer that would have a lesser impact on the landscape. The site also has a potential negative effect on environmental 
sustainability because it is a greenfield site, however all of the potentially developable sites in Mortimer are greenfield.  
 
Whilst development of site MOR008 would not impact upon the landscape and the site is well related to the existing settlement and the local services 
and facilities contained within it the site is at risk and has a history of surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact upon all elements of 
sustainability, and mitigation includes choosing sites that are not at risk of flooding. For this reason, the site is not considered suitable for allocation 
because there are other sites within Mortimer that are not at risk of flooding.  

7.2.3.3 Aldermaston 
Aldermaston is one of West Berkshire’s service villages and sits within the East Kennet Valley spatial area. One of the Atomic Weapons 
Establishment sites is located in Aldermaston, therefore, the village is located within the inner consultation zone. The presence of AWE limits the 
development potential in the village, despite the village being designated as a service village in the Core Strategy.  
 
Three sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, none of which were assessed as potentially developable. One site already had planning 
permission, and the other two were assessed as not currently developable, due to their proximity to AWE.  
 
Therefore, no sites in Aldermaston are recommended for allocation.  

7.2.3.4 Woolhampton 
Woolhampton is one of West Berkshire’s service villages and sits within the East Kennet Valley spatial area. As a service village, Woolhampton is 
suitable only for a limited amount of development due to the more limited range of services available.  
 
The A4 runs through Woolhampton and there is a railway station within the village. Woolhampton is served by a frequent bus service that runs along 
the A4 connecting the village with Newbury and Reading.  
 
The River Kennet and the Kennet and Avon Canal runs to the south of Woolhampton, and the area immediately to the south, west and east of the 
existing settlement boundary lies within flood zones 2 and 3.  
 

113 
 

P
age 367



There are a number of important environmental assets within Woolhampton. There are areas of ancient woodland to the north and west of the 
existing settlement boundary, two Local Wildlife Sites (one to the north of the settlement boundary and a second to the west of the settlement just 
north of the A4), and two SSSI’s to the south and west of the settlement boundary.  
 
Five sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, and four were assessed to be potentially developable within the SHLAA. site WOOL004 was 
excluded because the whole of the site falls within flood zone 3 which is grounds for automatic exclusion. A sixth site (WOOL006) was submitted after 
the initial finalisation of the SHLAA in December 2013, and this but was assessed to be potentially developable. A SA/SEA was subsequently 
undertaken on these five sites to inform the site selection work and detail whether or not the sites are being taken forward for allocation, as well as 
setting out the recommendations from the as preferred options stage.  
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details, from the preferred options and whether or not the sites are being taken 
forward for allocation. as preferred options. 
 
Preferred options consultation responses:  

• Woolhampton general – 4 responses 
• WOOL001 – 12 responses 

• WOOL006 – 11 responses 
• Rejected sites – 2 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Woolhampton general (inc. rejected sites) – 0 responses 
• HSA18 (WOOL006) – 3 responses 

• Woolhampton Settlement Boundary Revisions – 0 responses 

 
Table 21 Summary of Woolhampton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

WOOL001 
 
Land north of 
Bath Road, 
Woolhampton 
 
20 dwellings 
(0.66ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
There are no significant sustainability effects on the site, and 
in many cases development on this site will not have an 
impact on the sustainability objectives. The proximity of the 
site to local services and facilities will bring sustainability 
benefits – the site will encourage active healthy lifestyles and 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. The 
site could potentially have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability in terms of biodiversity unless 
appropriate mitigation measures are provided to protect the 
adjacent designated areas. The proposals for the site have 
taken this into account, so it is anticipated that this potential 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation (as 
an alternative to WOOL006).  
The site is well related to the 
existing development in 
Woolhampton, close to local 
services and facilities. There 
are no significant issues with 
the site.  
Potential negative impacts in 
relation to biodiversity and 
noise and air pollution, but this 
can be overcome and 
neutralised with mitigation 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
 
The site is not the preferred 
option of the Parish Council, 
and is adjacent to ancient 
woodland. While this could be 
mitigated it is not a restriction 
faced by the other site 
considered for allocation.  
 

114 
 

P
age 368



Table 21 Summary of Woolhampton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

negative impact would be neutralised with mitigation. The 
site’s proximity to the A4 gives another potential negative 
impact on social sustainability in terms of air and noise 
pollution. With appropriate mitigation it is likely that this 
impact would be required. The development of the site for 
housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

measures.  

WOOL002 
 
Station Yard, 
Woolhampton 
 
10 dwellings 
(0.33ha at 
30dph) 
 
<5 dwellings. 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities offering 
positive effects in terms of sustainability and scores positively 
in terms of health, active lifestyles and opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public transport. The site is also 
previously developed land and development of the site could 
result in an improvement to the soil quality and general 
character of the area surrounding the site. However, there 
are potential negative impacts due to the site’s location within 
flood zone 2 and the proximity to the railway line. Flooding 
has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, 
and air and noise pollution can impact on environmental and 
social sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be 
considered to reduce the impact. The development of the site 
for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not considered 
suitable for allocation. 
While the site is well related to 
the existing settlement and 
close to local services and 
facilities. Access to the site 
and the risk of flooding mean 
that the site is not considered 
suitable for allocation 

The site is recommended for 
inclusion within the 
settlement boundary.  
 
Taking into account the 
restricted access to the site and 
flood risk, there is limited 
development potential on the 
site, which means that site is 
too small for allocation. 
However, the site does meet 
the criteria to be included within 
the settlement boundary.  
 

WOOL003 
 
Land adjoining 
Woolhampton 
allotment, Bath 

Overall the site is likely to have a negative effect on 
sustainability.  
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability; however the effect on sustainability with 
flooding is shown to be significantly negative. There is a 

Effect: 
Negative 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 

The site is not considered 
suitable for allocation. 
Most of the site is at risk from 
flooding, either in flood zone 2 
or 3. There is a history of 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The reasons remain the same 
as at preferred options stage. 
The council would be unable to 

115 
 

P
age 369



Table 21 Summary of Woolhampton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

Road, 
Woolhampton 
 
12 10 
dwellings 
(0.4ha at 
30dph) 

history of flooding on the site. Mitigation measures could help 
to reduce the risk of flooding, but they are unlikely to be able 
to neutralise the impact.  While the site scores positively on 
healthy, active lifestyles and opportunities for walking, cycling 
and public transport the risk of flooding outweighs the 
positive impacts the site could have. There are other sites 
within Woolhampton that are not within flood zone 3 that will 
be considered for development over and above this site. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

flooding on the site. Other sites 
within Woolhampton are not at 
risk from flooding and therefore 
are considered more suitable 
sites for allocation in line with 
the NPPF. 

carry out the required 
sequential test for the site as 
there are other sites within 
Woolhampton that are not 
within a flood zone.  
 

WOOL005 
 
Land adjacent 
to Victoria 
Park, 
Woolhampton 
 
11 10 
dwellings 
(0.36ha at 
30dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site gives opportunities for active, healthy lifestyles due 
to its proximity to local services and facilities and to the open 
countryside and canal. The site is well served by public 
transport, with both bus and train services stopping in the 
village. All these have a positive impact on sustainability. The 
location of the site adjacent to the A4 could have a negative 
impact on social and environmental sustainability. With 
mitigation and good design this impact could be minimised. 
The site is also within flood zone 2 and in an area of surface 
water flood risk, flooding can have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. Appropriate mitigation can help to 
reduce this risk, as can considering sites where there is no 
risk of flooding before those where there is a risk. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

Effect: 
predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not considered 
suitable for allocation. 
The site is not immediately 
adjacent to the settlement 
boundary and therefore is 
poorly related to the existing 
residential area 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
 
The reasons for rejection at 
Preferred Options still stand.  
 
The council would be unable to 
carry out the required 
sequential test for the site as 
there are other sites within 
Woolhampton that are not 
within a flood zone. 

116 
 

P
age 370



Table 21 Summary of Woolhampton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

WOOL006 
 
Land to the 
north of the 
A4, 
Woolhampton 
 
65 dwellings 
(2.2ha at 
30dph) 
 
30 dwellings  

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is sustainable in terms of access to local services 
and facilities including the open countryside for supporting an 
active, healthy lifestyle and access to education and 
employment. There are opportunities for walking, cycling and 
public transport. The site’s location next to the A4 means that 
there could be a negative impact on sustainability in relation 
to air quality and noise pollution, without appropriate 
mitigation and design. The site is not at risk from flooding 
which scores neutrally in terms of sustainability. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended as 
an option for allocation (as 
an alternative to WOOL001).  
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, close to 
local services and facilities. 
Development of the whole site 
would be out of keeping with 
the role and function of the 
village within the settlement 
hierarchy. Potential negative 
impacts in relation to noise and 
air pollution, but this can be 
overcome through mitigation 
measures. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
Consultation indicated that this 
was the parish Council’s 
preferred option for 
development along the A4 
(running east/west) rather than 
north/south. This also takes 
into account the oil pipeline that 
runs across the north of the 
site, ensuring that development 
would not prevent access to the 
pipeline should it be required.  
 
Approximately half the site is 
proposed for development for 
approximately 30 dwellings. 
This is considered to be an 
appropriate amount of 
development for a service 
village such as Woolhampton 
and no additional allocations 
are necessary. 

 
 
Site selection summary  
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments made at preferred 
options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to determine the details of which site is to be allocated.  
 
Following the preferred options one site is recommended for allocation, with three sites rejected and one site recommended for inclusion within the 
settlement boundary.  
 
The SA/SEAs of the specific sites for Woolhampton highlighted that four sites (WOOL001, WOOL002, WOOL005 and WOOL006) had predominantly 
neutral effects with no significant effects. A fifth site,  
 

117 
 

P
age 371



WOOL003 was appraised to have a negative effect because of a significant risk of flooding on half of the site (Flood Zone 3). Whilst mitigation could 
help minimise the risk, it would not neutralise the impact. For this reason the site was not recommended for allocation.  Officers therefore, 
recommended that WOOL003 was not recommended as a preferred option for allocation. and when discussed with Members at a meeting of 
Planning Policy Task Group on 6 June 2014, this recommendation was supported. The Environment Agency requires that any site recommended for 
allocation that is within a flood zone is supported by a sequential test. As alternative options are available in Woolhampton outside the flood zones the 
Council would be unable to carry out he sequential test for this site.  Comments were received from the site promoter as part of the preferred options 
stating that during the January/February 2014 floods the site did not flood, but this does not change the fact that much of the site is at risk from 
flooding, and a sequential test would be required for the site to be allocated.   
 
WOOL002 and WOOL005 are also at risk from flooding, being within Flood Zone 2.  The SA/SEA indicates a potentially negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability as a result. While mitigation could be provided to reduce the impact, a sequential test would need to be carried out prior to 
the allocation of the sites, and as above the Council are unable to carry out a sequential test as there are alternative suitable sites outside the flood 
zones which can be allocated. It is acknowledged there were some positive effects with WOOL005 in relation to healthy, active lifestyles and 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport, the negative effect of the flooding outweighed the positive effects. 
 
The main difference that separates out sites WOOL001, WOOL002, WOOL005 and WOOL006, is that WOOL002 and WOOL005 Flood Zone 2, and 
WOOL005 also falls within an area at risk of surface water flooding. As highlighted in the table above, Flooding has the potential to impact upon all 
elements of sustainability, and mitigation includes choosing sites that are not at risk of flooding, Although  
 
Both WOOL001 and WOOL006 are not at risk of flooding and this has a neutral impact upon sustainability. The risk of flooding coupled with the lack 
of access and potential contamination of site WOOL002 and the poor relationship of WOOL005 to the settlement boundary led officers to not 
recommend sites WOOL002 and WOOL006 for allocation. This recommendation was supported by Members at a meeting of Planning Policy Task 
Group on 6 June 2014. 
 
At preferred option state WOOL001 and WOOL006 were recommended as options to each other, with the final site being chosen for allocation as a 
result of the consultation. Sites WOOL001 and WOOL006 are both recommended as options for allocation. They are both well related to the existing 
settlement of Woolhampton, and whilst development has the potential to result in negative environmental effects on sustainability for sites WOOL001 
and WOOL006, mitigation measures can ensure that any potential negative impacts are reduced or neutralised. Both sites are located in close 
proximity to the A4 which could result in noise and air pollution without mitigation measures. WOOL001 could potentially have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability in terms of biodiversity due to the ancient woodland adjacent to the site. However, the proposals for the site have taken 
this into account, so it is anticipated that this potential negative impact would be neutralised with mitigation (i.e. 15 metre buffer between development 
and the ancient woodland).  
 
Following the preferred options consultation WOOL006 comes out as the was shown to be the preferred site for allocation. The Parish Council 
support the allocation of the site, although request that the developable area of the site is re-orientated to run east-west along the A4, rather than 
north-south as proposed in the DPD (a view supported by the site promoter). It is thought that extending development along the A4, could help to 
improve the road safety in the village, by increasing the urban edge along this section of the A4 and slowing traffic down on the approach to the 

118 
 

P
age 372



village centre. The re-orientation would also mean that there would be no impact on the oil pipeline that runs across the top of the site, and would also 
leave a large proportion of the site as green infrastructure. The consultation raised concerns over the potential impact of development at WOOL001 
on flooding of the properties on the opposite site of the A4, due to surface run off along New Road Hill.  
 
WOOL002 is not proposed for allocation, but is recommended for inclusion within the settlement boundary. Access to the site is restricted, and the 
site is within flood zone 2, therefore, the development potential on the site has been reduced to less than 5 and therefore, would not be allocated. The 
site meets the criteria for the settlement boundary review, and therefore, will be included within the settlement boundary.   
 
Members supported the officer recommendation for sites WOOL001 and WOOL006 to be options for allocation at a meeting of Planning Task Group 
on 6 June 2014.  

7.2.4 AONB Spatial Area 

7.2.4.1 Hungerford 
Hungerford is a rural service centre within the North Wessex Downs AONB, and is also the only designated Town Centre within the AONB.   The 
Core Strategy sets out that in the western part of the AONB development will be focused in Hungerford, as it is the most sustainable rural service 
centre.  Hungerford performs a significant role for a large catchment area.  The town centre has a wide range of services and facilities and there are 
good transport connections. There are a limited number of local bus services, mainly linking Hungerford to Marlborough to the west and a mainline 
train station with services to Newbury, Reading and London Paddington as well as to the west. The A4 runs to the north of the town and the M4 
junction lies approximately 3 miles north of Hungerford.  The village of Eddington lies immediately to the north of Hungerford adjacent to the A4 Bath 
Road. 
 
A number of watercourses flow through Hungerford, with the Kennet and Avon Canal running through the north of the town, and the River Dun to the 
north west of the town reaching its confluence with the River Kennet to the east of the town.  The areas immediately adjacent to these water courses 
are within flood zone 2 or 3. Much of the land to the north, east and west lies within a groundwater emergence zone. 
 
There are a number of important environmental and heritage assets within Hungerford. Two SSSIs run along the Rivers Dun and Kennet, with a SAC 
also present to the east of the town between the River Kennet and the A4. There are a number of local wildlife sites to the north east of the town. 
Hungerford Common lies to the east of the town. The town centre and the centre of Eddington village lie within conservation areas with a number of 
listed buildings. 
 
Twenty four 24 sites were identified in the SHLAA and fifteen  15 were assessed as potentially developable.  An additional site was submitted after 
the publication of the SHLAA in December 2013 and this was assessed as potentially developable.  Of these, 6 8 were ruled out through the 
automatic exclusion part of the site assessment criteria, because they were either within the existing settlement boundary (HUN017, HUN018), were 
Protected Employment Areas (HUN008, HUN012, HUN014, HUN023) Landscape Assessment work indicated an unacceptable impact on the AONB 
(HUN026), or have potential for less than 5 dwellings (HUN021). The remaining 9 11 sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development 
and an SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options.  

119 
 

P
age 373



 
Six sites were consulted on as options for development at the preferred options stage, with five sites being considered as a single site (HUN003, 
HUN005, HUN006, HUN015, HUN020) and HUN007 being considered as the alternative,  consultation responses and further technical work has 
informed which site will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD. The table below outlines the findings of the site specific 
SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward for allocation as well as setting out the recommendations from the as preferred 
options stage.  
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  

• Hungerford General – 11 responses 
• HUN007 – 54 responses 

• HUN003, 005, 006, 015, 020 (Eddington Sites) – 44 responses 
• Rejected sites – 9 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Hungerford General (inc. rejected sites) – 59 responses (81% 
template response) 

• HSA19 (HUN007) – 46 responses 

• Hungerford Settlement Boundary revisions – 2 responses  

 
Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

HUN001 
 
Rear of 
Westbrook 
Farmhouse, 
Smitham 
Bridge Road  
 
25 26 
dwellings 
(1.31 ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well located for services, employment and public 
transport options. There are opportunities for walking and 
cycling. The site is in close proximity to open countryside and 
has access to sport and recreational facilities, which would 
help promote a healthy active lifestyle.   There are public 
transport options in Hungerford and the site is within walking 
distance of the railway station.  All of this means that there 
would be a positive impact on environmental sustainability.  A 
landscape assessment has concluded that the development 
could be accommodated subject to mitigation/enhancement 
measures.  Water voles are present in the eastern ditch but 
could be protected with mitigation.  The site is located within a 
groundwater and surface water flooding area. Flood zones 2 
and 3 are present along the eastern boundary. Mitigation in 
the form of SUDs would be required, and the developable 
area reduced to take into account the flood zones. The 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
There is potential to consider a 
more comprehensively planned 
development along with 
HUN008, should this become 
available following review of 
Protected Employment Areas. 
The site is located partly within 
flood zone 2 and 3 and is 
subject to a risk from 
groundwater and surface water 
flooding.  Environment Agency 
advice is not to allocate for 
development. 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
There is potential to consider a 
more comprehensively planned 
development to the west of 
Hungerford in the future 
including HUN008, HUN028 
and HUN022, dependent on 
decisions made about the future 
role and function of Hungerford 
through a review of the spatial 
strategy. Part of the site is 
within flood zone 2 and 3, 
although the site promoter has 
confirmed that no development 
would take place within the 
flood zones. Access to the site 
is currently a concern as 
Smitham Bridge Road is very 

120 
 

P
age 374



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 
on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

narrow.  

HUN003 
 
Hungerford 
Veterinary 
Centre, Bath 
Road, 
Hungerford  
 
5 dwellings 
(0.25ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.   
The site is reasonably well located for services, education and 
public transport options, although not as well related as other 
sites adjacent to Hungerford itself. It is close to employment 
opportunities to the north of Hungerford, but some distance 
from schools. There are, however, opportunities for walking 
and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open countryside. 
The site is previously developed land being part of the 
grounds of the Veterinary Centre.  All of this means that there 
would be a positive impact on sustainability.  A landscape 
assessment has concluded that the development could be 
accommodated subject to mitigation/enhancement measures.   
Any development would require careful design to respect the 
site’s semi-rural location opposite the Kennet Valley and its 
role as a part of the gateway to Hungerford.  
There could be negative environmental impacts from the 
proximity to the A4 but these could potentially be mitigated by 
good design.  There is a potential negative impact due to the 
proximity of the site to a SSSI and SAC, mitigation measures 
would be required to reduce this impact, including screening 
for HRA at planning application stage should the site be 
allocated. The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

This site is recommended for 
inclusion within the 
settlement boundary.  Sites at 
Eddington are considered an 
alternative to a site to the 
south of Hungerford. 
The site is reasonably well 
located for access to facilities 
and services in Hungerford, 
although not as well related as 
sites adjacent to Hungerford 
itself.  This site is of a scale that 
would be compatible with 
adjacent development in 
Eddington.   

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
 At preferred options this site 
was considered alongside four 
others for comprehensive 
development to the north of 
Hungerford.  
 
The sites are close to the rivers 
Kennet and Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC, with some potential 
for impact on these protected 
areas which would require 
screening for Habitats 
Regulation Assessment.    
 
Transport Assessment work 
carried out by the Council 
indicates that traffic levels 
through Hungerford are likely to 
be higher as a result of 
development to the north, due 
to the distance from Education 
facilities.  
 
Development of the site, 
independently of other sites in 
the ‘Eddington’ group, would be 
poorly related to the existing 
settlement at Eddington as it is 
not adjacent to the current 

121 
 

P
age 375



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 
settlement boundary, therefore, 
it is not considered suitable for 
inclusion within the settlement 
boundary.  

HUN005 
 
Folly Dog 
Leg Field  
 
30 49 
dwellings 
(2.45ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral/negative effect 
on sustainability.  
If the whole site were to be developed there could be a 
significant negative effect. The landscape sensitivity 
assessment shows that it would not be appropriate to develop 
this entire site and any development would need to be limited 
to the area to the north of the existing development on the A4, 
rather than extending development eastwards. The site is 
reasonably well located for services, education and public 
transport options, although not as well related as other sites 
adjacent to Hungerford itself. It is close to employment 
opportunities to the north of Hungerford, but some distance 
from schools. There are, however, opportunities for walking 
and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open countryside.  
All of this means that there would be a positive impact on 
sustainability. There could be negative environmental impacts 
from the proximity to the A4 but these could potentially be 
mitigated by good design. The proximity of the site to the 
Kennet and Lambourn SSSI and SAC could result in a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures would be required and HRA screening would be 
required at planning application stage. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, is it not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral and 
negative 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

This site to be considered as 
an option for allocation in the 
DPD.  Sites at Eddington are 
considered an alternative to a 
site to the south of 
Hungerford.  
The site is reasonably well 
located for access to facilities 
and services in Hungerford, 
although not as well related as 
sites adjacent to Hungerford 
itself . The landscape 
assessment states that little 
harm to the AONB would be 
created by developing this site, 
subject to limiting the 
developable area and 
appropriate mitigation 
measures. 
The town council preference is 
for sites to the north of 
Hungerford which will have less 
impact on town centre 
congestion. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Following the preferred options 
consultation additional 
landscape assessment work 
was carried out which further 
limits the development potential 
of the site.  
 
The sites are close to the rivers 
Kennet and Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC, with some potential 
for impact on these protected 
areas which would require 
screening for Habitats 
Regulations Assessment.  
 
Transport Assessment work 
carried out by the Council 
indicates that traffic levels 
through Hungerford are likely to 
be higher as a result of 
development to the north, due 
to the distance from Education 
facilities.  

HUN006 
 
Land at 
Eddington, 
Hungerford  
 
10 9 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is reasonably well located for services, education and 
public transport options, although not as well related as other 
sites adjacent to Hungerford itself. It is close to employment 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 

This site to be considered as 
an option for allocation in the 
DPD.  Sites at Eddington are 
considered an alternative to a 
site to the south of 
Hungerford. 
The site is reasonably well 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
At preferred options this site 
was considered alongside four 
others for comprehensive 
development to the north of 
Hungerford.  

122 
 

P
age 376



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

dwellings 
(0.42ha at 
20dph) 

opportunities to the north of Hungerford, but some distance 
from schools. There are, however, opportunities for walking 
and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open countryside.  
All of this means that there would be a positive impact on 
sustainability.  The landscape sensitivity assessment points 
out that the views from Hungerford Common could be 
impacted and that mitigation in the form of tree planting and 
retention of the existing tree boundary would be needed to 
reduce the negative impact on the landscape character. 
There is a potential unknown impact on biodiversity and 
geodiversity as further assessment work is required on the 
site to determine whether there are any protected species on 
the site. The proximity to the Kennet and Lambourn SSSI and 
SAC means that HRA screening would be required at 
planning application stage should the site be allocated for 
development. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

located for access to facilities 
and services in Hungerford, 
although not as well related as 
sites adjacent to Hungerford 
itself.  The landscape 
assessment states that little 
harm to the AONB would be 
created by developing this site, 
subject to appropriate mitigation 
measures. 
The town council preference is 
for sites to the north of 
Hungerford which will have less 
impact on town centre 
congestion. 

 
The sites are close to the rivers 
Kennet and Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC, with some potential 
for impact on these protected 
areas which would require 
screening for Habitats 
Regulations Assessment,  
 
Transport Assessment work 
carried out by the Council 
indicates that traffic levels 
through Hungerford are likely to 
be higher as a result of 
development to the north, due 
to the distance from Education 
facilities.  

HUN007 
 
Land east of 
Salisbury 
Road  
 
100 1 
dwellings 
(5.1ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is well located for services, education and public 
transport options, although the majority of employment 
facilities are to the north of Hungerford. There are, however, 
opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close 
proximity to open countryside and has access to sport and 
recreational facilities, which would help promote a healthy 
active lifestyle. All of this means that there would be a positive 
impact on sustainability.  The landscape impact assessment 
of development on this site shows that it would not be 
appropriate to develop this entire site, and any design would 
need to incorporate the suggested mitigation. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

Northern part of the site is 
recommended as an option 
for allocation in the DPD.  Site 
is considered an alternative 
to the sites at Eddington. 
The site is well located for 
access to facilities and services 
in Hungerford, particularly to 
schools. The landscape 
assessment states that little 
harm to the AONB would be 
created by developing this site, 
subject to limiting the 
developable area and 
appropriate mitigation 
measures. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation for approximately 
100 dwellings on the northern 
part of the site.  
Additional transport work 
carried out indicates that the 
traffic impact on the High Street 
would be less as a result of 
development on this site due to 
the closer proximity to 
education facilities. There are 
fewer potential impacts from 
this site than the other preferred 
options site (no environmental 
impact on SSSI/SAC, no 
economic impact due to loss of 

123 
 

P
age 377



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 

employment). Additionally there 
is more certainty over the 
deliverability of this site due to 
the single ownership. 
Development of the site is 
considered acceptable in 
landscape terms, subject to the 
mitigation measures set out in 
the site policy.  

HUN015 
 
Land at Bath 
Road, 
Eddington 
 
5 7 dwellings 
(0.33ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is reasonably well located for services, education and 
public transport options, although not as well related as other 
sites adjacent to Hungerford itself. It is close to employment 
opportunities to the north of Hungerford, but some distance 
from education facilities. There are, however, opportunities for 
walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open 
countryside. All of this means that there would be a positive 
impact on sustainability.  Development would need careful 
design in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  The site is adjacent to a 
BOA and SSSI and close to a SAC, mitigation would be 
required to ensure the potential negative impacts of 
development are mitigated. HRA screening would be required 
at planning application stage.   The development of the site 
for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 
towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

This site is recommended for 
inclusion within the 
settlement boundary.  Sites at 
Eddington are considered an 
alternative to a site to the 
south of Hungerford. 
The site is reasonably well 
located for access to facilities 
and services in Hungerford, 
although not as well related as 
sites adjacent to Hungerford 
itself.  This site is of a scale that 
would be compatible with 
adjacent development in 
Eddington. Given the scale of 
potential development it is 
recommended that inclusion 
within the settlement boundary 
could be more appropriate than 
allocation. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
At preferred options this site 
was considered alongside four 
others for comprehensive 
development to the north of 
Hungerford.  
 
The sites are close to the rivers 
Kennet and Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC, with some potential 
for impact on these protected 
areas which would require 
screening for Habitats 
Regulations Assessment.  
 
Transport Assessment work 
carried out by the Council 
indicates that traffic levels 
through Hungerford are likely to 
be higher as a result of 
development to the north, due 
to the distance from Education 
facilities.  
 
Following a review of the 
settlement boundaries, it is not 
considered that the site meets 

124 
 

P
age 378



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 
the criteria to be included within 
the settlement boundary.  

HUN020 
 
Hungerford 
Garden 
Centre, Bath 
Road, 
Hungerford 
 
15 17 
dwellings 
(0.86ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is reasonably well located for services, education and 
public transport options, although not as well related as other 
sites adjacent to Hungerford itself. It is close to employment 
opportunities to the north of Hungerford, but some distance 
from education facilities. There are, however, opportunities for 
walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open 
countryside. The site is previously developed land and there 
are opportunities for sensitive design to reduce the current 
visual impacts on this prominent part of the gateway along the 
A4 into Hungerford.  There could be negative environmental 
impacts from the proximity to the A4 and the SSSI and SAC 
but these could potentially be mitigated. HRA screening would 
be required. by good design.  Loss of the employment 
opportunity at the garden centre will have a negative impact 
on economic sustainability, without an alternative facility being 
provided (of which there is no evidence to suggest it would 
be) there is limited scope for mitigation. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

This site to be considered for 
allocation or inclusion within 
the settlement boundary. 
Sites at Eddington are 
considered an alternative to a 
site to the south of 
Hungerford. 
The site is reasonably well 
located for services, 
employment and public 
transport options.  
The site is previously developed 
land. The landscape 
assessment states that little 
harm to the AONB would be 
created by developing this site, 
and there is potential for 
reducing the current visual 
impact. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
At preferred options this site 
was considered alongside four 
others for comprehensive 
development to the north of 
Hungerford.  
 
The sites are close to the rivers 
Kennet and Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC, with some potential 
for impact on these protected 
areas which would require 
screening for Habitats 
Regulations Assessment.  
 
Transport Assessment work 
carried out by the Council 
indicates that traffic levels 
through Hungerford are likely to 
be higher as a result of 
development to the north, due 
to the distance from Education 
facilities.  
 
Allocation of this site would 
result in the loss of the garden 
centre and the employment 
opportunity that this offers. As 
the site is currently in this 
usage, this adds an uncertainty 
over its deliverability. 

HUN021 
 
Five Bar and 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 

The site is recommended to 
be included within revised 
settlement boundary. 

The site is recommended to 
be included within revised 
settlement boundary.  

125 
 

P
age 379



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

Grill / The 
Lamb, 
Charnham 
Street, 
Hungerford 
 
<5 dwellings 
7 dwellings 
(0.33ha at 
20dph) 

site.  
The site is well located for services, employment and public 
transport options, although educational facilities are to the 
south of Hungerford. There are, however, opportunities for 
walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity of open 
countryside and has access to sport and recreational 
facilities, which would help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
All of which gives a positive sustainability impact. The site is 
at risk from surface water and groundwater flooding, although 
with suitable mitigation the potential negative sustainability 
impact should be minimised. 

Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Hungerford 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

The site is small and 
development has already taken 
place on the part of the site 
within the settlement boundary. 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities in the 
centre of Hungerford. 

The site has been granted 
planning permission (on appeal) 
for 2 dwellings and meets the 
settlement boundary review 
criteria.  
 
 

HUN022 
 
Land to the 
west of 
Salisbury 
Road, 
Hungerford 
 
55 3 
dwellings 
(2.63ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is well located for services, education and public 
transport options, although the majority of employment 
facilities are to the north of Hungerford. There are, however, 
opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close 
proximity to open countryside and has access to sport and 
recreational facilities, which would help promote a healthy 
active lifestyle. All of which give a positive impact on 
sustainability. The landscape assessment indicates that only 
part of the site would be suitable for development and a 
number of mitigation measures would be required to ensure 
development did not have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Hungerford 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site does not relate as well 
to the existing residential 
development as other sites 
around Hungerford, therefore, 
other sites are considered more 
appropriate for allocation 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
No additional comments were 
received on this site as part of 
the preferred options 
consultation.  
 
There is a concern over access 
to the site, without development 
of other sites to the west of 
Hungerford. The proposed 
access point to the site is within 
the area of the site assessed as 
not suitable for development on 
landscape grounds.  

HUN028 
 
Land south 
of Chilton 
Way, 
Hungerford 
 
75 6 
dwellings 
(3.78ha at 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral 
effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the 
site.  
The site is well located for services, education and public 
transport options, although the majority of employment 
facilities are to the north of Hungerford. There are, however, 
opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close 
proximity to open countryside and has access to sport and 
recreational facilities, which would help promote a healthy 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Hungerford 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site does not relate as well 
to the existing residential 
development as other sites 
around Hungerford, therefore, 
other sites are considered more 
appropriate for allocation 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
No additional comments were 
received on this site as part of 
the preferred options 
consultation.  
 
There are concerns over access 
to the site, as it relies on access 
being provided through a 

126 
 

P
age 380



Table 22 - Summary of Hungerford Sites SA/SEA  
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

20dph) active lifestyle. All of which give a positive impact on 
sustainability. The site is located in the AONB; without 
development in line with the recommendations in the 
landscape assessment there would be a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. The site is not located adjacent 
to the settlement boundary, meaning without other sites being 
developed the development of this site would have a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability.  The site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone. Mitigation measures would be 
required to ensure there would not be a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 

to Long term neighbouring site (HUN022), 
which in itself has access 
issues due to the reduced 
developable area on landscape 
grounds 

 
Site selection summary  
The main change since the consultation is that the employment related SA/SEA objective has been added back into the SA/SEA assessment for the 
sites. This is particularly relevant for Hungerford as development of one of the sites would result in the loss of employment should the site be 
allocated for housing.  
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out regarding the approach to allocations in Hungerford. 
Hungerford is defined in the Core Strategy as a Rural Service Centre, and is also one of only two town centres within the District. Therefore, it is 
considered that as the largest, most sustainable settlement within the AONB, serving a significant catchment area, Hungerford should support a 
higher level of development than other smaller settlements in the AONB to help to maintain its vitality and viability. As a result of this review of 
approach no changes are proposed to the allocations for Hungerford.  
 
The SA/SEA highlights that of the 10 1 sites considered most had a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  A number of sites (HUN005, 
HUN007, HUN022 HUN026) would have a significant environmental impact if the whole site that was proposed were to be developed.  The 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has indicated that only parts of these sites would be suitable without harm to the landscape of the AONB. As a 
result of this, reduced site areas have been considered. The Preferred Options DPD made it clear that the two preferred options consulted on were 
options, from which the most suitable site, following further technical evidence and consultation, would be taken forward. There was no intention that 
both sites would be allocated for development.  
 
One of the main concerns of residents of Hungerford is the traffic impact of development on the High Street. Transport Assessment work has been 
carried out looking at the impact of traffic based on current travel to work/school patterns, which indicates HUN007 is likely to be better in terms of 
traffic impact as it is closer to education provision and services and facilities in the Town Centre than the Eddington sites (HUN003, 005, 006, 015, 
020). The Eddington sites are detached from Hungerford itself, separated from the Town Centre by the River Kennet and Lambourn and the Kennet 

127 
 

P
age 381



and Avon canal. The site is adjacent to the Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SSSI and a Special Area of Conservation (although separated by the 
A4). While mitigation measures could be provided to minimise the impact, there could be an impact on viability or delivery, which would not be an 
issue for HUN007 which is not close to any special environmental designations. Development of the Eddington Sites, as a whole, or HUN020 
specifically, would most likely result in the loss of the Garden Centre, which generates local employment and is an amenity for the local community. 
So while the site does contain some brownfield land, development would result in the loss of a local amenity. There are some concerns regarding 
access to HUN005, as the proposed access point to the site is located outside the area considered acceptable for development by the landscape 
assessment. Access to this site would need to come through the development of another of the sites to the south. The landscape assessment has 
also reduced the developable area further since the Preferred Options consultation, reducing the capacity on this part of the site to approximately 30 
dwellings. Though both sites are considered acceptable in landscape terms, tThe Council’s landscape work indicates that development of the 
Eddington Sites should not be carried out as a single homogenous group, but each area should be developed independently, to reduce the impact on 
the AONB. This causes uncertainty as to whether the site can or should be delivered holistically, which could result in piecemeal development in this 
area. This, together with the fact that parts of the sites are in existing uses does cause doubt as to the quantum of development that can realistically 
be expected to come forward to boost the Council’s land supply in the short to medium term.  
 
There are therefore a number of issues regarding the development of the Eddington Sites, which while not show stoppers, are additional constraints 
which HUN007 does not have, and could impact on the viability of delivery of the sites in the short term. Therefore, HUN007 is recommended for 
allocation in the DPD. At preferred options it was suggested that HUN003 and HUN015 could be considered as part of the settlement boundary 
review. This was not referred to within the Preferred Options DPD text itself, and following a review of the settlement boundaries it is not considered 
appropriate to include these sites within the revised settlement boundary. Following the review of allocations in Hungerford, HUN007 is still 
considered to be the most appropriate site for allocation given the role and function of Hungerford as the largest rural service centre in the AONB.  
 
The other potential options for growth are to the west or to the south. HUN001, to the west, was not a favoured option. Part of the site is located within 
flood zone 2 and 3 and Environment Agency advice prior to the preferred options was not to allocate for development.  It was also considered that 
there could be potential to plan a comprehensive development should site HUN008 become available following a review of Protected Employment 
Areas. Although the site promoter for HUN001 has stated that it is unlikely that the sites could be developed together, this is something that may be 
considered appropriate in the future. There are concerns regarding access to the site. The access to the site is narrow, where as the access to either 
of the other preferred sites is from a main road, therefore, achieving appropriate access, and limiting the impact on the immediate road network is 
easier. There is scope for comprehensive development to the west of Hungerford to be considered in the future dependent on a review of the spatial 
strategy for the District which will consider Hungerford’s future role. Following the review of the allocations in Hungerford following the examination 
hearing sessions the site remains not recommended for allocation. While there is no significant sustainability effect predicted for development of the 
site, the site only has capacity for approximately 30 dwellings, and it is not considered that allocation of only 30 dwellings in Hungerford would be in 
keeping with the role and function of the settlement. Allocation of two sites in Hungerford was also not considered appropriate due to the cap the Core 
Strategy put on development in the AONB (up to 2,000 dwellings). 
 
A number of sites were submitted adjacent to Eddington. Though these are not as well related to Hungerford as sites adjacent to the town itself, and 
have potential negative noise and air quality impacts from the proximity to the A4 it was considered that they presented a potential option for the 
growth of Hungerford.  Concern had been expressed that sites further south would impact considerably more on traffic levels through the town centre.   

128 
 

P
age 382



To the south of Hungerford site HUN007 is better related to schools and facilities than HUN022 and therefore has been recommended as an 
alternative option to sites to the north at Eddington.  This site is well related to facilities, particularly schools and the landscape impact could be 
mitigated with a potential beneficial effect in softening the southern edge of Hungerford. 
 
HUN021 is recommended for inclusion within the settlement boundary. The majority of the site already has planning permission for residential 
development, and the remainder of the site was granted planning permission (on appeal) in September 2015.The site meets the requirements of the 
settlement boundary review criteria and will be included within the revised settlement boundary.  
 
HUN022 and HUN028 were not recommended as a preferred options. The sites are less well related to the existing development, as are is separated 
from development to the north by the water works, and there are access concerns as a result of the landscape assessment work. The proposed 
access point to the site is to come through part of the site assessed as not suitable for development on landscape grounds. Therefore, access to the 
site is restricted unless other sites to the west of Hungerford come forward, which are not considered appropriate at this stage.  
 
HUN026 is not recommended on landscape grounds and because it would be poorly related to the settlement pattern without development of other 
adjacent sites.  

7.2.4.2 Lambourn 
Lambourn is a rural service centre within the North Wessex Downs AONB.  It serves a more local catchment than Hungerford and there is particular 
emphasis on the needs of the equestrian industry. The Core Strategy states that more limited development than at Hungerford will take place due the 
village’s comparatively smaller district centre and relative remoteness.  There are limited public transport opportunities, with a 2 hourly bus service 
linking Lambourn to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon Railway Station.  
 
The River Lambourn (which is a SSSI) runs flows through the town, but only a very limited area along the watercourse is lies within flood zones 2 or 
3.  Much of Lambourn, however, lies within a groundwater emergence zone. 
 
There are a number of important environmental and heritage assets within Lambourn and its vicinity.  The River Lambourn is a designated SSSI.  The 
core of the town lies within a conservation area with a number of listed buildings.  
 
Eleven sites were identified in the SHLAA and five were assessed as potentially developable. All sites promoted through the SHLAA were considered 
against site selection criteria, which resulted in six being automatically excluded in accordance with part A of the assessment. The remaining five sites 
were considered reasonable alternatives for development and so a SA/SEA was undertaken, along with part B of the site assessment, to inform the 
site selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further technical work has informed 
which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD. In addition to the remaining five sites, one new site was submitted as 
part of the preferred options consultation and this was also assessed as a reasonable alternative. 
These were considered reasonable alternatives for development and an SA/SEA was undertaken for these sites to inform the site selection work and 
the subsequent selection of preferred options.   
 

129 
 

P
age 383



The table below outlines the findings of the site specific assessments/SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward for 
allocation as well as outlining the recommendation from the preferred options stage. as preferred options. 
 
Preferred Options consultation responses: 

• LAM002A – 2 responses 
• LAM002B – 1 response 
• LAM003 – 1 response 

• LAM005 – 28 responses 
• LAM007 – 56 responses 
• LAM009 – 1 response 

• LAM013 – 1 response 
• General – 9 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Lambourn general (inc. rejected sites) – 3 responses 
• HSA20 (LAM005) – 10 responses 

• HSA21 (LAM015) – 5 responses 
• Lambourn Settlement Boundary Revisions – 3 responses  

 
Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

LAM002A  
 
Land at 
Meridian House 
and Stud, 
Greenway, 
Lambourn  
 
26 25 dwellings 
(1.3ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability 
effects. 
The site is well related close to local services 
and facilities within the village, including access 
to the countryside, all of which would enable 
walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  In addition, the development is 
close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability. 
Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to the environmental sustainability due 
to the site’s location in the AONB. As long as 
appropriate mitigation measures are introduced 
in line with the Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment the impact should be mitigated. 
Flooding could also have a negative impact on 
all elements of sustainability unless appropriate 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation  
Concern over traffic impact and 
access mean that other sites 
within the village are considered 
more appropriate for 
development. 
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation  
Development of this site, albeit only a 
small part of the original site area 
proposed, would potentially result in 
the loss of land associated with the 
racehorse industry. Loss of land 
associated with the racehorse industry 
would be contrary to policy CS12 of 
the Core Strategy. Policy CS12 aims 
to prevent pressure for redevelopment 
of existing facilities to other uses and 
the fragmentation of existing sites. 
Such pressures could lead to the 
decline of the industry locally, threaten 
the character and form of the 
settlement and increase pressure for 
replacement facilities in 
environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
A revised site area and layout plan 
was submitted by the site promoter as 
part of the Preferred Options 

130 
 

P
age 384



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

mitigation measures are provided. 
 

consultation in order to address the 
concerns raised through the site 
assessments. However it is 
considered that the proposals do not 
go far enough to address the 
concerns. The LSA states that the 
scale of the whole site as assessed 
related well to the settlement pattern. 
However it is felt that the revised 
proposals, whilst addressing concerns 
over access, are out of character with 
the existing settlement pattern. 

LAM005 
 
Land adjoining 
Lynch Lane, 
Lambourn  
 
Approximately 
60 dwellings 
(3.06ha at 20 
dph) 
 
56 dwellings 
(2ha at 20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability 
effects.   
The site is well related to local services and 
facilities within the village, including access to 
the countryside, all of which would enable 
walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability. In addition, the development is 
close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability.   
Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to the environmental sustainability due 
to the site’s location within the AONB and the 
proximity of the site to the SSSI and SAC. As 
long as appropriate mitigation measures are 
introduced, including those set out within the 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact 
should be mitigated and deliver positive effects 
on sustainability. Flooding could also have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term  

Site is recommended for 
allocation (excluding the area 
of the site at risk from 
flooding). 
The site is well related to existing 
services and facilities within 
Lambourn. Development can take 
place on the site without needing 
to develop the area of the site 
within the flood zone 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
The site is well related to existing 
services and facilities within 
Lambourn.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB a 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
has been carried out and indicates 
that development on the site would be 
acceptable in landscape terms, 
subject to mitigation measures to 
ensure the protection of existing 
landscape features. In addition the 
LSA states that both sites LAM007 
and LAM005 could only be developed 
in part concurrently or either one or 
the other selected. 
 
The northern and north eastern part of 
the site lie within Flood Zones 2 and 3 
and within an area of surface water 
flood risk, whilst the whole site lies 
within a groundwater emergence 
zone.  No development will take place 

131 
 

P
age 385



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

unless appropriate mitigation measures are 
provided. Developing outside Flood Zones 2 and 
3 will help to reduce the flood risk and potential 
impact on sustainability. 
 

within the Flood Zones and a Flood 
Risk Assessment (FRA) will be 
required to support a planning 
application, along with implementation 
of appropriate flood risk mitigation 
measures.  
 
Development on the site will not 
adversely affect the SSSI/SAC. A 
Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) will be required to accompany 
any planning application. The 
development will need to provide a 
significant buffer/stand-off between 
the development and the SSSI/SAC. 
An extended phase 1 habitat survey 
would also be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 
 
The site has been identified as having 
a high archaeological potential and 
therefore further investigation will be 
required as part of a planning 
application via an archaeological desk 
based assessment as a minimum and 
field evaluation if necessary. 

LAM007 
 
Land between 
Folly Road, 
Rockfel Road / 
Bridleways and 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability 
effects.   
The site is well related to local services and 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 

Site is recommended for 
allocation 
The site is located close to local 
services and facilities within 
Lambourn 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
Although the site is located close to 
local services and facilities within 
Lambourn and relates well to the 
existing settlement, the site is largely 

132 
 

P
age 386



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

Stork House 
Drive, 
Lambourn 
 
24 25 dwellings 
(1.2ha at 
20dph) 

facilities within the village, including access to 
the countryside, all of which would enable 
walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability. In addition, the development is 
close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability. 
Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to environmental sustainability due to 
the site’s location in the AONB. Mitigation 
measures in line with the Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment should reduce this impact and 
deliver positive effects on sustainability.  
 
 

Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

in use as turnout paddocks for the 
adjacent yard. The equestrian industry 
plays a vital role within the local rural 
economy of Lambourn and 
surrounding areas. As such the loss of 
the site for housing development 
would be contrary to policy CS12 of 
the Core Strategy. Policy CS12 aims 
to prevent pressure for redevelopment 
of existing facilities to other uses and 
the fragmentation of existing sites. 
Such pressures could lead to the 
decline of the industry locally, threaten 
the character and form of the 
settlement and increase pressure for 
replacement facilities in 
environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
 Whilst the southern area of the site is 
currently used as turnout paddocks 
the Council’s Highways Team have 
concerns regarding an access onto 
Folly Road which would impact on the 
delivery of the northern section of the 
site. In addition the LSA states that 
both sites LAM007 and LAM005 could 
only be developed in part concurrently 
or either one or the other selected in 
order to continue the pattern of 
sequential small developments in the 
village.  
 
At the Proposed Submission 
consultation stage the site promoter 
provided additional evidence to show 
that there may still be the potential for 
the site to be taken forward in the 

133 
 

P
age 387



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

future.  Therefore although the 
Council has concerns about the 
immediate deliverability of the site as 
part of the HSA DPD, it is proposed to 
consider the site further as part of the 
new Local Plan. 

LAM009 
 
Land east of 
Hungerford Hill, 
Lambourn 
 
30 dwellings 
(1.5ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability 
effects.   
The site is well related located close to local 
services and facilities within the village, including 
and has good access to the countryside, which 
should have a positive impact on sustainability. 
However, it is separated from the main core of 
the village by low density housing to the north 
and east and could have a negative impact on 
the built environment. 
There are concerns over road safety and the 
delivery of an appropriate access, which could 
have a negative impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless improvements are made to 
the highway network and suitable access 
arrangement implemented.  This does also limit 
opportunity for encouraging walking and cycling, 
which could reduce the sustainability of the site.  
In addition, potential negative impacts could 
occur in relation to the environmental 
sustainability due to the site’s location within the 
AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation 
measures are introduced, including those set out 
within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, 
the impact should be mitigated and deliver 
positive effects on sustainability. 
Whilst the site itself is within Flood Zone 1 more 
than half of the site lies within a Critical Drainage 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation  
The site is steeply sloping with 
potential access and road safety 
issues. Other sites within the 
village are considered to have 
less of an impact on the 
landscape and built environment. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The site is steeply sloping, resulting in 
concern over the ability to provide 
suitable access arrangements and 
potential road safety issues. 
 
The relationship with the existing 
settlement is poor, and the site is 
separated from the main core of the 
village by low density housing to the 
north and east  
 
Other sites within the village are 
considered to have less of an impact 
on the landscape and built 
environment.  
 

134 
 

P
age 388



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

Area, which increases the risk of flooding and 
could result in negative impacts upon all 
elements of sustainability. The implementation 
of appropriate mitigation measures could reduce 
the impacts of any such negative effects. 
While the site itself is not  t risk from flooding, 
flood risk within the village is an issue and 
development here would need to have 
appropriate SUDs to ensure that development 
did not lead to worsening flooding elsewhere, as 
this would have a negative impact on 
sustainability.  

LAM013 
 
Windsor House 
Paddocks, 
Lambourn 
 
42 dwellings 
(2.1ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral negative effect on 
sustainability as the SA highlights significant 
flood risk 
The site is well related to local services and 
facilities within the village, including access to 
the countryside, all of which would enable 
walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  In addition, the development is 
close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability.  
Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to environmental sustainability due to 
the greenfield nature of the site and it’s location 
in the AONB. Development of the site also has 
the potential to negatively impact on 
sustainability due to the flood risk on the site, 
which gives rise to serious concerns. Mitigation 
could be considered to reduce the risk of 
flooding, however historical flooding has been 
due largely to groundwater flooding, augmented 
by surface water. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral negative 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation  
The site suffers from significant 
flooding, from both ground and 
surface water sources 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
Whilst the site is well related to the 
existing settlement, it sits within a 
groundwater emergence zone, an 
area of surface water flood risk and a 
Critical Drainage Area. Council 
records show that the site flooded in 
both 2007 and 2014 when severe 
flooding occurred across West 
Berkshire. In 2007 the flooding on this 
site occurred to such an extent that it 
also flooded the adjacent road 
(Crowle Road). The risk of flooding 
and the history of flooding on the site 
have therefore weighed strongly 
against the allocation of this site. 
 
Whilst it is appreciated that very often 
technical solutions can be 
implemented to reduce the risk of 
flooding, it is considered that there are 
alternative sites within Lambourn 
which are more appropriate for 
allocation.  

135 
 

P
age 389



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

 
There is a significant risk of flooding on this site, 
which could impact negatively on all aspects of 
sustainability.  Mitigation could be considered, 
but much of the flood risk and history of flooding 
is a result of groundwater flooding. There are no 
other significant issues on this site, but the risk 
of flooding outweighs the other positive factors 
on the site.   

 
The site promoter responded to the 
Preferred Options consultation and 
submitted a revised layout plan, which 
reduced the number of dwellings on 
the site to 35 and included a large 
area in the centre of the site for flood 
mitigation. This revised layout plan 
does not reflect the current settlement 
pattern and further highlights the 
concern regarding flood risk.  

LAM015 
 
Land adjacent 
to Newbury 
Road, 
Lambourn 
 
Approximately 5 
dwellings 

Overall there are no significant sustainability 
issues with this site and it is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability.  
The site is well related to local services and 
facilities within the village, including access to 
the countryside, all of which would enable 
walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  In addition, the development is 
close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive 
impact on economic and social sustainability.  
Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to the environmental sustainability due 
to the greenfield nature of the site and its 
location within the AONB. As long as 
appropriate mitigation measures are introduced, 
including those set out within the Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be 
mitigated and deliver positive effects on 
sustainability.  
Flooding could also have a negative impact on 
all elements of sustainability unless appropriate 
mitigation measures are provided.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Lambourn 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

This site was not appraised as a 
reasonable alternative at the 
preferred option stage – new site 
submission. 

Part of the site is recommended for 
allocation 
The site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement boundary and well related 
to existing services and facilities 
within Lambourn.  
 
As the site is within the AONB a 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
has been carried out and indicates 
that development on part of the site 
would be acceptable in landscape 
terms, subject to mitigation measures 
to ensure the protection of existing 
landscape features. It states that the 
north eastern part of the site would 
result in harm to the natural beauty 
and special qualities of the AONB, but 
the south western part of the site 
adjacent to the road could be 
developed subject to a series of 
requirements set out within the LSA to 
conserve and enhance the AONB.  
 
The south western part of the site sits 
within a groundwater emergence zone 

136 
 

P
age 390



Table 23 – Summary of Lambourn Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as site for allocation 

 and therefore a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) would be required 
as part of any planning application to 
demonstrate how all potential sources 
of flooding, including groundwater 
flood risk has been taken into account 
in the design of the development. A 
SUDS scheme would need to be 
implemented to ensure no adverse 
impact on the River Lambourn 
SSSI/SAC. 

 
Site selection summary  
The SA/SEAs do not show any sites to have any significant effects on sustainability; all sites are shown to have a predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability. 
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments have provided 
further information about the sites which has helped to inform and refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. Following the Preferred 
Options consultation LAM005 and part of LAM015 are being recommended for allocation in Lambourn.  
 
As Lambourn is in the AONB the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is a paramount 
consideration when sites are being assessed. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA, 2011 and 2015) has been carried out on the sites to ensure 
development would not cause harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. 
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out regarding the approach to allocations in Lambourn. 
Lambourn is defined in the Core Strategy as a Rural Service Centre, and is also one of three district centres within West Berkshire, therefore, it is 
considered acceptable that a degree of development is allocated to help sustain the role and function of Lambourn.  
 
LAM002A is not recommended for allocation. A revised site area and layout was submitted as part of the Preferred Options consultation. 
Development of this site would potentially result in the loss of land associated with the racehorse industry, the loss of which would be contrary to 
policy CS12 of the Core Strategy. In addition, the proposal is out of character with the existing settlement pattern. Other sites within Lambourn are 
considered to be more appropriate for development. 
 

137 
 

P
age 391



LAM005 is recommended for allocation. The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to the centre of the village and can deliver housing 
without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. Development will not take place within flood zones 2 and 3, and a 
significant buffer will be provided between the SSSI/SAC and any development on the site.  
 
LAM007 is not recommended for allocation. This site was selected as a preferred option, however through the consultation it has become apparent 
that the southern part of the site is currently in use as turn-out paddocks for an adjacent racing yard. The loss of the land for housing development 
would be contrary to policy CS12 of the Core Strategy and cannot be taken forward as an allocation. Whilst the southern part of the site is in use 
associated with the racehorse industry, concern has been raised regarding access to the northern part of the site which would impact upon delivery. 
In addition the LSA states that both sites LAM007 and LAM005 could only be developed in part concurrently or either one or the other selected in 
order to continue the pattern of sequential small developments in the village. At the Proposed Submission consultation stage the site promoter 
provided additional evidence to show that there may still be the potential for the site to be taken forward in the future.  Therefore although the Council 
has concerns about the immediate deliverability of the site as part of the HSA DPD, it is proposed to consider the site further as part of the new Local 
Plan. It is not considered appropriate to allocate both sites at this time due to the cap the Core Strategy puts on development in the AONB (up to 
2,000 dwellings). 
 
LAM009 is not recommended for allocation. The topography of the site raises concern over the ability to achieve suitable access arrangement and 
the relationship of the site to the existing settlement is poor. Other sites within the village are considered to be more appropriate for development.  
 
LAM013 is not recommended for allocation. The site is located in the centre of the village, with easy access to services and facilities. However, the 
risk of flooding and the history of flooding on the site have weighed strongly against the allocation of this site. The revised layout plan submitted as 
part of the preferred options consultation does not reflect the current settlement pattern and further highlights the concern regarding flood risk. Other 
sites within Lambourn are considered to be more appropriate for allocation.  
 
Part of LAM015 is recommended for allocation. This site was submitted as part of the preferred options consultation and therefore was not previously 
consulted upon. The south western part of the site adjacent to the road could be developed without resulting in harm to the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB, subject to the implementation of the mitigation measures set out within the LSA (2015). The site can deliver a low density 
linear development which reflects the existing settlement pattern.   
 
The SA/SEA highlights that of the 5 sites considered most had a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  Site LAM013 has a significant risk of 
flooding and has not been recommended for allocation for this reason.  There are other potential sites in Lambourn with less flood risk. 
 
The sites recommended for allocation, LAM005 and LAM007 are well related to the settlement. Though LAM005 includes a small area within flood 
zone 2 and 3, it is not proposed that development extends this far east on the site. These sites are considered more suitable than LAM002A, where 
concerns had been expressed regarding traffic and access and LAM009, which also has potential access issues, is steeply sloping and likely to have 
more impact on the landscape and built environment than the preferred sites. 

138 
 

P
age 392



7.2.4.3 Pangbourne 
Pangbourne is a rural service centre within the North Wessex Downs AONB.   It is a thriving community which plays an important role as service 
centre for the eastern areas of the AONB and provides a district centre shopping function with a range of services and facilities.  It is served by a 
mainline station with trains to Reading and London and northwards to Oxford.  There are also a number of local bus services.  The Core Strategy 
points out, however, that opportunities for development are constrained by environmental considerations in terms of the floodplain and the sensitivity 
of the landscape.  This will restrict the amount of development to take place at Pangbourne. 
 
Pangbourne is located on the River Thames, which flows to the north of the town.  The River Pang flows through the centre of the village.  The areas 
immediately adjacent to these water courses are within flood zone 2 or 3 as is a large area to the south and east of Pangbourne.  Much of 
Pangbourne and the land to the south and east lies within a groundwater emergence zone. 
 
There are a number of important environmental and heritage assets within Pangbourne and its vicinity.  Two Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs) lie to the south east of the village,. tThe village core is a designated conservation area with a number of listed buildings. 
 
Eight sites were identified in through the SHLAA., and two (PAN001 and PAN002) were assessed as potentially developable within the SHLAA (the 
excluded sites were ruled out for the following reasons – PAN005 and PAN006 both have grant of planning permission for residential development 
and are located within the settlement boundary, PAN008 is located within the settlement boundary, PAN009 and PAN010 are poorly related to the 
settlement boundary, and PAN011 is within Flood Zone 3). These were considered reasonable alternatives for development and an SA/SEA was 
undertaken for these two sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. The table below outlines the 
findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward as preferred options. for allocation as well as setting 
out the recommendations from the preferred options stage. 
 
Since the proposed submission consultation PAN002 has been granted planning permission.  
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  
• Pangbourne general comments – 1 response 
• PAN001 – 126 responses  

• PAN002 – 132 responses  
• Rejected sites – 1 response 

 
A petition objecting to the development of both PAN001 and PAN002 for housing was received which contained 217 signatures.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Pangbourne general (inc. rejected sites) – 3 responses 
• HSA22 (PAN002) – 37 responses 

• Pangbourne Settlement Boundary revisions – 2 responses  

 
Table 24 - Summary of Pangbourne Sites SA/SEA 

139 
 

P
age 393



Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification of site for 
allocation 

PAN001 
 
Land at 
Green Lane, 
Pangbourne  
 
36 dwellings 
(1.8ha at 20 
dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
Development of this site would not lead to any significant 
sustainability issues. There are positive impacts on 
sustainability as the site is close to local services and facilities 
enabling walking and cycling and the promotion of healthy, 
active lifestyles. There is potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability unless the mitigation measures 
set out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to. There 
is no flood risk on the site, which has a positive impact on 
sustainability.  
The site is close to local facilities and services in Pangbourne. 
The nearest bus stop is located on Pangbourne Hill which is 
served by a bi-hourly service to Reading and Upper Basildon. 
Development could provide an opportunity to enhance the 
bus service. The site therefore scores positively on the social 
and economic elements of sustainability. The site is in close 
proximity to open countryside which will help to promote a 
healthy active lifestyle, and this will further enhance the 
positive score in relation to social sustainability.  
Additional traffic could impact upon road safety, and this could 
be exacerbated due to road widening and the provision of 
footpaths is not possible.  The uncertain impact upon the BAP 
Habitat could be mitigated against if required. 
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that 
development on the site would be suitable, although 
appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures would be 
required to ensure that the potential negative impact on 
environmental sustainability is avoided. Development would 
impact negatively upon environmental sustainability due to 
the site being greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s 
housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield 
sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB / 
Pangbourne 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is located in a rural 
service centre in close proximity 
to local services and facilities. 
The Landscape Assessment 
has concluded that low rise 
development could be 
accommodated and would not 
be visually intrusive subject to 
mitigation and enhancement 
measures. However potential 
impact to the highway network 
remains of concern. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The surrounding roads to the 
site are narrow and unsuitable 
for the additional volumes of 
traffic that would be generated 
by development. Road widening 
is not possible. There are no 
footways in the vicinity of the 
site and these could not be 
provided. The site is therefore 
considered unsuitable for 
development. 

140 
 

P
age 394



Table 24 - Summary of Pangbourne Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification of site for 
allocation 

through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term. 
Development of the greenfield site for residential development 
is not considered to impact upon water quality, soil quality or 
noise levels, so the impact on environmental sustainability 
would be negligible.  

PAN002 
 
Land north of 
Pangbourne 
Hill and west 
of River View 
Road, 
Pangbourne  
 
35 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
Development of this site would not lead to any significant 
sustainability issues. There are positive impacts on 
sustainability as the site is close to local services and facilities 
enabling walking and cycling and the promotion of healthy, 
active lifestyles. There is potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability unless the mitigation measures 
set out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to.  
The site is close to local facilities and services in Pangbourne, 
as well as being within walking distance of Pangbourne rail 
station and adjacent to a bus stop with a bi-hourly service to 
Reading and Upper Basildon. Development could provide an 
opportunity to enhance the bus service. The site therefore 
scores positively on the social and economic elements of 
sustainability. The site promoter has indicated that a planning 
application will provide public open space and a children’s 
play area which will help to promote a healthy active lifestyle, 
as will the close proximity of the site to open countryside. This 
further enhances the positive score in relation to social 
sustainability.  
Whilst there are uncertain impacts upon archaeology, dormice 
and road safety, there are mitigation measures that can be 
implemented so that the impacts on the environmental and 
social elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that 
development on part of the site would be suitable, although 
appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures would be 
required to ensure that the potential negative impact on 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB / 
Pangbourne 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

Part of the site, in line with 
the landscape assessment, is 
recommended for allocation. 
 The site is located in a rural 
service centre in close proximity 
to local services and facilities. 
The Landscape Assessment 
has concluded that some 
development could be 
accommodated on the lower 
part of the site subject to 
mitigation and enhancement 
measures. However potential 
impact on the highway network 
could be an issue 

Part of the site, in line with 
the landscape assessment, is 
recommended for allocation. 
The site promoter undertook an 
assessment of the junction for a 
planning application for the 
development of 35 dwellings on 
the site which concluded that 
the increase in traffic at the 
junction would have little impact 
at the junction. The Council’s 
Highways and Transport team 
concurred with the results of the 
assessment. 
 
It came to light at the preferred 
options stage that dormice are 
present on the site. An 
extended phase 1 habitat 
survey will be required together 
with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. 
Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, if 
appropriate to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
Planning Permission has been 
granted for the site.  

141 
 

P
age 395



Table 24 - Summary of Pangbourne Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification of site for 
allocation 

environmental sustainability is avoided. Development would 
impact negatively upon environmental sustainability due to 
the site being greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s 
housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield 
sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
The site is adjacent to an area at risk from surface water 
flooding; development on the site could lead to a worsening of 
flood risk elsewhere without appropriate mitigation measures.  
Should flooding occur, it would have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote 
key business sectors and business development in the longer 
term.  
Development of the greenfield site for 35 residential dwellings 
is not considered to impact upon water quality, soil quality or 
noise levels, so the impact on environmental sustainability 
would be negligible.  

 
Site selection summary  
The SA/SEA highlights that both sites considered had a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, with neither site having a shown to have any 
significant sustainability effectsimpacts.  
 
At preferred options, PAN002 was recommended for allocation, and Members at the Planning Policy tTask gGroup held on the 6th June on the asked 
that PAN001 was also consulted on as an option for allocation due to the limited development opportunities in Pangbourne.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment as a result of the consultation; however the comments have provided further 
information about the sites which has helped to refine details of the site proposed for allocation.  
 
As Pangbourne is located within the AONB, the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is the 
paramount consideration when sites are being assessed. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has indicated that only part of PAN002 would 

142 
 

P
age 396



be suitable without harm to the landscape of the AONB. The LSA for site PAN001 advises that whilst the site is visually exposed, low rise 
development would be acceptable. 
 
PAN001 is a Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) habitat, and at the preferred options stage it came to light that there are dormice present on site PAN002. 
In both cases, an extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required at the planning application stage together with further detailed surveys arising 
from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, if necessary, to ensure any protected 
species were not adversely affected. 
 
A consultation response was received that advised of there being restrictive covenants on site PAN001. The site promoters clients have been unable 
to confirm whether the covenants exist or not. The site promoters of PAN002 have not advised of there being any legal constraints to the site.  
 
At the preferred options stage it was acknowledged that there were Both sites have some highways concerns for both sites. For PAN001 there is 
concern that the roads are often narrow surrounding the site and may be unsuitable for the additional volumes of traffic that the development of the 
site would generate. The Council’s Highways and Transport team have since advised that it is not possible to widen the surrounding roads. 
Furthermore, there are no footways in the vicinity and it is not possible to provide any. As a result, the site is not considered suitable for development. 
 
In respect of For PAN002 there is was concern regarding the impact on the restricted Pangbourne Hill/A340 Tidmarsh Lane junction. The site 
promoter undertook an assessment of the junction for a planning application for the development of 35 dwellings on the site which concluded that the 
increase in traffic at the junction would have little impact at the junction. The Council’s Highways and Transport team concur with the results of the 
assessment. Planning permission has been granted for development of the site.  

7.2.4.4 Bradfield Southend 
Bradfield Southend is one of West Berkshire’s service villages and sits within the eastern part of the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB). As a service village, Bradfield Southend is suitable only for a limited amount of development due to the more limited range of 
services available.  
 
While there are public transport opportunities within the village, the bus service is two hourly. There is no train station.  
 
The River Pang runs to the south of Bradfield Southend, and the area immediately around the river lies within flood zones 2 and 3.  
 
There are a number of environmental assets within Bradfield Southend, with areas of ancient woodland and a Local Wildlife Site south of the 
settlement.  
 
Fiveour sites were promoted through the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) process, and threewo were assessed to be 
potentially developable within the SHLAA (site BRS001 was excluded because of the impact that development would have upon the landscape and 
BRS002 was excluded because the site could accommodate fewer than 5 dwellings, both of which are grounds for automatic exclusion). A fifth site 
was submitted after the finalisation of the SHLAA in December 2013, and this was assessed to be potentially developable. A SA/SEA was 

143 
 

P
age 397



subsequently undertaken on these three sites to inform the site selection work and detail whether or not the sites are being taken forward as preferred 
options. for allocation as well as setting out the recommendations from the preferred options stage.  
 
At the preferred options stage a sixth site was submitted for consideration, BRS006. This site has been subject to a SA/SEA. 
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  
• Bradfield Southend general – 5 responses 
• BRS004 – 16 responses 

• Rejected sites – 4 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Bradfield Southend general (inc. rejected sites) – 1 response 
• HSA23 (BRS004) – 16 responses (81% template responses) 

• Bradfield Southend Settlement Boundary Revisions – 1 
response 

 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward as preferred options. 
for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage. 
 
Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

BRS003 
 
Land to the 
north of 
South End 
Road, 
Bradfield 
Southend 
 
45 dwellings 
(2.24ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
There are a limited number of services and facilities within 
walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher level services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access Newbury 
and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-
hourly, although development could provide the opportunity 
to enhance the bus service. The site is in close proximity of 
open countryside to help promote a healthy and active 
lifestyle.  
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to 
supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to 
open countryside. Given tThe sites location sits within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA) means that biodiversity 
enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document which will 
positively impact on the environmental sustainability of the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Bradfield Southend is identified 
as a service village within the 
Core Strategy. As a service 
village, only a small level of 
development is required. It is 
considered that there is a more 
suitable site in Bradfield 
Southend for allocation. 
 
The site is at risk of surface 
water flooding and the Parish 
Council reported standing 
water on the site in early 2014. 
 
If the site was developed 
alongside BRS004, the linear 
settlement pattern would be 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is within an area 
susceptible to surface water 
flooding and the Parish Council 
reported standing water on the 
site in early 2014.  
 
The acceptable developable 
area is poorly related to existing 
residential development, 
without BRS004 being 
developed in order to improve 
this relationship. This would 
result in a level of development 
not in keeping with the role and 
function of Bradfield Southend 
as a service village. 
 

144 
 

P
age 398



Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

site. 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation 
due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact 
upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape 
; however mitigation/enhancement measures, as outlined in 
the Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA), would reduce 
the impact. Development also has the potential to negatively 
impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site 
being greenfield. Development of the site also has the 
potential to negatively impact upon the built character both 
cumulatively with site BRS004 and on its own, resulting in a 
potential negative effect on environmental sustainability.  
In addition, tThe site is at risk from surface water flooding. 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be 
considered to reduce the impact. 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety 
and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation 
measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on 
the environmental and social elements of sustainability are 
ameliorated against.  
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

eroded. If developed on its 
own, it would be very poorly 
related to the existing 
settlement.  

As a service village, only a 
small level of development is 
required. It is considered that 
there is a more suitable site in 
Bradfield Southend for 
allocation.  
 

BRS004 
 
Land off 
Stretton 
Close, 
Bradfield 
Southend 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
There are a limited number of services and facilities within 
walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher level services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access Newbury 
and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement and would 
be suitable for a small number 
of dwellings that would be in 
keeping with the size and 
function of Bradfield Southend 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change the recommendation.  
 

145 
 

P
age 399



Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

120 dwellings 
(0.58ha at 
20dph) 

hourly, although development could provide the opportunity 
to enhance the bus service. The site is in close proximity of 
open countryside to help promote a healthy and active 
lifestyle.  
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to 
supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to 
open countryside. Given tThe site’s location sits within a 
BOA, means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively 
impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation 
due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact 
upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape 
however mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce 
the impact. Development also has the potential to negatively 
impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site 
being greenfield.  
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral 
impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed 
alongside site BRS003 and BRS005, the traditional linear 
settlement character would be lost, this resulting in a 
potential negative effect. 
The site is not within an area of flood risk, however There is 
uncertainty relating to the impact development may have on 
flood risk as the site lies adjacent to an area of surface water 
flood risk and the Pparish Ccouncil reported standing water 
on the site during January/February 2014. Any development 
will therefore need to provide SuDs in line with Core Strategy 
policy. Development could impact negatively upon the 
landscape, however mitigation measures would reduce 
minimise any impact. 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety 
and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation 
measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on 
the environmental and social elements of sustainability are 

Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

as a service village. 

146 
 

P
age 400



Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

ameliorated against.  
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  

BRS005 
 
Land at 
Crackwillow, 
Cock Lane, 
Bradfield 
Southend 
 
38 40 
dwellings 
(1.9ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
There are a limited number of services and facilities within 
walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher level services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access Newbury 
and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-
hourly, although development could provide the opportunity 
to enhance the bus service. The site is in close proximity of 
open countryside to help promote a healthy and active 
lifestyle.  
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to 
supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to 
open countryside. Given tThe sites sits location within a 
BOA, means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively 
impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation 
due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact 
upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape 
however mitigation/enhancement measures, as outlined in 
the LCA would reduce the impact. Development also has the 
potential to negatively impact upon environmental 
sustainability due to the site being greenfield.  
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral 
impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed 
alongside sites BRS003 and BRS004, the linear settlement 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site may be suitable for a 
small number of dwellings, but 
would be too small to allocate. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The LCA has advised that 
development of the whole site 
may impact and harm the 
special qualities of the AONB 
and result in the loss of 
significant tree belts, matrix of 
woodland and pasture which 
has links with the wider 
landscape, visual and aural 
tranquility, and meadow. 
 
The LCA also advises that only 
development of the eastern part 
of BRS005 would be 
acceptable due to landscape, 
visual and settlement pattern 
constraints and is the least 
preferred option, of the three 
sites in this area, due to the 
potential difficulty in accessing 
the site and the need to cross 
the more sensitive part of site 
to reach the reduced area. 
 
As a service village, only a 
small level of development is 
required. It is considered that 
there is a more suitable site in 

147 
 

P
age 401



Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

character would be lost, thus resulting in a potential negative 
effect. 
There is uncertainty relating to the impact development may 
have on flood risk as the site lies adjacent to an area of 
surface water flood risk and the Parish Council reported 
standing water on the site in January/February 2014. Any 
development will therefore need to provide SuDs and any 
planning application would need to be accompanied by a 
FRA in line with Core Strategy policy. There is also a 
potential negative impact in relation to the impact of 
development upon the AONB. 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety 
and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation 
measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on 
the environmental and social elements of sustainability are 
ameliorated against.  
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

Bradfield Southend for 
allocation.  
 

BRS006 
 
Land at Ash 
Grove, 
Bradfield 
Southend, 
 
10 dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
There are a limited number of services and facilities within 
walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher level services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access Newbury 
and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-
hourly, although development could provide the opportunity 
to enhance the bus service. The site is in close proximity of 
open countryside to help promote a healthy and active 
lifestyle.  
The site’s location within a BOA means that biodiversity 
enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the 
Core Strategy which will positively impact on the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site was submitted during 
the preferred options 
consultation on the Housing 
Site Allocations DPD. 
 
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The LCA concluded that 
development over the whole 
site would result in harm to the 
natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB and that 
only part of the site would be 
suitable for development. The 
site has limited visual and built 
connections with the existing 
built form.  
 
As a service village, only a 
small level of development is 

148 
 

P
age 402



Table 25 – Summary of Bradfield Southend Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

environmental sustainability of the site. 
There are potential negative impacts due to the sites location 
within the AONB which means that development has the 
potential to have a negative impact upon environmental 
sustainability; however mitigation/enhancement measures 
would reduce the impact. Development also has the potential 
to negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to 
the site being greenfield.  
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral 
impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed, 
the linear settlement character would be lost, thus resulting in 
a potential negative effect. 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in 
the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety 
and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation 
measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on 
the environmental and social elements of sustainability are 
ameliorated against.  
Due to the site having limited visual and built connections 
with the existing built form, only part of the site would be 
suitable for development, with the inclusion of mitigation 
measures outlined in the Landscape Capacity Assessment.  

required. It is considered that 
there is a more suitable site in 
Bradfield Southend for 
allocation.  
 

 
 
Site selection summary 
The SA/SEAs of the specific sites for Bradfield Southend highlighted that all three sites assessed in the SHLAA as potentially developable had show 
that all four sites are likely to have a predominantly neutral effects on sustainability. and nNone of the sites had any significant effects.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments have provided 
further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the site proposed for allocation.  
 

149 
 

P
age 403



As Bradfield Southend is in the AONB the impact on the landscape is critical. A LCAandscape Character Assessment has advised of 
mitigation/enhancement measures to ensure that the negative impact on the character of the AONB, and consequential negative impact on 
environmental sustainability, is minimised. Mitigation measures include reducing the area that is acceptable for development. For site BRS005, the 
area now considered as acceptable for development is too small to allocate.  
 
A The LCA Landscape Character Assessment has advisesd that the development of both BRS003 and BRS004 would erode the traditional linear 
pattern of development in Bradfield Southend therefore resulting in a potential negative effect on environmental sustainability. Nonetheless, because 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a rural service village, there is only the need for a limited amount of development, so there is only the need to 
develop both BRS003 and BRS004. The LCA Landscape Character Assessment also advises that if BRS003 was developed on its own (i.e. BRS004 
remained undeveloped), it would be very poorly connected to the rest of the village.  
 
BRS003 is at risk of surface water flooding and there was evidence of this in early 2014. The site access and eastern boundary of BRS006 lie within 
an area susceptible to surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact upon all elements of sustainability, and mitigation includes 
choosing sites that are not at risk of flooding. BRS004 is not within an area at risk of flooding, although standing water was reported on the site in 
early 2014. The Council’s Principal Engineer has advised that this is not a showstopper to development, however a Flood Risk Assessment would be 
required with the submission of any planning application, and sustainable drainage systems (SUDs) will be required as part of any development that 
takes place. 
 
BRS004 is recommended for allocation because it is well related to the existing settlement and would be suitable for a small number of dwellings that 
would be in keeping with the size and function of Bradfield Southend as a service village. 
 
BRS006 was submitted at preferred options. Landscape Assessment work indicates that part of the site would be suitable for development. The site 
has limited visual and built connections with the existing built form. As a service village only a limited amount of development is suitable for Bradfield 
Southend, therefore, it was decided that the site would not be put forward for development as it had not be subject to early consultation with the 
public, and BRS004 was considered to be better related to the existing settlement and a more suitable site for development.  

7.2.4.5 Chieveley 
Chieveley is a service village within the North Wessex Downs AONB. A limited amount of development, to meet local needs and maintain vibrant, 
balanced communities within their own sense of identity, is required through the Core Strategy. The village is located to the north west of the junction 
13 of the M4, with the A34 passing to the east of the village.  
 
There are no water courses running through the village, with the whole village in flood zone 1. Small areas of the village are within a surface water 
flood risk area, and there is anecdotal evidence of highway flooding within the village.  
 
The centre of the village is within a conservation area.  
 

150 
 

P
age 404



29 12 sites were submitted through the SHLAA, of these 5 have been six of which were assessed as potentially developable. Those sites assessed 
as not currently developable in the SHLAA are as a result of the landscape assessment work indicating that development would not be acceptable as 
it would cause harm to the AONB. CHI015 and CHI016 were automatically excluded through the site selection process at preferred options, CHI015 
due to the impact of development on the AONB and CHI016 as the development potential of the site is less than 5 dwellings. SA/SEA has not been 
carried out for these sites.  Of the potentially developable sites two were ruled out at the automatic exclusion stage of the site assessment process. 
CHI015 on landscape grounds and CHI016 as the development potential was considered too small to allocate. A further site (CHI007) was withdrawn 
from the SHLAA in July 2014. The remaining three sites were considered as reasonable alternatives for development and so an SA/SEA was 
undertaken for all these sites to inform the site selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. Following the preferred options and 
additional technical work the remaining potentially developable sites have been automatically excluded as the development potential on the site has 
been reduced to less than 5 dwellings (CHI001, CHI010 and CHI017). These three sites meet the were then considered as part of the settlement 
boundary review.  criteria and will be included within the revised settlement boundary for Chieveley. For completeness table 23 has been retained, 
although no change have been made since the preferred options as the sites have now been automatically excluded in Part A of the site assessment 
process.   
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details from the preferred options where three sites were assessed. whether or 
not the sites are being taken forward as preferred options.  
 
Preferred Options consultation responses:  

• Chieveley General – 2 responses 
• CHI010 – 1 response 

• Rejected sites – 2 responses  

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Chieveley general – 0 responses • Chieveley Settlement Boundary revisions – 7 responses.  
 

Table 26 - Summary of Chieveley Sites SA/SEA  
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

CHI001 
 
The Colt 
House, 
Green 
Lane, 
Chieveley 
 
<5 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is within easy walking distance of the village core in a 
residential area on the edge of the village, which gives a 
positive impact on sustainability. The village’s location close to 
the A34 and M4 means that there are a number of 
opportunities for access to employment throughout West 
Berkshire and beyond, with a positive impact on economic 
sustainability. The site is within the AONB, and without 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Chieveley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Green Lane is rural in nature 
with large detached housing 
along it. A development of 5 
houses would be out of keeping 
with the character of the area.  
 
The site could be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 

Site to be included within 
settlement boundary.  
Development potential on the 
site means that the site is too 
small to allocate, and can be 
automatically excluded through 
the site selection process.  
 
The site will be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 

151 
 

P
age 405



Table 26 - Summary of Chieveley Sites SA/SEA  
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

(0.24ha at 
20dph) 

appropriate landscape mitigation measures development 
would have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. 

to Long term review.  review. included within the 
revised settlement boundary, as 
proposed at Preferred Options.  

CHI010 
 
Land 
adjacent to 
Coombe 
Cottage, 
High 
Street, 
Chieveley 
 
7 <5 
dwellings 
(0.37ha at 
20dph) 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is well related to the village core, close to local 
services and facilities, which will maximise the opportunities 
for walking within the village and give a positive impact on 
sustainability. The Village’s location close to the A34 and M4 
means that there are a number of opportunities for access to 
employment throughout West Berkshire and beyond, giving a 
positive impact on economic sustainability. Development 
would take place on greenfield land and could have an impact 
on the local green infrastructure, with a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability without appropriate mitigation 
measures.  Without appropriate landscape mitigation 
measures there could be a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability as a result of the site being in the AONB. The 
site is at risk from surface water flooding, which without 
appropriate mitigation could have a negative impact on 
sustainability. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Chieveley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is related to Chieveley, 
at the centre of the village with 
good access to local services 
and facilities.  
 
The site could be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 
review.  
 

Site to be included within 
settlement boundary Further 
assessment and following 
results of the consultation the 
development potential of the site 
has been revised to less than 5 
dwellings.  
Therefore, the site can be 
automatically excluded through 
the site selection process.  
 
The site will be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 
review. included within the 
revised settlement boundary 
rather than be allocated.  
 
 

CHI017 
 
The Old 
Stables, 
Green 
Lane, 
Chieveley 
 
<5 
dwellings 
(0.25ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
The site is within easy walking distance of the village core in a 
residential area on the edge of the village, giving a positive 
impact on sustainability. The village’s location close to the 
A34 and M4 means that there are a number of opportunities 
for access to employment throughout West Berkshire and 
beyond, with a positive impact on economic sustainability. The 
site is a residential garden and therefore classified as 
greenfield land and the location within the AONB could lead to 
a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless 
appropriate landscape mitigation measures are provided. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB - 
Chieveley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Green Lane is rural in nature 
with large detached housing 
along it. A development of 5 
houses would be out of keeping 
with the character of the area.  
The site could be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 
review.  

Site to be included within 
settlement boundary 
Development potential on the 
site means that the site is too 
small to allocate, and can be 
automatically excluded through 
the site selection process.  
 
The site will be considered as 
part of the settlement boundary 
review.  included within the 
revised settlement boundary, as 
proposed at Preferred Options.  
 

 
152 

 

P
age 406



Site Selection Summary 
The SA/SEA for all sites should that all sites will have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. None of the sites are shown to have any 
significant sustainability impacts.   
 
As Chieveley is in the AONB the impact on the landscape is critical. All sites have been assessed through a Landscape Assessment which says that 
development, subject to appropriate mitigation measures, would be acceptable. Without the mitigation measures development could have a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability.  
 
No sites are recommended for allocation in Chieveley. While three sites were considered reasonable alternatives at preferred options stage, with one 
site being recommended for allocation (CHI010) and two for inclusion within the settlement boundary (CHI001 and CHI017), following additional 
assessment of the development potential on the sites, all have potential for less than 5 dwellings, and therefore, can be considered as part of the 
settlement boundary review. The Council has reconsidered the review of the settlement boundary around CHI001, and now considers that the 
proposed change does not meet the settlement boundary review criteria and would therefore not be a justified change. Whilst Green Lane is 
functionally part of the Chieveley, its character in the south relates more to the open countryside rather than the main settlement. It is therefore 
proposed not to include CHI001 within the settlement boundary. All sites meet the review criteria, and therefore, are proposed for inclusion in the 
settlement boundary. One of the main issues raised at the consultation in relation to CHI010 was associated with access. A small development of less 
than 5 dwellings overcomes the access concerns, as access can be provided via the existing driveway without the need for additional improvements. 
This will limit the amount of traffic added to the High Street, which was also a concern raised at preferred options.  
 
CHI001 and CHI017 have not been recommended for allocation due to the potential negative impact on the character of the built environmental and 
subsequent negative impact on environmental sustainability. Existing development along Green Lane is linear in character and made up of large 
detached homes. Development would need to be in keeping with the existing development to avoid a negative impact on sustainability. While the 
sites are not being recommended for allocation, they could be considered as part of the settlement boundary review.  
 
CHI010 has been recommended for allocation. The site is located at the centre of Chieveley village, next to the village hall. There are a number of 
positive sustainability impacts due to the location. There is a potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the location within 
the AONB, but with the appropriate mitigation measures this impact should be neutralised. The site is within a surface water flood risk area, which 
would required mitigation to ensure no negative impacts on sustainability occurred.  

7.2.4.6 Compton 
Compton is a service village located in the AONB. It is a historic village with medieval origins. There is a conservation area, and many listed buildings.  
 
Compton has an ‘opportunity site’ in the form of the Pirbright Institute which is expected to close shortly and come forward for mixed use development 
during the plan period. Redeveloping the site in accordance with the adopted SPD provides the opportunity to positively enhance many aspects of 
sustainability. This means that Compton has a greater level of growth than would normally be expected in a service village.  
 

153 
 

P
age 407



Compton is located close to both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south. However the local roads are rural and not suitable for 
heavy traffic.  
 
Parts of Compton lie within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and are therefore unsuitable for development. There are additional issues of groundwater and 
surface water flooding and the village was badly affected during the February 2014 floods.  
 
The village is reasonably well served with facilities for its size, having a primary and secondary school, a pub and shop and a number of social 
facilities.   
 
12 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process. All of the sites promoted through the SHLAA were considered against site selection criteria 
which resulted in 7 being automatically excluded in accordance with Part A of the site selection assessment at preferred options, with a further two 
sites automatically excluded following additional landscape work carried out following the preferred options consultation. Two of the sites assessed as 
not currently developable in the SHLAA are as a result of poor proximity to Compton. A further two are within the settlement boundary. One was ruled 
out by the Landscape assessment and a further two on flooding grounds. The remaining five three sites were considered reasonable alternatives for 
development and so Part B of the site selection assessment was carried out and an SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform the site 
selection work and the subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further technical work have informed 
which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD. The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs 
and site selection information to details whether or not the sites are recommended for being taken forward as preferred options for allocation as well 
as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage. 
 
Three new sites were submitted as part of the proposed submission consultation. These sites have been assessed and automatically excluded 
through the site selection process.  
 
Preferred options consultation responses: 

• COM004 – 14 responses 
• COM001 – 1 response 

• COM012 – 1 response 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Compton general (inc. rejected sites) – 4 responses 
• HSA24 (COM004) – 6 responses 

• Compton Settlement Boundary Revisions – 0 responses 

 
 

Table 27 – Summary of Compton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as allocated site 

COM001  Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on Effect: The site is not The site is not recommended for 

154 
 

P
age 408



Table 27 – Summary of Compton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as allocated site 

Land to the 
East of Yew 
Tree Stables 
 
27 30 
dwellings 
(1.36ha at 
20dph) 

sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
There are no significant positive or negative effects. 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly 
education, public transport options are limited. There 
are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. 
The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a 
Recreation Ground to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle.  
The landscape assessment has concluded that 
development could be accommodated on part of the 
site subject to mitigation/enhancement measures. The 
scheduled ancient monument on site means that 
further archaeological investigation would be required, 
and the impact of the ancient monument would need to 
be taken into account in any development proposal. 
The area of archaeological significance adjacent to the 
site means that the site has archaeological potential 
and a desk based assessment would be required. The 
impact of any archaeological potential and the 
Conservation Area would need to be taken in to 
account in any development proposal. 
The site is at risk from groundwater flooding and 
mitigation measures would be required.   
The development of the site for housing would have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability.  

Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB  
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

recommended for allocation. 
COM004 is the only site to be 
allocated in Compton, and it 
provides the opportunity to 
redevelop a brownfield site. 
The site is significantly larger 
than would normally be 
expected for a Service Village 
and therefore, no other sites 
will be allocated within the 
village.  
 

allocation. 
Compton is noted for its pattern of 
generous open spaces within the 
settlement and COM001 is identified 
in the Village Design Statement as 
one of the important open spaces in 
the village. A landscape assessment 
has indicated that part of the site 
could accommodate housing subject 
to mitigation and enhancement 
measures. The site is at risk from 
groundwater emergence and is 
adjacent to Flood Zones 2 and 3 and 
an area of surface water flood risk. A 
Flood Risk Study undertaken to 
inform the Pirbright Institute SPD 
showed groundwater flooding in 
Compton to be complex and closely 
related to groundwater levels and 
rainfall/river flows. Compton village 
experienced flooding recently in 
2000, 2001, 2007 and 2014. Flood 
risk to the site would therefore 
require appropriate mitigation.  
 
COM004 is significantly larger than 
would normally be expected for a 
Service Village, therefore no other 
sites will be allocated within the 
village. 

COM004 
 
Pirbright 
Institute, High 
Street, 
Compton, 
RG20 7NN 

Overall the site is likely to have a positive neutral 
effect on sustainability. The SA/SEA highlights 
significant positive sustainability effects in terms 
of redeveloping a large area of previously 
developed land. 
This site would offer the opportunity to develop an 
existing brownfield site outside of a settlement 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral positive 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: North 
Wessex Downs 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
Development on this site 
would provide the opportunity 
to develop a brownfield site, 
which would otherwise 
become derelict. There would 

The site is recommended for 
allocation 
Development on this site would 
provide the opportunity to develop a 
brownfield site which relates well to 
the existing settlement. The re-use of 
a brownfield site is a priority in 

155 
 

P
age 409



Table 27 – Summary of Compton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as allocated site 

 
140 dwellings 
(7ha at 
20dph) 
 

boundary that could positively impact on the built 
environment and enhance the sites setting within the 
village and wider AONB.  
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly 
education, public transport options are limited. There 
are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. 
The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a 
Recreation Centre within the village to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. 
Redevelopment of the site in accordance with the 
adopted SPD would provide positive benefits for 
environmental sustainability in terms of enhancing 
green infrastructure and biodiversity on the site. The 
proximity of the site to the Conservation Area and a 
number of listed buildings also provides opportunities 
to enhance the character of the local historic 
environment. There would be positive benefits to 
environmental sustainability through the 
decontamination of the site.  
Given the sites location within open downland the 
landscape impact of any redevelopment is vitally 
important. The SPD and Landscape Assessment for 
the site demonstrate that excluding certain areas from 
development could make a positive contribution to the 
landscape character.  
The southern edge of the site is located within Flood 
Zone 2 and 3. In addition, the site is at risk from 
surface water flooding and groundwater flooding; 
however this part of the site is not included in the SPD 
as part of the developable area of the site and the 
promoters of the site have said this area will not be 
built on.  
The site is a brownfield employment site and is 
proposed to be redeveloped for primarily housing with 
some employment development appropriate to its rural 
location resulting in an overall neutral/positive impact 
on economic sustainability. 

AONB 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

also be an opportunity to 
rectify any contaminated land 
issues and enhance the site’s 
setting within the AONB and 
village. 
 

national and local planning policy 
taking precedent over Greenfield. 
The site would otherwise become 
derelict.  
 
There would also be an opportunity 
to rectify any contaminated land 
issues and enhance the site’s setting 
within the AONB and village. The site 
will also provide community space 
and green infrastructure, and a level 
of employment use.  Site COM004 is 
an identified opportunity site within 
the Core Strategy and has an 
adopted SPD for the site.  The site is 
the only site to be allocated in 
Compton and is significantly larger 
than would normally be expected for 
a Service Village, therefore no other 
sites will be allocated within the 
village. 
 

156 
 

P
age 410



Table 27 – Summary of Compton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as allocated site 

COM010 
Land to the 
west of Churn 
Road, 
Compton 
13 15 
dwellings 
(0.67 ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
There are no significant positive or negative effects. 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly 
education, public transport options are limited. There 
are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. 
The site could have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability as it is Greenfield, it is 
also open and rural in nature. The site is in close 
proximity of open countryside and a Recreation 
Ground to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
The site’s location within the AONB could have an 
impact on the landscape and settlement pattern. Only 
part of the relatively enclosed small field would be 
suitable for development and subject to requirements 
to conserve and enhance the AONB as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment. The site is at risk from 
groundwater flooding as part of it lies within a 
Groundwater Emergence Zone and mitigation would 
be required. Both these factors combined with the 
greenfield nature of the site could result in negative 
impact on environmental sustainability 
Bird, Reptile and Bat surveys would be required. 
The site is at risk from groundwater as part of it lies 
within a groundwater Emergence Zone. Mitigation 
would be required.   
The development of the site for housing would have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: NWD 
AONB  
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
COM004 is the only site to be 
allocated in Compton, and it 
provides the opportunity to 
redevelop a brownfield site. 
The site is significantly larger 
than would normally be 
expected for a Service Village 
and therefore, no other sites 
will be allocated within the 
village. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation. 
A Flood Risk Study undertaken to 
inform the Pirbright Institute SPD 
showed groundwater flooding in 
Compton to be complex and closely 
related to groundwater levels and 
rainfall/river flows. Compton village 
experienced flooding recently in 
2000, 2001, 2007 and 2014. Part of 
COM010 falls within a groundwater 
emergence zone and appropriate 
mitigation would be required. A 
landscape assessment considered 
COM010 in combination with 
COM009 and COM011 and 
concluded that much of the site is not 
suitable for development and is 
constrained by potential visual and 
landscape harm to the AONB and the 
settlement pattern. Only part of 
COM010, a relatively enclosed small 
field in the north east, would be 
suitable and subject to requirements 
to conserve and enhance the AONB. 
 
COM004 is significantly larger than 
would normally be expected for a 
Service Village, therefore no other 
sites will be allocated within the 
village. 

COM011 
 
Land to the 
north of Ilsley 
Road 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
There are no significant positive or negative effects. 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly 
education, public transport options are limited. There 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: NWD 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
COM004 is the only site to be 
allocated in Compton, and it 
provides the opportunity to 
redevelop a brownfield site. 

Additional landscape work carried out 
following the preferred options 
consultation indicates that 
development of this site would result 
in harm to the AONB.  

157 
 

P
age 411



Table 27 – Summary of Compton Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification 
as allocated site 

10 dwellings 
(0.52ha at 
20dph) 

are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. 
The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a 
Recreation Ground to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
The site is at risk from groundwater flooding and 
mitigation measures would be required. 
  

AONB  
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is significantly larger 
than would normally be 
expected for a Service Village 
and therefore, no other sites 
will be allocated within the 
village. 
 

COM012 
The 
Paddocks, 
east of Roden 
House, 
Wallingford 
Road 
 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
There are no significant positive or negative effects. 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly 
education, public transport options are limited. There 
are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. 
The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a 
Recreation Ground to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
The site is Greenfield as well as open and rural in 
nature, therefore there could be some negative effects 
on environmental sustainability.  
The site is at risk from groundwater flooding and 
mitigation measures would be required.   
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: NWD 
AONB  
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for allocation. 
COM004 is the only site to be 
allocated in Compton, and it 
provides the opportunity to 
redevelop a brownfield site. 
The site is significantly larger 
than would normally be 
expected for a Service Village 
and therefore, no other sites 
will be allocated within the 
village. 

Additional landscape work carried out 
following the preferred options 
consultation indicates that 
development of this site would result 
in harm to the AONB. 

 
Site selection summary 
The SA/SEA of the specific sites shows that COM004 will have a predominantly positive effect on sustainability whilst COM001, COM010, COM011, 
and COM012 would all have a predominantly neutral effect. 
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessments itself as a result of the consultation. Further clarification has been provided and 
further landscape work undertaken to help refine the details of some of the sites being considered. Following the Preferred Options consultation, one 
site, COM004, is recommended for allocation. 
 
Compton is located within the AONB and the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is the 
paramount consideration when sites are being assessed. Landscape assessment work has been undertaken for all of the five sites considered 
through the SA/SEA assessment process. Sites have either had their development potential reduced to take in to account the area of the site 
considered appropriate for development in landscape terms or they have been considered not suitable for any development.  

158 
 

P
age 412



 
The village is prone to flooding from the River Pang, River Roden, groundwater, surface water and sewerage/waste water infrastructure and 
experienced flooding recently in 2000, 2001, 2007 and 2014. A Flood Risk Study undertaken to inform the Pirbright Institute SPD showed 
groundwater flooding in Compton to be complex and closely related to groundwater levels and rainfall/river flows. Flood risk is therefore a key 
concern in the area and would require appropriate mitigation.  
 
COM004 is recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA of COM004 shows that it will have significant positive sustainability effects. This is because 
development of the site will result in the redevelopment of a large previously developed site which relates well to the existing settlement, thereby 
having a significant positive impact on environmental sustainability. The re-use of a brownfield site is a priority in national and local planning policy 
taking precedent over greenfield sites. Redevelopment of the site in accordance with the adopted SPD will have further benefits for environmental 
sustainability, including making a positive contribution to landscape character and providing areas of green infrastructure. Redevelopment of the site 
offers an opportunity for regeneration of a large site and to reduce its impact on the landscape and AONB which in part is visually prominent and 
detracts from the character of the village. Consultation with the Parish Council has shown that the allocation of the site would be supported. 
Redevelopment would enable decontamination of the site to an appropriate level suitable for the proposed land uses. The proposal would be a 
residential-led mixed use scheme providing some employment development appropriate to its rural location resulting in a neutral/positive impact on 
economic sustainability. Site COM004 is an identified opportunity site within the Core Strategy and has an adopted SPD for the site meaning that its 
potential for development has already been accepted.  An allocation of this scale means that there is not a requirement to make additional allocations 
in the service village of Compton, which would normally only be suitable for a more limited amount of development.  
 
COM001 is not recommended for allocation. Development on the site would have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. The landscape 
assessment concluded that some development could be accommodated on part of the site subject to mitigation and enhancement measures. The site 
is located within a groundwater emergence zone and is adjacent to Flood Zones 2 and 3 and an area of surface water flood risk and could have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability which would require mitigation. The site is in an area of archaeological potential, is a greenfield site 
and the Compton Village Design Statement has identified the site as an area of important open space in the village. With the allocation of COM004, 
there is no requirement for any additional allocation in Compton.  
 
COM010 is not recommended for allocation. Development on the site would have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. The sites location 
within the AONB has the potential to impact on the landscape and settlement pattern and as such the landscape assessment concluded that only part 
of the site would be suitable for development subject to mitigation and enhancement measures. The site is at risk from groundwater flooding causing 
a potential negative sustainability impact which would require mitigation. The potential landscape and flooding concerns combined with the greenfield 
nature of the site could result in negative impacts on environmental sustainability. With the allocation of COM004, there is no requirement for any 
additional allocation in Compton.   
 
The SA/SEA of the remaining sites (COM001, COM010, COM011 and COM012) sites shows that all sites will have a predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability. No sites are shown to have any significant sustainability impacts. Mitigation would be required at COM001, COM010, COM011 and 
COM012 to address flood risk from groundwater flooding which would have a significant impact on all aspects of sustainability. With the allocation of 
COM004, there is no requirement for any additional allocation in Compton.  

159 
 

P
age 413



7.2.4.7 Great Shefford 
Great Shefford is a service village located to the west of West Berkshire, within the AONB. A limited amount of development, to meet local needs and 
maintain a vibrant, balanced community with their own sense of identity is required in service villages. The A338 runs through the village. There are 
intermittent bus services in to Newbury.  
 
The river Lambourn flows through the centre of the village from Lambourn in the north to Newbury to the south. An ordinary water course flowing from 
the north of Great Shefford meets the Lambourn just to the east of the village. Flood zones 2 and 3 follow the same line as the rivers through the 
village. The majority of the village is also within a surface water flood risk area, with the centre of the village being designated as a critical drainage 
area in the SFRA. The is a history of significant flooding in the village and flooding in January / February 2014 led to the village largely being cut off 
due to a number of road closures.  
 
Two sites were promoted through the SHLAA, one of which was assessed as potentially developable (GSH001). GSH002, was assessed as not 
currently developable due to its location within flood zone 3 and the critical drainage area. An SA/SEA was undertaken for GSH001 to inform the site 
selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options and recommendations for allocation. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation response 

• Great Shefford general – 7 responses  
 
Proposed Submission Consultation responses 

• 1 response received 
 
Table 28 – Summary of Great Shefford Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

GSH001 
 
Land east of 
Spring 
Meadows, 
Great 
Shefford 
 
16 15 
dwellings 
(0.8ha at 
20dph) 

The site is close to local facilities and services within the 
village and to the countryside which would encourage 
walking and cycling, with a positive impact on sustainability. 
The site is in a surface water flood risk area. Flooding has a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability, some 
mitigation measures may be able to improve the situation. 
Great Shefford itself has a history of flooding, which many 
mean that mitigation measures do not remove the risk, and 
subsequent impact on sustainability. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB – 
Great Shefford 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation 
 
Due to the flood risk within the 
village, and history of flooding 
resulting in all road in and out 
of the village being closed 
(Jan/Feb 2014).  
 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 

 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to change recommendation. 
 
Further technical evidence, in 
the form of a groundwater 
flood risk study, has been 
carried out and indicates that 
part of the site is at risk from 
groundwater flooding 

160 
 

P
age 414



 
Site selection summary 
While the SA/SEA indicates that GSH001 would have a predominantly neutral sustainability impact and does not highlight any significant 
sustainability issues, the site is not recommended for allocation due to the significant flood risk within the village. While the site itself is not at risk from 
fluvial flooding (although it is in a surface water and groundwater flood risk area), the impact of flooding in the village is so significant that additional 
development is not considered appropriate.   

7.2.4.8 Hermitage 
Hermitage is one of West Berkshire’s service villages within the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). A limited amount 
of development to meet local needs and maintain vibrant, balanced communities with their own sense of identity is required through the Core 
Strategy. It is in a rural location but close to both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south. As a service village, Hermitage is 
suitable only for a limited amount of development due to the more limited range of services available.  
 
While there are public transport opportunities available within the village, the bus service is intermittent and t. There is no train station.  
 
No water courses run through the village, so there is no risk of fluvial flooding. There are, however, areas at risk of surface water flooding across the 
village. 
 
There are a number of environmental assets within Hermitage, with areas of ancient woodland to the west of the settlement and Local Wildlife Sites to 
the west, north and south.  
 
112 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process for residential development, and fourfive were assessed to be potentially developable within the 
SHLAA. All sites promoted through the SHLAA were considered against site selection criteria, which resulted in six sites being automatically excluded 
in accordance with part A of the assessment. Five Four of the sites were excluded because they are inappropriate in scale to the role and function of 
the settlement hierarchy some which are also poorly related to the existing settlement (HER010, HER012, HER013, HER014, HER015).which is a 
ground for automatic exclusion. A further two sites were taken out of the site selection process excluded, one due to the site having planning 
permission and being located within the settlement boundary (HER003) and one for being too small to allocate and poorly related to the existing 
settlement (HER007). 
 
One site (HER016) which was assessed as not currently developable in the SHLAA was taken forward for further assessment as a reasonable 
alternative despite the SHLAA assessment as it had similar attributes as another site (HER011) which was assessed within the SHLAA as potentially 
developable.  
 
Therefore five sites were considered reasonable alternatives for development and so a SA/SEA was undertaken, along with part B of the site 
assessment, to inform the site selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further 
technical work have informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD.   

161 
 

P
age 415



A SA/SEA was subsequently undertaken on the sites to inform the site selection work and detail whether or not the sites are being taken forward as 
preferred options.  
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific assessments/SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward for 
allocation as well as outlining the recommendation from the preferred options stage. as preferred options. 
 
Preferred options consultation responses: 

• HER011 – 11 responses (10 processed and 1 inadmissible) • HER004 – 1 response 
 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Hermitage general – 0 responses 
• HSA25 (HER001) – 4 responses 

• HSA26 (HER004) – 5 responses 
• Hermitage Settlement Boundary Revisions – 1 response  

 
Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

HER001 
 
Land off 
Charlotte 
Close, 
Hermitage 
 
16 
Approximately 
15 dwellings 
(0.8ha at 20 
dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does 
not highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity 
of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. Development on this site has the potential to 
improve the built environment through a well designed 
scheme. 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the 
site being at risk from surface water flooding and a small 
part of the site being located within a critical drainage 
area. and There is also the potential for a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability due to the sites 
location within the AONB. However, a Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out which 
concludes that the site has the potential to deliver 
housing without creating an adverse impact on the 
landscape, subject to a series of mitigation measures set 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement. Landscape 
assessment indicates 
development would be 
acceptable subject to mitigation 
measures ensuring the 
protection of existing landscape 
features. 
 
The site is at risk from surface 
flooding and a small part of the 
site is within a Critical Drainage 
Area; nonetheless, the Core 
Strategy requires the use of 
SuDS techniques in new 
developments. 

The site is recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB a 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
has been carried out and indicates 
that development on the site would 
be acceptable in landscape terms, 
subject to mitigation measures to 
ensure the protection of existing 
landscape features. 
 
A small part of the site is within an 
area of surface water flood risk and 
a small part of the site is within a 
Critical Drainage Area. As a result a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
would be required to support a 
planning application, along with the 
implementation of appropriate flood 

162 
 

P
age 416



Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

out within the LSA and outlined above. 
FWhilst the risk is considered to be small, flooding has 
the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability., 
and the location within the AONB means that 
development has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 

risk mitigation measures.  
 
In addition, an Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to ensure 
any protected species were not 
adversely affected. 

HER004 
 
Land to the 
south east of 
Old Farm 
House, 
Hermitage 
 
14 10 
dwellings (0.5 
72ha at 20 
dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does 
not highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity 
of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. Development on this site has the potential to 
improve the built environment through a well designed 
scheme. 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the 
site being at risk from surface water flooding and a large 
part of the site being located within a critical drainage 
area. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements 
of sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be 
considered to reduce the impact. 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability due to the sites location 
within the AONB. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) has been carried out which concludes that 
development on the whole site would result in harm to 
the natural beauty of the AONB, but that a small area in 
the north west of the site (between the public house and 
the access off Lipscomb Close) could be developed 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Landscape assessment 
indicates that site is part of 
open gateway to Hermitage 
from the south. 
 
Development on the whole site 
would be unacceptable, but a 
small area to the north east of 
the site would be acceptable if 
developed together with 
HER001 (the area of land 
between the public house and 
the access off Lipscomb Road). 

Part of the site is recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement, however the 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) concludes that development 
on the whole of the site would result 
in harm to the AONB. The LSA 
indicates that the site is part of the 
open gateway to Hermitage from the 
south.  
 
The LSA goes on to state that a 
small area to the north west of the 
site would be acceptable if 
developed together with HER001 
(the area of land between the public 
house and the access off Lipscomb 
Close).   
 
A large part of the site lies within a 
Critical Drainage Area and a small 
part is within an area of surface 
water flood risk, so a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) would be 
required to support a planning 

163 
 

P
age 417



Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

together with HER001.   
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk 
from surface water flooding and being located within a 
critical drainage area and the sites location within the 
AONB. Flooding has the potential to impact on all 
elements of sustainability, and the location within the 
AONB means that development has the potential to 
impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures would need to be considered to reduce the 
impact. 

application. This would ensure the 
implementation of appropriate flood 
risk mitigation measures.  
 
In addition, a desk-based 
archaeological assessment would 
be required, along with an Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey together 
with any further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. A 
Great Crested Newt Survey will also 
be required to cover all ponds within 
the vicinity of the site. The final 
developable area will be dependent 
upon the extent of any aAppropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 

HER009 
 
Land north of 
Hermitage 
Primary 
School, 
Hampstead 
Norreys 
Road, 
Hermitage 
 
28 dwellings 
(1.4ha at 20 
dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does 
not highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity 
of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk 
from surface water flooding and the sites location within 
the AONB. Whilst the risk is considered small, Fflooding 
has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability. The location of the site within the AONB 
means that development has the potential to impact 
upon environmental sustainability. A Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out which 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Landscape assessment 
indicates that the site is locally 
prominent but there is 
development potential on part 
of the site. 
 
Adjacent to settlement 
boundary with loose 
development to the north, south 
and west. 
 
Not as well related to the 
settlement pattern as HER001. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation. 
The site is adjacent to settlement 
boundary with dispersed 
development to the north, south and 
west. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) indicates that the 
site is locally prominent but largely 
well screened from the AONB. It 
goes on to state that development 
would impact on the rural character 
of Manor Lane, impact on the 
footpath crossing the site and 
development of the whole site would 
widen the otherwise narrow 
settlement on the west side of 

164 
 

P
age 418



Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

concludes that development of the whole site would 
widen the otherwise narrow settlement on the west side 
of Hampstead Norreys Road. Only part of the site could 
be considered as a potential housing site subject to the 
implementation of mitigation measures outlined within 
the LSA., and the location within the AONB means that 
development has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 

Hampstead Norreys Road. 
However, it concludes that there is 
development potential on only part 
of the site subject to mitigation 
measures to conserve and enhance 
the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB.  
 
Small areas of the site are within an 
area of surface water flood risk, and 
a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
would be required to ensure 
appropriate flood mitigation 
measures are implemented.  
 
It is considered that, given the 
outcomes of the LSA, development 
on this site would not be as well 
related to the settlement pattern as 
HER001. Other sites within 
Hermitage are considered to be 
more appropriate for development.  

HER011 
 
Land north of 
Manor Lane, 
Hermitage 
 
12 dwellings 
(0.58ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does 
not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  , 
however the SA/SEA highlights a significant 
sustainability effect as a result of the impact that 
development would have upon the character of Oare. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity 
of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location 
within the AONB, its relationship with the existing 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral with 
one 
significantly 
negative 
effect 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
Development of the site would 
lead to significant changes to 
the character of Oare as the 
village is not seen as part of 
Hermitage. The proximity of the 
site to the M4 is likely to result 
in noise impacts 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation. 
Development of the site would 
extend the village of Hermitage to 
the north of Manor Lane, along 
Hampstead Norreys Road. It is 
considered that such expansion 
would not be appropriate as it would 
be poorly related to the existing 
settlement pattern.  
 
Although a Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) was not carried 
out for this site specifically, the work 
on HER009 concludes that 

165 
 

P
age 419



Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

settlement pattern and the proximity to the M4 motorway. 
Development therefore has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability.  
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability, and the location within the AONB means 
that development has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open 
countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 

development would not extend 
further northwards than the existing 
northern edge of Hermitage.  
 
The proximity of the site to the M4 is 
likely to impact on noise and air 
quality. 

HER016 
 
Land east of 
Hampstead 
Norreys 
Road, 
Hermitage 
 
8 dwellings 
(0.4ha at 20 
dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does 
not highlight any significant sustainability effects.    
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity 
of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location 
within the AONB, the relationship of the site to the 
existing settlement boundary pattern and the proximity to 
the M4 motorway. Development therefore has the 
potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. 
Development therefore has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within 
walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is 
recognised that for higher end services and employment 
there could be a level of car dependency to access 
Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
negative 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: AONB 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation. 
The site is poorly related to 
Hermitage and the proximity of 
the site to the M4 is likely to 
result in noise impacts. 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation. 
Development of the site would 
extend the village of Hermitage to 
the north of Manor Lane, along 
Hampstead Norreys Road. It is 
considered that such expansion 
would not be appropriate and would 
be poorly related to the existing 
settlement pattern.  
 
Although a Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) was not carried 
out for this site specifically, the work 
on HER009 concludes that 
development would not extend 
further northwards than the existing 
northern edge of Hermitage.  
 
The proximity of the site to the M4 is 
likely to impact on noise and air 
quality. 

166 
 

P
age 420



Table 29 – Summary of Hermitage Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for allocation 

countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle 
 
Site selection summary 
The SA/SEAs of the specific sites for Bradfield Southend highlighted that all three sites assessed in the SHLAA as potentially developable had 
predominantly neutral effects and none had any significant effects.  
The SA/SEAs do not show any sites to have any significant effects on sustainability; all sites are shown to have a predominantly neutral effect on 
sustainability. 
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments made at preferred 
options have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. Following the 
Preferred Options consultation HER001 and part of HER004 are being recommended for allocation in Hermitage.  
 
As Hermitage is in the AONB the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is the paramount 
consideration when sites are being assessed. is critical. A Landscape Sensitivity Character Assessment (LSA, 2011 and 2014) has been undertaken 
for sites HER001, HER004 and HER009, and advised of mitigation/enhancement measures to ensure that the negative impact on the character of the 
AONB, and consequential negative impact on environmental sustainability, is minimized.  for sites HER001, HER004 and HER009. Mitigation 
measures include reducing the area that is acceptable for development and the protection and enhancement of key landscape features. For site 
HER004, only a small area is suitable for development, however the site forms part of the open gateway to Hermitage from the south. 
 
HER001 is recommended for allocation. The site is well related to the existing settlement and development of the site would result in little harm to the 
natural beauty of the landscape, subject to the implementation of mitigation measures set out within the LSA (2011). A small part of the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding and a small part sits within a critical drainage area. However, through the preparation of a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
appropriate mitigation measures can be identified and implemented as part of any proposed development scheme.  
 
Part of HER004 is recommended for allocation. Only a small part in the northwest corner of the site is to be allocated in accordance with the LSA 
(2011). The site is well related to the existing settlement. and could be developed in conjunction with HER001 to provide a cohesive and 
comprehensive development. A small part of the site is at risk from surface water flooding and a large part sits within a critical drainage area. 
However, through the preparation of a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) appropriate mitigation measures can be identified and implemented as part of 
any proposed development scheme.  
 
HER009 is not recommended for allocation. The site is in a prominent location but largely screened from the AONB. The LSA (2014) states that 
development would impact on the character of Manor Lane, impact on the footpath crossing the site and development of the whole site would widen 
the otherwise narrow settlement on the west side of Hampstead Norreys Road. However, it concludes that a there is development potential on only 
part of the site subject to mitigation measures to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB. Similar to HER001 and HER004, small parts 

167 
 

P
age 421



of the site are within areas of surface water flood risk, however through the preparation of Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) appropriate mitigation 
measures can be identified and implemented as part of any proposed development scheme. It is considered that other sites within Hermitage are 
more appropriate for development.  
 
HER011 and HER016 are not recommended for allocation. Development of these sites would extend the village to the north of Manor Lane, along 
Hampstead Norreys Road. It is considered that such expansion would not be appropriate and would be poorly related to the existing settlement 
pattern.  
 
Sites HER001, HER004 and HER009 are all at risk of surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact upon all elements of sustainability, 
and mitigation includes choosing sites that are not at risk of flooding. Whilst sites HER011 and HER016 are not at risk of flooding, their proximity to 
the M4 motorway has the potential to have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. Furthermore, these two sites are poorly related to 
Hermitage and in the case of HER011, would result in significant environmental sustainability effect due to the impact that development would have 
on the character of Oare. It is for these reasons that HER011 and HER016 are considered unsuitable for development and are not being 
recommended for allocation. 
 
Because Hermitage is identified as a rural service village, there is only the need for a limited amount of development. There is therefore not the need 
to develop sites HER001, HER004 and HER009 together. It is considered that HER001 is better related to the settlement than HER009, and is 
therefore being recommended for allocation. Site HER004 has been ruled out because, as aforementioned, the site forms part of the open gateway to 
Hermitage from the south.  

7.2.4.9 Kintbury 
Kintbury is a service village located in south west West Berkshire, within the AONB. A limited amount of development, to meet local needs and 
maintain vibrant, balanced communities with their own sense of identity is required through the Core Strategy. The village is located just south of the 
A4. There is a railway station to the south north of the village with links to Newbury, Reading and London to the east and Bedwyn to the west.  
 
The river Kennet, (which is an SSSI) and the Kennet and Avon canal flow lie to the south north of the village, but with the flood zones also 
predominantly travel north of the river railway line and so away from the village itself. The SSSI follows the river Kennet again to the south of the 
village. The majority of the village is within a groundwater emergence zone, with small areas within surface water flood risk areas. The southern 
northern and central part of the village is within a conservation area.  
 
14 sites were promoted through the SHLAA process, nine 9 of which were assessed as potentially developable. Of these, 1 was later withdrawn. 
Those sites assessed as not currently developable in the SHLAA are as a result of the landscape assessment work indicating which concluded that 
development would not be acceptable as it would cause harm to the AONB. Of the potentially developable sites, one site was ruled out through the 
automatic exclusions part of the assessment criteria (KIN006, due to development potential of less than 5). The remaining eight 8 sites were 
considered reasonable alternatives for development and so an SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform the site selection work and the 
subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further technical work have informed which sites will be 

168 
 

P
age 422



taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD.  The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and details whether 
or not the sites are being taken forward as preferred options for allocation as well as setting out the recommendation from the preferred options stage.   
 
Preferred options consultation responses: 

• KIN006/07 – 17 responses 
• KIN008/009 – 1 response 

• Kintbury  - 4 responses 

 
Proposed Submission consultation responses:  

• Kintbury general (inc. rejected sites ) – 2 responses 
• HSA27 (KIN006/007) – 6 responses 

• Kintbury Settlement Boundary revisions – 1 response  

 
Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

KIN004 
 
Kintbury 
Park Farm, 
Irish Hill 
Road, 
Kintbury 
 
18 
dwellings 
(0.89ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is well related to existing services and facilities 
within Kintbury with opportunities for walking and 
cycling and healthy active lifestyles, giving a positive 
impact on sustainability. The impact on the landscape 
could have a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. Significant landscape mitigation measure 
would be required which significantly reduce the area 
suitable for development.  The site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone, with potential for 
groundwater flooding which could lead to a negative 
impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should reduce this impact. There is the 
potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability due to the site’s location both within the 
AONB and its location in Kintbury, adjacent to the 
Conservation Area. A LSA has been carried out which 
concludes that only a limited part of the site has 
potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
subject to a number of mitigation measures.  The site 
lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding 
has the potential to impact on all elements of 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
Development here would 
have an impact on the rural 
character of this area. Only a 
very small area of the site is 
acceptable for development 
in landscape terms.  
 
Other sites in Kintbury are 
considered to be more 
appropriate for development.  
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
Development on the site would have an 
impact on the rural character of the 
area. The undeveloped rural character 
of the site provides an attractive natural 
edge to the east of the Conservation 
Area and even a linear development 
along Irish Hill Road could have a 
potential impact on the setting of the 
Conservation Area.  Other sites in 
Kintbury are considered to be more 
appropriate for development. 

169 
 

P
age 423



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would 
need to be put into place to reduce any potential 
negative impacts.   

KIN006 
 
Land east 
of Layland 
Green, 
Kintbury 
 
Approx 10 
dwellings 
as a 
combined 
site with 
KIN007  
4 dwellings 
(0.2ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is well related to the exiting settlement close to 
local services and facilities with good opportunities for 
walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on 
sustainability. Development on this site has the 
potential to improve the built environment through a 
well designed scheme. There is also the potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability due to 
the site’s location is within the AONB. However, a LSA 
has been carried out which concludes that the site has 
potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the 
site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is 
therefore also potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability, unless appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures are implemented 
as set out in the assessments. Mitigation measures 
would also need to be put into place to remove 
potential negative impacts on environmental 
sustainability for the woodland TPO on KIN007. There 
is the potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless the site is developed in line with 
the outcome of the contamination assessment. 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would 
need to be put into place to reduce any potential 
negative impacts.   

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as part of a 
wider allocation with 
KIN007 
The site is well related to the 
existing settlement and local 
services and facilities.  
 
 

The site is recommended for 
allocation as part of a wider 
allocation with KIN007 
Particular concerns were raised in the 
preferred options consultation about the 
impacts on flooding, highway safety and 
biodiversity.  These have been followed 
up but no new or additional information 
has been submitted that would rule the 
site out, subject to suitable mitigation 
measures being put in place including 
taking into account the outcomes of a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for the 
site.  

KIN007 
 
Land east 
of Layland 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 

The site is recommended 
for allocation as part of a 
wider allocation with 
KIN006 

The site is recommended for 
allocation as part of a wider 
allocation with KIN006 
Particular concerns were raised in the 

170 
 

P
age 424



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

Green, 
Kintbury 
 
Approx 10 
dwellings 
as a 
combined 
site with 
KIN007  
9 dwellings 
(0.44ha at 
20dph) 

The site is well related to the exiting settlement close to 
local services and facilities with good opportunities for 
walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on 
sustainability. Development on this site also has the 
potential to improve the built environment through a 
well designed scheme. The site is within the AONB 
close to a site with great crested newts, there is 
potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability, unless appropriate mitigation measures 
are implemented as set out in the assessments. There 
is the potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability due to the site’s location within the 
AONB. However, a LSA has been carried out which 
concludes that the site has potential to deliver housing 
without causing harm to the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation 
measures.  As the site is close to a site with Great 
Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability, unless 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are 
implemented. Mitigation measures would also need to 
be put into place to remove any potential negative 
impacts on environmental sustainability for the 
woodland TPO on KIN007. There is the potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability unless 
the site is developed in line with the outcome of the 
contamination assessment.  Flooding has the potential 
to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate 
mitigation measures would need to be put into place to 
reduce any potential negative impacts.  

Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is well related to the 
existing settlement and local 
services and facilities.  
 

preferred options consultation about the 
impacts on flooding, highway safety and 
biodiversity.  These have been followed 
up but no new or additional information 
has been submitted that would rule the 
site out, subject to suitable mitigation 
measures being put in place including 
taking into account the outcomes of a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for the 
site.   

KIN008 
 
Land to the 
east of 
Layland 
Green and 
south of 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is close to local services and facilities with 
opportunities for walking and cycling, which give a 
positive impact on sustainability. The site is within the 
AONB, the Landscape Assessment indicates that only 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
Only a very small area of the 
site is suitable for 
development in landscape 
terms. The site would need 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The acceptable developable area is 
poorly related to existing residential 
development, without additional sites 
being developed in order to improve 
this relationship and gain access. This 

171 
 

P
age 425



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

Holt Road, 
Kintbury 
 
13 
dwellings 
(0.64ha at 
20dph) 

a small part of the site would be suitable for 
development without a significant impact on the 
character of the landscape and therefore, have a 
negative impact on environment sustainability. 
Mitigation measures would be required on the small 
area of the site to ensure there wasn’t a negative 
impact on sustainability.  The site is at risk from ground 
and surface water flooding, without appropriate 
mitigation this would have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. There is also the potential 
for a negative impact on environmental sustainability 
due to the site’s location within the AONB. A LSA has 
been carried out which concludes that although the 
western part of the site is well connected to the 
settlement edge, development of the whole site would 
be out of scale with most of Kintbury and would 
constitute an unacceptable expansion of the 
settlement. As the site is close to a site with Great 
Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability, unless 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are 
implemented. The site lies within a groundwater 
emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact 
on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation 
measures would need to be put into place to reduce 
any potential negative impacts.   

Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

to be developed alongside 
other sites to improve its 
relationship to the existing 
settlement and gain access.  
Other sites in Kintbury are 
considered more appropriate 
for development.  

would result in development not in 
keeping with the role and function of 
Kintbury as a service village. 

KIN009 
 
Land to the 
east of 
Layland 
Green, 
Kintbury 
 
16 
dwellings 
(0.8ha at 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is close to local services and facilities with 
opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a positive 
impact on sustainability. The site is located in the 
AONB close to a site with great created newts, without 
appropriate mitigation measures development could 
have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. 
The site is at risk from groundwater flooding. Flood risk 
can have a negative impact on all elements of 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
The site would need to be 
allocated and developed as 
part of a wider allocation to 
improve the site’s 
relationship to the existing 
settlement. Development of a 
larger group of sites would 
be out of keeping with the 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The acceptable developable area is 
poorly related to existing residential 
development, without additional sites 
being developed in order to improve 
this relationship and gain access. This 
would result in development not in 
keeping with the role and function of 
Kintbury as a service village. 

172 
 

P
age 426



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

20dph) sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures 
are provided. Development on the site has the potential 
to improve the built environment through a well 
designed scheme. There is also the potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability due to 
the site’s location within the AONB. However, a LSA 
has been carried out which concludes that the site has 
potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the 
site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is 
also potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures are implemented. Part of the site 
is within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has 
the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  
Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put 
into place to reduce any potential negative impacts. 
 

role and function of Kintbury 
as a service village.  
 

KIN011 
 
Land 
adjoining 
The 
Haven, 
Kintbury 
 
Approx 20 
dwellings 
22 
dwellings 
(10.8ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
The site is close to local services and facilities with 
good opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a 
positive impact on sustainability. The site is in the 
AONB and close to a great crested newt site. Without 
mitigation measures development would lead to a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. The 
site is in a groundwater emergence zone, therefore 
there is potential for groundwater flooding. Flooding 
can have a negative impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless mitigation measures are provided. 
The site has a strong relationship with the existing 
settlement and is close to local services and facilities 
with good opportunities for walking and cycling, giving 
a positive impact on sustainability. Development on this 
site has the potential to improve the built environment 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
 
Significant concerns about 
the traffic impact of 
development on the highway 
network  
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
 
At the preferred options stage the site 
was not recommended for allocation 
primarily because of highway concerns.  
Sight lines are poor at the Inkpen 
Road/The Haven junction and the 
Inkpen Road / High Street junction is 
also restricted regarding width and sight 
lines. Extensive on street car parking 
within the High Street also limits 
potential for additional traffic flow.  
However, since the preferred options 
consultation further technical work has 
been undertaken on the site. This has 
shown that the required visibility splays 
can be achieved from land within 

173 
 

P
age 427



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

through a well designed scheme. The site is not 
anticipated to have a significant traffic impact on the 
wider highway network at this level of development, 
however particular concern has been expressed locally 
regarding the combined potential traffic impact with the 
additional apartments currently being constructed at 
Inglewood. There could be potential for a negative 
impact on sustainability if these road safety concerns 
could not be overcome. There is also the potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability due to 
the site’s location within the AONB. However, a LSA 
has been carried out which concludes that the site has 
potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the 
site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is 
also potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures are implemented.  
Part of the site lies within a groundwater emergence 
zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all 
elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation 
measures would need to be put into place to reduce 
any potential negative impacts.  The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on 
economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen 
to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
 

Sovereign’s control at the Inkpen 
Road/The Haven junction and therefore 
this issue can be resolved. In addition, 
the Highways team does not consider 
that the increase in traffic at the Inkpen 
Road / High Street junction (in relation 
to all the existing traffic using this 
junction) would be of sufficient concern 
to prevent allocation of this site for 
housing for 20 dwellings. Further 
development at this location would 
however be of concern. Although the 
main technical reasons for not 
proposing the site for allocation at the 
preferred options stage have been 
overcome, Council Members have 
responded to the concerns expressed 
locally over the cumulative impacts of 
additional development in Kintbury 
together with the previously approved 
development at Inglewood, phase 3 of 
which is still currently under 
construction.  As KIN006 /007 was 
previously identified as a preferred site 
and was consulted upon at the 
preferred options stage, they consider 
that the public have been given more 
opportunity to comment on this as an 
option for future development.  They 
have therefore requested that 
consideration of KIN011 is deferred 
until an informed assessment can be 
made of the cumulative impact of traffic 
generated from the additional dwellings 
at Inglewood with that generated from 
KIN006/007. It is therefore proposed 
that the site should be considered 

174 
 

P
age 428



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

further through the preparation of the 
new Local Plan. 

KIN015 
 
Land to the 
east of 
Layland 
Green, 
Kintbury 
 
29 
dwellings 
(1.4ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. 
 
The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling which give a 
positive impact on sustainability. The site is located 
within the AONB, the landscape assessment indicates 
that part of the site would be suitable for development 
as long as the mitigation measures set out are adhered 
to, without these mitigation measures there could be a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. The 
site is poorly related to the existing settlement pattern 
unless other sites were developed, giving a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability.  The site is also 
in a surface water flood risk area. With appropriate 
mitigation measures the potential negative impact on 
all elements of sustainability should be reduced. There 
is also the potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability due to the site’s location 
within the AONB and its location relative to the main 
settlement of Kintbury.  However, a LSA has been 
carried out which concludes that some of the site has 
the potential to deliver a very limited number of 
dwellings without causing harm to the natural beauty 
and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number 
of mitigation measures.  As the site is close to a site 
with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are 
implemented. Flooding has the potential to impact on 
all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation 
measures would need to be put into place to reduce 
any potential negative impacts.  The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
 
The site is poorly related to 
the existing settlement 
without other sites being 
developed. Development of 
this, with other sites, would 
be out of keeping with the 
role and function of Kintbury 
as a service village.  
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
 
The acceptable developable area is 
poorly related to existing residential 
development, without additional sites 
being developed in order to improve 
this relationship and gain access. This 
would result in development not in 
keeping with the role and function of 
Kintbury as a service village. 

175 
 

P
age 429



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen 
to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

KIN016 
 
Land at 
Deane, 
Inkpen 
Road, 
Kintbury 
 
18 
dwellings 
(0.9ha at 
20dph) 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects  
The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a positive 
impact on sustainability. There is concern over traffic 
impact on road safety, which without mitigation 
measures could have a negative impact on all element 
of sustainability. The site is located in the AONB and 
close to a great crested newt site, without appropriate 
mitigation measures development could lead to a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability. The 
site is not anticipated to have a significant traffic impact 
on the wider highway network at this level of 
development. There is also the potential for a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s 
location within the AONB. However, a LSA has been 
carried out which concludes that part of the site has 
potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the 
site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is 
also potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures are implemented. A very small 
part of the site lies within a groundwater emergence 
zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all 
elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation 
measures would need to be put into place to reduce 
any potential negative impacts.  The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on 
economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - 
Kintbury 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation 
Significant concerns about 
the traffic impact of 
development on the highway 
network  
 

The site is not recommended for 
allocation 
The acceptable developable area is 
poorly related to existing residential 
development, without additional sites 
being developed in order to improve 
this relationship and gain access. This 
would result in development not in 
keeping with the role and function of 
Kintbury as a service village. 

176 
 

P
age 430



Table 30 – Summary of Kintbury Sites SA/SEA 
Site 
details 

Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 
effects 

Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and justification as 
site for allocation 

contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen 
to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 

 
Site selection summary 
The SA/SEA of the specific sites shows that all sites will have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. No sites are shown to have any 
significant sustainability impacts.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the comments have provided 
further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. Following the Preferred Options 
consultation 1 One site (KIN006 and KIN007 is regarded as a combined site) is recommended for allocation.   
 
As Kintbury is in the AONB the potential impact on the natural beauty of the landscape and the special qualities of the AONB is the paramount 
consideration when sites are being assessed. is critical. A number of sites have had their development potential reduced to take into account the area 
of the site considered appropriate for development in landscape terms. The developable area for KIN004, KIN008 KIN015 have been very 
significantly reduced to ensure that development would not cause harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB have negative impact 
on the character of the AONB, and consequential negative impact on environmental sustainability. 
 
At the examination hearing sessions the Inspector asked for further work to be carried out regarding the approach to allocations in Kintbury. The 
Council has reviewed the proposed allocation for Kintbury, and considers that the proposed allocation is a justified local choice.  
 
KIN004 is not recommended for allocation. considered suitable for development as development, even within the area designated as acceptable in 
landscape terms would change the character of the built environment, but developing on the opposite side of Irish Hill Road to existing residential 
development. The SA/SEA indicates that development could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability and so the site has not been 
recommended for allocation. Development on the site would have an impact on the rural character of the area. The undeveloped rural character of 
the site provides an attractive natural edge to the east of the Conservation Area and even a linear development along Irish Hill Road could have a 
potential impact on the setting of the Conservation Area.  Other sites in Kintbury are considered to be more appropriate for development. 
 
KIN006 and KIN007 have been are recommended for allocation as a single combined allocation. The sites are well related to the existing settlement, 
close to local services and facilities and can deliver housing without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. The only 
potential negative sustainability impact is due to the site’s location within the AONB, which with mitigation measures could be reduced.  
 

177 
 

P
age 431



KIN011 –is not recommended for allocation. At the preferred options stage the site was not recommended for allocation primarily because of highway 
concerns.  Sight lines are poor at the Inkpen Road/The Haven junction and the Inkpen Road / High Street junction is also restricted regarding width 
and sight lines. Extensive on street car parking within the High Street also limits potential for additional traffic flow.  However, since the preferred 
options consultation further technical work has been undertaken on the site. This has shown that the required visibility splays can be achieved from 
land within Sovereign’s control at the Inkpen Road/The Haven junction and therefore this issue can be resolved. In addition, the Highways team does 
not consider that the increase in traffic at the Inkpen Road / High Street junction (in relation to all the existing traffic using this junction) would be of 
sufficient concern to prevent allocation of this site for housing for 20 dwellings. Further development at this location would however be of concern. 
Although the main technical reasons for not proposing the site for allocation at the preferred options stage have been overcome, Council Members 
have responded to the concerns expressed locally over the cumulative impacts of additional development in Kintbury together with the previously 
approved development at Inglewood, phase 3 of which is still currently under construction.  As KIN006 /007 was previously identified as a preferred 
site and was consulted upon at the preferred options stage, they consider that the public have been given more opportunity to comment on this as an 
option for future development.  They have therefore requested that consideration of KIN011 is deferred until an informed assessment can be made of 
the cumulative impact of traffic generated from the additional dwellings at Inglewood with that generated from KIN006/007. It is therefore proposed 
that the site should be considered further through the preparation of the new Local Plan. 
 
KIN008, KIN009, KIN015 and KIN016 are not recommended for allocation. Their acceptable developable areas of KIN015, KIN009 and KIN08 
themselves are poorly related to the existing residential development, without additional sites being developed in order to improve this relationship 
and gain access. This would have a negative impact on the character of the built environment, with a possible negative effect on environmental 
sustainability. Development of additional sites to link these two sites to the existing settlement would result in development not in keeping with the role 
and function of Kintbury as a service village.  
 
KIN016 and KIN011 have a number of positive impacts in terms of sustainability due to their location close to local services and facilities. However, 
there are significant highways concerns regarding access to the sites and the impact of development of the highway network. This means that these 
sites are not considered appropriate for development.  

7.3 Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Selection 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites are located across the district. Following a Call for Sites in May/June 2014 Tten sites have been 
submitted or were considered by the Council for allocation. Three have been Four sites were automatically excluded; two excluded due to landscape 
concerns (GTTS1 and GTTS8), or one due to the inappropriate size of the final development (GTTS4), and a further site the fourth site was found to 
be no longer available (GTTS6A).  
 
The remaining six sites were considered as reasonable alternatives for development and so an SA/SEA was undertaken for all these sites to inform 
the site selection work and subsequent selection of preferred options. The consultation on the preferred options and further technical work have 
informed which sites will be taken forward for allocation in the proposed submission DPD.   
 
The table below outlines the findings of the site specific assessments/SA/SEAs and details whether or not the sites are being taken forward as 
preferred options for allocation as well as outlining the recommendation from the Preferred Options stage.  

178 
 

P
age 432



 
Preferred options consultation responses: 

• Long Copse Farm (GTTS2) – 69 responses 
• New Stocks Farm, Paices Hill (GTTS5) – 10 responses 
• Land at Clappers Farm – corner of Bloomfield Hatch Lane and 

Cross Lane (GTTS6B) – 70 responses (64 processed and 6 
inadmissible) 
 

• Padworth Farm (GTTS9) – 10 responses 
• General  – 6 responses (5 processed and 1 inadmissible) 
• Table of rejected sites – 3 responses 

Proposed Submission consultation responses:  
• Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation – 

2 responses 
• TS1 (GTTS5) – 1 response 
• TS2 (GTTS2) – 7 responses 

• TS3 (GTTS6) – 72 responses (19% template responses) 
• TS4 – 2 responses  

 
Table 31 – Summary of Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

GTTS2  
 
Long Copse 
Farm, 
Enborne 
 
24 plots (for 
Travelling 
Show-
people) 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities and 
this could have a positive impact on sustainability. 
 Development of the site could however lead to a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability 
unless suitable mitigation measures are introduced 
with regard to flood risk, landscaping and the 
greenfield nature of the site. Mitigation measures 
such as good design techniques, SUDS and layout 
would help to mitigate this impact.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: 
Newbury 
Thatcham 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation.  
A level of need has been 
identified within the GTAA. 
The site is already used for 
Travelling Showpeople and 
therefore, this is seen as an 
ideal location to meet the 
identified need.  

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
The level of need has been 
identified within the GTAA. 
 
This is an existing site for 
Travelling Showpeople, with 
good access to a range of 
services and facilities on an 
established site.   Effective 
landscaping will be required to 
ensure the impact of any 
development on the wider 
landscape is minimised.  
 
Mitigation will also be required 
to ensure development does not 
impact upon the Local Wildlife 
Site and an FRA would be 

179 
 

P
age 433



Table 31 – Summary of Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 
required as part of any scheme.  

GTTS3 
 
Benhams 
Farm, 
Hollybush 
Lane, 
Burghfield 
Common 
 
Up to 15 
pitches 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The site is close to local services and facilities, 
with opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport, this has a positive impact on 
sustainability. Development of the site could lead 
to a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability unless suitable mitigation measures 
are introduced with regard to landscape impact 
and the built environment as the site abuts the 
existing settlement boundary. The site is greenfield 
and therefore likely to have a negative impact on 
sustainability. Mitigation measures such as good 
design techniques and layout would help to 
mitigate this impact.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation. 
There is a concern regarding 
the impact on the existing 
settled community. 

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
There is a concern regarding 
the impact on the existing 
settled community. 

GTTS5 
 
New Stocks 
Farm, 
Paices Hill, 
Aldermaston 
 
Up to 8   
pitches 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects. 
 The site is close to local services and facilities, 
with opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport in particular, this has a positive impact on 
sustainability. The site is also previously 
developed land which would positively impact on 
environmental sustainability.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation.  
The site is within an existing 
Gypsy and Traveller site. The 
principle of Gypsies and 
Travellers is already 
established on the site.  

The site is recommended for 
allocation.  
The site is within an existing 
Gypsy and Traveller site. The 
principle of Gypsies and 
Travellers is already established 
on the site. 
The allocation will replace 8 of 
the existing 15 transit pitches, 
with 8 permanent pitches for 
Gypsies and Travellers.  The 
GTAA has concluded that there 
is no demand for additional 
transit pitches within the period 
to 2029. 

180 
 

P
age 434



Table 31 – Summary of Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 

GTTS6B 
 
Land at 
Clappers 
Farm area 
of search 
corner of 
bloomfield 
Hatch Land 
and Cross 
Lane  
 
Up to 9 8 
pitches 

Overall development on part of the area of 
search the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The Allocating a site within the area of search 
could impact positively on the lifestyle of the 
travelling community through the provision of 
permanent accommodation.  
The site area of search has poor access to public 
transport and services and facilities are 
approximately 2.5 - 4km from the site with the 
exception of a primary school although this is 
within the neighbouring authority.  
This would lead to a high car dependency and 
have a negative effect on social and environmental 
sustainability.  
The greenfield nature of the site area of search 
and the potential for noise impact from the railway 
line could also have a negative impact on 
sustainability. Mitigation measures such as good 
design techniques and additional landscaping 
would help to mitigate against negative impact.  
Flooding has the potential to impact on all aspects 
of sustainability if appropriate mitigation measures 
are not put in place. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation.  
This is Council owned land 
which is in a rural location but 
still close to services and 
facilities in nearby 
settlements.  

The site area of search is 
recommended for allocation.  
The site is no longer 
recommended for allocation 
 
Following the change in 
definition of Gypsies and 
Travellers there is no evidence 
that this site is required to meet 
the Council’s need. Therefore, 
the site is proposed to be 
withdrawn from the DPD.  
The identified preferred options 
site (GTTS6B) forms part of 
wider Council landholdings, 
Clappers Farm, and the whole 
of the site is now being 
considered as an area of search 
(GTTS6). Comments and 
concerns raised through the 
preferred options consultation 
has resulted in the wider 
Clappers Farm landholding 
(GTTS6) being considered as 
an area of search from within 
which a site for up to 9 pitches 
will be delivered through the 
Local Plan.  
 
Despite being located in a rural 
location, the area of search is 
close to some local services and 
facilities nearby, and has good 

181 
 

P
age 435



Table 31 – Summary of Gypsies, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites SA/SEA 
Site details Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification as a preferred 
option 

Recommendation and 
justification as site for 
allocation 
access to both A33 and the M4.   

GTTS7 
 
72 Purley 
rise, Purley-
on-Thames 
 
Up to 10 
pitches 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The site scores positivley is likely to have a 
positive impact on sustainability in terms of 
opportunities for sustainable travel and healthy 
active lifestyles as it is close to local services and 
facilities. There are no biodiversity or 
environmental designations on the site.  
Development could negatively impact upon the 
character of the built environment given residential 
properties are located immediately adjacent to the 
site. The site is well screened and is currently 
used for storing touring caravans. The proximity to 
the railway line could cause noise and air pollution, 
but careful design and use of only part of the site 
could mitigate this impact.  The site is at risk from 
surface and groundwater flooding, although with 
appropriate mitigation the negative impact should 
be reduced.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: 
Eastern Area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term. 

The site is not 
recommended for 
allocation.  
Site is a preferred site for 
housing allocation.  
 
Concerns over the proximity 
to existing settled community.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Site has been allocated for 
housing development within the 
HSA DPD.  
 
Also, there is a concern 
regarding the impact on the 
existing settled community. 

GTTS9 
 
Padworth 
Sawmills, 
Rag Hill, 
Aldermaston 
 
1 pitch 

Overall the site is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.  
The site could impact positively on the lifestyle of 
the travelling community through the provision of 
permanent accommodation.  
The site is 2.5km to local services and facilities, 
with opportunities for walking and cycling which 
might lead to a high car dependency.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: East 
Kennet Valley 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 

The site is recommended 
for allocation.  
The site previously had 
planning permission (2011 
permission, lapsed), 
therefore, the principle of 
Gypsies and Travellers has 
been established for the site.  

The site is not recommended 
for allocation.  
Certainty of site delivery could 
not be ascertained. 

182 
 

P
age 436



 
Site Selection Summary 
The SA/SEA of the specific sites shows that all sites will have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. No sites are shown to have any 
significant sustainability impacts.  
 
No significant changes have been made to the SA/SEA assessment itself as a result of the consultation; however, the consultation comments and 
additional technical work have provided further information about the sites which has helped to refine the details of the sites proposed for allocation. 
 
Following confirmation that the Council’s Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) cannot be fully relied upon as a reflection of need 
following the Government’s change of definition of Gypsy and Travellers in the revised version of the Planning Policy for Travellers (PPTS) (2015), a 
change has been made to the proposed sites for allocation. The Council believes that it is right to plan positively through the DPD for some provision 
in the short term pending a revision of the GTAA and bringing forward revised proposals in the new Local Plan.   
 
GTTS3 and GTTS7 are not recommended for allocation. bBoth sites are located adjacent to existing settlements (Burghfield Common and Purley-on-
Thames respectively) and the SA/SEA highlights a potential negative impact on the character of the built environment, however mitigation measures 
could be put in place to minimise this impact. Due to concerns regarding the impact on the existing settled community these sites are not 
recommended for allocation. GTTS7 has subsequently been taken forward as a housing site allocation.  
 
GTTS5 is recommended for allocation. The SA/SEA for GTTS5 does not highlight any potentially negative sustainability impacts.  The site is an 
existing Gypsy and Traveller site and while the proposals allocation will involve changing a number of existing transit pitches to permanent pitches, 
the principle of Gypsies and Travellers on the site is established. The site remains recommended for allocation as it is an existing site that has 
capacity to meet the short term need.  The GTAA has concluded that there is no demand for additional transit pitches within the period to 2029. 
 
GTTS9 is not recommended for allocation. This is a very small site (proposed for 1 pitch) located in a rural area. But the SA/SEA only highlights one 
potential negative impact on sustainability due to the site’s Greenfield nature.  Following the Preferred Options consultation the certainty of site 
delivery could not be ascertained.  
 
GTTS6B is recommended for allocation as an area of search. Is a Council owned site and while in a rural in location the site is still close to services 
and facilities within nearby settlements.  The identified preferred options site (GTTS6B) forms part of wider Council landholding, Clappers Farm, and 
the whole of the site is now being considered as an area of search (GTTS6). Comments and concerns raised through the preferred options 
consultation has resulted in the wider Clappers Farm landholding (GTTS6) being considered as an area of search from within which a site for up to 9 
pitches will be delivered through the Local Plan.  
 
Despite being located in a rural location, the area of search is close to some local services and facilities nearby, and has good access to both A33 
and the M4.  
 

183 
 

P
age 437



GTTS6 area of search is no longer proposed for allocation as an area of search. Following the change in definition of Gypsy and Travellers the 
council considers that there is not sufficient evidence to support the allocation of the site. The area of search was proposed to meet the longer term 
needs (after 2021) and therefore, it is no longer considered appropriate to allocate the area of search.    
 
GTTS2 is recommended for allocation. This is an existing Travelling Showpeople site yard. The SA/SEA highlights the potential negative impacts on 
sustainability due to the Ggreenfield nature of the majority of the site, and flood risk on the site. Mitigation measures could be introduced, including 
developing areas of the site outside the flood zones, to mitigation the risk of flooding. This is an established existing yard, with good access to 
services and facilities. Effective landscaping will be required to ensure the impact of any development on the wider landscape is minimised. The 
established use on the site and the need for additional Travelling Showpeople plots arising from the existing circus has resulted in the site being 
recommended for allocation. It has been confirmed that the need for Travelling Showpeople set out in the GTAA is still valid as all those in need of 
permanent accommodation fall within the definition of Travellers in the revised PPTS.  

7.4 Countryside Policies 
No reasonable alternatives were considered for the countryside policies. The proposed countryside policies have had an SA/SEA carried out on them. 
This highlights the potential positive and negative sustainability impacts of each policy. The table below sets out the summary of the SA/SEA, and the 
changes made to the policies following the consultation.  
 
Table 32 – Summary of Countryside Policy SA/SEAs 
Policy Summary of SA/SEA  Summary of 

effects 
Change since Preferred Options 

Policy 1  
 
Location of New 
Housing in the 
Countryside 

This policy is unlikely to have impact on sustainability. The policy could be 
removed.  
This policy is likely to have a positive impact on maximising the opportunity to 
provide sustainable housing to meet local needs. Housing outside settlement 
boundaries is required by the policy to take account of the scale and 
character of the surrounding dwellings. The potential negative impacts of the 
policy result from the higher greenhouse gases and consequent air pollution 
stemming from the need for greater car use in a rural area. Also, 
development in the countryside has the potential to impact on green 
infrastructure and biodiversity. The mitigation measures relate to specific 
sites that would be considered under this policy, the comparison with other 
potential sites within an area and options for travel choice. The settlements in 
the policy are at the bottom of the settlement hierarchy which promotes the 
most sustainable settlements for development. Therefore, the quantity of 
development arising from these sources is limited. 

Effect: 
predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
Changes made to the policy as a result of 
consultation to make clear that development 
is supported in smaller villages with a 
settlement boundary, and sets out which 
villages these are. The policy also sets out 
where development may be permitted outside 
the settlement boundaries.  A significant 
change has been made to the SA/SEA as a 
result of reassessing the revised policy. While 
there is still an overall neutral impact on 
sustainability there are positive social 
sustainability impacts as a result of new 
development.  

Policy 2  
 
Rural Housing 
Exceptions 

This policy is likely to have a significantly positive impact on maximising the 
provision of affordable housing to meet identified local needs.  as this is the 
primary aim of the policy. The potential negative impacts of the policy result 
from the main aim of the policy to be to providinge affordable housing in 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 

Policy retained.  
Some small changes made to clarify where 
rural exceptions sites are appropriate and how 
local need can be demonstrated. No 

184 
 

P
age 438



Table 32 – Summary of Countryside Policy SA/SEAs 
Policy Summary of SA/SEA  Summary of 

effects 
Change since Preferred Options 

Policy  areas where there are few facilities and poor transport facilities. to meet 
identified needs in rural areas. The mitigation measures relate to specific 
sites that would be considered under this policy, and the comparison with 
other potential sites within an area, and options for travel choice amongst 
other things. There is a risk that environmental sustainability could be 
overridden by greater benefit to social or economic sustainability. The policy 
states that any site being considered under the policy needs to review 
whether any more suitable alternatives are available locally, this will help to 
ensure completely unsuitable sites come forward. Providing this 
accommodation in the rural area will provide a local workforce for rural 
businesses so is a positive impact.  

High Medium 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 
 

significant changes made to the SA/SEA as a 
result of the revised policy.  

Policy 3 
 
Design and 
materials of 
Housing in the 
Countryside 

This policy is related to the design and materials used for new development. 
There are positive impacts on sustainability in relation to access to services 
and facilities and protection and enhancements to the environment. The 
policy is likely to have a neutral effect on all other SA/SEA objectives.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
No change made to the policy.  
 
Through the preferred options consultation 
criticism was made of policy 3 for repeating 
policies within the Core Strategy. Although it 
was proposed to delete the policy as a result 
of the consultation, Council Members 
requested that the policy was retained to 
reinforce the need for sensitive design.  

Policy 4 
 
Conversion of 
Existing 
Redundant 
Buildings in the 
Countryside to 
Residential Use 

The policy will have a significantly positive impact on maximising the use of 
previously developed land and buildings, there will also be positive impacts 
in relation to waste disposal, reducing the consumption of minerals and 
reuse of secondary materials and reducing West Berkshire’s greenhouse gas 
emissions, as the policy is promoting the use of existing resources that are 
no longer required for their original use. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High Medium 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
Changes made to the policy to provide clearer 
advice for applications by including key points 
from the supporting text into the policy. No 
changes were made to the SA/SEA outcomes 
as a result of the changes to the policy. 

Policy 5 
 
Housing related 
to Agricultural 
and Forestry 

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability as it is related to the provision of housing related to agriculture, 
and forestry and equestrian businesses within the countryside. There is 
potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability in relation to 
green infrastructure, as the provision of accommodation could result in a loss 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 

Combined into a single policy relating to 
development for rural workers.  
As a result of the consultation policies 5 – 8 
have been combined into a single policy 
referring to rural workers. This brings the 

185 
 

P
age 439



Table 32 – Summary of Countryside Policy SA/SEAs 
Policy Summary of SA/SEA  Summary of 

effects 
Change since Preferred Options 

Development 
 
Housing related 
to Rural 
Workers 

of green infrastructure on a site being considered under the policy.  
 

Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

policy in line with the NPPF and removes the 
repetition between the 4 policies. The policy 
has been updated to give a criteria based 
policy. No changes were made to the SA/SEA 
outcomes as a result of the changes to the 
policy.  

Policy 6 
 
Housing related 
to the 
Equestrian and 
Racehorse 
industry 

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability as it is related to the provision of housing related to the 
equestrian and racehorse industry within the countryside. There is potential 
for a negative impact on environmental sustainability in relation to green 
infrastructure, as the provision of accommodation could result in a loss of 
green infrastructure on a site being considered under the policy.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy 7  
 
Housing related 
to Educational 
Development  

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability as it is related to the provision of housing essential to 
educational development within the countryside. There is potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability in relation to green 
infrastructure, as the provision of accommodation could result in a loss of 
green infrastructure on a site being considered under the policy.  
 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy 8 
 
Housing related 
to Medical, 
Social or 
Community 
Facilities 

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on economic and social 
sustainability as it is related to the provision of housing essential to medical, 
social or community facilities within the countryside. There is potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability in relation to green 
infrastructure, as the provision of accommodation could result in a loss of 
green infrastructure on a site being considered under the policy. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 

186 
 

P
age 440



Table 32 – Summary of Countryside Policy SA/SEAs 
Policy Summary of SA/SEA  Summary of 

effects 
Change since Preferred Options 

Long term 
Policy 6 9 
 
Extension of 
existing 
dwellings within 
the Countryside 

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on the retention and 
improvement of existing housing and the character of the landscape and built 
environment.  and to minimise the risk of flooding. The potential negative 
impact results from the potential loss of biodiversity where land of biodiversity 
value lost to an extension, garden or parking space. This can be mitigated 
through Core Strategy policy CS17.  and the supporting evidence for policy 9 
could be amended to require an assessment of the potential impact on 
biodiversity.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
Changes made to the policy as a result of 
consultation to give a criteria based policy 
using material set out in the supporting text. 
No changes made to the SA/SEA outcome as 
a result of the changes to the policy.  
 
Policy renumbered: Policy 6 

Policy 7 10 
 
Replacement of 
existing 
dwellings 

The policy is likely to have a positive impact on the improvements to the 
quality of housing whilst reusing previously developed land and protecting 
and the character, of the landscape and heritage.  built environment and to 
minimise the risk of flooding.  The potential negative impact result for the 
potential impact on the character of the countryside and potential loss of 
biodiversity where a replacement dwellings removes an existing habitat. This 
can be mitigated through the Core Strategy policy CS17. and the supporting 
evidence for policy 11 could be amended to require an assessment of the 
potential impact on biodiversity.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
Changes made to the policy as a result of 
consultation to give a criteria based policy 
using material set out in the supporting text. 
No changes made to the SA/SEA outcome as 
a result of the changes to the policy.  
 
Policy renumbered: Policy 7 

Policy 8 11 
 
Extension of 
Residential 
Curtilages 

This policy is likely to have a positive impact on the retention and 
improvement of existing housing, the protection of green infrastructure, the 
character of the landscape and built environment and to minimise the risk of 
flooding. The potential negative impact results from the potential loss of 
biodiversity where land of biodiversity value is used as residential garden or 
parking space. This can be mitigated through Core Strategy policy CS17. 
and the supporting evidence for policy 11 could be amended to require an 
assessment of the potential impact on biodiversity. 

Effect: 
Predominately 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High Medium 
Scale: District 
Wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Long term 

Policy retained.  
Changes made to the policy as a result of 
consultation to give a criteria based policy 
using material set out in the supporting text. 
No changes made to the SA/SEA outcome as 
a result of the changes to the policy.  
 
Policy renumbered: Policy 8 

 
Changes were made to the policies following the preferred options consultation, the policies have then been reassessed thorough the SA/SEA 
process, although overall very few changes have been made to the overall SA/SEA outcomes.  

187 
 

P
age 441



 
Four of the original polices (Policies 5, 6, 7, 8) have been combined into a single policy relating to housing for rural workers (new policy 5), rather than 
having individual policies for different types of workers. Overall this does not make a difference to the SA/SEA, but it does being the policy in line with 
the NPPF, which only refers to rural workers.  
 
Changes have been made to policy 1, which have resulted in a change in the SA/SEA outcomes, from having no impact on sustainability, the revised 
policy sets out a number of positive social impacts, in particular relating to the provision of new housing.  
 
Overall the policies will not have an impact on any element of sustainability, although together there are a number of positive impacts on all elements 
of sustainability, in particular social sustainability as the policies aim to guide the development of new housing within the countryside.  

7.5 Parking Standards Policy  
Two options were considered as reasonable alternatives for the parking policy. The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEAs and 
details which policy option is to be taken forward.  
 

Table 33 Summary of Parking Policy SA/SEA  
Policy Option Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification at Preferred 
Options 

Recommendation and 
justification at Proposed 
submission 

Option 3 
 
A new, single 
standard for 
car parking 
across all 
locations and 
dwellings 
type/size 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
This option would see benefits from incorporating design, 
travel planning, electric charging points and cycle parking but 
would apply a single approach to the level of car parking 
required.  This approach would take no account of how 
accessible a location was or what type or size the dwelling 
was.  This is likely to be less effective and could result in 
unsuitable levels of parking which may increase the level of 
unsafe on street parking or have a negative impact in terms 
of the amount of hard standing / parking areas in a 
development. Good design of parking areas can also help to 
reduce actual and perceived crime.  

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 
wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

Policy approach is not taken 
forward  
The SA/SEA does not indicate 
that this option would be as 
beneficial as option 4.  

Policy approach is not taken 
forward 
No additional information 
submitted at preferred options 
to indicate this would be a 
more suitable approach 

Option 4 
 
A new policy 
based on 
location, and 
dwellings 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability. The SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
This option aims to provide adequate parking through well 
designed parking solutions which will help to reduce the level 
of unsafe on street parking that occurs. It also includes the 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: 
High 
Scale: District 

Policy approach is taken 
forward 
The SA/SEA shows a more 
positive benefit as a result of 
option 4. This option is in line 
with the guidance set out in the 

Policy approach is taken 
forward 
General support through the 
preferred options for this 
approach to parking standards. 
 

188 
 

P
age 442



Table 33 Summary of Parking Policy SA/SEA  
Policy Option Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation and 
justification at Preferred 
Options 

Recommendation and 
justification at Proposed 
submission 

type/size 
 
 

requirement for travel plans and travel information packs for 
residential development and the need to provide electric 
charging points and cycle parking. Good design of parking 
areas can also help to reduce actual and perceived crime.  
This all seeks to increase the number of journeys made by 
sustainable modes that have less of an impact on the 
environment and help to improve health and wellbeing.  The 
approach to car parking levels that seeks to take account of 
accessibility of location and the type and size of dwelling also 
seeks to reflect the differing need for parking according to 
these factors.  

wide 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short 
to Long term 
 

NPPF.  SA/SEA outcomes for this 
option are the same as for the 
final version of the policy, and 
therefore, a separate SA/SEA 
has not been carried out for 
the final policy.   

 
The full SA/SEA tables are set out in Appendix 12. 
 
The SA/SEA indicates that both options 3 and 4 would have a predominantly neutral impact on sustainability, with neither showing any significant 
sustainability effects. The main difference between the two policies in sustainability terms is the potential impact on Road Safety.  
 
Option 3, has an uncertain effect, as a single standard does not take into account local need, which could result in inappropriate parking (too much or 
too little) being provided. The existing Council parking policy sets a single standard across the district, and has resulted in issues in implementation, 
especially in town centre locations and in area where there are residents parking zones. While this option would consider a new single standard, it 
could still result in similar issues of ensuring adequate parking is provided with new development.  
 
Option 4, which has been taken forward for the new parking standards, does consider local need. The policy is based on the NPPF (paragraph 39). It 
considers: the accessibility of a development, the type of development, availability and opportunities for public transport and / or car clubs, local car 
ownership and an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles.  It sets a range of parking standards depending on the location, type and 
size of development. 
 
The actual parking policy has not been subject to a separate SA/SEA as the level of detail provided in the policy is far greater than would be picked 
up in the SA tables. The SA/SEA outcomes for the policy are the same as for the SA/SEA assessment of option 4.  

7.6 Sandleford Park Policy  
Two options were considered as reasonable alternatives for the Sandleford Park policy at preferred options, although neither option has been taken 
forward, as it was considered more appropriate to update the SPD.  
 

189 
 

P
age 443



The table below outlines the findings of the site specific SA/SEA and details which policy option is to be taken forward.  
 

Table 34 Summary of Sandleford Park SA/SEA 
Policy Option Summary of SA/SEA of site Summary of 

effects 
Recommendation 

Option 1 
 
Keep existing 
Sandleford Park 
Policy (Core 
Strategy) 

Overall the policy is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability. The 
SA/SEA highlights a significantly positive effect on environmental 
sustainability due to the creation of a Country Parkland.  
There is a significant positive impact from this policy in terms of the creation 
of a Country Parkland on the southern part of the site. The policy aims to 
make sure that there are no significant negative impact which could not be 
mitigated against. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Medium term 

Policy approach is not taken forward  

Option 2 
 
New Sandleford 
Park Policy taking 
into account new 
evidence.  

Overall the policy is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability. The 
SA/SEA highlights two significantly positive effects, firstly on 
environmental sustainability due to the creation of a Country Parkland 
and secondary on all elements of sustainability through the provision of 
additional accesses to the site and enhanced education provision on 
the site.  
There is a significant positive impact from this policy in terms of the creation 
of a Country Parkland on the southern part of the site and in terms of 
accessibility to services and facilities, as the policy would require additional 
all vehicle accesses to the site and additional education provision. The policy 
aims to make sure that there are no significant negative impact which could 
not be mitigated against. 

Effect: 
Predominantly 
neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury 
and Thatcham 
spatial area 
Duration: 
Permanent 
Timing: Short to 
Medium term 

Policy approach is taken forward 
Policy approach is not taken forward  

 
The full SA/SEA tables are set out in Appendix 12. 
 
The SA/SEA indicates that both options would have a predominantly neutral impact on sustainability. Option 1 shows one significant positive effect on 
environmental sustainability in terms of creation of a Country Parkland, Option 2, has the same significant positive effect on environmental 
sustainability, but also has a significantly positive effect on all elements of sustainability as the new policy would improve access to and from the site, 
but requiring additional accesses and enhancing education provision on the site as a result of the new evidence.  
 
Option 2 has been chosen to take forward and a new policy has been included in the DPD. The new policy will help to ensure that the site is 
developed holistically as one site. The additional accesses will improve access to and from the site itself, but also improve the potential negative 
impact additional traffic could have on the surrounding highway network by maximising the alternative routes to and from the site.   

190 
 

P
age 444



 
In the end neither option was taken forward, as it was considered more appropriate, following legal advice, to update the SPD, due to the expected 
timing of the planning application. The updated SPD was subject to a 7 week period consultation and was adopted on 3rd March 2015, together with 
its consultation statement. The original SPD was subject to SA Screening, which determined that an SA was not required. The screening was 
revisited for the updated SPD, but the outcomes were considered to be the same, and therefore, no change was made to the Screening opinion.  

8 Next Stages 
Regulation 30 requires submission of the SA/SEA Report and any revision or supplements to it to the Secretary of State alongside the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD.  
 
The SA/SEA report has been updated and is published alongside the Main Modifications proposed to the Submission version of the DPD. The Main 
Modifications take into account comments made at the proposed submission consultation and throughout the examination process to date.  
 
The SA/SEA Report is being published alongside the proposed Submission DPD and takes into account comments made through the preferred 
options and proposed submission consultations. , and comments on the SA/SEA report are invited at this stage. The formal consultation period will 
last 6 weeks from the 9th November until 21st December 2015.  
 
Following the Proposed Submission consultation the SA/SEA report will be updated to reflect any changes made as a result of the consultation.  
 
A final SA/SEA Report, to meet the SA and SEA requirements, will be published alongside the submission version of the DPD.  

9 Implementation 
The SEA Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC “The assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the Environment”) requires 
that the significant environmental effects of implementing a plan or programme should be monitored in order to identify at an early stage any 
unforeseen adverse effects, and to be able to undertake appropriate remedial action. SA monitoring will cover the significant sustainability effects as 
well as the environmental effects. 
 
The suggested monitoring regime includes (sourced from the European Commission, 2003): 

• Determination of the scope of monitoring 
• Identification of the necessary information 
• Identification of existing sources of information 

o Data at project level 
o General environmental monitoring and  
o Other data 

• Filling the gaps 
• Procedural integration of monitoring into the planning system 
• Taking remedial action 

191 
 

P
age 445



 
In particular and in line with the guidance, monitoring will be focused on significant environmental effects, such as those; 

• Which indicate a likely breach of international, national or local legislation, recognised guidelines or standards 
• That may give rise to irreversible damage with a view to identifying trends before such damage is caused 
• Where there was uncertainty over possible adverse effects, and where monitoring would enable mitigation measures to be taken 

 
As The Housing Site Allocations DPD is a daughter document of the Core Strategy, and therefore, the Monitoring Framework of the Core Strategy will 
be used to monitor the impact of the DPD.  The key indicators fed into the Monitoring Framework which will be monitored and relevant conclusions 
will be included in the Annual Monitoring Report which is produced in December each year. The Monitoring framework is set out in appendix 6 of the 
Core Strategy, and contains more detail on the monitoring indicators and how they will be measured.  
 
Monitoring should involve measuring indicators which enable a casual link to be established between implementation of the Core Strategy and 
Housing Site Allocations DPD and the likely significant effect being monitored. Potential indicators have been proposed in the Scoping Report context 
and baseline (see table 6) for each of the SA sub-objectives, drawing from existing sources to ensure the recording of data for the indicator is already 
established (at Unitary, Regional or National level). The effectiveness of policies should be assessed against measurable targets. Some policies aim 
to deliver a qualitative rather than quantitative outcome and in such instances it is appropriate to monitor whether the policy is delivering the intended 
trend of direction of travel.  
 
In many cases information used in monitoring will be provided by outside bodies. This has already been evidenced by the additional baseline 
information provided by the statutory environmental consultees during the Core Strategy SA/SEA process.  

10 Conclusions on the Overall Sustainability of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
As a result of the SA work undertaken during the development of the Housing Site Allocations DPD and following the preferred options and proposed 
submission consultations, the most sustainable options were proposed for taking forward into the Submission version of the DPD.  

The preferred options represented the best available options at that stage and were considered to achieve the sustainability objectives of the Housing 
Site Allocations DPD. The approach taken in the Submission Housing Site Allocations DPD is considered to represent the best options, which have 
been considered, to achieve the sustainability objectives of the DPD. If the DPD is successfully implemented and the negative effects identified are 
successfully mitigated where appropriate, then future development in West Berkshire will result in positive sustainability impacts and sustainable 
development. This SA Report recommends that the sites and policies are accepted as the Submission document.  

The Housing Site Allocations DPD sits under the Core Strategy, to deliver the housing requirement, with additional flexibility, as required by the Core 
Strategy. The Core Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD achieve a balance between making provision for development to meet local needs, 
taking into account infrastructure requirements and the extensive environmental constraints of the area, and displaying flexibility to response to 
changing circumstances across the time frame of the Core Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

192 
 

P
age 446



Following the examination hearing sessions a number of Main Modifications have been proposed to the DPD. These have been assessed (please 
see Appendix 14) and the SA/SEA updated where appropriate. The changes being proposed do not have an impact on the overall sustainability of the 
plan, and in some cases may have a positive impact.  

193 
 

P
age 447



Appendices (for clarity, please note that the only Appendices which have been updated for this December 2016 update are Appendices 9, 10 and 
14.  Within Appendices 9 and 10, only those site assessment sheets which have been updated since the submission of the DPD are included within 
this December 2016 update) For all other Appendices, please refer to the SA/SEA Environmental Report for Submission (April 2016). 
 
Appendix 1 – Relevant Plans and Programmes 
Appendix 2 – Baseline Information 
Appendix 3 – Compatibility of SA Objectives with the West Berkshire Housing Site Allocations Objectives 
Appendix 4 – Glossary 
Appendix 5 – SA/SEA Scoping report responses 
Appendix 6A – Site Selection Criteria – Housing Sites 
Appendix 6B – Site Selection Criteria – Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Sites (Core Strategy Policy CS7) 
Appendix 7 – List of automatically excluded sites 
Appendix 8 – SA/SEA forms for Approach to the DPD Options  
Appendix 9 – Site Assessment (including SA/SEA) forms for Housing Sites  
Appendix 10 – Site Assessment (including SA/SEA) forms for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites  
Appendix 11 – SA/SEA forms for Countryside policies 
Appendix 12 – SA/SEA forms for Parking Standards policy 
Appendix 13 – SA/SEA forms for Sandleford Park policy 
Appendix 14 - Assessment of the Proposed Main Modifications and their implications for the outcome of the SA/SEA 
 
  

194 
 

P
age 448



SA/SEA Appendix 9A

Newbury & Thatcham - 
Site Assessments

(including Proposed Main 
Modifications)

Newbury 
Thatcham 
Cold Ash

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and strikethrough text for
deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined text for additions and double

strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made in light of the proposed Main Modifications are shown as purple underlined text for additions and
purple strikethrough text for deletions**

Page 449



Newbury Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 450



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: NEW042 Site Address:  Land at Bath Road, Speen 

 

Development Potential: 100 4 dwellings (3.45ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield and loss of allotments 
- Medium/high landscape sensitivity 
- Rights of way cross the site 
- Distance from play facilities for children 
- Local wildlife site 
- Potential second battle of Newbury site 
- Conservation area 
- Oil pipeline 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Agreement that the principle of development on this site may be acceptable. Local residents are very 
opposed to the site. Allotments are the main issue, as is the proximity to the site of the 2

nd
 battle of 

Newbury. Access concerns  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N 
The site is possibly within the 2

nd
 battle of Newbury 

site. 

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens A  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently Developable  N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Site currently contains allotments.  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is close to the A34 

Contaminated Land N  

Other Y 
The EA indicate that site is underlain by a major 
aquifer (20%) and is in an area where there is a 
high risk of contamination to groundwater. 

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U 

Access can be obtained on to the A4. The type of 
junction would need to be considered. Access 
could also be obtained from Station Road to 
ensure permeability through the site in line with 
Manual for Streets. Consideration would need to 
be given on any potential impact of the site on 
Station Road and on the A4/Station Road junction.   

Highway network suitability Y 

Development is expected to generate 
approximately 624 daily vehicle movements, with 
approximately 62 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak. The impact of this traffic would need to be 
assessed by a Transport Assessment.  

Public Transport network U 
There are a number of public transport options 
available in Newbury. However, only a 2 hourly 
bus service passes the site.  

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Speen 

Page 451



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Footways/Pavements U 
There are narrow pavements available in this part 
of Newbury.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

Y 
Site is in an area of medium / high landscape 
sensitivity.  

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 

Site is close to local sports fields 
 
The site previously encompassed allotment areas; 
however in line with the new scheme the 
allotments would no longer be developed. 
  

Rights of Way affected Y 2 rights of way pass though the site.  

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Potential for species on the site. Extended Phase 
1 habitat survey required 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders NY 

Number of TPO protected trees on the northern 
boundary of the southern proposed area and on 
the dismantled railway immediately to the north of 
southern proposed area 

Local Wildlife Site Y  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA)   

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement.  

Inappropriate adjacent land uses U Site is close to the A34 

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Some archaeological potential on the site. The 
site is likely to be within the site of the 2

nd
 Battle of 

Newbury. Further assessment required.  

Conservation area Y 

The allotments are within the Speen Conservation 
Area; however in line with the new scheme this 
area would no longer be developed.  
 
Following the hearing sessions of the Housing 
Site Allocations DPD, the Inspector has proposed 
Main Modifications that require development to 
protect and enhance the special architectural and 
historic interest of the Speen Conservation Area. 
Furthermore the Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment must consider the heritage setting of 
the site. 

Listed buildings A  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y An oil pipeline passes through the site.  

Water supply N 
Significant concerns over water supply capability, 
specifically water resource capability 

Wastewater N Concerns over wastewater services 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2  

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other Y 
The site is partially underlain by construction 
aggregates. Therefore RMLP Policies 1 and 2 are 
relevant. 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
NEW040  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Part of the site is currently allotments which would need to be retained or replaced. The site previously 
encompassed allotment areas; however in line with the new scheme the allotments would no longer be 
developed. 
 

 

Page 452



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: NEW042 
Site Address: Land at Bath Road, Speen 

Development Potential:  
104100 dwellings (3.45ha at 
30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is close to open countryside 
and a number of services and 
facilities that could support and 
encourage healthy, active lifestyles 

 

The site’s location to the 
north of Newbury gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. However, 
overall, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. If the 
allotments were not 
retained or re-provided 
ROW were not protected 
there could be a negative 
impact on environmental 
social sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
Site is close to Northcroft Leisure 
Centre.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

- 

Part of the site is currently 
allotments. The site previously 
encompassed allotment areas; 
however in line with the new scheme 
the allotments would no longer be 
developed. Two rights of way cross 
the site and there are TPO’d trees on 
the northern boundary of the 
southern proposed area.  

Allotments would need to be 
maintained or provided 
elsewhere on the site. The new 
scheme no longer includes the 
development of the allotments; 
however, the ROW would need 
to be protected. 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Newbury, as well as giving 
easy access to the strategic 
road network, and public 
transport opportunities.  
This means that the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 

+ 
The site is located within Newbury. 
There are a number of public 
transport options within the town 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Speen 

P
age 453



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

cycling and public 
transport? 

centre. Newbury station is 
approximately 3km form the site. 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities within 
Newbury.  

cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 
Site is close to a LWS. Development 
on the site should not have an 
impact.  

Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
survey required together with 
any recommended follow up 
surveys. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented to 
ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected.  

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures were 
implemented so that any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
As only part of the site is 
proposed for development 
it is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability 
from a landscape 
perspective.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 
The site is in an area of medium / 
high landscape sensitivity.  

Only part of the site is identified 
for development by the site 
promoter. Mitigation measures 
and development of a 
previously developed part of 
the site would ensure no 
negative impact on the 
character of the landscape.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

Part of the site is adjacent within to a 
conservation area but development 
is unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the built environment.    

The new scheme no longer 
includes the development of 
the allotments within the 
conservation area.  
 
The Inspectors proposed 
modifications require that 
development will protect and 
enhance the special 
architectural and historic 
interest of the Speen 
Conservation Area. The 
Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment must also take full 

The site is close to local 
heritage and cultural 
facilities within Newbury, 
and is likely to be within the 
2

nd
 battle of Newbury site. 

Development could have 
an impact on the character 
of the built environment in 
this area.  
It is unlikely that overall 
development of this site 
would have a significant 
impact on any aspect of 
sustainability. 

P
age 454



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

account of the heritage setting 
of the site. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There is potential archaeology on the 
site and the site is potentially part of 
the 2

nd
 battle of Newbury site.  

Archaeological survey work 
would need to be required.  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is close to Newbury and the 
cultural facilities within the town 
centre. 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to or enjoyment of the historic 
environment.  

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

- 
The site is close to the A34 which 
could cause Air quality issues 

Mitigation would be required.  

The location of the site 
adjacent to the A34 could 
lead to air quality and noise 
issues on the site. 
Therefore, there could be a 
negative impact on social 
sustainability if appropriate 
mitigation was not included.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

- 
The site is close to the A34 which 
could cause noise issues.  

Mitigation would be required.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0? 

Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality The site is underlain by a 
major aquifer (20%), is within an 
area where there is a high risk to 
groundwater, and is within a Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ2), although 
the EA has no in principle objections 
to development in SPZs 

A hydrological assessment 
would potentially be required 
as part of any planning 
application that comes forward 
on the site. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a Greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 0 The site is not at risk from flooding 

SUDs would need to be 
provided.  

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.   

P
age 455



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

 
11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 
 
 
 
 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres? 

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability issues with this site. The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and with close proximity to open countryside and local 
sports facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle all of which will have a positive impact on sustainability. Part of the site is currently used as allotments which would need to 
be retained or relocated should the site be developed, or there would be a negative impact on environmental sustainability. The site previously encompassed allotment areas; 
however in line with the new scheme the allotments would no longer be developed. Two rights of way cross the site, and if they were not protected there could be a negative impact 
on social sustainability. The site’s proximity to the A34 means that there could be issues of air or noise pollution, with a consequential impact on sustainability unless suitable 
mitigation measures are provided. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards 
economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 

P
age 456



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Timing: Short to Long term   

 
 

P
age 457



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: NEW042 Site Address: Land at Bath Road, Speen 
Development 
Potential:  

100 4 dwellings (3.45ha 
at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to Newbury, close to local services and facilities. There are no significant issues with 
the site.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north west of Newbury close to the junction with the A34 and A4. The site is close 
to local services and facilities, including open space and countryside.  
 
Two rights of way pass through the site. These would need to be preserved should the site be developed.  
 
The allotments on the site would need to be retained or replaced with equal or better facilities elsewhere on 
the site should development take place. The site promoter has confirmed that the allotments will be 
retained in their current location. The allotments are within the Speen Conservation Area.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium / high landscape sensitivity, adjacent to a conservation area. A Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment for the site will be required for the site and this must take full account of the 
heritage setting of the site. Development must protect and enhance the special architectural and historic 
interest of the Speen Conservation Area. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in FZ1. An FRA would be required considering surface water flooding. SUDs would need to be 
provided to ensure development would not have a risk on flooding downstream of the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The impact of traffic generated by the site would need to be assessed through a Transport Assessment. It 
is likely there would be a 50:50 split between traffic distributing towards Newbury and the A34.  
 
Access can be obtained onto the A4, and could also be considered from Station Road to ensure 
permeability though the site. The impact on station road and the A4/Station Road junction would need to be 
considered.  
 
There are footways in the vicinity. A regular bus service passes the site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to a conservation area. An extended phase 1 habitat assessment would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is within the 2

nd
 battle of Newbury battlefield area. There is archaeological potential on the site. 

Further assessment would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. No comments have been made regarding secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
Noise and air quality surveys would be required due to the proximity to the A34.  
 
No known contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Part of the site is underlain by gravel depositsconstruction aggregates; there is significant potential for 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Speen 

Page 458



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

extraction on the site. Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required.   
 
No known waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
The site is within an SPZ2, with a major aquifer (20%). There is a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater.   
 
Thames Water: 
Significant concern regarding Water Supply capability, specifically water resources capability. Current water 
supply network in this area is highly unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Water supply 
infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any 
development.  
 
A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required. 
 
There are serious concerns with Speen Water Treatment Works which serves Wickham DMA.  
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council agreed that the principle of development on the site may be acceptable, although local 
residents are against development here. The allotments are the main concern as they would not want to be 
lost or damaged by development.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  
 

 General – concern over security and impact on property values.  

 Infilling between Speen and the Bypass. Will set a precedent.  

 Impact on the character of the area and the impact on Speen.  

 Other sites. Other sites are preferable – examples given.  

 Ecology. Concern over proximity to ancient woodland and River Lambourn SSSI/SAC.  

 Flooding. Concern over impact on local drainage and environmental harm. 

 Heritage. Impact on conservation area and Speen Conservation Area.  

 Highways and Transport – Concern over access, particularly to the A4 via Station Road. Bus 
service is not regular enough. Site is too far from the town centre to make walking and cycling 
attractive.  

 Infrastructure – concern over lack of local shops and other amenities. Concern over impact on 
medical facilities and education. Concern about lack of water supply and impact on sewage 
connection.  

  Allotments – concern over moving the allotments for reasons including impact on community life, 
quality of proposed replacement allotments, loss of biodiversity, access to water, access to the 
allotments.  

 Landscape – loss of green infrastructure. 

 Pollution – poor air quality due to proximity to the A34 and the A4.  Noise and light levels will be 
raised.  
 

 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues 
 

 General. Development is not ethical. Development does not have any legal right of way.  

 Principle of Development – alternative sites should be used. Previous policy not to infill. Height of 
development, loss of agricultural land. Speen should be treated as a service village. No need for 

Page 459



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

scale of housing in Speen.  

 Consultation – lack of communication about next stages.  

 Design and density – flats with communal gardens would give most effective use of space.  

 Ecology – ecological issues on the site.  

 Employment – where are the jobs to support the housing need.  

 Flooding – concern regarding loss of natural drainage and underground reservoir on the site.   

 Heritage – site has heritage importance due to the 2
nd

 battle of Newbury. Negative impact on 
conservation area.  

 Highways and transport. Traffic impacts, location of accesses and need for road safety measures.  

 Infrastructure – water supply and drainage strategy required. Loss of green infrastructure.  

 Landscape – impact on Donnington castle and the AONB.  

 Personal issues – impact on privacy, stress and quality of life.  

 Pollution – water quality concerns.  

 SA/SEA – inconsistencies with how the battlefield has been treated. Other concerns about access, 
contamination and flooding.  

 Site promoter – supports the allocation of the site and confirms its availability.  
 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral impact on sustainability. There are no significant 
sustainability issues with this site. The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and 
with close proximity to open countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle 
all of which will have a positive impact on sustainability. Part of the site is currently used as allotments 
which would need to be retained or relocated should the site be developed, or there would be a negative 
impact on environmental sustainability. The site previously encompassed allotment areas, however in line 
with the new scheme the allotments would no longer be developed. Two rights of way cross the site, and if 
they were not protected there could be a negative impact on social sustainability. The site’s proximity to the 
A34 means that there could be issues of air or noise pollution, with a consequential impact on sustainability 
unless suitable mitigation measures are provided. The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for 125 dwellings, including affordable housing, public open space and 
relocation and extension of the allotments. Development would include infilling of a reservoir.  
 

 
 
 

Page 460



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

Site ID: NEW045 Site Address:  Coley Farm, Stoney Lane, Ashmore Green 

 

Development Potential: 75 dwellings (2.5ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- Groundwater flood risk. Evidence of neighbouring properties flooding in 2007. 
- Distance from play facilities for children  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

This area is already densely populated and there was general agreement concerning the implications for 
existing infrastructure (in particular surgeries and highways). Stoney Lane would need widening which the 
parish council would be against. Traffic in Turnpike Road would be an issue. Flooding issues were also 
highlighted. There was general concern about the loss of visual amenity as the area is one of the 
gateways into Ashmore Green. There was an appeal on the site about 5 years ago, and the Inspector 
determined a height over which development shouldn’t go due to landscape implications. The site is very 
steep in places. The area is an important resource for birdwatchers, walkers and horse riders.  
Flooding of Manor Park, Waller Drive, Creswell Close and Turnpike Industrial Estate in 2007.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment  Not Currently Developable  N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary  

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N Neighbouring residential areas suffered some 
flooding in 2007.  Surface water flood risk A 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U 

Access can be obtained via Stoney Lane, but the 
lane would need to be widened with footways 
provided to connect the site to existing footways 
along Stoney Lane. If land can be obtained, a 
secondary access could also be provided via 
Wansley Gardens, Laud Close and Fleetwood 
Close.  

Highway network suitability U 

Site has been considered alongside NEW105.  
Development of both sites would generate 
approximately 720 daily vehicle movements, 
including about 72 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak.  The impact would need to be assessed by 
a Transport Assessment. Traffic would distribute 
via the B4009 into Newbury via Turnpike Road 
and from the A4 and Thatcham. The highway 
network can be congested during peak travel 
periods especially the B4009.  

Public Transport network Y 
There are a number of public transport options 
available in Newbury and a number of bus routes 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 461



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

pass close to the site. The nearest bus stop to the 
site is over 700m away.  

Footways/Pavements U 
There are pavements throughout Newbury, 
although Stoney Lane does not have pavements.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Area of medium landscape sensitivity 

Other Y 

Landscape advice states that mitigation measures 
are required to retain the vegetation along Stoney 
Lane (except at the access point), for 
development to be set back from Stoney Lane 
and a wide landscape buffer provided, and 
development set back from the northern boundary 
with a woodland belt provided 

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to local amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Potential for birds and reptiles. Extended phase 1 
habitat survey required  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders Y 
TPO protected trees on the north western 
boundary 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA)   

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement 

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply Y TW do not envisage infrastructure concerns 

Wastewater N 
TW have concerns regarding wastewater 
services.  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other Y 
The site is partially underlain by construction 
aggregates. Therefore RMLP Policies 1 and 2 are 
relevant. 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
NEW105 Site could be developed alongside part of NEW105.  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

  

Page 462



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: NEW045 Site Address: Coley Farm, Stoney Lane, Ashmore Green Development Potential:  75 dwellings (2.5ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

Site is close to local services and 
facilities as well as open countryside 
and near to the local recreation 
ground.  

 

The site’s location to the 
north of Newbury gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. There are 
limited opportunities for 
access to sports facilities 
and little impact on GI, 
therefore overall this site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any aspect of 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

? 

The site is not very close to formal 
sports facilities, although there is a 
recreation ground within walking 
distance of the site.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 

The site is close to local amenity 
space, but it is unlikely that the 
development would impact on GI 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities.  

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Newbury, as well as giving 
easy access to the strategic 
road network, and public 
transport opportunities.  
This means that the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is located within Newbury. 
There are a number of public 
transport options, including a bus 
route pass the site and a railway 
station (Newbury Racecourse) 
approximately 3km from the site. 
Newbury station is just over 3km 
from the site. There are a number of 

As part of a planning 
application a Transport 
Statement / Transport 
Assessment would consider 
opportunities for enhancing the 
feasibility of walking and 
cycling, and the use of public 
transport. 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 463



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

opportunities for walking and cycling 
to local services and facilities.   

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

As part of a planning 
application a Transport 
Statement (TS) / Transport 
Assessment (TA) would 
consider the impact on all the 
local roads and road junctions 
around the site, recommending 
mitigation if there were likely to 
be resultant ill-effects. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 

There are trees with TPOs along the 
southern boundary with NEW105. It 
was considered that there was 
potential for birds and reptiles on the 
site. 

An extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey required in relation to 
birds and reptiles  
Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey required together with 
any recommended follow up 
surveys. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented to 
ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected.  

The site is open and rural in 
nature, therefore 
development could have a 
negative impact on this 
element of environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation 
works, including 
appropriate 
landscaping/design could 
help to reduce this impact. 
In terms of biodiversity 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures were 
implemented so that any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is rural in nature, especially 
to the north. It is in an area of 
medium landscape sensitivity. There 
are two trees with TPOs on the north 
western boundary.  

Landscaping work may be 
required and sensitive design 
would integrate the 
development into the existing 
landscape, lessening the 
impact on the existing 
landscape character. Buffer 
zones could be put in place to 
protect the trees protected by 
TPOs. Landscape advice 
states that the following 
mitigation would be required:  

 Retention of 
vegetation along 
Stoney Lane, except 
at the access point 

 Development will be 
set back from Stoney 
Lane and a wide 

P
age 464



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

landscape buffer 
provided 

 Development will be 
set back from the 
northern boundary 
and a woodland belt 
provided.  

There is also the potential to 
only develop the southern part 
of the site.   

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

Development is adjacent to existing 
residential development, although 
would extend the building line to the 
north. Sensitive design would ensure 
that the development compliments 
the existing, adjacent built 
environment.  

 

The site is unlikely to have 
an impact on any aspect of 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 

No previous work on archaeology 
has been done on the site, however 
it is considered unlikely that there 
would be archaeological interest on 
the site. It is unlikely that an 
archaeological assessment would be 
required as part of a planning 
application. 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is close to cultural facilities 
in Newbury, but unlikely to have an 
impact 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is close to historical 
features, but unlikely to have an 
impact.  

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

The site is unlikely to have 
an impact on any aspect of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0? 

Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality. The site is underlain by a 
minor aquifer and is within a Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ3) although the 

 

P
age 465



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

EA has no in principle objections to 
development in SPZs 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- Site is Greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? 
The eastern edge of the site is 
adjacent to an area of surface water 
flood risk.  

SUDs would be required on 
site 

There is no flood risk on the 
site itself which has a 
positive impact on 
sustainability. The site is 
adjacent to an area of 
surface water flood risk 
which could have an impact 
on flooding on the site, and 
therefore have a negative 
impact on sustainability 
unless suitable mitigation 
measures are provided.  

 
 
11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 
 
 
 
 
 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  
The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 

 

P
age 466



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the District’s commercial 
centres? 

which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
 
Summary 

There are no significant, sustainability impacts from this site. The site is close to local services and facilities, with opportunities for walking and cycling and good access to the 
countryside. All of these aspects have a positive impact on sustainability. There are potential negative impacts on environmental sustainability due to the rural location of the site and 
potential impact on the landscape. Mitigation measures would reduce this impact, by providing appropriate landscaping. It is likely that with regard to biodiversity on the site, 
appropriate measures would mitigate any negative impact. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the 
longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 467



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: NEW045 Site Address: 
Coley Farm, Stoney Lane, 
Ashmore Green 

Development 
Potential:  

75 dwellings  
(2.5ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to existing residential development in Newbury, close to local services and facilities. 
The site is not at risk from flooding.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Newbury. Close to local services and facilities.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity. Development would need to be accompanied by 
landscaping to reduce the impact of development on the character of the landscape. Landscape advice 
states that mitigation measures are required to retain the vegetation along Stoney Lane (except at the 
access point), for development to be set back from Stoney Lane and a wide landscape buffer provided, and 
development set back from the northern boundary with a woodland belt provided. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in FZ1, although it is adjacent to a surface water flood risk area. An FRA would be required 
taking into account surface water. SUDs would need to be provided to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect flood risk downstream of the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
This site has been assessed alongside part of NEW105, although now NEW105 is not being recommended 
for allocation.  
 
The impact of additional traffic would need to be assessed through a Transport Assessment. Traffic is likely 
to distribute via a number of routes, many of which are already congested during peak travel periods.  
 
Access can be obtained via Stoney Lane, which would need to be widened with footways provided to 
connect the site to existing footways along Stoney Lane. Other, secondary accesses could be provided via 
Wansley Gardens, Laud Close and Fleetwood Close.  
 
If this site was to be developed alongside part of NEW105 access to this site could be provided through 
NEW105.  
 
Ecology: 
Potential for birds and reptiles. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known minerals or waste issues. The site is partially underlain by construction aggregates. Therefore 
RMLP Policies 1 and 2 are relevant. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Newbury Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 468



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. Site is within SPZ23.  
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
This area is already densely populated and there was general agreement concerning the implications for 
existing infrastructure (in particular surgeries and highways). Stoney Lane would need widening which the 
parish council would be against. Traffic in Turnpike Road would be an issue. Flooding issues were also 
highlighted. There was general concern about the loss of visual amenity as the area in one of the gateways 
into Ashmore Green. There was an appeal on the site about 5 years ago, and the Inspector determined a 
height over which development shouldn’t go due to landscape implications. The site is very steep in places. 
The area is an important resource for birdwatchers, walkers and horse riders.  
Flooding of Manor Park, Waller Drive, Creswell Close and Turnpike Industrial Estate in 2007.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  

 Principle of development – already high density, urbanisation of rural area, gradient of the site 

 Poor consultation 

 Ecology – impact on wildlife, ancient woodland, TPOs 

 Flood risk to development already to the south – existing flooding issues in the area 

 Highways and Transport – impact on Stoney Lane, Road Safety, poor public transport 

 Infrastructure – lack of services and facilities (Schools, GPs), 

 Landscape/setting – impact on character of the area 

 Previous planning application refused 

 SA/SEA not objective 

 Site promoter supports inclusion of site.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 No account taken of number of objections and concerns previously expressed 

 Lots of issues downplayed and pushed to be dealt with at planning application stage 

 Site is not part of Newbury, visually/logically part of Ashmore Green/Cold Ash 

 Not in keeping with surrounding density of development  

 Concerns over flood prevention 

 Issues concerned with traffic modelling 

 No consideration of impact to Upper Stoney Lane 

 Loss of open space 

 Unlikely secondary access could be provided 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates that there would be predominantly neutral impact on sustainability. There are no 
significant, sustainability impacts from this site. The site is well located for local services and facilities 
including opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport. All of these have a positive impact 
on sustainability.  The rural nature of the site means that development could have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability; mitigation in terms of landscaping could help to reduce this impact.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for approximately 100 dwellings, with a mix of types and sizes. Affordable housing 
would be provided as part of the scheme. Site promoters confirm that the existing access to the site could 
be retained and upgraded and that the principle of widening Stoney Lane has been previously agreed. 
Various assessments have been submitted alongside the Call for Sites form, including a Landscape 
Assessment, Visual Impact Assessment, Habitat Survey, Bat Survey and SFRA. 

Page 469



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

 
 

Page 470



Thatcham Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 471



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA004 Site Address:  Rainsford Farm, Crookham Hill, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 764 dwellings (36.4 25ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within SHLAA as Not Currently Developable  
- The site falls within Flood Zone 3, which automatically rules the site out 
- Scale of site too large for allocation through the HSA DPD 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Flooding is a major issue. Marina idea is one of interest. Development here could not take place 
unless improvements were made to the Thatcham Level crossing. Potential to open up another 
crossing of the Kennet through the site. May not be practical now, but should be considered for longer 
term. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y Large parts of the site are within Flood Zone 3 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI A SSSI adjacent to the site 

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Flood risk whole of site within FZ3.  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N Y Under the Core Strategy Thatcham is due a period 
of consolidation. Development of this site would be 
out of keeping with this principle. Development of 
this site should be considered as a strategic site 
and should be reassessed as part of a new Local 
Plan.  

Within Settlement 
boundary 

 N Not adjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 
  

Spatial Area Newbury / Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 472



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA006 Site Address: 
Lower Way Farm, 
Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

50 dwellings  
 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located on the southern part of the site, and as the EA have advised that 
development must be avoided in Flood Zones 2 and 3 this reduces the development capacity on the site. 
Development is constrained further by the presence of a rising main which runs along the northern part of 
the site. With a reduced development capacity it is considered that development (see concept plan 
submitted at Preferred Options stage) fails to reflect the existing settlement pattern and would not relate 
well to existing development on Lower Way.  
 
The Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study (LSS, 2009) identifies the site as being located within an area 
(Thatcham Lakes) which provides an important open area which physically and visually separates Newbury 
from Thatcham and it is considered that the development of this site would fail to reflect this principle and 
detract from the separate identities of the two settlements.  
 
In addition, the site is adjacent to sewage treatment works which is known to release a foul smell, 
especially in the summer months. It is considered that the location of the site, adjacent to the sewage 
treatment works would impact on the quality of life for future residents.  
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and, whilst this site is not large scale, it is 
considered that there are other sites within the town which are more suitable for allocation.  
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Thatcham, close to Thatcham town centre and local service and facilities. 
To the east of the site lies the sewage treatment works, and to the west Newbury Leisure Park.  
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Sensitivity Study (LSS) carried out for Thatcham in 2009, identifies the site as being 
located within an area of medium landscape sensitivity. The LSS identifies this site as being located within 
the Thatcham Lakes area – an important landscape buffer between Newbury and Thatcham, but is visually 
marred by some development on its edges. Thatcham Lakes is an important setting to the south of 
Thatcham and east of Newbury. The sharp contrast with the built form is of significant value. It provides an 
important open area which physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The southern part of the site is within flood zones 2 and 3, with the northern part in flood zone 1. The site 
also adjacent to areas of surface water flood risk. Development will not take place within flood zones 2 and 
3. An FRA would be required and appropriate SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic generated from the site is considered to have a limited impact on the highway network.  
 
There are good public transport opportunities close to the site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to a SSSI, SAC and Local Nature Reserve. The site is also within a Biodiversity 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 473



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Opportunity Area.   
 
Archaeology: 
No known issues – further investigations may be required.  
 
Education: 
Primary and secondary school provision is at capacity.  
 
Environmental Health: 
Potential contamination due to proximity of contaminated sites. Further investigation required. Site is 
adjacent to sewage treatment works which could impact on quality of life, especially on air quality. An odour 
impact assessment would be required.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP required.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site.  
 
Thames Water: 
No specific comments made on this site. An odour impact assessment would be required for the site given 
its proximity to the sewage treatment works.  
 
Parish Council: 
Parish Council not consulted on this site as it was re-submitted as part of the Preferred Options 
Consultation. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation key issues: 
 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. The following new points were raised: 
 

 Principle of development – site should be allocated for c.50 dwellings. 

 Limited erosion of gap. 

 SA/SEA – potential negative impacts identified either overstated or capable of being mitigated 
against.  

 
The Council’s responses to the issues raised are included within Appendix KK of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the effect on sustainability will be predominantly neutral and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is close to local services and facilities with opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public 
transport, which could have a positive effect in terms of sustainability.  
 
The site is adjacent to the sewage treatments works, which could negatively impact upon the air quality. 
There is also the potential for an impact on noise levels, as well as soil and water quality given the close 
proximity to the treatment works.  
 
The majority of development on the site would take place on greenfield land which could negatively impact 
on the environmental sustainability of the site, and the sites proximity to the SSSI, SAC and Local Nature 
Reserve mean development on the site could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability 
through the impact on the landscape character and built environment as the area provides an important 

Page 474



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

open area which physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham. 
 
Flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce 
this impact. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for residential development with an open space buffer to the countryside to the 
south.  
 
Site promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation, with layout plan for 50 dwellings. The site 
assessment has taken this into account. 
 

 

Page 475



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA007 Site Address:  Land at Hart’s Hill, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 450 dwellings (15ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Scale of development  
- Greenfield 
- Potential for surface water flooding – small surface water flow runs through the centre of the site and where the site joins Floral 

Way 
- Site is separated from the existing building line by Ffloral Wway  
- Over head cables present on the site  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The following comments are made in respect of sites THA007, THA008, THA028 
 
Development here would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. The impact of development here would 
have an impact on the road network in north Thatcham and 
Cold Ash, especially at peak times, as there are limited alternatives (infrequent bus service). 
 
A gully runs through THA008 which would increase the flood risk. 
 
There are capacity issues at Kennet School, more so than at the primary schools. 
 
THA028 is considered more acceptable than THA007 or THA008. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

U Under the core strategy Thatcham is due a period 
of consolidation. Development of this site would be 
out of keeping with this principle. Development of 
this site should be considered as a strategic site 
and should be reassessed as part of a new Local 
Plan.  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk A Y 

Surface water flow runs through the centre of the 
site. An area of surface water flood risk is located 
where the site joins Floral Way and along the 
north eastern/eastern boundary of the site.  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N Access can be obtained via Floral Way  

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network Y 

Thatcham rail station just over is approximately a 
mile1.5-2 miles from the centre of the site. 
Regular bBus services pass the site and regular 
services run along the A4 to the south of the site.  

Spatial Area Newbury / Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 476



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Footways/Pavements A On adjacent side of road only 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 

There is amenity space close to the site on Floral 
Way/Foxglove Way. There are allotments close 
by on Harts Hill Road, and a sports ground south 
of London Road 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
There is a play area close to the site on Floral 
Way/Foxglove Way 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland A 
Adjacent to the site’s eastern/north eastern 
boundary  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site A 
Adjacent to the site’s eastern/north eastern 
boundary 

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y P 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (north and eastern 
half of site only) 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N A 
Adjacent. Floral Way separates the site from 
existing residential development 

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
In area of high archaeological potential with many 
discoveries in area, further assessment will be 
necessary 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
Over head power lines and telegraph poles 
present on site 

Water supply N 
TW have significant concern regarding water 
supply capability. Water Strategy required. 

Wastewater N 
TW have significant concern regarding 
wastewater services. Drainage Strategy required. 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N 
Railway station is  approximately 1.5-2 miles from 
the site 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N/A  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA008, THA028  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Unable to confirm availabilityN/A 

 
  

Page 477



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA007 Site Address: Land at Hart’s Hill, Thatcham Development Potential:  450 dwellings (15ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Site is close to local facilities and 
offers good access to the open 
countryside 

 
The site’s location to the 
east of Thatcham gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 

The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet leisure centre. The site is 
also in close proximity to local 
amenity space and play areas. 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 0 

Development is unlikely to have an 
impact on GI 
A Public Right of Way runs to the 
east of the site 

The right of way would need to 
be retained 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Thatcham. as well giving 
eachThe site also has good 
access to the strategic road 
network and public 
transport opportunities, 
although the railway station 
is some distance away.  
This means that 
development of the site 
cwould have a positive 
impact on the 
district’seconomic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is located within Thatcham. 
There are a number of public 
transport options, including a 
frequent bus route that runs along 
the A4, which is close to the south of 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourages walking and 
cycling. The site also has 
good access to public 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

P
age 478



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

to the site. 
 
Thatcham station is approximately 
2.4km form the site.  
 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.   

transport. There is 
therefore Development of 
the site could have a 
positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? - 

There is ancient woodland and a 
Local Wildlife Site adjacent to the 
site. 
 
The north and eastern part of the site 
is identified as a Biodiversity 
Opportunity Area.  

A 10 metre stand off is required 
between development and the 
ancient woodland.  
 
An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected An 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey will be required 

The site is open and rural in 
nature; therefore 
development could have a 
negative impact on this 
element of environmental 
sustainability. Appropriate 
mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact. , without 
appropriate mitigation and 
buffers.  
 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0- 

The site is in an area of medium 
landscape sensitivity.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB. 
 
It is considered the scale of the 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape.  
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required. 

P
age 479



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

proposed development would have a 
negative impact on the landscape 
character 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
 
 
 
 
- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this areabecause this area is outside 
of the built area of Thatcham. Floral 
Way is a defining feature, acting as a 
boundary between the built up area 
and the countryside.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB.  
 
It is considered the scale of the 
proposed development would have a 
negative impact on the built 
environment. 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required. 

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability by changing 
the character of the built 
environment in this area.  
 
Mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
The site is within an area of high 
archaeological potential  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 0 Unlikely to have an impact on water  

P
age 480



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

water quality? quality.  

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield land  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 - 

The siteitself is not at risk from 
flooding is within Flood Zone 1 and 
therefore has a low risk of flooding. 
However, although a surface water 
flow runs through the site and areas 
of surface water flood risk lie 
adjacent to the site.it is adjacent to 
an area at risk from surface water 
flooding.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
SuDs would need to be 
provided.  

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.Flooding can 
have a negative impact on 
all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should reduce 
this impact.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 

0 
Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 

 

P
age 481



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

centres?  commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, 
all of which have a positive impact on sustainability.  The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services and facilities which will have a positive impact 
on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability.  
Development could have an impact on the landscape and change the character of the built environment, which could have a negative impact on sustainability.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 482



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA007 Site Address: 
Land at Hart’s Hill, 
Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

450 dwellings 
(15ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Floral Way is not acceptable at this stage and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy. The Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The area is 
characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this are as a whole 
as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
The Core Strategy sets out that Thatcham only needs a small amount of development over the plan period. 
The potential on this site is much larger than required, and there are other smaller sites, that are 
considered more suited to development at this stage. Development on this side of Floral Way would 
change the character of the built environment, but moving residential development to the east of Floral 
Way.  
 
Availability of the site has not been confirmed.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Thatcham, separated from the existing building pattern by Floral Way. The 
site has good access to local services and facilities, including employment and education. There is also 
good access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is within an area of medium landscape sensitivity and is rural in character. The Landscape 
Sensitivity Study (2009) outlines that the area provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, 
providing an important setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the 
AONB. The area is characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating 
escarpment slopes. Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. Surface water flow runs through the site, with areas of surface water flood risk 
adjacent to the north eastern boundary and to the south where the site joins Floral Way.adjacent to an area 
at risk from surface water flooding. A FRA would be required and SUDs provided.  
 
An ordinary water course runs through the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 483



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The site is close to a number of public transport options, with a regular bus service running past the site 
and a regular service running along the A4 to the south of the site. Thatcham also has a railway station 
which is approximately 1.5 - 2km from the site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is within a BOA and adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. There is ancient woodland adjacent to the 
site and appropriate buffers would need to be provided. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely 
affected 
 
Archaeology: 
The site is within an area of high archaeological potential. Further investigation would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity, as is local secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
Significant concern regarding water supply capability, especially water resource capability. Current water 
supply network in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Water supply 
infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any 
development. 
 
A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Significant concern regarding wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to 
support demand. Drainage infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is 
brought forward ahead of the development.  
 
A detailed drainage strategy would be required.  
 
Parish Council: 
Thatcham Town Council’s comment related to THA007, 008 and 028.  
Development would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. The development would impact on the road 
network in north Thatcham and Cold Ash, especially at peak times as there are limited alternatives 
(eg.infrequent bus services).  
 
There are capacity issues at Kennet School, more so than at primary schools.   
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Two responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 Site Selection 

 Housing numbers and distribution 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. The following new points were raised:  
 

 Flood detention basin (as identified in the 2013 Infrastructure Delivery Plan) could be delivered 

Page 484



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

alongside residential development.  

 Technical and environmental studies undertaken to support planning application. 

 Comprehensive approach to development north of Thatcham supported. 

 Policy HSA 5 should be deleted. If not, Harts Hill Farm should be allocated as a reserve site.  
  
The Council’s responses to the issues raised are included within Appendix KK of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open 
countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a positive 
impact on sustainability.  The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services 
and facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield 
nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on the character of both 
landscape and the built environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability.  
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral effect, with no significant impacts from this site. The site is 
easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling. It is also within close proximity of open 
countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle, all of which have a positive 
impact on sustainability.  Development could have an impact on the landscape and change the character of 
the built environment, which could have a negative impact on sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for approximately 640 dwellings, with appropriate infrastructure and open space.  
 
The site promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation, which would indicate the site is 
available for development. See Statement of Consultation for responses. 
 
Availability of the site has not been confirmed.  

 
 
 

Page 485



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 

 

Site ID: THA008 Site Address:  Land at Siege Cross Farm, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 353 dwellings (11.76ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Scale of development  
- Greenfield 
- Bath Road and Floral Way separate site from the building line  
- Overhead cables and an oil pipe line present on the site  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The following comments are made in respect of sites THA007, THA008, THA028: 
 
Development here would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. The impact of development here would 
have an impact on the road network in north Thatcham and 
Cold Ash, especially at peak times, as there are limited alternatives (infrequent bus service). 
 
A gully runs through THA008 which would increase the flood risk. 
 
There are capacity issues at Kennet School, more so than at the primary schools. 
 
THA028 is considered more acceptable than THA007 or THA008. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

U 

Under the core strategy Thatcham is due a period 
of consolidation. Development of this site would be 
out of keeping with this principle. Development of 
this site should be considered as a strategic site 
and should be reassessed as part of a new Local 
Plan.  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 
N 

Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk A 
Areas of surface water flood risk are located 
adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site and 
small pockets to the south west boundary 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
Access can be obtained from Floral Way and the 
A4. 

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network Y 
Thatcham rail station just under a is 
approximately 1.5 mile from the centre of the site. 
Regular bus services pass the site along the A4.  

Footways/Pavements A 
SouthernFootways present on northern side of A4 
London Road and western side of Floral Way. No 
footways or pavements front the site 

Landscape Located in AONB N  

Spatial Area Newbury / Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 486



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

2 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 

Amenity space to the south of the site. 
 
There is a sports field close to the site south of 
London Road, and allotments off Harts Hill Road  

Rights of Way affected Y N Passes through site 

Play areas nearby Y Harts Hill Road  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species Y 
Range of protected species have been identified 
on the site 

Ancient woodland A Adjacent site on the eastern boundary 

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site A Adjacent site on the eastern boundary 

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area on eastern and 
northern boundaries. Badgers sett next to the site. 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A 
Adjacent (Floral Way and Bath Road separate the 
site from existing development. boundary) 

Inappropriate adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
In area of high archaeological potential with many 
discoveries in area. Desk based assessment 
required 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
Over head power lines and telegraph poles are 
present on the site. Oil pipeline 

Water supply N 
TW have significant concern regarding water 
supply capability 

Wastewater N 
TW have significant concern regarding 
wastewater services.  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N Approximately 1.5 mile from the site 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. 
Consideration of Policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP 
required.  

Other N/A  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA007  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 487



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA008 Site Address: Land at Siege Cross, Thatcham Development Potential:  353 dwellings (11.76ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Site is close to local facilities and 
offers good access to the open 
countryside 

 
The site’s location to the 
east of Thatcham gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and also gives 
easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 

The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet leisure centre. The site is 
also in close proximity to local 
amenity space and play areas. 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 0 
Unlikely to be an impact on GI 
A Public Right of Way passes 
through the site 

The Public Right of Way will 
need protecting should the site 
be developed 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities. 

It is proposed to provide a 
primary school and community 
building on the site 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Thatcham., as well giving 
each access The site also 
has good access to the 
strategic road network and 
public transport 
opportunities, although the 
railway station is some 
distance away.  This means 
that development on the 
site wcould have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is located within Thatcham. 
There are a number of public 
transport options, including a 
frequent bus adjacent to the site on 
the A4. 
 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling. The site also has 
good access to public 
transport.  and therefore 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

P
age 488



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Thatcham station is approximately 
1.4km1.5m  form the site.  
 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.   

have Development of this 
site could have a positive 
impact on environmental 
and social sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

Improvements to the highway 
infrastructure could reduce any 
potential impact. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

 - 

There are protected species on the 
site, along with is a badger’s sett on 
the site.. 
 
There is ancient woodland east of 
the site 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
Required. 
10 metre stand off required 
between development and the 
ancient woodland.  
 
 

Development could have a 
negative impact on this 
element of environmental 
sustainability. Appropriate 
mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact. 
, without appropriate 
mitigation being provided.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0  - 

The site is in an area of medium 
landscape sensitivity. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB. 
 
It is considered the scale of the 
proposed development would have a 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required.. 

P
age 489



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

negative impact on the character of 
the landscape. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this area as this area is outside the 
built area of Thatcham. Floral Way is 
a defining feature, acting a boundary 
between the built up area and the 
countryside.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB. 
 
It is considered the scale of the 
proposed development would have a 
negative impact on the built 
environment. 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required. 

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability by changing 
the character of the built 
environment in this area. 
Mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
The site is within an area of high 
archaeological potential with many 
discoveries in the area 

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

P
age 490



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield land  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy..  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 ? 

The site itself is within Flood Zone 1 
and therefore has a low risk of 
flooding. However, areas of surface 
water flood risk lie adjacent to the 
site. not at risk from flooding, 
although it is adjacent to an area at 
risk from surface water flooding.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability Flooding can 
have a negative impact on 
all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures should reduce 
this impact. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  
The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 

 

P
age 491



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
There are no significant impacts from this site. The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open countryside and local sports 
facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a positive impact on sustainability.  The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local 
services and facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the 
impact on the character of both landscape and the built environment. TIn addition, there are protected species on the site, without appropriate mitigation measures development 
could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. 
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability.  
 
 Development could have an impact on the landscape and change the character of the built environment, which could have a negative impact on sustainability.  
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 492



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE008 Site Address: 
Land at Siege Cross Development 

Potential:  
353 dwellings 
(11.76ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Floral Way is not acceptable at this stage and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy. The Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The area is 
characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this are as a whole 
as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
Only a small amount of development is required in Thatcham under the Core Strategy framework, 
development of this site would be out of keeping with this principle. This site should be considered as a 
strategic site.  Development on this side of Floral Way would change the character of the built environment, 
by moving residential development to the east of Floral Way.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Thatcham, separated from the existing residential development by Floral 
Way. There is good access to employment, local services and facilities, and the open countryside.  
 
Overhead power lines and telegraph poles are present on the site.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity and rural in character. The Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (2009) outlines that the area provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing 
an important setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The 
area is characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment 
slopes. Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, and adjacent toan areas of surface water flood risk. A FRA would be required 
and SUDs would need to be provided.  
 
An ordinary water course runs through the site.  
 
The Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan identifies that surface water overland flow travels through 
the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 493



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

There are a range of public transport options, with a regular bus service passing the site and Thatcham 
railway station within 1approximately 1.5 mile of from the site.  
 
Ecology: 
There is are protected species on the site, along with a badger sett. on the site and ancient woodland 
adjacent to the site. The site is adjacent to ancient woodland.  Appropriate buffers and mitigation measure 
would need to be provided. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 
Archaeology: 
The site is in an area of high archaeological potential. Further investigation would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity, as is local secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partly underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of Policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be 
required.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
Significant concern regarding water supply capability, especially water resource capability. Current water 
supply network in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Water supply 
infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any 
development. 
 
A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Significant concern regarding wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to 
support demand. Drainage infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is 
brought forward ahead of the development.  
 
A detailed drainage strategy would be required.  
 
Parish Council: 
Thatcham Town Council’s comment related to THA007, 008 and 028.  
Development would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. The development would impact on the road 
network in north Thatcham and Cold Ash, especially at peak times as there are limited alternatives (Eg. 
Infrequent bus services).  
 
A gully runs through the site that would increase flood risk.  
 
There are capacity issues at Kennet School, more so than at primary schools.   
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Two responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 Site Selection/assessment 

 SA/SEA 

 Housing numbers and distribution 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 

Page 494



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Proposed Submission Consultation key issues: 
 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. The following new points were raised: 
 

 Landscape – disagreement with the 2009 Landscape Sensitivity Study. 

 SA/SEA – conclusions disputed. 
 
The Council’s responses to the issues raised are included within Appendix KK of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open 
countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a positive 
impact on sustainability.  The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services 
and facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield 
nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on the character of the built 
environment. in addition, there are protected species on the site, without appropriate mitigation measures 
development could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. 
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability.  
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral effect, with no significant impacts from this site. The site is 
easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open countryside 
and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  There are protected species on the site, without appropriate mitigation measures 
development could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. Development could have an 
impact on the landscape and change the character of the built environment, which could have a negative 
impact on sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for 300 - 500 dwellings with provision for a primary school.  
 

 
 
 

Page 495



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA011 Site Address:  Land to the north of Bowling Green Road, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 255 dwellings (8.5ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues:  
- Greenfield  
- Surface water flood risk – surface water flows run through and adjacent to the site. A Critical Drainage Area is located adjacent 

to the site. 
- Local wildlife site adjacent to north western boundary 
- Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) concludes that development on the whole site would result in harm to the natural 

beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
- Under the Core Strategy, Thatcham is due a period of consolidation. Development of this site would be out of keeping with this 

principle. 
- Coalescence of settlements 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on 
cars.  
 
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but 
there is concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the 
Thatcham Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is 
traditional agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities.  
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A P 

Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) 
concludes that development on the whole site 
would result in harm to the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N Under the Core Strategy, Thatcham is due a 
period of consolidation. Development of this site 
would be out of keeping with this principle. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y 

Surface water flows run through the site and 
along the adjacent road. 
 
Surface water flows and evidence of past surface 
water flooding have been identified in Thatcham 
Surface Water Management Plan.  

Critical Drainage Area A Adjacent to Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Spatial Area Newbury & Thatcham  Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 496



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network U 

There is a rail station in Thatcham but this is 
some distance from the site ( approx. 2.5km as 
the crow flies or 3.5km by road) 
No bus services run past the site. The closest 
stop is onBillington Lane Westfield  Road which is 
served by a number of services. (service 101 
infrequent). 

Footways/Pavements Y 
Pavements on eastern side of Cold Ash Hill, south 
side of Heath Lane, and southern side of Bowling 
Green Road 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N 
Site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity 
Low to medium (Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (2009)) 

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Off Humber Close 

Rights of Way affected A 
Public right of way (footpath) runs adjacent to the 
north western boundary of the site 

Play areas nearby Y Elliot Close 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site Y A 
Small area within the north western corner of the 
siteLocal Wildlife Site to the north west of the site 
adjacent to the site boundary 

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A 

Adjacent The site is adjacent to the settlement 
boundary but the site is separated from existing 
built form by Bowling Green Road which forms a 
clear boundary to Thatcham.  
The site would need to be considered as part of a 
wider development scheme in conjunction with 
THA027 and THA014. 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y U 
Site is within an area of high archaeological 
potential. Desk based assessment required  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N 
The railway station is located at the other side of 
Thatcham. 2.5km as the crow flies or 3.5km by 
road 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA014, THA027, THA019 
(separated from site by Cold Ash 
Hill) 

Neighbouring sites are separated from the site by Cold Ash Hill 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 497



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: THA011 Site Address: Land to the north of Bowling Green Road, Thatcham Development Potential:  255 dwellings (8.5ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is adjacent to the Regency 
Park Hotel which has sports facilities 
(private members only). There are 
further facilities in Thatcham. The 
site is close to the open countryside 
 
The site offers access to the 
countryside 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? + 

The site is close to facilities at 
Henwick Worthy Sports Ground and 
Regency Park Hotel (private 
members only). Public facilities are 
available at Kennet Leisure Centre.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There will be noUnlikely to have an 
impact on green infrastructure  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services and accessible to a number 
of employment sites and education 
facilities. (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Thatcham’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. ThereforeThe 
site is close to some local 
services and facilities, as 
well as accessible to 
employment areas, 
however it is likely that 
many of these areas will be 
accessed via car. 
Ddevelopment of the site 
wouldis likely to have a 
positive impact on the 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 498



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.  There is a rail 
station in Thatcham although it is 
some distance from the site. and aA 
number of bus services are 
available, although they do not pass 
the site. The nearest bus stop is on 
Westfield Road which is served by a 
number of services. 
 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities but 
has limited public transport 
available and car 
dependency is likely to be 
high. 
Development is unlikely to 
have ana positive impact 
upon sustainability Will it reduce the number of 

road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? - 
The north west corner of the site is a 
Local Wildlife Siteand ancient 
woodland adjacent to the site 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
required. 
Appropriate buffers to the 
ancient woodland would be 
required.  

The site and the 
surrounding area to the 
north is rural in nature, with 
a Local Wildlife Site 
adjacent to the site. 
therefore dDevelopment 
could have a negative 
impact on this element of 
environmental 
sustainability.  
 
Mitigation measures would 
help to reduce this impact.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 0 - 

The site is in an area of low/medium 
landscape sensitivity. The 
Landscape Capacity Assessment 
(2015) recommended that 
development on the whole site would 
result in harm to the natural beauty 
and special qualities of the AONB. 

The LCA (2015) outlined a 
series of mitigation measures 
that would be required should 
part of the site be pursued 
further for development. See 
LCA (2015) for mitigation 
measures.  

P
age 499



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Only part of the site could be 
pursued as a potential housing site 
subject to mitigation measures set 
out within the LCA (2015).  
 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane. 

 
 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this area because this area is outside 
of the built area of Thatcham. 
Development would lead to a change 
in the character of the built 
environment. 
 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane. 

Mitigation measures as set out 
in the LCA (2015) should be 
implemented. 
 
LVIA would be required.  

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability by changing 
the character of the built 
environment in this area.  
 
Further investigations 
regarding the 
archaeological potential will 
be required.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There is the potential for archaeology 
on the site.  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 
It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 

P
age 500



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation couldalso include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy..  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques, and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of travel, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? - 

The site itself is not within a flood 
zone, although it is adjacent to a 
critical drainage area and surface 
water flow runs through and adjacent 
to the site.  
 
The Thatcham Surface Water 
Management Plan identifies past 
surface water flooding events on the 
site.  

A FRA would be required and 
appropriate mitigation 
measures, including SUDs 
provided.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures should 
reduce this impact.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 

 

P
age 501



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well located for access close to some local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre of Thatcham. , with There are opportunities for walking and 
cycling, all of which have a positive impact on sustainability, although car dependency is likely to be high given the limited public transport options and level of local services and 
facilities.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site, impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on 
the character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
Flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce this impact. 
 
Development of the site would alter the character of the built environment as development would be taking place on the opposite side of the road to existing residential development. 
This could have a negative impact on sustainability. There are a number of unknown impacts, relating to the impact on ecology and flood risk. Impacts on ecology and subsequent 
environmental sustainability should be able to be mitigated against with appropriate buffers and wildlife protections. The site is not officially within a flood zone, although it is on the 
edge of a critical drainage area. Surface water runoff caused significant flooding in Thatcham in 2007, therefore, there is a possibility that without appropriate mitigation measures 
flooding could occur impacting negatively on all elements of sustainability.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 502



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA011 Site Address: 
Land to the north of 
Bowling Green Road 

Development 
Potential:  

255 dwellings 
(8.5ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the Core Strategy is to ensure that development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and enhancement of the local distinctive character and identity of the built, historic 
and natural environment across the District. The Core Strategy notes that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the way in which few have coalesced in recent times and so the blurring of 
the physical distinction between places has largely been avoided.  New development therefore needs to be 
appropriate in terms of location, scale and design in the context of the existing settlement form, pattern and 
context. Any scheme for a particular site would therefore need to be in accordance with policies CS14 and 
CS19 of the Core Strategy and the Quality Design SPD.  
 
Conserving and enhancing the distinctive landscape character of the AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. The Council has therefore ensured that sites within or within the 
setting of the AONB have been subject to a Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is 
a consistent assessment carried out by the Council’s landscape consultant to determine whether a site 
could be developed without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB.  The 
LCA (2015) for this site has concluded that development on the whole of this site would result in harm to 
the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. Cold Ash is an AONB settlement and although it has 
expanded southwards out of the AONB and down the slope towards Thatcham, it retains a distinctive 
separate identity. The development of the whole of this site would lead to the perception of a merging of the 
two settlements and would therefore have an adverse impact on the AONB settlement pattern.  
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Bowling Green Road, for a large scale development 
is not acceptable at this stage and would be contrary to the Core Strategy. It would lead to the perception of 
merging Cold Ash and Thatcham and would have adverse impact on the settlement pattern.  
  
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this area as a 
whole as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
Only a small amount of development is required in Thatcham under the Core Strategy framework, 
development of this site would be out of keeping with this principle.   
Development of the site would be out of keeping with the exiting development pattern, as there is currently 
no residential development to the north of Tull Way  

 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 503



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Thatcham, separated from the existing residential development by Tull 
Way, Bowling Green Road, Heath Lane and Cold Ash Hill. The site is some distance to the centre of 
Thatcham and public transport options are limited.  
 
Landscape:  
The site sits within the Ashmore Green and Lower Cold Ash Plateau Edge (LLCA14A) as identified by the 
Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009). This is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity, 
characterised by a mix of small and complex field pattern and modern linear settlement. There are good 
landscape links with the adjacent parts of the escarpment and there is a well defined edge to 
Thatcham.The site is in an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity, and is rural in character.  
 
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) recommended that development on the whole site would 
result in harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. Only part of the site could be 
pursued as a potential housing site subject to mitigation measures set out within the LCA (2015).  
 
Development of this site is dependent on a wider scheme to include THA014 and THA027. Development in 
isolation of surrounding sites, in accordance with the LCA, would result in unacceptable level of expansion 
of Thatcham north and the well defined settlement boundary along Bowling Green Road and Heath Lane. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1,with surface water flows running through and adjacent to the site.  A Critical 
Drainage Area is located adjacent to the site. although it is on the edge of a critical drainage area. 
Significant flooding occurred in Thatcham during 2007.  
 
The Thatcham Surface Water Management plan identifies surface water flow patterns through the site. An 
ordinary watercourse flows through the site.  
 
A FRA and appropriate mitigation, including SuDS would need to be provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 
Public transport options past the site are limited. There are opportunities for walking and cycling.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to ancient woodland and the north west corner of the site is within a local wildlife site. 
Appropriate buffers would need to be provided. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required 
together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
 
Archaeology: 
There is some archaeological potential on the site. Further iInvestigations would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity, and is local secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3. 
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water not consulted on this site  

Page 504



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Parish Council: 
Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on cars.  
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but there is 
concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
 
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the Thatcham 
Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is traditional 
agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities. 
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Two responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 Housing numbers and distribution 

 Character 

 Flood risk 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation key issues: 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. The following new points were raised: 
 

 Principle of development – development would help to meet needs. 

 Benefits of development – doctors surgery, public open space, flood defence measures, provision 
of market/affordable housing, financial contributions (CIL). 

 Planning application (ref: 15/01949/OUTMAJ) demonstrated no adverse impacts. 
 
The Council’s responses to the points raised are included within Appendix KK of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is close to some local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre of Thatcham. There 
are opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on sustainability, although car dependency 
is likely to be high given the limited public transport options and level of local services and facilities.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the 
site, impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on the character of both landscape and the built 
environment.  
 
Flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce this impact. 
 

The SA/SEA gives a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
effects. The site is well located for access to local services and facilities with opportunities for walking and 
cycling, all of which have a positive impact on sustainability. Development of the site would alter the 
character of the built environment as development would be taking place on the opposite side of the road to 
existing residential development. This could have a negative impact on sustainability. There are a number 
of unknown impacts, relating to the impact on ecology and flood risk. Impacts on ecology and subsequent 
environmental sustainability should be able to be mitigated against with appropriate buffers and wildlife 
protections. The site is not officially within a flood zone, although it is on the edge of a critical drainage 
area. Surface water run off caused significant flooding in Thatcham in 2007, therefore, there is a possibility 
that without appropriate mitigation measures flooding could occur impacting negatively on all elements of 
sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for 300 dwellings and community facilities.  

 

Page 505



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA014 Site Address:  Land at Regency Park Hotel, Tull Way, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 42 dwellings (1.4ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues:  
- Relationship to settlement  
- Development should not take place in isolation of THA011 and THA027 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on 
cars.  
 
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but 
there is concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the 
Thatcham Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is 
traditional agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities. 
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A N 
Site should not be developed in isolation of 
THA011 and THA027 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 
N 

Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  Y Within the curtilage of a hotel 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N Y  

Critical Drainage Area A Adjacent to Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site 

Public Transport network Y U 

There is a rail station in Thatcham but this is 
some distance from the site. 
 
Closest bus stop is on Westfield Road which is 
served by a number of services. 
No bus services run past the site. The closest 
stop is on Billington Lane (service 101 
infrequent). 

Footways/Pavements U Y 
There are no pavements or footways that 
surround the site, however there are pavements 
on southern side of Bowling Green Road 

Landscape Located in AONB N  

Spatial Area Newbury & Thatcham  Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 506



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N 
Low/m Medium landscape sensitivity  (Thatcham 
Landscape Sensitivity Study, 2009) 

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Henwick Worthy and Humber Close 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey required  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A N 

The site on its own is poorly related to Thatcham. 
The site would need to be considered as part of a 
wider development scheme in conjunction with 
THA011 and THA027.Adjacent 

Incompatible Adjacent Lane use N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y Desk based assessment required  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N 
The railway station is located at the other side of 
Thatcham. Approximately 2.5km as the crow flies 
or 3.5km by road 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA011 and THA027  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 507



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA014 Site Address: Land at Regency Park Hotel Development Potential:  42 dwellings (1.4ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is adjacent to the Regency 
Park Hotel which has sports facilities 
(private members only). There are 
further facilities in Thatcham.  
 
The site offers access to the 
countryside 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? + 

The site is close to facilities at 
Henwick Worthy Sports Ground and 
Regency Park Hotel (private 
members only). Public facilities are 
available at Kennet Leisure Centre.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There will be no Unlikely to have an 
impact on green infrastructure  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities and accessible to a number 
of employment sites and education 
facilties 

 

Thatcham’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
The site is close to some 
local services and facilties, 
as well accessible to 
employment areas. 
However, it is likely that 
many of these areas will be 
accessed via car.  
Ddevelopment of the site 
could is likely to have a 
positive impact onthe 
district’s economic 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 508



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.  There is a rail 
station in Thatcham although it is 
some distance from the site. A 
number of bus services are 
available, although they do not pass 
the site. The nearest bus stop is on 
Westfield Road. 
 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. However, it 
should be noted that public 
transport options are limited 
and car dependency is 
likely to be high. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

?0 
There are no known biodiversity or 
geodiverity assets on the site 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
required 

There is potential for 
development to have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
if developed in isolation and 
without mitigation 
measures as set out within 
the LCA (2015) 
 
depending on the outcome 
of the Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey. Mitigation 
measures may be required 
to reduce the impact.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 - 

The site is fairly well contained by 
mature tress and planting so the 
impact of development upon the 
character of the environment is likely 
to be reduced. 
 
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2015) recommended 
that development of the site would 
not result in harm to the natural 
beauty and special qualities of the 

The LCA (2015) outlined that 
the following requirements 
would be necessary to 
conserve and enhance the 
AONB: 

- The potential 
development area 
would be below the 
95m AOD contour line 
as shown in the LCA. 

- Retention of the tree 

P
age 509



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

AONB. The site could be considered 
further in conjunction with THA011 
and THA027, subject to a series of 
mitigation measures. 
 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane. 
 
The site is self contained so 
development would not impact upon 
the character of the environment 

cover and 
incorporation into an 
area of GI in the north 
of the site 

- Reinforcement of 
existing tree line along 
Bowling Green Road, 
eastern and northern 
boundaries. 

- GI to break up built 
form 

-  Preferred access 
from within the 
southern part of the 
hotel grounds or if 
THA011 is developed, 
from the western 
portion of the potential 
developable area as 
shown in the LCA. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this area. The site is poorly related to 
the existing built form, separated by 
the road and part of THA011 and 
THA027. 
 
Development would lead to a change 
in the character of the built 
environment. 
 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane. 
because this area is outside of the 
built area of Thatcham. 

Mitigation measures as set out 
in the LCA (2015). 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) will 
be required.  

Development could have 
an negative impact on the 
character of the built 
environment in this area.  
 
Further assessment is 
required on any potential 
heritage assets on the site 

P
age 510



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There is the potential for archaeology 
on the site.  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

+ 

The site is within the curtilage of 
developed land (a hotel) and is 
therefore classed as previously 
developed land 

 

Because the site is 
previously developed, the 
site is environmentally 
sustainableThe sites 
classification as PDL would 
have a positive impact on 
environmental sustainability 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy..  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of travel, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 0 

The site is within a surface water 
flood risk area and is identified in the 
Surface Water Management Plan. 
The site is also within a critical 
drainage area.  at low risk of flooding 

SUDs would be required.  
A FRA and appropriate 
mitigation measures would be 
required, including SUDs.  

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  
Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures should 

P
age 511



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

reduce this impact. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and facilities, it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing settlement. This has the potential to 
have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability. There are opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public transport options are available these are limited and it is 
likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
The site is well located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have 
a positive impact on sustainability.  
 
The site is brownfield land which will have a positive impact on environmental sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site and the impact on the character of both landscape and 
the built environment.  

P
age 512



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

There are a number of unknown impacts, relating to the impact on ecology and archaeology. Impacts on ecology and subsequent environmental sustainability should be able to be 
mitigated against with appropriate buffers and wildlife protections. 
 
Development of the site would alter the character of the built environment as development would be taking place on the opposite side of the road to existing residential development. 
This could have a negative impact on sustainability. The site is within a surface water flood area, surface water runoff caused significant flooding in Thatcham in 2007, and therefore, 
there is a possibility that without appropriate mitigation measures flooding could occur impacting negatively on all elements of sustainability.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 513



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA014 Site Address: 
Land at Regency Park 
Hotel, Tull Way 

Development 
Potential:  

42 dwellings  
(1.4ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation. 
 
Conserving and enhancing the distinctive landscape character of the AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. The Council has therefore ensured that sites within or within the 
setting of the AONB have been subject to a Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is 
a consistent assessment carried out by the Council’s landscape consultant to determine whether a site 
could be developed without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. The LCA 
has recommended that this site is not developed in isolation but as part of a larger scheme in conjunction 
with THA011 and THA027, creating a large scale development to the north of Thatcham.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the Core Strategy is to ensure that development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and enhancement of the local distinctive character and identity of the built, historic 
and natural environment across the District. The Core Strategy notes that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the way in which few have coalesced in recent times and so the blurring of 
the physical distinction between places has largely been avoided.   
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Bowling Green Road, for a large scale development 
is not acceptable at this stage and would be contrary to the Core Strategy. It would lead to the perception of 
merging Cold Ash and Thatcham and would have adverse impact on the settlement pattern.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this area as a 
whole as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
The site is separated from the existing settlement pattern by Tull Way and is some distance from the centre 
of Thatcham. The site is at risk from flooding.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Thatcham, separated from the existing settlement by Tull Way/Bowling 
Green Road. The site is some distance from the centre of Thatcham and public transport options are 
limited.  
 
Landscape:  
The site sits within the Ashmore Green and Lower Cold Ash Plateau Edge (LLCA14A) as identified by the 
Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009). This is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity, 
characterised by a mix of small and complex field pattern and modern linear settlement. There are good 
landscape links with the adjacent parts of the escarpment and there is a well defined edge to 
Thatcham.The site is in an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity, although rural in character.  
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) recommended that development of the site would not result in 
harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. However, the site could be considered further 
in conjunction with THA011 and THA027, subject to a series of mitigation measures. 
 
Development of this site is dependent on a wider scheme to include THA011 and THA027. Development in 
isolation of surrounding sites in accordance with the LCA, would result in unacceptable level of expansion 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 514



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

of Thatcham north and the well defined settlement boundary along Bowling Green Road and Heath Lane. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. A FRA would be required to take account of surrounding surface water 
flooding. Thatcham suffered from significant flooding in July 2007.  
 although it is also in an area of surface water flood risk and a critical drainage area is identified in the 
Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan as having overland flow paths. A FRA would be required and 
appropriate mitigation measures, including SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments made on this site.  
 
Public transport options past the site are limited. There are opportunities for walking and cycling.  
 
Ecology: 
No known ecological issues, although an extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected an extended 
phase 1 habitat survey would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is in an area of high archaeological potential. Further investigation required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity, and is local secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on cars.  
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but there is 
concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
 
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the Thatcham 
Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is traditional 
agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities. 
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
1 response was received regarding this site. 

 General comments 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 

Page 515



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and facilities, it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham 
and relates poorly to the existing settlement. This has the potential to have a negative impact upon 
environmental sustainability. There are opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public transport 
options are available these are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
 
The site is brownfield land which will have a positive impact on environmental sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield 
nature of the site and the impact on the character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and there are no significant sustainability 
effects. The site is well located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from 
the centre of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  
 
There are a number of unknown impacts, relating to the impact on ecology and archaeology. Impacts on 
ecology and subsequent environmental sustainability should be able to be mitigated against with 
appropriate buffers and wildlife protections. 
 
Development of the site would alter the character of the built environment as development would be taking 
place on the opposite side of the road to existing residential development. This could have a negative 
impact on sustainability. The site is within a surface water flood area, surface water runoff caused 
significant flooding in Thatcham in 2007, and therefore, there is a possibility that without appropriate 
mitigation measures flooding could occur impacting negatively on all elements of sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for 70 dwellings.  
 

 
 
 

Page 516



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 

 

Site ID: THA016 Site Address:  
Land to the north of Ashmore Green, Ashmore Green, 
Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 42 dwellings (1.4ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues:  
- Recommended within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable 
- Relationship to settlement (not adjacent to Thatcham settlement boundary) 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The parish councils (Thatcham and Cold Ash) agree with the Council’s assessment of this site. The 
site is on high gradient and development would destroy the Ashmore Green Area. Surface and 
groundwater flooding are an issue, and runoff from the hills to the north of Thatcham lead to flooding 
in 2007. Some flood alleviation works (balancing ponds) are going on, but this is to cope with the 
existing problem not future issues. Sewage systems would need to be upgraded. Traffic along Heath 
Lane and the surrounding roads is bad and much of the road network cannot take more traffic. 
Visually development of these sites would detract from the entrance into and out of Thatcham.   
 
The Thatcham vision refresh consultation indicates that residents would like to keep the gap between 
settlements. There is a fear amongst local resident that should one site go for housing it will set a 
precedent for further development in the future further outside Thatcham. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Poor relationship  to Thatcham. 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Not adjacent to Thatcham settlement boundary.  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 
 

Spatial Area Newbury & Thatcham  Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 517



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA019 Site Address:  
Land at Little Copse, off Cold Ash Hill and Lawrences Lane, 
Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 

72 dwellings (2.4ha at 30dph) 
 
A new proposal was submitted for 25 
dwellings (approx. 1.4ha) at Preferred 
Options stage 

SHLAA Assessment: 
Potentially developable 
 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- Surface Water flow runs across the site and a Critical Drainage Area is adjacent to the site. 
- Adjacent to Local Wildlife Site / Ancient Semi Natural woodland 
- Poorly related to the existing settlementPart of site required for flood alleviation as part of the Thatcham surface water 

management plan.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Comments made by both Cold Ash parish council and Thatcham town council.  
Concern over the impact on Little Copse ancient woodland. There is potential for dormice and newts 
on the site. Access to the site is also a concern.  
The site offers good visual amenity to area south of the site, development would affect the gateway to 
Thatcham.  
Development would be likely to increase the risk of flooding in north Thatcham.  
Advise that Northfield Road sewer is at capacity and has had historical discharge events.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 
N 

Adjacent to the settlement boundary.  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y SPotential surface water flows across the site 

Critical Drainage Area A N Adjacent to Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U 

Suitable visibility splays would need to be 
obtained from Cold Ash Hill. Concern over an 
access onto Lawrences Lane given its rural 
nature 

Highway network suitability U No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network Y U 

Thatcham is served by a rail station (2.5km as the 
crow flies or 3.7km along road) 
 
There is bus stop close to the site on Cold Ash 
Hill which is served by service 101 (infrequent 
service).There are also bus stops along Floral 
Way to the south of the site.  

Footways/Pavements A Pavement on the eastern side of Cold Ash Hill. 

Spatial Area Newbury & Thatcham  Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 518



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

There are no footways or pavements on 
Lawrences Lane 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N 
Site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity 
(Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study, 2009) 

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
The closest amenity space to the site is located 
on the junction of Foxglove Way and Floral Way 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
The closest play area to the site is off Elliot Close, 
south of the site 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site A Local Wildlife Site is located adjacent to the site.  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement NU 
Despite being adjacent to the settlement 
boundary, the site is not well related to the 
existing settlement.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y Further investigations required 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  
The railway station lies at the other side of 
Thatcham. 2.5km as the crow flies, or 3.7km 
along road 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA011, THA037(separated from 
the site by Cold Ash Hill) 

THA011 is separated from the site by Cold Ash Hill 
 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Part of the site is required for flood alleviation work as a result of the Thatcham Surface Water 
Management Plan. Smaller site area submitted at Preferred Options consultation stage to reflect 
concerns raised in site assessments, and the implementation of the flood alleviation works on part of the 
site. These proposals have been taken into account in updating the site assessments.  

 
  

Page 519



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA019 

Site Address:  
Land at Little Copse, off Cold Ash Hill and Lawrences 
Lane 

Development Potential:  

72 dwellings (2.4ha at 30 dph) 
A new proposal was submitted for 
25 dwellings (approx. 1.4ha) at 
Preferred Options stage 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is close to the Regency Park 
Hotel which has sports facilities 
(private members only). There are 
further facilities in Thatcham. The 
site is close to the open countryside 
 
The site offers access to the 
countryside 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? + 

The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet School and Regency Park 
Hotel (private members only) Public 
facilities are available at Kennet 
Leisure Centre.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There will be noUnlikely to have an 
impact on green infrastructure  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services(employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities and accessible to a number 
of employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

Thatcham’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. The site is 
close to local services and 
facilities, as well as 
employment areas, 
however it is likely that 
many of these will be 
accessed by car. 
Therefore, dDevelopment 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 520



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

of the site could is likely to 
have a positive impact on 
the district’seconomic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 0 

There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.  There is a rail 
station in Thatcham although this is 
some distance from the site. and aA 
number of bus services, although 
they do not pass the site pass the 
entrance to the site along Cold Ash 
Hill. The same bus also travels along 
Floral Way, south of the site. 
Although alternative transport modes 
are available there is likely to be a 
high level of car dependency. 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. However 
public transport options are 
limited and car dependency 
is likely to be high, resulting 
in an overall neutral effect 
on sustainability 
Development of the site will 
have a positive impact 
upon sustainability 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
Increased traffic in Thatcham from 
development on the site could have 
an impact on Road Safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? - 

There is a Local Wildlife Site and 
ancient semi natural woodland 
adjacentthe site to the site, and any 
development on the site may have a 
negative impact upon the 
environmental sustainability 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 
 
Buffers would be required 
(10m).  

The impact of development 
on biodiversity is unknown, 
is likely to have a negative 
effect on sustainability, 
however mitigation 
measures, such as the 
inclusion of buffers, will 
help to reduce any potential 
impacts.  
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0- 

The site is within an area of medium 
landscape sensitivity. The 
surrounding area is rural in nature.  
Development of this site would 
expand Thatcham towards Cold Ash, 
encroaching upon the existing green 
space and impacting on the identity 
of the two settlements.  

A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required. 

P
age 521



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

The site is poorly related to the 
existing settlement and 
Ddevelopment on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this area, expanding the built form 
further up the hill towards Cold 
Ash.because this area is outside of 
the built area of Thatcham. 

 

Development could have a 
negative impact on the 
character of the built 
environment in this area.  
 
Further assessment is 
required on any potential 
heritage assets on the site 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
Part of site is identified as high HLC 
sensitivity 

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk form, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport,  
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 522



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

Part of tThe site is at risk from 
surface water flooding and the site is 
adjacent to a Critical Drainage 
Areaand also forms part of a flood 
alleviation scheme.  

A FRA and appropriate 
mitigation, including SUDs 
would be required. 
Development would not be 
appropriate on the area of land 
required for the flood alleviation 
scheme.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures should 
reduce this impact. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
 
Whilst tThe site iswell located for access  close to some local services and facilities, although  it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing 
settlement. This has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental and social sustainability. There arewith opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public 
transport options are available these are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
 
The impact of development upon ecology is unknown, however appropriate mitigation, including buffers, would be needed on the site to ensure any potential impact is reduced.  
 

P
age 523



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Development of the site would have a negative impact on both the landscape character and the character of the built environment. There would also be an impact on the identity of 
settlements as development would expand Thatcham to the north, encroaching upon Cold Ash. Development is likely to negatively impact on the environmental sustainability as the 
site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. 
The site is poorly related to the existing settlement pattern of Thatcham, and this has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability.  
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. Part of the site is required as part of the 
Thatcham flood alleviation works, meaning development on this part of the site would not be appropriate. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the 
impact on sustainability.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 524



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA019 Site Address: 

 
 
Land at Little Copse, off 
Cold Ash Hill and 
Lawrences Lane 

Development 
Potential:  

72 dwellings  
(2.4ha at 30dph) 
 
A new proposal was 
submitted for 25 
dwellings (approx. 
1.4ha) at Preferred 
Options stage 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Half of the site is required for flood alleviation works as part of the Thatcham flood alleviation scheme. The 
site, although close to some local services and facilities, is poorly related to the existing settlement and 
would result in the encroachment of development towards Cold Ash. 
 
One of the strategic objectives of the Core Strategy is to ensure that development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and enhancement of the local distinctive character and identity of the built, historic 
and natural environment across the District. The Core Strategy notes that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the way in which few have coalesced in recent times and so the blurring of 
the physical distinction between places has largely been avoided.  The development of this site would lead 
to the perception of a merging of the two settlements and would therefore have an adverse impact on the 
settlement pattern.  
 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally.  
 
In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will not accommodate large scale development at this 
stage and, although this site is not large scale, it is considered that there are other sites within the town 
which are more suitable for allocation.  
The remainder of the site is poorly related to the existing settlement pattern of Thatcham. Flood risk on the 
site is high.  
Only a small amount of development is required in Thatcham under the Core Strategy framework, other 
sites within the town are considered more appropriate for development.  

 
Discussion: 
 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Thatcham and sits to the east of Little Copse.  
The site is some distance from the centre of Thatcham and public transport options are limited.  
 
Landscape:  
The site sits within the Colthrop Manor Plateau Edge (LLCA14F) as identified within the Thatcham 
Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009). This is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity, and is rural in 
character.  characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland, and undulating escarpment 
slopes. Settlement in the area is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham and a rural 
transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1, although it is within a surface water flood risk area and adjacent to a Critical 
Drainage Area. An ordinary water course runs across the site. Part of the site is required for the Thatcham 
flood alleviation work as part of the Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan.  
 

Spatial 
Area: 

Newbury & 
Thatcham 

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 525



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

A FRA and appropriate mitigation, including SUDs would be required.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site from the Highways Department.  
 
There are concerns over access to the site as an access road would need to pass through the area of the 
site being used for the flood alleviation works.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to ancient semi-natural woodland and a Local Wildlife Site. Appropriate buffers would 
be required (10m).  
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 
Archaeology: 
The site is within a HLC sensitivity area. Further investigation would be required 
 
Education: 
Primary school provision in the area is at capacity, as is secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3 
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
Comments made by both Cold Ash parish council and Thatcham town council.  
Concern over the impact on Little Copse ancient woodland. There is potential for dormice and newts on the 
site. Access to the site is also a concern.  
The site offers good visual amenity to area south of the site, development would affect the gateway to 
Thatcham.  
Development would be likely to increase the risk of flooding in north Thatcham. 
Advise that Northfield Road sewer is at capacity and has had historical discharge events. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Two responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 Flood Risk 

 Distance from centre 

 Character/Landscape sensitivity 

 Ecology 

 Access 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation key issues: 
 
One response received regarding this site from the site promoter. The following new point was raised: 
 

 Landscape character. 
 

Page 526



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The Council’s response to the issue raised is included within Appendix KK of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and facilities, it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham 
and relates poorly to the existing settlement. This has the potential to have a negative impact upon 
environmental and social sustainability. There are opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public 
transport options are available these are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
Development of the site would have a negative impact on both the landscape character and the character 
of the built environment. There would also be an impact on the identity of settlements as development 
would expand Thatcham to the north, encroaching upon Cold Ash. Development is likely to negatively 
impact on the environmental sustainability as the site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. 
  
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability.  
The SA/SEA gives a predominantly neutral impact, with no significant sustainability effects. The site is well 
located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre of Thatcham, 
with opportunities for walking and cycling,  
 
Appropriate mitigation, including buffers would be needed on the site to ensure there was not a negative 
impact on ecology and environmental sustainability.  
 
The site is poorly related to the existing settlement pattern of Thatcham, and this could have a negative impact on 

sustainability.  Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. Part of 
the site is required as part of the Thatcham flood alleviation works, meaning development on this part of the 
site would not be appropriate. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the 
impact on sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted for this site.New development site and proposed layout plan (25 
dwellings) submitted at Preferred Options consultation. It is proposed to have a primary access run along 
the north of the new compensation pond leading to built development to the east of Little Copse. It is 
proposed to have a secondary access onto Lawrences Lane. These proposals have been taken into 
account in updating the site assessments. 
 

 
 
 

Page 527



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA024 Site Address:  Land at Harts Hill Farm, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 138 252 dwellings (8.4ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- Scale of development is contrary to the  principles within the Core Strategy 
- Surface water flood risk (highlighted in the Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan) – surface water flow  runs through the 

site as well as two water courses. 
- Right of way crosses the site  
- Site is separated from the existing building line by Floral Way  

- Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site and ancient woodland 
- Great Crested Newts on the site – Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey required 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

No comments on the site 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

U Under the Core Strategy, Thatcham is due a 
period of consolidation. Development of this site 
would be out of keeping with this principle. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y 

Two water courses flow through the site as does 
an overland/surface water flow route (identified in 
the Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan). 
A pond is also located within the site.  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N Site can be accessed via Floral Way 

Highway network suitability U No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network U 

Thatcham rail station is just under 2 miles from the 
centre of the site. 
 
There is a bus stop close to site on Harts Hill 
Road which is served by service 101 (infrequent 
service). Bus stops served by a frequent service 
(number 1) are approximately 800m (as the crow 
flies) or around a mile away by road.  

Footways/Pavements NY Pavement along Floral Way 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N In area of medium landscape sensitivity.  

Other N  

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 528



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
Amenity greenspace adjacent site on Floral Way. 
There is a sports field adjacent 

Rights of Way affected Y 
A Public Right of Way (footpath) crosses the site 
and runs adjacent to the southern part of the site 

Play areas nearby Y Adjacent site on Floral Way 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species Y 
Great Crested Newts and Bats. Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey required  

Ancient woodland A N Ancient woodland is located adjacent to the site 

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site A Adjacent the south western boundary of the site 

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) A N BOA adjacent to the site 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N U 
Adjacent. Floral Way separates the site from 
existing residential development.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N 
Site is located to the north of Thatcham, adjacent 
to a small area of residential development, but 
separated from Thatcham by Floral Way.  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 

Site has numerous archaeological finds on site 
and in close proximity, significant evidence for 
prehistoric and RB activity. High potential here. A 
desk based assessment should a first step in 
assessing potential.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 
Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

 Water Supply N 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability 

 Wastewater N 
TW have concern regarding wastewater capability 
 

 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA020 THA028  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 
The site slopes upwards from south to north.  

 
  

Page 529



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA024 
Site Address: Land at Hart’s Hill Farm, Thatcham 

Development Potential:  
138 (4.6ha at 30 dph) 252 
dwellings (8.4ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is close to the Regency Park 
Hotel which has sports facilities 
(private members only). There are 
further facilities in Thatcham. The 
site is close to the open countryside 
 
The site offers access to the 
countryside 

 

The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet leisure centre and the 
Regency Park Hotel 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 
A public right of way crosses the site 
and runs adjacent to the southern 
part of the site 

The public right of way will 
need protecting should the site 
be developed 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities.Site close to local facilities 
and services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Thatcham’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There are a number of public 
transport options, including a 
frequent bus route that runs along 
the A4, which is to the south of the 
site. 
 
Thatcham station is approximately 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling. The site also has 
good access to public 
transport.and therefore 
Development of the site 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

P
age 530



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2.5-3km form the site.  
 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.  There are a 
number of opportunities for walking 
and cycling to local services and 
facilities.  There is a rail station in 
Thatcham and a number of bus 
services, although they do not pass 
the site. 

would have a positive 
impact on environmental 
and social sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
Increased traffic in Thatcham from 
development on the site could have 
an impact on Road Safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

- 

Part of the western boundary of the 
site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife 
Site and ancient woodland. 
 
Great Crested Newts and Bbats are 
present on the site.  

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
Buffers would be required from 
the woodland and Local 
Wildlife Site. 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey required. Appropriate 
mitigation may be required 

There is potential for 
development to have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures would help to 
reduce this impact. 
Appropriate mitigation 
measures could reduce the 
impact 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 - 

The site is in an area of medium 
landscape sensitivity.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required.  

P
age 531



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

area and the AONB. 
 
It is considered the scale of the 
proposed development would have a 
negative impact on the landscape 
character 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this areabecause this area is outside 
of the built area of Thatcham. Floral 
Way is a defining feature, acting as a 
boundary between the built up area 
and the countryside. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB.  
 
It is considered the scale of the 
proposed development would have a 
negative impact on the built 
environment. 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
would be required. 

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability by changing 
the character of the built 
environment in this area. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There is high potential for finds on 
the site.  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

P
age 532



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and promotion 
of alternative modes of 
transport development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

The site is at risk from surface water 
flooding. Two water courses flow 
through the site in addition to an 
overland flow route (as identified in 
the Thatcham Surface Water 
Management Plan). A pond is also 
located within the site.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
A FRA and SUDs would be 
required 

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures should 
reduce this impact. 
Surface water flooding 
could be an issue on the 
site, but with appropriate 
SuDS this could be 
mitigated meaning the site 
should not have an impact 
on any aspects of 
sustainability. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 

 

P
age 533



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have 
a positive impact on sustainability. The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services and facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and 
social sustainability. 
 
There are protected species on the site, and without appropriate mitigation there would be negative impact on sustainability. Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the 
environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on the character of both landscape and the built 
environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability.  
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 534



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA024 Site Address: 

 
Land at Hart’s Hill Farm, 
Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

138 dwellings 
(4.6ha at 
30dph)252 
dwellings (8.4ha at 
30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Floral Way is not acceptable at this stage and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy. The Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The area is 
characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this area as a 
whole as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
The Core Strategy sets out that Thatcham only needs a small amount of development over the plan period. 
The potential on this site is much larger than required, and there are other smaller sites that are considered 
more suited to development at this stage. 
 
Development on this site of Floral Way would change the character of the built environment, by moving a 
significant amount of residential development to the north east of Floral Way.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north east of Thatcham, separated from the existing residential development by 
Floral Way. There is a small residential development to the south east of the site. The site is quite close to 
local services and facilities, and the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity, and is rural in character. The Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (2009) outlines that the area provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing 
an important setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The 
area is characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment 
slopes. Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1, but at risk from surface water flooding. Two water courses flow through the site, 
which has been identified as an overland flow route in the Thatcham Surface Water Management Plan. A 
FRA would be required and SuDS would need to be provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  

Spatial Area: Newbury 
&Thatcham 

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 535



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The site is close to a number of public transport options, with a bus service running past the site and a 
regular service running along the A4 to the south of the site. Thatcham also has a railway station which is 
approximately 2.5 - 3km from the site.  
There are limited public transport options passing the site, but several buses pass along the A4, and there 
is a railway station to the south east of Thatcham.  
 
Ecology: 
There are great crested newts and bats on the site and the western boundary of the site is adjacent to a 
Local Wildlife Site. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. In addition buffers will be 
required from the ancient woodland and Local Wildlife Site 
An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Assessment would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site has high archaeological potential with evidence of prehistoric and RB activity. Potential to be a 
significant constraint. Further investigation will be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary and secondary school provision is at capacity.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
No comments were made on this site.  
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Two responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 SA/SEA 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre 
of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on 

Page 536



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

sustainability. The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services and 
facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability. 
 
There are protected species on the site, and without appropriate mitigation there would be negative impact 
on sustainability. Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due 
to the greenfield nature of the site, the impact on biodiversity and geodiversity and the impact on the 
character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability. 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well located for access to local services and facilities, although is some distance from the centre 
of Thatcham, with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  
 
There are protected species on the site, and without appropriate mitigation there would be negative impact 
on sustainability. Development would change the character of the built environment in this part of 
Thatcham, with a potential negative impact on social and environmental sustainability.  The site is at risk 
from surface water flooding, with two water courses flowing through the site. Without flood mitigation and 
SuDS there is potential for a negative impact on all elements of sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for between 150 and 200 dwellings.  

 
 
 

Page 537



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA025 Site Address:  Land at Lower Way, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 
Approximately 857 dwellings (2.9ha at 
30dph) 

SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield  
- Proximity to Local Nature Reserve  
- Proximity to Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain Special Area of Conservation – HRA screening required 
- Proximity to Thatcham Reedbeds Site of Special Scientific Interest 
- Potential contamination – further investigations required 
- Archaeological potential – further investigations required 
- Two foul sewers underneath the site 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

At the SHLAA consultation event held on 5 February 2014, Thatcham Town Council commented that  A 
site to be considered further. the site is within the Thatcham Moors Nature Reserve. The site does seem 
like a logical place for development.  
 
At preferred options the parish council responded that it is not accepted that the proposal to release this 
significant and sensitive area to accommodate what is likely to be more than 87 dwellings has been 
properly assessed. Identification of the site is not sound and should be withdrawn.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N Close proximity to SSSI 

SAC N Close proximity to SAC. HRA screening required. 

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk A Y 

A small area on the southern part of the site is 
susceptible to surface water flooding. A Flood Risk 
Assessment will be required at the planning 
application stage if the site is allocated. SUDS 
and/or appropriate mitigation measures would 
need to be provided. 

Critical Drainage Area A Critical Drainage Area adjacent to the site 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N 
Close to sewage treatment works. An odour 
impact assessment would be required given 
proximity to the sewage treatment works. 

Contaminated Land U 

The site is close to a previous land fill site 
Opposite 53 Lower Way there is suspected 
contamination. There is also suspected 
contamination on land north of the Thatcham 
Discovery Centre. Contamination assessment 
required at the planning application stage if the 
site is allocated.  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues N Appropriate sight lines can be obtained on to 

Spatial Area: Newbury & Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 538



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Lower Way.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Development is likely to generate approximately 
522 daily vehicle movements, including about 52 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. The impact is 
expected to be limited as traffic is likely to 
distribute equally east and west to and from the 
site. A Transport Assessment would be required at 
the planning application stage if the site is 
allocated.  

Public Transport network Y 
Thatcham is served by regular bus services. And 
tThere is a railway station to the south east of the 
town, although this is some distance from the site.   

Footways/Pavements Y Along Lower Way 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Within an area of medium landscape sensitivity.  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
There is amenity space to the south of the site and 
a sports field to the east of the site 

Rights of Way affected A 
A public Right of Way (footpath) runs along the 
western and eastern boundary of the site. Two, 
recently designated rights of way cross the site.  

Play areas nearby Y There is a play area close to the site to the south 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site Y N 
Local Wildlife Site is in close proximity – to south 
east of site 

Nature Reserve Y N 

Part of the site falls within the Thatcham Moors 
Nature Reserve. The site does not contain any 
protected species related to the nature reserve 
Local Nature Reserve is in close proximity – to 
south west of site. 

Other (eg. BOA) A 

A Biodiversity Opportunity Area is adjacent to the 
site. The site is in close proximity to the Kennet 
and Lambourn Floodplain Special Area of 
Conservation, and Thatcham Reedbeds Site of 
Special Scientific Interest. A HRA screening will 
be required. Part of the site is adjacent to the area 
covered by the West Berkshire Living Landscape 
project. Development on the site will not adversely 
affect the adjacent SSSI and SAC to the south of 
the site. 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses  U 
Site is close to Discovery Centre and sewage 
treatment works 

Heritage  

Archaeology N U 

The site has been identified as having 
archaeological potential. A full archaeological desk 
based assessment would be required at the 
planning application stage, with mitigation 
strategies identified if required.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N Y 

There are a number of sewers on the site, and of 
concern to Thames Water are the two foul sewers 
which cross the site from east to west. These will 
need diverting if the need arose or easements will 
need to be held around them. 

Water Supply Y N 
Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns regarding water supply 
 

Wastewater N Y 

Thames Water has concerns regarding 
wastewater capability. An integrated strategy for 
water and wastewater would be required at 
planning application stage if the site is allocated. 
An odour impact assessment would be required 
given proximity to the sewage treatment works. 
Development will need to connect to the mains 
sewerage system. 

Groundwater source protection Y SPZ3. Historic landfill site adjacent. Investigation 

Page 539



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

zone (SPZ) would be required. The Environment Agency has 
no principle objections to development within 
SPZs.   

HSE Hazard AWE 
Consultation Zone 

Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N Approx. 1.5-2miles from the site 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area UN  

Mineral consultation area NY  

Minerals/Waste site A 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. 
Consideration of Ppolicyies 1 &and  2 of the 
Replacement LMinerals Local Plan relevantquired.  

Other N/A  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites:  
 N/A 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 540



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA025 
Site Address: Land at Lower Way, Thatcham 

Development Potential:  
Approximately 875 (2.9ha at 30 
dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is within walking and cycling 
distance of close to services and 
facilities within Thatcham. and offers 
access to the countryside. 
 
The site is well placed for access to 
the countryside. 

 
The site’s location to the 
south of Thatcham gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 

The site is close within walking and 
cycling distance of to facilities at 
Henwick Worthy Sports Ground and 
Kennet Leisure Centre  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 

There is a Public Right of Way 
adjacent the western and eastern 
boundary of the site. The site is close 
to local amenity space.  

The right of way would need to 
be protected.  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Thatcham. In addition, 
there is, as well giving easy 
access to the strategic road 
network and public 
transport opportunities.  
This means that 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 

+ 
The site is located within Thatcham. 
There are a number of public 
transport options, including a train 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

P
age 541



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

cycling and public 
transport? 

station and a frequent bus route that 
runs along the A4, which is close to 
the site.  It should be noted that the 
train station is some distance from 
the site. 
 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling (a cycle lane 
runs past the site) to local services 
and facilities.   

cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

Road safety improvements 
would be considered as part of 
a site transport assessment or 
statement at the planning 
application stage. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

- 

The site falls within Thatcham Moors 
Nature Reserve, however the site 
does not contain any protected 
species related to the nature reserve 
 
The south western boundary of the 
site is located in close proximity to a 
Local Nature Reserve, the Thatcham 
Reedbeds Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), and the Kennet and 
Lambourn Floodplain Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) (approx. 600-
700m from the site). In addition, part 
of the site is adjacent to the area 
covered by the West Berkshire Living 
Landscape Project. 
 
 

Owner also owns the meadows 
next to Thatcham Reedbeds 
SSSI – years ago negotiated 
the development of this site in 
return for land adjacent to the 
SSSI and the River Kennet  
An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
Development on the site will 
not adversely affect the 
adjacent SSSI and SAC to the 
south of the site. Habitat 
Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) screening will need to 
be undertaken at the planning 
application stage. This 
requirement will be reflected in 
the policy supporting the 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
elements of sustainability. 
 
Development of the site is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 

P
age 542



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

allocation of the site. 
 
Development will be expected 
to support and make a positive 
contribution to the Living 
Landscape Project.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

 
 
 

0 - 

Unlikely to have an impact 
Development of the site has the 
potential to negatively impact on the 
landscape character. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) for Thatcham identified this 
site as being located within the 
Thatcham Lakes area – an important 
landscape buffer between Newbury 
and Thatcham, but is visually marred 
by some development on its edges. 
Thatcham Lakes is an important 
setting to the south of Thatcham and 
east of Newbury. The sharp contrast 
with the built form is of significant 
value. It provides an important open 
area which physically and visually 
separates Newbury from Thatcham 

Through careful design, 
development should conserve 
and enhance the landscape 
character of the surrounding 
area.  
 
 
A landscape visual impact 
assessment (LVIA) will need to 
be submitted alongside any 
planning application if the site 
is allocated. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 - 

Whilst the site is opposite residential 
development, constraints on the site 
limit the development capacity and 
could result in a poorly related 
scheme. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) for Thatcham identified this 
site as being located within the 
Thatcham Lakes area – an important 
landscape buffer between Newbury 
and Thatcham, but is visually marred 
by some development on its edges. 
Thatcham Lakes is an important 
setting to the south of Thatcham and 
east of Newbury. The sharp contrast 
with the built form is of significant 

Through careful design, 
development should conserve 
and enhance the character of 
the built environment of the 
surrounding area.  
 
A landscape visual impact 
assessment (LVIA) will need to 
be submitted alongside any 
planning application if the site 
is allocated. 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
elements of sustainability. 
 
Development of the site is 
likely to have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 

P
age 543



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

value. It provides an important open 
area which physically and visually 
separates Newbury from Thatcham. 
The site is adjacent to the built 
environment. Any development has 
the potential to enhance the built 
environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 ? 
Unlikely to have an impact The site 
has been identified as having 
archaeological potential 

A full archaeological desk 
based assessment would be 
required at the planning 
application stage, with 
mitigation strategies identified if 
required. 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

? 
The site is located close to sewage 
treatment works 

Consideration of appropriate 
mitigation measures required.  
 
 An odour impact assessment 
will be required. 

The impact of the nearby 
sewage treatment works on 
development is unknown; 
however mitigation 
measures, such as 
designing living spaces 
away from the sewage 
treatment works would help 
to reduce any impact.  
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in accordance 
with the contamination 
assessment 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact   

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 ? 

Unlikely to have an impact There is 
the potential for contamination as the 
site is located close to a 
contaminated site and sewage 
treatment works. 

Contamination assessment 
required at the planning 
application stage if the site is 
allocated. 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 

Unlikely to have an impact  
There is the potential for 
contamination as the site is located 
close to a contaminated site and 
sewage treatment works. 
 
The site falls within Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone 3.  

Contamination assessment 
required at the planning 
application stage if the site is 
allocated. 
 
The Environment Agency has 
no principle objections to 
development within SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 

- The site is greenfield land  
The site could have a 
negative impact on 

P
age 544



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and buildings? environmental sustainability 
as it is a Greenfield site. 
 
The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature 
of the site. The adopted 
Core Strategy Development 
(DPD) Plan Document is 
clear that for the district’s 
housing requirement to be 
met, development on 
greenfield sites on the edge 
of settlements is necessary. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans  to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy 
DPD.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 -  

A small area on the southern part of 
the site is susceptible to surface 
water flooding. There is no flood risk 
on the site, however tThere is an 
area of surface water flood risk 
adjacent to the site  
 

SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
 
If the site were to be allocated, 
then this would need to be 
accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA). This is in 
line with Core Strategy DPD 
policy CS16 (Flooding) which 
also requires the provision of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) in all new 
developments and/or 
appropriate mitigation 
measures. 

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  
 
A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding.  
Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability 
unless appropriate 
mitigation measures can be 
put in place. 
 
 

P
age 545



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities with a number of public transport options and opportunities for walking and cycling, which give 
result in a positive effect in terms of sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the site being greenfield, however the adopted Core Strategy DPD is clear that for the 
district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the edge of settlements is necessary.  
 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into place to reduce any potential negative impacts. 
 
Further potential negative impacts on environmental sustainability could occur due the proximity of the site to areas with ecological designations (SSSI, SAC and a Local Nature 
Reserve).  The site could also negatively impact upon the landscape character and the character of the built environment as the area provides an important open area which 
physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham (LSS, 2009). As long as appropriate mitigation measures are introduced then these negative impacts could be reduced 
and positive effects on sustainability will be delivered.  
 

P
age 546



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

The site is close to the sewage treatments works, and the impact that this would have on development is unknown, however appropriate mitigation measures will reduce any possible 
effects on social sustainability.   
 
The site is not at risk from flooding, which has a positive impact on sustainability; SuDS would be required to ensure that development did not have a negative impact on flooding 
elsewhere.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 547



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA025 Site Address: 
Land at Lower Way, 
Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

Approximately 875 
dwellings  
(2.9ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and 
provides an overall framework to guide development over the plan period. The Core Strategy DPD is clear 
that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town 
in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town 
centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the demands of the existing population. This will enable 
Thatcham to become more self-contained, encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In 
accordance with the Core Strategy DPD, Thatcham will not accommodate large scale development at this 
stage. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Thatcham (north of Floral Way and Bowling Green 
Road) is  not acceptable at this stage and would be contrary to the Core Strategy DPD. The Landscape 
Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the areas to the north of Thatcham provide an important setting to 
Thatcham and a rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. It is the Council’s preferred 
approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy DPD, to consider this area as a whole as part of a revised 
Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for. 
 
This site (THA025) to the south of Thatcham offers a site which is well related to the existing settlement 
and is of a scale appropriate to the level of growth required for the town. In addition, whilst the Landscape 
Sensitivity Study (2009) outlines that the site is in an important area (Thatcham Lakes) which physically 
and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham it is not considered that development on this site, given its 
particular location, would detract from the principle of maintaining the separate identity of the two 
settlements.  
 
Provided the necessary information and assessments are provided, along with the implementation of 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures, to ensure the legally protected habitats and species 
present in the Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) are not 
adversely affected, it is considered this site is suitable for allocation.  
 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities with public transport 

opportunities and walking and cycling routes into Thatcham Town Centre.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Thatcham, north of the Nature Discovery Centre. It is Cclose to Thatcham 
town centre and local services and facilities.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is identified as being within an area of medium landscape sensitivity, in the Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (LSS) (2009) for Thatcham. It identified this site as being located within the Thatcham Lakes area – 
an important landscape buffer between Newbury and Thatcham, but the area is visually marred by some 
development on its edges. Thatcham Lakes is an important setting to the south of Thatcham and east of 
Newbury. The sharp contrast with the built form is of significant value. It provides an important open area 
which physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham. Should development take place on this 
site a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) would be required.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1; however a small area on the southern part of the site is susceptible to surface 
water flooding. The site is close to a critical drainage area. although it is adjacent to an area of surface 
water flood risk. An ordinary water course runs through the site. An FRA would be required alongside the 
submission of any planning application. and appropriate SUDs provided. Sustainable Drainage Systems 

Spatial 
Area: 

Newbury & 
Thatcham  

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 548



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

and/or appropriate mitigation measures would be required as part of any development on the site. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic generated from the site is considered to have a limited impact on the highway network., however 
a Transport Assessment would be required at the planning application stage.   
 
There are good public transport opportunities close to the site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to the Thatcham Moors Nature Reserve and a SSSI, although this is not seen as an 
issue for deliverability of the site. Previously negotiation of additional land to be provided adjacent to the 
SSSI and River Kennet should this site be developed. Appropriate buffers would need to be provided.  
 
There is a Biodiversity Opportunity Area adjacent to the site. In addition, part of the site is adjacent to the area 

covered by the West Berkshire Living Landscape Project. Development will need to support and make a positive 
contribution to this Project.  
 
The site is in close proximity to a Local Nature Reserve, the Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SAC, and 
Thatcham Reedbeds SSSI. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to ensure any protected habitats and species were not adversely affected. 
 
Development on the site will not adversely affect the adjacent SSSI and SAC to the south of the site. 
Habitat Regulation Assessment screening will need to be undertaken at the planning application stage to 
ascertain the impact of development upon the SAC.  
 
Archaeology: 
Potential archaeology on the site. Further investigation required. A full archaeological desk based 
assessment would be required at the planning application stage, with mitigation strategies identified if 
required. 
 
Education: 
Primary and secondary school provision is at capacity. 
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air or noise issues. The site is located close to sewage treatment works. An odour impact 
assessment would be required.  
 
The site is close to a previous land fill site. Opposite 53 Lower Way there is suspected contamination, and 
there is also suspected contamination on land north of the Thatcham Nature Discovery Centre. A 
contamination assessment would be required as part of any planning application. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of policies 1 & and 2 of the RMLP 
Replacement Minerals Local Plan required. relevant. However, the site is near the edge of the deposit and 
there might be limited possibility for the option to use minerals on site as part of construction or prior 
extraction (depending on depth and deposit quality. 
 
There are no known waste issues nearby. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ3 groundwater source protection zone (SPZ)3. 
and The Environment Agency has no principle objections to development within SPZs.  The Environment 
Agency also advised that the site is close to a former landfill site. Investigation of potential contamination 
would be required.  
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 

Page 549



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development. An integrated strategy for water and wastewater would be required at planning 
application stage if the site is allocated which should cover flood risk, water quality and conservation.  The 
strategy would need to be clear how a solution would be delivered to any concerns identified as the 
development came forward. 
Development will need to connect to the mains sewerage system.  
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
There are a number of sewers on the site, and of concern to Thames Water are the two foul sewers which 
cross the site from east to west. These will need diverting if the need arose or easements will need to be 
held around them. 
 
Parish Council: 
At the SHLAA consultation event held on 5 February 2014, Thatcham Parish Council commented that the 
site is within the Thatcham Moors Nature Reserve. They also commented that it was A a site to be 
considered further. The site and does seem like logical place for development.  
 
At preferred options the parish council responded that it is not accepted that the proposal to release this 
significant and sensitive area to accommodate what is likely to be more than 87 dwellings has been 
properly assessed. Identification of the site is not sound and should be withdrawn. 
 
Preferred options consultation key issues: 
 

 General comments – impact on house prices, existing residents not considered, loss of views, 
overcrowding.  

 Consultation process – timing, complicated process to submit comments, 100m consultation zone 
insufficient, underhand process.  

 Contamination – refuse tip in part of field in 1950s.  

 Crime – increase in anti-social behaviour, recent closure of police station.  

 Density – excessive, more houses will be completed than stated. 

 Impact on ecology – proximity to SSSI, SAC and nature reserve; part of the nature reserve, impact 
on wildlife, site a buffer zone between existing residential development and the nature reserve.  

 Flood risk – history of flooding on the site, surface water flood risk, development will worsen 
flooding, FRA not carried out.   

 Heritage assets – archaeological potential on the site.  

 Highways and transport – increase in congestion, previous applications on Lower Way refused on 
access/road safety grounds, issue of speeding, increased road safety risk, limited car parking.  

 Walking – network of footpaths across the site. No public rights of way across the site. Site in 
private ownership. Application made to Council to record footpaths – not yet determined.  

 Infrastructure at capacity and could not support increased population – education, GP surgeries, 
sewage network.  Potential issues with primary provision. Thames Water has issues with 
wastewater network.  

 Sewage pipes underneath site.  

 Impact on landscape/setting – within AONB, sensitive landscape, one of Thatcham’s last rural 
areas, site forms clear boundary to settlement.  

 Loss of open/recreation space – site has accommodated car boot sales, fairs and circuses over the 
years.  

 Pollution – air and noise.  

 Principle of development – no need for additional housing, alternative sites (PDL, north Thatcham, 
vacant offices), precedent. 

 Settlement boundaries. 

 Site selection process – inconsistent as other sites ruled out for reasons that apply to this site, 
alternative sites not considered.  

 Statement of consultation – statements made at 2014 SHLAA consultation events questioned, eg. 
should Cold Ash Parish Council have commented about Thatcham sites, accuracy.  

 Sustainability.  
 
Proposed submission consultation key issues 
26 responses were received 
Majority as preferred options. New issues raised listed below: 

Page 550



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

 Lack of consideration of preferred options comments 

 Contrary to Core Strategy 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities with a number of 
public transport options and opportunities for walking and cycling, which give result in a positive effect in 
terms of sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the site being 
greenfield, however the adopted Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s 
housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the edge of settlements is necessary.  
 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures 
would need to be put into place to reduce any potential negative impacts. 
 
Further potential negative impacts on environmental sustainability could occur due the proximity of the site 
to areas with ecological designations (SSSI, SAC and a Local Nature Reserve).  The site could also 
negatively impact upon the landscape character and the character of the built environment as the area 
provides an important open area which physically and visually separates Newbury from Thatcham (LSS, 
2009). As long as appropriate mitigation measures are introduced then these negative impacts could be 
reduced and positive effects on sustainability will be delivered.  
 
The site is close to the sewage treatments works, and the impact that this would have on development is 
unknown, however appropriate mitigation measures will reduce any possible effects on social sustainability.   
 
The site is not at risk from flooding, which has a positive impact on sustainability; SuDS would be required 
to ensure that development did not have a negative impact on flooding elsewhere.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for residential development with an open space buffer to the countryside to the 
south.  

 
 
 

Page 551



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA027 Site Address:  The Creek, Heath Lane, Thatcham  

 

Development Potential: 41 dwellings (1.36ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Relationship to settlement  - not adjacent to settlement boundary.  The site is surrounded by site THA011.  
- Development should not take place in isolation of THA011 and THA014  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on 
cars.  
 
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but 
there is concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
 
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the 
Thatcham Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is 
traditional agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities. 
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A N 
Site should not be developed in isolation of 
THA011 and THA014 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Not adjacent to the settlement boundary.  

* Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N P Residential garden and dwelling 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N Site is effectively land locked by THA011. 

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network Y 

There is a railway station in Thatcham but this is 
some distance from the site (approx. 2.5km as the 
crow flies or 3.5km by road) 
 
Closest bus stop with active service is on 
Westfield Road. 
which is served by services 100, 101, 104 and 
105 (frequent but no Sunday service). 

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are no footways or pavements immediately 
next to the site, but there is a pavement on the 

Spatial Area: Newbury & Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 552



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

southern side of Heath Lane  

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N 
Site is in an area of low/medium 
landscapesensitivity (Thatcham Landscape 
Sensitivity Study, 2009) 

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 

There is amenity space close to the site off 
Humber Close and a sports field close on 
Sagecroft Road. Henwick Worthy is in close 
proximity. 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
There is a play area in close proximity to the site 
off Goldsmith Close and Elliot Close  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Potential for bats on the site. Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey required 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N 

The site on its own is poorly related to Thatcham. 
The site would need to be considered as part of a 
wider development scheme in conjunction with 
THA011 and THA014. , adjacent sites would need 
to be developed.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 

Sits within wider area of archaeological potential.  
Also late 19th century house and outbuildings. 
More information required Further investigations 
required. 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water  not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N 
The railway station is located at the other side of 
Thatcham (approx,  2.5km as the crow flies or 
3.5km by road 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA011, THA014  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 553



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA027 Site Address: The Creek, Heath Lane, Thatcham Development Potential:  41 dwellings (1.36ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site is close to the Regency Park 
Hotel which has sports facilities 
(private members only). There are 
further facilities in Thatcham. The 
site is close to the open countryside 
 
The site offers access to the 
countryside 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? + 

The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet Leisure Centre and Regency 
Park Hotel (private member only). 
The site is also close to facilities at 
Henwick Worthy Sports Ground 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There will be noUnlikely to have an 
impact on green infrastructure  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilitiesand accessible to a number 
of employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

Thatcham’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
The site is close to some 
local services and facilities, 
as well as being accessible 
to employment areas. 
However, most of these 
areas will be accessed via 
car. dDevelopment of the 
site could is likely to have a 
positive impact on the 
district’s economic 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 554



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.  There is a rail 
station in Thatcham although it is 
some distance from the site. and aA 
number of bus services are 
available, although they do not pass 
the site. The nearest bus stop is on 
Westfield Road. There is a rail 
station in Thatcham but this is some 
distance from the site. 
 
Bus services close to the site are 
infrequent. 
 
There are however a number of 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
to local services and facilities.   

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilitiesw 
which encourage walking or 
cycling, and therefore have 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability.  However 
public transport options are 
limited and car dependency 
is likely to be high. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
No identified issues on the site. 
Potential for bats.  

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affectedExtended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
required in addition to a bat 
survey 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
elements of sustainability 
There is potential for 
development to have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
if developed in isolation and 
without mitigation 
measures as set out within 
the LCA (2015). 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 

0 - 
The site is fairly well contained by 
mature tress and planting so the 

The LCA (2015) outlined that 
the following requirements 

P
age 555



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

impact of development upon the 
character of the environment is likely 
to be reduced. 
 
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2015) recommended 
that development of the site would 
not result in harm to the natural 
beauty and special qualities of the 
AONB. The site could be considered 
further in conjunction with THA011 
and THA014, subject to a series of 
mitigation measures. 
 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane. 

would be necessary to 
conserve and enhance the 
AONB: 

- The potential 
development area 
would be below the 
95m AOD contour and 
form the northern limit 
of development off 
Bowling Green Road 
as shown in the LCA. 

- Most of the site would 
be suitable for 
development subject 
to a narrow belt of GI 
along the southern 
edge as shown in the 
LCA, to retain the 
character of the 
Bowling Green Road 
at this point.  

- Tree belts to be 
provided to the 
boundaries with open 
countryside or to the 
adjacent THA011 

- GI to break up the 
built form 

- Preferred access from 
either the existing 
access point or from 
THA011. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0- 

The site contains an existing dwelling 
and garden. The site is poorly related 
to the existing built form, separated 
by the road and part of THA011 and 
THA014. 
 
Development would lead to a change 
in the character of the built 
environment., if developed alongside 
other adjacent sites. 

Mitigation measures as set out 
in the LCA (2015). 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) will 
be required. 

Development of the site in 
isolation is unlikely to have 
an impact on any elements 
of sustainability. is likely to 
have a negative impact on 
sustainability. 
 
Further assessment is 
required regarding 
archaeological potential.  

P
age 556



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

 
Development of this site is 
dependent on a wider scheme. 
Development in isolation of 
surrounding sites would result in 
unacceptable level of expansion of 
Thatcham north and the well defined 
settlement boundary along Bowling 
Green Road and Heath Lane.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 

The site is within a wider area of 
archaeological potential.  
 
There is a late nineteenth century 
house and outbuildings within the 
site.  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

-/+ 

The site is greenfield landa mixture 
of brownfield and greenfield land, 
however the majority of the site is 
residential garden (greenfield). 

 

Because the site is 
previously developed, the 
site is environmentally 
sustainableThe site is partly 
brownfield and partly 
greenfield land therefore 
there is the potential for 
both positive and negative 
effects on sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 

P
age 557



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy.  

promotion of alternative 
modes of travel 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 
There is no official flood risk on the 
site.  
  

SUDs would be required.  
 

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  
Cold Ash Parish Council 
have commented that the 
site is required to 
accommodate flood 
retention basins to 
complete flood protection, 
however the Thatcham 
Surface Water 
Management Plan does not 
indicate that this site would 
form part of a basin. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 

 

P
age 558



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and facilities, it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham and relates poorly to the existing settlement. This has the potential to 
have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability. There are opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public transport options are available these are limited and it is 
likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
The site is well located for access to local services and facilities (although it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham) with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which 
have a positive impact on sustainability.  
 
The site majority of the site is greenfield land as it is comprising residential garden, meaning there could beand as a result could have a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
Additional potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site and the impact on the character of both 
landscape and the built environment.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 559



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA027 Site Address: 
The Creek, Heath Lane, 
Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

41 dwellings 
(1.36ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and it is considered that there are other sites 
within the town which are more suitable for allocation.  
 
Conserving and enhancing the distinctive landscape character of the AONB is given considerable weight 
when assessing sites for development. The Council has therefore ensured that sites within or within the 
setting of the AONB have been subject to a Landscape Sensitivity/Capacity Assessment (LSA/LCA). This is 
a consistent assessment carried out by the Council’s landscape consultant to determine whether a site 
could be developed without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. The LCA 
has recommended that this site is not developed in isolation but as part of a larger scheme in conjunction 
with THA011 and THA014, creating a large scale development to the north of Thatcham.  
 
One of the strategic objectives for the Core Strategy is to ensure that development is planned in a way that 
ensures the protection and enhancement of the local distinctive character and identity of the built, historic 
and natural environment across the District. The Core Strategy notes that a key feature of even the larger 
settlements in West Berkshire is the way in which few have coalesced in recent times and so the blurring of 
the physical distinction between places has largely been avoided.   
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Bowling Green Road, for a large scale development 
is not acceptable at this stage and would be contrary to the Core Strategy. It would lead to the perception of 
merging Cold Ash and Thatcham and would have adverse impact on the settlement pattern.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this area as a 
whole as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than large scale 
development occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
The site is poorly related to Thatcham without adjacent sites being developed. This would lead to a much 
larger area being developed. The Core Strategy sets out that Thatcham only needs a small amount of 
development over the plan period, so development of this site, with other adjacent sites is not required at 
this stage.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Thatcham, and lies to the north of Bowling Green Road/Heath Lane.  
The site is not adjacent to the settlement boundary, although it is close to it, but is surrounded completely 
by site THA011 and effectively land-locked The site is therefore separated from the existing residential 
development by Tull Way the road and part of THA011.  
The site is some distance to the centre of Thatcham and public transport options are limited.  
 
Landscape:  
The site sits within the Ashmore Green and Lower Cold Ash Plateau Edge (LLCA14A) as identified by the 
Thatcham Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009). This is in an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity, 
characterised by a mix of small and complex field pattern and modern linear settlement. There are good 
landscape links with the adjacent parts of the escarpment and there is a well defined edge to 
Thatcham.and is rural in character.  

Spatial Area: Newbury & 
Thatcham 

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 560



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) recommended that development of the site would not result in 
harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. However, the site could be considered further 
in conjunction with THA011 and THA014, subject to a series of mitigation measures. 
 
Development of this site is dependent on a wider scheme to include THA011 and THA014. Development in 
isolation of surrounding sites, in accordance with the LCA, would result in unacceptable level of expansion 
of Thatcham north and the well defined settlement boundary along Bowling Green Road and Heath Lane. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. A FRA would be required to take account of surrounding surface water 
flooding. Thatcham suffered from significant flooding in July 2007.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments given on this site from the Highways Department.  
 
Public transport options past the site are limited. There are opportunities for walking and cycling.  
 
Ecology: 
There is potential for bats on the site. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affectedAn extended 
phase 1 habitat survey and bat survey would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is within a wider area of archaeological potential. Further investigation is required.  
 
Education: 
Primary and Secondary school provision is at capacity.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
Comments on this site made by both Cold Ash Parish Council and Thatcham Town Council.  
There is concern over the impact of additional traffic on the existing road network, in particular along 
Bowling Green Road. Poor public transport opportunities in the area would make residents reliant on cars.  
 
Flooding is a key concern following the floods in 2007. New balancing ponds are being put in, but there is 
concern that these only mitigate the existing issue, not any future problems.  
 
Visually development would detract from the rural approach to Cold Ash. Consultation on the Thatcham 
Vision indicates that people want to maintain the gap between the settlements. The site is traditional 
agricultural land with ancient woodlands and pre enclosure hedgerows.  
 
The site is not considered to be close to local services and facilities. 
 
Advise that the Northfield Road sewer is capacity and has had historical discharge events. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 

Page 561



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

1 response was received regarding this site. 

 General comments 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
Whilst the site is close to some local services and facilities, it is some distance from the centre of Thatcham 
and relates poorly to the existing settlement. This has the potential to have a negative impact upon 
environmental sustainability. There are opportunities for walking and cycling and whilst public transport 
options are available these are limited and it is likely will lead to a high level of car dependency.  
  
 
The site majority of the site is greenfield land comprising residential garden, and as a result could have a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability.  
 
Additional potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the 
greenfield nature of the site and the impact on the character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
effects. The site is well located for access to local services and facilities (although it is some distance from 
the centre of Thatcham), with opportunities for walking and cycling, all of which have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  The site is greenfield as it is residential garden, meaning there could be a negative impact 
on environmental sustainability. 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted for this site.  

 

Page 562



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THA028 Site Address:  Land north of Floral Way and east of Harts Hill Road, Thatcham 

 

Development Potential: 103 90 dwellings (3ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- Site is separated from the existing building line by Floral Way  

- Potential surface water flood risk – surface water flows run adjacent to the site.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Comments were made on this site by Thatcham Town Council and Cold Ash Parish Council.  
Development would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. Traffic would have an impact on the road 
network in north Thatcham and Cold Ash, especially at peak times, as there are limited alternatives 
(infrequent bus services).  There are capacity issues at Kennet School. Residents are concerned that 
development would set a precedent for further development on the other site of Floral Way.  
General feeling that this site could be more acceptable than THA007 or THA008 as there is already 
development on the other side of Harts Hill Road.  

 
 
 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N Under the Core Strategy, Thatcham is due a 
period of consolidation. Development of this site 
would be out of keeping with this principle. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk U 

Parish council report surface water flow route 
through the site. There is a historic incidence of 
surface water flooding (July 2007) along the north 
western boundary of the site. 
 
Surface water flows adjacent to the site 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
Site can be accessed via Floral Way or Harts Hill 
Road 

Highway network suitability N No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network U 

Thatcham rail station is just over a mile  1.5 miles 
from the centre of the site. 
 
There is a bus stop close to the site on Harts Hill 
Road which is served by service 101 (infrequent 
service, i.e. two hourly or less). Stops that are 
served by a frequent bus service (service 1) are 
around half a mile from the centre of the site.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
Grass verge runs alongside the part of the site 
which fronts onto Floral Way. There is a 

Spatial Area: Newbury & Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 563



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

pavement on the western side of Floral Way. No 
pavement or footway runs along the site where it 
border Harts Hill Road, but there is a pavement 
on the western side of Harts Hill Road 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located in an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity.  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 

There is amenity space close to the site by the 
junction of Floral Way and Foxglove Way, and 
allotments also close by on Harts Hill Road. There 
is a sports ground south of A4 London Road.  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
There is a play area and amenity space close to 
the site by the junction of Floral Way and 
Foxglove Way. 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) A N BOA adjacent to the site 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 
The site is separated from existing development 
due to Floral Way. There is no development to the 
north east of Floral Way.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
No known archaeology but potential due to 
adjacent site - will need desk based assessment  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply N 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability 

Wastewater N TW have concern regarding wastewater capability 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area U  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THA007, THA024, THA030   

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
  

Page 564



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THA028 Site Address: Land north of Floral Way and East of Harts Hill Road Development Potential:  90 dwellings (3ha at 30 dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Site is close to local facilities and 
offers good access to the open 
countryside 

 
The site’s location to the 
east of Thatcham gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 

The site is close to facilities at 
Kennet leisure centre. The site is 
also in close proximity to local 
amenity space and play areas. 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 0 
A Public Right of Way runs to the 
east of the site 

The right of way would need to 
be retained and protected. 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to areas of 
protected employment, and within 
easy access of a number of 
employment sites and education 
facilities. 

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Thatcham. The site also 
has good, as well giving 
each access to the 
strategic road network and 
public transport 
opportunities, although the 
railway station is some 
distance from the site.  This 
means that the 
development of site could 
have a ppositive impact on 
the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is located within 
Thatcham.There are a number of 
public transport options, including a 
frequent bus route that runs along 
the A4, which is close to the south of 

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourage walking or 
cycling. The site also has 
good access to public 

Spatial Area: Newbury/Thatcham Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

P
age 565



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the site. 
 
Thatcham station is approximately 
2.35 - 3km from the site.  
 
There are a number of opportunities 
for walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities.   

transport. Development of 
the site would, and 
therefore have a positive 
impact on environmental 
and social sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
There are no known biodiversity and 
geodiversity assets on the site 

 

There is potential for 
development to have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. Appropriate 
mitigation measures could 
reduce the impact 
It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 - 

The site is in an area of medium 
landscape sensitivity.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 
transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB. 

Landscaping could reduce the 
impact of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) will 
be required. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Development on this site would 
change the rural nature and feel of 
this area.  as this area is outside the 
built area of Thatcham Floral Way is 
a defining feature, acting as a 
boundary between the built up area 
and the countryside. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Study 
(2009) states that this area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong 
contrast to the more immediate 
urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural 

Landscaping and sensitive 
design could reduce the impact 
of development on the 
landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) will 
be required. 

Development would have a 
negative impact on the 
character of the built 
environment in this area.  
 
Further assessment is 
required on any potential 
heritage assets on the site 

P
age 566



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

transition zone between the urban 
area and the AONB.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
No known archaeology but potential 
due to adjacent site have high 
archaeological potential  

Further archaeological 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield land  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with policy 
CS15 of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques, and promotion 
of alternative modes of 
transport, development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? 

The site is not in an area of flood 
risk; however Cold Ash Parish 
Council reported a surface water flow 
route through the site.  
 
The TSWMP identifies surface water 
flows along the north western 
boundary of the site.  

A FRA and appropriate 
mitigation, including SuDS 
required.  

Flooding has could have a 
negative impact on all 
aspects of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures can 
help to reduce this impact.  

P
age 567



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight anyt significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a healthy active lifestyle, 
all of which have a positive impact on sustainability. The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services and facilities which will have a positive impact 
on economic and social sustainability. 
 
 Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site and the impact on the character of both landscape and 
the built environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site could have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of 
flooding and reduce the impact on sustainability.Development could change the character of the built environment, which could have a negative impact on sustainability. While the 
site is not within an official flood risk area, there is evidence of surface water flows along the boundary of the site, which could lead to flooding and a negative impact on sustainability 
unless suitable mitigation measures were considered.  
 
Summary of effects: 

P
age 568



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 569



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THA028 Site Address: 
Land north of Floral Way 
and East of Harts Hill 
Road, Thatcham 

Development 
Potential:  

103 90 dwellings  
(3ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The Core Strategy sets out the Spatial Strategy for the District and provides an overall framework to guide 
development over the plan period. The Core Strategy is clear that Thatcham is to receive a lower allocation 
than other urban areas given the rapid expansion of the town in recent years. This is to allow Thatcham a 
period of consolidation, ensuring the infrastructure and town centre facilities can be upgraded and meet the 
demands of the existing population. This will enable Thatcham to become more self-contained, 
encouraging residents to shop and socialise locally. In accordance with the Core Strategy, Thatcham will 
not accommodate large scale development at this stage and although this site is not considered large scale 
in terms of allocations for Thatcham, it is considered that there are other sites within the town which are 
more suitable for allocation. 
 
It is considered that the principle of developing north of Floral Way is not acceptable at this stage and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy. The Landscape Sensitivity Study (2009) is clear that the area to the 
east of Thatcham provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing an important 
setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The area is 
characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment slopes. 
Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham.  
 
It is the Council’s preferred approach, in accordance with the Core Strategy, to consider this are as a whole 
as part of a revised Local Plan, when the area can be holistically planned for ensuring infrastructure 
requirements can be delivered to meet the demand from new development, rather than development 
occurring in a piecemeal manner. 
 
The Core Strategy sets out that Thatcham only needs a small amount of development over the plan period. 
The potential on this site is larger than required, and there are other smaller sites that are considered more 
suited to development at this stage. 
 
Development would change the character of the built environment, by developing to the north of Floral 
Way.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Thatcham, separated from the existing building pattern by Floral Way. The 
site has good access to local services and facilities as well as good access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity and is rural in character. The Landscape Sensitivity 
Study (2009) outlines that the area provides a strong contrast to the more immediate urban form, providing 
an important setting to Thatcham and rural transition zone between the urban area and the AONB. The 
area is characterised by its open farmland with major blocks of woodland and undulating escarpment 
slopes. Settlement is sparse but the area is an important setting to north Thatcham. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. The site suffered from surface water flooding in 2007 and surface water flows 
run adjacent to the site. A FRA and SuDS would be required.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 
The site is close to a number of public transport options, with a  bus service running past the site. and a 
regular service running along the A4 to the south of the site. Thatcham also has a railway station which is 

Spatial Area: Newbury & 
Thatcham 

Settlement: Thatcham Parish:  Thatcham 

Page 570



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

approximately 2.5 - 3km from the site. Thatcham also has a railway station.  
 
Ecology: 
There are no known ecological issues.  
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues, but investigation would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity, as is local secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not in an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments on this site. The site is in SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
  
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
Comments were made on this site by Thatcham Town Council and Cold Ash Parish Council.  
Development would contribute to flood risk in Thatcham. Traffic would have an impact on the road network 
in north Thatcham and Cold Ash, especially at peak times, as there are limited alternatives (infrequent bus 
services).  There are capacity issues at Kennet School. Residents are concerned that development would 
set a precedent for further development on the other site of Floral Way.  
General feeling that this site could be more acceptable than THA007 or THA008 as there is already 
development on the other side of Harts Hill Road. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
Four responses were received regarding this site. 

 General comments 

 Site Assessment 

 THA025 

 Development north of Floral Way 

 Accessibility to services and facilities 

 Flood Risk 

 Transport and highways 

 Ecology 

 Character of the area 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  

Page 571



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close proximity of open 
countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which have a positive 
impact on sustainability. The site is also in close proximity to employment opportunities and local services 
and facilities which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability. 
 
 Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield 
nature of the site and the impact on the character of both landscape and the built environment.  
 
Flood risk on the site could have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, as the site is at risk 
from surface water flooding. Mitigation measures could reduce the impact of flooding and reduce the impact 
on sustainability. 
There are no significant sustainability impacts from this site.  There are no significant sustainability impacts 
from this site. The site is easily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and within close 
proximity of open countryside and local sports facilities to help promote a health active lifestyle, all of which 
have a positive impact on sustainability.  Development could change the character of the built environment, 
which could have a negative impact on sustainability. While the site is not within an official flood risk area, 
there is evidence of surface water flows along the boundary of the site, which could lead to flooding and a 
negative impact on sustainability unless suitable mitigation measures were considered.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for up to 100 dwellings, including affordable housing. There would be potential for the 
site to be developed alongside THA024.  

 
 
 

Page 572



Cold Ash Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 573



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: COL002 Site Address:  Land at Poplar Farm, Cold Ash 

 

Development Potential: 

Approx 10 to 20 1 dwellings (0.7ha at 
30dph) 
Dependent on outcome of FRA and flood 
mitigation measures required 

SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- Surface water flood risk. Evidence of flooding Jan/Feb 2014 The site and adjacent properties to the east and south along Cold 

Ash Hill are susceptible to surface water flooding (surface water flow path from the north - flooding occurred in 2007 and Jan / 
Feb 14) so safe flow routes would have to be provided through the site.  

- A detention pond to accommodate development drainage would be required in the southern part of the site. 
- Development should be contained on the lower ground in the north east of the site and only extend up the valley side in the area 

already containing the barns. 
- Setting of listed building 
- Poplar Farmhouse is a Grade II listed building on the site and is part of a historic farmstead.  A heritage impact assessment 

would be required 
- The existing access serving Poplar Farm is limited with regard to width and possible sight lines too unless additional land can be 

acquired. Land south of Orchard End may be more appropriate to obtain access onto Cold Ash Hill 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

 Listed building and flood risk will limit development potential on the site 
There are limits to development of this site because of a listed building and the site being in a line of 
flooding. This site lies directly in the path of surface water run off from further up the escarpment. Any 
building would be situated on a drift geological formation that exacerbates flooding further downhill. There 
is an existing Grade 2 listed building on the site. The site forms a significant part of the open views from 
the village over the surrounding open slopes and farmland.  
At the Preferred Options stage the parish council restated its objection to the site. In summary, the main 
issues are: 

 The development would reduce the rural gap between Ashmore Green and Cold Ash. The 
building of a second line of housing, further extending the building line up hill, is out of 
character with the built environment. 

 The presence of Grade 2 listed, historic farmstead, in the centre of the site. 

 The site is in the line of downhill surface water flows which has lead to the land and houses in 
and around the site being badly flooded in the past (see photo below). Building here will cause 
greater run-off from the site, endangering surrounding houses. 

 The farm access road is not suitable as a site entrance which indicates that any building will 
necessitate the construction of a further access road to be built in the fields adjoining. The 
volume and excess speed of traffic on Cold Ash Hill means that egress onto the main road will 
be both difficult and dangerous. 

It said that consideration should be given to a small number of starter homes along the entrance track to 
Poplar Farm. This would not detract from the rural gap between Ashmore Green and Cold Ash. Also it 
would not cause the flooding issues with the existing proposal. 
The parish council also submitted detailed comments on the site selection work – Site Commentary, Site 
Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy.  

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
 

Spatial Area:  N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 574



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N 

A very small part of the site is PDL  
Greenfield – agricultural buildings 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N U 
The site lies within the EA’s groundwater 
vulnerability zone although there is no record of 
groundwater flooding on the site. 

Surface water flood risk Y 

Site is in the path of surface water run off from the 
north (flooding occurred Jan / Feb 14). The site 
and adjacent properties to the east and south 
along Cold Ash Hill are susceptible to surface 
water flooding (surface water flow path from the 
north - flooding occurred in 2007 and Jan / Feb 
14) so safe flow routes would have to be provided 
through the site. 
A culverted ordinary watercourse runs through the 
site. 
A detention pond to accommodate development 
drainage would be required in the southern part of 
the site. 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U Y 

There is no obvious point of access onto Cold 
Ash Hill. The existing access serving Poplar Farm 
is limited with regard to width and possible sight 
lines too unless additional land can be acquired. 
Land south of Orchard End may be more 
appropriate to obtain access onto Cold Ash Hill 

Highway network suitability Y N 

Development is likely to generate approximately 
120 daily vehicle movements, about 12 during the 
08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. Traffic impact on the 
highways network is expected to be limited.  

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Newbury and 
Tilehurst 

Footways/Pavements U Narrow pavements on Cold Ash Hill 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Area of low/medium landscape sensitivity 

Other Y 

The Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA) 
(2015) indicates that development on part of the 
site would be considered acceptable subject to 
protection and enhancement measures. 
Development should be contained on the lower 
ground in the north east of the site and only 
extend up the valley side in the area already 
containing the barns. 

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
amenity space nearby 

U N Site is not very close to the recreation ground 

Rights of Way affected N 
Possible visual impact on the PRoW to the south 
and south west and north west 

Play areas nearby UN 
Site is not very close to the play facilities at the 
recreation ground 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 

Birds, reptiles and bats, surveys required.  
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures would need 
to be implemented, to ensure any protected 
species were not adversely affected 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (Eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement  Y 

Site is well related to the existing settlement.  
Development should be contained on the lower 
ground in the north east of the site and only 
extend up the valley side in the area already 
containing the barns. 

Page 575



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Area of high sensitivity historic landscape 
character. Further assessment required. 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings Y 

A listed building is present on the site boundary 
(Poplars Farmhouse) which is part of an historic 
farmstead. A heritage impact assessment will be 
required to assess the impact of development 
upon the Grade II Listed farmhouse and it setting 
and to inform development on the site. 
Development must conserve and enhance the 
farmhouse and its setting.  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply Y 
Thames Water does not have envisage any 
infrastructure concerns 

Wastewater NY 
TW have concern regarding wastewater capability 
Thames Water does not have any concerns 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A COL011 

Although not adjacent, COL011 lies further south on the opposite 
side of Cold Ash Hill.  Similar issues relating to flood risk and 
potential road safety concerns have been highlighted by the local 
community  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
  

Page 576



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: COL002 

Site Address: Land at Poplar Farm, Cold Ash 

Development Potential:  

Approx 10 to 201 dwellings 
(0.7ha at 30dph) 
Dependent on outcome of FRA 
and flood mitigation measures 
required 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Good access to the countryside from 
the site for walking. Close to local 
services and facilities.  

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and potentially cycling 
within Cold Ash itself. The 
site has easy access to the 
countryside. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability the 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
There is a recreation ground in the 
village and more formal Nearest 
sports facilities are in Thatcham.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 Unlikely to be an impact.   

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities (e.g. primary school and 
local shop) in the village, with 
employment opportunities in 
Newbury and Thatcham.  

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means the site should have 
a positive impact on 
economic sustainability. 
The site is located close to 
local education facilities 
near to employment 
facilities within Newbury 
and Thatcham. It is likely 
that there would be some 
level of car dependency 
due to the village location. 
Overall the site is likely to 
have a positive impact on 
economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 

+? 
There is a 2 hourly  an intermittent 
bus service through the village, 

Development could provide an 
opportunity to enable an 

In terms of sustainability it 
is still likely that there will 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 577



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

sustainable travel opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

linking Cold Ash to Newbury and 
Tilehurst. There are opportunities for 
walking or cycling to local services 
and facilities.  

enhanced bus service to be put 
in place, promoted and 
sustained 

be a degree of car 
dependency within the 
Village due to the location 
and limited range of 
services and facilities 
available within the village 
site. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 
Potential for birds, reptiles and bats 
on the site.   

Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey required together with 
any recommended follow up 

surveys. bird, bat and reptile 

surveys required. Mitigation 
could be required depending 
on the outcomes of the 
surveys. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected 

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
and appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures 
were implemented so that 
any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  Should the 
biodiversity surveys find 
evidence of protected 
species on the site 
mitigation measures would 
be required to ensure no 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 - 

Site is in an area of  low/medium 
landscape sensitivity 
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (LCA) (2015) indicates 
that development on part of the site 
would be considered acceptable 
subject to protection and 
enhancement measures 
 
  
 

Landscape assessment 
indicates that development 
should be contained on the 
lower ground in the north east 
of the site and only extend up 
the valley side in the area 
already containing the barns. 
Development should be subject 
to the provision of:  
• a tree belt and hedgerow 
along the western and southern 
boundaries;  
• woodland block in the north 
western corner to mitigate 
effects on views from the 
PRoW to the north west;  
• woodland block along the 
southern edge to mitigate 
effects on views from the 
PRoW to the south;  
• a hedgerow and trees along 

P
age 578



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the eastern edge  
• The preferred access is from 
Cold Ash Hill, via the existing 
farm track access;  
• A full detailed landscape and 
visual impact assessment will 
be required to inform the final 
capacity of the site 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 ? 

 
Development of the whole site would 
extend the settlement off the valley 
floor up the slope to the west and 
would widen the linear nature of the 
built form to the south  
Site is small and so unlikely to have 
an impact on the character of the 
built environment 

Only part of the site should be 
developed to avoid affecting 
the linear, valley bottom 
settlement pattern and open 
landscape at the southern end 
of the village. The development 
should be contained on the 
lower ground in the north east 
of the site and only extend up 
the valley side in the area 
already containing the barns.  

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment, 
heritage impact 
assessment and ensured 
the conservation and 
enhancement of the listed 
building and its setting. 
Development also has the 
potential to improve the 
built environment through a 
well designed scheme. 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? - 

The site is within an area of high 
historic landscape sensitivity. With 
Poplar Farmhouse is a Grade II 
listed building on the site boundary 
and is part of a historic farmstead. 

Further A heritage impact 
assessment is required and 
development should be 
sensitively designed.  in 
relation to the listed building 
would be required.  this 
assessment must also assess 
the impact of development 
upon the Grade II Listed 
farmhouse and its setting, and 
inform development on the site.  
 
Development must conserve 
and enhance the farmhouse 
and its setting. 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve Will the site be at risk from, 0 Unlikely to have an impact  Development of the site is 

P
age 579



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

or impact on, air quality?  unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 ? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ3) Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - 

A very small part of the site is PDL - 
the site is predominantly a greenfield 
site 

 

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

Site is at risk from surface water 
flooding – surface water flow path 
from the north. 
The site and adjacent properties to 
the east and south along Cold Ash 
Hill are susceptible to surface water 
flooding (surface water flow path 
from the north) so safe flow routes 
would have to be provided through 
the site. 
  
The site lies within the EA’s 
groundwater vulnerability zone 
although there is no record of 
groundwater flooding on the site.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures, including 
SuDS, would be required, 
including SUDs 

A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding.  
Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability 
unless appropriate 
mitigation measures can be 
put in place.  
 Mitigation measures 
should reduce this impact. 

P
age 580



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability impacts from this site. Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects. The site is located within a village setting, with good access to local services and facilities within the village, which will have a positive impact on sustainability. 
However, there will be a degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher level services and facilities, which could have a negative impact on sustainability, 
without the promotion of alternative modes of transport through the increase of greenhouse gas emissions. There is potential for protected species on the site, and should this be 
confirmed appropriate mitigation would be required to ensure that development does not have a negative effect on environmental sustainability. The site is at risk from surface water 
flooding, without appropriate mitigation flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability.  
 
There would be potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the site was developed in line with the Landscape Assessment and ensured the conservation 
and enhancement of the Grade II listed Poplar Farmhouse and its setting. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures may also need to be implemented so that any protected 
species were not adversely affected. 
 
The site is susceptible to surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into 
place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 

P
age 581



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 
 

P
age 582



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: COL002 Site Address: 

Land at Poplar Farm, Cold 
Ash 

Development 
Potential:  

Approx 10 to 201 
dwellings 
(0.7ha at 30dph) 
Dependent on 
outcome of FRA 
and flood mitigation 
measures required  

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended for allocation 
 

Justification: 
The site is well related to Cold Ash and sits within an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity.  
A Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA) (2015) has been undertaken which indicates that development 
on part of the site would be considered acceptable subject to certain protection and enhancement 
measures. Development should be contained on the lower ground in the north east of the site and only 
extend up the valley side in the area already containing the barns. This would avoid affecting the linear, 
valley bottom settlement pattern and open landscape at the southern end of the village.  
 
The site and adjacent properties to the east and south along Cold Ash Hill are susceptible to surface water 
flooding (surface water flow path from the north) so safe flow routes would have to be provided through the 
site. A FRA and appropriate flood mitigation measures, including SuDS would be required. As part of this, a 
detention pond to accommodate development drainage would be required in the southern part of the site. 
 
A heritage impact assessment would be required to assess the impact of development on the Grade II 
listed Poplar Farmhouse and its setting 
 
The existing access to Poplar Farm is limited regarding width and sight lines.  Additional means of access 
via Orchard End and Strouds Meadow would need to be provided if required.  
 
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary There is potential for birds, reptiles and bats on the site. Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely 
affected 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the west of Cold Ash, set behind the ribbon of residential built form along the west 
side of Cold Ash Hill.  It forms part of the rural approach to the village from the south. and is well related to 
the existing building line. The site is close to some local services and facilities within the village and open 
countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) indicates that development of the whole site would extend the 

settlement off the valley floor up the slope to the west and would widen the linear nature of the built form to the south.  

Development should therefore be contained on the lower ground in the north east of the site and only 
extend up the valley side in the area already containing the barns. This would avoid affecting the linear, 
valley bottom settlement pattern and open landscape at the southern end of the village.  
Development should be subject to the provision of:  

• a tree belt and hedgerow along the western and southern boundaries;  
• woodland block in the north western corner to mitigate effects on views from the PRoW to the north 

west;  
• woodland block along the southern edge to mitigate effects on views from the PRoW to the south;  
• a hedgerow and trees along the eastern edge  
• The preferred access is from Cold Ash Hill, via the existing farm track access;  

A full detailed landscape and visual impact assessment will be required to inform the final capacity of the 
site site is in an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity.  
 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 583



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, but within an area at risk from surface water flooding. Anecdotal evidence 
indicates flooding on the site during Jan/Feb 2014. The site and adjacent properties to the east and south 
along Cold Ash Hill are susceptible to surface water flooding (surface water flow path from the north) so 
safe flow routes would have to be provided through the site. 
 
The site lies within the EA’s groundwater vulnerability zone although there is no record of groundwater 
flooding on the site.   
 
A FRA and appropriate flood mitigation measures, including SuDS would be required.  
 
A culverted ordinary watercourse runs through the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic impact from the site is expected to be limited. Access to the site from Cold Ash Hill could be an 
issue without additional land acquisition. Access could be considered onto Orchard End.  
This site can accommodate up to 20 houses that will generate circa 120 daily vehicle movements including 
circa 12 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. It is considered that the impact of additional traffic generation 
may be limited due to the size of the development. 
 
There is no obvious point of access onto Cold Ash Hill. The existing access serving Poplar Farm is limited 
with regards to width and possible sight lines too unless additional land can be acquired here. Land south 
of Orchard End may be more appropriate to obtain access onto Cold Ash Hill. 
Footways and bus stops are near the site however services to and from Cold Ash are limited. 
 
Ecology: 
An extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required in addition to bird, bat and reptile surveys . There 
is potential for birds, reptiles and bats on the site. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected Surveys would be 
required, and appropriate mitigation provided should species be present.    
 
Archaeology: 
There is a historic farmstead at the heart of the site with a listed building. Further assessment will be 
required.  
Poplar Farmhouse is a Grade II listed building on the site boundary and is part of a historic farmstead.  A 
heritage impact assessment would be required to assess the impact of development upon the Grade II 
Listed farmhouse and it setting and to inform development on the site. Development must conserve and 
enhance the farmhouse and its setting.   
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No know air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is within SPZ3. The EA has no in principle objections to 
development in SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
A drainage strategy would be required 
Thames Water has not raised any concerns regarding water supply/waste water services for this site. 

Page 584



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Parish Council: 
The parish council noted that there is a listed building on the site as well as the site being at risk from 
flooding. These factors could limit development potential. The site lies directly in the path of surface water 
run off from further up the escarpment. Any building would be situated on a drift geological formation that 
exacerbates flooding further downhill. There is an existing Grade 2 listed building on the site. The site forms 
a significant part of the open views from the village over the surrounding open slopes and farmland.  
At the Preferred Options stage the parish council restated its objection to the site and submitted detailed 
comments in support of its concerns. In summary the main issues are: 

 The development would reduce the rural gap between Ashmore Green and Cold Ash. The building 
of a second line of housing, further extending the building line up hill, is out of character with the 
built environment. 

 The presence of Grade 2 listed, historic farmstead, in the centre of the site. 

 The site is in the line of downhill surface water flows which has lead to the land and houses in and 
around the site being badly flooded in the past (see photo below). Building here will cause greater 
run-off from the site, endangering surrounding houses. 

 The farm access road is not suitable as a site entrance which indicates that any building will 
necessitate the construction of a further access road to be built in the fields adjoining. The volume 
and excess speed of traffic on Cold Ash Hill means that egress onto the main road will be both 
difficult and dangerous. 

It said that consideration should be given to a small number of starter homes along the entrance track to 
Poplar Farm. This would not detract from the rural gap between Ashmore Green and Cold Ash. Also it 
would not cause the flooding issues with the existing proposal. 
The parish council also submitted detailed comments on the site selection work – Site Commentary, Site 
Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment. 
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significant sustainability impacts from this site. The site is located within a village setting, with 
good access to local services and facilities within the village, which will have a positive impact on 
sustainability. However, there will be a degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher 
level services and facilities, which could have a negative impact on sustainability, in terms of an increase in 
greenhouse gas emissions. There is potential for protected species on the site, and should this be 
confirmed appropriate mitigation would be required to ensure that development does not have a negative 
effect on environmental sustainability. The site is at risk from surface water flooding, without appropriate 
mitigation flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability.  
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. The site is located within a village setting, with good access to local 
services and facilities within the village, which will have a positive impact on sustainability. However, there 
will be a degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher level services and facilities, 
which could have a negative impact on sustainability, without the promotion of alternative modes of 
transport. There would be potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the site 
was developed in line with the Landscape Assessment and ensured the conservation and enhancement of 
the Grade II listed Poplar Farmhouse and its setting. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures may 
also need to be implemented so that any protected species were not adversely affected. The site is 
susceptible to surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  
Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.  
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Preferred options Consultation – key issues 
40 responses were received for the site.  The main issues raised were regarding: 

 Consultation process 

 Principle of development 

 Loss of rural character 

 Flooding 

 Highways and road safety 

 Infrastructure 

 Impact on heritage assets 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 

Page 585



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

4 responses were received for the site.  The main issues raised were regarding: 

 Principle of development 

 Landscape/setting/character 

 Flooding and flood risk 

 Highways and transport 

 Heritage 

 Infrastructure 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted. Access is indicated from either the existing access or from 
Orchard End. 
An illustrative concept plan was submitted as part of the Preferred Options consultation 
An initial assessment of flood risk has shown that a detention pond, located close to the southern 
boundary, would be required to accommodate development drainage. 

 
 
 

Page 586



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: COL004 Site Address:  Liss, Cold Ash Hill, Cold Ash 

 

Development Potential: 27 dwellings (0.9ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- relationship to settlement pattern 
- The site is not well related to the existing settlement 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish council considers this to be the ‘least worst’ site if development is needed in the village. It has 
limited potential, but there could be a small amount of development on the site. There are issues of 
surface water runoff.  
This site lies at the head of a gully (drift silt/sand/gravel geological formation), any building would add 
significantly to downhill flooding. The slopes and nature of the land would much reduce the amount of 
housing that this site could support. The site is outside the existing settlement boundary, traffic from the 
site would add to the already dangerous situation outside St Marks Infants and Junior school. 
 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

*Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield. Currently residential garden 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk NU 
The site lies within the EA’s groundwater 
vulnerability zone although there is no record of 
groundwater flooding on the site. 

Surface water flood risk UY 
Some evidence that surface water does flow from 
the site 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability U No comments made on this site.  

Public Transport network YU 2 hourly service between Newbury and Tilehurst 

Footways/Pavements U Narrow pavements are present on Cold Ash Hill 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area  
of High Landscape Sensitivity (from 
Core Strategy  LSS) 

Not 
assessed 

 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space 

Y Site is close to recreation ground 

Rights of Way A Along southern boundary 

Play areas Y Site is close to recreation ground which includes 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 587



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

play facilities 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 

Potential for bats and other species. Extended 
phase 1 habitat survey and bat survey required. 
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures would need 
to be implemented, to ensure any protected 
species were not adversely affected 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement  U 
Site is not well related to the existing settlement 
and extends beyond the existing building line. 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 
Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

 Water supply Y 
Thames Water does not have envisage any 
infrastructure concerns 

 Wastewater NY 
TW have concern regarding wastewater 
capability Thames Water does not have any 
concerns 

 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
  

Page 588



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: COL004 Site Address: Liss, Cold Ash Hill, Cold Ash Development Potential:  27 dwellings (0.9ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Good access to the countryside from 
the site for walking. Close to local 
services and facilities.  

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling within Cold Ash 
itself. The site has easy 
access to the countryside. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability the 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
Nearest sports facilities are in 
Thatcham.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 

Right of way along southern 
boundary 

Right of way would need to be 
protected through scheme 
design 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities (eg. primary school and 
local shop) in the village, with 
employment opportunities in 
Newbury and Thatcham.  

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means the site should have 
a positive impact on 
economic sustainability. 
site is located close to local 
education facilities near to 
employment facilities within 
Newbury and Thatcham. It 
is likely that there would be 
some level of car 
dependency due to the 
village location. Overall the 
site is likely to have a 
positive impact on 
economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+? 

There is a 2 hourly  an intermittent 
bus service through the village, 
linking Cold Ash to Newbury and 
Tilehurst. There are opportunities for 
walking or cycling to local services 
and facilities.  

Development could provide an 
opportunity to enable an 
enhanced bus service to be put 
in place, promoted and 
sustained 

In terms of sustainability it 
is still likely that there will 
be a degree of car 
dependency within the 
village due to the location 
and limited range of 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

P
age 589



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

services and facilities on 
offer within the village site.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? Potential for bats on the site.  

Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey required in addition to a 
bat survey. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, if appropriate. to 
ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected 
could be required.  

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to landscape and 
visual impacts and also 
unless appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures were 
implemented so that any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on the 
environmental sustainability 
without appropriate 
mitigation measures.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

Development of this site has the 
potential to detract from the 
landscape character given the 
significant changes in topography 
across the site and the potential to 
adversely impact on the setting and 
separate identities of Cold Ash and 
Ashmore Green.  

A landscape and visual impact 
assessment would be required 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

The site while adjacent to the 
existing settlement boundary, is 
poorly related to the existing 
settlement pattern and so would 
have an impact on the character of 
the built environment.  

Development should be 
sensitively designed 

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it would change the 
character of the built 
environment by altering the 
current settlement pattern 
in this area.   

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
district’s heritage assets 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
district’s cultural assets 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

P
age 590



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 
It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ3)  

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 
 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Greenfield Site  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? 

The site lies within the EA’s 
groundwater vulnerability zone 
although there is no record of 
groundwater flooding on the site 
The site is not within an official 
surface water flood risk area. 
Anecdotal evidence indicates that 
there may be a risk of surface water 
flooding.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SuDS would be required  
 
SUDs would need to be 
provided and consideration of 
the potential for surface water 
flooding.  

A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding. Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures can be put in 
place.  
Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability without 
appropriate mitigation 
measures. There is 
evidence of flooding on the 
site, although it is not within 
an official flood risk area, 
meaning that mitigation 
measures would be 
required to ensure no 

P
age 591



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

negative effects on 
sustainability.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability impacts from this site. Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant 
sustainability effects.The site is located within a village setting, with good access to local services and facilities within the village, giving a positive impact on sustainability. However, 
there will be a degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher level services and facilities, which would have a negative impact on sustainability without the 
promotion of alternative modes of transport through the increase of greenhouse gas emissions. The site has easy access into Newbury and Thatcham for a wider range of service 
and facilities. Development on this site has the potential to detract from the landscape character, leading to a negative impact on environmental sustainability. There is anecdotal 
evidence that surface water flooding occurs on the site, meaning that mitigation measures would be required to ensure no negative effects on sustainability.   
 
There would be potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to landscape and visual impacts and also unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
were implemented so that any protected species were not adversely affected.  
 
There is anecdotal evidence that surface water flooding occurs on the site. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures 
would need to be put into place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   

P
age 592



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Newbury and Thatcham spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 593



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: COL004 Site Address: 
Liss, Cold Ash Hill, Cold 
Ash 

Development 
Potential:  

27 dwellings  
(0.9ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
While the site is adjacent to the settlement boundary the site itself is poorly related to the existing 
settlement pattern and has the potential to adversely impact on the setting and separate identify of Cold 
Ash and Ashmore Green.  
 
Other sites in Cold Ash are considered more appropriate for development. 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the west of Cold Ash. The eastern edge of the site is adjacent to the settlement 
boundary, but the extension of the site westwards would be poorly related to the existing settlement 
pattern. The site is close to local services and facilities and has access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
No formal assessment of landscape sensitivity has been made. The site has significant changes in 
topography.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, although there is a history of surface water flooding on the site. An FRA would 
be required and appropriate mitigation measures, including SUDS would need to be provided.  
The site lies within the EA’s groundwater vulnerability zone although there is no record of groundwater 
flooding on the site 
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 
A two hourly bus service links Cold Ash to Newbury and Tilehurst, with a railway station in Thatcham and in 
Newbury for links to London and the west.  
 
Ecology: 
There is potential for bats and other species on the site. A extended phase 1 habitat survey and a bat 
survey would be required. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues on this site.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. No comments made about secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ3. The EA has no in principle objections to 

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 594



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

development in SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
A drainage strategy would be required 
Thames Water has not raised any concerns regarding water supply/waste water services for this site. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council considered this to be the ‘least worst’ site if development was required in the village.  
It has limited potential, but there could be a small amount of development on the site. There are issues of 
surface water runoff. This site lies at the head of a gully (drift silt/sand/gravel geological formation), any 
building would add significantly to downhill flooding. The slopes and nature of the land would much reduce 
the amount of housing that this site could support. The site is outside the existing settlement boundary, 
traffic from the site would add to the already dangerous situation outside St Marks Infants and Junior 
school. 
 
Preferred options Consultation – key issues 
1 response was received for the site.  This was from the site promoter. 
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. There are no significant 
sustainability impacts from this site. The site is located within a village setting, with good access to local 
services and facilities within the village, giving a positive impact on sustainability. However, there will be a 
degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher level services and facilities, which 
would have a negative impact on sustainability through the increase of greenhouse gas emissions. The site 
has easy access into Newbury and Thatcham for a wider range of service and facilities. Development on 
this site has the potential to detract from the landscape character, leading to a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability. There is anecdotal evidence that surface water flooding occurs on the site, 
meaning that mitigation measures would be required to ensure no negative effects on sustainability.   
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. The site is located within a village setting, with good access to local 
services and facilities within the village, giving a positive impact on sustainability. However, there will be a 
degree of car dependency for travel to employment and wider higher level services and facilities, which 
would have a negative impact on sustainability without the promotion of alternative modes of transport . 
There would be potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to landscape and visual 
impacts and also unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures were implemented so that any 
protected species were not adversely affected. There is anecdotal evidence that surface water flooding 
occurs on the site. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate 
mitigation measures would need to be put into place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.  The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
A mix of development with low cost housing in the northern area of the site and lower density development 
to the south is proposed.  

 
 
 

Page 595



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: COL008 Site Address:  Land at St Gabriel’s Convent, The Ridge, Cold Ash 

 

Development Potential: 35 dwellings (1.18ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Poor relationship to settlement  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment that the site is not currently developable. The site is 
adjacent to a steep sided natural valley. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Poor relationship to the settlement.  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function  

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlements within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out.  
 
 
  

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 596



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: COL010 Site Address:  Land at Westrop, The Ridge, Cold Ash 

 

Development Potential: 24 dwellings (1.2ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB – Landscape assessment indicates development here would not be acceptable. Landscape Capacity Assessment (2014) 

concluded that development would result in significant harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

 Site is unsuitable for development. There are good exceptional views out over open countryside from 
the site which lies within the AONB.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Capacity Assessment (2014) indicates 
concluded that development would result in 
significant harm to the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB here would not be 
acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement boundary 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area: N&T Settlement: Cold Ash Parish:  Cold Ash 

Page 597



SA/SEA Appendix 9B

Eastern Area - Site Assessments
(including Proposed Main 

Modifications)

Eastern Urban Area 
Theale

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and strikethrough text for
deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined text for additions and double

strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made in light of the proposed Main Modifications are shown as purple underlined text for additions and
purple strikethrough text for deletions**Page 598



Eastern Urban Area Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 599



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Site ID: EUA008 Site Address: 
Stoneham’s Farm, Long 
Lane, Tilehurst, Reading 

Development 
Potential:  

44 dwellings 
(2.21ha at 20dph) 
60 dwellings 

Recommendation: 
Site is recommended for allocation in line with the area considered suitable for development by the 
Landscape Assessment.  

Justification: 
The site is well related to local services and facilities with good opportunities for walking and cycling both 
locally and in towards Reading.  

Development will need to take into account the Landscape Assessment, with only part of the site being 
considered suitable for development. Appropriate mitigation measures will be required to ensure no harm to 
the landscape character of the AONB.  

The development potential of the site has been changed following consultation responses from the site 
promoter and consideration of the density of the neighbouring development. Development of 30dph is 
considered appropriate in this location which gives approximately 60 dwellings on the site. 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the western boundary of Tilehurst within the AONB. The site has easy access to local 
service and facilities (including a primary school, secondary school and local leisure centre) within the 
urban area. A footpath is adjacent to the site, which would need to be preserved should development take 
place.  

If the site is not to be developed in conjunction with EUA003 there needs to be consideration of the links 
between the two sites. 

Landscape:  
The site is located within the AONB. The Landscape Assessment states that the south eastern part of the 
site would be suitable for development subject to important measures to conserve and enhance the AONB. 
There is some concern about the cumulative impact on the AONB of developing this site alongside 
EUA033. The landscape assessment indicates that only one of these sites should be development, with a 
preference for this site. 

Flood Risk: 
The site is within Flood Zone 1 and the centre of the site is within a surface water flood risk area, although 
there is no evidence that the site suffers from flooding. A FRA and SUDs would be required.  

Highways /Transport: 
The size of the proposed development is unlikely to have an impact on the highway network. Access can 
be obtained from Long Lane. Some work would be required to widen Long Lane to the front of the site to 
allow the provision of footways to connect the site to existing footways in the vicinity. If the site was to be 
developed on its own no additional off site highways work would be required, however, should the site be 
developed alongside others in this area improvements to widen Long Lane, and improve the junction of 
Long Lane and Sulham Hill would be required. 

There are regular bus services passing within 400m of the site. There are opportunities for walking and 
cycling, locally and into Reading.  

Ecology: 
There are no protected species or ecological designations on the site. 

Archaeology: 
The site contains a historic farmstead. This is not seen as a significant issue for development although 
further assessment work would be required.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: EUA Parish: Tilehurst 

Page 600



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Education: 
Existing primary school provision in the Eastern Urban Area is close to or at capacity. There is capacity for 
additional pupils within the local secondary schools.  
The Local Education Authority has indicated that a satisfactory solution to school place provision can be 
achieved in the area. 

Environmental Health: 
There are no known air quality, noise or contamination issues associated with the site 

Minerals and Waste: 
Site is completely underlain with gravel giving high potential for use or prior extraction (depending on depth 
and quality of deposit). Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP are relevant. would be required 

No known waste issues. 

Land use planning consultation zone:  
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone. 

Environment Agency: 
The site is in SPZ3. High risk to groundwater. The Environment Agency has confirmed that there is no in 
principle objection to development in SPZs.  

Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged. 
Concern regarding water supply infrastructure. The current water supply network in the area is unlikely to 
be able to support the demand anticipated from this development. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be 
required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of the development. 

Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  

A water supply and drainage strategy would be required 

Parish Council: 
Concerned that development of the site would potentially set a precedent for further development beyond 
the site. Potential for a small section of the site to be included within the redrawn settlement boundary is 
considered ok.  

At preferred options the Parish Council objected to development of this site on the following grounds – 
breach of settlement boundary in AONB, Highways, lack of public transport, infrastructure) 

Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 General comments

 Principle of development

 Landscape/setting including concern about coalescence and impact on AONB

 Contrary to policy.

 Infrastructure concerns and impact on services and facilities – schools, doctors etc, access to
recreation and leisure, retail, emergency services.

 Highways and Transport including impact of traffic, access, capacity, congestion, lack of public
transport, road safety etc.

 Ecology including impact on trees, species, destruction of habitat.

 Flood risk

 Personal issues – e.g. impact on health, well-being.

 Pollution – light, air, noise.

 Employment – loss of farm will lead to a loss of businesses.

 Crime and Security.

 Consultation – issues over timing, using the portal etc.
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation. 

Page 601



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Proposed Submission consultation key issues: 
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below: 

 Tilehurst Neighbourhood Plan should allocate sites in this area – list of suggested sites submitted

 Council ignored significant level of objection

 Density/design out of keeping with surrounding area

 Lack of local employment opportunities
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation. 

SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral impact on sustainability. There would be no significant, 
positive or negative, impacts from development on this site. The site scores predominantly natural, with 
positive scores in relation to sustainable transport, walking and cycling options as well as opportunities for 
active, healthy lifestyles and lack of flood risk.  The site is in the AONB, therefore there is potential, without 
mitigation, for the site to have a significantly negative impact on the character of the landscape. The 
Landscape Assessment indicates that development would be appropriate on part of the site, and sets out 
the mitigation measures that would be required to reduce the impact of development on the environment. 
The cumulative impact of development of both EUA003/008 and EUA033 would have a negative impact on 
the character of the AONB that could not be mitigated. The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 

Proposed development (from SHLAA submission/ Site promoter): 
No specific proposals have been submitted for this site. The site is considered suitable for approximately 80 
dwellings at between 30 and 40dph. Landscape buffering, and an area of public open space will be 
provided. At preferred options a reduced site area (red line) was proposed for the site. 

A planning application for the site was submitted in May 2016 for 66 dwellings (16/01223/OUTMAJ). The
site was granted conditional planning permission in August 2016, subject to completion of a legal 
agreement. 

Page 602



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

Site ID: EUA025 Site Address: Land adjacent to Junction 12 of the M4, Bath Road, Calcot 

Development Potential: 50 100 150-200 dwellings (1.7ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- Flood risk (Flood Zone 2, Groundwater emergence zone and surface water flood risk) 
- Proximity to M4 
- Proximity to railway line 
- AWE outer consultation zone  

Site Assessment 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council sees flooding as a major issue on this site. Concern raised about the impact on Junction 
12 especially with the IKEA development taking place. Noise and air quality due to proximity to the 
railway and motorway were also raised as concerns.  
Tilehurst Parish Council would be against any development on this site. Site is within the flood plain and 
there needs to be sufficient land to soak up flood water.  
At preferred options Holybrook Parish Council objected to development of the site on the following 
grounds (sustainability, already densely populated area, traffic impact, infrastructure, flood risk, proximity 
to M4/A4 and pollution, impact of IKEA) 

A) Automatic exclusion

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings N 

Planning Permission N 

Within flood zone 3 A 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N 

SAC N 

SPA N 

Registered Battlefield N 

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N 

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N 

AWE consultation zone Inner N 

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 

Within settlement 
boundary 

N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out

B) Considerations

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry N 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 50% of site is within SP FZ2. 

Groundwater flood risk Y Within groundwater emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk Y 

Critical Drainage Area N 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality Y 
The site is adjacent to the A4/M4. Air Quality 
assessment would be required 

Contaminated Land N 

Other Y 

Noise – the site is adjacent to the A4/M4. Noise 
assessment would be required. The design and 
layout of the scheme will be based upon good 
acoustic design, to ensure a good standard of 
amenity for the occupants 

Highways / Transport 

Access issues N 

Access will need to be from Dorking Way. 
Proposed highway works for the proposed IKEA 
store will mean that vehicles can no longer turn 
right from Dorking Way, but would need to use 
Charrington Road to the east.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Development is likely to generate approximately 
270 daily vehicle movements, including 
approximately 27 during the 08:00 to 09:00AM 
peak. A small amount of development here is 
unlikely to have an impact on the highway 
network.  

Public Transport network Y There are a number of public transport options in 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: EUA Parish: Holybrook 

Page 603



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

the area, with a bus interchange a short distance 
from the site.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the urban area, 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Medium High / Low Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other N 

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
The site is close to local sports facilities and 
amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N 

Play areas nearby Y The site is close to local play facilities 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species Y 

Site is in environmental stewardship – tree 
planning, bat root creation etc. Water Voles are 
present. Extended phase 1 habitat survey 
required 

Ancient woodland N 

Tree Preservation Orders N 

Local Wildlife Site N 

Nature Reserve N 

Other (eg. BOA) Y Within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relative scale in relation to existing 
settlement 

Y 

Incompatible adjacent land uses Y 
Site is adjacent to the M4 motorway and the A4 
into Reading. The Railway line between Newbury 
and Reading is also close to the site.  

Heritage 

Archaeology Y 
Prehistoric potential and WW2 pillboxes and anti-
tank ditches 

Conservation area N 

Listed buildings N 

Scheduled Monument N 

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N 

Water supply N 
Thames Water have concern regarding water 
supply capability 

Wastewater Y 
Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

Y 
The site is in SPZ3, There is a major aquifer, a 
culverted ordinary watercourse and a high risk of 
groundwater contamination. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N 

Outer Y 

Proximity to railway line Y 

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N 

Mineral consultation area Y 

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site partially underlain with gravel. Potential for 
gravel workings to the south of the site.  

Other N 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
EUA026 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

The site is required by Highways England as a site compound for the M4 Smart Motorway scheme until 
September 2018 

Page 604



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

1 

Site ID: EUA025 
Site Address: Land adjacent to Junction 12 of the M4, Bath Road 

Calcot 
Development Potential: 

50100 150-200 dwellings (1.7-3.4 
ha at 30dph) 

Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment: Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Site is quite close to open space 
facilities, although the A4 would need 
to be crossed 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities and 
open countryside meaning 
that there would be a 
positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ Site is close to recreation ground 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
Development of the site would not 
have an impact on green 
infrastructure 

3. To safeguard and
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site has good access to local 
services and facilities including 
transport links to employment 
opportunities outside the immediate 
area.  

The site is close to local 
services and facilities, with 
good access to education 
and employment services, 
meaning that there will be a 
positive impact on 
economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is close to public transport 
options at Calcot retail part and quite 
close to Theale Station. There are a 
number of walking and cycling 
opportunities in the area. 

The site is served by 
regular bus services, and is 
within walking distance of a 
number of services and 
facilities, meaning that 
there would be a positive 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation 
regarding access onto the 
A4 would help to ensure 
that development did not 
have a negative impact on 
road safety and the social 
sustainability associated 
with it.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

Mitigation regarding access on 
the A4 may be required to 
ensure development here 
would not negatively impact on 
road safety.  

5. To protect and enhance Will it conserve and - The site is currently in environmental An extended phase 1 habitat Development is likely to 

Spatial Area: EA Settlement: EUA Parish: Holybrook 

P
age 605



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

2 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the natural environment enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

stewardship, including tree planting 
and bat roost creation. Water Voles 
are also present on the site.  

survey would be required. 
Retention of a wide area of 
open space to the west of the 
site would help to reduce the 
impact on biodiversity 

have an impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures (such as habitat 
creation and appropriate 
buffers) could be 
implemented to reduce this 
impact.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the landscape.  

 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

+ 
The site is well related to the existing 
settlement pattern.  

Development in line with the 
Core Strategy policies will 
ensure that development is in 
keeping with the character of 
the built environment 

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on 
heritage assets 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on 
cultural assets 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to or enjoyment of the historic 
environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  

- / - - 

The site is adjacent to the M4/A4 
junction with the M4 running along 
the south west edge of the site. The 
southern tip of the site is adjacent to 
the railway line 

It may be that only part of the 
site is considered suitable for 
development. Mitigation 
measures, including careful 
design of buildings, and buffer 
zones, would be required. 
Retention of a wide area of 
open space to the west of the 
site would help to reduce the 
impact of air quality. 

Development of the whole 
site would have a negative 
and potentially significantly 
negative impact on social 
sustainability. Limiting the 
size of developable area 
and introducing 
approached mitigation 
should mean that there is 
no impact on sustainability.   

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 

- / - - 

The site is adjacent to the M4/A4 
junction with the M4 running along 
the south west edge of the site. The 
southern tip of the site is adjacent to 
the railway line.  

It may be that only part of the 
site is considered suitable for 
development. Mitigation 
measures, including careful 
design, buffer zones and noise 
fencing, would be required. 
Retention of a wide area of 

P
age 606



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

3 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

open space to the west of the 
site would help to reduce the 
impact of noise as would the 
design and layout of the 
scheme being based upon 
good acoustic design to ensure 
a good standard of amenity for 
the occupants. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

- 

Development is likely to increase 
greenhouse gas emissions. The level 
of the impact will depend on building 
materials, construction methods, 
transport and design. The site’s 
location adjacent to the A4/M4 could 
lead to greater car use than other 
sites, due to the proximity to the 
strategy road network and the links 
to wider opportunities that this offers.  

Mitigation measures would be 
required, including design in 
accordance with the Core 
Strategy and Travel Planning 
measures to reduce car use 
to/from the site.  

Development will result in 
an increase in greenhouse 
gas emissions, which will 
have a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures will help to 
reduce this impact, and 
could result in a neutral 
impact. The use of Travel 
Planning at this site will be 
important to promote the 
use of the public transport 
options offered near to the 
site, as an alternative to the 
private car.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
Adjacent to Flood Zone 3, in Flood 
Zone 2 and in an area at risk from 
ground and surface water flooding 

The southern half of the site is 
in Flood Zone 2, meaning 
development could take place 
on the northern half of the site.   
 
While the NPPF does not stop 
development in Flood Zone 2, 
sites in Flood Zone 2 will be 
considered only if there are no 

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability, 
although there is no 
evidence of flooding on the 
site, so development on the 
site would be unlikely to 
have an impact on 
sustainability.   

P
age 607



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

4 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

suitable sites within Flood Zone 
1.  
 
A FRA would be required and 
appropriate mitigation, 
including SUDs included in any 
development.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There is potential for significant negative impacts on air quality and noise on this site due to the proximity to the M4/A4 junction. Mitigation measures would need to be included, 
including careful design to minimise the impact. Flooding is also a risk on the southern part of the site, with ground water and surface water flood risk also present on the site. A FRA 
will identify the risk of flooding and direct development towards the least risky parts of the site. SUDs and other flood mitigation will be required. The site scores positively in terms of 
access to employment and services and facilities and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 

P
age 608



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

5 

Following a question from the Inspector during the examination hearings, the developable area of the site has been extended. The site has been reassessed and there is no change 
in the SA/SEA outcome as a result of this amendment to the developable area. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral (with mitigation)  
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to long term 

 

P
age 609



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: EUA025 
Site Address: Land adjacent to Junction 12 

of the M4, Bath Road, Calcot 
Development 
Potential:  

100 150-200 
dwellings (1.7ha 
at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
A small part of the site to the north east is recommended for allocation towards the end of the plan period 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local service and facilities, including the bus 
interchange at the retail park.  
 
Only part of the site is recommended for allocation due to air and noise pollution impact due to the 
proximity of the site to the generated by the M4/A4 and the flood risk on the southern part of the site. The 
Environment Agency strongly recommends that the area of the site within the flood zones this site is not 
allocated. The smaller area for development will also reduce any conflict with the Highways England 
Agency’s proposed M4 Smart Motorway Scheme or other future improvements to Junction 12 of the M4.  
(proposed to start at junction 12).  
 
The site is required by Highways England as a site compound for the M4 Smart Motorway scheme until 
September 2018, therefore, the site would not be available for development until towards the end of the 
plan period.  
 
Following a question from the Inspector during the hearing sessions the developable area of the site has 
been reconsidered and now gives the site a developable potential of between 150 – 200 dwellings.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Calcot to the south of the A4, adjacent to junction 12 of the M4. The site is 
close to the service and facilities offered at the Calcot retail part, including the bus interchange. Being 
adjacent to the M4/A4 means that there are good links to wider employment opportunities that the 
immediate area.  
 
The site could be considered alongside EUA026.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is within an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity.  
 
Flood Risk: 
50% of the site is within Flood Zone 2. This means that this area of the site should only be considered for 
development if there are no other suitable alternatives. The Environment Agency requires a sequential test 
for development to be allocated within a flood zone. Other sites, outside the flood zones are available, 
therefore, the sequential test cannot be carried out and so the area of the site within the flood zone cannot 
be considered for allocation.  
 
The north west corner of the site is within the groundwater emergence zone, with part of the site within a 
surface water flood risk area.  
 
A FRA and appropriate mitigation, including SUDs, would be required.   
 
Highways /Transport: 
The site is considered to have a marginal impact on the highway network. Access would need to be from 
Dorking Way. Once the highway works associated with IKEA have been completed there will be no right 
turn from Dorking Way, vehicles wishing to turn right would need to use Charrington Road to the east of the 
site.  
 
There are good pedestrian and cycle links to and from the site.  
 
The site is opposite the bus interchange at Calcot retail park.  
 

Spatial Area: EA Settlement: EUA Parish:  Holybrook 

Page 610



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The Highways Agency has plans for a Smart Motorway Scheme on the M4 from Junction 12 to 3, which 
could have an impact on the deliverability of the whole of this site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is currently in environmental stewardship with tree planning and bat roost creation taking place and 
in a Biodiversity Opportunity Area. Water Voles are also present on the site. Retention of a large area of 
open space to the west of the site will help to minimise the impact on biodiversity.  
 
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required.  
An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 
Any land not allocated for development should be handed over to the Council as an extension to Holybrook 
Linear Park.  
 
Archaeology: 
There is potential for prehistoric archaeology on the site and WW2 pillboxes and anti-tank ditches. However 
this is unlikely to cause an issue for development.  
 
Education: 
Existing primary school provision in the Eastern Urban Area is close to or at capacity. There is capacity for 
additional pupils within the local secondary schools.  
The Local Education Authority has indicated that a satisfactory solution to school place provision can be 
achieved in the area.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the M4/A4 and railway line. Noise and air quality could be a significant issue.  
 
A noise and air quality survey would be required and careful design and mitigation measures would be 
needed. The design and layout of the scheme will be based upon good acoustic design, to ensure a good 
standard of amenity for the occupants. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Site is partially underlain by gravel. Past minerals workings adjacent to the southern part of the site indicate 
high potential for viable deposits on the southern part of the site.   
 
No known waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the outer AWE consultation zone, although the allocation of a small portion of the site is below 
the threshold for ONR consultation. Should the whole site be developed, consultation with ONR would need 
to take place.  
 
Environment Agency: 
Strong recommendation that the site is not allocated due to a large proportion of the location being within 
Flood Zone 2. The site is in SPZ3 and there is a major aquifer, a culverted ordinary watercourse and a high 
risk of groundwater contamination. 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding water supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
Flooding is seen as a major issue on this site. Concern raised about the traffic generation onto the A4, 
especially with the IKEA development on the other side of the A4. Noise and air pollution are seen as a 
major issue.  

Page 611



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
At preferred options Holybrook Parish Council objected to development of the site on the following grounds 
(sustainability, already densely populated area, traffic impact, infrastructure, flood risk, proximity to M4/A4 
and pollution, impact of IKEA) 
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 Principle of development.  

 Breach of settlement boundary and coalescence of settlements.  

 Need to use brownfield sites first and other alternative options given.  

 Landscape and setting.  

 Concern over infrastructure and services (doctors, schools, reliance on Reading).  

 Highways and transport issues.  

 Flooding 

 Pollution (noise, air).  

 Ecology 

 Personal points.  

 Proximity to M4/A4 

 Unknown impact of IKEA 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 Use of site for materials/machinery store during road works 

 Site in environmental stewardship (used for coppice for biomass fuel) 

 Lack of consideration of impact on setting of the AONB 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
There is an overall neutral impact on sustainability. There is potential for significant negative impacts on air 
quality and noise on this site due to the proximity to the M4/A4 junction. Mitigation measures would need to 
be included, including careful design to minimise the impact. The design and layout of the scheme will be 
based upon good acoustic design, to ensure a good standard of amenity for the occupants.  Flooding is 
also a risk on the southern part of the site, with ground water and surface water flood risk also present on 
the site. A FRA will identify the risk of flooding and direct development towards the least risky parts of the 
site. SUDs and other flood mitigation will be required. The site scores positively in terms of access to 
employment and services and facilities and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Following a question from the Inspector during the examination hearings the developable area of the site has been 
extended. The site has been reassessed and there is no change in the SA/SEA outcome as a result of this alteration to 
the developable area. 

 
The SA/SEA highlights air quality and noise pollution as potentially significant negative issues for the site. 
Developing a smaller area of the site and including mitigation measures should help to reduce this impact. 
Flood risk to the south of the site is also an issue. However, only the northern part of the site is suggested 
for development which will neutralise this risk.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The whole of the site (9.6ha) is proposed for mixed use development including commercial and residential 
development with a density of no less than 50dph (approx 250 dwellings). Development of the site would 
include amenity space and approached mitigation for flood risk, noise pollution and air quality as a result of 
the proximity to the A4/M4.  

 
 
 

Page 612



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: EUA026 Site Address:  Land adjacent to Bath Road and Dorking Way, Calcot 

 

Development Potential: 35 24 dwellings (0.8ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- Surface water flood risk 
- AWE outer consultation zone 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council considered that this is might have development potential but traffic implications would 
need to be carefully considered.  
At preferred options Holybrook Parish Council objected to development of the site on the following 
grounds (sustainability, already densely populated area, traffic impact, infrastructure, flood risk, proximity 
to M4/A4 and pollution, impact of IKEA) 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y Part of the site 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  Y 
Site is close to the M4 and A4 which could cause 
air quality issues.  

Contaminated Land N  

Other Y 

Noise pollution from the M4 / A4 could be an 
issue. The design and layout of the scheme will 
be based upon good acoustic design, to ensure a 
good standard of amenity for the occupants 

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access will need to be from Dorking Way. 
Proposed highway works for the proposed IKEA 
store will mean that vehicles can no longer turn 
right from Dorking Way, but would need to use 
Charrington Road to the east. 

Highway network suitability N 

Development is likely to generate approximately 
144 daily vehicle movements including 
approximately 14 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak.  Development would have a limited impact 
on the highway network.  

Public transport network Y 
There are a number of public transport options in 
the urban area and the site is close to the bus 
interchange at Calcot retail park.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the urban area.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located in an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Low/Medium landscape sensitivity 

Spatial Area:  Eastern Area Settlement: EUA Parish:  Holybrook 

Page 613



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
amenity space nearby 

Y 
Site is close to local sports facilities and amenity 
space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to local play facilities for children.  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses  Y Proximity to the A4 could have a noise impact 

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply N 
Thames Water have concern regarding water 
supply capability 

Wastewater Y 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

N  

AWE Consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer Y  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
EUA025  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

The site is required by Highways England as a site compound for the M4 Smart Motorway scheme until 
September 2018 

 

Page 614



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: EUA026 
Site Address: Land adjacent to Bath Road  and Dorking Way, 

Calcot 
Development Potential:  35  24 dwellings (0.8ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
Site is quite close to open space 
facilities, although the A4 would need 
to be crossed 

 The site is close to local 
services and facilities and 
open countryside meaning 
that there would be a 
positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ Site is close to recreation ground  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
Development of the site would not 
have an impact on green 
infrastructure 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site has good access to local 
services and facilities including 
transport links to employment 
opportunities outside the immediate 
area.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities, with 
good access to education 
and employment services, 
meaning that there will be a 
positive impact on 
economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

The site is close to public transport 
options at Calcot retail park and quite 
close to Theale Station. There are a 
number of walking and cycling 
opportunities in the area. 

 
The site is served by 
regular bus services, and is 
within walking distance of a 
number of services and 
facilities, meaning that 
there would be a positive 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

Mitigation regarding access on 
the A4 may be required to 
ensure development here 
would not negatively impact on 
road safety.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on 
biodiversity or geodiversity 

 
Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 

Spatial Area: EA Settlement: EUA Parish:  Holybrook 

P
age 615



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the landscape.  

 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

+ 
The site is well related to the existing 
settlement pattern.  

 

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on 
heritage assets 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on 
cultural assets 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to or enjoyment of the historic 
environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will there be an impact on 
air quality?  - / 0 

The site is adjacent to the A4 which 
could result in air quality issues on 
the site 

Mitigation measures would be 
required.  

Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on social 
sustainability, although with 
the required mitigation this 
impact should be 
neutralised.  

Will there be an impact 
noise levels? 

- / 0 
The site is adjacent to the A4 which 
could result in noise issues on the 
site 

Mitigation measures would be 
required. The design and 
layout of the scheme will be 
based upon good acoustic 
design to ensure a good 
standard of amenity for the 
occupants. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 

- The site is greenfield  
The site could have a 
negative impact on 

P
age 616



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and buildings? environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- / 0 
A small part of the site is at risk from 
surface water flooding.  

A FRA would be required 
alongside appropriate 
mitigation including SUDs  

With appropriate mitigation 
(inc. SUDs) it is unlikely 
that development of the site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

P
age 617



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
Summary 

There is potential for significant negative impacts of air quality and noise due to proximity to the A4 but with appropriate mitigation measures and design this impact should be 
mitigated against. A small part of the site is within an area at risk from surface water flooding, with the appropriate Flood Risk Assessment and mitigation measures (inc. SUDs) there 
should not be an impact on sustainability.  There are a number of positive impacts in relation to sustainable transport and access to local services and facilities. This easy access 
should reduce the need for private car travel, reducing the impact on environmental sustainability. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral (with mitigation) 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to long term 

 
 

P
age 618



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: EUA026 
Site Address: Land adjacent to Bath Road 

and Dorking Way, Calcot 
Development 
Potential:  

24 dwellings 
(0.8ha at 30dph) 
35 dwellings 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended for allocation, towards the end of the plan period for 35 – 40 dwellings.  

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local service and facilities, including the bus 
interchange at the retail park.  
 
The site is required by Highways England as a site compound for the M4 Smart Motorway scheme until 
September 2018, therefore, the site would not be available for development until towards the end of the 
plan period.  
 
The development potential of the site has been changed following consultation responses from the site 
promoter and consideration of the density of the neighbouring development. Development of up to 40dph is 
considered appropriate in this location which gives between 35 and 40 dwellings.   

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Calcot to the south of the A4. The site is close to the service and facilities 
offered at the Calcot retail part, including the bus interchange. Being adjacent to the M4/A4 means that 
there are good links to wider employment opportunities that the immediate area.  
 
The site could be considered alongside EUA025.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is within an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is within Flood Zone 1. 
 
A small part of the western edge of the site is within a surface water flood risk area.  
 
A FRA would be required, and appropriate SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The site is considered to have a marginal impact on the highway network. Access would need to be from 
Dorking Way. Once the highway works associated with IKEA have been completed there will be no right 
turn from Dorking Way, vehicles wishing to turn right would need to use Charrington Road to the east of the 
site.  
 
There are good pedestrian and cycle links to and from the site.  
 
The site is close to the bus interchange at Calcot retail part.  
 
Ecology: 
There are no known ecological or environmental designations on the site.  
 
Archaeology: 
There is no known archaeology on the site.  
 
Education: 
Existing primary school provision in the Eastern Urban Area is close to or at capacity. There is capacity for 
additional pupils within the local secondary schools.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the A4. Noise and air quality could be an issue. The design and layout of the scheme 

Spatial Area: EA Settlement: EUA Parish:  Holybrook 

Page 619



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

will be based upon good acoustic design to ensure a good standard of amenity for the occupants. 
 
A noise and air quality survey would be required and careful design and mitigation measures may be 
needed.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral deposits 
 
No known waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the outer AWE consultation zone, although is below the threshold for consultation with ONR.   
 
Environment Agency: 
The site is within Flood Zone 1. 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding water supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council consider that this site might have development potential by traffic implications would 
need to be considered.  
 
At preferred options Holybrook Parish Council objected to development of the site on the following grounds 
(sustainability, already densely populated area, traffic impact, infrastructure, flood risk, proximity to M4/A4 
and pollution, impact of IKEA) 
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 General comments and principle of development.  

 Breach of settlement boundary and coalescence of settlements.  

 Need to use brownfield sites first and other alternative options given.  

 Landscape and setting.  

 Concern over infrastructure and services (doctors, schools, reliance on Reading).  

 Highways and transport issues.  

 Flooding 

 Pollution (noise, air).  

 Ecology 

 Personal points.  

 Unknown impact of IKEA 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 Site in environmental stewardship (used for coppice for biomass fuel) 

 Lack of consideration of impact on setting of the AONB 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA does not highlight any significant positive or negative impacts. There is potential for negative 
impacts of air quality and noise due to proximity to the A4 but with appropriate mitigation measures and 
design this impact should be mitigated against. A small part of the site is within an area at risk from surface 
water flooding, with the appropriate Flood Risk Assessment and mitigation measures (inc. SUDs) there 
should not be an impact on sustainability. There are a number of positive impacts in relation to sustainable 
transport and access to local services and facilities. This easy access should reduce the need for private 
car travel, reducing the impact on environmental sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes 

Page 620



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to 

promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
There are a number of positive impact in relation to access to local services and facilities. The only 
negative impacts relate to surface water flood risk, noise and air pollution could have potentially negative 
impacts without the appropriate mitigation.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for mixed use development including commercial and residential development at a 
density of no less than 50dph delivering approx 40 – 50 dwellings. The site could come forward 
independently or jointly with EUA025. 

 
 
 

Page 621



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: EUA031 Site Address:  Land to the East of Sulham Hill 

 

Development Potential: 35  29 dwellings (0.96ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- Potential loss of local amenity space 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Site is used for equestrian purposes and is seen as important open space by the community. Concern 
raised as to where the horses would graze and people ride horses if this site was developed. At 
preferred options the Parish Council objected to development on this site.   

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

N 
Adjacent to the AONB. A Landscape Assessment 
has advised that there site has potential subject to 
mitigation 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access would ideally come from Clements Mead. 
The site will be accessed from either Clements 
Mead or Sulham Hill, with the final access being 
determined by a Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment in order to preserve the semi-rural 
character of Sulham Hill.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Development would generate approximately 270 
daily vehicle movements, including approximately 
27 during the 08:00 to 09:00AM peak. Proposals 
will have a marginal impact on the highway and 
travel network.  

Public Transport network Y 
There are a number of public transport options in 
the urban area. There is a bus stop, with a regular 
bus service within 400m of the site.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are footways throughout the urban area.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB A 
The site is adjacent to the AONB and there is 
development potential subject to mitigation 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Low/Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other   

Green Infrastructure Open Space / Playing field / Y The site is adjacent to local amenity space.  

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: EUA Parish:  Tilehurst 

Page 622



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Amenity space nearby Site is seen as locally important open space / 
Amenity space (currently used as grazing land).  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is adjacent to local play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders A  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land use N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings A  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply Y 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
 

Wastewater Y 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

Y 25% of the site is in SPZ3. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site partially underlain with gravel. Policies 1&2 of 
the RMLP need to be considered.  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
EUA032, EUA033  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
 

Page 623



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: EUA031 Site Address: 
Land to the east of 
Sulham Hill 

Development 
Potential:  

35  29 dwellings 
(0.96ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing residential development, and local service and facilities and is not at 
risk from flooding. There are no significant issues on the site.  
 
The development potential of the site has been changed following consultation responses from the site 
promoter and consideration of the density of the neighbouring development. Development of approximately 
35dph is considered appropriate in this location which gives approximately 35 dwellings on the site.   

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is well related to the existing residential development, close to local service and facilities (including 
the local primary school and community hall). This site is adjacent to a children’s play area. 
 
The site is currently used as grazing pasture for the neighbouring riding stables. The lease agreement 
between the stables and the land owner requires the land owner to provide additional land elsewhere 
should the existing site/s become unavailable.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is adjacent to the AONB, in an area of low/medium landscape sensitivity. Landscape work carried 
out for the site indicates development on the site would be acceptable subject to mitigation measures.    
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. SUDs would be required.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The proposal is expected to have a marginal impact on the highway and travel network. Access would 
ideally come from Clements Mead. The Council’s Landscape Assessment work requires access to come 
from Clements Mead, to preserve the rural character of Sulham Hill. Landscape advice indicates that 
access could come from either Clements Mead or Sulham Hill, with the final access being determined by 
the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment to preserve the rural character of Sulham Hill.  
 
There is a bus stop with a regular bus service within 400m of the site.  
 
Ecology: 
There are no known ecological or environmental designations on the site.  
 
Archaeology: 
There is a listed farmhouse near to the site, but as the area is already developed there is unlikely to be an 
impact on archaeology.  
 
Education: 
Existing primary school provision in the Eastern Urban Area is close to or at capacity. There is capacity for 
additional pupils within the local secondary schools.  
 
The Local Education Authority indicated that a satisfactory solution to school place provision can be 
achieved in the area.  
 
Environmental Health: 
There are no known air, noise or contamination issues with this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Site partly underlain with gravel deposits. Consideration of Policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP required.  
 

Spatial Area: EA Settlement: EUA Parish:  Tilehurst  

Page 624



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

No known waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
25% of the site is in SPZ3.  
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council feels that this site is important open space used for grazing horses from the 
neighbouring stables. At preferred options the Parish Council objected to development on this site.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  

 General comments 

 Principle of development, including alternative suggestions 

 Landscape/setting and character including impact on AONB 

 Infrastructure including lack of facilities and services.  

 Highways and Transport issues. 

 Ecology including impact on Sulham Woods and impact on species. 

 Flood risk 

 Personal issues 

 Pollution – noise, light, air.  

 Loss of employment 

 Crime and security 

 Issues with the consultation 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below: 

 Covenant on the site 

 Council ignored significant level of objection 

 Tilehurst Neighbourhood Plan should allocate sites in this area – list of suggested sites submitted  

 Access – preferred form Sulham Hill, rather than from Clements Mead as suggested by policy 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral impact on sustainability. There are no significant impacts 
from this site. The site is well located for services and facilities as well as having good public transport links 
into Reading, giving a number of positive sustainability impacts. There are potential negative impacts 
relating the loss of greenfield land, although with appropriate mitigation the negative impact could be 
reduced.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission/site promoter):  
The site is proposed for approximately 30 new dwellings in a mix of dwellings types and sizes. An indicative 
framework plan submitted as part of the preferred options consultation indicates the site could 
accommodate approximate 50 dwellings (1.4ha at 30 – 40dph). 
 
A planning application for the site was submitted in April 2016 for 39 dwellings (16/01034/OUTMAJ). The 
site was granted conditional planning permission in August 2016, subject to completion of a legal 
agreement by November 2016.  

 

Page 625



Theale Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 626



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THE001 Site Address:  Former Sewage Works, Theale  

 

Development Potential: 
138 dwellings (3.45ha at 40dph) 

57dwellings (1.9ha at 30dph) 
SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Flood risk (FZ2, FZ1) 
- Ground and surface water flood risk 
- Contaminated land  
- Overhead cables 
- Proximity to the M4 (air quality and noise pollution) 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

General agreement that THE001, 002 and 005 should be considered as one site. There is potential for 
flooding on the site and both THE002 and 005 take water from Sulham Brook. Noise from the M4 is a 
concern as are the over head power lines. Access and potential for contamination are also of concern.  
No comments made on this site at preferred options 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N P 
The Landscape Character Assessment (2015) 
indicates that only part of the site is suitable for 
development.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently Developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Lane N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N 

Site is near to but not adjacent to the settlement 
boundary.  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  U 

Former sewage treatment works, but currently 
vacant land 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 
The EA strongly recommends that this site is not 
allocated for development.  40% of the site is 
within FZ2.  

Groundwater flood risk Y Ground water emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is adjacent to the M4 

Contaminated Land Y 
Previous land use means that contamination is 
likely  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues Y 

Potential access issues. Access onto Blossom 
Lane would require additional land to widen the 
lane. An alternative access could be via THE002 to 
the south.  

Highway network suitability N 

Development expected to generate approximately 
480 daily vehicle movements, including about 48 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 am peak. The traffic 
generated would have a significant impact on the 
highway network. A Transport Assessment would 
be required to assess the impact taking into 
account the consented Lakeside South (THE011) 
residential development to the south.  

Public Transport network Y 
There are a number of public transport options in 
Theale. There is a railway station and several bus 

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Theale 

Page 627



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

services linking the village to Reading and 
Newbury. The nearest bus stop is 700m from the 
site.  

Footways/Pavements Y 

There are pavements throughout the village. A link 
could be made on to Blossom Lane for pedestrians 
and cyclists. If a road was built through THE002 
foot and cycle way would need to be provided.  

landscape 

Located in AONB A Adjacent to, but within the setting of the AONB 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

U Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to local playing fields 

Rights of Way affected A 
Right of way runs along the northern boundary of 
the site 

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to local play facilities for children  

Ecology / 
Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species N Site is in a BAP habitat 

Ancient woodland A  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y Site is within a BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 

Site is quite well related to the settlement although 
is not physically adjacent to the settlement The site 
is close to but not adjacent to the existing 
settlement 

Incompatible adjacent land uses Y Site is adjacent to the M4 

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 
Surrounding area has many archaeological 
features. Not clear what impact recent land use 
may have had. Further investigation required   

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
Over head cables pass through the site with a 
pylon present on the site.  

Water supply N 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability 

Wastewater N 
TW have concern regarding wastewater capability 
 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

N 
High risk to groundwater. Ordinary watercourse 
present, major aquifer. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway 
line 

 N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is a 
history of extraction in the area. Consideration of 
policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required. 

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THE002, THE005  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 

Page 628



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THE001 
Site Address: 

Former Sewage Works, Theale Development Potential:  
138 dwellings (3.45ha at 40dph) 
57 dwellings (1.9ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
The site is located close to the local 
facilities in Theale 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to local playing 
fields, but is not as close as site 
THE009 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 

A right of way runs along the 
northern boundary of the site. 
Development would need to take this 
into account 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Theale’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 
There are a number of public 
transport options in Theale – railway 
station and several bus services 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourages walking and 
cycling. There is therefore a 
positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 

0 
The site is designated as a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). 

BOAs provide opportunities for 
improvements to biodiversity. 

Development could have 
an impact on the character 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

P
age 629



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

There is ancient woodland adjacent 
to the site. 

 
Buffers are required around 
ancient woodland. 

of the landscape and 
therefore a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. The site is 
not actually within the 
AONB, meaning that with 
appropriate mitigation the 
impact should be 
neutralised.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

? - 

The location of the site would mean 
that there would be some impact 
upon the landscape, as the site is 
also adjacent to the AONB. The site 
is adjacent to the AONB. A 
Landscape Assessment has 
concluded that the site as a whole 
should not be pursued 

Sensitive design and 
appropriate boundary treatment 
/ buffers would be required.  
The Landscape Assessment 
identified that part of the site 
would be suitable for 
development, with appropriate 
mitigation measures: 

 Limit developable 
area 

 Retain landspcae 
buffer of min. 15m to 
Blosson Lane and 
footpath 

 Additional tree 
planting as show in 
assessment 

 Development should 
face onto open space 
off Woodfield Close, 
but retain boundary 
platning 

 Break up built form 
with substantial areas 
of tree planting 

 Access from existing 
access 

 Reduced density to 
reflect semi-rural edge 
of Theale 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

The site is close to the existing 
settlement, separated from existing 
development by an area of public 
open space. Development would 
change the character of the built 
environment.  
 

Careful design would help to 
mitigation the impact and fit 
any development into the 
existing residential 
development.  

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability by changing 
the character of the built 
environment. However, with 
appropriate mitigation this 
impact should be 
minimised.  Will it conserve and 0 The surrounding area has many Further investigation of 

P
age 630



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

archaeological features, however the 
impact that this would have is not 
fully known  

potential archaeological 
features is needed 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no cultural assets in 
Theale  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  ? 

Given the location of the site close to 
the M4, air quality could impact upon 
development of this location  

Appropriate mitigation and 
development of a smaller site 
area away from the M4  

Poor air quality and noise 
pollution would have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability, appropriate 
mitigation, including 
development of a smaller 
site away from the M4 
would help to reduce this 
impact to an acceptable 
level.  
 
Contamination of the site 
would have a negative 
impact without appropriate 
mitigation, although 
cleaning of the site would 
have a positive impact on 
sustainability.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

- ? 
The site is close to the M4, and noise 
will could impact upon development  

Appropriate noise mitigation 
and development of a smaller 
area of the site away from the 
M4 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

+ 

The site was previously a sewage 
treatment works and the land could 
therefore be contaminated. 
Development could result in 
decontamination of the land and an 
improvement in soil quality  

Decontamination  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have any impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? ? 

The site was previously a sewage 
treatment works, however the site 
has been cleared of any structures 
some and hardstanding remains on 
the site.  

 
There is unlikely to be an 
impact on sustainability.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding - 

The eastern part of the site is within 
Flood Zone 2. The site is also at risk 
from ground and surface water 

An FRA would be required with 
appropriate flood mitigation 
including SUDs to be provided.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 

P
age 631



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

flooding The developable area could be 
reduced to only develop the 
area outside flood zone 2.  

An FRA will identify the 
areas most at risk and 
propose appropriate 
mitigation and SUDs to 
reduce this impact.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability issues on the site. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport 
all giving the site a positive score in terms of sustainability. The Landscape Assessments on the site has indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for development, with 
significant buffers required to mitiagete the impact on the AONB. The site is a brownfield site, on previously contaminated land, meaning that development of the site could have a 
positive impact on soil quality and improve the character of the area. The site is close to the M4 which, without appropriate mitigation could lead to significant noise and air quality 
issues and a knock-on effect on sustainability.  The site is also at risk from flooding, from a number of sources, which without appropriate mitigation would lead to a negative impact 
on sustainability.  The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 

P
age 632



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 
 

P
age 633



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE001 Site Address: 

Former Sewage Works, 
Theale Development 

Potential:  

138 dwellings 
(3.45ha at 40dph) 
57 dwellings (1.9ha 
at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation for approximately 90 dwellings 
At Preferred Options the site was recommended for development.  
The site is no longer recommended for allocation.  

 

Justification: 
The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale. The site area has been reduced to take into 
account the area of the site within flood zone 2.  
 
Access to the site is an issue and would need to be resolved.  
There are significant concerns regarding access to the site, as additional land would be required along 
Blossom Lane to provide adequate access.  
 
The site is poorly related to the existing settlement and the landscape assessment states that buffers would 
be required to the edge closest to the settlement, further distancing the site from the existing settlement.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Theale, close to the settlement boundary, but not adjacent to it. It is close 
to the centre of Theale, where there are a number of local services and facilities and there is good access 
to the open countryside.  
 
The site was previously a sewage treatment works, however, it is now vacant. 
 
Overhead power lines cross the site, with a pylon present on the site.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of medium landscape sensitivity adjacent to the AONB. The Landscape Character 
Assessment (2015) states that only part of the site would be suitable for development, and at lower density 
in keeping with the semi-rural edge of Theale. A number of mitigation measures as set out in the 
assessment, that would need to be adhered to.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is at risk of flooding from a number of sources, fluvial (40% of the site is in Flood Zone 2) , 60% is 
in Flood Zone 1, groundwater and surface water). An FRA would be required and appropriate mitigation, 
including SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Access to the site is seen as an issue. Blossom Lane would need to be widened, which would involve 
acquisition of additional land from neighbouring dwellings. An alternative route could be provided via 
THE002 to High Street.  
 
The traffic generated from the site cwould have a significant impact on the local highway network. A 
Transport Assessment would be required (taking into account the consented development at Lakeside 
South (THE011)).  
 
Theale is well served by public transport, with bus routes and a railway station. However the nearest bus 
stop is approximately 700m from the site.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is within a BAP habitat and a BOA.  
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeology on the site, however the surrounding area has many archaeological features and 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area  Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

Page 634



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

finds. An assessment of the site would be required.  
 
Education: 
Theale primary school is at capacity on its current site. A new site is being actively sort for a new primary 
school to accommodate the existing pupils numbers and future pupil growth in the area. Theale Green 
Secondary school has capacity.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the M4, there is potential for noise and air pollution on the site. Appropriate 
mitigation and design techniques would be required.  
 
As a former sewage treatment works there is potential for contamination on the site. The agent states that 
contamination on the site would not impede development. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits.  There is a history of extraction in the area.  Consideration of policy 
1 and 2 of the RMLP would be required. 
 
No known waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
The EA strongly recommend that this site is not allocated for development. There is an ordinary 
watercourse within the site and a major aquifer. There is a high risk of groundwater contamination. Land 
adjacent to the site has previously been investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Any development proposed at this site would need to should incorporate at least an 8 metre buffer from the 
top of Sulham Brook river bank and conserve and enhance biodiversity.  
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council is of the view that this site, along with THE002 and THE005 should be considered as 
one site. They have concerns regarding flooding, noise impact from the M4, overhead power lines, access 
and the potential for contamination.  
 
No comments made on this site at preferred options. 
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 
 

 Housing Mix  Existing Land Use                             Quality of Life                                  

 Medical Services  Access  Settlement boundary   

 Schools  Flooding  Highways and transport 

 Infrastructure  Principle of Development                 Landscape/Environment 

 Utilities  Road Safety                                     Pollution 

 Public Transport   

   
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 

 

Page 635



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  

 Support for rejection of site 

 Site promoter rebuttal to rejection of the site 
 

For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability effect. There are no significant sustainability 
issues on the site. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public transport all giving the site a positive score in terms of sustainability. The 
Landscape Assessments on the site has indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for 
development, with significant buffers required to mitigate the impact on the AONB. The site is a brownfield 
site, on previously contaminated land, meaning that development of the site could have a positive impact 
on soil quality and improve the character of the area. The site is close to the M4 which, without appropriate 
mitigation could lead to significant noise and air quality issues and negative effect on sustainability.  The 
site is also at risk from flooding, from a number of sources, which without appropriate mitigation would lead 
to a negative impact on sustainability. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on 
economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the 
short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted for the site.  
 

 
 
 

Page 636



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

Site ID: THE002 Site Address:  Whiteheart Meadow, Theale  

 

Development Potential: 224 dwellings (5.6ha at 40dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- Flood risk (FZ2, FZ1) 
- Surface and Groundwater flood risk 
- Overhead cables 
- Proximity to M4 (potential for air quality and noise pollution)  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

General agreement that THE001, 002 and 005 should be considered as one site. There is potential for 
flooding on the site and both THE002 and 005 take water from Sulham Brook. Noise from the M4 is a 
concern as are the over head power lines. Access is also of concern. 
 
No comments made on this site at preferred options 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A Site has not been assessed 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently Developable  N  

Land Use Protected Employment Area N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 
The EA strongly recommend that this site is not 
allocated for development.  90% of the site is 
within FZ2. 

Groundwater flood risk Y Ground water emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is adjacent to the M4 

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability N 
Highways comments have not been received for 
this site. No comments made on this site 

Public Transport network Y 

There are a number of public transport options in 
Theale. There is a railway station and several bus 
services linking the village to Reading and 
Newbury.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the village 

Landscape 

Located in AONB P The eastern part of the site is in the AONB. 

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Medium/low landscape sensitivity   

Other   

Green Infrastructure 
Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to local playing fields 

Rights of Way affected A Right of way runs along western boundary of the 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

Page 637



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

site 

Play areas nearaby nearby Y Site is close to play facilities for children  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Site is within a BAP habitat and wetland. An 
extended phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required.  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y Site is within a BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses Y Site is adjacent to the M4 

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Some archaeological finds on the site. Further 
assessment required.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y Overhead cables and pylons on the site 

Water supply N 
Thames Water have concern regarding water 
supply capability 

Wastewater N 
Thames Water have concern regarding 
wastewater capability 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

N 
There is an ordinary watercourse within the site, a 
major aquifer and a high risk of groundwater 
contamination. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is 
a history of extraction in the area. Consideration 
of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required. 

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THE001, THE005  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 

Page 638



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THE002 Site Address: Whiteheart Meadow, Theale Development Potential:  224 dwellings (5.6ha at 40dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
The site is located close to the local 
facilities in Theale 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to local playing 
fields, but is not as close as site 
THE009 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

? 
A right of way runs along the western 
boundary of the site.  

Right of way would need to be 
protected.  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Theale’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 
There are a number of public 
transport options in Theale – railway 
station and several bus services 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourages walking and 
cycling. There is therefore a 
positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 

0 
The site is designated as a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA) 

BOAs provide opportunities for 
improvements to biodiversity. 

The designation of the site 
as a BOA means that there 
will be a positive impact 

-Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

P
age 639



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

across West Berkshire? upon environmental 
sustainability  Will it conserve and 

enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

? / - 

The top corner of the site falls within 
the AONB. The site has also been 
assessed as having low to medium 
landscape sensitivity  

Consideration of the AONB 
required.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

+ 
The site is adjacent to and well 
related to the existing settlement.  

 

It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability 
subject to further 
archaeological investigation  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Some archaeological finds on the 
site 

Further investigation required  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no cultural assets in 
Theale  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality? 

- The site is adjacent to the M4 
Mitigation including design 
techniques would be required.  

The proximity of the site to 
the M4 will result in air and 
noise pollution which would 
have a negative impact on 
sustainability. Appropriate 
mitigation may be able to 
reduce the impact.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

- The site is adjacent to the M4 
Mitigation including design 
techniques would be required. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a Greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding - 

The is within Flood Zone 2 and at 
risk from  ground and surface water 
flooding 

An FRA would be required with 
appropriate flood mitigation 
including SUDs to be  provided.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 

P
age 640



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Sites in Flood Zone 2 will only 
be considered for development 
if there are no suitable 
alternatives. 

An FRA will identify the 
areas most at risk and 
propose appropriate 
mitigation and SUDs to 
reduce this impact. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability issues on the site. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport 
all giving the site a positive score in terms of sustainability. The site is close to the M4 which, without appropriate mitigation could lead to significant noise and air quality issues and a 
negative effect on sustainability.  The site is also at risk from flooding, from a number of sources, which without appropriate mitigation would lead to a negative impact on 
sustainability.  The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development 
in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 

P
age 641



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 642



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE002 Site Address: 
Whitehart Meadow, Theale Development 

Potential:  
224 dwellings 
(5.6ha at 40dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is adjacent to the M4 meaning noise and air quality issues on the site. A pylon is located in the 
centre of the site.  
 
The Environment Agency strongly recommends that this site is not allocated as 90% of the site is in flood 
zone 2. A sequential test would be required to allocate the site. Other suitable sites with a lower risk of 
flooding are available in Theale and across the district, so the Council would be unable to carry out the 
sequential test.  

Spatial Area: Eastern Area  Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale  

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Theale. It is close to the centre of Theale where there are a range of local 
services and facilities. There is also good access to the countryside.  
 
Overhead cables and an electricity pylon are present on the site.  
 
Landscape:  
The northern corner of the site is within the AONB. The site is in an area of medium / low landscape 
sensitivity. If the site was recommended for allocation a Landscape Assessment would be required to 
determine the appropriate developable area of the site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is within flood zone 2 and at risk from groundwater and surface water flooding. An FRA would be 
required with appropriate mitigation, including SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No comments have been received made on this site.  
There are a number of public transport options within Theale, with regular bus services and a railway 
station.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is within a BAP habitat and wetland and within a BOA. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would 
be required.  An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 
Archaeology: 
Part of the site has been subject to previous work with some positive results. Further work would be 
required.  
 
Education: 
Theale primary school is at capacity.   A site is actively being sought for a new primary school site in 
Theale, a number of locations are being discussed. The new school will be built to accommodate the 
existing pupil numbers and future pupil growth in the area and is necessary to address current capacity 
issues. There is capacity at Theale Green secondary school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the M4 which could lead to noise and air quality issues. Appropriate mitigation, 
including design techniques, would be required.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is a history of extraction in the area.  Consideration of policy 
1 and 2 of the RMLP would be required. 

Page 643



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
No known waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
The EA strongly recommend that this site is not allocated for development. There is an ordinary 
watercourse within the site, a major aquifer and a high risk of groundwater contamination. If the site was to 
be allocated a sequential test would need to be carried out.  
 
The site has previously been investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Any development proposed at this site should incorporate at least an 8 metre buffer from the top of Sulham 
Brook river bank and conserve and enhance biodiversity. 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council view that this site, alongside THE001 and THE005, are seen as one site. They have 
concerns with regard to flooding, noise impact from the M4, overhead power lines and access.  
No comments made at preferred options stage.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 Flood risk 

 Suitability for housing development questioned 

 Presence of power lines 

 Loss of settlement gap 

 Loss of village character 
Detailed comments received from the site promoter objecting to the rejection of the site as a preferred 
option on the ground of flood risk.  
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  

 Site promoter rebuttal to rejection of the site 
 

For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability effect. There are no significant sustainability 
issues on the site. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public transport all giving the site a positive score in terms of sustainability. The site is 
close to the M4 which, without appropriate mitigation could lead to significant noise and air quality issues 
and a negative effect on sustainability.  The site is also at risk from flooding, from a number of sources, 
which without appropriate mitigation would lead to a negative impact on sustainability.  The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  

Page 644



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

No specific proposals have been submitted for this site.  
At preferred options the site promoter submitted information stating that the western half of the site could 
be developed for approx. 125 dwellings, leaving a suitable buffer strip, of public open space, adjacent to 
the pylons/overhead cables and M4.  

Page 645



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THE003 Site Address:  North Lakeside, The Green, Theale  

 

Development Potential: 42 15 dwellings (1.4ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Greenfield 
- Surface water flood risk (site is adjacent to a lake) 
- TPOs 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The main concern of this site is the access via St Ives Close.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N P 
The Landscape Character Assessment (2015) 
states that only part of the site would be suitable 
for development.  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary.  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent/ 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y  

Surface water flood risk Y Adjacent to lake 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land U 
Previous gravel pit. Remediation strategy 
developed for the adjacent site.  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access can be obtained through St Ives Close. 
The Close would need to be upgraded to an 
adoptable standard, but this would seem to be 
possible. An alternative access could be obtained 
from the consented development of Lakeside 
South to the south of the site.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Development would generate approximately 336 
daily vehicle movements, including about 34 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. This 
additional traffic will have a marginal impact on 
the highway network, although consideration 
would need to be given to traffic accessing The 
Green and how this relates to school traffic. 
Reduced site area would reduce the traffic impact 
from the comments given at preferred options.  

Public Transport network Y 

There are a number of public transport options in 
Theale. There is a railway station and several bus 
services linking the village to Reading and 
Newbury.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the village 

Landscape Located in AONB N The site is considered to be in the setting of the 

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Theale  

Page 646



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

AONB.  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Low landscape sensitivity  

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to playing fields 

Rights of Way affected  N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders Y TPOs on trees along the lake edge 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses U 
Site is adjacent to a former gravel pit which is now 
a lake 

Heritage impact  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U 
No comment made Thames Water have concern 
regarding water supply capability 

Wastewater N 
Thames Water have concern regarding 
wastewater capability 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

Y 

The site is within SPZ3. In addition, there is an 
ordinary watercourse within the site, a major 
aquifer and a high risk of groundwater 
contamination. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is 
a history of extraction in the area. Consideration 
of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required. 

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THE011 

There would be potential to develop THE003 alongside the 
consented development at THE011 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Planning permission granted, on appeal, for 7 dwellings on the eastern part of the site (February 2016) 
(14/02195/OUTD). Potential to impact on access to the site.  

 

Page 647



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE003 Site Address: 
North Lakeside, The 
Green, Theale 

Development 
Potential:  

42 15 dwellings 
(1.4ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is no longer recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities within Theale. The 
developable area of the site has been reduced in size after a Landscape Assessment was carried out of the 
site. 
 
Planning permission has been granted for development on part of the site, within the proposed landscape 
buffer. There is concern regarding the deliverability of the site and therefore, it is no longer proposed for 
allocation.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south west of Theale, close to the A4 and the centre of Theale. The site has good 
access to a number of services and facilities within the village and access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of low landscape sensitivity. Following the preferred options a Landscape 
Assessment was carried out for the site. This states that only part of the site would be suitable for 
development, subject to a number of mitigation measures as set out in the Landscape Character 
Assessment (2015).  
 
Flood Risk: 
A small area of the south of the site is within a surface water flood risk area. The site is also at risk from 
groundwater flooding. An FRA and appropriate mitigation would be required, including SUDs.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic impact on the highway network is considered to be marginal. Consideration would need to be 
given to traffic accessing The Green in relation to school traffic.  
 
Access can be obtained through St Ives Close, which would need to be brought up to adoptable standards. 
Additional or alternative access could be obtained from the consented development of Lakeside South 
(THE011).  
 
Theale is well served by public transport with a regular bus service and a railway station.  
 
Ecology: 
No known ecological issues.  
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues 
 
Education: 
Theale primary school is at capacity. A new site is being actively sort for a new primary school to 
accommodate the existing pupil numbers and future pupil growth in the area.  There is capacity at Theale 
Green secondary school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is close to the A4, which could have an impact on air quality and noise. Appropriate mitigation 
measures would reduce this issue.  
 
The site has previously been extracted, with a degree of infilling, which may raise issues of contamination 
and remediation requirements.   
 
 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

Page 648



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits with a previous history of extraction. Consideration of policy 1 & 2 
of the RMLP would be required.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
The site is within FZ1 and SPZ3. There is an ordinary watercourse within the site, a major aquifer and a 
high risk of groundwater contamination. 
 
Although the EA have not raised any objections to development within SPZs, care would need to be taken 
to ensure no opportunities for contamination of groundwater occurred. 
 
Thames Water: 
No comment on water supply. Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in 
this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to 
be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council are concerned about access to the site via St Ives Close.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 Ecology  Existing Land Use                             Crime 

 Medical Services  Coalescence of settlements               Settlement boundary   

 Schools  Flooding  Highways and transport 

 Planning Permission  Principle of Development                 Parking 

 Leisure Facilities                                     Road Safety                                     Density 

 Public Transport  Infrastructure  Landscape/setting 

 Emergency Services  Utilities  Pollution 

 Access  Quality of Life                                   

   
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 Confusion regarding north/south lakeside 

 Support reduction in number of dwellings 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability effect. There are no significant sustainability 
impacts resulting from this site.  The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good 
opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport all having a positive impact on sustainability. The 
Landscape Assessments on the site has indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for 
development, with significant buffers required to mitigate the impact on the AONB. There is a small risk of 
surface water flooding on the site, which could have a negative impact on sustainability without appropriate 
mitigation measures.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 

Page 649



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for 49 dwellings in a mix of types and sizes. Access is anticipated to come from The 
Green, to the west of the site and St Ives Close.  
 
Planning permission granted on appeal for 7 dwellings on eastern part of the site in February 2016 
(14/02195/OUTD). This has potential to impact on landscaping/open space requirements and access to the 
rest of the site.  

 

Page 650



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THE004 Site Address:  Land to the south of the High Street, Theale 

 

Development Potential: 29 dwellings (0.48ha at 60dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Within the settlement boundary   
- The EA strongly recommend this site is not allocated for development. This is because 50% of the site is in FZ2 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

 The location of Theale Community Hall needs to be considered in any development on this site. 
Detrimental impact on the rear view of existing housing, access and flooding were highlighted as 
issues.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Area N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary  

 
Y 

 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Theale  

Page 651



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: THE005 Site Address:  Land at Junction 12, Theale 

 

Development Potential: 154 dwellings (3.86ha at 40dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- Flood risk (FZ2, FZ1, ground and surface water) 
- Proximity to the M4/A4 junction 
- Presence of overhead cables 
- AWE outer consultation zone 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

General agreement that THE001, 002 and 005 should be considered as one site. There is potential for 
flooding on the site and both THE002 and 005 take water from Sulham Brook. Noise from the M4 is a 
concern as are the over head power lines. Access is also of concern. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently Developable  N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary  

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 

The EA strongly recommend that this site is not 
allocated for development.  90% of the site is 
within FZ2. A sequential test would be required if 
the site were to be allocated.  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
Part of site is within a groundwater emergence 
zone 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is adjacent to the M4 and A4 

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
Adequate access can be obtained from High 
Street.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Assessed for approx 40 dwellings.  
Development likely to generate approximately 240 
daily vehicle movements including about 24 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. This will have 
a limited impact on the highway network. Some 
development fronting the High Street would 
improve the High Street as a pedestrian and 
cyclist route from Theale to Calcot.  

Public Transport network Y 

There are a number of public transport options in 
Theale. There is a railway station and several bus 
services linking the village to Reading and 
Newbury.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the village 

Landscape 
Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High N Low landscape sensitivity  

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Theale  

Page 652



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Close to local amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Close to local play facilities for children  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA)   

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y  Site is well related to the existing settlement 

Incompatible adjacent land uses Y Site is close to the M4/ A4 junction  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Archaeological features on the site and in 
immediate area suggest high potential here. 
Further investigation required.  

Conservation area A  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y Over head cables cross the site 

Water supply N 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability 

Wastewater Y 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

N 
There is an ordinary watercourse within the site, a 
major aquifer and a high risk of groundwater 
contamination. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer Y  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is 
a history of extraction in the area. Consideration 
of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required. 

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THE002, THE001  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Consideration of developing a small part of the site adjacent to Theale itself for 40 - 50 dwellings.  
 

 

Page 653



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

1 

 
 

Site ID: THE005 Site Address: Land at Junction 12, Theale Development Potential:  154 dwellings (3.86ha at 40dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
The site is located close to the local 
facilities in Theale 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to local playing 
fields, but is not as close as site 
THE009 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 

Close to local amenity space and 
children’s play area. Development of 
the site would be unlikely to have an 
impact on GI 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Theale’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 
There are a number of public 
transport options in Theale – railway 
station and several bus services 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourages walking and 
cycling.  There is therefore 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 

0   
Development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

P
age 654



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

2 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

across West Berkshire? by reducing the gap 
between Theale and 
Calcot. Development of a 
small area of the site would 
help to mitigation this 
impact.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? - 

The undeveloped site prevents the 
coalescence of Theale and Calcot  

Development of a small part of 
the site could help to reduce 
the impact. A Landscape 
Assessment would be required 
to determine the area of the 
site suitable for development if 
the site were to be allocated.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 
Development of the site would 
expand Theale towards the M4/A4 
junction.  

Development of a small part of 
the site close to Theale itself 
would reduce the impact 

Development of the whole 
site could have a negative 
impact on sustainability. 
Development of a small 
part of the site adjacent to 
the settlement boundary 
would help neutralise this 
impact.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Archaeological features on site and 
in immediate area.  Further 
investigation required.  

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no cultural assets in 
Theale  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

- 
The site is bounded by the A4 and 
M4 

Air quality mitigation would be 
required, including design 
techniques.  
Development of a small area 
adjacent to Theale would 
reduce the impact 

Development near to a 
motorway junction could 
have a negative impact on 
environmental  and 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures would reduce 
this impact, as would 
development of a small 
area of the site adjacent to 
Theale.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

- 
The site is bounded by the A4 and 
M4 

Noise mitigation would be 
required, including design 
techniques.  
Development of a small area 
adjacent to Theale would 
reduce the impact.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 

- The site is greenfield  
The site could have a 
negative impact on 

P
age 655



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

3 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and buildings? environmental sustainability 
as it is a Greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

-  

The whole of the site is within Flood 

Zone 2. 90% of the site is within 
FZ2 and 10% of the site is in 
FZ1. The site is also at risk from 

ground and surface water flooding. 
There was evidence of standing 
water on the site in Winter/Spring 
2014.  

An FRA would be required with 
appropriate mitigation 
measures, including SUDs to 
be provided. Sites in Flood 
Zone 2 will only be considered 
for development if there are no 
suitable alternatives. A 
sequential test would need to 
be carried out if the site were to 
be allocated.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures 
including SUDs, reduce this 
impact.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 

 

P
age 656



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

4 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

effect on economic sustainability. 

 
 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability issues highlighted. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public 
transport. All having a positive impact on sustainability. There are a number of potential negative impacts on sustainability, unless mitigation measures are introduced. The site is 
close to the M4/A4 motorway junction, which would lead to noise and air quality issues. Development of the site would also reduce the gap between Calcot and Theale which would 
have an impact on environmental sustainability. Development of a small area of the site adjacent to Theale itself would help to mitigate these impacts, along with other mitigation 
measures that could be considered. Flood risk is an issue on the site and could have a negative impact on sustainability without appropriate mitigation measures. The development 
of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 657



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE005 Site Address: 
Land at Junction 12 (M4), 
Theale 

Development 
Potential:  

154 dwellings 
(3.86ha at 40dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
At preferred options a small part of the site was recommended as an option for allocation. The site is no 
longer recommended for allocation.  The site is recommended for allocation for a small area adjacent to 
Theale for 40 – 50 dwellings.  

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to Theale and close to local services and facilities. Development of a small part of 
the site reduces the impact on some of the negative factors impacting on the site and would help to 
improve the pedestrian / cycle route along High Street between Theale and Calcot.  
 
The Environment Agency have raised an objection to development of this site. The majority of the site is 
within flood zone 2, therefore, in order to allocate the site the Council would be required to carry out a 
sequential test. Other sites, with a lower risk of flooding, are available in Theale and elsewhere in the 
District, therefore, the sequential test cannot be carried out.  
 
The consideration of a smaller site would not make a significant difference to the SA/SEA for the site, and 
does not overcome the flood risk objection from the Environment Agency.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south east of Theale adjacent to the M4/A4 junction. The site is close to the centre 
of Theale where there is a good range of local services and facilities, and good access to the open 
countryside.  
 
Over head cables pass through the site and a pylon is present on the eastern part of the site.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in an area of low landscape sensitivity.  
 
Flood Risk: 
90% of the site is within FZ2 and 10% of the site is in FZ1. The site is also at risk from surface and 
groundwater flooding. Part of the site was flooded in Jan/Feb 2014. An FRA and appropriate mitigation 
would be required, including SUDs.  
 
The Environment Agency has requested that any site to be allocated within a flood zone is accompanied by 
a sequential test. Other sites are available in Theale and across the District, therefore, the test cannot be 
carried out.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Development of 40 – 50 dwellings is expected to have a limited impact on the highway network.  
 
Adequate Aaccess can be obtained onto High Street. Development fronting High Street would improve 
High Street as a pedestrian and cyclist route from Theale to Calcot.  
 
There are a number of public transport options in Theale including regular bus services and a railway 
station.  
 
Ecology: 
No known ecology issues.  
 
Archaeology: 
Archaeological features recorded on site and in the immediate area suggest high potential. Further 
assessment and evaluation would be required.  
 
Education: 
Theale primary school is at capacity. A new site is being actively sort for a new primary school to 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area  Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

Page 658



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

accommodate the existing pupils numbers and future pupil growth in the area. There is capacity at Theale 
Green secondary school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the M4 and A4, therefore, noise and air pollution could be an issue. Mitigation 
measures would need to be provided.  
 
No known contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is a history of extraction in the area. Policies 1 & 2 of the 
RMLP would need to be considered.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the outer AWE consultation zone. Consultation with ONR would not be required for the site.  
 
Environment Agency: 
The EA strongly recommend that this site is not allocated for development due to flood risk on the site. 
There is an ordinary watercourse within the site, a major aquifer and a high risk of groundwater 
contamination. Land adjacent to the site has previously been investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish council is of the view that this site, alongside THE001 and THE002 should be considered as 
one. They have concern with regard to flooding, noise impact from the M4, overhead power lines and 
access.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 
 

 Consultation Process  Existing Land Use                             Emergency Services 

 Medical Services  Ecology  Settlement boundary   

 Schools  Flooding  Highways and transport 

 Infrastructure  Principle of Development                 Landscape/Environment 

 Utilities  Road Safety                                     Pollution 

 Public Transport 

 Location and Design 

 Housing Numbers 

 Retail 

 Alternative locations 

 Leisure/Recreation 
 

Comments received from the site promoter objecting to the reduction of developable land suggested by the 
Council as a preferred option on the grounds of flood risk.  
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  

 Support for rejection of site 

 Site promoter rebuttal to rejection of the site 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
issues highlighted. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for 
walking, cycling and public transport. All having a positive impact on sustainability. There are a number of 
potential negative impacts on sustainability, unless mitigation measures are introduced. The site is close to 
the M4/A4 motorway junction, which would lead to noise and air quality issues. Development of the site 

Page 659



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

would also reduce the gap between Calcot and Theale which would have an impact on environmental 
sustainability. Development of a small area of the site adjacent to Theale itself would help to mitigate these 
impacts, along with other mitigation measures that could be considered. Flood risk is an issue on the site 
and could have a negative impact on sustainability without appropriate mitigation measures. The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
The outcomes of the SA/SEA would not be significantly different if a smaller site was considered.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for 196 dwellings as part of a mixed use scheme including a hotel and some 
employment floor space. Noise from the M4 is proposed to be mitigated through design, orientation and 
layout of buildings and materials. Potential impact on flood risk is proposed to be mitigated using various 
measures.  
 

 
 
 

Page 660



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 

 

Site ID: THE007 Site Address:  Land at Theale Boating Lake, Station Road, Theale  

 

Development Potential: 435 dwellings (14.2ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Relationship to settlement (distance from settlement boundary)  
-  Flood risk (Part of the site is in FZ3, FZ2 and in area of surface water flood risk).  Areas surrounding the site flooded significantly 

during Jan/Feb 2014).  
  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

General agreement with the SHLAA assessment of the site.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  P Part of the site is in FZ3 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently Developable Y Poorly related to Theale.  

Land Use Protected Employment Area N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

U 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N 

Site is not adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Burghfield  

Page 661



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 

 

 

 

 

Site ID: THE009 Site Address:  Field between A340 and The Green 

 

Development Potential: 
125 70 100 dwellings (4.17ha at 30dph) 
(2.3ha at 30dph) 

SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Greenfield   
- Flood risk (ground and surface water). Evidence of water logging Jan/Feb 2014 
- Presence of oil pipeline  
- SPZ2 and 3 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Suggested that this site would make an ideal site for a new build primary school with associated 
playing fields and car park. Car parking area could also be used for staff and pupils at the sixth form 
college adjacent to Deadmans Lane and Theale Green School and this would ease the parking in the 
village, especially The Green and Meadow Way. There are flooding issues on a section of the site 
(waterlogged Jan/Feb 2014).  
Concern that this site should not be developed in addition to THE011 as this would be too much 
development in this area.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

NP 

The Landscape Character Assessment (2015) 
states that only the eastern part of the site would 
be suitable for development, with a wide landscape 
buffer to the west adjacent to the A340. 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land use Protected employment areas N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
Groundwater emergence zone. Evidence of water 
logging Jan/Feb 2014 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is adjacent to the A340.  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access would be preferred from The Green. 
Consideration would need to be given to how any 
access would relate to the existing access that will 
serve Lakeside south. It may be that a roundabout 
junction would be required to serve both this site 
and Lakeside south.  

Highway network suitability N 

Development is expected to generate 
approximately 750 daily vehicle movements, 
including about 75 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak. This is likely to have a significant impact on 
the highway network.   A Transport Assessment 
would be required to assess the impact taking into 

Spatial Area Eastern Area Settlement: Theale  Parish:  Theale  

Page 662



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 

 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

account the consented Lakeside south residential 
development to the south. The above estimated 
figures were based on the whole site being 
developed a Rreduced site area would reduce the 
traffic impact from the site. from the comments 
given at preferred options. 

Public Transport network Y 

There are a number of public transport options in 
Theale. There is a railway station and several bus 
services linking the village to Reading and 
Newbury.  

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements throughout the village 

Landscape 

Located in AONB A  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N Medium landscape sensitivity 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
Site is adjacent to playing fields and close to 
recreation ground  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y  
Site is close to play facilities for children at the 
recreation ground   

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA)   

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the settlement 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
Oil pipeline runs though the north west corner of 
the site 

Water supply N 
Thames Water have concern regarding water 
supply capability 

Wastewater N 
Thames Water have concern regarding 
wastewater capability 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

Y 
90% of site is within SPZ2, 10% of the site is 
within SPZ3. There is a major aquifer and a high 
risk of groundwater contamination. 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is 
a history of extraction in the area. Consideration 
of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required.  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
THE003, THE011 

The Landscape Character Assessment (2015) considers the 
cumulative impact of development at THE003 and THE011.  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
 

Page 663



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: THE009 
Site Address: Field between A340 and The Green 

Development Potential:  
125 70 100 dwellings (4.17ha at 
30dph) (2.3ha at 30dph)  

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
The site is located close to the local 
facilities in Theale 

 
The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and provides 
easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site adjacent to playing fields   

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 

Close to local amenity space and 
children’s play area. Development of 
the site would be unlikely to have an 
impact on GI 

Development in line with the 
recommendations of the 
landscape assessment could 
improve Green Infrastructure. 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

Site close to local facilities and 
services (employment, shops, 
school), but will not provide new 
facilities 

 

Theale’s location within 
West Berkshire means that 
development here would 
have easy access to the 
strategic road network for a 
range of employment 
opportunities. Therefore, 
development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 
There are a number of public 
transport options in Theale – railway 
station and several bus services 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities which 
encourages walking and 
cycling.  There is therefore 
a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 

0 
Development unlikely to have an 
impact on biodiversity.  

 
The site is not within the 
AONB, and therefore 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

P
age 664



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

development should not 
have any impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as a result of the character 
of the landscape. To 
ensure this landscaping 
mitigation would be 
required Development 
could have the potential to 
impact negatively on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the location of the 
site in relation to the AONB.  
Adequate mitigation 
measures would minimise 
this impact..   

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

? - 

The site has medium landscape 
sensitivity, and is adjacent to the 
AONB. The site is within the setting 
of the AONB. The Landscape 
Character Assessment (2015) 
indicates only the eastern part of the 
site would be suitable for 
development, with a wide landscape 
buffer to the west adjacent to the 
A340.  

Appropriate landscaping to 
reduce the impact on the 
AONB would be required. 
Appropriate mitigation would be 
required as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment, 
including:  

 Reduced developable 
area, to retain an 
open landscape 
buffer to Englefield 
Park 

 Creation of open 
space and Green 
Infrastructure in the 
western part of the 
site 

 Woodland copses and 
open grassland to be 
provided in the open 
space 

 Retain and enhance 
tree planting along 
the road network  

 Preferred access from 
South Lakeside 
access point.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 
The site is located on the edge of 
Theale adjacent to a small amount of 
residential development  

 

Development is unlikely to 
have an impact on any 
element of sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 There are no heritage assets   

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no cultural assets in 
Theale  

 

P
age 665



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

? 

The site lies at the A4/A340 
roundabout. The A340 runs along 
the south eastern  western boundary 
of the site.  

Noise and air quality mitigation 
may be required 

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
sustainability due to the 
potential for poor air quality 
and noise. Appropriate 
mitigation would reduce this 
impact.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

? 

The site lies at the A4/A340 
roundabout. The A340 runs along 
the south eastern  western boundary 
of the site. 

Noise and air quality mitigation 
may be required.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a Greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
Groundwater flood risk. Evidence of 
water logging January/February 
2014.  

An FRA and appropriate 
mitigation, including SUDs 
would be required.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
Mitigation measures 
including SUDs, reduce this 
impact. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 

 

P
age 666



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 

 
 
Summary 

There are no significant issues highlighted. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport, all of which 
have a positive impact on sustainability. The site is adjacent to the AONB, meaning there could be a negative impact on the character of the landscape and environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce this impact. The site is also at risk from flooding, with some evidence of flooding having taken place. Flooding can impact negatively 
on sustainability, but mitigation measures work to reduce this impact. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
The developable area of the site was revised following the examination as a result of a question from the Inspector and further landscape work. The site has been reassessed and 
there is no change in the SA/SEA outcome as a result of this change in developable area. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: Eastern Area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 667



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: THE009 Site Address: 
Field between A340 and 
The Green 

Development 
Potential:  

125 70100 
dwellings (4.17ha 
at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is close to local services and facilities in Theale. There are no significant issues on the site that 
could not be overcome.  
 
The Landscape Character Assessment (2015) states that only the eastern part of the site is suitable for 
development to ensure no negative impacts on the character or setting of the AONB, with a wide landscape 
buffer to the A340. As a result the development potential on the site has been reduced.  
 
Following a question from the examiner during the hearing sessions the developable area of the site has 
been redrawn following further landscape advice, this now gives the site a development potential of 
approximately 100 dwellings.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the west of Theale. Adjacent to the A340/A4 roundabout. The site is close to local 
services and facilities within Theale village and has good access to the countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is within an area of medium landscape sensitivity adjacent to the AONB. Following the preferred 
options a Landscape Character Assessment (2015) was carried out for the site. This states that only the 
eastern part of the site would be suitable for development, subject to a number of mitigation measures as 
set out in the Landscape Assessment.  
 
Further landscape work carried out following the examination has indicated that a slight, further increase, in 
the developable area of the site would be acceptable without a negative impact on the landscape character 
of the area.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is within FZ1 and at risk from groundwater and surface water flooding. Standing water was 
reported on the site Jan/Feb 2014. An FRA and appropriate mitigation, including SUDs, would be required 
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic generated by the development would be likely to have a significant impact on the highway 
network. A Transport Assessment would be needed to assess the impact taking into account the consented 
Lakeside south development to the south of the site.  
 
Access would be preferred from The Green, but consideration of access in relation to Lakeside south would 
be required.  
 
Ecology: 
No known ecological issues 
 
Archaeology: 
Low archaeological potential on the site.  
 
Education: 
Theale primary school is at capacity. A site is being actively sort for a has been found and permission 
granted for a new primary school to accommodate the existing pupil numbers and future pupil growth in the 
area.  
 
There is capacity at Theale Green secondary school.  
 

Spatial Area: Eastern Area  Settlement: Theale Parish:  Theale 

Page 668



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Environmental Health: 
The proximity of the site to the A340/A4 junction could lead to noise and air quality issues. Mitigation 
measures would need to be considered at planning application stage.  
 
No known issues of contamination 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits. There is a history of mineral extraction in the area. Consideration 
of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be required.    
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
90% of the site is within SPZ2 and 10% of the site is within SPZ3. There is a major aquifer and a high risk 
of groundwater contamination. An adjacent site has previously been investigated for potential 
contamination.  The Environment Agency does not have an in principle objections to development in SPZs.  
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council is concerned that this site should not be developed in addition to THE011 as it would 
result in too much development in this area.  
  
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

 Wastewater infrastructure                      Existing Land Use                             Crime 

 Ecology  Number of houses                                  Settlement boundary   

 Healthcare  Gaps between settlements               Highways and transport 

 Schools  Flooding  Parking 

 Alternative Sites   Principle of Development                 Density 

 Identification of Sites                              Housing Need                                  Affordable Housing                            

 AWE Consultation Zone                         Road Safety                                     Public Transport 

 Housing Mix                                            Infrastructure  Emergency Services 

 Leisure Facilities                                     Utilities  Landscape/setting 

 Open Space                                           Quality of Life                                   Pollution 

 SA/SEA   

 Comments received from the site promoter offering strong support for the inclusion of the site.  
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 Site Parish Council’s preferred site for new primary school 

 Period of consolidation has not taken place 

 Comments from site promoter regarding area proposed for development 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant issues 
highlighted. The site is close to local services and facilities within Theale, with good opportunities for 

Page 669



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

walking, cycling and public transport, all of which have a positive impact on sustainability. The Landscape 
Assessments on the site has indicated that only part of the site would be suitable for development, with 
significant buffers required to mitigate the impact on the AONB. The site is adjacent to the AONB, meaning 
there could be a negative impact on the character of the landscape and environmental sustainability. 
Mitigation measures should reduce this impact. The site is also at risk from flooding, with some evidence of 
flooding having taken place. Flooding can impact negatively on sustainability, but mitigation measures work 
to reduce this impact.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
The developable area of the site was revised following the examination as a result of a question from the 
Inspector and further landscape work. The site has been reassessed and there is no change in the SA/SEA 
outcome as a result of this change in developable area. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals for this site have been submitted.  
 

 

Page 670



SA/SEA Appendix 9C

East Kennet Valley - 
Site Assessments

(including Proposed 
Main Modifications)

Burghfield Common
Aldermaston

Woolhampton

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and strikethrough text for
deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined text for additions and double

strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made in light of the proposed Main Modifications are shown as purple underlined text for 
additions and purple strikethrough text for deletions**

Page 671



Aldermaston Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 672



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 

 

Site ID: ALD001 Site Address:  White Town Nursery, Aldermaston 

 

Development Potential: 48 dwellings (1.6ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  

 AWE inner consultation zone.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council like this site, although there are concerns that any development here could set a 
precedent. Should the site ever come forward the parish council would like a car park for the 
recreation ground to be built. Parish Council would like to see more affordable hosing in the village for 
local people.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Site is within AWE inner consultation zone 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner Y  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy  

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to settlement boundary  

* any yes response will rule the site out 

Spatial Area EKV Settlement: Aldermaston Parish:  Aldermaston 

Page 673



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 

 

Site ID: ALD002 Site Address:  Land at Foresters Farm, Aldermaston 

 

Development Potential: 110 (3.65 ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 

 AWE inner consultation zone 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council would object if this site ever came forward. Development here would spoil the views 
from the village into open countryside, and would break away from the largely linear nature of 
development within the village. However, the Parish Council would like to see more affordable housing 
for local people within the village, so there could be potential for a rural exception site to the north, 
adjacent to Wasing Lane. The Parish Council would like to see a car park behind the Parish Hall 
should the site ever be developed.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

N/A  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Site is within AWE inner consultation zone 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner Y  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Aldermaston Parish:  Aldermaston 

Page 674



Woolhampton Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 675



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: WOOL001 Site Address:  Land north of Bath Road, Woolhampton 

 

Development Potential: 20 Dwellings. (0.66ha at 30dph)    SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Greenfield 
- AWE middle consultation zone 
- Oil pipeline runs through the site 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

No comments made on this site prior to preferred options.  
 
At preferred options the Parish Council commented that development of the site would extend the village 
westwards, and that the site is located in Midgham Parish so any CIL moneys raised from development of 
the site  would be unlikely to be spent in Woolhampton. Concern was also raised over additional traffic 
movements onto New Road Hill. The Parish Council stated a preference for WOOL006 to be allocated for 
development. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary  

 
N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N U 

Anecdotal evidence shows water flowing down 
New Road Hill, adjacent to the site, across the A4 
resulting in flooding to properties on the south 
side of the A4. 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  A Site is adjacent to the A4 

Contaminated Land A 
Potential land contamination within the site. 
Needs further investigation. 

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
Access should be taken from New Road Hill, 
rather than the A4.  

Highway network suitability Y 

Development is likely to generate approximately 
120 daily vehicle movements including around 12 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak.  
This is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the highway network.  

Public Transport network Y 

30 min bus service between Newbury and 
Reading and railway station linking Woolhampton 
to Reading and London Paddington to the east 
and Newbury and and Bedwyn to the west.  

Footways/Pavements Y 

There are narrow footways throughout 
Woolhampton. Footways would need to be 
provided to link the site to the existing footway 
network.  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

Page 676



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located in an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

Not 
Assessed 

 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site close to local amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site close to local play facilities for children  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland A Adjacent to site 

Tree Preservation Orders A TPO along the site boundary 

Local Wildlife Site A Adjacent to LWS 

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) A Adjacent to BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y 
Adjacent to settlement boundary on two sides, 
centrally located adjacent to main road. 

Incompatible adjacent land use A Adjacent to A4 

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
Electricity pylons run along the site boundary and 
there is an oil pipeline underneath the site.  

Water Supply N Y 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability Thames Water do not envisage any 
concerns over water supply capacity 

Wastewater Y N 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
Thames Water have concern regarding 
wastewater services in the area. 

Groundwater Source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation  Zone 
Middle Y 

Consultation with ONR would be required. ONR 
have not raised concerns regarding this level of 
development in Woolhampton 

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
  

Page 677



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL001 Site Address: Land north of Bath Road, Woolhampton Development Potential:  20 dwellings (0.66ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited 
facilities within walking distance of 
the site. The site is also close to the 
Canal towpath.  

 

The site is located on the 
edge of Woolhampton, 
close to local services and 
facilities and the open 
countryside that would help 
to support an active healthy 
lifestyle. Therefore, the site 
would have a positive 
impact ton social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited sports 
facilities within the village 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There is limited GI within the village 
and the site would not be big enough 
to provide any new GI. 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  + 

There are limited facilities within the 
village, although the site has good 
access to the Railway line and 
strategic road network (A4) 

 

The proximity to local 
employment opportunities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There is a regular bus service 
serving the village and the railway 
station is close to the site. There are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
within the village although there are 
a limited number of facilities within 
the village itself.  

 

The site has regular bus 
services and a railway 
station close to the village, 
therefore, along with 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling there should be 
a positive impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

The access to the site would be onto 
the A4. Additional traffic could result 
in road safety concerns, but any 
development would have the 
potential to improve road safety.  

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

- 
Adjacent to Ancient Woodland, Local 
Wildlife Site and BOA 

Appropriate buffers would be 
required  

Development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless appropriate buffers 
to the ancient woodland are Will it conserve and 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

P
age 678



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

on the character of the landscape provided.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

+ 
The site is well related to the existing 
development.  

 

Development would be 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets in 
Woolhampton 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no culture assets in 
Woolhampton  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
although it is near to the Canal.  

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  - 

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for air quality to 
impact on the site 

Careful design and appropriate 
mitigation should reduce the 
impact.   

Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on social 
sustainability due to 
potential noise and air 
pollution. With appropriate 
mitigation this risk should 
be minimised.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? - 

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for noise pollution 
on the site.  

Careful design and appropriate 
mitigation should reduce the 
impact.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is Greenfield  

The Greenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 679



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 0 There is no flood risk on this site.  

SUDs would be required to 
manage the site’s drainage. 

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

There are no significant sustainability effects on the site, and in many cases development on this site will not have an impact on the sustainability objectives. The proximity of the site 
to local services and facilities will bring sustainability benefits – the site will encourage active healthy lifestyles and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. The site 
could potentially have a negative impact on environmental sustainability in terms of biodiversity unless appropriate mitigation measures are provided to protect the adjacent 
designated areas. The proposals for the site have taken this into account, so it is anticipated that this potential negative impact would be neutralised with mitigation. The site’s 
proximity to the A4 gives another potential negative impact on social sustainability in terms of air and noise pollution. With appropriate mitigation it is likely that this impact would be 
required. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the 
short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: East Kennet Valley 

P
age 680



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 681



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: WOOL001 Site Address: 
Land to the north of Bath 
Road, Woolhampton 

Development 
Potential:  

20 dwellings 
(0.66ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended as an option for allocation (Alternative to WOOL006) 
At preferred options the site was recommended as an option for allocation.  
The site is no longer recommended for allocation.  

 

Justification: 
At preferred options this site and WOOL006 were recommended as alternatives, with the decision of which 
site to be allocated to be made following the consultation. Following the consultation there is a preference 
from the Parish Council and members of the public for development to take place on WOOL006. This site is 
located adjacent to ancient woodland, and while buffers could mitigate the impact, it is not a restriction 
faced by WOOL006. 
 
The site is well related to the existing development in Woolhampton, close to local services and facilities. 
There are no significant issues with the site.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the west of Woolhampton, north of the A4. Adjacent to existing development on New 
Road Hill. The site is opposite the village hall and had good access to local services and facilities including 
the Kennet and Avon Canal. The site is situated on a slope.  
 
Electricity pylons run along the site boundary and an oil pipeline crosses the site. These would need to be 
taken into consideration should the site be developed.  
 
Landscape:  
No assessment of the landscape character has been made 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is within FZ1.  SUDs would be required to manage the site’s drainage should it be developed.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The proposed site should not have a significant impact on the highway network. Access should be taken 
form New Road Hill rather than the A4.  
 
Footways would need to be provided to link the site into the existing footway network.  
 
There are a number of public transport options, with a regular bus service and train station in the village.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to ancient woodland a local wildlife site, BOA and trees protected by TPOs. . 
Appropriate buffers would be required.   
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeology on the site.  
 
Education: 
Primary school provision in the village is at or near to capacity. Secondary school pupils have a choice of 
schools across the district. The site is on the boundary between Kennet School and Theale Green’s 
catchment areas.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The proximity of the site to the A4 could lead to air quality or noise issues without appropriate mitigation. 
There is potential for contamination which would need to be assessed and appropriate mitigation provided 
should the site be developed.  
 
Minerals and Waste:  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

Page 682



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

No known mineral deposits 
 
No know waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the middle AWE consultation zone. It is above the threshold for consultation with ONR, 
therefore, consultation on the site would be required. ONR have not raised any concerns regarding the 
proposed level of development in Woolhampton.  
 
Consultation with ONR will take place as part of the Preferred Options Consultation.  
 
Environment Agency: 
Within SPZ3 and an adjacent site has previously been investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Thames Water: 
No concern raised regarding water supply capacity.  
 
Concern regarding wasteWwater Supply capability. Current wastewater supply network in this area is 
unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Waste Wwater supply infrastructure is likely to be 
required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A drainage water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council did not comment on this site prior to the preferred options.  
 
At preferred options the Parish Council commented that development of the site would extend the village 
westwards, and that the site is located in Midgham Parish so any CIL moneys raised from development of 
the site  would be unlikely to be spent in Woolhampton. Concern was also raised over additional traffic 
movements onto New Road Hill. The Parish Council stated a preference for WOOL006 to be allocated for 
development. 
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  

 The site is not in Woolhampton, so any CIL money from the site would not be spent in the village 

 Oil pipeline present on northern part of the site 

 Proposed development to dense 

 Impact on adjacent Ancient woodland/Local Wildlife site 

 Need to improve village infrastructure (Car parking, transport links, local amenities) 

 Sewage capacity in Station Road  

 Flooding from New Road Hill across the A4 

 Access close to junction with New Road Hill/A4. 

 Additional traffic impact at New Road Hill/A4 junction 

 Unable to provide pavement along New Road Hill 
For consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
effects on the site, and in many cases development on this site will not have an impact on the sustainability 
objectives. The proximity of the site to local services and facilities will bring sustainability benefits – the site 
will encourage active healthy lifestyles and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. The site 
could potentially have a negative impact on environmental sustainability in terms of biodiversity unless 
appropriate mitigation measures are provided to protect the adjacent designated areas. The proposals for 
the site have taken this into account, so it is anticipated that this potential negative impact would be 
neutralised with mitigation. The site’s proximity to the A4 gives another potential negative impact on social 
sustainability in terms of air and noise pollution. With appropriate mitigation it is likely that this impact would 
be required. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the 
longer term. 
 

Page 683



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for approximately 20 dwellings. The developable area has taken into account 
the biodiversity and oil pipeline restrictions on the site.  

 

Page 684



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: WOOL003 Site Address:  Land adjoining Woolhampton Allotments, Bath Road, Woolhampton 

 

Development Potential: 12 Dwellings (0.4ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Flood risk (Half the site is in flood zone 3 and 2 and within a surface water flood risk area.  
- Electricity cables cross the site as does an oil pipeline.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

No comments made on this site 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  P Half of the site is within FZ3.  

Within significant national 
or international habitat / 
environmental / historical 
protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and 
Gardens 

N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the 
character of AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative Scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the 
role and function of settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 
The EA strongly recommend that this site is not 
allocated for development. An additional 2% of the 
site is within FZ2. 

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is adjacent to the A4 

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability N Highways were not consulted on this site.  

Public Transport network Y 
30 min bus service between Newbury and Reading 
and railway station linking Woolhampton to Reading 
and London Paddington and Newbury and the west.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are narrow pavements throughout 
Woolhampton 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

Not 
Assessed 

 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
Site is adjacent to the amenity space at the village 
hall 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
The site is adjacent to the play area at the village 
hall 

Ecology / 
Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

Page 685



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) A Adjacent to BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y The site is adjacent to the village hall.  

Compatibility with neighbouring 
land uses (eg. noise / pollution 
generation) 

Y Site is adjacent to the village’s allotments 

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y 
An oil pipe line is present on the site and overhead 
cables pass though the site.  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle Y  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Part of the site is underline with gravel deposits. 
Consideration of polices 1 & 2 of the RMLP 
required.  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

Site is adjacent to Allotments.  

 
  

Page 686



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL003 
Site Address: Land adjoining Woolhampton Allotments, Bath Road, 

Woolhampton  
Development Potential:  12 dwellings (0.4ha at 30dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited 
facilities within walking distance of 
the site. The site is also close to the 
Canal towpath.  

 

The site is located on the 
edge of Woolhampton, 
close to local services and 
facilities and the open 
countryside that would help 
to support an active healthy 
lifestyle. Therefore, the site 
would have a positive 
impact ton social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited sports 
facilities within the village 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
There is limited GI within the village 
and the site would not be big enough 
to provide any new GI. 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  + 

There are limited facilities within the 
village, although the site has good 
access to the Railway line and 
strategic road network (A4) 

 

The proximity to local 
employment opportunities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There is a regular bus service 
serving the village and the railway 
station is close to the site. There are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
within the village although there are 
a limited number of facilities within 
the village itself.  

 

The site has regular bus 
services and a railway 
station close to the village, 
therefore, along with 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling there should be 
a positive impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

The access to the site would be onto 
the A4. Additional traffic could result 
in road safety concerns, but any 
development would have the 
potential to improve road safety.  

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have any 
impact on biodiversity or 
geodiversity. 

 

Development would be 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

P
age 687



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on the character of the landscape 

 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on the character of the build 
environment. The site is adjacent to 
the village hall, but not in line with 
the existing building line.  

 

Development would be 
unlikely to have an impact 
ton any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets in 
Woolhampton 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no culture assets in 
Woolhampton  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
although it is near to the Canal.  

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?   - 

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for air quality to 
impact on the site 

Careful design and appropriate 
mitigation should reduce the 
impact.   

Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on social 
sustainability due to 
potential noise and air 
pollution. With appropriate 
mitigation this risk should 
be minimised. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels?  - 

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for noise pollution 
on the site.  

Careful design and appropriate 
mitigation should reduce the 
impact.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is Greenfield  

The Greenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 688



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- - 

Half the site is within FZ2 and 3. The 
NPPF states that residential 
development is not appropriate in 
Flood zone 3 due to the significant 
flood risk  

An FRA and significant flood 
mitigation, including SUDs, 
would be required. 
Development on the site would 
need to pass the sequential 
and exception tests. 

Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation 
could help to reduce the 
impact, but it is unlikely to 
be about to neutralise the 
impact.  
 
The NPPF requires sites 
with a risk of flooding are 
only considered if there are 
no other suitable 
alternatives.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 689



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability; however the effect on sustainability of flooding is shown to be significantly negative. There is a history of flooding on 
the site. Mitigation measures could help to reduce the risk of flooding, but they are unlikely to be able to neutralise the impact.  While the site scores positively on healthy, active 
lifestyles and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport the risk of flooding outweighs the positive impacts the site could have. There are other sites within Woolhampton 
that are not within flood zone 3 that will be considered for development over and above this site. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: East Kennet Valley 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 690



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL003 
Site 
Address: 

Land adjoining 
Woolhampton Allotments, 
Bath Road, Woolhampton 

Development 
Potential:  

12 dwellings 
(0.4ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Most of the site is at risk from flooding, either in flood zone 2 or 3. There is a history of flooding on the site. 
The Environment Agency strongly recommends that this site is not allocated. Other sites within 
Woolhampton are not at risk from flooding and therefore are considered more suitable sites for allocation in 
line with the NPPF.  
 
No additional information was submitted at preferred options to change the recommendation for this site.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the western edge of Woolhampton to the south of the A4. The site is adjacent to the 
village hall and allotments. The site has good access to the open countryside including the Kennet and 
Avon Canal.  
 
Landscape:  
Specific landscape assessment work has not been carried out for this site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The majority of the site is within flood zone 3 or 2 with a history of flooding on the site. Even with an FRA 
and flood mitigation other sites within the village do not have the same level of flood risk.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Highways were not consulted on this site.   
 
Woolhampton is serviced by a regular bus service and there is a train station in the village.  
 
Ecology: 
There are no known ecological or environmental designations on the site.  
 
Archaeology: 
There are no known archaeological issues on the site.  
 
Education: 
Primary school provision in the village is at or near to capacity. Secondary school pupils have a choice of 
schools across the district. The site is on the boundary between Kennet School and Theale Green’s 
catchment areas.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the A4, therefore, noise and air pollution could be an issue. Relevant air and noise 
surveys would be required and appropriate mitigation provided.  
 
Minerals and Waste:  
The site is partially underlain with gravel deposits. Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP required.  
 
No known waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is within the middle AWE consultation zone. The development potential is below the threshold for 
consultation with ONR.  
 
General consultation regarding development in the East Kennet Valley will take place as part of the 
Preferred Options consultation.  

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Midgham 

Page 691



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Environment Agency: 
Strong recommendation that the site is not allocated due to location within flood zone 2 and 3. Adjacent land 
has previously been investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council did not comment on this site.  
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues:  
Comments received from site promoter 

 Site did not flood in recent bad conditions 

 No visual impact due to road level and hedgerow/trees 

 Site is less prominent that the preferred options  

 If whole site is not developable due to flooding the residue could be used for some form of public 
access 

 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability; however the effect on sustainability of 
flooding is shown to be significantly negative. There is a history of flooding on the site. Mitigation measures 
could help to reduce the risk of flooding, but they are unlikely to be able to neutralise the impact.  While the 
site scores positively on healthy, active lifestyles and opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport 
the risk of flooding outweighs the positive impacts the site could have. There are other sites within 
Woolhampton that are not within flood zone 3 that will be considered for development over and above this 
site. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 

Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted for the site.  

 
 
 

Page 692



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: WOOL004 Site Address:  Bath Road adjoining Watermill Court, Woolhampton 

 

Development Potential: 15 dwellings (0.5 ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Flood zone 3 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

No Comments made on this site  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y Whole site is in flood zone 3 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y The site is wholly within flood zone 3.  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N   

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of the settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy 

N 
 

Within settlement 
boundary 

 
N The site is adjacent to the settlement boundary.  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Woolhampton 

Page 693



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: WOOL005 Site Address:  Land adjacent to Victoria Park, Bath Road 

 

Development Potential: 11 dwellings (0.36ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Not adjacent to the settlement boundary 
- FZ2 and FZ3  
- Surface water flood risk 
- AWE middle consultation zone  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

No Comment 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  P South west corner of the site is in FZ3.  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI A  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within the settlement 
boundary  

 N Site is not adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  U Site currently used for vehicle storage 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 90% of the site is within FZ2. 

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  Y 
Site is adjacent to the A4. Air quality survey 
would be required.  

Contaminated Land N  

Other Y 
Site is adjacent to the A4, noise survey would be 
required.  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability N Highways were not consulted on this site.  

Public Transport network Y 

30 min bus service between Newbury and 
Reading and railway station linking Woolhampton 
to Reading and London Paddington and Newbury 
and the west.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are narrow pavements throughout 
Woolhampton 

Landscape 

Located in AONB N  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

Not 
assessed 

 

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to local amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to local play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Woolhampton 

Page 694



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y Site is within a BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N 
Site is not adjacent to the settlement boundary, 
although is not far from the centre of the village.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

A Site is adjacent to an oil pipeline 

Water supply Y TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 

Wastewater Y TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 

Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 

 Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle Y  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site is partly underlain by gravel deposits. 
Policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP required.  

Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
WOOL004  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
  

Page 695



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL005 Site Address: Land  adjacent to Victoria Park, Bath Road Development Potential:  11 dwellings (0.36ha at 30dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited 
facilities within walking distance of 
the site. The site is also close to the 
Canal towpath.  

 

The site is located on the 
edge of Woolhampton, 
close to local services and 
facilities and the open 
countryside that would help 
to support an active healthy 
lifestyle. Therefore, the site 
would have a positive 
impact ton social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
The site is close to the village hall 
and park, but there are limited sports 
facilities within the village 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 

There is limited GI within the village 
and the site would not be big enough 
to provide any new GI. The site does 
have easy access to the Canal.  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  + 

There are limited facilities within the 
village, although the site has good 
access to the Railway line and 
strategic road network (A4) 

 

The proximity to local 
employment opportunities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

There is a regular bus service 
serving the village and the railway 
station is close to the site. There are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
within the village although there are 
a limited number of facilities within 
the village itself. The site is close to 
the Canal.  

 

The site has regular bus 
services and a railway 
station close to the village, 
therefore, along with 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling there should be 
a positive impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

All development has the potential to 
impact on road safety.  

Well designed development 
and appropriate mitigation 
measures should mean that 
there is no impact on road 
safety.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 

- 
Site is within a BOA and adjacent to 
a SSSI 

Buffers may be required for the 
SSSI. 

Without appropriate 
mitigation development of 
the site would have a 

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Woolhampton 

P
age 696



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

across West Berkshire? negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the location adjacent 
to the SSSI.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on the character of the landscape 

 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

+ 
Development of the site is likely to 
improve the character of the 
surrounding built environment.  

 

Development is unlikely to 
have an impact on any 
element of sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets in 
Woolhampton 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no culture assets in 
Woolhampton  

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
although it is near to the Canal.  

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  -  

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for air quality to 
impact on the site 

Air quality mitigation may be 
required. Could involve design 
techniques.  

Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability, particularly 
environmental and social, 
unless appropriate 
mitigation was provided to 
air and noise issues.  

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? -  

The site is adjacent to the A4, so 
there is potential for noise pollution 
on the site.  

Noise mitigation may be 
required. Could involve design 
techniques.  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality.  

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is Greenfield  

The Greenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 697



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
The site is within flood zone 2 and 
the within an area of surface water 
flood risk.  

An FRA and appropriate 
mitigation would be required.   
 
There is no evidence that the 
site has flooded.  

Flooding can have a 
negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability.  
With appropriate mitigation 
this risk can be reduced. 
The NPPF requires sites 
with a risk of flooding are 
only considered if there are 
no other suitable 
alternatives.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability issues with the site. The site gives 
opportunities for active, healthy lifestyles due to its proximity to local services and facilities and to the open countryside and canal. The site is well served by public transport, with 
both bus and train services stopping in the village. All these have a positive impact on sustainability. The location of the site adjacent to the A4 could have a negative impact on 
social and environmental sustainability. With mitigation and good design this impact could be minimised. The site is also within flood zone 2 and in an area of surface water flood risk, 
flooding can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. Appropriate mitigation can help to reduce this risk, as can considering sites where there is no risk of flooding 

P
age 698



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

before those where there is a risk. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards 
economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: East Kennet Valley 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 

 
 

P
age 699



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL005 Site Address: 
Land adjacent to Victoria 
Park, Bath Road 

Development 
Potential:  

11 dwellings 
(0.36ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is not immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary and therefore is poorly related to the 
existing residential area.  
 
The Environment Agency strongly recommends that this site is not allocated. This is due to 10% of the site 
being within FZ3 and 90% of the site being within F2. The Council is unable to carry out the required 
sequential test as other suitable sites with a lower risk of flooding area available.  
 
No additional information submitted at preferred options to change the recommendation for this site.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Woolhampton opposite the garage and petrol station. The site is located 
near to local services and facilities and has good access to the open countryside including the Kennet and 
Avon Canal.  
 
Landscape:  
The character of the landscape has not been assessed 
 
Flood Risk: 
90% of the site is within flood zone 2 with a small part (10%) at the south west corner of the site being in 
FZ3.  The site is also at risk from surface water flooding.  
 
A strategic sequential test will be required to be undertaken to demonstrate that there are no other suitable 
and available sites in areas of lower probability of flooding throughout the district. 
 
An FRA would be required with appropriate mitigation including SUDs.   
 
Highways /Transport: 
The highways impact has not been assessed.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is adjacent to a SSSI, with potential for hydrological effects. The site is within a BOA.  
 
Archaeology: 
There are no known archaeological issues on the site.  
 
Education: 
Primary school provision in the village is at or near to capacity. Secondary school pupils have a choice of 
schools across the district. The site is on the boundary between Kennet School and Theale Green’s 
catchment areas.  
 
Environmental Health: 
The site is adjacent to the A4, noise and air quality surveys would be required and appropriate mitigation, 
including design techniques 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partly underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP required.  
 
No known waste issues.   
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the middle AEW consultation zone. The development potential is below the threshold for 

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Woolhampton 

Page 700



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

consultation with ONR. 
 
General consultation with ONR regarding sites in the East Kennet Valley will take place as part of the 
preferred options consultation.  
 
Environment Agency: 
Strong recommendation that the site is not allocated. The site is within SPZ3 and an adjacent site has been 
investigated for potential contamination. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council did not comment on this site.  
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 
No comments received for this site.  
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the site. The site gives opportunities for active, healthy 
lifestyles due to its proximity to local services and facilities and to the open countryside and canal. The site 
is well served by public transport, with both bus and train services stopping in the village. All these have a 
positive impact on sustainability. The location of the site adjacent to the A4 could have a negative impact 
on social and environmental sustainability. With mitigation and good design this impact could be minimised. 
The site is also within flood zone 2 and in an area of surface water flood risk, flooding can have a negative 
impact on all elements of sustainability. Appropriate mitigation can help to reduce this risk, as can 
considering sites where there is no risk of flooding before those where there is a risk. The development of 
the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development 
contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted.  

 
 
 

Page 701



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
 

Site ID: WOOL006 Site Address: 
Land to the north of A4, 
Woolhampton 

Development 
Potential:  

65 dwellings 
(2.2ha at 30dph)  
30 dwellings 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended as an option for allocation for approximately 30 dwellings (Alternative to 
WOOL001) 

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, close to local services and facilities.  
 
Development of the whole site would be out of keeping with the role and function of the village within the 
settlement hierarchy, resulting in only part of the site being recommended for allocation, with the remainder 
of the site to be retained as open space. The Parish Council and site promoter have stated a preference for 
development in an east/west direction along the A4, rather than north/south as originally proposed in the 
Preferred Options DPD. The orientation of the developable area has been altered to take this into account.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the east of Woolhampton on the edge of the village between the existing development 
and the garage/petrol station. The site has good access to local services and facilities, including access to 
the Kennet and Avon Canal.  
 
Landscape:  
No landscape character assessments have been carried out for this site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1. An FRA would be required and appropriate mitigation including SUDs provided. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
Highways have not provided comments on this site, due to its late submission 
 
There are a number of public transport options in the village, with a regular bus service and a train station.  
 
Ecology: 
Comments from Ecology have not been provided for this site, due to its late submission. There is potential 
for Great Crested Newts on the site. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected.  
 
The site is adjacent to the area covered by the West Berkshire Living Landscape Project. Development will 
need to support and make a positive contribution to this project.  
 
While development is unlikely to adversely affect the Woolhampton Reed Bed Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), to the south of the site, a Hydrological Assessment and and Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA) screening would be required at planning application stage.  
 
The site is located adjacent to a BOA.  
 
Archaeology: 
Location suggests that there is some potential for archaeological features or deposits. An archaeological 
desk based assessment should be completed by the applicant. This should inform as to whether any 
further field assessment is required. 
 
Education: 
Primary school provision in the village is at or near to capacity. Secondary school pupils have a choice of 
schools across the district. The site is on the boundary between Kennet School and Theale Green’s 
catchment areas.  
 

Spatial Area: EKV Settlement: Woolhampton Parish:  Woolhampton 

Page 702



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Environmental Health: 
The site is located adjacent to the A4 which could lead to noise and air quality issues unless appropriate 
mitigation and design principles are implemented.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Comments from minerals and waste have not been provided for this site, due to its late submission.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is in the middle AWE consultation zone. Consultation with ONR would be required and will be 
carried out on the principle of development in Woolhampton as part of the preferred options consultation.  
 
Environment Agency: 
EA not consulted on this site  
The site is located in SPZ2, although the EA have stated that this is not of concern.  
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
  
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
The parish council did not comment on this site prior to the preferred options consultation. 
 
At preferred options the Parish Council stated that this site would provide the lest impact ton the village, as 
long as the existing hedge was retained. The site was considered to be the Parish Council’s preferred 
option for development, although some concerns were raised regarding the need for flood mitigation. The 
Parish Council would like to see the site developed in an east/west orientation, with development on the 
southern part of the site only, retaining the north of the site as open space for wildlife and flood prevention. 
This would also take into account the presence of the oil pipeline on the north of the site. The Parish 
Council would like to see development limited to 25 dwellings, or which 10 should be affordable homes. 
The sewage system should be self-contained, unless Thames Water have resolved the current sewerage 
issues in the village.   
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  

 Need to reduce impact on A4 (vibrations, noise, air pollution) for development by planting  

 This site is more suitable, sustainable and logical than WOOL001 

 Parish Council support allocation of this site 

 Oil pipeline present across the north of the site 

 Sewage pumping station does not have capacity to deal with further housing 

 Wide buffer cone could act as wildlife corridor 

 Hydrological links need to be assessed (proximity to Woolhampton Reed Bed SSSI) 

 Design should be in keeping with existing dwellings in the village 

 Linear development east/west along A4 preferred to north/south development  

 Potential for future development on remainder of the site 

 Access safer than at WOOL001, directly on to A4 –  

 Development along A4 could encourage drivers to stick to 30mph speed limit 
 
Full consultation responses and the council response can be found in the statement of consultation.  
 
Proposed Submission Consultation key issues: 
 
Three responses were received regarding this site. The following new points have been raised: 
 

 General – acceptable/sustainable site excluded so DPD not positively prepared. 

 Principle of development – designation of site will set precedent for further development, allocation 
of site does not meet settlement boundary review criteria, Core Strategy housing requirement a 
minimum. 

Page 703



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 Highways and transport – WOOL001 will take access onto New Hill and not directly onto the A4.  

 Infrastructure – no concerns regarding water supply. 

 SA/SEA – the site would have a neutral impact on SA objective 5 (conserving and enhancing the 
landscape). 
 

The Council’s responses to the issues raised are included within Appendix JJ of the Statement of 
Consultation.  
 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability issues with the site. The site is sustainable in terms of access to local 
services and facilities including the open countryside for supporting an active, healthy lifestyle and access 
to education and employment. There are opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport. The site’s 
location next to the A4 means that there could be a negative impact on sustainability in relation to air quality 
and noise pollution, without appropriate mitigation and design. There is an unknown impact on biodiversity, 
as there is potential for protected species on the site, and given the proximity of the site to the SSSI. A 
Hydrological assessment and Screening for HRA are required to ensure adequate mitigation measures are 
provided. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the 
longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The whole site is being promoted for a range of dwellings types and sizes, including affordable housing, 
appropriate to the locality.  
The site is promoted for between 30 and 40 dwellings (1.6ha at a density of 20 – 25dph) in an east/west 
orientation along the A4. This orientation takes into account the oil pipeline to the north. Access would be 
provided to the east of the site away from the entrance to Watermill Court.   
 

 
 
 

Page 704



SA/SEA Appendix 9D

North Wessex Downs AONB - 
Site Assessments 

(including Proposed Main 
Modifications)

Hungerford
Lambourn

Pangbourne
Bradfield Southend

Chieveley
Compton

Great Shefford
Hermitage
Kintbury

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and strikethrough text for
deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined text for additions and double

strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made in light of the proposed Main Modifications are shown as purple underlined text for 
additions and purple strikethrough text for deletions**

Page 705



Hungerford Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 706



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HUN001 
Site 
Address: 

Rear of Westbrook Farmhouse, 
Smitham Bridge Road, 
Hungerford, RG17 0QP 

Development 
Potential:  

25 26 dwellings 
(1.31ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
There is potential to consider a more comprehensively planned development along with HUN008, should 
this become available following review of Protected Employment Areas as part of the Local Plan. 
 
The site is located partly within flood zone 2 and 3 and is subject to a risk from groundwater and surface 
water flooding.  Environment Agency advice is not to allocate for development. 
 
There are concerns over access to the site, as Smitham Bridge Road is very narrow. This is not a 
constraint that the other sites considered for allocation in Hungerford have.  
 
While there are no significant constraints on the site, an alternative site is considered more in keeping with 
the role and function of Hungerford as the largest a rural service centre in the AONB and it is not 
considered appropriate to allocate both sites due to the cap on development in the AONB set out in the 
Core Strategy.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located adjacent to the settlement boundary of Hungerford giving easy access to local services, 
facilities and the open countryside.  It is adjacent to the Hungerford Trading Estate which has also been 
promoted for residential development. Should this become available following a review of Protected 
Employment Areas there is an opportunity for considering the two sites together in a more comprehensive 
manner.      
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Assessment indicates that development on this site, subject to appropriate mitigation 
measures, would result in little harm to the natural beauty of the AONB. 
 
Any development on this site should be subject to the following conditions and protection and enhancement 
of the following features: 
• Hedgerow along the western boundary and the bank and hedgerow along North Standen Road. 
• Views from the west through ensuring that no roof tops are visible over the hedgerow. New tree planting 
to mitigate any impact would not be sufficient mitigation. 
• Access from the north-east corner of the site. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The eastern edge of the site is within flood zone 2 and flood zone 3. It is also within a groundwater 
emergence zone and is subject to surface water flooding. SuDS techniques would need to be included to 
mitigate the potential impact of flooding should the site be developed. Environment Agency advice is not to 
allocate the site for development. The site promoter has confirmed that no development would take place 
within the flood zones.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Concern regarding access to the site. Smitham Bridge Road is a narrow single carridgeway country lane as 
it approaches the site.    
 
No specific comments have been made on this site 
 
Ecology: 
Water voles are present in eastern ditch. A 6m corridor would be required along ditch edge to protect them. 
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hungerford Parish:  Hungerford 

Page 707



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Education: 
Local primary provision is at capacity, although expansion work is being carried out to increase capacity at 
the Primary school. but There are spaces at John O’Gaunt.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air or noise issues 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Site partially underlain by gravel and therefore Policies 1 and 2 of Replacement Minerals Local Plan for 
Berkshire are relevant. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
EA strongly advise that the site is not allocated for development due to the location of part of the site within 
flood zones 2 and 3.  A sequential test would need to be undertaken to provide justification as to why lower 
risk sites are unavailable.  If development were to take place they would expect no development, including 
essential infrastructure and water-compatible development within flood zones 2 and 3.  Any development 
should incorporate at least an 8 metre buffer from the top of the river bank of the Shalbourne and conserve 
and enhance biodiversity.  High risk of groundwater contamination as a major aquifer is located below the 
site. 
 
Thames Water: 
No specific comments have been made on this site 
 
Parish Council: 
The Town Council state development here would be prominent within the AONB, any development here 
would need to be carefully considered, along with the density. The community has expected for some time 
that the site would be developed. The southern/western boundaries of the site have a strong tree line. 
Flood risk from the river needs to be considered. This site is seen as the most logical extension to the 
settlement as long as the landscape is taken into consideration.  
 
At preferred options the Town Council stated that they would like to see this site allocated, along with a 
number of smaller sites at Eddington. The site is considered to be within easy walking distance of the town 
centre, with a lower landscape impact that the preferred options sites.  The Town Council would like to see 
higher densities on the sites in order to reduce the amount of greenfield land required for development.   
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  
Town Council would like to see the site developed, but majority of responses supported the rejection of the 
site. Detailed response received from site promoter rebutting rejection of the site.  
 
Full consultation response and the council response can be found in the statement of consultation.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  

 Site supported by Hungerford Town Council 

 site promoter rebuttal to rejection of the site 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significant positive or negative effects. The site is well located for services, employment and 
public transport options. There are opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity to 
open countryside and has access to sport and recreational facilities, which would help promote a healthy 
active lifestyle.   There are public transport options in Hungerford and the site is within walking distance of 
the railway station.  All of this means that there would be a positive impact on sustainability.  A landscape 
assessment has concluded that the development could be accommodated subject to 
mitigation/enhancement measures.  Water voles are present in the eastern ditch but could be protected 
with mitigation.  The site is located within a groundwater and surface water flooding area. Flood zone 2 and 
3 are present along the eastern boundary. Mitigation in the form of SuDS would be required, and the 
developable area reduced to take into account the flood zones. The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards 

Page 708



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key 
business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for a residential development of approximately 57 dwellings with an element of 
affordable housing. The agent has confirmed the site is available immediately.  
 
At preferred options the site promoter suggested the site should be allocated for 35 dwellings (between 20 
and 30dph) with a range of 2 – 4 bed dwellings. No development would take place within the flood zones. 
The site promoter has said that it is unlikely development of the site could be carried out in conjunction with 
HUN008 due to the presence of the river and questions over viability and land ownership.  

 
 

Page 709



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HUN007 
Site 
Address: 

Land east of Salisbury Road, 
Hungerford 

Development 
Potential:  

100 1 dwellings 
(5.1ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
The site is recommended for allocation through the housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
Northern part of the site is recommended as an option for allocation in the DPD.  Site is considered an 
alternative to the sites at Eddington. At preferred options the site was recommended as an option for 
allocation.  

 

Justification: 
The site is well located for access to facilities and services in Hungerford, particularly to schools. The 
landscape assessment states that little harm to the AONB would be created by developing this site, subject 
to limiting the developable area and appropriate mitigation measures. 
 
There are fewer environmental constraints (no environmental designations close to the site) and the 
Council’s Transport Assessment work indicates that development of this site would be likely to have lesser 
of an impact on the High Street than development to the north of Hungerford.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Hungerford adjacent to new residential development at Kennedy 
Meadows that was allocated in the WBDPL West Berkshire District Local Plan (1991 – 2006). The site is 
currently in agricultural use. The whole site area is 27 hectares but only part of the site to the north is 
proposed for development.  
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Assessment indicates that a smaller area between Salisbury Road and the school might be 
possible. This may have a beneficial effect in softening the southern edge of Hungerford. It is important that 
development on this site does not link visually and physically with any development on HUN022 as the 
cumulative effect would result in greater harm to the AONB. 
 
Development on a smaller part of this site should be subject to the following conditions and protection and 
enhancement of the following features. 
• Creation of a woodland buffer to define the new edge of the settlement 
• Careful design of the gateway approach 
• Retention of views through the site to the wider landscape 
• Retention of existing mature tree cover 
• Careful design to respect the site’s semi-rural location 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is not at risk from flooding  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The impact of such as scheme would need to be assessed by a Transport Assessment. Most traffic would 
travel to and from the site via Hungerford.  Access can be obtained onto the A338. The type of junction 
would need to be considered and the speed limit would need to be relocated south of the site. 
 
The footway would need to be widened alongside the A338 to the site 
 
There are footways and bus stops within the vicinity where bi hourly services pass to Hungerford and 
Newbury. The site is also within walking and cycling distance of Hungerford. 
 
Transport Assessment work carried out by the Council indicates that development on this site would result 
in slightly fewer traffic movements through the High Street than development to the north of Hungerford due 
to the proximity of this site to education provision.  
 
Ecology: 
No issues identified.  
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hungerford Parish:  Hungerford 

Page 710



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Archaeology: 
Potentially significant archaeological interest, Arial photographic evidence for range of features including a 
circular enclosure. Further assessment required. 
 
Education: 
Local primary provision is at capacity, Expansion work is being carried out at the Primary school to increase 
capacity. but there There are spaces at John O’Gaunt.  
 
The site promoter has confirmed that they would be willing to safeguard some of the land for future 
education provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No issues identified 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No issues identified 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
Part of the site Site is within groundwater source protection zones 2 and 3 
  
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development. A water supply strategy would be required. 
Thames Water have not raised any concerns regarding water supply capability.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.   A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
The Town Council raised concern with developing sites to the south of the town. Traffic implications of sites 
of this size are also a serious concern as all of the traffic would need to go through the town centre and 
exacerbate the existing issues. The site is seen as being a long way from the existing centre of Hungerford 
and not easily accessible. Development currently reaches the crest of the hill and the Town Council do not 
feel it should go any further. It was acknowledged that the site was close to the secondary school, but the 
distance to the town centre was seen as to great to overcome this.  
 
At preferred options the Parish Council did not specifically comment on this site, however, they made it 
clear that they would prefer to see development to the north of Hungerford, as they believe this would result 
in fewer traffic movements through the High Street.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues:  

 Development outside settlement boundary in AONB 

 No consideration of brownfield land 

 SA/SEA lack of justification for rejecting sites  

 Traffic/congestion (all traffic needing to use High Street to get to A4/M4) 

 Road Safety for those walking/cycling 

 Lack of parking in town centre 

 Lack of public transport (specifically bus services) 

 Loss of arable land 

 Pressure on infrastructure 

 Positive that the site could provide land for a school/school expansion 

 Sewage capacity  

 Flood risk (surface water) 

 Lack of employment opportunities in Hungerford 

 Consultation – development will impact on all residents, not just those living within 100m 
 

Page 711



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Proposed Submission consultation key issues:  
Majority as at preferred options. New key issues raised listed below:  

 Hungerford Town Council’s view have been ignored – alternative sites suggested 

 Support and objection to allocation of the site 

 Impact on provision of allotments 

 Pollution  

 Inaccurate information in SA/SEA 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response please see the Statement of Consultation.  
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significant positive or negative effects if only the northern part of the site is considered for 
development. The site is well located for services, education and public transport options, although the 
majority of employment facilities are to the north of Hungerford. There are, however, opportunities for 
walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity to open countryside and has access to sport and 
recreational facilities, which would help promote a healthy active lifestyle. All of this means that there would 
be a positive impact on sustainability.  The landscape impact assessment of development on this site 
shows that it would not be appropriate to develop this entire site, and any design would need to incorporate 
the suggested mitigation. The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term 
through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site had been promoted for approximately 250 homes at a density of 30 dwellings per hectare, with 
possible provision for primary school and retirement or care home.  The land is available immediately. 
 

 
 

Page 712



Lambourn Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 713



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM002A Site Address:  Land at Meridian House and Stud, Greenways, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 26 dwellings (1.3ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable ment  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Site forms part of the Stud and is potentially used as part of the racehorse industry - contrary to policy CS12  
- Site is within the AONB, however the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment concludes that development of this site would not cause 

harm to the natural beauty of the AONB, subject to mitigation measures outlined within the assessment. 
- Flood risk -  part of the site is within a groundwater emergence zone and part within a critical drainage area. A Flood Risk 

Assessment would be required to support any development on the site 
- Access 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site is the primary concern with this site. Access via Coppington Gardens would impact on 
Bockhampton Road and Station Road. On road parking in this area is common, effectively making it a 
one way road. Extra traffic generation is of great concern.  
There could be potential access from Greenways, although this is not an adopted road.  
Concern about future development to the south if the site were to be developed as it is raised and could 
have visual impacts.  
Development could impact on drainage and run-off.  
The parish council would be against development of this site, although the site did received receive the 
highest preference by respondents to the questionnaire sent out.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N 
Landscape assessment indicates development on 
this site would be acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary  

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent  

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield Land 

Racehorse Industry  Y 
Site forms part of the Stud and is potentially used 
as part of the racehorse industry 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
G Part of the site is within a groundwater 
emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area Y Part of the site is within a Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U Potential access issues 

Highway network suitability U Highways not consulted on this site 

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements U Pavements are intermittent through the village 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure Open Space / Playing field / Y Site is close to local sports fields/recreation 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 714



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Amenity Space nearby ground 

Rights of Way affected A Public Right of Way runs adjacent to the site 

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 

Possible chalk grassland habitat. An extended 
phase 1 habitat survey would be required together 
with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary Ecological survey required.  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Iron Age and Roman material found to the north 
of the site. Further assessment required through a 
Heritage Impact Assessment  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply N 
TW have concern regarding water supply 
capability. Water Supply Strategy would be 
required 

Wastewater N 
TW have concern regarding wastewater 
capability. Drainage Strategy would be required 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 
Major aquifer. High risk of groundwater 
contamination. Flood Risk Assessment required 
as part of any planning application 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
LAM002B, LAM010 LAM002B, LAM010 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 
 

Page 715



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM002A 
Site Address: Land at Meridian House and Stud, Greenways, 

Lambourn 
Development Potential:  26 dwellings (1.3ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities, 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field and 
has good access to the 
countryside.meaning that 
dDevelopment of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
The site is adjacent to a public right 
of way 

The PROW would need to be 
preserved and taken into 
consideration when designing 
the scheme.  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities,There are 
a number of local opportunities within 
the racehorse industry and small 
scale local industry 

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 0 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However, there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be a heavy reliance on the 
car. While there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
service is 2 hourly 

 

There are opportunities for 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities, 
however there are limited 
public transport 
opportunities leading to a 
high degree of car 
dependency, especially for 
higher order goods. 
 
Overall it is unlikely that Will it reduce the number of ? Additional traffic could result in road  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 716



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

development of this site will 
have an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 
which should have a 
positive impact on 
sustainability. Due to the 
location of Lambourn there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? Potential Chalk Grassland habitat 

Full ecological survey required 
An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment there would be 
potential for a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) indicates that the 
site could be developed without 
detriment to the natural beauty of the 
AONB, subject to mitigation 
measures set out within the 
assessment. development of this site 
would be acceptable.  

Landscape assessment  The 
LSA indicates the following 
protection and enhancement 
would be required:  
- Rretention of existing 

vegetation along north 
east boundary 

- Rreplacement of conifer 
hedge with more 
appropriate native planting 

- Ddenser development 
should be kept towards the 
north east edge, becoming 
less dense as the land 
rises 

- Vviews from the 
surrounding countryside 
would need to be 
considered 

- Nnew planting would be 
important in integrating the 
buildings into the 

P
age 717



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

landscape and defining the 
settlement edge.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

The site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement, so development would 
not be out of character with the 
existing settlement pattern. uUnlikely 
to have an impact on the character of 
the built environment.  

Sensitive design in accordance 
with Council policies 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. However, 
further investigation will be 
required through a Heritage 
Impact Assessment to 
ensure there will be no 
negative impacts on the 
District’s heritage assets. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There is iron age and roman material 
to the north of the site.  

Further assessment is required 
through a Heritage Impact 
Assessment as to the impact 
development could have on the 
archaeological material.  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The gGreenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 718



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

Part of tThe site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone and 
within a critical drainage area. 
Anecdotal evidence of flooding 
during Jan/Feb 2014.  

An FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  

Development on the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation is 
provided.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

TOverall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site, and it is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related close  to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, 
active lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided through the racehorse industry 
and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s location in the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are 
introduced in line with the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment the impact should be mitigated. Flooding could also have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless 

P
age 719



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

appropriate mitigation measures are provided. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 720



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAMN002A Site Address: 
Land at Meridian House 
and Stud, Greenways, 
Lambourn 

Development 
Potential:  

26 dwellings  
(1.3ha at 30dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Development of this site, albeit only a small part of the original site area proposed, would potentially result 
in the loss of land associated with the racehorse industry. Loss of land associated with the racehorse 
industry would be contrary to policy CS12 of the Core Strategy. Policy CS12 aims to prevent pressure for 
redevelopment of existing facilities to other uses and the fragmentation of existing sites. Such pressures 
could lead to the decline of the industry locally, threaten the character and form of the settlement and 
increase pressure for replacement facilities in environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
A revised site area and layout plan was submitted by the site promoter as part of the Preferred Options 
consultation in order to address the concerns raised through the site assessments. However it is 
considered that the proposals do not go far enough to address the concerns. The LSA states that the scale 
of the whole site as assessed related well to the settlement pattern. However it is felt that the revised 
proposals, whilst addressing concerns over access, are out of character with the existing settlement 
pattern. Other sites in Lambourn are considered to be more appropriate for development. 
Concern over traffic impact and access mean that other sites within the village are considered more 
appropriate for development.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Lambourn, close to local services and facilities and with good access to 
the open countryside. Development in this smaller site area would still potentially result in the loss of land 
associated with the racehorse industry which is contrary to Core Strategy policy CS12.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located in the AONB. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that development 
of the site would be acceptable as long as the mitigation measures listed in the assessment are adhered to.  
 
Flood Risk: 
Whilst Tthe site is in flood zone 1, although part of the site does sit is within a groundwater emergence 
zone and part within a critical drainage area. An Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be required as part of 
any planning application and SUDs provided should development take place. There is a high risk to 
groundwater of contamination and this would need to be taken into account as part of the FRA.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments made on this site.  
 
Concern over access to the site and traffic impact along local roads. 
The site area and number of dwellings proposed on the site has been reduced by the site promoter during 
the Preferred Options Consultation. It is proposed the access will now consist of two private drives 
accessing 9 units in total. The Council’s Highways Team have not raised any concerns over this proposed 
access arrangement. 
 
Ecology: 
The site is potential chalk grassland and as a result An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required 
together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
 A full ecological survey would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
There are iron age and roman archaeology to the north of the site which requires further investigation. A 
Heritage Impact Assessment would be required as part of any planning application. 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 721



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is over a major aquifer, with a high risk of potential 
groundwater contamination. As a result a FRA would be required as part of any planning application. 
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
  
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
Access to the site is the primary concern with this site. Access via Coppington Gardens would impact on 
Bockhampton Road and Station Road. On road parking in this area is common, effectively making it a one 
way road. Extra traffic generation is of great concern. There could be potential access from Greenways, 
although this is not an adopted road. Concern about future development to the south if the site were to be 
developed as it is raised and could have visual impacts. Development could impact on drainage and run-
off. The Pparish Ccouncil would be against development of this site, although the site did received receive 
the highest preference by respondents to the questionnaire sent out. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 

 Access issues and highways concerns 

 New site area and layout plan proposed, reducing the number of dwellings on the site to 9 units 

 Proposed new access via two private drives 

 Proposed lower density 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site, and it is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is close to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of 
which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a positive 
impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided 
through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on economic 
and social sustainability. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s 

Page 722



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

location in the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are introduced in line with the Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment the impact should be mitigated. Flooding could also have a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are provided. 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant issues with 
this site. The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including the countryside, 
all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental 
sustainability due to the site’s location in the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are 
introduced in line with the Landscape Assessment the impact should be mitigated. Flooding could also 
have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are 
provided. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
No specific proposals have been submitted for this site through the SHLAA. It has been confirmed that 
access could be taken from The Classics using land in the ownership and control of the landowner.  
 
The Site Promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation and provided a layout plan which 
identified a smaller site area, along with a lower density of development and a lower number of dwellings (9 
units). In addition, new access arrangements were proposed identifying access via two private drives. The 
Site Promoter confirmed that drainage/flood risk is not an issue on the site. 
 

 

Page 723



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM002B Site Address:  Land at Meridian House and Stud, Greenways, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 14 dwellings (0.68ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Recommended as Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Poor Rrelationship to settlement (nsite is not adjacent to the existing settlement boundary) 
- Site is used Associated with as part of the Racecourse racehorse industry – contrary to policy CS12 
- Critical drainage area 
- Access concerns 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council did not specifically comment on this site. Although the comments made regarding 
LAM002A are relevant to this site.  
Access to the site is the primary concern with this site. Access via Coppington Gardens would impact on 
Bockhampton Road and Station Road. On road parking in this area is common, effectively making it a 
one way road. Extra traffic generation is of great concern.  
There could be potential access from Greenways, although this is not an adopted road.  
Concern about future development to the south if the site were to be developed as it is raised and could 
have visual impacts.  
Development could impact on drainage and run-off.  
The parish council would be against development of this site. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N 
Landscape Assessment indicates development on 
this site would be acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Assessment recommendation.  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Not adjacent to the existing settlement boundary 

*Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 724



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: LAM003 Site Address:  
Land between River Lambourn and Bockhampton Road, 
Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 11 dwellings (0.54ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Recommended as Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that development in this location would not be acceptable on this site would result in 

harm to the natural beauty of the AONB and should not be pursued   

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council agree with the SHLAA assessment of not currently developable. Development of the 
site would have a significant impact on the landscape. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N A Adjacent to Flood Zone3 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI A Adjacent to SSSI 

SAC A Adjacent to SAC 

SPA A N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that 
development in this location would not be 
acceptable.on this site would result in harm to the 
natural beauty of the AONB and should not be 
pursued 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Assessment  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Not Aadjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 725



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: LAM004 Site Address:  Land off Bockhampton Road, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 14  dwellings (0.7ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Recommended as Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that development on this site would result in harm to the natural beauty of the AONB 

and should not be pursued. in this location would not be acceptable   

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council agree with the SHLAA assessment of not currently developable. Development of the 
site would have a significant impact on the landscape. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that 
development in this location would not be 
acceptable.on this site would result in harm to the 
natural beauty of the AONB and should not be 
pursued 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Assessment  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N   

AWE consultation zone Inner N   

Relative scale in 
relation to the 
settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N   

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Not adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 726



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: LAM005 Site Address:  Land adjoining Lynch Lane, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 
Approx. 60 66 dwellings (3.06 29ha at 
20dph) 

SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Flood risk  (Ppart of the site lies within Flood Zone 2 and Flood Zone 3, as well as a groundwater emergence zone and an area 

of surface water flood risk. A Flood Risk Assessment will be required as part of any planning application. 
- The site is adjacent to the River Lambourn which is a SSSI and SAC) 
- An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. 
- A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required to accompany any planning application.  
- Variety of archaeological features in close proximity and on the site. High archaeological potential. Heritage Impact Assessment 

required as part of any planning application. 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council has various concerns with this site, as does the local community. These are primarily 
focused on drainage issues and the potential visual impact of development. The land is very wet, and 
within a ground water emergence zone. The River Lambourn is a SSSI so there are concerns about 
what impact any drainage solutions could have on this. During Feb 2014 there was standing water on 
the site.  
Concern about the loss of agricultural land which is currently used for agricultural purposes.  
There is no formal footpath on the access route to the site.  
This was the least favoured site for development by the residents responding to the survey.  
The parish council indicated that there is the possibility of Saxon remains on the site.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  P 
The northern and north eastern part of the site is 
within Flood Zone 3. Developable area reduced to 
take account of flood risk area.  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI A 
Adjacent to River Lambourn.  
A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be 
required to accompany any planning application.  

SAC A 
Adjacent to River Lambourn.  
A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be 
required to accompany any planning application.  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement  
role and function of 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out.  
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent  

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y 

The northern and north eastern part of the site is 
within Flood Zone 2. Developable area reduced to 
take account of flood risk area.Part of the north 
east part of the site is within flood zone 2.  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
Entire site is within a groundwater emergence 
zone 

Surface water flood risk Y 
Northern part of the site is within an area of 
surface water flood risk 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues N Access can be obtained via The Park and Essex 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 727



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Place, although visibility at the Essex Place / Big 
Lane junction appears to be limited to an extent. 
Access can also be obtained via Lynch Lane 

Highway network suitability N 

Development would be likely to generate 
approximately 336 daily vehicle movements, 
including about 34 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak. This is expected to have a marginal impact 
on the highway network.  

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon Railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements Y  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Adjacent to recreation ground 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Potential UKBAP grassland. Ecological 
assessment An extended phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) A Adjacent to BOA 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 

Variety of features in close proximity to and on the 
site. High archaeological potential. archaeological 
desk based assessment as a minimum and field 
evaluation if required as part of any planning 
application 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply N 

Thames Water have raised no concern regarding 
water supply capability. 
Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an 
issue in Lambourn 

Wastewater N 

TW have raised concern regarding wastewater 
capability. A Drainage Strategy will be required as 
part of any planning application. 
Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an 
issue in Lambourn 
Development will need to connect to the mains 
sewerage system.  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 
High risk of contamination to groundwater. Flood 
Risk Assessment required as part of any planning 
application 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. 
Consideration of Policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP 
required.  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A N/A 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

none N/A 

 
  

Page 728



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM005 
Site Address: Land adjoining Lynch Lane, Lambourn 

Development Potential:  
Approx. 60 56 dwellings (3.06 2ha 
at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field, as 
well as good access to the 
countryside. meaning that d 
Development of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on GI 

Development of the site 
provides opportunities to 
enhance the existing PROW 
and bridle-path network 
through the creation of new 
routes linking to existing. 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. There are 
a number of local opportunities within 
the racehorse industry and small 
scale local industry 
The racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities,  

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 0+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However, there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be reliance on the car.While 
there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 

Development of the site 
provides opportunities to 
enhance the existing PROW 
and bridle-path network 
through the creation of new 
routes linking to existing. 

There are opportunities for 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities, 
however there are limited 
public transport 
opportunities leading to a 
high degree of car 
dependency, especially for 
higher order goods.  

Spatial Area: LAM005 AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 729



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

service is 2 hourly  
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability. However, the 
site does provide the 
opportunity to enhance the 
exiting PROW which could 
have a positive impact on 
environmental and social 
sustainability.  which should 
have a positive impact on 
sustainability. Due to the 
location of Lambourn there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

- 

The site is adjacent to the River 
Lambourn, which is a SSSI and 
SAC. and 
 
The site is also adjacent to a BOA. 
Development of the site would lead 
to loss of Grade 2 and 3 agricultural 
land. S 
 
The site is a potential designated as 
UKBAP grassland.   

 Full ecological survey required 
An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 
 
A significant stand-off between 
the SSSI/SAC and the 
development would be 
required.  
 
A Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) will be 
required to accompany any 
planning application.  
 
Any development would have 
to prove that it would not cause 
harm to the River Lambourn 

Due to the site’s location, 
adjacent to the SSSI and 
SAC without careful design 
development could have a 
negative impact on these 
areas, however with careful 
design and appropriate 
mitigation measures the 
impact on the 
environmental sustainability 
could be reduced.  

P
age 730



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

SSSI/SAC 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) indicates that 
development of this site would be 
acceptable the site could be 
developed without detriment to the 
natural beauty of the AONB, subject 
to some mitigation measures.  

Landscape assessment  The 
LSA indicates the following 
protection enhancement would 
be required as part of any 
development:  
- The retention of existing 

riverside vegetation 
- The provision of 

connection for pedestrians 
to link the existing housing 
with the valley floor to the 
north.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

The site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement, so development would 
not be out of character with the 
existing settlement pattern. uUnlikely 
to have an impact on the character of 
the built environment. 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. However 
further investigation will be 
required through a Heritage 
Impact Assessment to 
ensure there will be no 
negative impacts on the 
District’s heritage assets. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
The site is in an area of high 
archaeological potential  

Further investigation would be 
required through an 
archaeological desk based 
assessment as a minimum and 
field evaluation if necessary 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- GThis is a greenfield site  
The gGreenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 

P
age 731



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

The northern and north eastern edge 
of the site is within Flood Zzones 2 
and 3..The site is also within the site 
in a groundwater emergence zone 
and surface water flood risk area.  

An FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
No development will take place 
within the Flood Zones 

Development on the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation is 
provided.  Developing 
outside the area within 
Fflood Zzones 2 and 3 will 
help to reduce the flood risk 
and potential impact on 
sustainability.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 

 

P
age 732



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
 
Summary 

TOverall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site and it is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB and the proximity of the site to the SSSI and SAC. As 
long as appropriate mitigation measures are introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be mitigated and deliver positive 
effects on sustainability. Flooding could also have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are provided. Developing outside Flood 
Zones 2 and 3 will help to reduce the flood risk and potential impact on sustainability. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 733



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAM005 Site Address: 
Land adjoining Lynch 
Lane, Lambourn 

Development 
Potential:  

Approx. 60 56 
dwellings (3.06 
2.8ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 Site is recommended for allocation (excluding the area of the site at risk from flooding).  

 

Justification: 
The site is well related to existing services and facilities within Lambourn.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has been carried out and indicates 
that development on the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject to mitigation measures to 
ensure the protection of existing landscape features. In addition the LSA states that both sites LAM007 and 
LAM005 could only be developed in part concurrently or either one or the other selected. 
 
The northern and north eastern part of the site lie within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and within an area of surface 
water flood risk, whilst the whole site lies within a groundwater emergence zone.  No development will take 
place within the Flood Zones and a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required to support a planning 
application, along with implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation measures.  
 
Development on the site will not adversely affect the SSSI/SAC. A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
will be required to accompany any planning application. The development will need to provide a significant 
buffer/stand-off between the development and the SSSI/SAC. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would 
also be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected habitats and 
species were not adversely affected. 
 
The site has been identified as having a high archaeological potential and therefore further investigation will 
be required as part of a planning application via an archaeological desk based assessment as a minimum 
and field evaluation if necessary.  
Development can take place on the site without needing to develop the area of the site within the flood 
zone.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north east of Lambourn. Close to local services and facilities including good 
access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located within the AONB., although the A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been 
carried out on the site and indicates that development on the site would be acceptable as long as mitigation 
measures as listed in the assessment are adhered to. It states that development on the site should retain 
the existing riverside vegetation and provision of connections for pedestrians to link the existing housing 
with the valley floor to the north. 
 
In addition, the overall conclusions of the LSA recommend that the larger sites within Lambourn, LAM007 
and LAM005, are either only developed in part concurrently, or either one or the other selected, to continue 
the pattern of sequential small developments in the village. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The northern and north eastern part of the site lie within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and within an area of surface 
water flood risk, whilst the whole site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Approximately 10% of the 
site is within flood zone 3, with a further 1% in flood zone 2. No development will take place within the 
Flood Zones and a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required to support a planning application, along 
with implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation measures. The FRA should include consideration of 
all sources of flooding, including groundwater flood risk.  
10% of the site is within flood zone 3, with a further 1% in flood zone 2. An ordinary water course passes 
through the site. An FRA would be required and appropriate mitigation, including SUDs would need to be 
provided. Should development take place it would only be on the area of the site within flood zone 1. 

Spatial Area: AONBN&T Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 734



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Highways /Transport: 
Traffic generated by the site is expected to have a minimal impact on the highway network.  
 
Access to the site can be obtained via Lynch Lane. The Park and Essex Place. Some improvements may 
be required to the Essex Place/Big Lane junction as the visibility at the junction appears to be limited. 
Further consideration of the site f Following the Preferred Options consultation by the Highways Team has 
identified Lynch Lane as another possible access to/from the site. In addition, the Team has now also 
considered the acceptability of a secondary access from the Upper Lambourn Road.  Its original comments 
made in June 2014 did not envisage any new accesses onto the B4000, but rather a continuation of 
existing street patterns from the south of the site. This is in line with the aims of Manual for Streets to allow 
linkages and integration with existing residential areas and in this case also the centre of Lambourn. It is 
imperative that such linkages are provided to encourage sustainable travel. Manual for Streets also aims 
for pedestrian and cycle linkages within streets and movement hierarchy, rather than separate routes 
whenever possible.  
There is concern that providing a main or single access onto the B4000 would face the development 
outward from Lambourn and would reduce the integration described above. If such an access were the 
main or only access to the site it would therefore be opposed. There are other vehicular access(es) of 
equal or greater standing at least either onto Lynch Place, The Park and possibly Essex Street which are 
considered to be as safe or safer than any new access onto the B4000. 
 
The Highways Team has confirmed that in accordance with Manual for Streets it is preferable to have more 
than one access serving the development to enhance permeability through the site. Therefore if a 
secondary access were to be provided onto the Upper Lambourn Road  the Highways Team would not 
oppose it in principle on highway safety grounds, subject to it being provided as a roundabout with splitter 
islands to reduce traffic speeds and provide the opportunities for pedestrians and horses to cross. The 
Team has expressed doubts as to whether such an access would be acceptable in planning and 
landscaping terms however. 
 
Whilst the provision of a secondary access to the site from the Upper Lambourn Road may be acceptable 
in principle in highway terms, in order for it to be acceptable to the Council, it would be essential that it was 
designed to be in keeping with the character and appearance of the AONB in this location and conserved 
and enhanced the existing rural entrance to Lambourn. The Council’s landscape consultant has advised 
that the existing woodland and roadside tree cover would need to be retained in any proposal and that an 
over engineered suburbanizing solution (as currently submitted by the site promoter) would not be 
acceptable.  Proposals similar to the existing low key equestrian access routes would be regarded as being 
in keeping with the value, character and appearance of the area. An access located here would need to be 
designed to follow the edge of the woodland and be rural in character with a simple hard landscape 
treatment and soft, very informal outer edge through gaps of planting. The consultant concludes that any 
new road should not increase the visual impact of the housing on HSA20 and that the provision of an 
access to the west of the existing tree belt along the western boundary of the site would only be on the 
basis that no further housing development would be acceptable beyond the boundary of HSA20. Further 
expansion to the west would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the AONB and its special qualities. 
 

Following the examination hearing sessions in July 2016  the site promoter confirmed that a secondary 
access to the site may only need to be required if the Inspector concluded the site should accommodate 
significantly more than the ‘approximately 60 dwellings’ referred to in policy HSA20. In response to the 
Inspector’s query as to whether or not a single access would be acceptable in terms of permeability, the 
Council’s Highways Development Control Team Leader stated at the hearing session that a single access 
point to the site from Lynch Lane would be acceptable in highway terms. After the hearing sessions he 
subsequently confirmed that the sight lines at Lynch Lane are adequate and a single access point to the 
site from this location would be acceptable for a development of approximately 60 dwellings.  Although 
there are not footways along all of Big Lane, pedestrian access from the site to the village centre can be 
achieved through Atherton Place. 
 

There are limited public transport opportunities within the village, with a 2 hourly bus service linking the 
village to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon Railway Station. There are local 
opportunities for walking and cycling within the village, with footways and bus stops within the vicinity where 
services are available to places such as Newbury and Hungerford.  
 
There are no formal PRoW that pass through the site however there is an opportunity with the development 
of this site to improve the network of bridle paths and public rights of way within the area which would 
benefit the community and racing industry as a whole. To enhance permeability through the site pedestrian 

Page 735



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

and cycle links will need be provided to enable connection with existing housing and the land to the north 
west of the site. 
 
Ecology: 
The site is potentially within a UKBAP grassland site, and lies adjacent to the River Lambourn SSSI and 
SAC. A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required to accompany any planning application. A 
full ecological survey would be required and details setting out that any development would not harm the 
SSSI or SAC.  
In addition, an extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. In addition, following Preferred 
Options consultation it has been concluded that a significant buffer/stand-off would be required between 
the SSSI/SAC and the development.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is in an area of high archaeological potential requiring further investigation. It has been concluded 
that a variety of archaeological features are in close proximity and on the site and therefore a Heritage 
Impact Assessment would be required as part of any planning application.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of policy 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be 
required.  
 
No known waste issues in relation to land use planning.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
The EA strongly advise that the site is not allocated. Where the site is recommended for allocation a 
strategic sequential test would be required. There would need to be an allocation policy to clarify that there 
would be no development within the flood zones. As part of the Preferred Options consultation the 
Environment Agency (EA) responded stating that it is noted the developable area does not include the area 
in Flood Zone 3 and 2. The policy allocation should set out that there will be no development in Flood Zone 
3 and 2. This is a change from advice provided by the EA prior to the consultation. 
 
The site is over a major aquifer with high potential for groundwater contamination. As a result a FRA would 
be required as part of a planning application.  
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required As part of the Preferred Options consultation Thames Water 
responded stating that they do not envisage infrastructure concerns regarding Water Supply capability in 
relation to this site. This is a change from advice provided by Thames Water prior to the consultation. 
Concern regarding Waste wWater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to 
support demand anticipated from the development. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure 
sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of the development.  
  
A dDrainage sStrategy would be required as part of any planning application to determine the exact impact 
on the infrastructure and the significant of the infrastructure to support the development. The site drains to 
East Shefford STW and an impact study is likely to be required to determine capacity. Development will 
need to connect to the main sewerage system.  

Page 736



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been identified as a strategic issue within Lambourn, 
therefore an integrated Water Supply and Drainage Strategy would be required for this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
Parish Council has various concerns with this site, as does the local community. These are primarily 
focused on drainage issues and the potential visual impact of development. The land is very wet, and within 
a ground water emergence zone. The River Lambourn is a SSSI so there are concerns about what impact 
any drainage solutions could have on this. During Feb 2014 there was standing water on the site.  
Concern about the loss of agricultural land which is currently used for agricultural purposes.  
There is no formal footpath on the access route to the site.  
This was the least favoured site for development by the residents responding to the survey.  
The Pparish council Council indicated that there is the possibility of Saxon remains on the site. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 

 Principle of development 

 Highways/Transport 

 Infrastructure 

 Landscape/Setting 

 Flooding 

 Ecology 

 Employment  

 Heritage 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
10 responses were received for the site.  The main issues raised were regarding: 

 Principle of development 

 Design and density 

 Ecology 

 Racehorse industry 

 Heritage 

 Highways and transport 

 Infrastructure 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significant sustainability issues with this site. The site is well related to local services and 
facilities within the village, including the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and 
promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  Potential negative 
impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB 
and the proximity of the site to the SSSI and SAC. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are 
introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Assessment, the impact should be mitigated. 
Flooding could also have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation 
measures are provided. 
Overall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site and it is likely to have a neutral effect on 
sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, 
all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on 
economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s 
location within the AONB and the proximity of the site to the SSSI and SAC. As long as appropriate 
mitigation measures are introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, 
the impact should be mitigated and deliver positive effects on sustainability. Flooding could also have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are provided. 
Developing outside Flood Zones 2 and 3 will help to reduce the flood risk and potential impact on 

Page 737



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

sustainability. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed through the SHLAA for 150 dwellings.  
 
The Site Promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation confirming the site was available, and 
there are no significant issues that would undermine the deliverability of the site. It was also confirmed that 
a Phase 1 Habitat Assessment had been carried out for the site, and this was subsequently provided to the 
Council. The site promoter also raised concern regarding the developable area and density of the site set 
out within the Preferred Options DPD.   
 
The site promoter responded to the Proposed Submission consultation noting that the proposed 
supplementary entrance points (The Park/Essex Place) are out of the landowner's control. Instead, the site 
promoter proposes a secondary access from the west on land which is in landowner's control and which 
has been subject to a preliminary transport assessment. The site promoter suggests that in addition to 
providing a second and safe means of access a new junction in this location would act as traffic calming on 
this part of the Upper Lambourn Road and could incorporate a 'Pegasus' type crossing for horses 
(illustrative site layout plan submitted). 
 
Following the examination hearing sessions in July 2016  the site promoter confirmed that a secondary 
access to the site may only need to be required if the Inspector concluded the site should accommodate 
significantly more than the ‘approximately 60 dwellings’ referred to in policy HSA20. 
 

 
 
 

Page 738



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: LAM006 Site Address:  Land at Wantage Road and Northfields, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 28 dwellings (1.38ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Recommended as Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that development in this location would not be acceptable on this site would result in 

harm to the natural beauty of the AONB and should not be pursued.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council agree with the SHLAA assessment of not currently developable. Development of the 
site would have a significant impact on the landscape. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment states that 
development in this location would not be 
acceptable.on this site would result in harm to the 
natural beauty of the AONB and should not be 
pursued 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Assessment  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N   

AWE consultation zone Inner N   

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary. 

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 739



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: LAM007 Site Address:  
Land between Folly Road, Rockfel Road / Bridleways and Stork 
House drive, Lambourn  

 

Development Potential: 24 dwellings (1.2ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Site is within the AONB – a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has concluded that only part of the site is considered 

suitable for development. The LSA also concludes that LAM005 and LAM007 are either only developed in part concurrently, or 
either one or the other selected.Southern part of the site is used as part of the Racehorse industry – development of the site 
would be contrary to policy CS12 

- TPOs along northern and north eastern boundaries 
- Site is possibly Chalk Grasasland – An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys 

arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not adversely affected 

- Site is considered to have high archaeological potential, therefore further investigation will be required as part of any planning 
application - Heritage Impact Assessment required.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Concerns over access – Folly Road is unsuitable for the whole of the site, it is too narrow and is a route 
used to get horses up to the gallops. The lower part of the site could be accessed from Rockfel Road. If 
only the frontage of Folly Road was developed the access might be acceptable. Development could result 
in increased run-off into Lambourn Village. The water mains are already fragile (10” main has burst 3 
times in the last 6 months).  
The racehorse yard adjacent to the site is still in use, and there is concern that the yard could be lost 
should this site be developed.  
The Parish Council thought that ownership of the site might prove problematic to any development on the 
site coming forward.  
Overall conclusion was that if development is needed, then development of the site might be a possibility 
if the constraints are taken into account and if considered as two separate sites. This site was the 1

st
 

choice of 27% of questionnaire respondents and the 2
nd

 choice of 21%.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

P 
The Llandscape Sensitivity aAssessment indicates 
that only part of the site is suitable for 
development.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to the 
settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy.  

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  Y 
A large area in the southern part of the site is 
currently utilised as part of the racehorse industry 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk A 
A small area in the south of the site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area A Adjacent to a critical drainage area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues N 
Access can be obtained from Folly Road, but 
there are no footwaysprobably not appropriate 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 740



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

given the rural nature of the road. An alternative, 
and preferred, access could be Rockfel Road 
through a recreation ground.  

Highway network suitability N 

Development would be likely to generate 
approximately 144 daily vehicle movements 
including about 14 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM 
peak. The traffic impact on the highway network is 
expected to be limited 

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements U 

Pavements are intermittent through the village. 
There are no pavements along Folly Road and it 
would probably not be appropriate to add them 
considering the rural nature of the road. A footpath 
along Folly Road would be welcomed. Should the 
alternative access from Rockfel Road be 
considered this would link the site into the footway 
network.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

U 
Site is close to the school playing fields, but these 
do not have public access.  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby  N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Possible chalk grassland habitat - An extended 
phase 1 habitat survey would be required together  
full ecological survey needed.  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders Y 
TPOs along northern and north eastern 
boundaries 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 

Site has high archaeological potential with a 
variety of features close to and on the site. Further 
investigation required through an Heritage Impact 
Assessment.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply Y TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 

Wastewater N 
TW do not envisage any infrastructure concerns 
TW have concern regarding wastewater capability 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 
There is a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. A Flood Risk Assessment would be 
required as part of any planning application 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N/A  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A N/A 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 

Page 741



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM007 
Site Address: Land between Folly Road, Rockfel Road / Bridleways 

and Stork House Drive, Lambourn 
Development Potential:  24 dwellings (1.2ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field, 
and has good access to the 
countryside. meaning that 
dDevelopment of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on social and 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on GI  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to lots of local 
services and facilities within the 
village. There are a number of local 
opportunities within the racehorse 
industry and small scale local 
industry 
The racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities, 

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 + 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However, there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be reliance on the car. While 
there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
service is 2 hourly 

Development of the site 
provides the opportunity to 
deliver new footpaths, linking 
the new dwellings with the 
existing settlement. 

There are opportunities for 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities, 
however there are limited 
public transport 
opportunities leading to a 
high degree of car 
dependency, especially for 
higher order goods. 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 742



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability. However, the 
site does provide the 
opportunity to enhance the 
pedestrian linkages 
between the development 
and the existing settlement 
which could have a positive 
impact on sustainability.  
which should have a 
positive impact on 
sustainability. Due to the 
location of Lambourn there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 
There are TPOs on the site. P and 
the site is a possible chalk grassland 
habitat 

Design to take into account 
trees protected by TPOs.  
 
An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 
Full ecological survey would be 
required.  

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment there would be 
the potential for a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is within the AONB.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment work (LSA) indicates 
development on only part of the site 
would be suitable for development. 
result in little harm to the natural 
beauty of the AONB, Ssubject to a 
number of conditions/mitigation 

The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment requires the 
protection and enhancement of 
certain features:  
- low density, linear housing 

(similar to that north of 
Folly Lane would be the 
most appropriate form of 
development at the higher 

P
age 743



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

measures. It is recommended that 
only the land adjacent to Folly Road 
and below the 150m AOD contour in 
the south of the site to be considered 
for development.  

elevation) 
- higher density, similar to 

housing to the east, on the 
lower ground in the 
eastern part of the site 

- Views from surrounding 
countryside would need to 
be carefully considered 

- New planting would be 
important in integrating the 
buildings into the 
landscape, to including 
replacement of the conifer 
hedges.  

- An area between the two 
portions of the site for 
development would need 
to be left as open field or 
open space to reduce the 
overall impact of the 
development.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 ? 

The impact on the built environment 
would depend on the design and size 
of the development proposed. The 
site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement and some appropriate 
development would not be out of 
keeping with the existing settlement 
pattern 

Careful design will be required 
throughout the whole site, but 
with particular attention at the 
higher elevations 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability as long as 
design is in line with the 
policies of the Core 
Strategy. However, further 
investigation will be 
required through a Heritage 
Impact Assessment to 
ensure there will be no 
negative impacts on the 
District’s heritage assets. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 

The site is in an area of high 
archaeological potential with a 
variety of features close to and on 
the site.  

Further investigation required 
through a Heritage Impact 
Assessment 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 

Will the site be at risk of, or 
impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 

P
age 744



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk of, or 
impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Greenfield Site  

The gGreenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy..  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 

The site site is in Flood Zone 1, but a 
small part lies is within an adjacent to 
a groundwater flood risk area 
emergence zone and the site is 
adjacent to a critical drainage area.  

There is no evidence of 
flooding on the site. An FRA 
would be required and should 
take into consideration 
groundwater issues. and SUDs 
would need to be provided.  

Unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

P
age 745



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

TOverall there are no significant sustainability issues on this site and development is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the site’s location in the AONB. Mitigation measures in line with the Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment should reduce this impact and deliver positive effects on sustainability.   
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 

P
age 746



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAM007 Site Address: 

Land between Folly Road, 
Rockfel Road / Bridleways 
and Stork House Drive, 
Lambourn 

Development 
Potential:  

24 dwellings (1.2ha 
at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation at this time.  It should be considered as part of the new Local 
Plan 
 

 

Justification: 
Although tThe site is located close to local services and facilities within Lambourn and relates well to the 
existing settlement, the site is largely in use as turnout paddocks for the adjacent yard. The equestrian 
industry plays a vital role within the local rural economy of Lambourn and surrounding areas. As such the 
loss of the site for housing development would be contrary to policy CS12 of the Core Strategy. Policy 
CS12 aims to prevent pressure for redevelopment of existing facilities to other uses and the fragmentation 
of existing sites. Such pressures could lead to the decline of the industry locally, threaten the character and 
form of the settlement and increase pressure for replacement facilities in environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
Whilst the southern area of the site is currently used as turnout paddocks the Council’s Highways Team 
have concerns regarding an access onto Folly Road which would impact on the delivery of the northern 
section of the site.  
 
In addition the LSA states that both sites LAM007 and LAM005 could only be developed in part 
concurrently or either one or the other selected in order to continue the pattern of sequential small 
developments in the village.  
 
At the Proposed Submission consultation stage the site promoter provided additional evidence to show that 
there may still be the potential for the site to be taken forward in the future.  Therefore although the Council 
has concerns about the immediate deliverability of the site as part of the HSA DPD, it is proposed to 
consider the site further as part of the new Local Plan. 
 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the west of Lambourn, close to local services and facilities and with good access to 
the open countryside. Development of the site would result in the loss of land involved in the racehorse 
industry, which would be contrary to policy CS12 of the Core Strategy.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located in the AONB. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that development 
on the site would be acceptable as long as mitigation measures as listed in the assessment are adhered to. 
It states that development on part of the site would result in little harm to the natural beauty of the AONB. It 
is recommended that only land adjacent to Folly Road and below the 150m AOD contour in the south of the 
site be included. Any development on these parts of the site would be subject to conditions and the 
protection and enhancement of certain features as set out within the LSA. 
 
In addition, the overall conclusions of the LSA recommend that the larger sites within Lambourn, LAM007 
and LAM005, are either only developed in part concurrently, or either one or the other selected, to continue 
the pattern of sequential small developments in the village. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1. Aa small part of the site lies within the adjacent to agroundwater emergence 
zone and the site is adjacent to a critical drainage area. An Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be 
required to support a planning application. The FRA should take into account flood risk from potential 
sources including groundwater flood risk, and the implementation of SUDs and/or appropriate mitigation 
measures would need to be provided as part of any development.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The traffic impact on the highway network is expected to be limited. Access could be obtained onto Folly 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 747



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Road, but there are no pavements and but given the rural nature of the road of the road it probably would 
not be appropriate to introduce an access. location of the site there would be limited scope to introduce 
them. An alternative access would be available onto Rockfel Road through the recreation ground. This 
route would be preferred as this would connect the site into the footway network.  
 
There are footways and bus stops within the vicinity but no footpaths along Folly Road. The addition of a 
pedestrian access onto Folly Road would be welcomed. 
 
There are limited public transport opportunities within the village, with a 2 hourly bus service linking the 
village to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon Railway Station.  
 
There are local opportunities for walking and cycling within the village.  
 
Ecology: 
The site is possibly chalk grassland. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
A full ecological survey would be required.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is within an area of high archaeological potential. Further investigation is required. It has been 
concluded that a variety of archaeological features are in close proximity and on the site and therefore a 
Heritage Impact Assessment would be required as part of any planning application. 
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to, or at capacity. No comments made about secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is over a major aquifer, with high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. As a result a FRA would be required as part of a planning application. 
 
Thames Water: 
No Wwater Ssupply or Waste Water capability issues infrastructure issues envisaged. 
 
This advice is slightly different to that provided prior to the Preferred Options consultation, when Thames 
Water had a concern regarding Waste Water capability.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Parish Council: 
Concerns over access – Folly Road is unsuitable for the whole of the site, it is too narrow and is a route 
used to get horses up to the gallops. The lower part of the site could be accessed from Rockfel Road. If 
only the frontage of Folly Road was developed the access might be acceptable. Development could result 
in increase run-off into Lambourn Village. The water mains are already fragile (10” main has burst 3 times 
in the last 6 months). The racehorse yard adjacent to the site is still in use, and there is concern that the 
yard could be lost should this site be developed. The Parish Council thought that ownership of the site 
might prove problematic to any development on the site coming forward. Overall conclusion was that if 
development is needed, then development of the site might be a possibility if the constraints are taken into 

Page 748



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

account and if considered as two separate sites. This site was the 1
st
 choice of 27% of questionnaire 

respondents and the 2
nd

 choice of 21%. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 

 Principle of development 

 Settlement boundary 

 Racehorse Industry  

 Infrastructure 

 Highways and Transport 

 Landscape and setting 

 Flooding 

 Pollution 

 Archaeology 

 Ecology 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
One response was received from the site promoter outlining why the site should be allocated. 
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall there are no significant sustainability issues on this site and development is likely to have a 
predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, 
all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on 
economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the site’s location in 
the AONB. Mitigation measures in line with the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment should reduce this 
impact and deliver positive effects on sustainability.   
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability. There are no significant 
sustainability issues on this site. The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, 
including the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  Potential negative impacts could occur in 
relation to environmental sustainability due to the site’s location in the AONB. Mitigation measures in line 
with the Landscape Assessment should reduce this impact.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for a mix of dwellings and densities to suit the needs of the area.  

 
 
 

Page 749



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM009 Site Address:  Land east of Hungerford Hill, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 30 dwellings (1.5ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB 
- Critical drainage area Access would need to be carefully considered given topography of the site – uncertain if access onto 

Hungerford Hill can be achieved. Access via Greenways would require the purchase of additional land 
- The relationship with the existing settlement is poor. The site is separated from the main core of the village by low density 

housing to the north and east 
- Distance from play facilities  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access and impact on the landscape are the key concerns with this site. Access from Hungerford Hill is 
considered to be dangerous and the other access from Greenways is difficult as it is a very narrow point 
by the school. Access could be possible if land purchased off Greenways.  
The site slopes so there would be visual impact at the entrance to the village. It would be difficult to 
screen any development meaning the character of the village would be affected.  
There are drainage issues on the site, which could be made worse by development.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N 
Corner of the site boundary lies Aadjacent to the 
settlement boundary – largely detached 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area Y Over half of site is within a Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U 
Access would need to be carefully considered due 
to the topography of the site.  Concern over 
suitable access arrangements 

Highway network suitability U No comments made on this site 

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements U 
Pavements are intermittent through the village. 
There are no pavements adjacent to the site 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 
Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

U 
Site is close to the school playing fields by these 
do not have public access.  

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 750



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Rights of Way affected A 
A PRoW runs along a section of the western 
boundary 

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U N 
Separated from the main core of the village by low 
density housing to the north and east. Poorly 
related to the existing settlement. 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 

High archaeological potential on the site, but due 
to previous development on the site it is unclear 
what the archaeological impact would be. Heritage 
Impact Assessment required as part of any 
planning application 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 
Site is over a major aquifer with high risk of 
groundwater contamination. FRA would be 
required as part of any planning application 

HSE Hazard Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
LAM014 LAM014 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 

Page 751



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: LAM009 Site Address: Land east of Hungerford Hill, Lambourn Development Potential:  30 dwellings (1.5ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and has good 
access to the 
countrysideand playing field 
meaning that 
dDevelopment of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on social and 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 

The site is adjacent to a Ppublic 
Rright of Wway, which runs along 
part of the western boundary 

The ROW would need to be 
preserved.  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. There are 
a number of local opportunities within 
the racehorse industry and small 
scale local industry 
The racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities, 

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

? -  

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be reliance on the car. While 
there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
service is 2 hourly Road and 
pedestrian access to the site is 

If an access can be obtained 
off Hungerford Hill, Rroad 
Ssafety improvements along 
Hungerford Hill would be 
required, along with the 
delivery of a footway to 
encourage opportunities for 
walking and cycling.  

The location of the site and 
concerns over suitable 
access means that there 
are concerns over road 
safety. Road safety can 
have a negativen impact on 
all elements of 
sustainability.  
 
Improvements to road 
safety and the delivery of 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 752



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

limited, and with potential 
implications on safety.  

an appropriate access 
would help reduce the 
sustainability impact.  Will it reduce the number of 

road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? - 

Road access to the site is difficult to 
achieve .is via a narrow lane, past 
the primary school.  There could be 
issues relating to Road Safety.  

If an access can be obtained 
off Hungerford Hill, road safety 
improvements along 
Hungerford Hill would be 
required, along with the 
delivery of a footway to 
encourage opportunities for 
walking and cycling.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact   

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment there would be 
the potential for a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) indicates that 
development of this site would be 
acceptable .the site could be 
developed without detriment to the 
natural beauty of the AONB, subject 
to the mitigation measures set out 
within the LSA. 

Landscape assessment  The 
LSA indicates the following 
protection enhancement would 
be required as part of any 
development:  
- Llow density would be the 

most appropriate form of 
development in the higher 
parts of the site 

- Views from surrounding 
countryside would need to 
be carefully considered 

- New planting would be 
important in integrating the 
buildings into the 
landscape 

- Existing vegetation 
framework would need to 
be protected.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

? - 

The site is sloping, therefore there 
would be an impact on the built 
environment with new development 
on the higher more visible parts of  
the site. The site is separated from 
the main core of the village by low 
density housing to the north and 
east. The site is less well related to 

Development at a very low 
density in keeping with 
surrounding settlement pattern, 
along with careful design. 

Development of the site 
could have a negative 
impact on the built 
environment given the 
existing settlement pattern. 
In addition further 
investigation is required 
through a Heritage Impact 

P
age 753



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the settlement than other sites within 
the village.  

Assessment to ensure 
there will be no negative 
impacts on the District’s 
heritage assets. 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
The site is in an area of high 
archaeological potential, although 
the actual impact is unknown 

Further work required through 
a Heritage Impact Assessment.  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will there be an impact on 
air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will there be an impact 
noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Greenfield site  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
forms of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? - 

The site is in Flood Zone 1, The 
sitebut more than half of the site is 
within a critical drainage area. 
Although is not within a flood risk 
area.  

Flood risk assessment (FRA) 
and flood mitigation would be 
required on site.  

Development on the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures are provided. 
Unlikely to have an impact 

P
age 754



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

on any element of 
sustainability, although 
consideration of flood risk 
within the village would 
need to be considered to 
ensure no negative impact 
occurred in relation to 
sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

TOverall there are no significant sustainability impacts from this site and it is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related located close to local services and facilities within the village,including and has good access to the countryside, which should have a positive impact on 
sustainability. However, it is separated from the main core of the village by low density housing to the north and east and could have a negative impact on the built environment.  
 
There are concerns over road safety and the delivery of an appropriate access, which could have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless improvements are made 

P
age 755



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

to the highway network and suitable access arrangements implemented.  This does also limit opportunity for encouraging walking and cycling, which could reduce the sustainability 
of the site.  
 
In addition, potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation 
measures are introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be mitigated and deliver positive effects on sustainability. 
 
Whilst the site itself is within Flood Zone 1 more than half of the site lies within a Critical Drainage Area, which increases the risk of flooding and could result in negative impacts upon 
all elements of sustainability. The implementation of appropriate mitigation measures could reduce the impacts of any such negative effects. While the site itself is not at risk from 
flooding, flood risk within the village is an issue and development here would need to have appropriate SUDs to ensure that development did not lead to worsening flooding 
elsewhere, as this would have a negative impact on sustainability.  
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 

P
age 756



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAM009 Site Address: 
Land east of Hungerford 
Hill, Lambourn 

Development 
Potential:  

30 dwellings  
(1.5ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is steeply sloping, resulting in concern over the ability to provide suitable access arrangements 
with potential access and potential road safety issues. 
 
The relationship with the existing settlement is poor, and the site is separated from the main core of the 
village by low density housing to the north and east  
 
Other sites within the village are considered to have less of an impact on the landscape and built 
environment.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south east of Lambourn, close to local services and facilities and with good 
access to the open countryside. However the site is separate from the main core of the village by low 
density housing to the north and east, relating less well to the existing settlement pattern. 
 
Development would lead to the loss of land associated with the racehorse industry.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is within the AONB., although tThe Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates the site 
could be developed without detriment to the natural beauty of the AONB, subject to that development on 
the site would be acceptable as long as the mitigation measures as listed in the assessment are adhered 
to.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1. However more than half of the site is within Adjacent to a critical drainage area. 
As a result an Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would need to be provided as part of a planning application 
and SUDs/appropriate mitigation measures would need to be provided should be implemented where 
necessary.   
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
 
Concern over road safety implications of this site due to the sites location. to its location along a rural 
country road.Significant improvements to Hungerford Hill would be required to encourage walking and 
cycling. Concern over suitable access arrangements.  
 
There are limited public transport opportunities within the village, with a 2 hourly bus service linking the 
village to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon railway station. There are local 
opportunities for walking and cycling within the village. 
 
Ecology: 
No known issues.  
 
Archaeology: 
The site is in an area of high archaeological potential. Previous development on the site means that it is 
unclear what the archaeological impact would be. Saxon brooch was recovered from field which may 
indicate burials. Further investigation would be required through a Heritage Impact Assessment as part of 
any planning application.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made about secondary school 
provision.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 757



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is over a major aquifer with a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. As a result a FRA would be required as part of a planning application. 
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
Access and impact on the landscape are the key concerns with this site. Access from Hungerford Hill is 
considered to be dangerous and the other access from Greenways is difficult as it is a very narrow point by 
the school. Access could be possible if land purchased off Greenways. The site slopes so there would be 
visual impact at the entrance to the village. It would be difficult to screen any development meaning the 
character of the village would be affected. There are drainage issues on the site, which could be made 
worse by development. 
 
Preferred Options consultation Key Issues: 

 Relationship to the existing settlement 

 Access 

 Landscape 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall there are no significant sustainability impacts from this site and it is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is located close to local services and facilities within the village, and has good access to the 
countryside, which should have a positive impact on sustainability. However, it is separated from the main 
core of the village by low density housing to the north and east and could have a negative impact on the 
built environment.  
 
There are concerns over road safety and the delivery of an appropriate access, which could have a 
negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless improvements are made to the highway network 
and suitable access arrangements implemented.  This does also limit opportunity for encouraging walking 
and cycling, which could reduce the sustainability of the site.  
 
In addition, potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the 
site’s location within the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are introduced, including those 
set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be mitigated and deliver positive 
effects on sustainability. 
 
Whilst the site itself is within Flood Zone 1 more than half of the site lies within a Critical Drainage Area, 
which increases the risk of flooding and could result in negative impacts upon all elements of sustainability. 
The implementation of appropriate mitigation measures could reduce the impacts of any such negative 
effects.  
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability effect. There are no significant impacts from 
this site. The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including the countryside, 
which should have a positive impact on sustainability. There are concerns over road safety, which could 

Page 758



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless improvements are made to the highway 
network.  This does also limit opportunity for encouraging walking and cycling, which could reduce the 
sustainability of the site. While the site itself is not at risk from flooding, flood risk within the village is an 
issue and development here would need to have appropriate SUDs to ensure that development did not 
lead to worsening flooding elsewhere, as this would have a negative impact on sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for 45 dwellings.  

 
 
 

Page 759



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM013 Site Address:  Windsor House Paddocks, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 42 dwellings (2.1ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB – Llandscape Sensitivity Aassessment required 
- Racehorse industry  
- Flood risk - site lies within a (groundwater emergence zone, an area of surface water flood risk and a critical drainage area). 

Evidence of significant standing water/flooding on the site Jan/Feb in 2007 and 2014. A FRA would be required. 
- Distance from local amenity space 
- TPO along part of the south eastern boundary 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Drainage and flooding are the main issues for this site. The site floods and is part of the natural flood 
protection for Lambourn Village. There was once an open gully on the site, but this has been filled in. The 
site is bowl shaped and there was standing water in the field during Jan/Feb 2014, and a few years ago 
to a depth of about 4ft. Whilst there are engineering solutions to prevent new dwellings from flooding the 
parish council were very concerned of the impact on flooding elsewhere in the village. The allotments 
adjacent to this site also flood.  
The parish council noted that the site is a significant green area in Lambourn and a feature of the village.  
In its favour the site does have good access.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Assessment 
Required 

Assessment has not been done as the site is not 
recommended for allocation due to flood risk on 
the site.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent 

Comments 

Land use 

Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  Y N 

The site was previously used as part of the 
racehorse industry but it is understood that this 
use has ceased on the site as operations have 
moved to Upper Lambourn 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y The site lies within a groundwater emergence 
zone and an area of surface water flood risk. 
The site had a large amount of standing 
water/flooding in Jan/Feb 2014, and in 2007. This 
is mainly a result of gGroundwater, but 
augmented by surface water.  

Surface water flood risk Y 

Critical Drainage Area Y The site is within a Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability U No comments made on this site 

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements U 
Pavements are intermittent through the village. 
There are pavements along Crowle Road but 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 760



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

none along Baydon Road to the north west of the 
site 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders Y TPOs along part of the south eastern boundary 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement 

Inappropriate adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area A Site is adjacent to the Conservation Area 

Listed buildings N Listed buildings within adjacent conservation area 

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 

Site is over a major aquifer with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater. Flood Risk 
Assessment required as part of a planning 
application 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N Partially underlain by gravel deposits 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
LAM009 LAM009 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A none 

 

Page 761



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: LAM013 Site Address: Windsor House Paddocks, Lambourn Development Potential:  42 dwellings (2.1ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing fieldand 
has good access to the 
countryside.meaning that 
dDevelopment of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on social and 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on GI  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village.There are 
a number of local opportunities within 
the racehorse industry and small 
scale local industry 
The racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities, 

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? + 0 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However, there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be reliance on the car. While 
there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 

 

There are opportunities for 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities, 
however there are limited 
public transport 
opportunities leading to a 
high degree of car 
dependency, especially for 
higher order goods.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 762



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

service is 2 hourly  
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability 
 which should have a 
positive impact on 
sustainability. Due to the 
location of Lambourn there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
There are TPOs on the site – along 
part of the south eastern boundary 

Design to protect the tress 
would be required.  

There is potential for 
development on the site to 
have a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
given the site’s location 
within the AONB.   
 
Landscape work has not 
been carried out on the 
site. Any mitigation 
measures which may arise 
as a result of an 
assessment could reduce 
the negative effects on 
sustainabilityas the flood 
risk / history of flooding on 
the site means the site is 
not being considered for 
allocation at this time.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

? - 

The site is within the AONB.  
 
A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) work has not been carried out 
on the site.  

 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

Unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the built environment – 
the site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement boundary 

Sensitive design required given 
the site is adjacent to a 
conservation area.  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 

0 
Quite large plot but no known 
archaeology, but part of former open 

 

P
age 763



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the District’s heritage 
assets? 

fields, associated with more recent 
equestrian activity. 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Greenfield Site  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation couldalso include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and promotion 
of alternative modes of 
transport, development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- - - 

The site is within a groundwater 
emergence zone and in an area at 
risk from surface water flooding.  The 
site is also located within a Critical 
Drainage Area.  
 
Flooding regularly occurs on part of 
the site, which can lead to highway 
flooding as it did in 2007 

The landowner is certain that 
flood risk could be mitigated, 
partly by developing certain 
sections of the site. A FRA has 
been submitted.  
 
An FRA and appropriate 
mitigation measures, including 
SUDs would need to be 

Given the history of 
flooding on the site, the 
Fflood risk on the site is 
significant, whichcould 
have a negativen impact on 
all elements of 
sustainability.  
 
Mitigation could be 

P
age 764



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
- Nature of effect (scale, likelihood of 

occurrence) 
- Duration (temporary, permanent, 

short/med/long term) 
- Cumulative 
- Synergistic 

- assumptions 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

provided to support any 
planning application on the site 

considered which would 
reduce the negative 
impacts, although however 
there are sites within the 
village which do not have a 
history of flooding, or are 
not within a flood risk area, 
which should be considered 
for development prior to 
this site. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 765



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
There is a significant risk of flooding on this site, which could impact negatively on all aspects of sustainability.  Mitigation could be considered, The site is well related to local 
services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which 
will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the Greenfield nature of the site and its location in the AONB. Development of the site also 
has the potential to negatively impact on sustainability due to the flood risk on the site, which gives rise to serious concerns. Mitigation could be considered to reduce the risk of 
flooding, however historical flooding has been due largely to groundwater flooding, augmented by surface water. 
but much of the flood risk, and history of flooding is a result of groundwater flooding. There are no other significant issues on this site, but the risk of flooding outweighs the other 
positive factors on the site. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly negative neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 766



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAM013 Site Address: 
Windsor House Paddocks, 
Lambourn 

Development 
Potential:  

42 dwellings 
(2.1ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Whilst the site is well related to the existing settlement, it sits within a groundwater emergence zone, an 
area of surface water flood risk and a Critical Drainage Area. Council records show that the site flooded in 
both 2007 and 2014 when severe flooding occurred across West Berkshire. In 2007 the flooding on this site 
occurred to such an extent that it also flooded the adjacent road (Crowle Road). The risk of flooding and the 
history of flooding on the site have therefore weighed strongly against the allocation of this site. 
 
Whilst it is appreciated that very often technical solutions can be implemented to reduce the risk of flooding, 
it is considered that there are alternative sites within Lambourn which are more appropriate for allocation.  
 
The site promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation and submitted a revised layout plan, 
which reduced the number of dwellings on the site to 35 and included a large area in the centre of the site 
for flood mitigation. This revised layout plan does not reflect the current settlement pattern and further 
highlights the concern regarding flood risk.  
The site suffers from significant flooding, from both ground and surface water sources.  

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south west of Lambourn, close to local services and facilities, including access to 
the open countryside. The site sits on the valley floor, close to the centre of the village. Development of the 
site would result in the loss of land involved in the racehorse industry.  
Landscape:  
The site is in the AONB, although due to the risk and history of flooding on the site a Llandscape Sensitivity 
aAssessment work has not been carried out on the site. Should this site be taken forward for development 
an assessment would be required. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1; however, there is a significant risk and history of flooding on the site, which has 
lead to highway flooding in Lambourn.  The site is located within a groundwater emergence zone, an area 
of surface water flood risk and a Critical Drainage Area. Flooding is largely caused by rising groundwater, 
and occurs regularly on parts of the site. Records highlight that the site flooded in 2007 and Dduring 
Jan/Feb 2014 much of the site was flooded.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made by the Highways Team on this site.  
 
There are limited public transport opportunities within the village, with a 2 hourly bus service linking the 
village to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon railway station. There are local 
opportunities for walking and cycling within the village. 
 
Ecology: 
No known issues.  
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues. Although development has the potential to impact on the character of 
settlement as the site is part of former open fields associated with more recent equestrian activity.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to, or at capacity. No comments have been made about secondary 
school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 767



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits. Consideration of policies 1 & 2 of the RMLP would be 
required.  
 
No known waste issues  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments on this site. The site is over a major aquifer with a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. A FRA would be required as part of any planning application should the site come forward. 
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
Drainage and flooding are the main issues for this site. The site floods and is part of the natural flood 
protection for Lambourn Village. There was once an open gully on the site, but this has been filled in. The 
site is bowl shaped and there was standing water in the field during Jan/Feb 2014, and a few years ago to 
a depth of about 4ft. Whilst there are engineering solutions to prevent new dwellings from flooding the 
parish council were very concerned of the impact on flooding elsewhere in the village. The allotments 
adjacent to this site also flood.  
The parish council noted that the site is a significant green area in Lambourn and a feature of the village.  
In its favour the site does have good access 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues; 

 Flood mitigation 

 Revised layout plan submitted 

 Settlement boundary 

 Site Assessment 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, 
all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on 
economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to environmental sustainability due to the Greenfield 
nature of the site and it’s location in the AONB. Development of the site also has the potential to negatively 
impact on sustainability due to the flood risk on the site, which gives rise to serious concerns. Mitigation 
could be considered to reduce the risk of flooding, however historical flooding has been due largely to 
groundwater flooding, augmented by surface water. 
There is a significant risk of flooding on this site, which could impact negatively on all aspects of 
sustainability.  Mitigation could be considered, but much of the flood risk, and history of flooding is a result 
of groundwater flooding. There are no other significant issues on this site, but the risk of flooding outweighs 
the other positive factors on the site. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for approximately 45 dwellings.  

Page 768



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
The site promoter responded to the Preferred Options consultation and provided a revised site layout plan. 
The revised layout plan showed a reduced the number of dwellings on the site (35 dwellings) and included 
a large area in the centre of the site for flood mitigation. The site promoter reiterated that the flood risk can 
be mitigated. 
 

 
 
 

Page 769



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM014 Site Address:  Upshire Stables, Hungerford Hill, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: 9 dwellings (0.45ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- Recommended as Not Currently Developable in the SHLAA 
- Poor relationship to settlement (- site is not adjacent to the existing settlement boundary) 
- RSite used as part of the racehorse industry – contrary to policy CS12 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment of the site. The site is a long way outside the 
settlement.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Assessment 
Required  

 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Poor rRelationship to the settlement, loss of land 
related to the racehorse industry 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Not adjacent to existing settlement boundary.  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 770



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: LAM015 Site Address:  Land adjacent to Newbury Road, Lambourn 

 

Development Potential: Approximately 5 dwellings SHLAA Assessment: 
Not assessed – new site 
submission in 2014 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that only the south western part of the site could be developed subject to 

conditions, as set out in the LSA 
- South western part of the site is within a groundwater emergence zone and there is a high risk of contamination to groundwater. 

Flood Risk Assessment required as part of any planning application 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council have not been consulted on this site as it was submitted after the Preferred Options 
consultation 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

P 

The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates 
that only the south western part of the site could 
be developed subject to conditions, as set out in 
the LSA 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N/A Site did not form part of the SHLAA 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Site adjacent to settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out.  
 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adjacent  

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
South western part of the site is within a 
groundwater emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
Access can be obtained via Newbury Road but 
given topography drives/access points will need to 
be carefully designed 

Highway network suitability N 
Development is expected to have a limited impact 
on the highway network.  

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly bus service between Lambourn and 
Newbury. Bus link to Swindon Railway station 
intermittently throughout the day.  

Footways/Pavements Y  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 
Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Close proximity to playing field 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 771



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N 

Mitigation measures, such as SUDS, should be 
implemented to ensure no adverse impact on the 
River Lambourn SSSI/SAC. Development will be 
informed by an extended phase 1 habitat survey 
together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures will need to be implemented 
to ensure any protected habitats and species are 
not adversely affected. 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N 
Further archaeological investigation required as 
part of any planning application (Geophysical 
survey followed by trial trenching) 

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Y 

Thames Water have not been consulted on this 
site specifically. 
Thames Water has no concerns 
Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an 
issue in Lambourn 

Wastewater U Y 

Thames Water have not been consulted on this 
site specifically.  
Thames Water has no concerns 
Impact study likely to be required to determine 
capacity at East Shefford STW 
Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an 
issue in Lambourn 
Development will need to connect to the main 
sewerage system 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

N 
High risk of contamination to groundwater. Flood 
Risk Assessment required as part of any planning 
application 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y 
Small corner of the site is within a mineral 
consultation area 

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
 N/A 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

N/A 

 

Page 772



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: LAM015 Site Address: Land adjacent to Newbury Road, Lambourn Development Potential:  Approximately 5 dwellings 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling.  

 

The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field, as 
well as good access to the 
countryside. Development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ The site is close to the leisure centre  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on GI  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village.  
The racehorse industry is the main 
source of local employment in the 
area, but the local services and 
facilities provide more limited 
employment opportunities,  

 

The proximity of the site to 
local services and facilities 
and to local employment 
opportunities means that 
the site should have a 
positive economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. However, there are limited 
public transport opportunities to and 
from the village. To access a wider 
range of higher level services there 
would be reliance on the car. 

 

There are opportunities for 
walking and cycling to local 
services and facilities, 
however there are limited 
public transport 
opportunities leading to a 
high degree of car 
dependency, especially for 
higher order goods.  
 
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance Will it conserve and  Unlikely to impact on sustainability A SUDS scheme would need to Without mitigation measure 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

P
age 773



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

the natural environment enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

 
 

0 

be provided as part of any 
planning application, along with 
appropriate mitigation 
measures to protect the River 
Lambourn SAC/SSSI e.g. 
possibly petrol/oil receptors. 
Development will be informed 
by an extended phase 1 habitat 
survey together with further 
detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary.  Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures will need to be 
implemented to ensure any 
protected habitats and species 
are not adversely affected. 

as set out in the Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB.  
 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) indicates that 
only the south western part of the 
site could be developed subject to 
conditions, as set out in the LSA 
 

The LSA indicates that 
development would be subject 
to the following protection and 
enhancement requirements:  
-  Development being 

contained on the lower 
ground 

- Access being possible 
from Newbury Road 

- Development should take 
the form of a continuation 
of the linear built form on 
the north east side of 
Newbury Road but not the 
widening of the linearity 

- The retention of open 
space on the higher 
ground and the provision 
of a hedge with hedgerow 
trees to contain the 
housing on the north 
eastern edge, continuing 
along the south eastern 
edge to link with garden 
planting 

- A full detailed landscape 

P
age 774



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

and visual impact 
assessment will be 
required to inform the final 
capacity of the site. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

The site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement, and development would 
not be out of character with the 
existing settlement pattern.  
 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the built environment. 

Development should be linear 
adjacent to Newbury Road 
ensuring the existing 
settlement pattern is 
maintained  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on any 
element of sustainability 

Further investigation required 
as part of any planning 
application – geophysical 
survey followed by trial 
trenching 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural environment 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on air 
quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on noise 
levels 

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - This is a greenfield site  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies of the Core Strategy.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 

P
age 775



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
The south western part of the site is 
within a groundwater emergence 
zone. 

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
 

Development on the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation is 
provided.   

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
Summary 

Overall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site and it is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active 
lifestyles which would have a positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities provided through the racehorse industry and 
local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on economic and social sustainability.  

P
age 776



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield nature of the site and its location within the AONB. As long as appropriate 
mitigation measures are introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be mitigated and deliver positive effects on sustainability.  
 
Flooding could also have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are provided.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Lambourn 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 777



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: LAM015 Site Address: 
Land adjacent to Newbury 

Road, Lambourn 
Development 
Potential:  

Approximately 5 
dwellings 

 

Recommendation: 
 Part of this site is recommended for allocation in accordance with the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(2015).  

 

Justification: 
The site is adjacent to the existing settlement boundary and well related to existing services and facilities 
within Lambourn.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has been carried out and indicates 
that development on part of the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject to mitigation 
measures to ensure the protection of existing landscape features. It states that the north eastern part of the 
site would result in harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB, but the south western part 
of the site adjacent to the road could be developed subject to a series of requirements set out within the 
LSA to conserve and enhance the AONB.  
 
The south western part of the site sits within a groundwater emergence zone and therefore a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) would be required as part of any planning application to demonstrate how all potential 
sources of flooding, including groundwater flood risk has been taken into account in the design of the 
development. A SUDS scheme would need to be implemented to ensure no adverse impact on the River 
Lambourn SSSI/SAC. 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south east of Lambourn. Close to local services and facilities including good 
access to the open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located within the AONB. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out on 
the site and indicates that development on part of the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject 
to mitigation measures to ensure the protection of existing landscape features. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The south western part of the site sits within a groundwater emergence zone and therefore a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) would be required as part of any planning application. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
Traffic generated by the site is expected to have a minimal impact on the highway network.  
 
Access to the site can be obtained from Newbury Road but given topography individual drives/access 
points will need to be carefully designed.  
 
There are limited public transport opportunities within the village, with a 2 hourly bus service linking the 
village to Newbury. There is also an intermittent link to Swindon Railway Station.  
 
There are local opportunities for walking and cycling within the village 
 
Ecology: 
No known issues. A SuDS scheme would need to be provided as part of any planning application, along 
with appropriate mitigation measures to protect the River Lambourn SAC/SSSI e.g. possibly petrol/oil 
receptors. Development will be informed by an extended phase 1 habitat survey together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will need 
to be implemented to ensure any protected habitats and species are not adversely affected. 
 
Archaeology: 
No known issues. Further investigation would be required as part of any planning application, in the form of 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Lambourn Parish:  Lambourn 

Page 778



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

a geophysical survey followed by trial trenching.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
The Environment Agency has not been consulted on this site made any comments on this site 
 
The site is over a major aquifer with high potential for groundwater contamination. As a result a FRA would 
be required as part of a planning application.  
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water has not been consulted on this site specifically  no water supply or waste water concerns.  
 
Infiltration of groundwater into the network has been identified as a strategic issue within Lambourn, 
therefore an integrated water supply and drainage strategy would be required for this site. 
 
Development will need to connect to the main sewerage system. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council have not been consulted on this site as it was submitted after the Preferred Options 
consultation  has not made any comments on this site 
 
Preferred Options Consultation key issues: 
This site did not form part of the Preferred Options consultation as it only submitted to the Council in 
September 2014 as a new site for consideration.  
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response on Lambourn, please see the Statement of 
Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
5 responses were received for the site.  The main issues raised were regarding: 

 Principle of development 

 Ecology 

 Landscape/setting/character 

 Heritage 

 Infrastructure 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall there are no significant sustainability issues with this site and it is likely to have a predominantly 
neutral effect on sustainability.  
 
The site is well related to local services and facilities within the village, including access to the countryside, 
all of which would enable walking and cycling and promote healthy, active lifestyles which would have a 
positive impact on sustainability.  In addition, the development is close to local employment opportunities 
provided through the racehorse industry and local services/facilities, which will have a positive impact on 
economic and social sustainability.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the environmental sustainability due to the greenfield 
nature of the site and its location within the AONB. As long as appropriate mitigation measures are 
introduced, including those set out within the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, the impact should be 

Page 779



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

mitigated and deliver positive effects on sustainability.  
 
Flooding could also have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation 
measures are provided.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site was not proposed or assessed through the SHLAA. 
 
The site was submitted to the Council in September 2014 as a new site to be considered as part of the 
Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

 
 

Page 780



Pangbourne Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 781



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

1 

 
 

Site ID: PAN001 Site Address:  Land at Green Lane, Pangbourne, RG8 8JU 

 

Development Potential: 36 dwellings (1.8ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Location of the site within the North Wessex Downs AONB 
- Access / Hhighway network suitability – serious concern raised by Highways and Transport Team 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The site could be acceptable to the parish council for a smaller number of dwellings than given in the 
development potential for the site. Access along Green Lane would be of concern. Pangbourne Parish 
Council clarified at the preferred options stage that this comment was an informal remark to the effect that 
if it was ultimately decided to proceed with PAN001 and/or PAN002, the Parish Council would prefer 
smaller numbers to those envisaged in the current proposals.  
 
At the preferred options stage, Pangbourne Parish Council strongly objected to the development of this 
site. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N P 

A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2011) 
indicates that development on the site would be 
acceptable subject to mitigation and enhancement 
measures. 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to settlement boundary 

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues Y 

Access can be obtained via Bere Court Road onto 
Pangbourne Hill and via Green Lane onto the 
A340 Tidmarsh Road. There is concern that the 
roads are often narrow and may be unsuitable for 
such additional volumes of traffic. It is not 
possible to widen the roads in the area. 

Highway network suitability N 
Development would generate approximately 216 
daily vehicle movements, including about 22 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak.  

Public Transport network Y 

Pangbourne has a railway station on the Reading 
– Oxford line. 
 
Nearby, Pangbourne Hill has a limited bi-hourly 
bus service to places such as Reading. All other 
services serving Pangbourne are up to 900 
metres away, which the Council’s Highways team 
have commented is not ideal. 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 782



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

2 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Footways/Pavements N 
There are no footways in the vicinity and the 
Council’s Highways and Transport team has 
advised that it is not possible to provide any. 

Landscape  

Located in AONB Y  

Area of High Landscape Sensitivity  
(if not in AONB) (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

U 
Site is close to school playing fields although 
these do not have public access 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby N  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y N 

The site is a BAP (Biodiversity Action Plan) 
habitat. An extended phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as necessary. 
Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not adversely affected 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement 

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply Y 
Thames Water do not envisage any water supply 
infrastructure concerns 

Wastewater N 

Thames Water have concern regarding 
wastewater capability. An integrated strategy for 
water and wastewater would be required at 
planning application stage if the site is allocated. 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y 
SPZ1. High risk of contamination to groundwater. 
The Environment Agency has no principle 
objections to development within SPZs.   

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N 

Site partially underlain by grave deposits. , 
however the sites location at the edge of the 
deposit so there is limited possibility for the option 
to use minerals on site as part of the construction 
or prior extraction (depending upon the quality 
and depth of the deposit).  
 
Consideration of policiesy 1 & and 2 of the 
Replacement Minerals Local Plan required.  

Other N/A There are no known waste issues nearby. 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
N/A N/A 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

At the preferred options stage, a consultation response was received that advised of there being 
restrictive covenants on site PAN001. The site promoters clients have been unable to confirm whether 
the covenants exist or not. 

 

Page 783



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: PAN001 Site Address: Land at Green Lane, Pangbourne Development Potential:  36 dwellings (1.8ha at 20 dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 
The site is close to facilities in 
Pangbourne and also affords access 
to the countryside 

 
The site’s location to the 
south west of Pangbourne 
gives opportunities for 
walking and cycling and 
gives access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have an 
overall positive impact.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 

There are various sports facilities 
close to the site at Pangbourne 
College however these are not open 
to the general public. Public facilities 
are located at Pangbourne 
Recreation Ground and Pangbourne 
Primary School but these are on the 
other side of the settlement 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
The site will have a neutral impact 
upon green infrastructure  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 
There are local facilities and services 
in Pangbourne (employment, shops, 
school).  

 

The site is located close to 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Pangbourne. There are 
public transport 
opportunities.  The 
proximity to local services 
and facilities means the site 
could should have a 
positive impact on the 
District’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Bus services from Pangbourne Hill to 
Upper Basildon and Reading within 
Pangbourne to major centres are bi-
hourly. 
 
Pangbourne is served by a train 

 

The site is located close to 
the local services and 
facilities in Pangbourne 
which will encourage 
walking or cycling. 
Development could result in 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

P
age 784



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

station with services to Oxford, 
Reading and London Paddington 

an increased bus service. 
Development could 
Pangbourne is also well 
served by public transport 
and therefore impact 
positively on environmental 
and social sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns especially as the 
roads surrounding the site are often 
narrow and there are no footways in 
the vicinity. Roads cannot be 
widened and it is not possible to 
provide footways.  
Any development would also have 
the potential to improve road safety 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 
The site is a BAP (Biodiversity Action 
Plan) Habitat  

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey will be required, 
together with together with 
further detailed surveys arising 
from that as necessary. 
Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, if 
appropriate to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 

Development would have a 
potentially negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability unless 
mitigation measures set out 
in the Landscape 
Assessment are adhered 
to.  
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the landscape and 
visual impact unless 
appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures were 
implemented so that any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

A Landscape Assessment has 
concluded that development would 
be acceptable provided that 
mitigation / enhancement measures 
are adhered to. 

 

The Landscape Assessment 
has identified the following 
mitigation / enhancement 
measures: 

 Views from the east and 
north-east should be 
protected through limits on 
the mass and height of the 
development and native 
boundary planting along 
the southern boundary  

 Retention of on-site trees  

 Retention of the hedgerow 
boundary along the north-
western boundary  

 Provision of a high level of 
internal tree and shrub 
planting to blend the site 
into the adjacent Breedon 

P
age 785



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Estate  

 Retention of the character 
of Bere Court Road 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

Any development should be in 
accordance with 
mitigation/enhancement measures 
outlined in the Landscape 
Assessment 

Through careful design, 
development should conserve 
and enhance the built 
environment of the surrounding 
area. 
 
A landscape and visual impact 
assessment would need to be 
submitted alongside any 
planning application should the 
site be allocated.  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets directly 
affected 

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
There are no cultural assets directly 
affected 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on air quality 

 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on noise levels  

 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on soil quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 

The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on water quality. The site falls within 
Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) 1 whereby there is a 
high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. 

The Environment Agency have 
no principle objections to 
development within SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is greenfield   

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the as it is a 
greenfield nature of the 

P
age 786



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

site.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

-? 

Development is likely to increase 
greenhouse gas emissions. The level 
of impact depends on the building 
materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
compliance with policies within 
the core strategy.  

Without appropriate 
mitigation, development 
would have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation 
measures will reduce this 
impact and could lead to a 
neutral impact.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

+ The site is not at risk of flooding  

SUDs would need to be 
provided.  
If the site were to be allocated, 
then this would need to be 
accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment. This is in line with 
Core Strategy policy CS16 
(Flooding) which also requires 
the provision of Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) in 
all new developments. 

There is no flood risk on 
this site which has a 
positive impact on 
sustainability.  
 
Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures are introduced. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 

 

P
age 787



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
Summary 

Development of this site would not lead to any significant sustainability issues.  
 
There are positive impacts on sustainability as the site is close to local services and facilities enabling walking and cycling and the promotion of healthy, active lifestyles.  
 
The site is close to local facilities and services in Pangbourne. The nearest bus stop is located on Pangbourne Hill which is served by a bi-hourly service to Reading and Upper 

Basildon. Development could provide an opportunity to enhance the bus service. The site therefore scores positively on the social and economic elements of sustainability. The site 
is in close proximity to open countryside which will help to promote a healthy active lifestyle, and this will further enhance the positive score in relation to social 
sustainability.  
 
Additional traffic could impact upon road safety, and this could be exacerbated due to road widening and the provision of footpaths is not possible.  The uncertain impact upon the 
BAP Habitat could be mitigated against if required. 
 
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that development on the site would be suitable, although appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures would be required to 
ensure that the potential negative impact on environmental sustainability is avoided. Development would impact negatively upon environmental sustainability due to the site being 
greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the 
edge of settlements is necessary. 
 
There is potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the mitigation measures set out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to. There is no flood risk on 
the site, which has a positive impact on sustainability.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Development of the greenfield site for residential development is not considered to impact upon water quality, soil quality or noise levels, so the impact on environmental 
sustainability would be negligible.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB / Pangbourne 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 788



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: PAN001 
Site 
Address: 

Land at Green Lane, 
Pangbourne 

Development 
Potential:  

36 dwellings 
(1.8ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation:  
The site was shortlisted as a preferred option, but it is now not recommended for allocation Site is 
recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The site is located in a rural service centre in close proximity to local services and facilities. The 
Landscape Assessment has concluded that low rise development could be accommodated and 
would not be visually intrusive subject to mitigation and enhancement measures. The surrounding 
roads to the site are narrow and unsuitable for the additional volumes of traffic that would be 
generated by development. Road widening is not possible. There are no footways in the vicinity 
of the site and these could not be provided. The site is therefore considered unsuitable for 
development. However potential impact to the highway network remains of concern. 

 

Discussion: 
Site Description:  
The site is located to the west of Pangbourne,. Cclose to local services and facilities including 
open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2011) has advised that the site is visually exposed; 
nonetheless low rise development in keeping with the surrounding area would not be visually 
intrusive. The Landscape Assessment sets out mitigation and enhancement measures that would 
be required if the site is developed. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Fflood Zzone 1. An Flood Risk Assessment FRA taking into account surface water 
flooding would be required and Sustainable Drainage Methods (SUDs) would need to be 
provided.  
 
Highways /Transport:  
Raised cConcerns raised in respect of highways suitability and access – although access can be 
obtained via Bere Court Road onto Pangbourne Hill and via Green Lane onto the A340 Tidmarsh 
Road, there is concern that the roads are often narrow surrounding this site and may be 
unsuitable for the additional volumes of traffic that the development of the site would generate. 
Road widening is not possible. Furthermore, there are no footways in the vicinity and it is not 
possible to provide any. 
 
There is a railway station in Pangbourne with services to Oxford, Reading and London. A bi-
hourly bus services passes near to the site.  
 
Ecology:  
The site is a BAP habitat, therefore and so an extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be 
required at the planning application stage together with further detailed surveys arising from that 
as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, if 
necessary, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
 
Archaeology:  
There are no known archaeological issues 
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. A drainage culvert runs through the primary school 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 789



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

site which limits the capacity of the school to expand. No comments made about secondary 
school provision.  
 
Environmental Health:  
There are no known air, noise or contamination issues  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel deposits., however the location of the site on the edge of 
the deposit means that there is limited possibility for the option to use minerals on the site as part 
of the construction or prior extraction (depending upon the quality and depth of the deposit). 
Consideration of policiesy 1 & and 2 of the Replacement Minerals and Waste Local Plan RMLP 
would be required. 
 
There are no known waste issues nearby. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is located within Groundwater Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ)1, whereby there is with a high risk of contamination to groundwater. The 
Environment Agency has no principle objection to development within SPZs. Investigation would 
be required.  
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to 
support demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is 
brought forward ahead of the development.  
 
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Initial consultation with Thames Water highlighted the capacity of the pumping station as a key 
issue. They have since advised that an integrated strategy for water and wastewater will need to 
be submitted alongside any planning application. 
 
Parish Council: 
At the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) consultation event held on 10 
February 2014, Pangbourne Parish Council commented that Tthe site could be acceptable to the 
parish council for a smaller number of dwellings than given in the development potential for the 
site. Access along Green Lane would be of concern. At preferred options, the parish council 
clarified that the claim they might be in favour of smaller developments on both PAN001 and 
PAN002 was an informal remark to the effect that if it was ultimately decided to proceed with 
PAN001 and/or PAN002, then the parish council would prefer smaller numbers than those 
envisaged in the proposals. The parish council strongly objected to the development of the site at 
preferred options. 
 
Preferred options consultation key issues: 

 General – impact on house prices, site name incorrect (not Jesmond Hill – this property is 
unconnected with site).  

 Consultation process and timing – school holidays, lack of time etc 

 Covenants – one restricts more than two private residences on the site, and another allows 
owner of adjacent property right of passage across part of the site.  

 Historic significance of Green Lane must be protected (used by Abbot and monks of Reading 
Abbey). Possible archaeological significance. 

Page 790



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 Ecology – part of site BAP habitat, impact on species/wildlife corridors, mature oak trees. 

 Flood risk – adjacent surface water flood risk area, development will increase flood risk in 
Pangbourne, no FRA.  

 Gaps between settlements – coalescence, risk of sprawl to Reading. 

 Geology – risk of swallow holes in area.  

 Highways and transport – nearby roads unsuitable (narrow widths, poor sight lines, private 
roads), increase in congestion, road safety concerns (more cars, speeding, poor sight lines), 
reliance on car use (distance from village centre, lack of footpaths, hills, lack of public 
transport). 

 Infrastructure at capacity and could not support an increased population – primary school, GP 
surgery, sewage network. 

 Landscape – impact on AONB, errors within 2011 LSA. 

 Harm to character of the area – density out of keeping with character and pattern of 
development on Pangbourne.  

 Contrary to national and local planning policy. 

 Personal – impact on quality of life. 

 Principle of development – precedent, inappropriate strategy to consider sites in AONB, 
alternative sites available (PDL), previous applications for development on the site refused.  

 Site selection process – flawed process for identifying sites (Council should have identified 
suitable sites and then contacted landowners).  

 SA/SEA – results disputed, inconsistent conclusions (reasons for rejecting other sites apply to 
PAN001). 

 Settlement boundaries. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Development of this site would not lead to any significant sustainability issues. The SA/SEA 
indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability effect. There are no significant sustainability 
issues.  
 
There are positive impacts on sustainability as the site is close to local services and facilities 
enabling walking and cycling and the promotion of healthy, active lifestyles.  
 
At preferred options stage it was assessed that the site is close to local services and facilities in 
Pangbourne thereby enabling walking and cycling opportunities and the subsequent promotion of 
healthy, active lifestyles. The close proximity of the site to open countryside will also help to 
promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
Development could provide an opportunity to enable an enhanced bus service to be out in place, 
promoted and sustained. This results in a positive impact upon access to education, employment, 
services and facilities, as well as improving travel choice.  
 
There is potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the mitigation 
measures set out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to.  
 
Development now has the potential to have a negative impact upon biodiversity assets due to the 
designation of the site as a BAP habitat; however an extended phase 1 habitat survey at the 
planning application stage, together with further detailed surveys if identified as being needed in 
the phase 1 survey, in addition to appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures if necessary 
will reduce the potential for a negative impact. 
 
Given the sites location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, the landscape impact of any 
development is vitally important. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that the 
site would be suitable for development, although appropriate enhancement and mitigation 
measures would be required to ensure that the potential negative impact was reduced and 
neutralised where possible. The mitigation/enhancement measures identified in the LSA, in 
addition to the submission of a landscape and visual impact assessment alongside any planning 

Page 791



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

application would also ensure the impact of development upon the built environment is reduced. 
 
There is no flood risk on the site, which has a positive impact on sustainability. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through 
the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business 
development in the longer term.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The SHLAA submission from the site promoter The site is proposed for 28 dwellings for the site, 
including affordable housing.  
 
At preferred options, the site promoter supported the inclusion of the site. 

 
 
 

Page 792



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

 

Site ID: PAN002 Site Address: 
Land north of Pangbourne Hill 
and west of River View Road, 
Pangbourne 

Development 
Potential:  

35 dwellings  

 

Recommendation:  
Part of the site, in line with the landscape assessment, is recommended for allocation.   

 

Justification:  
The site is located in a rural service centre in close proximity to local services and facilities. The Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment (2011) has concluded that some development could be accommodated on the 
lower part of the site subject to mitigation and enhancement measures. However potential impact on the 
highway network could be an issue. 
 
Initial concerns about the potential impact that development could have on the highway network have been 
rescinded following further work undertaken by the site promoter which demonstrates that the development 
of 35 dwellings would not have an impact.  
 
It came to light during the preferred options consultation that dormice are present on the site. An Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey will be required to accompany any planning application, with appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures implemented if required.  
 
There is archaeological potential in the area, and further assessment would therefore be required at the 
planning application stage.  

 

Discussion: 
Site Description:  
The site is located to the south west of Pangbourne, close to local services and facilities, including access 
to the countryside.   
 
Landscape:  
A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) (2011) has concluded that development of the whole area 
would have an adverse impact on the western side of Pangbourne, most significantly in visual terms. 
However development of part of the site may be possible subject to identified mitigation measures in the 
LSA. Landscape Assessment.  
 
Flood Risk:  
The site is not at risk of flooding; however there is an area of surface water flooding adjacent to the site. An 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be required and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDs) would need 
to be provided in line with Core Strategy policy CS16 (Flooding).  
 
Highways /Transport:  
The proposal would have a marginal impact on the highway network., however The Council’s Highways 
and Transport team originally raised there is concerns regarding the impact on the restricted Pangbourne 
Hill/A340 Tidmarsh Lane junction. The site promoter undertook an assessment of the junction for a 
planning application for the development of 35 dwellings on the site which concluded that the increase in 
traffic at the junction would have little impact at the junction. The Council’s Highways and Transport team 
concurred with the results of the assessment.  
 
There is a Pangbourne railway station is located within walking distance of the site with and there are 
services to Oxford, Reading and London. and A bi-hourly bus services runs along Pangbourne Hill which 
provides connections to Upper Basildon and Reading. pass near to the site. The Council’s Public Transport 
Officer considers the site to be acceptable in public transport terms. Development could provide an 
opportunity to enable an enhanced bus service to be put in place, promoted and sustained.  
 
Ecology:  
There are no protected species or ecological designations on the site. Dormice are present on the site; 
therefore an extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required at the planning application stage together 
with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 793



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

measures would need to be implemented, if necessary, to ensure any protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
Archaeology:  
No know archaeological issues. A Roman cemetery is located to the north of the site and there was 
Medieval activity in the area. A desk based assessment would be required, following field evaluation if 
necessary to accompany any planning application for the site. 
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is at capacity. A drainage culvert runs through the primary school site which 
limits the capacity of the school to expand. No comments made on secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health:  
There is an electricity substation and a poultry farm on the site. There are no known air, noise or 
contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is underlain by gravel deposits., however the location of the site on the edge of the deposit means 
that there is limited possibility for the option to use minerals on the site as part of the construction or prior 
extraction (depending upon the quality and depth of the deposit). Consideration of policiesy 1 & and 2 of 
the Replacement Minerals and Waste Local Plan RMLP would be required.  
 
There are no known waste issues nearby. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is located within Groundwater Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ)1, whereby there is with a high risk of contamination to groundwater. The Environment Agency has 
no principle objection to development within SPZs.  
 
Thames Water: 
Concern regarding Water Supply capability. Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be able 
to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient 
capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
A water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Thames Water initially raised concerns around water supply capability, however following an update of their 
information they advised during the preferred options consultation that water supply problems are no longer 
envisaged.  
 
Concern regarding Wastewater services. The existing network in this area is unlikely to be able to support 
demand. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development.  
  
A drainage strategy would be required 
 
Initial consultation with Thames Water highlighted the capacity of the pumping station as a key issue. They 
have since advised that an integrated strategy for water and wastewater will need to be submitted 
alongside any planning application. 
 
More recent evidence submitted by the site promoter (a report of into the capacity of the local potable water 
supply prepared by Thames Water) indicates that the network could accommodate up to 35 dwellings.  
 
Further correspondence from the company (in a letter dated 16 January 2016) noted that they had objected 
to the proposed housing sites in their comments on the proposed submission consultation. They went on to 
clarify that whilst they did not object to the housing sites in principle or the soundness of the DPD, they 
wanted to raise specific concerns regarding some of the sites in relation to water and sewerage 
infrastructure. They did however note that the specific concerns regarding some of the sites would be 
covered by the requirements of the General Sites Policy (GS1). This policy requires the provision of an 

Page 794



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

integrated water supply and drainage strategy in advance of development. Development will need to be 
occupied in line with this strategy. 
 
Parish Council: 
At the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) consultation event held on 10 February 
2014, Pangbourne Parish Council commented that this site may be acceptable for a smaller number of 
houses. The parish council thought that access off River View Road would be better than Pangbourne Hill. 
Should development go ahead the parish council would like to see a footpath into Pangbourne. At preferred 
options, the parish council clarified that the claim they might be in favour of smaller developments on both 
PAN001 and PAN002 was an informal remark to the effect that if it was ultimately decided to proceed with 
PAN002 and/or PAN001, then the parish council would prefer smaller numbers than those envisaged in the 
proposals. The parish council strongly objected to the development of the site at preferred options.  
 
Preferred options consultation by key issues: 

 General – impact on local amenity/property prices, overpopulated area.  

 Consultation process and timing – school holidays, lack of time, etc. 

 Loss of wildlife habitats and species – slowworms on site and badger sett near site entrance. 

 Flood risk – development will increase surface water flooding in Pangbourne. 

 Gaps between settlements – coalescence, risk of sprawl to Reading. 

 Within green belt. 

 Highways and transport – congestion will worsen, roads unsuitable for additional traffic (eg. narrow), 
road safety concerns (eg. more cars, speeding, poor sight lines, access onto Pangbourne Hill), 
infrequent bus service, lack of footpaths, reliance on car use (eg. distance from village centre, lack of 
footpaths).  

 Infrastructure at capacity and could not support increased population – primary school, GP surgery, 
sewage network.  

 Impact on AONB. 

 Harm to character of area – density out of keeping with character and pattern of development on 
Pangbourne. 

 Personal – impact on quality of life, loss of views.  

 Contrary to national and local planning policy. 

 Principle of development – precedent, alternative sites available (PDL), flawed process for identifying 
sites (Council should have identified suitable sites and then contacted landowners). 

 SA/SEA – results disputed, site selection inconsistent (reasons for rejecting other sites apply to 
PAN002). 

 Settlement boundaries. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues: 

 DPD not legally compliant. 

 General – issues should be dealt with before planning application stage. Other issues as at preferred 
options. 

 Principle of development – risk of over-development, viable agricultural land. Other issues as at 
preferred options. 

 Coalescence of settlements (as at preferred options). 

 Consultation – issues raised at preferred options ignore, little consideration of views of community. 

 Crime and security – anti-social behaviour. 

 Ecology and trees – loss of trees/impact on rural character. Other issues as at preferred options. 

 Flood risk (as at preferred options). 

 Heritage (as at preferred options). 

 Highways and transport – loss of bus service, construction traffic, road safety. Other issues as at 
preferred options. 

 Infrastructure – improvements required before development, wastewater concerns. Other issues as at 
preferred options. 

 Landscape – objection from AONB unit. Other issues as at preferred options. 

 Personal issues – AONB a green lung. Other issues as at preferred options). 

 Pollution – light pollution. Other issues as at preferred options.  

 Settlement boundaries – process/further consultation not mentioned. 

 SA/SEA and process of site selection (as as preferred options). 
 
The key issues raised and the Council’s response to these, please see the Statement of Consultation.  

Page 795



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
SA/SEA:  
Development of this site would not lead to any significant sustainability issues.  
 
There are positive impacts on sustainability as At preferred options stage it was assessed that the site is 
close to local services and facilities in Pangbourne thereby enabling walking and cycling opportunities and 
the subsequent promotion of healthy, active lifestyles. The close proximity of the site to open countryside 
will also help to promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
During the preferred options consultation, the site promoter indicated that a planning application would 
include provision for public open space and a children’s play area. This change has resulted in a change to 
a positive impact upon green infrastructure.  
 
There are public transport links close to the site, and development could provide an opportunity to enable 
an enhanced bus service to be out in place, promoted and sustained. This results in a positive impact upon 
access to education, employment, services and facilities, as well as improving travel choice.  
 
It came to light during preferred options that dormice are present on the site. Development now has the 
potential to have a negative impact upon biodiversity assets; however an extended phase 1 habitat survey 
at the planning application stage, together with further detailed surveys if identified as being needed in the 
phase 1 survey, in addition to appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures if necessary will reduce the 
potential for a negative impact.  
 
There is potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless the mitigation measures set 
out in the Landscape Assessment are adhered to. 
 
Given the sites location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, the landscape impact of any development 
is vitally important. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that part of the site would be 
suitable for development, although appropriate mitigation measures would be required to ensure that the 
potential negative impact was reduced and neutralised where possible. The mitigation/enhancement 
measures identified in the LSA, in addition to the submission of a landscape and visual impact assessment 
alongside any planning application will also ensure the impact of development upon the built environment is 
reduced. 
 
The site is adjacent to an area at risk from surface water flooding; development on the site could lead to a 
worsening of flood risk elsewhere without appropriate mitigation measures. Should flooding occur, it would 
have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability. With the appropriate Flood Risk Assessment and 
mitigation measures (including Sustainable Drainage Methods (SUDs)) there should not be an impact on 
sustainability. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The SHLAA submission from the site promoter proposed a Ddevelopment of 74 family houses in a range of 
sizes and tenures (with an average density of 21dph). has been proposed on the site as part of the SHLAA 
submission. 
 
At preferred options, the site promoter submitted an illustrative masterplan for the development of 35 
dwellings on a net developable area of 1.75 hectares. The developable area has been extended in a 
westerly direction to include a main access to the site between Pangbourne Cemetery and the SSE sub-
station. The site promoter disagreed with the developable area extending as far north as depicted in the 
preferred options document, commenting that development should relate as closely as possible to the 
existing settlement pattern.  
 
At proposed submission, the site promoter supported the allocation of the site but has suggested 
amendments to both policy HSA22 and the inset map – exclusion of the electricity sub-station from the site 
boundary (due to it being operational and in a different land ownership) with a revised developable area in 
policy HSA22, re-location of the access point to the west of the sub-station, inclusion of an access road on 
the inset map, amendment to the site boundary to the north of the sub-station to allow for the access road, 
an extension of the tree and hedge planting buffer westwards, removal of the parameter in policy HSA22 

Page 796



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

that reads: ‘a layout that works with the grain of the topography and be restricted to the lower slopes below 
the 75m AOD contour, or 70m AOD where the site is more visually exposed’. 
 
A hybrid planning application (ref: 14/03135/OUTMAJ) for the site comprising of (i) an outline application for 
35 dwellings and combined public amenity space / play area with all matters reserved; and (ii) a full 
application for the principal means of pedestrian and vehicular access off Pangbourne Hill, a new footway, 
engineering and landscaping works along the Pangbourne Hill frontage, and car park to serve Pangbourne 
Cemetery was refused planning permission on 29 April 2015. The reason for refusal was on prematurity 
grounds – the first core planning principle of the National Planning Policy Framework is that planning 
should be genuinely plan-led. Allowing the proposal would have been premature to the adoption of the 
emerging Housing Site Allocations DPD. Furthermore, the Council could demonstrate a five year housing 
land supply meaning there was no urgent need to pre-empt the plan-led process to increase the housing 
supply by granting planning permission for the development.  
 
Hybrid planning permission (part outline/part full) (ref: 15/03320/OUTMAJ) was granted permission on 22 
February 2016 for 35 dwellings and combined public amenity space / play area with all matters reserved; 
and (2) full application for the principal means of pedestrian and vehicular access off Pangbourne Hill, a 
new footway, engineering and landscaping works along the Pangbourne Hill frontage, and car park to serve 
Pangbourne Cemetery. 
 
For the submission version of the DPD, it is proposed to retain the developable area as it was originally 
illustrated in the preferred options document in case should the planning application is not be implemented. 
The developable area is based upon the recommendations of the Landscape Sensitivity Study. It is 
proposed to indicate on the inset map that the sub-station is not available for development. The inset map 
shows the substation is excluded from the site and shows access coming from the west of the substation 
through the landscape buffer. An access road is considered acceptable in landscape terms, but not for 
additional development.   
 

 

Page 797



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: PAN008 Site Address:  Pages Garden, Reading Road, Pangbourne, RG8 7JE 

 

Development Potential: 13 dwellings (0.22ha at 60dph) SHLAA Assessment: Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Site is within the settlement boundary so automatically excluded 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Pangbourne Parish Council did not comment 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N 
Landscape Assessment not carried out as site 
automatically excluded. Site not assessed as 
within settlement boundary.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Ccurrently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 Y  

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 798



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: PAN009 Site Address:  Burfield, Pangbourne Hill, Pangbourne, RG8 8JS 

 

Development Potential: 70 dwellings (3.5ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB - Development on this site would fail to conserve and enhance the special qualities and natural beauty of the AONB. 
- Poor relationship to settlement of Pangbourne  

 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Pangbourne Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment of this site. Access is poor, the 
site is a long way from Pangbourne and development could significantly impact on the AONB.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and 
Gardens 

N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the 
character of AONB (from LSA) 

Y 
Development on this site would fail to conserve and 
enhance the special qualities and natural beauty of 
the AONB.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Ccurrently developable Y Relationship to the settlement  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the 
role and function of settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy 

N   

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to existing settlement boundary 

* any yes response will rule the site out 
 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 799



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: PAN010 Site Address:  Land off Bere Court Road, Centenary Field 

 

Development Potential: 47 dwellings (2.35ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB  
- Relationship to settlement (not adjacent to settlement boundary) 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Pangbourne Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment of this site. Access is poor, the 
site is a long way from Pangbourne and development could significantly impact on the AONB. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and 
Gardens 

N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the 
character of AONB (from LSA) 

N/A 
Site not assessed as automatically excluded on 
other grounds  

SHLAA Assessment Not Ccurrently developable Y Relationship to settlement – detached from the 
settlement boundary 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the 
role and function of settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 800



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: PAN011 Site Address:  
Pangbourne College Boat House, Station Road Shooters 
Hill, Pangbourne 

 

Development Potential: 4 dwellings (0.21ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Ccurrently developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Flood risk – the site is within Flood Zone 3 
- Development potential of less than 5 dwellings 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Pangbourne pParish cCouncil did not feel that this site was suitable for any development due to 
its position adjoining the River Thames. The Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  Y  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y Within Flood Zone 3 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A 
Site not assessed as automatically excluded on 
other grounds 

SHLAA Assessment Not Ccurrently developable Y Flood risk  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Pangbourne Parish:  Pangbourne 

Page 801



Bradfield Southend Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 802



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN002 Site Address:  Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Land off Holt Road, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 59 dwellings (2.9ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Poor relationship to existing settlement  
- Potential impact on the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The parish council are is not keen for this site to be developed as it would lead to the extension of the 
village to the east. The developer has spoken to the parish council.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

U 

Unknown. Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) not undertaken as the site was assessed as 
not currently developable in the SHLAA.  
LSA on KIN005 (adjacent to both this site and the 
current settlement boundary) concluded that 
development over the site would result in 
significant harm to the AONB 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Poorly related to existing settlement residential 
development 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N 
Not adjacent to the settlement boundary and 
detached from the current settlement  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 803



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: BRS003 Site Address:  Land to the north of South End Road, Bradfield Southend 
 
Development Potential: 45 dwellings (2.24ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues:  
- AONB - Landscape Assessment has advised that there is potential for housing on part of the site subject to more detailed study. 

Subject to BRS004 being developed. 
- Surface water flood risk (evidence of standing water January / February 2014)   
- TPOs 
- Thames Water hasve raised significant concerns regarding water supply capability   
- Greenfield 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Concern over the proposed access to the site regarding the width and potential need to purchase 
other properties to improve the access. Tree Preservation Orders along eastern boundary and 
standing water are also potential issues. Concern that if this site was developed along with BRS004 
and BRS005 there would be a disproportionate impact on the village. Potential for light and noise 
issues. Lack of suitable footpaths and on street parking for the school are also concerns. 
 
No further comments received at preferred options.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N 

A The Landscape Capacity  Assessment (LCA) 
indicates that development is appropriate on part 
of has advised that there is potential for housing on 
part of the site subject to mitigation and 
enhancement measures outlined in the LCA and  
more detailed study. S subject to BRS004 being 
developed.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is adjacent to the existing settlement 
boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N  
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk NU 

The site had standing water on it 
January/February 2014. Surface water movement 
between BRS003, BRS004 and BRS005 (info 
from Parish Council).   

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues Y 
Access is possible to the west; however the land 
available may be too narrow. Sight lines are 
limited onto South End Road 

Highway network suitability Y Marginal impact on the highway 

Public Transport network  
There is a 2 hourly bus service passing through 
the village travelling between Newbury and 
Reading (1st bus leaves approx. 8:00, last bus 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

Page 804



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

arrives approx.18:30). 

Footways/Pavements Y There are narrow pavements throughout the 
village 

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y Site is close to the recreation ground 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play area and the recreation 
ground. 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders Y Along the eastern boundary of the site 
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y The site falls within a Biodiversity Opportunity 
Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement  The site is located behind the current building line 
of the village 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N No previous work undertaken but low 
archaeological potential. 

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y 

Thames Water has significant concern regarding 
water supply capability, in particular water 
resource capability.  
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster 
Station. 

Wastewater N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y Site falls within SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer NY  

Proximity to railway line    

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N Y 

The site is partially underlain by construction 
aggregates (sand and gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of 
the Replacement Minerals Local Plan are 
therefore relevant. Adjacent to the western 
boundary is a historic landfill site. 

Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
BRS001, BRS002, BRS004, 
BRS005 

The site could be considered alongside BRS004 
The LCA advises that the development of BRS003 would be 
unacceptable if BRS004 were not developed. Potential for 
reduced areas of BRS003 and BRS004 to be developed together. 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  The site is available immediately 

 
  

 

Page 805



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: BRS003 Site Address: Land to the north of South End Road, Bradfield 
Southend Development Potential:  45 dwellings (2.24ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside which would enable 
walking and cycling 
 
There are limited facilities within 
Bradfield Southend; however these 
can be accessed by walking or 
cycling.  
 
The site is well placed for access to 
the countryside. 

 

The site’s location to the 
north west of Bradfield 
Southend gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services / 
and facilities, a recreation 
ground and play area.  
 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

The site is close to the recreation 
ground and play area off South End 
Road, but some distance from sports 
facilities.  Sports facilities at Bradfield 
College are located over 2km away 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

-- 0 

 
There is a primary school, village 
hall, village store, church, and pub 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
There is are limited employment 
opportunities facilities within the 
village and therefore access to 
employment would be mainly by car  
 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are limited 
employment opportunities.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
upon the sustainability.  
 
The limited opportunity for  
local employment means 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

P
age 806



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Sustainability  
that the site could have a 
negative impact on 
economic sustainability 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 - 

There is limited public transport 
access. Development could provide 
an opportunity to enable an 
enhanced bus service to be put in 
place, promoted and sustained. 
 
Within the village there are a number 
of There are opportunities for walking 
and cycling to access limited local 
services and facilities. To access a 
wider range of higher level services 
there would be reliance on the car. 
While there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
bus service is 2 hourly. 

 

Due to the location of 
Bradfield Southend and 
limited range of 
facilities/services there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. This could 
result in a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
Bus services are limited 
although it is possible that 
development could result in 
an increased bus service. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
 
 

 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
 
Sight lines are limited onto South 
End Road 

Road safety improvements 
would be considered as part of 
a site transport assessment or 
statement at the planning 
application stage. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 

No known habitats. 
 
The site has Tree Preservation 
Orders on trees on its eastern 
boundary. 
 
The site lies and sits within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). 

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected.  
 
BOAs provide opportunities for 
improvements to biodiversity.   

Policy CS17 of the Core 
Strategy requires that 
enhancements to 
biodiversity are made on 
sites within BOAs. 
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2014)    Will it conserve and 

enhance the local - The site lies within the AONB. 
 

The Landscape Character 
Capacity Assessment (2014) 

 

P
age 807



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Sustainability  

distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape?  The site is within the AONB. 

 
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment has advised that 
development on the site is unlikely to 
compromise the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB due to 
its visual containment subject to 
mitigation. However it is noted that 
development would result in the 
losses of significant tree belts 
(including Tree Preservation Order 
Trees), matrix of woodland and 
pasture which has links with the 
wider landscape, and visual and 
aural tranquillity.  
 
Part of the site could be pursued as 
a potential housing site  
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2014) concluded that 
development on part of the site could 
be accommodated subject to the 
adjacent site BRS004 being 
developed.   
If BRS004 remained undeveloped 
however the site would be very 
poorly connected to the rest of the 
settlement and development on 
BRS003 would be unacceptable. 
 

sets out the mitigation 
measures required. has 
advised of the following 
mitigation/enhancement 
measures: 
 
• Development should be 

contained on the edge of 
the low ridge on which the 
village sits, not extending 
down the valley side, and 
adjacent to the settlement 
edge  

• Development would be 
subject to the provision of 
a substantial tree belt 
along the northern 
boundary, linking to the 
existing tree belt on the 
eastern boundary and with 
new tree planting in 
BRS004 beyond  

• The preferred access is 
from South End Road, via 
the small industrial estate, 
subject to assessment of 
impacts existing trees.  

• A full detailed landscape 
and visual impact 
assessment will be 
required to inform the final 
capacity of the site.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
-  

The site is located behind the 
existing building line and adjacent to 
the settlement boundary. Much of the 
site extends well beyond the 
settlement envelope. If the site was 
developed in isolation, it would be 
very poorly connected to the rest of 
the village. However, development of 

Not developing the site would 
avoid the potential negative 
effect on environmental 
sustainability. Development of 
BRS004 would be required to 
mitigate the impact on the 
character of the area.  

Development of the site 
without the adjacent site 
(BRS004) would result in a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

 

P
age 808



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Sustainability  

both this site and BRS004 would 
erode the linear settlement pattern of 
the village.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 Low archaeological potential on the 
site  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0? 

Unlikely to have an impact  The site 
falls within Groundwater Source 
Protection Zone 3.  

The Environment Agency has 
no principle objections to 
development within SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
 
The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature 
of the site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
compliance with policies within 
the core strategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 

 

P
age 809



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and 
Environmental 
Sustainability  
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

 
 
 

? 
 

 

The site is within an area of surface 
water flood risk. 
 
The Parish Council indicated that 
there was standing water on the site 
during January/February 2014,  

A Flood Risk Assessment 
would be required and 
development would need to 
pass the sequential and 
exception tests. Mitigation 
including SuDS would need to 
be provided. The Council’s 
highway engineer has advised 
the implementation of SuDS 
would reduce the available 
developable area, but would 
not preclude development on 
the site.  
 

Development on the site 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability associated 
with flooding unless 
adequate flood alleviation 
works are carried out. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 

P
age 810



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 

 

P
age 811



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could 
be a level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, although development could provide the opportunity to enhance 
the bus service. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle.  
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to open countryside. Given tThe sites location sits within a 
BOAiodiversity Opportunity Area, means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental 
sustainability of the site. 
 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape ; however mitigation/enhancement measures, as outlined in 
the Landscape Capacity Assessment, would reduce the impact. Development also has the potential to negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site being 
greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the 
edge of settlements is necessary. Development of the site also has the potential to negatively impact upon the built character both cumulatively with site BRS004 and on its own, 
resulting in a potential negative effect on environmental sustainability.  
 
In addition, tThe site is at risk from surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability. Any development will therefore need to provide SuDs 
and any planning application would need to be accompanied by a FRA in line with Core Strategy policy. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on the 
environmental and social elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 812



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: BRS003 Site Address: 
Land to the north of South 
End Road, Bradfield 
Southend 

Development 
Potential:  

45 dwellings 
(2.24ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
The site is not recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the adopted Core Strategy. As a service village, 
only a small level of development is required. It is considered that there is a are other more suitable sites in 
Bradfield Southend for allocation.  
 
The site is at risk of surface water flooding and the Parish Council reported standing water on the site in 
early 2014.  
 
If the site was developed alongside BRS004, the linear settlement pattern would be eroded. If developed 
on its own, the site would be very poorly related to the existing settlement. 
The acceptable developable area is poorly related to existing residential development, without BRS004 
being developed in order to improve this relationship. This would result in a level of development not in 
keeping with the role and function of Kintbury as a service village. 
 
 
Discussion: 
 
Site Description: 
The site is located on the north western side of Bradfield Southend within the North Wessex Downs AONB, 
and lies adjacent to the existing settlement boundary and open countryside. It is accessed via a small 
industrial estate. The north west section of the site extends beyond the settlement limit. The site is divided 
into two sections by a tree belt which runs east / west. There are also strong tree belts containing the site to 
the east and north, with a partial hedgerow to the western boundary. The southern field is currently unused 
except for storage of a disused vehicle, and areas of scrub are emerging within the grassland. 
 
Landscape:  
A The Landscape Character Capacity Assessment (LCA) (2014) concluded that development on part of the 
site could be accommodated subject to the adjacent site BRS004 being developed.  Development should 
be adjacent to the settlement edge, contained on the edge of the low ridge on which the village sits, and 
not extend down the valley side.   Although development of the recommended area would result in some 
further ‘backland’ development, the settlement pattern would be generally retained.  Development would 
need to be subject to: 
 

• The provision of a substantial tree belt along the northern boundary, linking to the existing tree belt 
on the eastern boundary and with new tree planting in BRS004 beyond 

• The preferred access being from South End Road, via the small industrial estate, subject to an 
assessment of the impact on existing trees 

•  
If BRS004 and BRS005 remained undeveloped the site would be very poorly connected to the rest of the 
settlement and development on BRS003 would be unacceptable. 
has advised that development is unlikely to comprise the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
due to the site’s visual containment. However it is noted that development would result in the losses of 
significant tree belts, matrix of woodland and pasture which has links with the wider landscape, and visual 
and aural tranquillity. Furthermore, the topography would require modifications to enable housing 
development and there would be an impact upon the stream corridor to the northern boundary of the site.  
 
Part of the site could be pursued further as a potential housing site subject to site BRS004 being developed 
and mitigation/enhancement measures, however this would be at the expense of the loss of the linear 
settlement pattern. Development of the site in isolation would mean that it would be very poorly connected 
to the rest of the village. 
 
Flood Risk: 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

Page 813



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The site falls within an area of surface water flood risk. The Parish Council reported evidence of standing 
water in early 2014. Sustainable Drainage Systems would be required as part of any potential development 
on the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
[Comments from the Council’s Highways and Transport team made in respect of part of site BRS003 and 
site BRS004] 
 
The site [BRS003 (part) and BRS004] can accommodate up to 34 houses that will generate circa 204 daily 
vehicle movements including circa 20 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
Owing to the projected size of the development and the existing use, this proposal will have a marginal 
impact on the highway.  
 
An adoptable access would be required to serve this site. The site could be accessed via Stretton Close; 
however there is concern that sight lines are limited onto South End Road. 
 
An alternative access is possible to the west; however the land available may be too narrow. However sight 
lines are also limited onto South End Road. 
 
Existing footways and bus stops are available nearby. Bus services are available to Newbury / Thatcham 
and Reading, however these services are infrequent.  
 
Ecology: 
Given that the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required on this 
site. 
 
Archaeology: 
No previous work undertaken but low archaeological potential. 
 
Education: 
The primary school is likely to have some capacity due to current situation, although as the school 
improves this is unlikely to continue. The school site can support a one form entry primary school (capacity 
of 210). Up to 50 additional dwellings in the village would be acceptable in terms of the capacity of the 
school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made on this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made on this site. The site is partially underlain by construction aggregates (sand and 
gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan are therefore relevant. Adjacent to the 
western boundary is a historic landfill site. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone The site is within the outer AWE consultation zone. Core 
Strategy policy CS8 requires that the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) must be consulted on proposals 
for residential development exceeding 500 people. 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
The Environment Agency has no principle objection to development within SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
Following initial consultation with Thames Water sSignificant concern regarding water supply capability, 
especially water resource capability was raised. . Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be 
able to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is highly likely to be required to 
ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster Station. 

 

Page 814



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No additional comments were received at preferred options for this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
Concern over the proposed access to the site regarding the width and potential need to purchase other 
properties to improve the access. Tree Preservation Orders along eastern boundary and standing water are 
also potential issues. Concern that if this site was developed along with BRS004 and BRS005 there would 
be a disproportionate impact on the village. Potential for light and noise issues. Lack of suitable footpaths 
and on street parking for the school are also concerns. 
 
No further comments received at preferred options. 
 
Preferred options consultation key issues: 
 

• BRS003, BRS004 and BRS005 in a comprehensive way as suggested in the 1999 Inspector’s 
Report to the Local Plan. 

• The Council’s objection can be overcome by only allocating a proportion of the site. 
• The Landscape Capacity Assessment and selection of BRS004 is inconsistent. 
• The Landscape Capacity Assessment recommends development of BRS003, BRS004 and 

BRS005. 
 

SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its 
proximity to open countryside. Given the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, biodiversity 
enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the 
environmental sustainability of the site.  
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, 
although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could be a level of car 
dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, 
although development could provide the opportunity to enhance the bus service. The site is in close 
proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle. 
 
The sites location within a BOA means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 
of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location in the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon the landscape 
however mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce the impact. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the access to employment, services and facilities.  
Development of the site also has the potential to negatively impact upon the built character both 
cumulatively with site BRS004 and on its own, resulting in a potential negative effect on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
In addition, tThe site is at risk from surface water flooding. Flooding has the potential to impact on all 
elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the settlement hierarchy. Service villages are 
identified as having a more limited range of services and some limited development potential. Therefore 
development of all the sites shortlisted for allocation would not be in keeping with the service village 
designation. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  

Page 815



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The site promoter has proposed residential development (including affordable housing) and has advised 
that the site is available immediately.  

 
 
 

Page 816



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: BRS004 Site Address:  Land off Stretton Close, Bradfield Southend 
 

Development Potential: Approximately 10 12 dwellings (0.58ha at 
20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Greenfield site. 
- Landscape impact – the site is within the AONB. - Potential for housing on a reduced area of the site to avoid significant adverse 

impacts on the AONB and the wider landscape part of the site. 
- Potential flood risk (standing water on the site in January/February 2014) – Sustainable Drainage Systems and Flood Risk 

Assessment required at the planning application stage 
- Tree Preservation Orders on the site. 
- Thames Water hasve raised significant concerns regarding water supply capability – integrated strategy for water and 

wastewater would be required at the planning application stage. 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

At the SHLAA consultation event held on 10 February 2014, Bradfield Parish Council made the 
following comments: 
 
General comments: 
Generally happy with organic growth rather than large scale development. Size of the SHLAA sites a 
concern. Infrastructure of the village could not cope. There is one shop and pub. Concern expressed 
about light and noise pollution. Limited public transport which could be an issue if social housing 
provided in the village. Accessibility felt to be poor – specific issues include Union Road (limited 
volume) and South End Road (used as a rat run as parallel the A4). Impact on the AONB an issue. 
 
Site specific comments: 
Site is well screened by trees and could be more acceptable for a small amount of development. The 
site regularly has standing water on it.  Access to the site is considered acceptable. 
 
No further comments received at preferred options.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N 

The Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates 
that development is appropriate on part of has 
advised that the site is visually contained. Potential 
for housing on part of the site. Mitigation and 
enhancement measures are required to make 
development on the site acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Ccurrently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is adjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  A N  
Racehorse Industry  N Greenfield 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk U N 
The site had standing water on it Jan/Feb 2014. 
Surface water movement between BRS003, 
BRS004 and BRS005 (info from Parish Council).  

Critical Drainage Area A N  
Contamination / Air Quality  N  

Spatial Area BRS004 Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

Page 817



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

pollution Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

An adoptable access would be required to serve 
this site. The site could be accessed via Stretton 
Close. Site lines onto South End Road are 
acceptable. ; however there is concern that sight 
lines are limited onto South End Road. 

Highway network suitability N Marginal impact on the highway. 

Public Transport network Y 

There is a 2 hourly bus service passing through 
the village travelling between Newbury and 
Reading (1st bus leaves approx. 8:00, last bus 
arrives approx.18:30). 

Footways/Pavements Y There are narrow pavements throughout the 
village 

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y There are narrow pavements throughout the 
village 

Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y Site is close to the recreation ground which is 

accessed off South End Road and Heath Road. 
Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
Site is close to the play area at the recreation 
ground which is accessed off South End Road 
and Heath Road. 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders Y On north and eastern parts of the site. 
Arboricultural survey would be required 

Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) Y Site is within Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A 
The site is adjacent to the settlement boundary 
and is The site is located behind the current 
building line of the village 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y 

Based on the information available to date, 
Thames Water has significant concern regarding 
water supply capability, in particular water 
resource capability.  do not envisage 
infrastructure concerns regarding Water Supply 
capability in relation to this site. 
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster 
Station. 
 
An integrated strategy for water and wastewater 
would be required at planning application stage if 
the site is allocated. 

Wastewater N 

On the information available to date, Thames 
Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns.  
 
Based on the housing numbers provided it is 
anticipated that Reading Sewage Treatment 
Works will be able to accommodate planned 
growth in the catchment for the next ten years. An 
increase in growth levels would require the 
capacity to be reassessed.  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y 

Site falls within SPZ3. The Environment Agency 
has no principle objections to development within 
SPZs.   

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N Y  

 

Page 818



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N 
The site is Ppartially underlain by gravel. Policies 
1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan 
are therefore relevant.  

Other N No known waste issues. 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
BRS001, BRS002, BRS003, 
BRS004 

Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the 
settlement hierarchy. Service villages are identified as having a 
more limited range of services and some limited development 
potential. As a service village on a small level of development is 
required in the village. Therefore Ddevelopment of all the sites 
shortlisted for allocation proposed would not be in keeping with 
the village. service village designation. 
 
The LCA advises that the development of BRS003 would be 
unacceptable if BRS004 were not developed. Potential for 
reduced areas of BRS003 and BRS004 to be developed together.  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  The site is available within the next 1-5 years 

 
  

 

Page 819



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: BRS004 Site Address: Land off Stretton Close, Bradfield Southend Development Potential:  Approximately 10 12 dwellings 
(0.58ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside which would enable 
walking and cycling 
 
There are limited facilities within 
Bradfield Southend; however these 
can be accessed by walking or 
cycling. There are no cycle routes 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
The site is well placed for access to 
the countryside.  

 

The site’s location to the 
north west of Bradfield 
Southend gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services / 
and facilities, a recreation 
ground and play area.  
 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

The site is close to the recreation 
ground and play area off South End 
Road, but some distance from sports 
facilities.  Sports facilities at Bradfield 
College are located over 2km away 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

-  0 

There is a primary school, village 
hall, village store, church, and pub 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
There is are limited employment 
opportunities facilities within the 
village and therefore access to 
employment would be mainly by car 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are limited 
employment opportunities 
and public transport options 
are limited.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
upon the district’s economic 
sustainability.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

P
age 820



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  
 
The limited opportunity for  
local employment means 
that the site could have a 
negative impact on 
economic sustainability 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 - 

There is limited public transport 
access (there is a 2 hourly bus 
service between Newbury and 
Reading that runs between 8:00 and 
18:30. Development could provide 
an opportunity to enable an 
enhanced bus service to be put in 
place, promoted and sustained. 
 
Within the village there are a number 
of There are opportunities for walking 
and cycling to access limited local 
services and facilities. To access a 
wider range of higher level services 
there would be reliance on the car. 
While there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
bus service is 2 hourly.  

Bus services are limited 
although it is possible that 
development could result in an 
increased bus service. 

Due to the location of 
Bradfield Southend and 
limited range of 
facilities/services there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. This could 
result in a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
 
Sight lines are limited onto South 
End Road 

Road safety improvements 
would be considered as part of 
a site transport assessment or 
statement at the planning 
application stage. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0? 
The site has Tree Preservation 
Orders (TPO) on trees within its 
boundary and sits within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). 

The majority of TPOS on the 
site fall outside of the 
developable area. 
Arboricultural survey would be 
required to ensure no negative 
impact on protected trees  
 
An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 

Policy CS17 of the Core 
Strategy requires that 
enhancements to 
biodiversity are made on 
sites within BOAs.   
 
Development could have a 
potential negative impact 
upon the landscape, 
however mitigation and 

 

P
age 821



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 

enhancement measures 
would minimise the effect. 
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2014)    

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is within the AONB. 
 
The Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (LCA) (2014) concluded 
that development on part of the site 
could be accommodated subject to 
important measures to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB. 
 advised that development on the 
site is unlikely to compromise the 
natural beauty and special qualities 
of the AONB due to its visual 
containment subject to mitigation. 
However it is noted that development 
would result in the losses of 
significant tree belts (including Tree 
Preservation Order Trees), matrix of 
woodland and pasture which has 
links with the wider landscape, and 
visual and aural tranquillity.  
 
Part of the site could be pursued as 
a potential housing site  

A The LCA Landscape 
Capacity Assessment advises 
of  has identified the following 
mitigation/enhancement 
measures: 
 
• Development could be 

accommodated adjacent to 
the settlement edge but 
maintaining the small 
woodland group in the 
eastern corner as a public 
open space. 

• Retention and 
enhancement of the 
existing tree belt and 
woodland group in the 
northern corner. 

• Preferred access from 
Stretton Close. 

• Full detailed landscape 
and visual impact 
assessment will be 
required to inform the final 
capacity of the site. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
0 ? 

 

The site is located behind the 
existing building line but adjacent to 
the settlement boundary. It is well 
related to the existing settlement and 
is unlikely to have an impact on the 
character of the built environment. 
 
However, if the whole site was 
developed alongside sites BRS003 

The site should be developed 
in isolation rather than 
alongside BRS003 and 
BRS005  to avoid the erosion 
of the traditional linear 
settlement pattern. 
 
Through careful design, 
development should conserve 

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2014)    

 

P
age 822



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

and BRS005, the linear settlement 
pattern would be eroded. 

and enhance the built 
environment of the surrounding 
area. 
 
A landscape and visual impact 
assessment would be required 
alongside any planning 
application.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 There is low archaeological potential 
on the site  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
districts cultural assets  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
historic environment   

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact on air 

quality  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise 

levels  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on soil 

quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 ? 

Unlikely to have an impact  The site 
falls within Groundwater Source 
Protection Zone 3.  

The Environment Agency has 
no principle objections to 
development within SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
 
The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature 
of the site.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? ? 

The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
compliance with policies within 
the core strategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and alternative 
modes of transport, 

 

P
age 823



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

place to respond to climate 
change 

development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

? 0 

The site does not fall within an 
official area of flood risk; however it 
does lie adjacent to an area of 
surface water flood risk.  
 
The Parish Council indicated that 
there was standing water on the site 
during Jan/Feb 2014., The impact of 
development on sustainability 
relating to flooding is uncertain. 

If the site were to be allocated, 
then this would need to be 
accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment. This is in line with 
Core Strategy policy CS16 
(Flooding) which also requires 
the provision of SuDS in all 
new developments.  
 
SUDs would need to be 
provided. 

Unlikely to have an impact 
any element of 
sustainability.  
 
Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures are introduced. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 

P
age 824



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could 
be a level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, although development could provide the opportunity to enhance 
the bus service. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle.  
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to open countryside. Given tThe site’s location sits within a BOA, means 
that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape ; however mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce the 
impact. Development also has the potential to negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site being greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
 
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed alongside site BRS003 and BRS005, the traditional linear 
settlement character would be lost, this resulting in a potential negative effect. 
 
The site is not within an area of flood risk, however There is uncertainty relating to the impact development may have on flood risk as the site lies adjacent to an area of surface water 
flood risk and the Pparish Ccouncil reported standing water on the site during January/February 2014. Any development will therefore need to provide SuDs and any planning 
application would need to be accompanied by a FRA in line with Core Strategy policy. Development could impact negatively upon the landscape, however mitigation measures would 
reduce minimise any impact. 
 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on the 
environmental and social elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 825



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: BRS004 Site Address: 
Land off Stretton Close, 
Bradfield Southend Development 

Potential:  
Approximately 10 
12 dwellings 
(0.58ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement and is within close proximity to a limited number of 
services and facilities. The Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA) has concluded that some development 
would be acceptable on part of the site subject to mitigation and enhancement measures. would be suitable 
for a A small number of dwellings that would be in keeping with the size and function of Bradfield Southend 
as a service village.  
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located on the north western side of Bradfield Southend, entirely within the North Wessex 
Downs AONB. The site is contained on the southern and eastern edges by the settlement (and the 
southern edge of the site adjoins the existing settlement boundary of Bradfield Southend), and is accessed 
off Stretton Close and otherwise adjacent to the surrounding countryside. The western boundary is formed 
by a strong tree belt which continues part way along the northern boundary and widens into a small 
woodland group in the north west corner. There is another group of trees towards the south east corner. 
Most of the trees are Tree Preservation Ordered oaks. The field is currently used for horsiculture, and there 
are areas of scrub are emerging within the grassland. There are views north west across BRS005 to the 
north side of the local valley, from the open north east boundary. Otherwise the site is well contained with 
little intervisibility within the village, except for with houses immediately adjacent to the site. 
 
Landscape:  
A Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA) has advised that development on the site is unlikely to 
compromise the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB due to its visual containment subject to 
mitigation. concluded that development could be accommodated on part of the site whilst maintaining the 
small woodland group in the eastern corner as public open space. Development would be subject to the 
identified mitigation and enhancement measures in the LCA. Whilst this would result in some further 
‘backland’ development, the settlement pattern would be generally retained.  
 
Part of the site could be pursued as a potential housing site but at the loss of the linear settlement pattern. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site does not fall within an area of flood risk.; however the site is adjacent to an area at risk of surface 
water flooding. Bradfield Parish Council reported that there was standing water on the site in 
January/February 2014. A Flood Risk Assessment would be required alongside the submission of any 
planning application. Sustainable Drainage Systems would be required as part of any development on the 
site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
[Comments from the Council’s Highways and Transport team made in respect of part of site BRS003 and 
site BRS004] 
 
The site [BRS003 (part) and BRS004] can accommodate up to 34 10 houses that will generate circa 204 
daily vehicle movements including circa 20 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
Owing to the projected size of the development and the existing use, this proposal will have a marginal 
impact on the highway. Between10-12 dwellings will generate circa 72 daily traffic movements including 
circa 20 during the 8:00 to 9:00 AM peak.  
 
An adoptable access would be required to serve this site. The site could be accessed via Stretton Close; 
however there is concern that sight lines are limited onto South End Road. Site lines onto South End Road 
are acceptable.  
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

Page 826



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

An alternative access is possible to the west; however the land available may be too narrow. However sight 
lines are also limited onto South End Road. 
 
Existing footways and bus stops are available nearby. Bus services are available to Newbury / Thatcham 
and Reading, however these services are infrequent.  
 
Ecology: 
Given that the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required on this 
site. together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely 
affected. 
 
There are a number of protected trees on the site. An arboricultural survey will be required to ensure no 
negative impacts on trees.  
 
Archaeology: 
No previous work undertaken but low archaeological potential. 
 
Education: 
The primary school is likely to has ve some capacity due to current situation, although as the school 
improves this is unlikely to continue. The school site can could support a one form entry primary school 
(capacity of 210). Up to 50 additional dwellings in the village would be acceptable in terms of the capacity 
of the school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made on this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by gravel and policies 1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan for 
Berkshire are therefore relevant.  
 
The extent of mineral deposit in this area unknown. The nearest former mineral working is located 
approximately 650 metres to the south east, which indicates that there may be potential for prior extraction, 
or use of the aggregates on site as part of the development should this site be progressed. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an the outer AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
The Environment Agency has no principle objection to development within SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water do not have concerns regarding water supply or waste water infrastructure.   
 
Significant concern regarding water supply capability, especially water resource capability. Current water 
supply network in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand from this site. Water supply 
infrastructure is highly likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any 
development.  
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster Station. 

 
A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
Parish Council: 
At the SHLAA consultation event held on 10 February 2014, Bradfield Parish Council commented that they 
are generally happy with organic growth rather than large scale development. Size of the SHLAA sites a 
concern. Infrastructure of the village could not cope. There is one shop and pub. Concern expressed about 
light and noise pollution. Limited public transport which could be an issue if social housing provided in the 
village. Accessibility felt to be poor – specific issues include Union Road (limited volume) and South End 
Road (used as a rat run as parallel the A4). Impact on the AONB an issue.  

Page 827



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
In respect of BRS004 they commented that Tthe site is well screened by trees and could be acceptable for 
a small amount of development. They have advised that the site regularly has standing water on it.  Access 
to the site is considered acceptable to the Parish Council. 
 
No further comments made at preferred options or proposed submission.  
 
Preferred options consultation key issues: 
• General – impact on property prices, loss of community. 
• Consultation timing inappropriate – summer holiday period. 
• Ecology – impact on wildlife and TPOs. 
• Harm to character of village – scale of housing out of context. 
• Flood risk – standing water on the site. 
• Highways and transport – reliance on car use (limited public transport), roads could not cope with 

increase in traffic, road safety concerns (poor sight lines at Stretton Close/South End Road junction). 
• Infrastructure capacity concerns – primary school, recent closure of GP surgery, no mains gas supply, 

disruption to electricity supplies, poor mobile phone coverage, no high speed broadband. 
• Landscape – disagreement with 2014 LSA findings, no indication of location and size of landscape 

buffers which referenced in SHLAA.  
• Principle of development – rejecting BRS003 and BRS005 makes the case to reject BRS004.  
• SA/SEA – results disputed.  
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues: 
• DPD not legally compliant. 
• Site unsuitable for affordable housing – lack of facilities/services. 
• Consultation – little consideration of views to date, timing (as at preferred options). 
• Design and density – constraints should be taken into account prior to planning application stage. 
• Ecology – phase 1 habitat survey should have been carried out prior to site selection. 
• Employment – what are local needs? 
• Flood risk – FRA should have been carried out prior to site selection, evidence of standing water. 
• Highways and transport – limited bus service which will not be enhanced by development, poor sight 

lines (as at preferred options, impact on rural road network, no assessment within Transport 
Assessment. 

• Infrastructure – no GP surgery and limited capacity at primary school (as at preferred options), no 
water of wastewater concerns, reported problems with water supply. 

• Landscape – AONB. 
• Principle of development – site rejected by Inspector in 1999, development potential elsewhere in 

village. 
• SA/SEA site selection – no justification for allocation as further studies required. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its 
proximity to open countryside. The site is within walking and cycling distance of limited facilities within 
Bradfield Southend and well placed for access to the countryside thereby helping to promote healthy and 
active lifestyles. This gives the site a positive score in terms of environmental and social sustainability.  
 
The infrequent bus service and the need to travel out of Bradfield Southend to access higher level services 
and employment would result in a level of car dependency. Whilst development may result in an increased 
bus service, it is considered that development will have a neutral impact upon safeguarding and improving 
accessibility to services/facilities in addition to improving and promoting opportunities for sustainable travel.  
 
Given tThe location of the site sits within a BOA,  means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of 
the site. Whilst there are trees with TPOS across the site, the majority of these fall outside of the 
developable area of the site.  
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location within the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon the landscape and 

Page 828



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

this would have a negative impact upon sustainability; however mitigation/enhancement measures would 
reduce the impact.  
 
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was 
developed alongside site BRS003 and BRS005, the traditional linear settlement character would be lost, 
thius resulting in a potential negative effect. 
 
Flooding can impact upon all elements of sustainability. Whilst the site does not fall within an official area of 
flood risk or adjacent to/within an area susceptible to , There is uncertainty relating to the impact 
development may have on flood risk as the site lies adjacent to an area of surface water flood risk, and the 
Parish Council reported standing water on the site during January/February 2014. Development could 
impact negatively upon the landscape, however mitigation measures would reduce minimise any impact. 
With the appropriate Flood Risk Assessment and Sustainable Drainage Methods, there should not be an 
impact upon sustainability.  
 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety and greenhouse gas emissions, there are 
mitigation measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on the environmental and social 
elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoters indicate in the submission details that the site could accommodate up to 15 dwellings 
(including 40% allowance for affordable housing in line with policy). 
 
The site promoter’s consultation response at the Proposed Submission stage outlines support for the 
allocation of the site. 
 
 
 
 

Page 829



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: BRS005 Site Address:  Land at Crackwillow, Cock Lane, Bradfield Southend, RG7 
6HW 

 
Development Potential: 38 dwellings (1.9ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Impact upon AONB  AONB - Landscape Assessment has advised that there is potential for housing on part of the site subject to 

more detailed study. 
- Tree Preservation Orders 
- Surface water flood risk (evidence of standing water January / February 2014)   
- Thames Water have raised significant concerns regarding water supply capability 
- Thames Water has significant concern regarding water supply capability, in particular water resource capability. There are known 

issues with Harts Hill Booster Station.  Any allocated site would require an integrated strategy for water and wastewater to 
support a planning application. This should cover flood risk, water quality and conservation. 

- Greenfield. 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Concern that additional traffic would cause serious issues on Cock Lane. 
 
No additional comments received at preferred options.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSCA) 

Part of site 
N 

A Landscape Assessment has advised that there 
is potential for housing on part of the site subject to 
and  more detailed study. Subject to BRS004 
being developed. 
 
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (LCA) 
advises that only development of the eastern part 
of BRS005 would be acceptable due to landscape, 
visual and settlement pattern constraints and is the 
least preferred option, of the three sites in this 
area, due to the potential difficulty in accessing the 
site and the need to cross the more sensitive part 
of site to reach the reduced area. 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

   

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  A Site is adjacent to the settlement boundary  

Racehorse Industry  N Greenfield. Site is adjacent to a private nursery 
school. 

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk U 
The site had standing water on it Jan/Feb 2014. 
Surface water movement between BRS003, 
BRS004 and BRS005 (info from Parish Council).   

Critical Drainage Area U  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues U No comments made 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

Page 830



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Highway network suitability U No comments made 

Public Transport network U 

There is a 2 hourly bus service passing through 
the village travelling between Newbury and 
Reading (1st bus leaves approx. 8:00, last bus 
arrives approx.18:30). 

Footways/Pavements Y There are narrow pavements throughout the 
village 

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y 
 Site is close to the recreation ground 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play area at the recreation 
ground.  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders Y Along southern boundary 
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) Y Site is within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A The site is located behind the current building line 
of the village. 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N No previous work undertaken but low 
archaeological potential  

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y 

Thames Water has significant concern regarding 
water supply capability, in particular water 
resource capability.  
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster 
Station. 

Wastewater N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y 

Site falls within SPZ3. The Environment Agency 
has no principle objections to development within 
SPZs.   

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer NY  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N Y 

The site is partially underlain by construction 
aggregates (sand and gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of 
the Replacement Minerals Local Plan are 
therefore relevant. Adjacent to the western 
boundary is a historic landfill site. 

Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
BRS001, BRS002, BRS003, 
BRS004 

As a service village only a small level of development is required 
in the village. Development of all the sites proposed would not be 
in keeping with the village. 
 
The LCA advises that BRS004 and BRS003 should be developed 
before this site.  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  The site will be available within the next 1-5 years 

 
  

 

Page 831



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: BRS005 Site Address: Land at Crackwillow, Cock Lane, Bradfield Southend, 
RG7 6HW Development Potential:  38 dwellings (1.9ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside which would enable 
walking and cycling 
 
There are limited facilities within 
Bradfield Southend; however these 
can be accessed by walking or 
cycling. There are no cycle routes 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
The site is well placed for access to 
the countryside.  

 

The site’s location to the 
north west of Bradfield 
Southend gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services / 
and facilities, a recreation 
ground and play area.  
 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

The site is close to the recreation 
ground and play area off South End 
Road, but some distance from sports 
facilities.  Sports facilities at Bradfield 
College are located over 2km away 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

-  0 

There is a primary school, village 
hall, village store, church, and pub 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
There is are limited employment 
opportunities facilities within the 
village and therefore access to 
employment would be mainly by car 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are limited 
employment opportunities 
and public transport options 
are limited.   
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
upon the district’s economic 
sustainability.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

P
age 832



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  
 
The limited opportunity for  
local employment means 
that the site could have a 
negative impact on 
economic sustainability 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 - 

There is limited public transport 
access (there is a 2 hourly bus 
service between Newbury and 
Reading that runs between 8:00 and 
18:30. Development could provide 
an opportunity to enable an 
enhanced bus service to be put in 
place, promoted and sustained. 
 
Within the village there are a number 
of There are opportunities for walking 
and cycling to access limited local 
services and facilities. To access a 
wider range of higher level services 
there would be reliance on the car. 
While there are public transport 
opportunities within the village, the 
bus service is 2 hourly.  

 

Due to the location of 
Bradfield Southend and 
limited range of 
facilities/services there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. This could 
result in a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
Bus services are limited 
although it is possible that 
development could result in 
an increased bus service. Will it reduce the number of 

road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

Road safety improvements 
would be considered as part of 
a site transport assessment or 
statement at the planning 
application stage. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
 

The site has Tree Preservation 
Orders (TPO) on trees along 
southern boundary and sits within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). 

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
TPOs would need protecting if 

Policy CS17 of the Core 
Strategy requires that 
enhancements to 
biodiversity are made on 
sites within BOAs.   
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Capacity 

P
age 833



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

the site is developed Assessment (2014)    
Development of the site 
would have a negative 
impact upon the character 
of the landscape, however 
mitigation measures would 
lessen the impact to some 
extent.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

-  

A Landscape Character Capacity 
Assessment (LCA) (2014) concluded 
that development on the majority of 
the site would result in harm to the 
natural beauty and special qualities 
of the AONB. However there is 
scope for a very limited amount of 
development in the eastern part of 
the site without harm to the AONB. 
has advised that development may 
impact and harm the special qualities 
of the AONB and result in the loss of: 
• Significant tree belts 
• Matrix of woodland and pasture 

which has links with the wider 
landscape 

• Visual and aural tranquillity 
• Meadow 
 
There would also be an impact on 
the stream corridor to the northern 
boundary and that the topography of 
the site would require modification to 
enable housing development. 
 
The eastern part of the site could be 
pursued further as a potential 
housing site 

A The LCA (2014) Landscape 
Capacity Assessment advises 
of  has identified the following 
mitigation/enhancement 
measures: 
• Retention of existing trees 
• Development should be 

contained within the 
eastern part of the site, not 
extending down the valley 
side to the north and west, 
and adjacent to the 
settlement edge.  

• Provision of a substantial 
tree belt and woodland 
group in the north west 
corner of site BRS004. 

• Sensitive treatment of built 
development in relation to 
the sloping site would be 
important. 

• Preferred access from 
Cock Lane. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 0 

The site is located behind the 
existing building line but adjacent to 
the settlement boundary.  
 
Development of the site, either alone 
or with sites BRS003 and BRS004, 
would result in some erosion of the 
traditional linear settlement pattern. 

The traditional linear settlement 
pattern of the village would be 
maintained by the non 
development of this site. 
Developing the site could result 
in a potential negative effect.  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 There is low archaeological potential 
on the site   

P
age 834



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural assets  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
historic environment  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact on air 

quality  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise 

levels  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on soil 

quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 ? 

Unlikely to have an impact  The site 
falls within Groundwater Source 
Protection Zone 3.  

The Environment Agency has 
no principle objections to 
development within SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
 
The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature 
of the site.  

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
compliance with policies within 
the core strategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

 ? 
 

The site does not fall within an 
official area of flood risk; however it 
does lie adjacent to an area of 
surface water flood risk.  
 
The Parish Council indicated that 
there was standing water on the site 
during Jan/Feb 2014. The impact of 

SUDs would need to be 
provided. 
 
The Council’s Principal 
Engineer has advised the 
implementation of SUDs would 
reduce the available 
developable area 

Unlikely to have an impact 
any element of 
sustainability.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 835



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

development on sustainability 
relating to flooding is uncertain.  
 

  
 
 
 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could 
be a level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, although development could provide the opportunity to enhance 
the bus service. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle.  
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its proximity to open countryside. Given tThe sites sits location within a BOA, means 
that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
 
There are Ppotential negative impacts could occur in relation due to the access to employment, services and facilities. The sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability impact upon the landscape ; however mitigation/enhancement measures, as outlined in 

P
age 836



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
the Landscape Capacity Assessment would reduce the impact. Development also has the potential to negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site being 
greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield sites on the 
edge of settlements is necessary. 
 
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed alongside sites BRS003 and BRS004, the linear settlement 
character would be lost, thus resulting in a potential negative effect. 
 
There is uncertainty relating to the impact development may have on flood risk as the site lies adjacent to an area of surface water flood risk and the Parish Council reported standing 
water on the site in January/February 2014. Any development will therefore need to provide SuDs and any planning application would need to be accompanied by a FRA in line with 
Core Strategy policy. There is also a potential negative impact in relation to the impact of development upon the AONB. 
 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on the 
environmental and social elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

P
age 837



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: BRS005 Site Address: 
Land at Crackwillow, Cock 
Lane, Bradfield Southend, 
RG7 6HW 

Development 
Potential:  

38 dwellings (1.9ha 
at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation  
 
Justification: 
The site may be suitable for a small number of dwellings, but would be too small to allocate.  
 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the adopted Core Strategy. As a service village, 
only a small level of development is required. It is considered that there are more suitable sites in Bradfield 
Southend for allocation.  
 
The site is at risk of surface water flooding and the Parish Council reported standing water on the site in 
early 2014.  
 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located on the north western side of Bradfield Southend, entirely within the North Wessex 
Downs AONB. The site is contained on the eastern and north eastern edges by the settlement (the eastern 
boundary of the site adjoins the settlement boundary of Bradfield Southend), is accessed off of Cock Lane 
and is otherwise adjacent to the surrounding countryside (BRS003 to the west, BRS004 to the south). The 
western boundary is formed by a tree belt, which continues along the northern boundary along the Pang 
tributary stream corridor. The south western boundary shared with site BRS004 is formed of TPO oak 
trees. The field is under meadow.  
 
Landscape:  
A Landscape Character Assessment has advised that development of the whole site may impact and harm 
the special qualities of the AONB and result in the loss of significant tree belts, matrix of woodland and 
pasture which has links with the wider landscape, visual and aural tranquillity, and meadow. There would 
also be an impact on the stream corridor to the northern boundary and that the topography of the site would 
require modification to enable housing development. The Landscape Capacity Assessment advises that 
only development of the eastern part of BRS005 would be acceptable due to landscape, visual and 
settlement pattern constraints and is the least preferred option, of the three sites in this area, due to the 
potential difficulty in accessing the site and the need to cross the more sensitive part of site to reach the 
reduced area. There would be scope for a very limited amount of development in the eastern part of the 
site only.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site does not fall within an area of flood risk; however Bradfield Parish Council has advised that the site 
had standing water on it January/February 2014 and that there is surface water movement between 
BRS003, BRS004 and BRS005 (info from Parish Council).  Sustainable Drainage Systems would be 
required as part of any potential development on the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No site specific comments made.  
 
Ecology: 
Given that the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required on this 
site. 
 
Archaeology: 
No previous work undertaken but low archaeological potential. 
 
Education: 
The primary school is likely to hasve some capacity due to current situation, although as the school 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

Page 838



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

improves this is unlikely to continue. The school site can support a one form entry primary school (capacity 
of 210). Up to 50 additional dwellings in the village would be acceptable in terms of the capacity of the 
school.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made on this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made on this site. The site is partially underlain by construction aggregates (sand and 
gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan are therefore relevant. Adjacent to the 
western boundary is a historic landfill site. 
 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone The site is within the outer AWE consultation zone. Core 
Strategy policy CS8 requires that the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) must be consulted on proposals 
for residential development exceeding 500 people.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
The Environment Agency has no principle objection to development within SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
Following initial consultation with Thames Water sSignificant concern regarding water supply capability, 
especially water resource capability was raised. . Current water supply network in this area is unlikely to be 
able to support the demand from this site. Water supply infrastructure is highly likely to be required to 
ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward ahead of any development.  
 
There are known issues with Harts Hill Booster Station. 

 
A detailed water supply strategy would be required. 
 
No additional comments were received at preferred options for this site 
 
Parish Council: 
Concern that additional traffic would cause serious issues on Cock Lane. 
 
No further comments were received at preferred options.  
 
Preferred options consultation key issues: 
• Site promoted for 24 dwellings. 
• Future housing requirement likely to increase and there is a shortage in the area. 
• Land can be drained to accommodate buildings and foundations could be deeper to deal with flood risk 

issues. 
• A third of the field is adjacent to existing housing, has good drainage and is dry. 
• Access can be taken from Cock Lane, which is underutilised, and serve BRS004 and BRS005. 
• Village envelope would not be extended. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its 
proximity to open countryside. Given the site sits within a BOA, biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of 
the site. 
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, 
although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could be a level of car 
dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, 
although development could provide the opportunity to enhance the bus service. The site is in close 
proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle. 

Page 839



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
The sites location within a BOA means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 
of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental sustainability of the site. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur in relation to the access to employment, services and facilities. The 
sites location in the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon the landscape; 
however mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce the impact. Whilst development has the potential 
to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed alongside sites BRS003 and 
BRS004, the linear settlement character would be lost, thus resulting in a potential negative effect.  
 
There is uncertainty relating to the impact development may have on flood risk as the site lies adjacent to 
an area of surface water flood risk. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the settlement hierarchy. Service villages are 
identified as having a more limited range of services and some limited development potential. Therefore 
development of all the sites shortlisted for allocation would not be in keeping with the service village 
designation. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoters have suggested that the site could accommodate 24 dwellings (with provision for 40% 
affordable housing in line with Core Strategy policy).  
 
Other land uses that the site promoters feel could be appropriate include a mix of residential and education, 
and education/community/employment connected with the private school adjacent to this site.  
 

 
 
 

Page 840



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: BRS006 Site Address:  Land at Ash Grove 
 

Development Potential: 10 dwellings (0.48ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: 
Not assessed – the site was 
submitted to the Council at 
preferred options  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues:  
- Greenfield site. 
- Landscape impact – the site is within the AONB. There is potential for housing on a reduced area of the site to avoid significant 

adverse impacts on the AONB and the wider landscape. 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: The site was submitted to the Council for consideration during the preferred options consultation. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSCA) P 

The Landscape Assessment indicates that 
development on a small part of the site would be 
acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment  N The site was submitted to the Council during the 
preferred options consultation of the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document.  

Land Use Protected Employment Area N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

U Development of the whole site would be out of 
keeping with the role and function of the village.  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 Y/N Adjacent to the settlement boundary, however the 
southern corner of the site falls within the 
settlement boundary.  

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Grazing land 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk P 
The site access and the eastern boundary of the 
site lie within an area susceptible to surface water 
flooding. 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

The carriageway of the access road will need to 
be 4.8m in width. There will also need to be 2m 
grass margins on either side of the carriageway. 
Sight lines at the junction of Cock Lane will need 
to be 2.44m.  

Highway network suitability Y Suitable. 10 dwellings would generate 6 car 
movements between 8-9am.  

Public Transport network Y 

There is a 2 hourly bus service passing through 
the village travelling between Newbury and 
Reading (1st bus leaves approx. 8:00, last bus 
arrives approx.18:30). 

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are pavements along Cock Lane. Footways 
would not need to be provided on the access road 
to the site for a development of 10 dwellings.  

Landscape Located in  AONB Y  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

1 

Page 841



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y There is a playing field off Cock Lane 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y 
There is a play area located off South End Road, 
which can also be accessed via the playing field 
off Cock Lane. 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) Y The site falls within a Biodiversity Opportunity 
Area (BOA) 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A  
Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N Little archaeological potential  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y Site is within Source Protection Zone 3. 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer Y  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area Y 

The site is partially underlain by construction 
aggregates (sand and gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of 
the Replacement Minerals Local Plan are 
therefore relevant. Adjacent to the western 
boundary is a historic landfill site. 

Minerals/Waste site N  
Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

The site is accessed via an existing field gate to the side of 2 Ash Grove which is owned and controlled 
by the landowners. It is the intention of the landowners for a new access road to be provided through to 
Cock Lane to serve the site with the existing access to the properties of Ash Grove realigned.  There are 
several different landowners connected with this site. 

 
  

2 

Page 842



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
 
Site ID: BRS006 Site Address: Land at Ash Grove Development Potential:   10 dwellings (0.48ha at 20dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

There are limited facilities within 
Bradfield Southend; however these 
can be accessed by walking or 
cycling. There are no cycle routes 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
The site is well placed for access to 
the countryside.  

 The site’s location gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

The site is close to the recreation 
ground and play area but some 
distance from sports facilities.  
Sports facilities at Bradfield College 
are over 2km away 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, village 
hall, village store, church, and pub 
within Bradfield Southend.  
 
There are limited employment 
opportunities within the village 
therefore access to employment 
would be mainly by car 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are limited 
employment opportunities 
and public transport 
services are limited.  
 
Bus services are 
infrequent. 
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
upon the district’s economic 
sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially - There are opportunities for walking 

and cycling to access limited local  Due to the location of 
Bradfield Southend and 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield 
Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

 

P
age 843



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

sustainable travel opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

services and facilities. To access a 
wider range of higher level services 
there would be reliance on the car.  

limited range of 
facilities/services there 
would be a degree of high 
car dependency. This could 
result in a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability.  
 
Bus services are limited 
although it is possible that 
development could result in 
an increased bus service. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

Road safety improvements 
would be considered as part of 
a site transport assessment or 
statement at the planning 
application stage. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
 

The site sits within a Biodiversity 
Opportunity Area 

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 

Policy CS17 of the Core 
Strategy requires that 
enhancements to 
biodiversity are made on 
sites within BOAs.   
 
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Capacity 
Assessment (2015). 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

-  

A Landscape Capacity Assessment 
(2015) concluded  that development 
over the whole site would result in 
harm to the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB and 
that only part of the site would be 
suitable for development.  
   
 
 

Appropriate mitigation would be 
required as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment.   

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? - 

The site is located behind the 
existing building line but adjacent to 
the settlement boundary.  
 
Development of the whole site would 
result in the erosion of the traditional 
linear settlement pattern of the 
village 

The traditional linear settlement 
pattern of the village would be 
maintained by the non 
development of this site. 
Developing the site could result 
in a potential negative effect.  

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 

Will it conserve and 0 There is low archaeological potential  

 

P
age 844



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

on the site  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s Cultural assets  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
historic environment  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact on air 

quality   

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise 

levels  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on soil 

quality   

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact water 

quality   

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- Site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the greenfield nature 
of the site. The adopted 
Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document is clear that 
for the district’s housing 
requirement to be met, 
development on greenfield 
sites on the edge of 
settlements is necessary. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
compliance with policies within 
the core strategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding ? 

The site does not fall within an 
official area of flood risk; however the 
north eastern corner of the site does 
lie adjacent to an area of surface 

If the site were to be allocated, 
then this would need to be 
accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment. This is in line with 

Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 

 

P
age 845



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

water flood risk.  Core Strategy policy CS16 
(Flooding) which also requires 
the provision of SuDS in all 
new developments. 
 

measures are introduced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are a limited number of services and facilities within walking and cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher level services and employment there could 
be a level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres, particularly given that the bus service is bi-hourly, although development could provide the opportunity to enhance 
the bus service. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy and active lifestyle.  

 

P
age 846



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
The site’s location within a BOA means that biodiversity enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the environmental 
sustainability of the site. 
 
There are potential negative impacts due to the sites location within the AONB which means that development has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental 
sustainability; however mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce the impact. Development also has the potential to negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to 
the site being greenfield. However, the adopted Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, development on greenfield 
sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
 
Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was developed, the linear settlement character would be lost, thus resulting in a 
potential negative effect. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Whilst there are uncertain impacts in respect of road safety and greenhouse gas emissions, there are mitigation measures that can be implemented so that the impacts on the 
environmental and social elements of sustainability are ameliorated against.  
 
 Due to the site having limited visual and built connections with the existing built form, only part of the site would be suitable for development, with the inclusion of mitigation measures 
outlined in the Landscape Capacity Assessment. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 847



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: BRS006 Site Address: Land off Ash Grove Development 
Potential:  

10 dwellings 
(0.48ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
The site is not recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
The Landscape Capacity Assessment (2015) concluded that development over the whole site would result 
in harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB and that only part of the site would be 
suitable for development.  
 
The site has limited visual and built connections with the existing built form.  
 
As a service village, only a small amount of development is considered appropriate, and the preferred 
option site (BRS004) is considered more suitable for development.  
 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north of Bradfield Southend, entirely within the North Wessex Downs AONB. The 
site is contained on the south eastern edge by the settlement. The south western boundary of the site 
adjoins the playing field of Bradfield Primary School. The site is accessed off of Ash Grove and is otherwise 
adjacent to the surrounding countryside. The northern, western and eastern boundaries are formed by tree 
belts. 
 
The field is used as grazing land.  
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates that the site has limited visual and built connections with 
the existing built form. Development of the site as a whole would result in harm to the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB. This would result in substantial “backland” extension to the existing 
development north of Cock Lane and erosion of the linear pattern of much of the village. Mitigation 
measures that would be required are set out in the landscape assessment.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site does not fall within an area of flood risk; however, site access and the eastern boundary of the site 
are subject to surface water flooding. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
No issues subject to a suitable access road being provided. The Council’s Highways and Transport team 
has advised that the carriageway will need to be 4.8m in width with 2m grass margins either side of the 
carriageway. Sight lines at the junction of Cock Lane will need to be 2.44m. Footways on the access road 
are not required for developments of 10 dwellings.  
 
The site is presently accessed via a field gate to the side of 2 Ash Grove which is owned and controlled by 
the landowners of BRS006. It is the intention of the landowners to provide a new access road through to 
Cock Lane to serve the site with the existing access to the properties on Ash Grove realigned.  
 
The Council’s Highways and Transport team do not consider that 10 dwellings would have an impact upon 
the highway network. 10 dwellings would generate 6 additional car movements between 8-9am.  
 
Ecology: 
Given that the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, biodiversity enhancements will be sought 
through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD). An Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. 
Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected 
species were not adversely affected. 
 
Archaeology: 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Bradfield Southend Parish:  Bradfield 

Page 848



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Based on the Historic Environment Record, old edition Ordnance Survey maps and Historic Landscape 
Characterisation), the Council’s Archaeological Officer has advised that there is little archaeological 
potential. Whilst there are some early 17th century structures in the vicinity, it is unlikely that these represent 
any kind of historic settlement core, and there is no evidence of prehistoric or Roman activity in the wider 
area.  
 
Education: 
The primary school has some capacity he school site can support a one form entry primary school 
(capacity of 210).  
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made on this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
The site is partially underlain by construction aggregates (sand and gravel). Policies 1 and 2 of the RMLP 
are therefore relevant. Adjacent to the western boundary is a historic landfill site. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is within the outer AWE consultation zone. Core Strategy policy CS8 requires that the Office for 
Nuclear Regulation (ONR) must be consulted on proposals for residential development exceeding 500 
people.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site.  
 
Thames Water: 
No specific comments made on this site.  
   
 
Parish Council: 
Comments on the site from Bradfield Parish Council have not been made. This is due to the site being 
submitted during the preferred options consultation on the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 
Comments received from the site promoter offering support for the inclusion of the site.  
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.    
 
There are positive impacts on the site in relation to supporting active and healthy lifestyles given its 
proximity to open countryside. Given the site sits within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA), biodiversity 
enhancements will be sought through policy CS17 of the Core Strategy which will positively impact on the 
environmental sustainability of the site. 
 
Bradfield Southend is identified as a service village within the settlement hierarchy. Service villages are 
identified as having a more limited range of services and some limited development potential. Therefore 
development of all the sites shortlisted for allocation would not be in keeping with the service village 
designation. 
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Potential negative impacts could occur due to the sites location within the AONB which means that 
development has the potential to have a negative impact upon environmental sustainability; however 
mitigation/enhancement measures would reduce the impact. Development also has the potential to 
negatively impact upon environmental sustainability due to the site being greenfield. However, the adopted 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document is clear that for the district’s housing requirement to be met, 
development on greenfield sites on the edge of settlements is necessary. 
 

Page 849



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Whilst development has the potential to have a neutral impact upon the built environment, if the site was 
developed, the linear settlement character would be lost, thus resulting in a potential negative effect.  
 
The site access and eastern boundary of the site are susceptible to surface water flooding. 
 
The Landscape Capacity Assessment finds the site to have limited visual and built connections with the 
existing built form. Therefore, only part of the site would be suitable for development, with the inclusion of 
mitigation measures outlined in the Landscape Assessment. 
 
Core Strategy policy CS16 requires on all development sites the provision of Sustainable Drainage 
Methods (SuDS) to manage surface water.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site was submitted for consideration during the preferred options consultation of the Housing Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD).  
 
 

Page 850



Chieveley Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 851



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: CHI001 Site Address:  The Colt House, Green Lane, Chieveley  
 
Development Potential: <5 dwellings (0.24ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
- Greenfield 
- AONB 
- To be considered as settlement boundary review site 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

This area of the village is seen as an area of special rural character and a green lane in the village. 
Strong views from residents and the parish council that this should remain as it is.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N Y  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N 

Landscape assessment indicated this site would 
be suitable for development in terms on impact on 
the AONB.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of the settlement in the 
settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary  N 

The site is not adjacent to the current settlement 
boundary. Whilst Green Lane is functionally part 
of Chieveley, its character in the south relates 
more to the open countryside rather than the main 
settlement area.  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown / 
Adajcent 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk U  
Surface water flood risk N  
Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other   

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N Access via Green Lane is not seen as an issue 
given the development potential of the site.  

Highway network suitability N 

Development would be likely to generate 
approximately 30 daily vehicle movements, with 
about 3 during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. This 
is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
highway network.  

Public Transport network U Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury 

Footways/Pavements U The village has narrow pavements in places, but 
not all areas of the village do have pavements.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  
Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other   

Green Infrastructure Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity space nearby Y Site is close to recreation ground 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 852



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
Rights of Way affected A  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play facilities within the 
recreation ground.  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Required 
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (Eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement  Y Site is small and on the edge of the village. 
Incompatible adjacent land uses Y  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Roman farmstead on adjacent site. Close to 
historic core of the village. Possible site of 
medieval settlement.   

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings A Site is near to a listed building 
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) U EA  not consulted on this site 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
CHI009, CHI017  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  Site is likely to be considered through the settlement boundary review rather than as an allocated site.  

 
 

 

Page 853



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: CHI008 Site Address:  Land adjacent to Oxford Road, Chieveley 
 
Development Potential: 91 dwellings (4.5ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
Landscape impact  
The Landscape Assessment states that  “It would not be possible to repeat the linear pattern of the rest of Chieveley without 
developing along the rural road to the east which would harm the countryside setting of the east side of the village”.  
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council would rather see development on this side of the village than to the west. Concerns 
were raised regarding traffic associated with the doctor surgery, and capacity at the cemetery. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and 
Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the 
character of AONB (from LSA) Y 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2011) indicated 
that this site would not be suitable for development. 
However, as the parish council indicated they would 
prefer development on this side of the village further 
assessment has taken place.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Impact 
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the 
role and function of settlement 
in the settlement hierarchy 

Y Development potential of the site is greater than 
required for a Service village such as Chieveley.  

Within Settlement 
boundary 

 N  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 854



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 
 

Site ID: CHI009 Site Address:  Land south of Graces Lane, Chieveley 
 
Development Potential: 40 dwellings (2ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Landscape assessment indicates that this site is not suitable for development.  
The Assessment states “Development of the site would be out of character with the linear development of Chieveley. The northern 
section of the site adjacent to the road is important open countryside at the entrance to the village, and would not be suitable for 
development. If the north west corner of the site were developed, thus extending housing back from the roads, the straight, strongly 
vegetated edge of the settlement would be lost”.  
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council agreed with the SHLAA assessment of the site as not currently developable. 
Development here would have an impact on the visibility of the village from outside.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) Y  Landscape Sensitivity aAssessment (2011) indicates 

that this site is not suitable for development.  
SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Impact on the landscape.   
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement in the 
settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 

Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 855



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: CHI011 Site Address:  Chieveley Glebe, East Land, Chieveley 
 
Development Potential: 147 dwellings (7.36ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Landscape Sensitivity aAssessment (2011) indicated the site was not suitable for development.  
The Landscape Assessment States that “It would not be possible to repeat the linear pattern of the rest of Chieveley without 
developing along the rural road to the east which would harm the countryside setting of the east side of the village”.  
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

 Parish council would rather see development on this side of the village than to the west. Potential 
traffic issues relating to the doctors surgery, and the cemetery is full. But development in the village 
could help to alleviate these issues.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) Y 

Landscape Sensitivity aAssessment (2011) indicated 
that this site would not be suitable for development. 
However, as the parish council indicated that they 
would rather see development on this side of the 
village, therefore, further assessment will take place.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Landscape Impact 
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement in the 
settlement hierarchy 

Y The site is very large compared to the size of the 
village. Development in this location would extend 
the village to the east. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 856



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: CHI015 Site Address:  Land at School Lane, Chieveley 
 
Development Potential: 6 dwellings (0.3ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
AONB – Landscape Assessment indicates that development of the site would not be acceptable.  
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Local consultation on the site gave a finely balanced response, some people felt positively about the site, 
although there were concerns regarding the impact on traffic outside the school. Potential for 
development of the site to provide a car park for the school was seen positively although concerns about 
how this could be enforced were raised.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) Y Landscape Capacity Assessment (2014) indicates 

development of this site would not be appropriate.   
SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary   N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 857



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: CHI018 Site Address:  Land at Tudor Avenue, Chieveley 
 
Development Potential: 8 dwellings (0.38ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
- AONB 
- Poor relationship to settlement (not adjacent to settlement boundary)  
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response:  Parish council did not comment on this site 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Within Settlement 
Boundary  N  

Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) U 

Landscape assessment has not been carried out 
as the site will not be allocated due to the poor 
relationship to the settlement.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Relationship to the settlement 
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement in the 
settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Chieveley Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 858



Compton Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 859



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM001 Site Address:  Land to the east of Yew Tree Stables, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 27 30 dwellings (1.36ha at 20dph)   SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
- AONB – Landscape Assessment indicates only the eastern part of the site would be suitable for development.  
- Groundwater flood risk and adjacent to Flood Zone 2 and 3 and area of Surface Water Flood Risk. 
- Site is adjacent to a Scheduled Monument.  
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Development here would merge the village with the industrial units beyond. The Parish Council would like 
to see the distinction maintained. The site is considered important open space to the community. Despite 
the site having good access, the community would be against development on the site. Development 
could be visually prominent due to the topography of the site.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) P Only part of the site is considered suitable for 

development on landscape grounds.  
SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to existing settlement boundary.  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent/ 
Unknown 

Comments 

Settlement Boundary  A  

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 A  
Groundwater flood risk Y Groundwater emergence zone 
Surface water flood risk A  
Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N Access to the site is good 
Highway network suitability U Highways not consulted 

Public Transport network Y 

Regular bus service to and from Newbury. Bus 
service extends to Harwell Business Centre 
during peak journeys. Approx 2 hourly service 
between Newbury and Harwell. Service may be 
more limited in the evening if returning from 
Harwell.  

Footways/Pavements Y  Pavements are present throughout the village.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y 
Development on part of the site would be 
acceptable subject to mitigation as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment.  

Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 
Open Space / Playing field / 
amenity space nearby Y 

The site is close to the recreation ground. 
However the site is identified as an area of 
community open space in the VDS 

Rights of Way affected A  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 860



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
Play areas nearby Y The site is close to the play facilities at the 

recreation ground 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement and 
close to local services and facilities.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N 

Adjacent to residential properties on the western 
boundary and a small number of industrial units 
on the eastern boundary but these are well 
screened.  

Heritage  

Archaeology y 

Site is adjacent to a scheduled monument and in 
area of high potential for medieval archaeology 
Scheduled Monument adjacent to the site was de-
scheduled in 2014 but remains an area of 
archaeological significance. Site is in an area of 
archaeological potential. 

Conservation area A Adjacent to conservation area. 
Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument A N Adjacent to Scheduled Monument 
Scheduled Monument de-scheduled in 2014. 

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y  
Wastewater Y  
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) N  

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
COM012 Adjacent to COM012 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  N/A 

 

2 

Page 861



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM002 Site Address:  Land to the south east of Compton, RG20 6RD 
 
Development Potential: 23 dwellings (1.16ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 
The site has been categorised within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable due to the landscape impact of development on the 
site. Development would lead to the loss of rural character and scenic qualities of the AONB. Development would harm the Pang 
Valley and detract from the scenic qualities of the eastern approach into Compton.   
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish council agreed with the SHLAA assessment of the site as not currently developable. The 
Parish Council would not like to see development on the other side of the disused railway line, as they 
do not feel that this would be well related to the village. Flood risk on the site is more significant that 
the EA flood zones identify. Proximity to Scheduled Monument is also a concern**. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) Y 

Development would lead to the loss of rural 
character and scenic qualities of the AONB. 
Development would harm the Pang Valley and 
detract from the scenic qualities of the eastern 
approach into Compton.   

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Impact on AONB and rural character 
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy  

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N   

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
** Historic England de-scheduled the Scheduled Monument in 2014. The area is still of archaeological significance.    
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 862



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM004 Site Address:  Pirbright Institute, High Street, Compton, RG20 7NN 
 
Development Potential: 140 dwellings (7ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues: 
- AONB – Landscape Assessment indicates only part of the site is suitable for development 
- Flood risk – part of the site is in FZ3 and FZ2.  
- Surface water and groundwater flood risk 
- Contaminated land 
- TPOs 
Site has been identified as an ‘opportunity area’ within the adopted Core Strategy and a Supplementary Planning Document has been 
adopted providing a framework to guide future development on the site.   
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council would like to see COM004 developed and the green infrastructure (cricket pitch) 
protected. Allocation of this site would be supported by the Parish Council.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  P Part of the site is within Flood Zone 3. This part of the 
site is not suitable for development.  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the 
character of AONB (from LSA) P Part of the site is considered suitable for development 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the 
role and function of settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy N 

Scale of the site may not be consistent with the role of 
Compton as a service village, however it is a large 
brownfield which has been identified in the Core 
Strategy as an opportunity site.  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is adjacent to the existing settlement 
boundary.  

*Any Yes response will rule out the site 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Settlement Boundary   A  

Land use Previously Developed Land  Y Currently Pirbright Institute site. 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 Y Part of the site is within Flood Zone 2. These areas 
have been excluded from the developable area.  

Groundwater flood risk Y Part of the site is within a ground water emergence 
zone.  

Surface water flood risk Y Part of the site is within an area of surface water flood 
risk. 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land Y Degree of contamination on the site. Further 
assessment would be required.   

Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  

Highway network suitability Y 

Main access to High Street can be used for residential 
use. Any access on to Churn Road should be minor. 
Only pedestrian or cycle route should be obtained 
onto Hockham Road. A through route between Churn 
Road and High Street would be encouraged which 
can also provide emergency access. Improvements to 
footways fronting the site would be needed.  Hockham 
Road and Churn Road are not really suitable for 
residential use in current form. Preference for Churn 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 863



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
Road to access the site. Access can be obtained to 
the High Street, care would need to be taken on the 
type of access provided.  

Public Transport network Y 

Bus stops near the site with regular bus services to 
and from Newbury. Bus service extends to Harwell 
Business Centre during peak journeys. Approx 2 
hourly service between Newbury and Harwell. Service 
may be more limited in the evening if returning from 
Harwell.  

Footways/Pavements Y Pavements are present throughout the village.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from 
Core Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
amenity space nearby Y 

Part of the site is used as open space (cricket pitch). 
This area has been excluded from the developable 
areas. The site is close to the recreation ground.  

Rights of Way affected A  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play facilities at the recreation 
ground.  

Ecology / 
Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species A Potential for bats on the site. SPD principles should be 
adhered to for this site. 

Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders Y  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y Site is well related to the existing settlement.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N 
Existing uses on the site may be incompatible and 
therefore the site would need to be redeveloped as a 
whole.  

Heritage 

Archaeology Y Site lies in heart of historic village with medieval 
origins. High archaeological potential.  

Conservation area A 

A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment will need 
to explain how the special architectural and historic 
interest of the Compton Conservation Area and its 
setting have been taken into account 

Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an issue 
in Compton 

Wastewater Y Infiltration of groundwater into the network is an issue 
in Compton 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y 5% of the site is within a SPZ1 

AWE consultation 
Zone 

Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway 
line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
COM004A, COM10, COM009, 
COM011 

COM004A, COM010, COM009, COM011. 
COM004A has planning permission, although this has not yet been 
implemented.  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  N/A 

 

2 

Page 864



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
Site ID: COM004 Site Address: Pirbright Institute, High Street, Compton, RG20 7NN Development Potential:  140 dwellings (7ha at 20dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ Good access to recreation ground 
and countryside  

The site’s location to the 
north east of Compton 
provides opportunities for 
walking and cycling, as well 
as easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ Good access to recreation ground 
and countryside  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? + 

If redeveloped in accordance with 
the adopted SPD the cricket pitch will 
remain as green infrastructure. 

Retain the cricket ground as 
green infrastructure. 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+/- 

Good access to secondary and 
primary schools, with some local job 
opportunities. 
The relocation of the Institute would 
result in the loss of local job 
opportunities. Whilst the SPD does 
seek the redevelopment of the site 
for mixed uses, the level of 
employment to be delivered is 
uncertain at this stage.   

The adopted SPD for the site 
seeks mixed use development 
on this site. It is expected this 
site will therefore provide some 
employment which will mitigate 
the impact of the Institute 
relocating. 

The site delivers positive 
and negative impacts in 
relation to economic 
sustainability given the loss 
of local employment as the 
Institute relocates but some 
of this employment could 
be replaced through a 
mixed use redevelopment 
scheme. The site is also 
close to some existing 
areas of employment and 
education as well as other 
services and facilities within 
Compton. The site also has 
access to the strategic road 
network (A34), although 
height restrictions for heavy 
goods vehicles exist.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 

0 
Limited public transport access, but 
the village does benefit from a bus 
service, and has a number of local 

Some of the approach roads to 
the village have weight and 
height restrictions. 

Access to public transport 
is limited but the village is 
served by a regular 2hourly 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

P
age 865



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

cycling and public 
transport? 

services and facilities all of which 
can be reached by walking and 
cycling. 

bus service.  The site’s 
proximity to local services 
and facilities will encourage 
walking or cycling, and 
unlikely to have an impact 
on environmental 
sustainability given the 
degree of car dependency 
in the village. It could have 
a positive impact on social 
sustainability given the 
ability to walk and cycle to 
local services/facilities 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic to existing levels 
could result in road safety concerns, 
but any development would also 
have the potential to improve road 
safety. 

Improvements to footways 
fronting the site would improve 
pedestrian access and connect 
the site to existing bus stops. 
Potential for pedestrian or cycle 
routes to Churn Road and 
Hockham Road would help 
reduce use of main access to 
the High Street where traffic 
movements would be higher. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

+ 

The site benefits from mature 
vegetation and a number of green 
open spaces which provide 
opportunities for wildlife corridors on 
the site. Potential for bats on the site. 

Measures to protect and 
enhance biodiversity and 
geodiversity as set out within 
the SPD should be adhered to.  

If the site is redeveloped in 
accordance with the 
adopted SPD the site 
creates opportunities for 
positive environmental 
sustainability impacts. 
 
 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

+ 

Redevelopment of the site in 
accordance with the SPD could 
make a positive contribution to the 
landscape character and local 
distinctiveness of the open downland 
landscape of the AONB.  
 

Mitigation set out within the 
Landscape Assessment: 
• The open downland character 
above Compton should be 
enhanced through the removal 
of buildings in the most 
northerly part of the site, 
restoration of a more 
natural landform and use as 
open space/open farmland 
• Protect views to Compton 
from the open downland 
• Protect views of the upper 
valley sides of the site from the 
village 
• A matrix of good sized open 
spaces to be provided 
throughout the development, 
linking physically and visually 
with the existing provision 
• Retention of the existing 
character facing onto High 
Street and in particular the area 

2 

P
age 866



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

of open space. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? + 

There is potential to remove 
redundant non residential buildings 
and enhance the site’s setting within 
the AONB. The scale of the site is 
not consistent with that of a service 
village, however it is a large 
brownfield site which is identified in 
the Core Strategy as an opportunity 
site. 

The adopted SPD sets out key 
measures to be taken and 
principles to be followed in the 
redevelopment of this site.  

Development on the site in 
accordance with the 
adopted SPD could result 
in positive impacts on 
social and environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

+ 

Opportunity to enhance the site’s 
setting within the village, whilst 
respecting the adjacent conservation 
area and nearby listed buildings. 
Archaeological potential on the site 
given its location within the heart of 
the historic village which has 
medieval origins needs 
consideration. 

The adopted SPD sets out key 
measures to be taken and 
principles to be followed in the 
redevelopment of this site. A 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment will need to 
explain how the special 
architectural and historic 
interest of the Compton 
Conservation Area and its 
setting have been taken into 
account 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact   

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact on air 

quality  

Development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact on the 
environmental sustainability 
through decontamination of 
the site for mixed use 
development. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise 

levels  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

+ ? 

Given the previous use of the site, 
there is potential for contamination. 
Development of the site would 
enable the site to be 
decontaminated. Viability of 
decontamination works may need to 
be considered. 

Development of the site would 
enable the site to be 
decontaminated. Viability of 
decontamination works may 
need to be considered. 
 
Further assessment of 
contamination required and 
development to be in 

3 

P
age 867



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

accordance with the adopted 
SPD. 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

+/? 

There is the potential for 
contamination on the site which in 
turn through run-off, could have an 
impacted upon water quality. 
Redevelopment of the site will 
provide the opportunity to mitigate 
against any contamination and the 
impact that this may have on water 
quality.   

Redevelopment of the site will 
provide the opportunity to 
mitigate against any 
contamination and the impact 
that this may have on water 
quality. Viability of 
decontamination works may 
need to be considered. 
 
Further assessment of 
contamination required and 
development to be in 
accordance with the adopted 
SPD. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? + 

Development of the site would result 
in the redevelopment of a large area 
of previously developed land in a 
rural location. 

 

Development of the site 
could have a positive 
impact on environmental 
sustainability because it is 
a large previously 
developed site 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 
 
The site could have a 
negative impact on all 
aspects of sustainability 
due to flood risk however 
the impact could be 
minimised if development is 
in accordance with the 
adopted SPD which 
excludes areas of flood risk 
from the developable area.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
Flood Zone 2 and 3, Groundwater 
Emergence Zone, Surface Water 
Flood Risk 

A sequential approach should 
be taken to development on the 
site in accordance with the 
SPD. The area within the flood 
zone (southern part of the site) 
will be excluded from the 
developable area, unless 
detailed modelling of flood risk 
indicates otherwise not be 
developed. Sustainable urban 
drainage techniques (SuDS) 
should be used to mitigate the 
effect of any potential flooding 
as set out within the adopted 
SPD.  

4 

P
age 868



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0/+ 

The site will be for a mixed use 
though primarily housing. 
Redevelopment of the site will result 
in loss of employment land but some 
employment generating uses will be 
appropriate for the site as set out 
within the adopted SPD for the site.  

 
The development of the site 
for primarily housing with 
some employment 
generating use in 
accordance with the SPD 
will have an overall 
neutral/positive effect on 
economic sustainability. 
Whilst housing 
development contributes 
towards economic 
development in the short 
term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. The 
provision of some 
employment use on the site 
will help to promote the 
economy in general in the 
short to long term. The 
scale and type of 
employment development 
will be in accordance with 
its rural location in the 
AONB.  
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is brownfield and the current 
occupier of the site will be relocating 
out of the District. 
 
The site is no longer running at its 
fullest capacity. Redevelopment will 
result in the loss of employment land 
as it will not be replaced in its 
entirety though some new 
employment generating use will be 
appropriate as set out within the 
adopted SPD for the site.  
 
The development of the site for 
mixed use will have an overall 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres. Whilst the site 
will have some employment 
generating uses they will not be 
located in such a commercial centre.  

 

 
Site Summary 
This site would offer the opportunity to develop an existing brownfield site outside of a settlement boundary that could positively impact on the built environment and enhance the 
sites setting within the village and wider AONB.  
 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly education, public transport options are limited and car dependency will most likely be high given the rural location of Compton. 
There are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a recreation ground within the village to help promote a healthy 

5 

P
age 869



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
active lifestyle. 
 
Redevelopment of the site in accordance with the adopted SPD would provide positive benefits for environmental sustainability in terms of enhancing green infrastructure and 
biodiversity on the site. The proximity of the site to the Conservation Area and a number of listed buildings also provides opportunities to enhance the character of the local historic 
environment. There would be positive benefits to environmental sustainability through the decontamination of the site.  
 
Given the site’s location within open downland the landscape impact of any redevelopment is vitally important. The SPD and Landscape Assessment for the site demonstrate that 
excluding certain areas from development could make a positive contribution to the landscape character.  
 
The southern edge of the site is located within Flood Zone 2 and 3. In addition, the site is at risk from surface water flooding and groundwater flooding; however this part of the site is 
not included in the SPD as part of the developable area of the site and the promoters of the site have said this area will not be built on.  
 
The site is a brownfield employment site and is proposed to be redeveloped for primarily housing with some employment development appropriate to its rural location resulting in an 
overall neutral/positive impact on economic sustainability.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly positive 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: North Wessex Downs AONB 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 

6 

P
age 870



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: COM004 Site Address: 
Pirbright Institute, High 
Street, Compton, RG20 
7NN 

Development 
Potential:  

140 dwellings (7ha 
at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is considered for allocation through the DPD. 
 
Justification:  
Development on this site would provide the opportunity to develop a brownfield site, adjacent to the 
settlement boundary. The site has been identified as an ‘opportunity area’ within the adopted Core Strategy 
and a Supplementary Planning Document has been adopted providing a framework to guide future 
development on the site. There would also be an opportunity to rectify any contaminated land issues and 
enhance the site’s setting within the AONB and village. 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Compton sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located close to both the M4 
and A34 corridors running east west and north south. 
 
The site is located adjacent to the settlement boundary of Compton giving easy access to local services, 
facilities and the open countryside. The site’s proximity to local services will encourage walking or cycling. It 
is recognised that there will be a degree of car dependency given the location of the village.  
 
Whilst the scale of the site is not consistent with that of a service village, the site has been identified 
through the Core Strategy as an opportunity site and has an adopted SPD. Redeveloping the site in 
accordance with the adopted SPD provides the opportunity to positively enhance many aspects of 
sustainability.  
 
Whilst the relocation of the Institute will result in the loss of some local employment opportunities, the 
adopted SPD for the site does seek mixed use development which would replace a level of employment.  
 
The site is located adjacent to the Conservation Area and within close proximity to listed buildings. A 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment will need to explain how the special architectural and historic 
interest of the Compton Conservation Area and its setting have been taken into account. 
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Assessment indicates that development on parts of the site would be acceptable as long as 
mitigation measures as listed in the assessment and SPD are adhered to. Redevelopment of the site 
provides opportunities to enhance the green infrastructure and biodiversity on this site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
Part of the site falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3, as well as a Groundwater Emergence Zone and an area of 
Surface Water flood risk. A Flood Risk Study undertaken to inform the SPD showed groundwater flooding 
to be complex and closely related to groundwater levels and rainfall/river flows. The study recommended 
that following the sequential approach to development on the site, only less vulnerable land uses in 
accordance with the NPPF should be located below 103m AOD within the site (water compatible or critical 
infrastructure development would also be appropriate at this site level) and more vulnerable land uses 
should be located above 103m AOD, unless detailed modelling indicates otherwise. This was taken forward 
in to the SPD and reflects the developable area in the allocated site. The area below 103m AOD includes 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 which are therefore excluded from the developable area Housing is therefore 
considered appropriate above the 103m AOD line. The SPD approach to 103m AOD for ‘more vulnerable’ 
development was supported by the Environment Agency. This part of the site will be excluded from the 
developable area as set out within the SPD. An FRA would be required to support any development on this 
site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The site’s proximity to local services will encourage walking or cycling. The village is served by a regular2 
hourly bus service linking the village to Newbury. The bus service extends to Harwell Business Centre 
during peak journeys. WBC Passenger Transport services have indicated an aspiration to increase the 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

Page 871



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

frequency of the bus service. Contributions from any development could be used to help improve the 
service. There are bus stops near the site however they will need to be connected to the site with additional 
footways. 
 
This site can accommodate up to 140 houses that will generate circa 840 daily vehicle movements 
including circa 84 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
This was the Institute of Animal Health and therefore there would already have been a significant generator 
of traffic. Similar or even reduced traffic levels from the proposed use would therefore be expected. 
 
There is an existing main access from the High Street, with further minor accesses from Churn Road. 
Highways therefore consider that the same arrangement could apply for any residential use subject to any 
access onto Churn Road being the minor access. There will need to be improvements to footways fronting 
the site onto the High Street. 
 
Highways consider that only a pedestrian or cycle route should be obtained onto Hockham Road, as there 
is currently no existing vehicular access, and Hockham Road is narrow and winding. 
 
A through route between Churn Road and the High Street would be encouraged to provide grids and loops 
in line with the UK governments Manual for Streets, and also to provide an emergency access.  
 
Access can be obtained from Churn Road and Hockham; however both of these roads are narrow with 
limited or nonexistent footways. They are therefore not really suitable for a residential use in their current 
form. It is therefore likely that road widening along with footway provision will be sought. There seems to be 
limited opportunities for this along Hockham and Cheap Street due to limited availability of highway land. 
There is therefore a preference for Churn Road to access the development. A through route between 
Churn Road and Hockham could be encouraged in line with the UK governments Manual for Streets.  
 
If access can be obtained through to the High Street, care would need to be taken on the type of access 
provided.  
 
Ecology: 
If the site is developed in accordance with the adopted SPD, then there will be no ecological concerns.   
 
Archaeology: 
There is high archaeological potential on the site given its location within the heart of the historic village 
which has medieval origins. Further assessment required.  
 
Education: 
Compton Primary School is close to capacity with no capacity on the site to expand further. Secondary 
school provision is manageable.  
 
Environmental Health: 
Contamination on site would need to be resolved as part of any planning application.  
Redevelopment of the site provides a significant opportunity to improve soil quality and potentially water 
quality through decontamination. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Former landfill site is located to the west of the site. Environmental permits for waste related activities held 
on site for a number of years.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
Concern that part of the site is within Flood Zones 2 and 3. However, this area will be excluded from the 
developable area development.  
 
5% of the site is within SPZ1.  
 
The site has been investigated for contamination.  
 

Page 872



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Thames Water: 
No water supply infrastructure issues envisaged.  
No wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
Current wastewater network in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand anticipated from this 
development. Drainage infrastructure is likely to be required to ensure sufficient capacity is brought forward 
ahead of the development. In the first instance a drainage strategy would be required from the developer to 
support the development. We are also likely to request a Grampian planning condition to ensure the 
infrastructure is in place ahead of occupation of the development. 
 
Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been identified as a strategic issue within Compton, 
therefore an integrated Water Supply and Drainage Strategy would be required for this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council would like to see COM004 developed and the green infrastructure (cricket pitch) 
protected. Allocation of this site would be supported by the Parish Council.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

• Higher housing number than SPD 
• Flooding and sewerage system capacity 
• Access and traffic 

 
Proposed Submission consultation key issue 
 

• Principle of development – commits to small business but provides no substance.  
• Employment – no research into what types of business would be appropriate. 
• Heritage – policy should include requirement for conservation area to be enhanced/conserved. 

Support for archaeological DBA.  
• Highways and Transport – potential to join up footpaths/local routes.  
• Infrastructure – Thames Water suggests drainage strategy required.  
• Landscape – site appropriate due to brownfield status. Should be higher density.  
• Site promoter – stresses advantages of site. Site could deliver 300 dwellings with additional land to 

maximise potential.  
 

 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
This site would offer the opportunity to develop an existing brownfield site outside of a settlement boundary 
that could positively impact on the built environment and enhance the sites setting within the village and 
wider AONB.  
 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly education, public transport options are limited and car 
dependency will most likely be high given the rural location of Compton. There are, however, opportunities 
for walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a recreation ground within the 
village to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
Redevelopment of the site in accordance with the adopted SPD would provide positive benefits for 
environmental sustainability in terms of enhancing green infrastructure and biodiversity on the site. The 
proximity of the site to the Conservation Area and a number of listed buildings also provides opportunities 
to enhance the character of the local historic environment. There would be positive benefits to 
environmental sustainability through the decontamination of the site.  
 
Given the site’s location within open downland the landscape impact of any redevelopment is vitally 
important. The SPD and Landscape Assessment for the site demonstrate that excluding certain areas from 
development could make a positive contribution to the landscape character.  
 
The southern edge of the site is located within Flood Zone 2 and 3. In addition, the site is at risk from 
surface water flooding and groundwater flooding; however this part of the site is not included in the SPD as 
part of the developable area of the site and the promoters of the site have said this area will not be built on.  
 
The site is a brownfield employment site and is proposed to be redeveloped for primarily housing with some 

Page 873



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

employment development appropriate to its rural location resulting in an overall neutral/positive impact on economic 
sustainability.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed by the agent to be developed in accordance with the adopted SPD for the site.  
 

 
 
 

Page 874



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM006 Site Address:  Mayfield Farm, Cheseridge Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 14 dwellings (0.68ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
- Relationship to settlement (not adjacent to the settlement boundary) 
- Groundwater and surface water flood risk  
- Access concerns 
- AONB – Landscape Assessment would be required 
 
The site is categorised as Not Currently Developable within the SHLAA and therefore excluded from site selection opportunity due to 
the relationship of the site to the settlement.  
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: Development here would extend the village too far. Flood risk is a concern.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Assessment 
Required 

Due to location in AONB a landscape assessment 
is required.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable Y Poorly related to the settlement  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any Yes response will rule the site out 
  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 875



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM007 Site Address:  Land between Cheseridge Road and Ilsley Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 26 dwellings (1.3ha at 30dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Flooding (within FZ3).  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: Development on this site would extend the village too far. Flood risk on the site is a concern.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y 
Flood risk on the site means that it is not suitable 
for development.  Flood Zone 3 covers a large part 
of the site. 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A 

Landscape assessment has not been carried out 
as the site is already excluded on flood risk 
grounds 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 876



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM008 Site Address:  Rear of Mayfield Cottages, Ilsley Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 10 dwellings (0.5ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Flooding (within FZ3).  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Site is very open and landscape impact would need to be considered. Flood risk on the site is a 
concern.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y 
Flood risk on the site means that it is not suitable 
for development. Flood Zone 3 covers a large part 
of the site. 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A 

Landscape assessment has not been carried out 
as the site is already excluded on flood risk 
grounds 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the existing settlement boundary of 
Compton.  

* Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 877



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM009 Site Address:  Land between Ilsley Road and Churn Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 56 dwellings (2.81ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
 
- Landscape assessment indicates development on this site would fail to conserve or enhance the special qualities or natural beauty 
of the AONB. 
- The development of the site in conjunction with COM004, which is an identified opportunity site within the Core Strategy, would 
result in a scale of development which would be inappropriate in scale for the role and function of Compton. 

 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site off Ilsley Road would be difficult and access via Churn Road would not be desirable 
given its rural nature. Increased traffic on Churn Road could have a negative impact on the cricket pitch 
should improvements to the road be required. However, a portion of this site is seen as the most suitable 
option (between COM011 and COM010) assuming access issues can be overcome.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) Y 

Landscape assessment indicates development on 
this site would fail to conserve or enhance the 
special qualities or natural beauty of the AONB.  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N The site in conjunction with COM004 would be 
inappropriate is scale. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Site is adjacent to settlement boundary 

*Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 878



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM010 Site Address:  Land to the west of Churn Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 13 dwellings (0.67ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
 
- Site is located within the AONB and part of the site would be suitable for development subject to requirements set out in the 

Landscape Assessment therefore a Landscape Assessment would  be required 
- Potential contamination issues (concern raised by Parish Council) 
- Groundwater flood risk 
 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: Contamination issues with this site and access via Churn Road is undesirable.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

Assessment 
Required 

P 

Location in AONB therefore a Landscape 
Assessment is required.  
Part of COM010 would be suitable for development 
subject to requirements to conserve and enhance 
the AONB as set out in the landscape assessment 
(2015) 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Site is adjacent to the settlement boundary.  

*Any ‘Yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent/Un
known 

Comments 

Settlement Boundary   A  

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y Part of the site is within a groundwater emergence 
zone 

Surface water flood risk N  
Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land Y Historic landfill 
Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues Y Access to the site is poor  
Highway network suitability U Highways not consulted  

Public Transport network Y 

Regular bus service to and from Newbury. Bus 
service extends to Harwell Business Centre during 
peak journeys. Approx 2 hourly service between 
Newbury and Harwell. Service may be more limited 
in the evening if returning from Harwell.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
Pavements are present throughout the village, 
although access from the site into the village may 
not have.  

Landscape 
Located in AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core N/A  

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 879



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
Strategy  LSS) 
Other N/A  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
amenity space nearby Y Site is close to the recreation ground 

Rights of Way affected A  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play facilities at the recreation 
ground 

Ecology / 
Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species A Bird, Reptile and Bat surveys required 
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N Site is not that well related to the centre of the 
village.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage 

Archaeology N  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y  
Wastewater Y  
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) N  

AWE consultation 
Zone 

Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway 
line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area Y  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other   

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
COM011, COM009, COM004  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  N/A 

 

2 

Page 880



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
Site ID: COM010 Site Address: Land to the west of Churn Road, Compton Development Potential:  13 dwellings (0.67ha at 20dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ Good access to recreation ground 
and countryside  

The site’s location to the 
north west east of Compton 
provides opportunities for 
walking and cycling, as well 
as easy access to local 
services and facilities. 
Therefore, in terms of 
environmental and social 
sustainability, development 
of the site would have a 
positive impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ Good access to recreation ground 
and countryside  

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+  

Good access to secondary and 
primary schools, with some local job 
opportunities. Loss of the Pirbright 
Institute will reduce local 
employment opportunities 

The Pirbright Institute site 
should be redeveloped in line 
with the adopted SPD which 
should result in mixed use 
development and therefore 
provide a level of local 
employment. 

The site is located close to 
employment and education 
as well as other services 
and facilities within 
Compton. The site also has 
access to the strategic road 
network (A34), although 
height restrictions for heavy 
goods vehicles exist. The 
site could have a positive 
impact on the district’s 
economic and social 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 

Limited public transport access 
(regular 2 hourly bus service linking 
Compton and Newbury). 
Opportunities for walking and cycling 
to access local services and 
facilities. 

 

Access to public transport 
is limited but the village is 
served by a regular 2 
hourly bus service. The 
site’s proximity to local 
services and facilities will 
encourage walking or 
cycling but car dependency 
will be high.  Site is unlikely 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 

Some of the approach roads to 
the village have weight of 
height restrictions 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

P
age 881



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

potential to improve road safety. to have any impact on 
environmental or economic 
sustainability. 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiverity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? Bird, Reptile and Bat surveys 
required.  

Bird, Reptile and Bat 
surveys required. 
 
The site is located within 
the AONB and is 
constrained by potential 
visual and landscape harm 
to the AONB and 
settlement pattern which 
could and has the potential 
to negatively impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- / ? 

Located within the AONB. Further 
assessment required. Only part of 
the relatively enclosed small field 
would be suitable for development 
and subject to requirements to 
conserve and enhance the AONB as 
set out in the landscape assessment. 

Mitigation measures set out in 
the Landscape Assessment : 
• Development should be in 

the form of a continuation of 
the linear cottages to the 
south 

• No development of the 
higher ground to the north 
and north west 

• Plant new hedgerow of trees 
to the western edge, linking 
two areas of 
woodland/scrub. 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

The site is unlikely to have 
an impact on any aspect of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 Modern land use likely to have 
removed all archaeology  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact on air 

quality  
It is unlikely that the site 
would have an impact on 
any aspect of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on noise 

levels  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on soil 

quality  

2 

P
age 882



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on water 

quality.   

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? -  Greenfield site  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability. 
 
Flood risk on the site 
means that there could be 
a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

-  Part of the site is within a 
Groundwater Emergence Zone 

Sustainable urban drainage 
techniques (SuDS) should be 
used to mitigate the effect of 
any potential flooding. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing would have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is Greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing. No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site will have 
a neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. 

 

3 

P
age 883



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Site Summary 
There are no significantly positive or negative effects. Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly education, public transport options are limited and car dependency will be 
high. There are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close proximity of open countryside and a recreation ground to help promote a healthy active lifestyle.  
 
The site’s location within the AONB could have an impact on the landscape and settlement pattern and therefore a Landscape Assessment would be required. Only part of the 
relatively enclosed small field would be suitable for development and subject to requirements to conserve and enhance the AONB as set out in the Landscape Assessment. The site 
is at risk from groundwater as part of it lies within a Groundwater Emergence Zone. Both these factors combined with the greenfield nature of the site could result in negative impact 
on environmental sustainability.  
 
The development of the site for housing would have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term.  
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 

4 

P
age 884



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: COM010 Site Address: Land to the west of Churn 
Road, Compton 

Development 
Potential:  

13 dwellings 
(0.67ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 This site will not be considered for allocation in the DPD 
 
Justification: 
A Flood Risk Study undertaken to inform the Pirbright Institute SPD showed groundwater flooding in 
Compton to be complex and closely related to groundwater levels and rainfall/river flows. Compton village 
experienced flooding recently in 2000, 2001, 2007 and 2014. Part of COM010 falls within a groundwater 
emergence zone and appropriate mitigation would be required. A landscape assessment considered 
COM010 in combination with COM009 and COM011 and concluded that much of the site is not suitable for 
development and is constrained by potential visual and landscape harm to the AONB and the settlement 
pattern. Only part of COM010, a relatively enclosed small field in the north east, would be suitable and 
subject to requirements to conserve and enhance the AONB. 
 
COM004 is the only site to be allocated in Compton. It provides the opportunity to redevelop a brownfield 
site which relates well to the existing settlement. The re-use of a brownfield site is a priority in national and 
local planning policy taking precedent over Greenfield. COM004 provides an opportunity for regeneration of 
a large site and to reduce its impact on the landscape and AONB which in part is visually prominent and 
detracts from the character of the village. Further planning gains would be achieved through 
decontamination of the site, providing community space and green infrastructure, and a level of 
employment use.  Site COM004 is an identified opportunity site within the Core Strategy and has an 
adopted SPD for the site, it is therefore a strategically preferred site for development. The site is the only 
site to be allocated in Compton and is significantly larger than would normally be expected for a Service 
Village, and therefore no other sites will be allocated within the village. 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Compton sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located close to both the M4 
and A34 corridors running east west and north south.  There are also good road links into Newbury and the 
village is served by a regular 2 hourly bus service.  
 
The site is located adjacent to Compton giving easy access to local services, facilities and the open 
countryside. The site’s proximity to local services will encourage walking or cycling. It is recognised that 
there will be a degree of car dependency given the location of the village. 
 
Landscape:  
The site is located within the AONB and therefore a Landscape Assessment will be required. Landscape 
work undertaken following the Preferred Options consultation considered COM010 in combination with 
COM009 and COM011. The assessment concluded that only part of COM010 would be suitable for 
development subject to the following requirements to conserve and enhance the AONB: 

• Development should be in the form of a continuation of the linear cottages to the south. 
• Development should keep off of higher ground to the north and north west. 
• A new hedgerow with hedgerow trees should be planted to the western edge, linking two areas of 

woodland / scrub. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site partially falls within a groundwater emergence zone so SuDS techniques would need to be 
deployed to mitigate against the potential impact of flooding should the site be developed.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Not specifically consulted. However, the site’s proximity to local services will encourage walking or cycling. 
The village is served by a regular 2 hourly bus service linking the village to Newbury. There are bus stops 
near the site however they will need to be connected to the site with additional footways. 
 
Ecology: 
Bird, Reptile and Bat surveys would be required. 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

Page 885



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Archaeology: 
No impact on archaeology - modern land use likely to have removed all archaeology 
 
Education: 
Compton Primary School is close to capacity with no capacity on the site to expand further. Secondary 
school provision is manageable.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No issues raised.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No issues raised.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
Site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
Raised issues of groundwater emergence zone and historic landfill adjacent.  
 
Thames Water: 
Not specifically consulted, but did not raise any infrastructure concerns in relation to water supply or waste 
water capability on site COM004. Concern has been raised in relation to the wastewater network capacity 
on site COM004. 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council feels that contamination issues with this site and access via Churn Road is undesirable. 
 
Preferred Options consultation key issues: 

• No comments received 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significantly positive or negative effects.  
 
Whilst the site is well located for services, particularly education, public transport options are limited and car 
dependency will be high. There are, however, opportunities for walking and cycling. The site is in close 
proximity of open countryside and a recreation ground to help promote a healthy active lifestyle.  
 
The site’s location within the AONB could have an impact on the landscape and settlement pattern and 
therefore a Landscape Assessment would be required. Only part of the relatively enclosed small field would be suitable 
for development and subject to requirements to conserve and enhance the AONB as set out in the Landscape 
Assessment.  The site is at risk from groundwater as part of it lies within a Groundwater Emergence Zone. 
Both these factors combined with the greenfield nature of the site could result in negative impact on 
environmental sustainability.  
 
The development of the site for housing would have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not 
seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
Residential of a form and scale similar to the existing properties. Agent confirmed that site is available.  
 
 
 

Page 886



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: COM011 Site Address:  Land to the north of Ilsley Road, Compton 
 
Development Potential: 10 dwellings (0.52 at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issues:  
- Site is located within the AONB and a Landscape Assessment indicates that development would not be suitable raising potential 

visual and landscape harm to the AONB and settlement pattern. therefore a Landscape Assessment would  be required 
- Ground water flood risk 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council would not like to see this site developed as it would infill the area between the existing 
settlement and the small cluster of properties by Down House. This would extend the village too far along 
a busy road. Access to the site is also a concern.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Assessment 
Required 

 
Y 

Location in AONB meant that a Landscape 
assessment is required.  
 
Landscape Assessment indicates that the site is 
not suitable for development and is constrained by 
potential visual and landscape harm to the AONB 
and the settlement boundary. 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Site is adjacent to settlement boundary. 

*Any Yes will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent/ 
Unknown 

Comments 

Settlement Boundary   A  

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk Y Groundwater emergence zone  
Surface water flood risk N  
Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues Y Access to the site is poor  
Highway network suitability U Highways not consulted 

Public Transport network Y 

Regular bus service to and from Newbury. Bus 
service extends to Harwell Business Centre 
during peak journeys. Approx 2 hourly service 
between Newbury and Harwell. Service may be 
more limited in the evening if returning from 
Harwell.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
Pavements are present throughout the village, 
although access from the site into the village may 
not have.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  

Settlement: Compton Parish:  Compton 

1 

Page 887



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y Site is close to the recreation ground 

Rights of Way N   

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to the play facilities at the recreation 
ground 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N/A  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N Site is not that well related to the centre of the 
village.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses  N  

Heritage 

Archaeology N  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply Y  
Wastewater Y  
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) N  

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area Y  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N/A  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
 COM009, COM010 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  N/A 

 

2 

Page 888



Great Shefford Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 889



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: GSH001 Site Address:  Land west of Spring Meadows, Great Shefford 
 
Development Potential: 16 dwellings (0.81ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
Key Issue: 
- Flooding. While not officially in an EA flood risk area the site flooded in Jan/Feb 2014 

 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council has previously objected to this site. There is concern that development here would 
impact on residents in Spring Meadows. Flooding is seen as the main issue, with access, highways and a 
lack of public transport services also of concern.  

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N  

Landscape Assessment indicated development in 
this location could be acceptable, with restriction of 
development in the northern most corner of the 
site.   

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within Settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

 * Any Yes response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 

Groundwater emergence zone. Groundwater 
modelling carried out in 2014/15 indicates that 
part of the site is within a groundwater flood risk 
area.  

Surface water flood risk A  
Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N/A  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U Access can be achieved from the end of Spring 
Meadows cul-de-sac.  

Highway network suitability  

Development would generate approximately 96 
daily vehicle movements, including about 10 
during the 08:00 to 09:00 AM peak. Traffic from 
the site is not considered to have a significant 
impact on the highway and travel network.  

Public Transport network U 
2 hourly service between Newbury and 
Lambourn. Service times would limit the use of 
public transport to access employment.  

Footways/Pavements N The verge leading up to the site would need to be 
turned into a footway.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N/A  
Green Infrastructure Open Space / Playing field / Y Site is close to the recreation ground 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Great Shefford Parish:  Great Shefford 

 

Page 890



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
Amenity space nearby 
Rights of Way affected N  
Play areas nearby Y Site is close to play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species  N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement Y  
Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) N High risk of contamination to groundwater.  

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area Y  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
 N/Aone 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)   

 

 

Page 891



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
Site ID: GSH001 Site Address: Land east of Spring Meadows, Great Shefford Development Potential:  16 dwellings (0.81ha at 20dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ The site is within walking distance of 
local facilities.   

The site has good access 
to the open countryside 
which could encourage 
walking and cycling. 
However there are limited 
sports facilities within the 
village itself. Development 
of the site could have  a 
positive impact on social 
sustainability.  

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 There are no formal sports facilities  
within the village.    

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on GI  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  0 

Site is unlikely to improve access to 
services and facilities as there are 
only a limited number of facilities 
within the village 

 

The limited number of 
services and facilities within 
the village means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on economic sustainability.  

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 
There are a limited number of 
facilities within the village, which 
means that walking and cycling are 
the only options for local amenities.  

 

Likely that there will be a 
degree of car dependency 
within the village due to the 
location and limited range 
of services and facilities on 
offer within the site. This 
could have a negative 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on 
biodiversity or geodiversity.   

It is unlikely that there 
would be an impact on any 
element of sustainability.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact as long as 
recommendations in the Landscape 
Assessment are met.  

Development would need to 
protect and enhance the 
following: 
- retain existing boundary 

vegetation 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Great Shefford Parish:  Great Shefford 

 

P
age 892



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

- buildings kept off northern 
most corner of the site 

- new planting to integrate 
buildings into the 
landscape and soften 
settlement edge.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

It is unlikely that there 
would be an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  0 Unlikely to have an impact  

It is unlikely that there 
would be an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on noise levels? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The Greenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? ?  

The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design  

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques development 
could have a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability.  

 

P
age 893



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

The site is adjacent to an area of 
surface water flood risk. However, 
significant flooding of Great Shefford 
occurred during Jan/Feb 2014 
blocking the majority of access 
routes into the village.  

 

Flood risk within the village 
means that there could be 
a negative impact on all 
aspects of sustainability. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 
There are no significant sustainability effects on site. The site is close to local facilities and services within the village and to the countryside which would encourage walking and 
cycling, with a positive impact on sustainability. The site is in a surface water flood risk area. Flooding has a negative impact on all elements of sustainability, some mitigation 
measures may be able to improve the situation. Great Shefford itself has a history of flooding, which many mean that mitigation measures do not remove the risk, and subsequent 
impact on sustainability.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
At preferred options stage it was assessed that, due to the severe flooding in the village which resulted in the village being largely cut off during the floods of early 2014, no additional 

 

P
age 894



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
development is proposed for Great Shefford. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB – Great Shefford 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 

 

P
age 895



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: GSH001 Site Address: Land west of Spring 
Meadows, Great Shefford 

Development 
Potential:  

16 dwellings 
(0.81ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
Due to the flood risk within the village, and history of flooding resulting in all roads in and out of the village 
being closed (Jan/Feb 2014).  
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north east of Great Shefford, close to local services and facilities within the village, 
including the primary school.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in the AONB. The Landscape Assessment indicates that development on the site would not 
cause significant harm to the landscape character, and subject to a number of mitigation measures 
development would be acceptable.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1. It is adjacent to an area of surface water flood risk. Great Shefford suffered from 
flooding, and during Jan/Feb 2014 the village was largely cut off with the majority of roads into and out of 
the village closed. Groundwater modelling carried out in 2014/15 indicates that part of the site is within a 
groundwater flood risk area. An FRA would be required and SUDs provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Traffic impact from development here is not expected to have a significant impact on the highway and 
travel network.  
 
Access to the site would be from the end of Spring Meadows. The verge leading up to the site would need 
to be turned into a footway. 
 
There is a two hourly bus service to Lambourn and Newbury.  
 
Ecology: 
No comments made on this site 
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues.  
 
Education: 
No comments made on this site 
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made on this site 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
Environment Agency not consulted on this site. The site is in an area at high risk of groundwater 
contamination.  
 
Thames Water: 
Thames Water not consulted on this site.  

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Great Shefford Parish:  Great Shefford 

Page 896



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council have discussed this site in the past, objecting to any development on the site due to the 
impact on residents on Spring Meadows, the potential for increased flood risk, access and highway issues 
being the main concerns. The lack of public transport services in the village is also seen as an issue.  
 
Preferred Options consultation key issue: 

• Flooding 
• Ecology/Biodiversity 
• Highways and Transport 
• Settlement Boundary 

 
Comments received from the site promoter objecting to the ‘unreasonable and unsound’ reason for ruling 
out this deliverable site due to flooding. The site promoter also states that housing development would help 
maintain the viability of local services and be in keeping with the West Berkshire spatial strategy.  
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
effects. The site is close to local facilities and services within the village and to the countryside which would 
encourage walking and cycling, with a positive impact on sustainability. The site is in a surface water flood 
risk area. Flooding has a negative impact on all elements of sustainability; some mitigation measures may 
be able to improve the situation. Great Shefford itself has a history of flooding, which may mean that 
mitigation measures do not remove the risk, and subsequent impact on sustainability.  
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is being promoted for approximately 25 dwellings including affordable housing. At preferred 
options stage the site was ruled out due to the severe flooding in the village in 2014. 
 
 
 

Page 897



Hermitage Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 898



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER001 Site Address:  Land off Charlotte Close, Hermitage 
 

Development Potential: Approximately 15 dwellings 16 dwellings 
(0.8ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- AONB – Landscape Sensitivity Assessment concludes that development on the site would be acceptable subject to mitigation 

measures set out within the Assessment. 
- Flood risk (SSmall part of the site is within an area of surface water flood risk and critical drainage area – Flood Risk Assessment 

would be required 
- Distance to local amenity space  
- An extended phase 1 Habitat Survey required 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The site is important to prevent flooding on Lipscomb Close and the surrounding area. A drain runs 
through the site.  Access to the site could be an issue, especially if access is required from Charlotte 
Close. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N  

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N  
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y Small part of the site is within an area of surface 
water flood risk 

Critical Drainage Area Y Small part of the site is within a Critical Drainage 
Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues N 

The Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
commented that access, with appropriate sight 
lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre, can be obtained onto 
Station Road if this site is developed in 
conjunction with HER004.. This access would 
remain acceptable should part of HER004 be 
developed in conjunction with HER001. 
 
Regarding a second access from Charlotte Close, 
the Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
advised that: 
 
“To accommodate additional traffic from any 
further housing, sight lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metres 
would be required as per Manual for Streets on to 
the B4009.  
 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 899



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

As requested I have visited the site and have 
taken pictures from the centre of Charlotte Close 
2.4 metres back from the give way line to provide 
a view of the sight lines.  
 
Usually sight lines go to the kerb line on the site 
side of the road. However in line with Manual for 
Streets, the sight line to the left could be to the 
centre line, as a pedestrian refuge island would 
prevent vehicles overtaking here. I therefore 
consider that this sight line can be provided. 
 
The sight lines to the right are obstructed by some 
trees, however the trees are within the public 
highway so could be removed if required.  
 
I therefore conclude that I have no objection to 
additional housing being accessed through 
Charlotte Close.” 
 

Highway network suitability Y 

The Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
commented that if this site and part of HER004 
were developed together, they can accommodate 
up to 30 houses that will generate circa 180 daily 
vehicle movements including circa 18 during the 
08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
The impact of additional traffic generation may be 
limited due to the size of the development. 
Following a review of the Road Traffic Accident 
data from the previous 5 years it is concluded that 
there are no safety issues with the B4009 
Newbury Road / Priors Court Road / Station Road 
mini-roundabout. although there are some 
concerns regarding the B4009 Newbury Road / 
Priors Court Road / Station Road mini 
roundabout. Work may need to be undertaken to 
ensure no detrimental impact.  
 
It would seem that access with appropriate sight 
lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre can be obtained onto 
Station Road. 

Public Transport network Y 
Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury. There are bus 
stops near to the site 

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are pavements along the main routes 
through the village and footways near to the site. 
There are no pavements along Station Road. 

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other n/a N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby N  

Rights of Way affected N  
Play areas nearby Y The site is close to local play facilities for children.  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey required 
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) n/a  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A Y Site is well related to existing settlement 
Incompatible adjacent land uses N Site is well related to existing settlement  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  
Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 
Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes Y Overhead cables cross the site.  

Water supply N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 

Page 900



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

concerns 

Wastewater N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site partially underlain by gravel. Policies 1 and 2 
of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan for 
Berkshire need to be considered.  

Other N  
Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
HER004  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  n/a 

 
  

Page 901



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER001 
Site Address: Land off Charlotte Close, Hermitage 

Development Potential:  
16 dwellings (0.8ha at 20dph) 
Approximately 15 dwellings (0.8ha 
at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

There are limited facilities in 
Hermitage however these can be 
accessed through walking and 
cycling. The site has good access to 
the countryside. 

 

The site’s location to the 
south of Hermitage gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
There are outdoor sports facilities at 
Hermitage Primary School. But these 
are not publically available.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, church 
hall, pub, shop and play facilities in 
Hermitage. There are limited no 
employment opportunities within the 
settlement boundary 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are limited  
employment opportunities 
within the settlement 
boundary.  
 
Bus services are 
intermittent.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
on the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0  

Limited public transport access 
(there is an intermittent service 
between Harwell and Newbury 
during weekdays) although there are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
to access limited local services and 

 

There will be a degree of 
car dependency within the 
village due to the limited 
public transport services. 
However, local services 
and facilities are within 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

 

P
age 902



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

facilities. walking or cycling distance. 
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
 

No known impact .habitats  
 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 
An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey is required  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
element of sustainability as 
long as the LA mitigation 
measures are 
implemented. 
The mitigation measures 
will help to reduce the 
potential negative impact 
on the environmental 
sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 
 

The site is within the AONB. 
 
A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) has concluded that the site 
relates well to the settlement pattern 
and that development could be 
accommodated, and retain small 
scale pattern and retain small scale 
pattern and not intrude on the wider 
landscape. Mitigation and protection 
are proposed in the Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment should the 
site be developed. 
 

The Landscape Assessment 
LSA identifies the following 
protection and enhancement 
measures: 
 
• Tree line along the access 

to Hermitage Green 
• On site trees 
• Hedgerow boundary along 

the eastern boundary 
• Views through or over the 

built form to the woodland 
beyond 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
+ 
 

Well related to settlement 
 
 

Development should be 
sensitively designed 

Development of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on the built 
environment and therefore 
positively impacting on 
environmental 
sustainability. unlikely to an 
impact on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment  

 

P
age 903



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
District’s cultural assests 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is uUnlikely to have an 
impact on access to the historic 
environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on air quality 

Mitigation measures can 
include:  DGood design, buffer 
zones to keep dwellings away 
from source 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to impact upon any 
element of sustainability 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on noise levels  

Mitigation measures can 
include:  Good dDesign, buffer 
zones to keep dwellings away 
from source, fencing 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on soil quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on water quality.   

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is greenfield   

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies within the Ccore 
Sstrategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
 

A small part of Tthe site is at risk 
from surface water flooding and a 
small part of the site also sits within a  
critical drainage area 

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures, including 
SUDs, would be required.  
 

Whilst it is considered the 
risk is small, Fflooding can 
have an impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
An FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk. The sequential test in 
the NPPF states that sites 
with a risk of flooding 

 

P
age 904



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  
should only be considered 
if there are no suitable 
alternatives.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Site Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. Development on this site 
has the potential to improve the built environment through a well designed scheme.  
 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the site being at risk from surface water flooding and a small part of the site being located within a critical drainage area. There is 
also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability and due to the sites location within the AONB. However, a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been 
carried out which concludes that the site has the potential to deliver housing without creating an adverse impact on the landscape, subject to a series of mitigation measures set out 
within the LSA and outlined above.  
FWhilst the risk is considered to be small, flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability. , and the location within the AONB means that development has the 
potential to impact upon environmental sustainability Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 

 

P
age 905



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 906



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HER001 Site Address: 
Land off Charlotte Close, 
Hermitage Development 

Potential:  

Approximately 15 
dwellings 16 
dwellings (0.8ha at 
20 dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB a Landscape Sensitivity Aassessment has been carried out and indicates 
that development on the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject to mitigation measures to 
ensureing the protection of existing landscape features. 
 
A small part of the site is within an area of The site is at risk from surface water flood risking and a small 
part of the site is within a Critical Drainage Area. As a result a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be 
required to support a planning application, along with the implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation 
measures. ; nonetheless, the Core Strategy requires the use of SuDS techniques in new developments. 
In addition, an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Hermitage sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located in close proximity to 
both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south. The site is located adjacent to the 
southern edge of Hermitage, adjoining the settlement boundary.to the south of Hermitage and adjoins the 
settlement boundary on the northern boundary. The site is contained by trees and comprises scrubland.  
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that development on the site would be acceptable 
as long as enhancement and mitigation measures as listed in the assessment are adhered to. 
 
Flood Risk: 
TA small part of the site is at risk from surface water flooding and part of the site sits within a critical 
drainage area. A FRA and appropriate mitigation, including SUDs, would be required as part of any 
planning application.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
The Council’s Highways and Transport team have advised in respect of this site and concluded that and 
part of HER004 thatthe impact of additional traffic may be limited due to the size of development. Concern 
had previously been expressed although they have concerns regarding the B4009 Newbury Road / Priors 
Court Road / Station Road mini roundabout however it has been confirmed that having reviewed the Road 
Traffic Accident data from the previous five years, there is no safety issue at this roundabout.  Work may 
need to be undertaken to ensure no detrimental impactIt would seem that access with appropriate sight 
lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre can be obtained onto Station Road. 
 
An access onto Station Road would remain appropriate if part of HER004 is developed in conjunction with 
HER001. 
 
An access from Charlotte Close would be acceptable. The Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
advised that to accommodate additional traffic from any further housing, sight lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metres 
would be required as per Manual for Streets on to the B4009. Usually sight lines go to the kerb line on the 
site side of the road. However in line with Manual for Streets, the sight line to the left could be to the centre 
line, as a pedestrian refuge island would prevent vehicles overtaking here. It is considered that this sight 
line can be provided. The sight lines to the right are obstructed by some trees, however the trees are within 
the public highway so could be removed if required. 
 
Ecology: 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 907



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species were not adversely affected.An extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey will be 
required. 
Archaeology: 
No impact. 
 
Education: 
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The site existing primary 
school could have 1.5 forms of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is likely to 
be full in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Would be niceEducation see advantages to expanding the school to 2 forms of entry in the future, but this 
would require additional land.  
 
Potential need for secondary provision.  
 
The school is very popular, many people move into the village to get into the school. 
 
Environmental Health: 
No known issues.comments made in respect of this site. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Site partially underlain by gravel. Policies 1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire are 
therefore relevant. Relatively large scale mineral extraction in the area historically suggests that the 
deposits in this area might be extensive. Considered realistic possibility for the option to use minerals on 
site as part of construction or partial prior extraction (depending on depth and quality of deposit).  
 
No known waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply or wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The site is important to prevent flooding on Lipscomb Close and the surrounding area. A drain runs through 
the site.  Access to the site could be an issue, especially if access is required from Charlotte Close. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 

• Housing distribution 
• Environment 
• Highways and Transport 
• Infrastructure 
• Flooding 
• General comments 

 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues: 

• DPD not legally compliant. 
• Principle of development – location suitable and available. 
• Design and density – developable area too small. The site could accommodate more dwellings 

without landscape impact. 
• Highways and transport – access could be achieved from Charlotte Close, potential connection 

between HER001 and HER004 too narrow, linkages with HER004 an after-thought. 
• Infrastructure – no water supply or waste water concerns. 
• Landscape – site does not contribute to landscape character/quality of AONB. 

Page 908



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the site being at risk from surface water flooding and a 
small part of the site being located within a critical drainage area. There is also a potentially negative 
impact on environmental sustainability due to the sites location within the AONB. However, a Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out which concludes that the site has the potential to deliver 
housing without creating an adverse impact on the landscape, subject to a series of mitigation measures 
set out within the LSA and outlined above.  
 
Whilst the risk is considered to be small, flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and part of the site 
being located within a critical drainage area and the sites location within the AONB. Flooding has the 
potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, and the location within the AONB means that 
development has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoter has advised that the site has capacity for up to 30 residential dwellings, possibly 
comprising a mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced housing.  
 
The site promoter’s consultation response at the Preferred Options stage outlines support for the allocation 
of the site. 
 
The site promoter’s consultation response at the Proposed Submission stage outline support for the 
allocation but suggests changes to policy HSA25, namely that the development potential on the site is 
increased and there should be an additional access (from Charlotte Close). 
 
 
 
 

Page 909



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER004 Site Address:  Land to the south east of The Old Farm House, Hermitage 
 
Development Potential: Approx 10 4 dwellings (0.572ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- AONB – Landscape Sensitivity Assessment concludes that only part of the site is suitable for development  
- Flood risk -(a small part of the site is within a surface water flood risk area and a large part of the site is within a critical drainage 

area) A Flood Risk Assessment would  be required as part of any planning application 
- Distance from local amenity space 
- Desk based archaeological assessment required 
- An extended phase 1 Habitat Survey  and Great Crested Newts Survey required 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The site is important to prevent flooding on Lipscomb Road and the surrounding area. A drain runs 
through the site. Access to the site could be an issue, especially if access is required from Charlotte 
Close. The Parish Council have approached the land owners to see if the land not suitable for 
development could be used for allotments. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) P 

The LSA concludes that oOnly a small part to the 
west of the site is considered suitable for 
development on landscape grounds. 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is aAdjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N  
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y Small part of the site within area of surface water 
flood risk 

Critical Drainage Area Y Most of the site is within a Critical Drainage Area 

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access to be provided by Lipscombe close. The 
Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
commented that access could be gained off 
Station Road , with appropriate sight lines of 2.4 x 
43.0 metre, can be obtained onto Station Road if 
this site is developed in conjunction with HER001. 
 
An access via Lipscomb Close is also a 
possibility. 

Highway network suitability Y 

The Council’s Highways and Transport team have 
commented that part of this site and part of 
HER001 if developed together with HER001, can 
accommodate up to 30 houses that will generate 
circa 180 daily vehicle movements including circa 
18 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
The impact of additional traffic generation may be 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

 

Page 910



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

limited due to the size of the development 
although there are some concerns regarding the 
B4009 Newbury Road / Priors Court Road / 
Station Road mini roundabout. Work may need to 
be undertaken to ensure no detrimental impact.. 
Following a review of the Road Traffic Accident 
data from the previous 5 years it is concluded that 
there are no safety issues with the B4009 
Newbury Road / Priors Court Road / Station Road 
mini-roundabout 
 
It would seem that access with appropriate sight 
lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre can be obtained onto 
Station Road. 

Public Transport network Y 
Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury. There are bus 
stops near to the site.  

Footways/Pavements Y 
There are pavements along the main routes 
through the village. There are no pavements 
along Station Road. 

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other n/a N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby N  

Rights of Way affected N  
Play areas nearby Y Site is close to local play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey required. 
Great Crested Newts nearby – Survey required. 

Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) n/a N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A Site is well related to the existing settlement 
Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 

Site has a record of a surviving ridge and furrow, 
a rare feature in West Berks. Historic farmstead 
and railway features. Desk based assessment 
required as part of any planning application 

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Wastewater N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) Y SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N 
Site partially underlain by gravel. Policies 1 and 2 
of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan for 
Berkshire need to be considered. 

Other N  
Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
HER001  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  Unable to confirm the availability of the site n/a 

 
  

 

Page 911



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER004 Site Address: Land to the south east of The Old Farm House, 
Hermitage Development Potential:  Approx 10 dwellings (0.5ha at 20 

dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

There are limited facilities in 
Hermitage however these can be 
accessed through walking and 
cycling. The site has good access to 
the countryside. 

 

The site’s location to the 
south of Hermitage gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 
There are outdoor sports facilities at 
Hermitage Primary School, but these 
facilities are not available publically.  

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, church 
hall, pub, shop and play facilities in 
Hermitage. There are limited no 
employment opportunities within the 
settlement boundary 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are no limited 
employment opportunities 
within the settlement 
boundary.  
 
Bus services are 
intermittent.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
on the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

0 

Limited public transport access 
(there is an intermittent service 
between Harwell and Newbury 
during weekdays) although there are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
to access limited local services and 
facilities.  

 

There will be a degree of 
car dependency within the 
village due to the limited 
public transport services. 
However, local services 
and facilities are within 
walking or cycling distance. 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

 

P
age 912



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? ? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

 

Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? There are Great Crested Newts 
nearby 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. A Great Crested 
Newt Survey will also be 
required to cover all ponds 
within the vicinity of the site. 
Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would 
need to be implemented, to 
ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected 
An Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey is required  

Development of the site 
could impact on 
environmental sustainability 
if mitigation measures are 
not adhered to 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? - 

 

The site is within the AONB.  
 
A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) has concluded that the site as 
a whole should not be pursued, but 
part of the site may be acceptable if 
developed in conjunction with 
HER001 

The Landscape Assessment 
LSA identifies that only a small 
area ofin the north east 
western part of the site (the 
area of land between the public 
house and the access off 
Lipscomb Close) may be 
suitable for development 
together with site HER001 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
+ 
 

Well related to settlement 
 
 

Development should be 
sensitively designed 

Development of the site is 
likely to have a positive 
impact on the built 
environment and therefore 
positively impacting on 
environmental 
sustainability. The impact 
on archaeological features 
is unknown and further 
work will be required, the in 
the form of a Heritage 
Impact Assessment, to 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
Record of a surviving ridge and 
furrow which is a rare feature in West 
Berkshire. Historic farmstead and 
railway features.  

Further exploratory work will be 
required – Heritage Impact 
Assessment 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
the District’s cultural assets. 

 

 

P
age 913



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment  

support a planning 
application should 
development come forward 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on air quality  

Development of this site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
upon any element of 
sustainability 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on noise levels   

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on soil quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on water quality.   

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is greenfield   

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a gGreenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies within the Ccore 
Sstrategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
 

The site is at risk from surface water 
and also lies A large part of the site 
lies within a critical drainage area 
and a small part is within an area of 
surface water flood risk 

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures, including 
SUDs, would be required.  
 

Flooding can have an 
impact on all elements of 
sustainability. An FRA will 
highlight the mitigation 
measures required to 
minimise the risk. The 
sequential test in the NPPF 
states that sites with a risk 
of flooding should only be 
considered if there are no 
suitable alternatives. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 

 

P
age 914



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. Development on this site 
has the potential to improve the built environment through a well designed scheme.  
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the site being at risk from surface water flooding and a large part of the site being located within a critical drainage area. Flooding 
has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the sites location within the AONB. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been 
carried out which concludes that development on the whole site would result in harm to the natural beauty of the AONB, but it may be that a small area in the north west of the site 
(between the public house and the access off Lipscomb Close) could be developed together with HER001.   
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and being located within a critical drainage area and the sites location within the AONB. 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, and the location within the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon environmental 
sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 

 

P
age 915



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 916



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HER004 Site Address: 
Land to the south east of 
Old Farm House, 
Hermitage 

Development 
Potential:  

Approx 10 4 
dwellings (0.5 72ha 
at 20 dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation A small area in the north west of the site (between the public 
house and the access off Lipscomb Close) is recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
The site is well related to the existing settlement, however the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) 
concludes that development on the whole of the site would result in harm to the AONB. The Landscape 
assessment LSA indicates that the site is part of the open gateway to Hermitage from the south. 
Development on the whole site would be unacceptable, but The LSA goes on to state that a small area to 
the north east west of the site would be acceptable if developed together with HER001 (the area of land 
between the public house and the access off Lipscomb Close Road).   
 
A large part of the site lies within a Critical Drainage Area and a small part is within an area of surface 
water flood risk, so a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be required to support a planning application. 
This would ensure the implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigations measures.  
 
In addition, a desk-based archaeological assessment would be required, along with an Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey together with any further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested 
Newt Survey will also be required to cover all ponds within the vicinity of the site. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measures would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Hermitage sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located in close proximity to 
both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south. The site is located adjacent to the 
southern edge of Hermitage, adjoining the settlement boundary.Hermitage sits in a rural location within the 
North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located close to both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and 
north south. The site is located to the south of Hermitage and adjoins the settlement boundary on the north 
east boundary. 
 
Landscape:  
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) indicates that development on the whole site would be 
unacceptable, but with the exception of a small area to the north east west of the site (the area of land 
between the public house and the access off Lipscomb Road) could be developed in conjunction with 
HER001. 
 
Landscape mitigation measures will be required, as set out in the LSA, including a landscape buffer to the 
east of the site. Access to the site to be provided within the developable area of the site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is at risk from surface water and also lies within a critical drainage area. A small part of the site lies 
within an area of surface water flood risk and a large part of the site is within a Critical Drainage Area. A 
FRA and appropriate mitigation measures would be required as part of any planning application. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
Access to the site will be via Lipscombe Close. The Council’s Highways and Transport team have advised 
that part of this site, if the site was to be developed together with HER001, a secondary access could be 
provided from could be accessed off Station Road. Access via Lipscomb Close is also a possibility. in 
respect of this site and part of HER001 that tThe impact of additional traffic generation may be limited due 
to the size of development. Although concern had previously been expressed regarding the B4009 
Newbury Road / Priors Court Road / Station Road mini-roundabout, a review of the Road Traffic Accident 
data from the previous five years indicate there are no safety issues with the roundabout. although they 
have concerns regarding the B4009 Newbury Road / Priors Court Road / Station Road mini roundabout. 
Work may need to be undertaken to ensure no detrimental impact 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 917



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Access with appropriate sight lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre could be obtained onto Station Road. 
 
Ecology: 
Great Crest Newts known to be nearby. An extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together 
with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested Newt Survey will also be 
required to cover all sites within the vicinity of the site. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
An extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would be required. 
 
Archaeology: 
The site has record of a surviving ridge and furrow, a rare feature in West Berkshire. Historic farmstead and 
railway features. A desk based assessment will be required – Heritage Impact Assessment. 
 
Education: 
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The existing primary school 
could have 1.5 forms of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is likely to be full 
in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Education see advantages to expanding the school to 2 forms of entry in the future, but this would require 
additional land.  
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The site could have 1.5 forms 
of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is likely to be full in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Would be nice to expand the school to 2 forms of entry in the future, but this would require additional land.  
 
Potential need for secondary provision.  
 
The school is very popular, many people move into the village to get into the school. 
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made in respect of this site. No known issues. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
Site partially underlain by gravel. Policies 1 and 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire are 
therefore relevant. Relatively large scale mineral extraction in the area historically suggests that the 
deposits in this area might be extensive. Considered realistic possibility for the option to use minerals on 
site as part of construction or partial prior extraction (depending on depth and quality of deposit).  
 
No known waste issues. 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply or wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
 
Parish Council: 
The site is important to prevent flooding on Lipscomb Road and the surrounding area. A drain runs through 
the site. Access to the site could be an issue, especially if access is required from Charlotte Close. The 
Parish Council have approached the land owners to see if the land not suitable for development could be 
used for allotments. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 

• Sustainability 
• Availability and Suitability 
• Landscape 
• Highways and Transport 

Page 918



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues: 

• Design and density – site could accommodate additional dwellings. 
• Heritage – no impact on designated heritage assets, support for archaeological desk-based 

assessment. 
• Highways and transport – potential connection between HER001 and HER004 too narrow to 

accommodate linkages. 
• Infrastructure – no waste water or water supply issues. 
• Landscape – partial development of site appropriate.  

 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. Development on this site has the potential to improve the built environment through 
a well designed scheme.  
 
There are potential negatives due to a small part of the site being at risk from surface water flooding and a 
large part of the site being located within a critical drainage area. Flooding has the potential to impact on all 
elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the sites location 
within the AONB. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out which concludes that 
development on the whole site would result in harm to the natural beauty of the AONB, but it may be that a 
small area in the north west of the site (between the public house and the access off Lipscomb Close) 
could be developed together with HER001.   
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and being located 
within a critical drainage area and the sites location within the AONB. Flooding has the potential to impact 
on all elements of sustainability, and the location within the AONB means that development has the 
potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to 
reduce the impact. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoter has advised that the site could provide approximately 200 dwellings together with 
amenity space and additional landscaping.  
 
Consultation response at the Preferred Options stage identifies support from the site promoters for 
including a small part of the site within the settlement boundary review as recommended within the LSA for 
HER004 and as set out within the HSA DPD at paragraph 5.34.The consultation response outlines that the 
site would have capacity for 14 dwellings to be developed in conjunction with HER001. 
 
Consultation response at proposed submission stage identifies support for the allocation of the site by the 
site promoter, however concerns raised with the indicative inset map that supports policy HSA26. 
 
 
 
 

Page 919



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER007 Site Address:  Land at Doctor’s Row, Doctor’s Lane, Hermitage 
 
Development Potential: 4 dwellings (0.22ha at 20ph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable 
- Automatic exclusion: site is for less than 5 dwellings, which is too small to be allocated as a site. The site is poorly related to the 

existing settlement and not adjacent to the existing settlement boundary. 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: Parish Council did not comment on this site. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  Y  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment not 

undertaken for site due to automatic exclusion 
SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Detached from existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 920



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 
 
 

Site ID: HER009 Site Address:  North of Primary School, Hampstead Norreys Road, 
Hermitage 

 
Development Potential: 28 dwellings (1.4ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
-  AONB – Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) concludes development of the whole site would widen the otherwise narrow 

settlement on the west side of Hampstead Norris Road. Some development on part of the site could be accommodated, subject 
to the mitigation measures set out within the LSA (2014). 

- Flood risk (surface water)Small parts of the site are within an area of surface water flood risk 
- Right of way crosses site 
- Distance from local play facilitiesA desk-based archaeological assessment is required 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Development in this area would ruin the rural aspect of the school. The site and surrounding woodland 
is a wildlife corridor. Traffic issues associated with the school would likely to worsen with development 
here. There are potential issues with flooding around Orchard Close, and sewer flooding has been an 
issue in the past. There are no health services in the village (residents have to travel to Chieveley or 
Chapel Row). This site is seen as the most acceptable, but the road network would need to be 
improved and any development should be low density. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) P Landscape Sensitivity Aassessment indicates part 

of the site has potential for development.  
SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is aAdjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N  
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk Y Small areas of the site are within an area of 
surface water flood risk 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  
Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  
Highway network suitability U  

Public Transport network Y Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury 

Footways/Pavements Y There are pavements along the main routes 
through the village.  

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other n/a N  

Green Infrastructure Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y Site is adjacent to the school playing fields but 

these are not publicly available, and close to 

Spatial Area AONB 
Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  

Chieveley 
& 
Hermitage 

 

Page 921



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

some amenity space on Chapel Lane. The site is 
also close to the new village hall which has a play 
area and amenity green space 

Rights of Way affected Y Right of way crosses southern corner of the site 

Play areas nearby Y N 
The site is some distance from play facilities for 
childrenclose to the new village hall which has a 
play area and amenity green space 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement A Site is well related to the existing settlement 
Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology U Potential archaeological interest. Desk based 
assessment required  

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Wastewater N Thames Water do not envisage any infrastructure 
concerns 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ)  SPZ3 

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
HER010, HER011, HER016  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  n/a 

 
  

 

Page 922



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER009 Site Address: Land north of Hermitage Primary School, Hampstead 
Norreys Road, Hermitage Development Potential:  28 dwellings (1.4ha at 20 dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

There are limited facilities in 
Hermitage however these can be 
accessed through walking and 
cycling. The site has good access to 
the countryside. 

 The site’s location to the 
north of Hermitage gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

There are outdoor sports facilities at 
Hermitage Primary School, but these 
are not publically available.  The site 
is also close to the new village hall 
which has amenity green space and 
a play area 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 0 

The site is adjacent to school playing 
fields. A Public Right of Way crosses 
through the southern part of the site 

Careful design of development 
would be needed to ensure the 
Public Right of Way is not 
adversely impacted upon 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, church 
hall, pub, shop and play facilities in 
Hermitage. There are no limited 
employment opportunities within the 
settlement boundary 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are no limited 
employment opportunities 
within the settlement 
boundary.  
 
Bus services are 
intermittent.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
on the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 

0  
Limited public transport access 
(there is an intermittent service 
between Harwell and Newbury 

 
There will be a degree of 
car dependency within the 
village due to the limited 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley/Hermitage 

 

P
age 923



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

cycling and public 
transport? 

during weekdays) although there are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 
to access limited local services and 
facilities. 

public transport services. 
However, local services 
and facilities are within 
walking or cycling distance. 
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  
 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
 

 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
 

No known habitats impacts 
   

The 
mitigation/enhancement 
measures will help to 
reduce the potential 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 
 

The site falls within the AONB. 
 
A Landscape Character Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA, 2014) has 
advised that the site is locally 
prominent but largely well screened 
from the wider AONB. 
 
Part of the site could be pursued 
considered further as a potential 
housing site subject to the mitigation 
measures set out within the LSA. 
However it notes that development 
would result in the loss of the 
landscape setting of Hermitage 
which has strong links with the wider 
landscape. Development would also 
impact upon the rural character of 
Manor Lane, the footpath crossing 
the site, and the tree belt and hedges 
to the site boundaries.Development 
of the whole site would widen the 
otherwise narrow settlement on the 
west side of Hampstead Norreys 
Road. 
  

A Landscape Character 
AssessmentThe LSA advises 
of the following 
mitigation/enhancement 
measures should part of the 
site be considered further for 
housing development:  
 
• Provision of substantial 

woodland planting to 
contain the western side of 
the settlement  

• The preferred access is via 
the existing gap in the 
hedgerow on Hampstead 
Norrys Road subject to 
assessment of impacts on 
the remaining hedgerow  

• Containment of the 
settlement within a linear 
pattern and on the lower 
ground 

• Sensitive design to 
mitigate any impacts 

• The retention and 
enhancement of existing 
tree belts and hedgerows 

 

P
age 924



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

as well as extensive new 
woodland planting to 
contain the western edge 
of the settlement 

• A full detailed landscape 
and visual impact 
assessment will be 
required to inform the final 
capacity of the site  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

 
0 
 

The site is well related to the existing 
settlement, however, D development 
of the whole site would widen the 
otherwise narrow settlement on the 
west side of Hampstead Norreys 
Road, however it would not extend 
northwards than the existing northern 
edge of Hermitage.  

 Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
element of sustainability, 
however further 
investigation will be 
required through a desk 
based archaeological 
assessment to ensure there 
will be no negative impacts 
on the District’s heritage 
assets 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? Potential archaeological interest  Further desk based 
assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
the District’s cultural assets 

 

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
The site is Uunlikely to have an 
impact on access to the historic 
environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on air quality  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on noise levels   

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on soil quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 The site is unlikely to have an impact 

on water quality.   

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - The site is greenfield   

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to ? The level of impact depends on the 

building materials used, construction 
Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 

 

P
age 925



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

greenhouse gas emissions? methods, transport and design ensure compliance with policies 
within the Ccore Sstrategy. 

techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 
 

TSmall parts of the siteis are at risk 
from surface water flooding 
 

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures, including 
SUDs, would be required.  
 

Whilst it is considered the 
risk is small,Fflooding can 
have an impact on all 
elements of sustainability. 
An FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk.The sequential test in 
the NPPF states that sites 
with a risk of flooding 
should only be considered if 
there are no suitable 
alternatives.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  
The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 

 

 

P
age 926



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 
Summary 

 
 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. There are a number of local 
services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle.  
 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and the sites location within the AONB. Whilst the risk is considered small, flooding has the 
potential to impact on all elements of sustainability. and tThe location of the site within the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon environmental 
sustainability. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out which concludes that development of the whole site would widen the otherwise narrow settlement on 
the west side of Hampstead Norreys Road. Only part of the site could be considered as a potential housing site subject to the implementation of mitigation measures outlined within 
the LSA. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

P
age 927



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HER009 Site Address: 
Land to the north of 
Hermitage Primary School, 
Hampstead Norreys Road, 
Hermitage 

Development 
Potential:  

28 dwellings (1.4ha 
at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 
 
Justification: 
The Landscape Sensitivity Aassessment (LSA, 2014) indicates that the site is locally prominent but largely 
well screened from the AONB. It goes on to state that development would impact on the rural character of 
Manor Lane, impact on the footpath crossing the site and development of the whole site would widen the 
otherwise narrow settlement on the west side of Hampstead Norreys Road. However, it concludes that but 
there is development potential on only part of the site subject to mitigation measures to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB. (subject to further detailed outcomes) 
Adjacent to settlement boundary with dispersed development to the north, south and west. 
 
Small areas of the site are within an area of surface water flood risk, and a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
would be required to ensure appropriate flood mitigation measures are implemented.  
 
It is considered that, given the outcomes of the LSA, development on this site would not be as well related 
to the settlement pattern as HER001. There are other sites within Hermitage which are considered more 
appropriate for allocation. Other sites in Hermitage are considered to be more appropriate for development. 
Not as well related to the settlement pattern as HER001. 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Hermitage sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located in close proximity to 
both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south.  
 
The site is located adjacent to Hermitage and there is loose development to the north, south and west. 
 
Landscape:  
A Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment (LSA, 2014) has advised that the site is locally prominent 
but largely well screened from the wider AONB. 
 
Part of the site could be considered further as a potential housing site subject to mitigation / enhancement 
measures. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment notes that development would result in the loss of the 
landscape setting of Hermitage which has strong links with the wider landscape. Development would also 
impact upon the rural character of Manor Lane, the footpath crossing the site, and the tree belt and hedges 
to the site boundaries. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The Small areas of the site isare at risk from surface water flooding. A FRA and appropriate flood mitigation 
measures, including SUDs, would be required.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
This site can accommodate up to 28 houses that will generate circa 168 daily vehicle movements including 
circa 17 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak. 
 
The impact of additional traffic generation may be limited due to the size of the development, although I 
have some concern regarding the proximity to the school. Work may need to be undertaken to ensure no 
detrimental impact.  
 
It would seem that access with appropriate sight lines of 2.4 x 43.0 metre can be obtained onto the B4009, 
although any access should not be too close to the nearby mini roundabouts. 
 
Footways and bus stops are near the site. The village is served by an intermittent bus service during the 
week that connects Newbury with Harwell.    

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley / Hermitage 

Page 928



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Ecology: 
No issues. 
 
Archaeology: 
Possible archaeology but no previous work on site. Desk based assessment required.  
 
Education: 
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The existing primary school 
The site could have 1.5 forms of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is likely 
to be full in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Education see advantages to expanding Would be nice to expand the school to 2 forms of entry in the 
future, but this would require additional land.  
 
Potential need for secondary provision.  
The school is very popular, many people move into the village to get into the school. 
 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply or wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged. 
 
Parish Council: 
Development in this area would ruin the rural aspect of the school. The site and surrounding woodland is a 
wildlife corridor. Traffic issues associated with the school would likely to worsen with development here. 
There are potential issues with flooding around Orchard Close, and sewer flooding has been an issue in the 
past. There are no health services in the village (residents have to travel to Chieveley or Chapel Row). This 
site is seen as the most acceptable, but the road network would need to be improved and any development 
should be low density. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 
No consultation responses received in relation to this site. 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.   
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle.  
 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and the sites location 
within the AONB. Whilst the risk is considered small, flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability,.  The location of the site within the AONB means that development has the potential to 
impact upon environmental sustainability. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) has been carried out 
which concludes that development of the whole site would widen the otherwise narrow settlement on the 
west side of Hampstead Norreys Road. Only part of the site could be considered as a potential housing site 

Page 929



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

subject to the implementation of mitigation measures outlined within the LSA. Overall the site is likely to 
have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability 
effects.  There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, 
although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car 
dependency to access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the site being at risk from surface water flooding and the sites location 
within the AONB. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, and the location 
within the AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. 
Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoter has suggested in the site submission form that the site would be suitable for 2-storey 
semi detached / detached residential dwellings in keeping with the site surroundings. The site promoter 
also acknowledges that the site could be considered for the provision of a community facility or 
leisure/recreation facility as part of a mixed use scheme given the location of a primary school adjacent to 
the site.  
 
 
 

Page 930



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER010 Site Address:  South of Manor Lane, Hermitage 
 
Development Potential: 116 dwellings (5.91ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable 
- Automatic exclusion 
- Relationship to Hermitage – the site is detached from the existing settlement boundary 
- Impact on settlement character of Oare 
- Surface water flood risk 
- Distance from amenity space and play facilities for children  
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to this site is poor, Manor Lane is very narrow. Oare is not seen as part of Hermitage. The 
Motorway should not be seen as a barrier for infill development. The impact on the landscape is key. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment not 

undertaken for site due to automatic exclusion 
SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

Y The site is inappropriate in scale to both Hermitage 
and Oare 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Detached from existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 931



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER011 Site Address:  Land north of Manor Lane 
 
Development Potential: 12 dwellings (0.58ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
 
Site HER011 consists of three small parts; however this assessment excludes the two small sites in Oare and only assesses the area 
of land along the Hampstead Norreys Road to the north of Hermitage. 
 
- Relationship with existing settlement – site is detached from existing settlement boundary 
- AONB 
- Potential Air quality / noise impact from the M4 
- Desk based archaeological assessment required 

 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish council do not consider this site to be potentially developable, especially as the other sites in 
Oare are considered to be not currently developable. Concerns regarding the proximity of the site to 
the motorway. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A 

LandscapeCharacter Sensitivity Assessment not 
undertaken because site is considered unsuitable 
for development due to impact that development 
would have upon the built environment 

SHLAA Assessment Not Currently developable N  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N Y Development of the site would lead to significant 
changes to the character of Oare as the village is 
not seen as part of HermitageThis assessment is 
only assessing the part of HER011 which is 
located along the Hampstead Norreys Road, to the 
north of Hermitage 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is detached from the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use Previously Developed Land  N  
Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  
Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk U A Site is adjacent to an area of surface water flood 
risk 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U Site is close to the M4 which could cause air 
pollution problems 

Contaminated Land N  
Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N  
Highway network suitability U  

Public Transport network U Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury 

Footways/Pavements N 
There are pavements along the main routes 
through the village, although the site is not 
connected to the village by a pavement.  

Landscape 
Located in  AONB Y  
Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core n/a  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

 

Page 932



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Strategy  LSS) 
Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby Y N 

Site is close to the school playing fields but these 
are not publicly available, and close to some 
amenity space on Chapel Lane. The site is also 
close to the new village hall which has a play area 
and amenity green space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y N The site is close to the new village hall which has 
a play area and amenity green space 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  
Ancient woodland N  
Tree Preservation Orders N A  
Local Wildlife Site N  
Nature Reserve N  
Other (eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N A 
The site is detached from the existing settlement 
boundary, although it abuts linear development to 
the north of Hermitage 

Incompatible adjacent land uses U Site is close to the M4 motorway 

Heritage  

Archaeology U Western area within historic core of village. Desk 
based assessment required  

Conservation area N  
Listed buildings N  
Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes N  

Water supply U  
Wastewater U  
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) U  

AWE consultation Zone Middle N  
Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  
Mineral consultation area N  
Minerals/Waste site N  
Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
HER016, HER009  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  n/a 

 
  

 

Page 933



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
 
Site ID: HER011 Site Address: Land north of Manor Lane Development Potential:  12 dwellings (0.58ha at 20dph) 
 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 
Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

There are limited facilities in 
Hermitage however these can be 
accessed through walking and 
cycling. The site has good access to 
the countryside.  

 The site’s location to the 
north of Hermitage gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 0 

There are outdoor sports facilities at 
Hermitage Primary School, but these 
facilities are not available to the 
public. The site is also close to the 
new village hall which has amenity 
green space and a play area 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
The site is adjacent close to school 
playing fields, and amenity green 
space 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, church 
hall, pub, shop and play facilities in 
Hermitage. There are limited no 
employment opportunities within the 
settlement boundary 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are no limited 
employment opportunities 
within the settlement 
boundary.  
 
Bus services are 
intermittent.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
on the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

 0  

Limited public transport access 
(there is an intermittent service 
between Harwell and Newbury 
during weekdays) although there are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 

 

There will be a degree of 
car dependency within the 
village due to the limited 
public transport services. 
However, local services 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

 

P
age 934



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

to access limited local services and 
facilities. 

and facilities are within 
walking or cycling distance. 
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  
 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
  

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 
 Unlikely to have an impact  Development of the site 

could impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the location of the 
site within the AONB 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 
 The site is located within the AONB  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- - - 

 
Development of the site would lead 
to significant changes to the 
character of Oare as the village is 
not seen as part of Hermitage.extend 
the village of Hermitage to the north 
along the Hampstead Norreys Road. 
It is considered that such expansion 
would not be appropriate and would 
relate poorly to the existing 
settlement pattern 
 

 
 

 The significant changes to 
the character of Oare as a 
result of any development 
development of the site 
would expand Hermitage to 
the north which would 
negatively impact upon the 
environmental sustainability 
of the site 
  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

?0 Western area within historic core of 
village 

Desk based assessment 
required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on the 
District’s cultural assets  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment  

 

P
age 935



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  - 

The site is close to the M4, so could 
be impacted by air pollution 
 

 

The proximity of the site to 
the M4 could negatively 
impact upon environmental 
sustainability  

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? - 

The site is close to the M4, so could 
be impacted by noise levels 
 

Noise survey required 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on soil 

quality  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0 Unlikely to have an impact on water 

quality  

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 0 - The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies within the Ccore 
Sstrategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 
 

The site does not fall within an area 
of flood risk; however it does lie 
adjacent to an area of surface water 
flood risk. 

Sustainable drainage (SUDs) 
techniques would be required 
 

Development of this site is 
unlikely to impact upon the 
environmental sustainability 
of the site provided SuDS 
techniques are used to 
mitigate against the risk of 
any potential flooding 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 936



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SA Objective Criteria Effects of 

option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.however the SA/SEA highlights 
a significant sustainability effect as a result of the impact that development would have upon the character of Oare.    
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB, its relationship with the existing settlement pattern and the proximity to the M4 motorway.  
Development therefore has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, and the location within the 
AONB means that development has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral with one significantly negative effect 

 

P
age 937



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 
 
 
 

 

P
age 938



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HER011 Site Address: Land north of Manor Lane Development 
Potential:  

12 dwellings 
(0.58ha at 20dph) 

 
Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation (only part of the site that extends along Hampstead Norreys 
Road has been considered for allocation). 
 
Justification: 
Development of the site would extend the village of Hermitage to the north of Manor Lane, along 
Hampstead Norreys Road. It is considered that such expansion would not be appropriate and would be 
poorly related to the existing settlement pattern. lead to significant changes to the character of Oare as the 
village is not seen as part of Hermitage 
Although a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) was not carried out for this site specifically, the work 
on HER009 concludes that development would not extend further northwards than the existing northern 
edge of Hermitage.  
 
The proximity of the site to the M4 is likely to impact result in on noise and air quality. impacts. 
 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Hermitage sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located in close proximity to 
both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south. Only part of the site that extends along 
Hermitage Hampstead Norreys Road has been considered for allocation – two smaller parts of the site 
along Manor Lane have been excluded because they fall within the settlement of Oare and not Hermitage. 
 
The site is detached from the settlement boundary and is not seen as part of relates poorly to the village of 
Hermitage.  
 
Landscape:  
The site falls within the AONB.A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) was not carried out for this site.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site does not fall within an area of flood risk however there is an area of surface water flooding 
adjacent to the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Site specific comments from the Council’s Highways and Transport team not made in respect of this site. 
The village is served by an intermittent bus service during the week that connects Newbury with Harwell. 
 
Ecology: 
No known impact.   
 
Archaeology: 
Western area within historic core of village. Desk based assessment required.  
 
Education: 
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The existing primary 
schoolThe site could have 1.5 forms of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is 
likely to be full in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Education see advantages to expanding Would be nice to expand the school to two forms of entry in the 
future, but this would require additional land.  
 
Potential need for secondary provision.  
 
The school is very popular, many people move into the village to get into the school. 
 
Environmental Health: 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 939



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Thames Water: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
Parish council do not consider this site to be potentially developable, especially as the other sites in Oare 
are considered to be not currently developable. Concerns regarding the proximity of the site to the 
motorway. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 
No consultation responses received in relation to this site. 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB, its relationship with the existing 
settlement pattern and the proximity to the M4 motorway.  Development therefore has the potential to 
impact upon environmental sustainability. 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, however the SA/SEA highlights a 
significant sustainability effect as a result of the impact that development would have upon the character of 
Oare.    
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB and the proximity to the M4 
motorway. Development has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Flooding has the 
potential to impact on all elements of sustainability, and the location within the AONB means that 
development has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would 
need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoter has commented that the site is suitable for residential development (2-storey semi-
detached / detached development). 
 
 
 

Page 940



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER012 Site Address:  Land opposite St Bartholomew’s Church, Manor Lane, Oare 
 
Development Potential: 28 dwellings (1.4ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not Currently Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable. 
- Automatic exclusion: development of this site would lead to significant changes to the settlement of Oare. Oare is not seen as, or 

physically part of Hermitage and therefore, development of this site would not be appropriate.  
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site is poor. Manor Lane is very narrow. Oare is not seen as part of Hermitage. The 
Motorway should not be seen as a barrier for infill development. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment not 

undertaken for site due to automatic exclusion 
SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

Y Development of the site would lead to significant 
changes to the character of Oare as the village is 
not seen as part of Hermitage. The development 
potential of the site is also above what is required 
in this location. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Detached from existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 941



Site Selection – Site Assessment 
 
 

Site ID: HER013 Site Address:  Land adjacent to Hermitage Farm, Manor Lane 
 
Development Potential: 5 dwellings (0.29ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently Developable 
 
Summary of Site Assessment 
 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within SHLAA as Not Currently Developable  
- Automatic exclusion: development of this site would lead to significant changes to the settlement of Oare. Oare is not seen as, or 

physically part of Hermitage and therefore, development of this site would not be appropriate. 
 

Site Assessment 
 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site is poor. Manor Lane is very narrow. Oare is not seen as part of Hermitage. The 
Motorway should not be seen as a barrier for infill development. 

 
A) Automatic exclusion 
Criteria Yes/No* Comments 
Less than 5 dwellings  N  
Planning Permission  N  
Within flood zone 3  N  
Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  
SAC N  
SPA N  
Registered Battlefield N  
Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) N/A Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment not 

undertaken for site due to automatic exclusion 
SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  
Land Use Protected Employment Land N  
AWE consultation zone Inner N  
Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

Y Development of the site would lead to significant 
changes to the character of Oare as the village is 
not seen as part of Hermitage. The development 
potential of the site is also above what is required 
in this location 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Detached from existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley 

 

Page 942



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: HER015 Site Address:  Land at Kiln Estate, Manor Lane, Oare 

 

Development Potential: 277 dwellings (13.9 ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Recommended within the SHLAA as Not Currently Developable  
- Automatic Exclusion: development of this site would lead to significant changes to the settlement of Oare. Oare is not seen as, or 

physically part of Hermitage and therefore, development of this site would not be appropriate. 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site is poor. Manor Lane is very narrow. Oare is not seen as part of Hermitage. The 
Motorway should not be seen as a barrier for infill development. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A 
Landscape Character Sensitivity Assessment not 
undertaken for site due to automatic exclusion 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

Y Development of the site would lead to significant 
changes to the character of Oare as the village is 
not seen as part of Hermitage. The development 
potential of the site is also above what is required 
in this location. 

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Detached from existing settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Chieveley 

Page 943



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: HER016 Site Address:  Land of Hampstead Norreys Road, Hermitage, RG18 9SB 

 

Development Potential: 8 dwellings (0.4ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Relationship to Hermitage – site is detached from existing settlement boundary 
- TPOs run along eastern boundary of the site 
- Potential aAir Quality / Noise from M4 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Site is seen as very close to the motorway, which could cause noise and health issues for residents. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

N/A 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment not undertaken 
for this site.  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is detached from the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N  

Surface water flood risk A 
Site is adjacent to an area of surface water flood 
risk 

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  U 
Site is close to the M4 which could cause air 
pollution problems 

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues U  

Highway network suitability U  

Public Transport network U 
Intermittent weekday (approx. 2 hourly) service 
between Harwell and Newbury 

Footways/Pavements N 
There are pavements along the main routes 
through the village, although the site is not 
connected to the village by a pavement.  

Landscape 

Located in  AONB Y  

Located within an area of high 
landscape sensitivity  (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

n/a  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y N 

Site is close to the school playing fields but these 
are not publicly available, and close to some 
amenity space on Chapel Lane. The site is also 
close to the new village hall which has a play area 
and amenity green space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y N 
The site is close to the new village hall which has 
a play area and amenity green space 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 944



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Adjacent / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders A 
Adjacent the sites eastern boundary Site is 
adjacent to a PO area – abuts eastern boundary 
of site 

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (eg. BOA) N Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey required 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement N 

The site is detached from the existing settlement 
boundary, although it abuts linear development to 
the north of Hermitage The site is physically 
detached from the settlement boundary of 
Hermitage 

Incompatible adjacent land uses U Site is close to the M4 motorway 

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U  

Wastewater U  

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

U  

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
HER011, HER009   

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

n/a 

 
  

Page 945



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: HER016 Site Address: Land east of Hampstead Norreys Road, Hermitage Development Potential:  8 dwellings (0.4ha at 20 dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? + 

There are limited facilities in 
Hermitage however these can be 
accessed through walking and 
cycling. The site has good access to 
the countryside. 

 
The site’s location to the 
north of Hermitage gives 
opportunities for walking 
and cycling and gives easy 
access to local services 
and facilities. Therefore, in 
terms of environmental and 
social sustainability, 
development of the site 
would have a positive 
impact. 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

0 

There are outdoor sports facilities at 
Hermitage Primary School, but these 
facilities are not available to the 
public. The site is also close to the 
new village hall which has amenity 
green space and play area. 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
The site is adjacent close to school 
playing fields, and amenity green 
space at the village hall.  

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

0 

There is a primary school, church 
hall, pub, shop and play facilities in 
Hermitage. There are limited no 
employment opportunities within the 
settlement boundary 

 

The site is located close to 
facilities however these are 
limited. There are no limited 
employment opportunities 
within the settlement 
boundary.  
 
Bus services are 
intermittent.  
 
The site is therefore 
unlikely to have any impact 
on the district’s economic 
sustainability. 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

 0  

Limited public transport access 
(there is an intermittent service 
between Harwell and Newbury 
during weekdays) although there are 
opportunities for walking and cycling 

 

There will be a degree of 
car dependency within the 
village due to the limited 
public transport services. 
However, local services 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

P
age 946



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

to access limited local services and 
facilities. 

and facilities are within 
walking or cycling distance. 
Overall it is unlikely that 
development of this site 
would have an impact on 
any element of 
sustainability.  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 
 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns but, development 
would also have the potential to 
improve road safety. 
 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact 

An extended phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required 
together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be 
implemented, to ensure any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected 
Extended Phase 1 Habitats 
Survey required 

Development of the site 
could impact on 
environmental sustainability 
due to the location of the 
site within the AONB 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 
 

The site is located within the AONB  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

- 

Site is poorly related to the existing 
settlement and beyond the building 
line of the village Development of the 
site would extend the village of 
Hermitage to the north (beyond 
Manor Lane), along Hampstead 
Norreys Road. It is considered that 
such expansion would not be 
appropriate and would relate poorly 
to the existing settlement pattern 
 

 

The development of the site 
would expand Hermitage to 
the north which would 
negatively impact upon the 
environmental sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 0 Unknown impact Further assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 
The site is unlikely to have an impact 
on access to the historic environment 
the District’s cultural assets 

 

P
age 947



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on access 
to the historic environment 

 

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on air quality?  - 

The site is close to the M4 so could 
be impacted by air pollution 
 

 

The proximity of the site to 
the M4 could negatively 
impact upon environmental 
sustainability 

Will the site be at risk from 
or impact on noise levels? - 

The site is close to the M4 so could 
be impacted by noise levels 
 

Noise survey required 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on soil 
quality 

 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 
Unlikely to have an impact on water 
quality 

 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? 

- The site is greenfield  

The site could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
as it is a greenfield site. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on the 
building materials used, construction 
methods, transport and design 

Mitigation could include Travel 
Plans to reduce car traffic and 
ensure compliance with 
policies within the Ccore 
Sstrategy. 

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 
 

The site does not fall within an area 
of flood risk; however it does lie 
adjacent to an area of surface water 
flood risk. 

Sustainable drainage (SUDs) 
techniques would be required 
 

Development of this site is 
unlikely to impact upon the 
environmental sustainability 
of the site provided SuDS 
techniques are used to 
mitigate against the risk of 
any potential flooding 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 948



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
-  

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability.  

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.     
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB, the relationship of the site to the existing settlementboundary pattern and the proximity to the M4 motorway. 
Development therefore has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Development therefore has the potential to impact upon environmental sustainability. Mitigation 
measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a 
level of car dependency to access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active lifestyle. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly negative neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB spatial area 

P
age 949



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 

 
 

P
age 950



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: HER016 Site Address: 
Land to the east of 
Hampstead Norreys Road, 
Hermitage 

Development 
Potential:  

8 dwellings (0.4ha 
at 20 dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Development of the site would extend the village of Hermitage to the north of Manor Lane, along 
Hampstead Norreys Road. It is considered that such expansion would not be appropriate and would be 
poorly related to the existing settlement pattern.  
Although a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) was not carried out for this site specifically, the work 
on HER009 concludes that development would not extend further northwards than the existing northern 
edge of Hermitage.  
 
The proximity of the site to the M4 is likely to impact on noise and air quality. 
The site is poorly related to Hermitage and the proximity of the site to the M4 is likely to result in noise 
impacts. 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
Hermitage sits in a rural location within the North Wessex Downs AONB, but is located in close proximity to 
both the M4 and A34 corridors running east west and north south.  
 
The site is poorly related to the settlement boundary of Hermitage – the site is physically detached from the 
settlement boundary of Hermitage. 
 
Landscape:  
The site falls within the AONB. A Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) was not carried out for this site. 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site does not fall within an area of flood risk however there is an area of surface water flooding 
adjacent to the site.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Site specific comments from the Council’s Highways and Transport team not made in respect of this site. 
The village is served by an intermittent bus service during the week that connects Newbury with Harwell. 
 
Ecology: 
Unlikely to have an impact, however an extended phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented, to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected 
an Extended Phase 1 Habitats Survey required. 
 
Archaeology: 
The site is unlikely to have an impact. 
 
Education: 
Hermitage / Chieveley / Curridge are seen as one area in terms of education. The existing primary school 
The site could have 1.5 forms of entry. Current capacity is 190, but could go up to 210. The school is likely 
to be full in September 2014.  
 
There is some potential to expand. With 20-40 dwellings in the village there is unlikely to be an issue. 
Education see advantages to expanding Would be nice to expand the school to two forms of entry in the 
future, but this would require additional land.  
 
Potential need for secondary provision.  
 
The school is very popular, many people move into the village to get into the school. 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Hermitage Parish:  Hermitage 

Page 951



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 
Environmental Health: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site falls within groundwater source protection zone (SPZ) 3. 
 
Thames Water: 
No comments made in respect of this site.  
 
Parish Council: 
Site is seen as very close to the motorway, which could cause noise and health issues for residents. 
 

Preferred Options Consultation Key Issues: 
No consultation responses received in relation to this site. 
 
For the consultation responses and Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation. 
 

SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability and the SA/SEA does not 
highlight any significant sustainability effects.     
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury and other centres. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a 
healthy active lifestyle. 
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB, the relationship of the site to the 
existing settlement pattern and the proximity to the M4 motorway. Development therefore has the potential 
to impact upon environmental sustainability. 
Overall the site is likely to have a predominantly neutral effect on sustainability.    
 
There are potential negatives due to the sites location within the AONB, the relationship of the site with the 
existing settlement boundary and the proximity to the M4 motorway. Development has the potential to 
impact upon environmental sustainability. Development therefore has the potential to impact upon 
environmental sustainability. Mitigation measures would need to be considered to reduce the impact. 
 
There are a number of local services and facilities within walking or cycling distance of the site, although it 
is recognised that for higher end services and employment there could be a level of car dependency to 
access Newbury. The site is in close proximity of open countryside to help promote a healthy active 
lifestyle. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site promoter has suggested that the site is suitable for residential development. 

 
 
 

Page 952



Kintbury Site Assessments

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and 
strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined 

text for additions and double strikethrough text for deletions**
Page 953



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: KIN001 Site Address:  Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Road, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 65 dwellings (3.2ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that development in this location would result in significant harm to the natural beauty 
of the AONB not be acceptable.  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Kintbury Parish Council were was concerned that the site was not well related to the existing settlement, 
and that development of the site would be highly visible from the surrounding area including the A4.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Within Settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment concluded that it 
would not be possible to develop the site without 
harming the countryside setting of the east side of the 
village and important views to Kintbury.  Development 
over the site would result in significant harm to the 
natural beauty of the AONB. indicates that development 
of this site would not be acceptable.  

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Landscape assessment indicates that development of 
this site would not be acceptable. 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N 
Adjacent to the settlement boundary but not well related 
to the existing settlement  

 * any yes response will rule the site out. 

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 954



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN002 Site Address:  Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Land off Holt Road, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 59 dwellings (2.9ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- Poor relationship to existing settlement  
- Potential impact on the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The parish council are is not keen for this site to be developed as it would lead to the extension of the 
village to the east. The developer has spoken to the parish council.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

U 

Unknown. Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) not undertaken as the site was assessed as 
not currently developable in the SHLAA.  
LSA on KIN005 (adjacent to both this site and the 
current settlement boundary) concluded that 
development over the site would result in 
significant harm to the AONB 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Poorly related to existing settlement residential 
development 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N 
Not adjacent to the settlement boundary and 
detached from the current settlement  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 
 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 955



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN004 Site Address:  Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Road, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 18 dwellings (0.89ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues: 
- AONB – only a limited part of the site is considered suitable for development 
- Development of the whole site as a large single estate would be out of scale with housing on the north side of Kintbury and could 

constitute an unacceptable expansion of the settlement. 
- A limited linear development could be accommodated along Irish Hill Road to match the settlement pattern in the Conservation 

Area. 
- Potential impact on the setting of the Conservation Area - the undeveloped, rural character of the site provides an attractive 

natural edge to the east of the conservation area.  
- Flood risk (groundwater) 
- The  site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and an EA groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA required.   
- Potential access issues if adequate sight lines cannot be achieved  

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

This site has a long history of proposals for development. Concern from the Parish Council that the 
road would need to be widened and potential issues with Burtons Hill. The pavement through the 
village is intermittent.  
The Parish Council felt that development of this site would change the character of the village and 
would just be creating development. This site (along with KIN001) is the first part of the countryside as 
you leave the village.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

P 

Potential. The site is prominent in views to the east 
and across the valley to the north. The Landscape 
Sensitivity  Assessment (LSA) (2011)  indicates 
that only a very small part of the site is suitable for 
development. A limited linear development could 
be accommodated along Irish Hill Road to match 
the settlement pattern in the Conservation Area.  
The site area and development potential of the site 
have taken this into account. 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of the settlement 
within the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 

Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Protected Employment Land N  

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y Groundwater emergence zone 

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other   

Highways / Transport  Access issues N U 

There is concern that required sight lines of 2.4 x 
43 metres cannot be achieved at the proposed 
access point. However it should be possible to 
achieve these sight lines if the proposed access 
was moved a few metres eastwards. A pedestrian 
route is also needed from the site. 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 956



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Highway network suitability U N 

No comments made on this site Development is 
not anticipated to have a significant traffic impact 
on the wider highway network.  
This site can accommodate up to 15 dwellings 
that will generate circa 90 daily vehicle 
movements including 9 during the 08.00 to 09.00 
AM peak.  
Most of the traffic to and from the site will travel 
west via Newbury Street. The sight lines are 
however restricted to the right at the Newbury 
Street / Station Road junction. 

Public Transport network Y 

Kintbury is serviced by a railway line, and 
infrequent bus services (2 hourly) between 
Newbury and Hungerford. Bus service number 3 
passes nearby along Holt Road and Newbury 
Street providing up to five services each way 
between Newbury and Hungerford with bus stops 
existing nearby along Newbury Street and Holt 
Road. Kintbury train station is 830 metres walking 
distance from the site.   

Footways/Pavements U 

There are narrow intermittent pavements through 
the village. Footways exist along most, but not all 
of Newbury Street that would link into Kintbury 
centre. This includes the site opposite on 
Newbury Street that has consent for residential 
that does include a footway fronting the site. 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other   

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y Site is close to local amenity space 

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y Site is close to play facilities for children 

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species N  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N  

Nature Reserve N  

Other (Eg. BOA) N  

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 

Site is quite well related to the existing settlement, 
although is on the opposite side of the road to the 
majority of development in the village. 
Development is only suitable in a linear line along 
Newbury Street (due to landscape impact).  
The site is fairly well connected to the settlement 
edge, though extends further north than the 
adjacent linear development to the west. 
Development of the whole site as a large single 
estate would be out of scale with housing on the 
north side of Kintbury and could constitute an 
unacceptable expansion of the settlement. 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology Y 
Romano-British Villa and Mesolithic site to the 
south east of the site. Further assessment 
required.  

Conservation area A 

The undeveloped, rural character of the site 
provides an attractive natural edge to the east of 
the conservation area and makes an important 
contribution to its setting.  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 

Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2. High risk of contamination to groundwater 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste Minerals preferred area N  

Page 957



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Mineral consultation area Y  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
KIN001  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
 

Page 958



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN004 Site Address: Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Road, Kintbury Development Potential:  18 dwellings (0.89ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field 
meaning that development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to the leisure centre 
(Jubilee Leisure Centre and playing 
fields) 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 
Site is close to the canal. Unlikely to 
have an impact 

 

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
village is served by a railway station 
and a 2 hourly bus service between 
Newbury and Hungerford 

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. In addition 
employment opportunities 
can be accessed via rail 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. There are public transport 
opportunities within the village – a 2 
hourly bus service and railway. 
However, the degree of car 
dependency is still likely to be high. 

 
Kintbury does offer travel 
choices given the proximity 
of the railway station. There 
are opportunities for 
walking and cycling and a 
bus service to and from the 
village  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on Will it conserve and - The site is located within the AONB. Landscape Assessment 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

P
age 959



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

The Landscape Assessment 
indicates that development of this 
site would only be acceptable in a 
limited area - as linear development 
along Irish Hill Road to match the 
settlement pattern in the 
conservation area. 
The site is prominent in views to the 
east and across the valley to the 
north. The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) (2011) indicates 
that only a very small part of the site 
is suitable for development. A limited 
linear development could be 
accommodated along Irish Hill Road 
to match the settlement pattern in the 
Conservation Area.  
 

indicates the following 
protection / enhancement 
would be required:  
- retention of existing trees 

and hedgerows and 
replacement of the conifer 
hedges 

- consideration of views 
from the surrounding 
countryside and new 
planting to integrate the 
buildings into the 
landscape 

- consideration of the scale 
of any new development 
against the overall size of 
the settlement and 
aspirations to limit 
expansion 

environmental 
sustainability.  

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 - 

The site is adjacent to the existing 
settlement, so provided only a small 
area of the site is developed, unlikely 
to have an impact on the character of 
the built environment. The site is 
fairly well connected to the 
settlement edge, though extends 
further north than the adjacent linear 
development to the west. 
Development of the whole site as a 
large single estate would be out of 
scale with housing on the north side 
of Kintbury and could constitute an 
unacceptable expansion of the 
settlement. 

Development should be 
sensitively designed 

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have a 
significant impact on any 
element of sustainability, 
and subject to further 
assessment of the impact 
of development on the 
Conservation Area and  
archaeological material.  

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? - 

The undeveloped, rural character of 
the site provides an attractive natural 
edge to the east of the Conservation 
Area and makes an important 
contribution to its setting.  
There is a British Romano villa and a 
Mesolithic site to the south east of 
the site 

Further assessment is required 
as to the impact development 
could have on the 
Conservation Area and 
archaeological material.  

P
age 960



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ2) with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater 
Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

The site is within groundwater 
emergence zone but there is no 
evidence of the site ever having 
flooded. The site lies within the EA’s 
groundwater vulnerability zone.  

A FRA and appropriate 
mitigation measures, including 
SuDS would need to be 
provided  

A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding.  Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures can be put in 
place.  

P
age 961



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects.  
 
The site is well related to existing services and facilities within Kintbury with opportunities for walking and cycling and healthy active lifestyles, giving a positive impact on 
sustainability.  
 
The impact on the landscape could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. Significant landscape mitigation measure would be required which significantly reduce 
the area suitable for development.  The site is within a groundwater emergence zone, with potential for groundwater flooding which could lead to a negative impact on all elements of 
sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce this impact.  
There is the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location both within the AONB and its location in Kintbury, adjacent to the Conservation 
Area. A LSA has been carried out which concludes that only a limited part of the site has potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities 
of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.   
 
The site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into 
place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   
 

P
age 962



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Kintbury 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 963



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: KIN004 Site Address: 
Kintbury Park Farm, Irish 
Hill Road, Kintbury 

Development 
Potential:  

18 dwellings 
(0.89ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Development of the site would have an impact on the rural character of this area. Development of the site 
as a whole would constitute an unacceptable expansion of the settlement.  
 
Only a very small area of the site is acceptable for development in landscape terms – a limited linear 
development along Irish Hill Road to match the settlement pattern in the Conservation Area  
  
Potential impact on the setting of the Conservation Area - the undeveloped, rural character of the site 
provides an attractive natural edge to the east of the Conservation Area.  
 
Other sites in Kintbury are considered to be more appropriate for development.  
 
The site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and an EA groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA 
required.   
 
Potential access issues if adequate sight lines cannot be achieved 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the north east of Kintbury, close to local services and facilities within the village and 
close to open countryside.  It lies adjacent and to the east of the Conservation Area and the undeveloped, 
rural character of the site provides an attractive natural edge and makes an important contribution to its 
setting. 
 
Landscape:  
The site is within the AONB, and the Landscape Assessment indicates that the site would be prominent in 
views to the east and across the valley to the north. Development of the site as a whole would constitute an 
unacceptable expansion of the settlement. Linear development could be accommodated along Irish Hill 
Road to match settlement pattern in the Conservation Area, along with the protection of boundary 
hedgerows and trees. Mitigation measures that would be required are set out in the landscape assessment.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, although it is within a groundwater emergence zone. A FRA would be required 
and SUDs would need to be provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
No specific comments have been made on this site.  
The site is close to Kintbury railway station which provides links to London and the west country. There is 
an infrequent bus service (2 hourly) linking Kintbury with Newbury and Hungerford. There are local 
opportunities for walking and cycling within the village.  
This site can accommodate up to 15 dwellings that will generate circa 90 daily vehicle movements including 
9 during the 08.00 to 09.00 AM peak.  
 
There is concern that required sight lines of 2.4 x 43 metres cannot be achieved at the proposed access 
point. However it should be possible to achieve these sight lines if the proposed access was moved a few 
metres eastwards. A pedestrian route is also needed from the site. 
Most of the traffic to and from the site will travel west via Newbury Street. The sight lines are however 
restricted to the right at the Newbury Street / Station Road junction. 
Footways exist along most, but not all of Newbury Street that would link into Kintbury centre. This includes 
the site opposite on Newbury Street that has consent for residential that does include a footway fronting the 
site. 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 964



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Bus service number 3 passes nearby along Holt Road and Newbury Street providing up to five services 
each way between Newbury and Hungerford with bus stops existing nearby along Newbury Street and Holt 
Road. Kintbury train station is 830 metres walking distance from the site.   
 
Ecology: 
No known ecological issues 
 
Archaeology: 
There is a Romano-British Village and Mesolithic site to the south east of the site. Further assessment and 
evaluation would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments have been made about secondary 
school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments have been made on this site. The site is within SPZ2 with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater. The EA has no in principle objections to development in SPZs  
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
This site has a long history of proposals for development. Concern from the Parish Council that the road 
would need to be widened and potential issues with Burtons Hill. The pavement through the village is 
intermittent. The Parish Council felt that development of this site would change the character of the village 
and would just be creating development. This site (along with KIN001) is the first part of the countryside as 
you leave the village. 
 
Preferred Options Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for this site.   
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
One response was received from the site promoter outlining why the site should be allocated. 
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. There are no significant sustainability issues with this site. The site is well 
related to existing services and facilities within Kintbury with opportunities for walking and cycling and 
healthy active lifestyles, giving a positive impact on sustainability. The impact on the landscape could have 
a negative impact on environmental sustainability. Significant landscape mitigation measure would be 
required which significantly reduce the area suitable for development.  The site is within a groundwater 
emergence zone, with potential for groundwater flooding which could lead to a negative impact on all 
elements of sustainability. Mitigation measures should reduce this impact.  
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. The site is well related to existing services and facilities within Kintbury with 
opportunities for walking and cycling and healthy active lifestyles, giving a positive impact on sustainability.  
There is the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location both 
within the AONB and its location in Kintbury, adjacent to the Conservation Area. A LSA has been carried 
out which concludes that only a limited part of the site has potential to deliver housing without causing harm 
to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.  The 

Page 965



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into place  to reduce any potential 
negative  impacts.   
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for approximately 60 dwellings (over 3.1ha) as a mix of open market and affordable 
housing (in line with the Core Strategy).  
 
The site promoter responded to the Proposed Submission consultation and referred to additional technical 
work that it had undertaken in support of suitability of the site.  An outline planning application for the 
erection of up to 72 dwellings on the site (15/03346/OUTMAJ) was submitted in December 2015 and was 
refused in March 2016. 
 

 
 

Page 966



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: KIN005 Site Address:  
Kintbury Park Farm, Irish Hill Road, Land off Holt Road 
Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 42 dwelling s(2.1ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
-  Impact on the landscape character of the AONB.  
The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment indicates that development in this location would result in significant harm to the natural 
beauty of the AONB 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council are is not keen to see these this sites developed as they it would lead to the 
village extending to the east. The developer has spoken to the Parish Council. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

Y 

Landscape Assessment indicates the site is not 
suitable for development 
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment concluded that 
it would not be possible to develop the site without 
harming the countryside setting of the east side of 
the village and important views to Kintbury.  
Development over the site would result in 
significant harm to the natural beauty of the AONB. 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Landscape Assessment indicates the site is not 
suitable for development 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury  

Page 967



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN008 Site Address:  Land to the east of Layland Green and south of Holt Road, Kintbury  

 

Development Potential: 13 dwellings (0.64ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB – only a small part of the site is considered suitable for development  
- Only a narrow wedge at the western end of the site from the eastern corner of KIN009 to the edge of the settlement on Holt Road 

should  be considered in conjunction with KIN006, KIN007 and KIN009  
- Flood risk (ground and surface water) 
- The site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and an EA groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA required.   
- The site is close to a Great Crested Newt breeding site. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey required with an additional Great 

Crested Newt survey  
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council does not wish to see the village extended to the east / south east.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or international 
habitat / environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

P 

Potential. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) indicates that only a very small part of the 
site would be suitable for development. This has 
been taken into account in the area and 
development potential indicated for the site.   

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 
Site lies within a groundwater emergence zone.  
Site lies within the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone. 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N U 

Access would need to come via Craven Close, 
through KIN007. Consideration of existing on 
street parking would be required. Access would 
need to achieved through KIN006 and 007 from 
Layland’s Green 

Highway network suitability Y N 
Considering the expected size of development it 
is not anticipated that there would be any 
significant impacts on the wider highway network.  

Public Transport network Y 

Kintbury is serviced by a railway line, and 
infrequent bus services (2 hourly) between 
Newbury and Hungerford. Bus service number 3 
passes nearby along Holt Road and Newbury 
Street providing up to five services each way 
between Newbury and Hungerford. Bus stops 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 968



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

exist nearby that can be reached by pedestrians 

Footways/Pavements U 
There are narrow intermittent pavements through 
the village. Existing footways are available 
nearby that the site can connect onto. 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within a area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from 
Core Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby A N 
Site is more than 800m from play facilities for 
children.  

Ecology / Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species U 
The Council’s Ecologist has identified that a 
reptile survey is required Within 250m of a Great 
Crested Newt site 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N 
Within 250m of Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
(Kintbury Newt Ponds) 

Nature Reserve N 

The LWS is also a BBOWT owned nature 
reserve  which hosts a large breeding population 
of Great Crested Newts (GCN). An extended 
Phase 1 habitat survey would be required 
together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. A Great Crested Newt survey 
will also be required. Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented to ensure any protected species 
were not adversely affected. 

Other (eg. BOA) A Y  
A very small part of the southern part of the site 
is within a Adjacent to Biodiversity Opportunity 
Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 

The western part of the site is well connected to 
the settlement edge but development of the 
whole site would be out of scale with most of 
Kintbury 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U TW not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2. High risk of contamination to groundwater.  

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
KIN009, KIN007, KIN010, 
KIN015, KIN005, KIN002 

Site is not that well related to the existing settlement without 
development taking place on some adjacent sites. 
 

Other (anything else to be 
considered)  

Only a narrow wedge at the western end of the site from the eastern corner of KIN009 to the edge of 
the settlement on Holt Road  part of the site only should  be considered in conjunction with KIN006, 
KIN007 and KIN009  
 

 

Page 969



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
 

Site ID: KIN008 
Site Address: Land to the east of Layland Green and south of Holt 

Road, Kintbury 
Development Potential:  13 dwellings (0.64ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field 
meaning that development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is relatively close to the 
leisure centre (Jubilee Leisure 
Centre and playing fields) 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
village is served by a railway station 
and a 2 hourly bus service between 
Newbury and Hungerford 

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. In addition 
employment opportunities 
can be accessed via rail 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. There are public transport 
opportunities within the village – 
there is a 2 hourly bus service and 
railway. However, the degree of car 
dependency is still likely to be high. 

 
Kintbury does offer travel 
choices given the proximity 
of the railway station. There 
are opportunities for 
walking and cycling and a 
bus service to and from the 
village  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 

There are no known protected 
species on the site.  
The site lies close to a Local Wildlife 
Site which is also a BBOWT nature 

An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey with an additional Great 
Crested Newt survey required. 
Reptile survey required 

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment 
There would be potential 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

P
age 970



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

reserve (Kintbury Newt Ponds) which 
hosts a large breeding population of 
Great Crested Newts. 
A very small part of the site is within 
a Biodiversity Opportunity Area. 

for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
and appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measure 
were implemented so that 
any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB. 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) (2011) indicates 
that the site as a whole could not be 
developed without harming the 
AONB.  A narrow wedge at the 
western end from the eastern corner 
of KIN009 to the edge of the 
settlement on Holt Road could be 
developed in conjunction with 
KIN009, 006 and 007, thus linking to 
Layland’s Green for access and 
subject to the protection of certain 
landscape features. development of 
this site would be acceptable on a 
limited area only  

Landscape assessment LSA 
indicates the following 
protection enhancement would 
be required:  
- the small western part of 

this site and possibly the 
north edge against the 
settlement edge could be 
pursued in conjunction 
with the sites to the west  

- Protection of boundary 
hedgerows and trees 

- Views from the 
surrounding countryside 
would need to be carefully 
considered 

- New planting would be 
important in integrating the 
buildings into the 
landscape 

- Careful design in scale 
with the settlement 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

? - 

If the whole site was developed, 
there would be an impact upon the 
landscape, however as the 
Landscape Assessment has ruled 
out much of the sit as being suitable, 
this is unlikely. Nonetheless, impact 
will depend upon what comes 
forward The western part of the site 
is well connected to the settlement 
edge but development of the whole 
site would be out of scale with most 
of Kintbury and would constitute an 
unacceptable expansion of the 
settlement . 

Development of a very small 
part of the site could offer an 
opportunity to soften this edge 
of the village and should be 
sensitively designed 

There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability.  

P
age 971



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets on or 
near to the site  

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ2) with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater 
Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

The site lies within a groundwater 
emergence zone.  The site lies within 
the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone. The site is at risk from surface 
water and groundwater flooding  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SuDS would need to be 
provided.   

A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding.  Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 

P
age 972



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

appropriate mitigation 
measures can be put in 
place.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects. 
 
The site is close to local services and facilities with opportunities for walking and cycling, which give a positive impact on sustainability.  
 
The site is within the AONB, the landscape assessment indicates that only a small part of the site would be suitable for development without a significant impact on the character of 
the landscape and therefore, have a negative impact on environment sustainability. Mitigation measures would be required on the small area of the site to ensure there wasn’t a 
negative impact on sustainability.  The site is at risk from ground and surface water flooding, without appropriate mitigation, this would have a negative impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB. A LSA has been carried out which concludes that although 
the western part of the site is well connected to the settlement edge, development of the whole site would be out of scale with most of Kintbury and would constitute an unacceptable 
expansion of the settlement . 

P
age 973



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

As the site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures are implemented.  
 
The site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into 
place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Kintbury 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term 

 
 

P
age 974



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: KIN008 Site Address: 
Land to the east of 
Laylands Green and south 
of Holt Road, Kintbury 

Development 
Potential:  

13 dwellings 
(0.64ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
The western part of the site is well connected to the settlement edge but development of the whole site 
would be out of scale with most of Kintbury.  Only a very small area of the site is suitable for development 
in landscape terms. The site would need to be developed alongside other sites to improve its relationship to 
the existing settlement and gain access.  
 
Other sites in Kintbury are considered more appropriate for development.  
 
The site has been identified by the Environment Agency as lying within a groundwater emergence zone.   
As a result a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be required to support a planning application, along with 
the implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation measures.  
 
The site is close to Kintbury Newt Ponds which hosts a large population of Great Created Newts.  An 
extended Phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that 
as necessary. A Great Crested Newt survey will also be required. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be implemented to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south east of Kintbury, close to local services and facilities including open 
countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located in the AONB. The Landscape Assessment indicates that the western part of the site is 
well connected to the settlement edge but development of the whole site would be out of scale with most of 
Kintbury. Only a narrow wedge at the western end of the site from the eastern corner of KIN009 to the edge 
of the settlement on Holt Road should be considered in conjunction with KIN006, KIN007 and KIN009. The 
Landscape Assessment also sets out the mitigation measures that would be required should development 
take place.   
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, but at risk from ground and surface water flooding. The site lies within a 
groundwater emergence zone.  A FRA would be required and SuDS would need to be provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
Access to the site would require adjacent sites to be developed.  
 
Considering the expected size of the development, no significant impact on the wider highway network is 
anticipated. 
 
The site is close to Kintbury railway station which provides links to London and the west country. Bus 
service number 3 (2 hourly) passes nearby along Holt Road and Newbury Street providing up to five 
services each way between Newbury and Hungerford. Bus stops exist nearby that can be reached by 
pedestrians. 
 

There are local opportunities for walking and cycling within the village. Existing footways are available 
nearby that the site can connect onto. 
 
Ecology: 
Potential for reptiles on the site. A reptile survey would be required.  
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 975



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The site is within in a Biodiversity Opportunity Area. 
The site lies close to a Local Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT nature reserve (Kintbury Newt Ponds) 
and which hosts a large breeding population of Great Crested Newts.  An extended Phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required and an additional survey for Great Crested Newts. 
 
 A very small part of the site is within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area and so the Council will pursue net 
gains for biodiversity in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS17. 
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeology issues 
 
Education: 
Local primary provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made about secondary school provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments have been made on this site. The site is in SPZ2, with a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater. The EA has no in principle objections to development in SPZs 
 
Thames Water: 
No comments have been made on this site 
 
Parish Council: 
Parish Council do not wish to see the village extended to the east / south east. 
 
Preferred options Consultation – key issues 
1 response was received for the site.  The main issue raised was regarding: 

 Principle of development 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
There are no significant sustainability issues with this site. The site is close to local services and facilities 
with opportunities for walking and cycling, which give a positive impact on sustainability. The site is within 
the AONB, the Landscape Assessment indicates that only a small part of the site would be suitable for 
development without a significant impact on the character of the landscape and therefore, have a negative 
impact on environment sustainability. Mitigation measures would be required on the small area of the site to 
ensure there wasn’t a negative impact on sustainability.  The site is at risk from ground and surface water 
flooding, without appropriate mitigation this would have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability.  
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location 
within the AONB. A LSA has been carried out which concludes that although the western part of the site is 
well connected to the settlement edge, development of the whole site would be out of scale with most of 
Kintbury and would constitute an unacceptable expansion of the settlement. 
 
As the site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are implemented.  
The site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of 
sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into place  to reduce any potential 
negative  impacts.   
 

Page 976



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst 
housing development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction 
of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site was promoted as one of a number of sites in this area of Kintbury, promoted as a whole and 
individually. Development would be in a range of dwellings and include affordable housing. 
 

 
 
 

Page 977



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN009 Site Address:  Land to the east of Layland Green, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 16 dwellings (0.8ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB 
- Flood risk (ground water) 
- Site is not that well related to the existing settlement without development taking place on adjacent sites 
- Access would need to achieved through KIN006 and 007 from Layland’s Green 
- There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to brick and tile works. A contamination assessment required. 
- Part of the site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and an EA groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA required.   
- As the site is underlain with clay a methodology for foundation design would be required 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council noted that this site is situated on old clay workings and many of the houses in the 
neighbouring residential area have had to be underpinned due to subsidence. Drainage is seen as an 
issue as there are springs at the top of the hill and the area is very boggy. The Parish Council 
considers that some infill development in this area would not be completely inappropriate, although 
they would not like to see a large development. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant national 
or international habitat / 
environmental / historical 
protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character 
of AONB (from LSA) 

N 

Landscape Assessment indicates development on 
this site would be acceptable. The Landscape 
Sensitivity Assessment (2011) indicates that the site 
is suitable for development subject to the protection 
and enhancement of certain landscape features 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in relation 
to settlement role and 
function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N A small part of the site is adjacent to the settlement 
boundary  

*Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk Y 

A small part of the north eastern area of the site is 
within a groundwater emergence zone 
Site lies with the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone 

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N U 
Suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to brick 
and tile works.  A contamination assessment 
required. 

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 

Access would need to come via Craven Close 
through KIN007. Consideration of existing on street 
parking would be required. Access would need to 
achieved through KIN006 and 007 from Layland’s 
Green 

Highway network suitability Y N 
Considering the expected size of development it is 
not anticipated that there would be any significant 
impacts on the wider highway network.  

Public Transport network Y Kintbury is serviced by a railway line, and infrequent 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 978



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

bus services (2 hourly) between Newbury and 
Hungerford. Bus service number 3 passes nearby 
along Holt Road and Newbury Street providing up to 
five services each way between Newbury and 
Hungerford. Bus stops exist nearby that can be 
reached by pedestrians 

Footways/Pavements U 
There are narrow intermittent pavements through 
the village. Existing footways are available nearby 
that the site can connect onto. 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located in an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from 
Core Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y  

Ecology / Environmental / 
Geological 

Protected species N U Within 250m of a great crested newt site 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site N 
Within 250m of Local Wildlife Site (LWS) (Kintbury 
Newt Ponds) 

Nature Reserve N 

The LWS is also a BBOWT owned nature reserve  
which hosts a large breeding population of Great 
Crested Newts (GCN). An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A 
Great Crested Newt survey will also be required. 
Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented to ensure any 
protected species were not adversely affected. 

Other (eg. BOA) Y Within Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 
Site is not that well related to the existing settlement 
without development taking place on adjacent sites.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2 

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N Area of former clay workings to the south of the site 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
KIN007, KIN006, KIN015, 
KIN010, KIN008 

Site is not that well related to the existing settlement without 
development taking place on some adjacent sites. 

Other (anything else to be 
considered)  

Should only be considered in conjunction with KIN006 and KIN008 (in part) and KIN007 

 
  

Page 979



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN009 Site Address: Land to the east of Layland Green, Kintbury Development Potential:   16 dwellings (0.8ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field 
meaning that development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to the leisure centre 
(Jubilee Leisure Centre and playing 
fields) 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact   

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
village is served by a railway station 
and a 2 hourly bus service between 
Newbury and Hungerford 

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. In addition 
employment opportunities 
can be accessed via rail 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. There are public transport 
opportunities within the village – 
there is a 2 hourly bus service and 
railway. However, the degree of car 
dependency is still likely to be high. 

 

Kintbury does offer travel 
choices given the proximity 
of the railway station. There 
are opportunities for 
walking and cycling and a 
bus service to and from the 
village, all of which have a 
positive impact on 
sustainability. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 

The site lies close to a Local Wildlife 
Site which is also a BBOWT nature 
reserve (Kintbury Newt Ponds) which 
hosts a large breeding population of 
Great Crested Newts. The site is 

An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey required. In addition, a 
Great Crested Newts survey 
required  

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

P
age 980



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

within 250m of a great crested newt 
site BAP Habitat. 
 
The site also falls within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

environmental 
sustainability. There would 
be potential for a negative 
impact on environmental 
sustainability unless the 
site was developed in line 
with the Landscape 
Assessment and 
appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measure were 
implemented so that any 
protected species were not 
adversely affected. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB. 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) (2011) indicates 
that development of this site would 
be acceptable subject to protection 
and enhancement measures 

Landscape Assessment 
indicates the following 
protection and enhancement 
would be required:  
- Boundary hedgerows and 

trees and could be in 
conjunction with 
neighbouring sites. 

- Views from the 
surrounding countryside 
would need to be carefully 
considered and 

- New planting would be 
important in integrating the 
buildings into the 
landscape 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

0 

Small in scale so likely to be a 
neutral impact Development would 
not be out of keeping with the 
existing settlement pattern 

Development should be 
sensitively designed 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability although has 
the potential to improve the 
built environment through a 
well designed scheme. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

0 
There are no heritage assets on or 
near to the site  

 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 Unlikely to have an impact  There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in accordance 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 0? Unlikely to have an impact A contamination assessment 

P
age 981



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

soil quality? Suspected contamination at Kiln 
Farm due to brick and tile works.   

required. with the contamination 
assessment Development 
of the site is unlikely to 
have an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ2) with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater 
Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

- 

A small part of the north eastern area 
of the site is within a groundwater 
emergence zone. The site lies within 
the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone.  

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SuDS would need to be 
provided 

A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding. Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation can 
be put in place.measures 
should reduce this impact.  

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 

 

P
age 982



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects. The site is close to local services and 
facilities with opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on sustainability. Development on this site has the potential to improve the built environment through a 
well designed scheme. 
The site is located in the AONB close to a site with great created newts, without appropriate mitigation measures development could have a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability. The site is at risk from groundwater flooding. Flood risk can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless appropriate mitigation measures are 
provided.  
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location is within the AONB. However, a LSA has been carried out which concludes 
that the site has potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the site is 
close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is therefore also potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures are implemented as set out in the assessments.  
 
Part of the site is within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put 
into place to reduce any potential negative impacts.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Kintbury 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 

P
age 983



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: KIN009 Site Address: 
Land to the east of 
Layland Green, Kintbury 

Development 
Potential:  

16 dwellings 
(0.8ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation  

 

Justification: 
The site would need to be allocated and developed as part of a wider allocation to improve the site’s 
relationship to the existing settlement and gain access. Development of a larger group of sites would be out 
of keeping with the role and function of Kintbury as a service village. Other sites in Kintbury are considered 
more appropriate for development.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB, a Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has been carried out that indicates 
that development on the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject to mitigation measures to 
ensure the protection and enhancement of existing landscape features. 
 
A small part of the north eastern area of the site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. The site has 
been identified by the Environment Agency as lying within a groundwater vulnerability zone.  As a result a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be required to support a planning application, along with the 
implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation measures.  
 
The site is close to Kintbury Newt Ponds which hosts a large population of Great Created Newts.  An 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey would therefore be required together with a survey of all ponds within 
250m to the south and east of the site for Great Created Newts. 
 
There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to the old brick and tile works and so a contamination 
assessment would be required.  
 
The site is underlain with clay and so a methodology for foundation design would be required 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Kintbury, close to local services and facilities, including open countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located in the AONB. The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2011) indicates that development 
on the site would be appropriate as long as the mitigation measures set out in the assessment are adhered 
to.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in flood zone 1, but a small part of the north eastern area of the site lies within the in a 
groundwater emergence zone. A FRA would be required and SuDS would need to be provided.  
Clay soil would mean foundations would need to be much deeper and include protection against clay 
heave and maybe suspended ground floors. Clay soil would also restrict the scope for sustainable drainage 
systems which would mean that surface water from the site would have to be piped directly into existing 
surface water drains. A methodology for foundation design should be submitted. 
 
Highways /Transport: 
Access to the site would require adjacent sites to be developed.  
 
Considering the expected size of the development, no significant impact on the wider highway network is 
anticipated. 
 
The site is close to Kintbury railway station which provides links to London and the west country. Bus 
service number 3 (2 hourly) passes nearby along Holt Road and Newbury Street providing up to five 
services each way between Newbury and Hungerford. Bus stops exist nearby that can be reached by 
pedestrians. 
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 984



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

There are local opportunities for walking and cycling within the village. Existing footways are available 
nearby that the site can connect onto. 
 
Ecology: 
Within 250m of a great crested newt site BAP habitat. A great crested newt survey would be required.  
The site lies close to a Local Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT nature reserve (Kintbury Newt Ponds) 
and which hosts a large breeding population of Great Crested Newts.  An extended Phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested 
Newt survey will also be required. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be 
implemented to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
 
The site is within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area and so the Council will pursue net gains for biodiversity in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS17. 
 
Archaeology: 
No known archaeological issues 
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made on secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air or noise or contamination issues. There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to the 
old brick and tile works and so a contamination assessment would be required. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone 
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ2. The EA has no in principle objections to 
development in SPZs. 
 
Thames Water: 
No comments made on this site 
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council noted that this site is situated on old clay workings and many of the houses in the 
neighbouring residential area have had to be underpinned due to subsidence. Drainage is seen as an issue 
as there are springs at the top of the hill and the area is very boggy. The Parish Council considers that 
some infill development in this area would not be completely inappropriate, although they would not like to 
see a large development. 
 
Preferred options Consultation – key issues 
1 response was received for the site.  The main issue raised was regarding: 

 Principle of development 
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
The site is located in the AONB close to a site with great created newts, without appropriate mitigation 
measures development could have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. The site is at risk 
from groundwater flooding. Flood risk can have a negative impact on all elements of sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation measures are provided.  
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral impact. There are no significant sustainability issues with 
this site. The site is close to local services and facilities with opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a 
positive impact on sustainability. Development on the site has the potential to improve the built environment 

Page 985



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

through a well designed scheme. There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental 
sustainability due to  the site’s location within the AONB. However, a LSA has been carried out which 
concludes that the site has potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the site is close to a site with 
Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are implemented. Part of the site is within a groundwater 
emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate 
mitigation measures would need to be put into place to reduce any potential negative  impacts.  The 
development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing 
development contributes towards economic development in the short term through the construction of the 
site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site was promoted as one of a number of sites in this area of Kintbury, promoted as a whole and 
individually. Development would be in a range of dwellings and include affordable housing. 

 
 
 

Page 986



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: KIN010 Site Address:  Land to the east of Layland Green, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 49 dwellings (2.45ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- Poor relationship to existing settlement – site is not adjacent to the settlement without other sites being developed 
- Potential impact on the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 

 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Parish Council noted that this site is situated on old clay workings and many of the houses in the 
neighbouring residential area have had to be underpinned due to subsidence. Drainage is seen as an 
issue as there are springs at the top of the hill and the area is very boggy. The Parish Council do not 
want to see the village extended to the east / south east. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

U 

Unknown. Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
(LSA) not undertaken as the site was assessed as 
not currently developable in the SHLAA.  
LSAs on KIN015 and KIN008 concluded that the 
areas adjacent to this site could not be developed 
without causing significant harm to the natural 
beauty of the AONB 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N The site is not adjacent to the settlement boundary 
and is detached from the current settlement 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 987



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 

 

Site ID: KIN014 Site Address:  Land to the west of Kintbury, Hungerford Road  

 

Development Potential: 12 dwellings (0.6ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Not currently developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

 Key Issues: 
- The northern part of the site is in Flood Zone 3.  
- Poor relationship to Kintbury, not adjacent to the settlement boundary. 
- The site is detached from the settlement and is not well related to Kintbury   
- Potential impact on the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council considered the site would be inappropriate for development are not keen to see 
these sites developed as they would lead to the village extending to the east. The developer has 
spoken to the Parish Council. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  Y 
The northern part of the site is within flood zones 3 
and 2 

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

U 
Unknown. Landscape Assessment not carried out 
as site assessed as not currently developable in 
the SHLAA.   

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable Y Flood risk and poor relationship to Kintbury 

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Not adjacent to the settlement boundary The site is 
detached from the settlement and is not well 
related to Kintbury 

*  Any ‘yes’ response will rule the site out 
 
 
  

Spatial Area AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury  

Page 988



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN015 Site Address:  Land to the east of Layland Green, Kintbury  

 

Development Potential: 29 dwellings (1.44ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable  

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB – only part of the site is considered suitable for development. The development of the site as a whole would be out of 

character and would result in the loss of woodland as well as housing at a high elevation. 
- Flood risk (surface water) 
- Relationship to settlement – the site is separated from the main settlement by a narrow gap of open land in KIN 006, 007 and 

009 site is not adjacent to existing settlement without development of other sites 
- The site lies within the EA’s groundwater vulnerability zone. The site has underlying clay.  A FRA required.   
- The site is close to a Great Crested Newt breeding site. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey required with an additional Great 

Crested Newt survey  
- Overhead power lines 
- There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to brick and tile works. A contamination assessment required. 
- As the site is underlain with clay a methodology for foundation design would be required 
 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

The Parish Council noted that this site is situated on old clay workings and many of the houses in the 
neighbouring residential area have had to be underpinned due to subsidence. Drainage is seen as an 
issue as there are springs at the top of the hill and the area is very boggy.  Part of the site is steeply 
sloping. The Parish Council considers that some infill development in this area would not be completely 
inappropriate, although they would not like to see a large development. 

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

P 

Potential. Landscape Assessment indicates that 
development on part of the site would be 
acceptable. The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (2011) indicates that part of the site is 
suitable for development subject to the protection 
and enhancement of certain landscape features. 
The development of the site as a whole would be 
out of character and would result in the loss of 
woodland as well as housing at a high elevation. 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N  

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N U 
Site lies with the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone 

Surface water flood risk Y  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N U 
Suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to 
brick and tile works.  A contamination assessment 
required. 

Other N  

Highways / Transport  Access issues N 
It would seem possible to achieve an access with 
adequate sight lines onto Layland Green, but this 
would need to be to the south of the site.  

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 989



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Highway network suitability U 

Development of 29 dwellings would be likely to 
generate approximately 174 daily vehicle 
movements, including about 17 during the 08:00 
to 09:00 AM peak.  

Public Transport network Y 
Kintbury is serviced by a railway line, and 
infrequent bus services (2 hourly) between 
Newbury and Hungerford.  

Footways/Pavements U 
There are narrow intermittent pavements through 
the village. Footways would need to be provided 
along Layland Green.  

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space nearby 

Y  

Rights of Way affected N  

Play areas nearby Y  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Within 250m of a great crested newt site. BAP 
Habitat. 

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N 
Part of the site is wooded, although none of the 
trees are covered by Tree Preservation Orders.  

Local Wildlife Site N 
Within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site (LWS) (on 
opposite side of road) 

Nature Reserve N 

The LWS is also a BBOWT owned nature reserve 
(Kintbury Newt Ponds) which hosts a large 
breeding population of Great Crested Newts. An 
extended Phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required together with further detailed surveys 
arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested 
Newt survey will also be required. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures would need 
to be implemented to ensure any protected 
species were not adversely affected. 

Other (eg. BOA) Y Within Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 

Site is poorly related to the main settlement of 
Kintbury is separated from the main settlement by 
a narrow gap of open land in KIN 006, 007 and 
009.  

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage impact  

Archaeology Y 
Post medieval brickworks on the site. Further 
assessment required.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

Y Overhead power lines cross the site 

Water supply U TW Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Wastewater U TW Thames Water not consulted on this site 
Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2. High risk of contamination to groundwater 

AWE consultation zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N Area of former clay workings 

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
KIN009, KIN010, KIN007, KIN006  

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 
 

Page 990



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN015 Site Address: Land to the east of Layland Green, Kintbury Development Potential:  29 dwellings (1.44ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field 
meaning that development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to the leisure centre 
(Jubilee Leisure Centre and playing 
fields) 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
village is served by a railway station 
and a 2 hourly bus service between 
Newbury and Hungerford 

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. In addition 
employment opportunities 
can be accessed via rail 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. There are public transport 
opportunities within the village – 
there is a 2 hourly bus service and 
railway. However, the degree of car 
dependency is still likely to be high. 

 
Kintbury does offer travel 
choices given the proximity 
of the railway station. There 
are opportunities for 
walking and cycling and a 
bus service to and from the 
village  

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, but any 
development would also have the 
potential to improve road safety. 

 

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 

The site is within 250m of a great 
crested newt site. 
The site lies very close to a Local 
Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT 
nature reserve (Kintbury Newt 

An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey required. In addition a 
Great Crested Newt survey is 
required  Great crested newt 
survey required  

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

P
age 991



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Ponds) which hosts a large breeding 
population of Great Crested Newts. 
 
There are Tree Preservation Orders 
across the site. 
 
The site is located within a 
Biodiversity Opportunity Area  
 

environmental 
sustainability.  
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
and appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measure 
were implemented so that 
any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB. 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) (2011) indicates 
that development would only be 
suitable on a limited area of the site  

Landscape Assessment LSA 
indicates the site would be 
suitable for a very limited 
development of very low 
density to match that existing 
on the site and located to 
ensure the retention and 
protection of the existing 
woodland and other valuable 
trees and hedges 

6. To ensure that the built, 
historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? -  

The site is not adjacent to the 
settlement boundary and is 
separated from the main settlement 
by a narrow gap of open land in KIN 
006, 007 and 009. The development 
of the site as a whole would be out of 
character and would result in the loss 
of woodland as well as housing at a 
high elevation. 

It would require other sites to 
come forward for the site to be 
acceptable in respect of impact 
on the built environment 

Development here could 
have a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.   

Will it conserve and 
enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 
There are post Medieval brick works 
on the site 

Further assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 Unlikely to have an impact  There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability Will the site be at risk from, 0 Unlikely to have an impact  

P
age 992



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

throughout West Berkshire or impact on, noise levels? unless the site was 
developed in accordance 
with the contamination 
assessment Development 
of the site is unlikely to 
have an impact on any 
element of sustainability. 

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 0 ? 

Unlikely to have an impact 
Suspected contamination at Kiln 
Farm due to brick and tile works.   

A contamination assessment 
required. 

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 

0 ? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ2) with a high risk of 
contamination to groundwater 
Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The greenfield nature of the 
site means that there could 
be a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques and the 
promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

 - ? 

The site is at risk from surface water 
flooding 
The site lies within the EA’s 
groundwater vulnerability zone. The 
underlying clay is likely to mean an 
engineered drainage solution will be 
required to manage surface water 
drainage. 

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SuDS would need to be 
provided.  
A methodology for foundation 
design would need to be 
provided. 

A  FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding. Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures can be put in 
place. Unlikely to have an 
impact on any element of 
sustainability. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 

P
age 993



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant effects. The site is close to local services and facilities, with 
opportunities for walking and cycling which give a positive impact on sustainability.  
The site is located within the AONB, the landscape assessment indicates that part of the site would be suitable for development as long as the mitigation measures set out are 
adhered to, without these mitigation measures there could be a negative impact on environmental sustainability. The site is poorly related to the existing settlement pattern unless 
other sites were developed, giving a negative impact on environmental sustainability.  The site is also in a surface water flood risk area. With appropriate mitigation measures the 
potential negative impact on all elements of sustainability should be reduced.  
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB and its location relative to the main settlement of Kintbury.  
However, a LSA has been carried out which concludes that some of the site has the potential to deliver a very limited number of dwellings without causing harm to the natural beauty 
and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.   
 
As the site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures are implemented.  
 
Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put into place to reduce any potential negative impacts.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 

P
age 994



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Scale: AONB - Kintbury 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 
 

P
age 995



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: KIN015 Site Address: 
Land to the east of 
Layland Green, Kintbury 

Development 
Potential:  

29 dwellings 
(1.44ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation  

 

Justification: 
The site is not that well related to the existing settlement without development taking place on some 
adjacent sites. poorly related to the existing settlement without other sites being developed. Development 
of KIN015, with other sites, would be out of keeping with the role and function of Kintbury as a service 
village. 
 
The development of the site as a whole would be out of character and would result in the loss of woodland 
as well as housing at a high elevation.  The site would only be suitable for a very limited development of 
very low density to match that existing on the site and located to ensure the retention and protection of the 
existing woodland and other valuable trees and hedges.  
 
Other sites in Kintbury are considered more appropriate for development.  
 
The site has been identified by the Environment Agency as lying within a groundwater vulnerability zone.  
The site is also likely to be underlain by clay.  As a result a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) would be 
required to support a planning application, along with the implementation of appropriate flood risk mitigation 
measures.  
 
The site is close to Kintbury Newt Ponds which hosts a large population of Great Created Newts.  An 
extended Phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with further detailed surveys arising from that 
as necessary. A Great Crested Newt survey would also be required. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures would need to be implemented to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
 
There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to the old brick and tile works and so a contamination 
assessment would be required.  
 
The site is underlain with clay and so a methodology for foundation design would be required 
 
Further archaeological assessment would be required 
 

 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south of Kintbury and is separated from the main settlement by a narrow gap of 
open land in KIN 006, 007 and 009. Overhead power lines cross the site. 
 The site is poorly related to existing development in Kintbury. boundary  
 
Landscape:  
The site is located within the AONB. The Landscape Assessment indicates that only part of the site would 
be suitable for development, subject to the mitigation measures set out in the assessment the site would be 
suitable for a very limited development of very low density to match that existing on the site and located to 
ensure the retention and protection of the existing woodland and other valuable trees and hedges.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1, but at risk from ground and surface water flooding but within a surface water 
flood risk area. There is anecdotal evidence that there are drainage issues on the site. A FRA would be 
required and SuDS provided.  
Clay soil would mean foundations would need to be much deeper and include protection against clay 
heave and maybe suspended ground floors. Clay soil would also restrict the scope for sustainable drainage 
systems which would mean that surface water from the site would have to be piped directly into existing 
surface water drains. A methodology for foundation design should be submitted. 
 
Highways /Transport: 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 996



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

It would seem possible to get access with adequate sight lines from the southern part of the site form 
Layland Green. Extensive new footways would be required along Layland Green to connect the site to 
existing footways.  
 
The site is close to Kintbury railway station which provides links to London and the west country. There is 
an infrequent bus service (2 hourly) linking Kintbury with Newbury and Hungerford. There are local 
opportunities for walking and cycling within the village. 
 
Ecology: 
The site lies very close to a Local Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT nature reserve (Kintbury Newt 
Ponds) and which hosts a large breeding population of Great Crested Newts.  Local environmental records 
indicate that Great Crested Newts are using the ponds within the site. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required and an additional survey for Great Crested Newts. 
 
The site is within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area and so the Council will pursue net gains for biodiversity in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS17. The site is within 250m of a great crested newt site, so a 
survey would be required. The site is within a Biodiversity Action Plan and in a BAP habitat.  
 
Archaeology: 
Post medieval brickworks on the site. An assessment and evaluation to explore the nature of the remains 
and the extent of their survival would be required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made about secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air or noise or contamination issues. There is suspected contamination at Kiln Farm due to the 
old brick and tile works and so a contamination assessment would be required. 
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues. There is an area of former clay workings in the site 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ2 with a high risk of contamination to 
groundwater.  The EA has no in principle objections to development within SPZs.  
 
Thames Water: 
TW not consulted on this site  
 
Parish Council: 
The Parish Council noted that this site is situated on old clay workings and many of the houses in the 
neighbouring residential area have had to be underpinned due to subsidence. Drainage is seen as an issue 
as there are springs at the top of the hill and the area is very boggy.  Part of the site is steeply sloping. The 
Parish Council considers that some infill development in this area would not be completely inappropriate, 
although they would not like to see a large development. 
 
Preferred options Consultation key issues 
No responses were received for this site.   
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
issues with this site. The site is close to local services and facilities, with opportunities for walking and 
cycling which give a positive impact on sustainability. There is also the potential for a negative impact on 

Page 997



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB and its location relative to the main settlement of 
Kintbury.  However, a LSA has been carried out which concludes that some of the site has the potential to deliver a 
very limited number of dwellings without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB subject 
to a number of mitigation measures.  As the site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability, unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are 
implemented. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures 
would need to be put into place to reduce any potential negative impacts.  The development of the site for housing will 
have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and 
business development in the longer term. 

The site is located within the AONB, the landscape assessment indicates that part of the site would be 
suitable for development as long as the mitigation measures set out are adhered to, without these 
mitigation measures there could be a negative impact on environmental sustainability. The site is poorly 
related to the existing settlement pattern unless other sites were developed, giving a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability.  The site is also in a surface water flood risk area. With appropriate mitigation 
measures the potential negative impact on all elements of sustainability should be reduced.  
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site was promoted as one of a number of sites in this area of Kintbury, promoted as a whole and 
individually. Development would be in a range of dwellings and include affordable housing. 

 
 
 

Page 998



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN016 Site Address:  Land at Deane, Inkpen Road, Kintbury 

 

Development Potential: 18 dwellings (0.9ha at 20dph) SHLAA Assessment: Potentially Developable 

 
Summary of Site Assessment 

Key Issues:  
- AONB 
- Significant concerns regarding traffic impact on the highway network 
- Development should be contained in the northern part of the site only.  Development of the whole site would extend the 

settlement south beyond the current development along  Inkpen Road and west which would erode the linear nature of the 
settlement along the west side of Inkpen Road 

- A very small part of the  site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and the EA’s groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA 
required.   

- The site is close to a Great Crested Newt breeding site. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey would be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested Newt survey would also be required. Appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented to ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 

 
Site Assessment 

 

Parish Council 
consultation response: 

Access to the site could be an issue as there are lots of junctions onto Inkpen Road near to the site. 
There are no pavements along the road at this point. Traffic generated from the site would travel 
through the village to get to the A4. The site has a rural, remote feel and is the start of the countryside 
as you leave the village. There is the feeling that the village stops before the site.  
General feeling from the parish council is that development of this site would urbanise the rural area 
and would create visual harm to the surrounding character of the area.  

 

A) Automatic exclusion 

Criteria Yes/No* Comments 

Less than 5 dwellings  N  

Planning Permission  N  

Within flood zone 3  N  

Within significant 
national or 
international habitat / 
environmental / 
historical protection  

SSSI N  

SAC N  

SPA N  

Registered Battlefield N  

Grade 1 / II* Park and Gardens N  

Landscape 
Adverse impact on the character of 
AONB (from LSA) 

P 
Potential. A The Landscape Capacity  Assessment 
(2014) has recommended that there is potential for 
development on part of the site 

SHLAA Assessment Not currently developable N  

Land Use Protected Employment Land N  

AWE consultation zone Inner N  

Relative scale in 
relation to settlement 
role and function 

Inappropriate in scale to the role 
and function of settlement within 
the settlement hierarchy 

N  

Within settlement 
Boundary 

 N Adjacent to the settlement boundary 

* Any yes response will rule the site out 
 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Land use 
Previously Developed Land  N Greenfield 

Racehorse Industry  N  

Flood risk 

Flood Zone 2 N  

Groundwater flood risk N U 

A very small area in the northern part of the 
site lies within a groundwater emergence 
zone.  The site lies within the EA’s 
groundwater vulnerability zone.   

Surface water flood risk N  

Critical Drainage Area N  

Contamination / 
pollution 

Air Quality  N  

Contaminated Land N  

Other N  

Highways / Transport  

Access issues N 
With the available land it is anticipated  that an 
access with adequate sight lines onto Inkpen 
Road  can be achieved 

Highway network suitability Y U 

There are significant concerns about the traffic 
impacts of development as Most traffic to and 
from the site will pass through the centre of 
Kintbury. The Inkpen Road / High Street junction 
is restricted regarding width and sight lines and 
extensive on street car parking within the High 

Spatial Area:  AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 999



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Street also limits potential for additional traffic 
flow. However, it is not considered that the 
increase in traffic at this junction (in relation to all 
the existing traffic using this junction) would be of 
sufficient concern to prevent allocation of this site. 

Public Transport network Y 

Kintbury is serviced by a railway line, and 
infrequent bus services (2 hourly) between 
Newbury and Hungerford. Bus service number 3 
passes along Inkpen Road providing up to five 
services each way between Newbury and 
Hungerford. Bus stops exist nearby that can be 
reached by pedestrians. 

Footways/Pavements U 
There are narrow intermittent pavements through 
the village. Existing footways are available nearby 
that the site can connect into 

Landscape 

Located in AONB Y  

Located within an area of High 
Landscape Sensitivity (from Core 
Strategy  LSS) 

N/A  

Other N  

Green Infrastructure 

Open Space / Playing field / 
Amenity Space 

Y  

Rights of Way N  

Play areas Y  

Ecology / Environmental 
/ Geological 

Protected species U 
Within 250m of great crested newt site. Survey 
required.  

Ancient woodland N  

Tree Preservation Orders N  

Local Wildlife Site A N 
Within 250m of Local Wildlife Site (LWS) (on 
opposite side of the road) 

Nature Reserve N 

The LWS is also a BBOWT owned nature reserve 
(Kintbury Newt Ponds) which hosts a large 
breeding population of Great Crested Newts 
(GCN). An extended Phase 1 habitat survey 
would be required together with further detailed 
surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great 
Crested Newt survey would also be required. 
Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
would need to be implemented to ensure any 
protected species were not adversely affected. 

Other (eg. BOA) A N Adjacent to Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

Relationship to 
surrounding area 

Relationship to settlement U 

The northern part of the site is well related to the 
existing settlement.  
Development of the whole site would extend the 
settlement south beyond the current development 
along Inkpen Road and west which would erode 
the linear nature of the settlement along the west 
side of Inkpen Road 

Incompatible adjacent land uses N  

Heritage  

Archaeology N 
There is an unlisted house on the site which has 
been marked on OS maps since the first edition. 
Further investigation required.  

Conservation area N  

Listed buildings N  

Scheduled Monument N  

Utility Services 

Presence of over head cables / 
underground pipes 

N  

Water supply U Y 
Thames Water has no concerns No comments 
made on this site 

Wastewater U Y 
Thames Water has no concerns No comments 
made on this site 

Groundwater source protection 
zone (SPZ) 

Y SPZ2  

AWE consultation Zone 
Middle N  

Outer N  

Proximity to railway line  N  

Minerals and Waste 

Minerals preferred area N  

Mineral consultation area N  

Minerals/Waste site N  

Other N  

Relationship to / in 
combination effects of 
other sites 

List of neighbouring sites: 
KIN011  

Page 1000



Site Selection – Site Assessment 

 

B) Considerations 

Criteria 
Yes / No / 
Unknown 

Comments 

Other (anything else to 
be considered)  

 

 

Page 1001



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

 
 

Site ID: KIN016 Site Address: Land at Deane, Inkpen Road, Kintbury Development Potential:  18 dwellings (0.9ha at 20dph) 

 
Key: Effects of option on SA objectives 

++ + ? 0 - - - 

Significantly Positive Positive Uncertain Neutral Negative Significantly Negative 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

2. To improve health and 
well being and reduce 
inequalities 

Will it support and 
encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles? 

+ 

The site has easy access to the 
countryside, and is close to local 
services and facilities which would 
enable walking and cycling 

 
The site is close to local 
services and facilities 
including a local leisure 
centre and playing field 
meaning that development 
of the site is likely to have a 
positive impact on social 
and environmental 
sustainability 

Will it increase opportunities 
for access to sports 
facilities? 

+ 
The site is close to the leisure centre 
(Jubilee leisure centre and playing 
fields) 

 

Will it protect and enhance 
green infrastructure across 
the district? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

3. To safeguard and 
improve accessibility to 
services and facilities 

Will it improve access to 
education, employment 
services and facilities?  

+ 

The site is close to local services and 
facilities within the village. The 
village is served by a railway station 
and a 2 hourly bus service between 
Newbury and Hungerford 

 

The proximity to local 
services and facilities 
means that the site should 
have a positive economic 
sustainability. In addition 
employment opportunities 
can be accessed via rail 

4. To improve and promote 
opportunities for 
sustainable travel 

Will it increase travel 
choices, especially 
opportunities for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport? 

+ 

Within the village there are a number 
of opportunities for walking and 
cycling. There are public transport 
opportunities within the village – 
there is a 2 hourly bus service and 
railway. However, the degree of car 
dependency is still likely to be high. 

 
Kintbury does offer travel 
choices given the proximity 
of the railway station. There 
are opportunities for 
walking and cycling and a 
bus service to and from the 
village. This impacts 
positively on sustainability. 
However, additional traffic 
introduces a negative 
effect. 

Will it reduce the number of 
road traffic accidents and 
improve safety? 

-? 

Additional traffic could result in road 
safety concerns, as most traffic to 
and from the site will pass through 
the centre of Kintbury. The Inkpen 
Road / High Street junction is 
restricted regarding width and sight 
lines and extensive on street car 
parking within the High Street also 
limits potential for additional traffic 

Mitigation measures will be 
required. 
It is not considered that the 
increase in traffic at the Inkpen 
Road / High Street junction (in 
relation to all the existing traffic 
using this junction) is of 
sufficient concern to prevent 
allocation of this site for 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

P
age 1002



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

flow. housing at this level of 
development.   

5. To protect and enhance 
the natural environment 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the biodiversity 
and geodiversity assets 
across West Berkshire? 

? 

The site adjacent to a Local Wildlife 
Site and is within 250m of a great 
crested newt site 
The site lies very close to a Local 
Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT 
nature reserve (Kintbury Newt 
Ponds) which hosts a large breeding 
population of Great Crested Newts.  

An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey with an additional Great 
Crested Newt survey required.  
Great crested newt survey 
required 

Without mitigation 
measures as set out in the 
Landscape Assessment 
there would be potential for 
a negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  
There would be potential 
for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
and appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation measure 
were implemented so that 
any protected species were 
not adversely affected. 
 

Will it conserve and 
enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the landscape? 

- 

The site is located within the AONB. 
The Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LSA) (2011)  indicates 
there is potential for that 
development could be 
accommodated on part of the site  
without harm to the natural beauty of 
the AONB though the settlement 
form would be affected. 

Landscape Assessment 
indicates the site would be 
suitable for a very limited 
development of very low 
density to match that existing 
on the site located to ensure 
the retention and protection of 
the existing woodland and 
other valuable trees and 
hedges. LSA concluded that 
development should be 
contained in the northern part 
of the site and would be subject 
to: 
The retention, protection and 
enhancement of the tree belt 
along Inkpen Road with new 
infill tree planting and planting 
of a hedgerow 
Access from Inkpen Road 
through a gap in the tree belt 
and subject to assessment of 
impacts on existing trees 
Careful assessment of impacts 
on significant landscape 
features and wider visibility 
The retention and 
enhancement of existing tree 
belts and new hedgerow 
planting    

6. To ensure that the built, Will it conserve and 0- The northern part of the site is well It would require other sites to There would be potential 

P
age 1003



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

historic and cultural 
environment is conserved 
and enhanced 

enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the 
character of the built 
environment? 

related to the settlement 
Development of the whole site would 
extend the settlement south beyond 
the current development along 
Inkpen Road and west which would 
erode the linear nature of the 
settlement along the west side of 
Inkpen Road 

come forward for the site to be 
acceptable in respect of impact 
on the built environment 
 
Development should be 
sensitively designed 

for a negative impact on 
environmental sustainability 
unless the site was 
developed in line with the 
Landscape Assessment 
Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. Will it conserve and 

enhance the significance of 
the District’s heritage 
assets? 

? 

More work required. There is an 
unlisted house on the site which has 
been marked on Ordnance Survey 
maps since the first edition 

Further assessment required 

Will it promote, conserve 
and enhance the District’s 
cultural assets? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will it provide for increased 
access to and enjoyment of 
the historic environment? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

7. To protect and improve 
air, water and soil quality, 
and minimise noise levels 
throughout West Berkshire 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, air quality?  

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 

Will the site be at risk from, 
or impact on, noise levels? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
soil quality? 

0 Unlikely to have an impact  

Will there be an impact on 
water quality? 0? 

It is within a Source Protection Zone 
(SPZ2) Unlikely to have an impact 

The EA has no in principle 
objections to development in 
SPZs. 

8. To improve the efficiency 
of land use 

Will it maximise the use of 
previously developed land 
and buildings? - Site is greenfield  

The Greenfield nature of 
the site means that there 
could be a negative impact 
on environmental 
sustainability. 

10. To reduce emissions 
contributing to climate 
change and ensure 
adaptation measures are in 
place to respond to climate 
change 

Will it reduce West 
Berkshire’s contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions? 

? 
The level of impact depends on 
location, building materials / 
construction, transport / design 

Mitigation could also include 
Transport Assessment / Travel 
Plans.  

Without consideration of 
sustainability construction 
techniques techniques and 
the promotion of alternative 
modes of transport, 
development could have a 
negative impact on 
environmental 
sustainability.  

P
age 1004



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

SA Objective Criteria Effects of 
option on SA 
objectives 

Justification for assessment:  
 

Mitigation / enhancement Comment  
inc. reference to Social, 
Economic and Environmental 
Sustainability 

Will the site be subject to / 
at risk from flooding 

0 - 

The site is not at risk from flooding 
A very small area in the northern part 
of the site lies within a groundwater 
emergence zone.  The site lies within 
the EA’s groundwater vulnerability 
zone.   

A FRA and appropriate flood 
mitigation measures including 
SuDS would need to be 
provided. 
 

Development of the site is 
unlikely to have an impact 
on any element of 
sustainability. 
A FRA will highlight the 
mitigation measures 
required to minimise the 
risk of flooding.  Flooding 
can have a negative impact 
on all elements of 
sustainability unless 
appropriate mitigation 
measures can be put in 
place. 

11. To ensure a strong, 
diverse and sustainable 
economic base 

Will it enable the provision 
of high quality economic 
development which 
responds to business needs 
and delivers a range of 
employment opportunities? 

0 Not considered relevant  

The development of the site 
for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic 
sustainability. Whilst 
housing development 
contributes towards 
economic development in 
the short term through the 
construction of the site, it is 
not seen to promote key 
business sectors and 
business development in 
the longer term. 
   

Will it promote and support 
key business sectors and 
utilise employment land 
effectively and efficiently? 

0 

The site is greenfield and there will 
be no loss of employment land 
through the development of the site 
for housing, No employment use 
development is proposed for the site. 
 
The development of the site for 
housing will have an overall neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

Will it promote and support 
the vitality and viability of 
the District’s commercial 
centres?  

0 

Housing development provides 
additional workforce and customers 
which has the potential to support 
commercial centres however the site 
is not for employment generating 
uses in such commercial centres. 
The development of the site for 
housing only will have a neutral 
effect on economic sustainability. 

 

 
 
 

P
age 1005



Site Selection – Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Summary 

Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects. The site is close to local services and 
facilities, with opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on sustainability. There is concern over traffic impact on road safety, which without mitigation measures 
could have a negative impact on all element of sustainability. The site is located in the AONB and close to a great crested newt site, without appropriate mitigation measures 
development could lead to a negative impact on environmental sustainability.  
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any significant sustainability effects. The site is close to local services and 

facilities with good opportunities for walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on sustainability. The site is not anticipated to have a significant traffic impact on the wider 
highway network at this level of development.  
 
There is also the potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB. However, a LSA has been carried out which concludes 
that part of the site has potential to deliver housing without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of mitigation measures.  As the 
site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
are implemented.  
 
A very small part of the site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would 
need to be put into place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.   
 
The development of the site for housing will have a neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic development in the short 
term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Summary of effects: 
Effect: Predominantly neutral 
Likelihood: High 
Scale: AONB - Kintbury 
Duration: Permanent 
Timing: Short to Long term  

 

P
age 1006



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

 

Site ID: KIN016 Site Address: 
Land at Deane, Inkpen 
Road, Kintbury 

Development 
Potential:  

18 dwellings  
(0.9ha at 20dph) 

 

Recommendation: 
 The site is not recommended for allocation 

 

Justification: 
Significant concerns about the traffic impact of development on the highway network  
 
Other sites in Kintbury are considered more appropriate for development.  
 
Whilst the site is within the AONB, a Landscape Capacity Assessment has been carried out that indicates 
that development on the northern part of the site would be acceptable in landscape terms, subject to 
mitigation measures to ensure the protection and enhancement of existing landscape features. 
Development of the whole site would extend the settlement south beyond the current development along  
Inkpen Road and west which would erode the linear nature of the settlement along the west side of Inkpen 
Road 
 
A very small part of the  site lies within a groundwater emergence zone and an EA’s groundwater 
vulnerability zone.  A FRA required.   
 
The site is close to a Great Crested Newt breeding site. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey would be 
required together with further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great Crested Newt survey 
would also be required. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures would need to be implemented to 
ensure any protected species were not adversely affected. 
Discussion: 
Site Description: 
The site is located to the south west of Kintbury, close to local services and facilities and the open 
countryside.  
 
Landscape:  
The site is in the AONB. The Landscape Assessment indicates that the northern part of the site would be 
suitable for development as long as the mitigation measures set out in the landscape assessment are 
adhered to. Development of the whole site would extend the settlement south beyond the current 
development along Inkpen Road and west which would erode the linear nature of the settlement along the 
west side of Inkpen Road 
 
Flood Risk: 
The site is in Flood Zone 1. A very small area in the northern part of the site lies within a groundwater 
emergence zone.  The site lies within the EA’s groundwater vulnerability zone.  A FRA would be required 
and SuDS would need to be provided.  
 
Highways /Transport: 
 
With the available land it is anticipated  that an access with adequate sight lines onto Inkpen Road  can be 
achieved. 
There is significant concern regarding the traffic impact of development on the highway network. Most 
traffic to and from the site will pass through the centre of Kintbury. there is concern over the impact on The 
Inkpen Road / High Street junction is restricted regarding width and sight lines and extensive on street car 
parking within the High Street also limits potential for additional traffic flow. However, it is not considered 
that the increase in traffic at this junction (in relation to all the existing traffic using this junction) is of 
sufficient concern to prevent allocation of this site. 
  
The site is close to Kintbury railway station which provides links to London and the west country. There is 
an infrequent bus service (2 hourly) linking Kintbury with Newbury and Hungerford. Bus service number 3 
passes along Inkpen Road providing up to five services each way between Newbury and Hungerford. Bus 
stops exist nearby that can be reached by pedestrians. Existing footways are available nearby that the site 
can connect into. There are local opportunities for walking and cycling within the village.  
 

Spatial Area: AONB Settlement: Kintbury Parish:  Kintbury 

Page 1007



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

Ecology: 
The site is within 250m of a great crested newt site, so a survey would be required. The site is within a BAP 
habitat.  
The site lies very close to a Local Wildlife Site which is also a BBOWT nature reserve (Kintbury Newt 
Ponds) and which hosts a large breeding population of Great Crested Newts.  An extended Phase 1 habitat 
survey would be required and an additional survey for Great Crested Newts. 
 
Archaeology: 
There is an unlisted house on the site which is included on the first edition OS maps. Further investigation 
is required.  
 
Education: 
Local primary school provision is close to or at capacity. No comments made regarding secondary school 
provision.  
 
Environmental Health: 
No known air, noise or contamination issues.  
 
Minerals and Waste: 
No known mineral or waste issues 
 
Land use planning consultation zone: 
The site is not within an AWE consultation zone.  
 
Environment Agency: 
No specific comments made on this site. The site is in SPZ2. The EA has no in principle objections to 
development in SPZs 
 
Thames Water: 
No water supply or wastewater infrastructure issues envisaged.  
Thames Water has not raised any concerns regarding water supply/waste water services for this site 
 
Parish Council: 
Access to the site could be an issue as there are lots of junctions onto Inkpen Road near to the site. There 
are no pavements along the road at this point. Traffic generated from the site would travel through the 
village to get to the A4. The site has a rural, remote feel and is the start of the countryside as you leave the 
village. There is the feeling that the village stops before the site.  
 
General feeling from the Parish Council is that development of this site would urbanise the rural area and 
would create visual harm to the surrounding character of the area. 
 
Preferred options Consultation key issues 
No responses were received for this site.   
For all the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
Proposed Submission Consultation – key issues 
No responses were received for the site.   
For the consultation responses and the Council’s response, please see the Statement of Consultation 
 
SA/SEA: 
The SA/SEA indicates a predominantly neutral sustainability impact. There are no significant sustainability 
issues with this site. The site is close to local services and facilities, with opportunities for walking and 
cycling, giving a positive impact on sustainability. There is concern over traffic impact on road safety, which 
without mitigation measures could have a negative impact on all element of sustainability. The site is 
located in the AONB and close to a great crested newt site, without appropriate mitigation measures 
development could lead to a negative impact on environmental sustainability.  
Overall the site is likely to have a neutral effect on sustainability, and the SA/SEA does not highlight any 
significant sustainability effects. The site is close to local services and facilities with good opportunities for 
walking and cycling, giving a positive impact on sustainability. The site is not anticipated to have a 
significant traffic impact on the wider highway network at this level of development. There is also the 
potential for a negative impact on environmental sustainability due to the site’s location within the AONB. 
However, a LSA has been carried out which concludes that part of the site has potential to deliver housing 

Page 1008



Site Selection – Site Commentary 

without causing harm to the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB subject to a number of 
mitigation measures.  As the site is close to a site with Great Crested Newts, there is also potential for a 
negative impact on environmental sustainability unless appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are 
implemented. A very small part of the site lies within a groundwater emergence zone. Flooding has the 
potential to impact on all elements of sustainability.  Appropriate mitigation measures would need to be put 
into place  to reduce any potential negative  impacts.  The development of the site for housing will have a 
neutral effect on economic sustainability. Whilst housing development contributes towards economic 
development in the short term through the construction of the site, it is not seen to promote key business 
sectors and business development in the longer term. 
 
Proposed development (from SHLAA submission):  
The site is proposed for between 30 and 41 dwellings, in keeping with the local vicinity of predominantly 
family housing. It is proposed that a pavement could be constructed within the curtilage of the land along 
Inkpen Road.  

 
 
 

Page 1009



SA/SEA Appendix 10 
 
 
 

Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople Site Assessments 

 
(including Proposed Main Modifications) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

**Changes made following the preferred options consultation are shown as blue underlined text for additions and strikethrough 
text for deletions. Changes made following the proposed submission consultation are shown as green underlined text for 

additions and double strikethrough text for deletions. Changes made in light of the proposed Main Modifications are shown as 
purple underlined text for additions and purple strikethrough text for deletions** 

Page 1010



Site Assessment for Gypsy and Traveller Sites 

 

Site ID: GTTS6B Site Address: 
Clappers Farm – corner of Bloomfield Hatch Lane and Cross 

Lane area of search 

 

 

Development Potential: 
Up to 59 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers The site is not 

recommended for allocation 

 

Site Description: 

The preferred options stage identified a site is located on junction of Bloomfield Hatch Lane and 

Cross Lane approximately 3 miles southwest of Junction 11 of the M4. The sSite is bounded by a 

mature hedgerow fronting the roads to the north west, west and south west  and contains a number 

of agricultural buildings. This site (GTSS6B) was consulted upon as a preferred options allocation in 

2014. 

As tThe identified preferred options site forms part of wider Council landholdings, Clappers Farm, 

and the whole of the site (GTSS6)is now being was considered as an area of search at proposed 

submission stage. The Clappers Farm landholding is approximately 2.5km from Spencers Wood and 

4km from Mortimer. 

Site Location: 

Spatial Area:  East Kennet Valley Settlement: Rural Parish:  Beech Hill 

Page 1011



 

Site Assessment: 

Policy CS7 Criteria Assessment of suitability 

Safe and easy access to major 
roads and public transport 
services 

 Access to the site is obtained off Cross Lane which has a 
speed limit of 60 mph.  

 Surrounding roads are rural in nature and There is with 
no formal footway provisionalong this road. 

 The site area of search not well served by public 
transport. An infrequent bus service passes the site area 
once a day on certain days of the week.  

 There is a railway station approximately 2.5km from the 
area of search. 

 Clappers Farm is just over 1km from the A33 and 
approximately 3.5km to Junction 11 of the M4. 

 The junction with Cross Lane and Bloomfield Hatch Lane 
is of concern due to the poor visibility of on-coming 
traffic. This would require further consideration by 
Highways. 

Easy access to local services 
including a bus route, shops, 
schools and health services 

 The site Clappers Farm area of search is approximately 
2.54km from Spencers Wood, 4km from Burghfield 
Common and 4km from Mortimer, both all of which have 
a range of services and facilities including shops and 
schools.  

 Grazeley Primary School is less than approximately 
1.5km from the site area (although this is within 

Page 1012



Wokingham Borough) 

 The nearest GP surgery is in Mortimer.   

Located outside areas of high 
flooding risk 

 The site is not located within a flood zone and there is no 
evidence of flood risk issues on the site. 

 The southern and south eastern part of the area of 
search lies within flood zones 2 and 3. Development will 
not take place within the flood zones.  

 A Flood Risk Assessment will be required for any 
development proposals. 

Provision for adequate on site 
facilities for parking, storage, play 
and residential amenity 

 SiteThe area of search is of a sufficient size to allow for 
the provision of adequate on site facilities. This will 
require appropriate design.  

The possibility of the integrated 
co-existence between the site and 
the settled community, including 
adequate levels of privacy and 
residential amenity both within 
the site and with neighbouring 
occupiers 

 Although the site The Clappers Farm area of search is 
situated in a rural location there are residential 
properties directly opposite the site, both on Cross Lane 
and Bloomfield Hatch Lane. with dispersed residential 
properties nearby. Some properties lie adjacent to the 
boundary of the area.  

 Potential impact on the privacy and residential amenity 
of neighbouring residents. 

Opportunities for an element of 
authorised mixed uses 

 Any proposed mixed use development on the site area of 
search would need to be assessed in accordance with the 
policies set out within the Local Plan.  

The compatibility of the use with 
the surrounding land use, 
including potential disturbance 
from vehicular movements, and 
on site business activities 

 The site area of search is currently hard standing with 
some large vacant farm buildings. predominantly  in 
agricultural use. Within the area there are some 
redundant farm buildings as well as a working farm. 

 The surrounding uses are predominantly agriculture, 
with dispersed residential properties, however some of 
these properties are directly opposite this site adjacent 
to the area boundary. 

 There would be an increase in vehicular movements to 
and from the site which could have an impact on the 
highway. 

Will not materially harm the 
physical and visual character of 
the area 

 The site area of search is bounded by hedgerows and a 
few  mature trees along the road edge.   

 Potential for views from the east across agricultural land. 
into and out of the area of search at certain locations. 
Effective landscaping would be required. 

 Vacant agricultural buildings/farm buildings present on 
the site.  

Where applicable have regard for 
the character and policies 
affecting the North Wessex 
Downs AONB 

 Site Clappers Farm area of search is not within the 
NWDAONB. 

 No impact on the character and policies affecting the 
NWDAONB. 

Other issues to consider  Site Area is located within the Thames Basin Heath SPA 
5-7km zone. 

 The site  area of search  is within the middle consultation 
zone for AWE Burghfield.  

 The south western boundary of the area of search lies 

Page 1013



adjacent to ancient woodland. 

 Public Right of Way runs adjacent to the northern 
boundary of the area of search. 

 Site Area is located close to railway line – potential noise 
impact. 

 ThesiteClappers Farm area of search is Council owned 
land. 

 Awaiting comments from internal consultees 
(Archaeology, Education, Environmental Health, Ecology, 
Highways, Community Safety, G&T Liaison Officer, 
Housing and Emergency Planning). 

 Site is still subject to key stakeholder consultation 
including Parish Council, Environment Agency, Thames 
Water and Police. 

 

Summary of Assessment: 

The identified preferred options site (GTTS6B) forms part of wider Council landholdings, Clappers 

Farm, and the whole of the site is now being considered as an area of search (GTTS6). Comments 

and concerns raised through the preferred options consultation has resulted in the wider Clappers 

Farm landholding (GTTS6) being considered at the proposed submission stage as an area of search 

from within which a site for up to 9 pitches will would be delivered through the Local Plan.   

The site Clappers Farm area of search is approximately 2.54km from Spencers Wood, 4km from 
Burghfield Common and 4km from Mortimer, both all of which have a range of services and facilities 
including shops and schools.  The nearest primary school is approximately less than 1.5km from the 
site area (although this is within Wokingham Borough).  The site Clappers Farm is outside of any 
existing settlement and is rural in character, although there are some dispersed residential 
properties directly opposite the site adjacent to the area of search boundary, bothon Cross Lane and 
Bloomfield Hatch Lane. The area of search also has good access to the A33 and M4.  
 
 National policy (Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS)) seeks to restrict Gypsy and Traveller sites 
within open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the 
development plan. hHowever, it does go on to say that in assessing the suitability of sites in rural 
settings the scale of such sites should not dominate the nearest settled community. The area of 
search there are is close to some local services and facilities nearby, and has good access to both 
A33 and the M4.   
 
This site is Council owned land and capable of being delivered later in the plan period. 
 
During the examination of the Housing Site Allocations DPD, it was confirmed by the consultant’s 

who prepared the Council’s Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) that it cannot be 

fully relied upon as a reflection of need following the Government’s change of definition of Gypsy 

and Travellers in the revised version of the Planning Policy for Travellers (PPTS) (2015). There is now 

no evidence that the Clappers Farm Area of Search is required to meet the Council’s need, and it is 

therefore proposed that it is withdrawn from the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

The site GTTS6 is not recommended for allocation as an area of search from within which a site for 

up to 9 pitches will be delivered through the Local Plan.   

Page 1014



Preferred Options Consultation key issues (GTTS6B) 
70 responses received, 64 processed: 
 

 Contrary to Core Strategy policy CS7 

 Criticism of Consultation process 

 Process of site need, identification,  justification and site concentration questioned 

 Scale and appropriateness in a rural location challenged 

 Office for Nuclear Regulation  concerns over safety from radiation 

 Retention of the land for farming/agricultural use 

 Lack of infrastructure (social, educational, medical, utilities, road network, public transport, 
access to services/facilities) 

 Flood risk 

 Potential Impact on existing buildings and protected species 

 Proximity of electric pylons 

 Negative impact/domination of settled community 
For the consultation comments and Council’s response please see Statement of Consultation. 
 
Proposed Submission consultation key issues (GTTS6 Area of Search) 
72 responses received.  Many issues are similar to the Preferred Options consultation despite the 
substitution of the site for a wider Area of Search. New issues are listed below: 
 

 Planning history of refusals 

 Contrary to Government policy 

 Objection to Area of Search, too big/vague to comment 

 Renewed objection to consultation process over Area of Search 

 Concerns over increased risk of crime 

 Negative impact on landscape 

 Negative impact on house prices and land values 

 Waste and noise pollution 

 Inadequate account taken of the views of the  GTTS community 
 
For the consultation comments and Council’s response please see Statement of Consultation 

Page 1015



Appendix 14 
 

Assessment of the Proposed Main Modifications and their implications for the outcome of the SA/SEA (November 2016) 
 

 
(Please note that, for ease of reading, the text in the following table has not been highlighted or underlined in purple) 
 

Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM1 4 Title 
Background 

Add date covered by plan (2006 – 2026) in the title  
Amend Background section as follows: 
1.1 The Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) is the 

second DPD within West Berkshire’s Local Plan. 
1.2 It has been prepared following the adoption of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy in July 2012 which sets out the overall planning framework for 
the site specific proposals and policies to be contained in other 
documents. 1.3 The Core Strategy allocates strategic development sites 
in Newbury (Newbury Racecourse and Sandleford Park). It also sets out 
strategic policies..... 

 
Approach to housing numbers 
1.3 This DPD does not reassess the housing requirement set out in the 

Core Strategy. This set out a housing requirement for the District of ‘at 
least’ 10,500 net additional dwellings from 2006 to 2026 which is an 
annual requirement of 525 dwellings per annum. The Core Strategy was 
prepared at a time when the housing number for the District was 
allocated via the regional tier of Government which has now been 
abolished. 

1.4 The Council is now required by national policy set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to meet the ‘objectively assessed 
housing needs’ of the area. Work has been undertaken in partnership 
with the other local authorities in Berkshire and the Thames Valley 
Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP(1)) to establish how much 
housing West Berkshire will need in the future through the production of 
a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). This has identified 

No: the proposed modifications provide greater 
clarity on the DPD’s role, timescale, relationship 
with the Core Strategy and approach to 
development within the AONB. These modifications 
therefore do not result in any changes to the effects 
upon the SA objectives as set out in the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report for Submission (April 2016). 
 
 

P
age 1016



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

given an objectively assessed need figure of 665 dwellings per annum 
over the period 2013-2036. This does not translate directly into a 
housing requirement for the District due to the need to take into account 
factors such as environmental constraints and the Duty to Cooperate. 
The SHMA, and what the future requirement should be, will be 
considered as part of the preparation of the new Local Plan. This will 
allocate additional development and will look longer term to 2036, as 
well as dealing with other policy issues. 1000 homes are already 
committed post 2026 as part of the long term Sandleford Park 
allocation. 

1.5 The Housing Site Allocation DPD implements first phase of the 
remainder of the future housing requirement identified in the Core 
Strategy is being met through the preparation of the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD which will allocate the remainder of the ‘at least’ 
10,500 housing figure from the Core Strategy, with additional flexibility 
around these numbers. The sites allocated by this DPD will help boost 
the supply of housing land significantly in the short to medium term. 
Appendix 1 demonstrates how the housing requirement in the Core 
Strategy can be met.  

1.6 Once the DPD has been adopted, the second phase of the  future 
housing requirement will be met through the preparation of a new Local 
Plan which will allocate additional development and look longer term to 
2036, as well as dealing with other policy issues. 1000 homes are 
already committed post 2026 as part of the long term Sandleford Park 
allocation. 

1.7 The Council reports on the progress that is made on the provision of 
housing in its Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) which is available on the 
Council’s website. approach to the housing numbers is set out in more 
detail in a background paper that accompanies the DPDADD. 

 
Following Section 1.9 Add section on the Policies Map as follows: 
Policies Map 
The Plan should be read in conjunction with the Policies Map, which shows 
all policy boundaries and the areas to which the policies apply. 

P
age 1017



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

 
Appendix 1 Amend the text as follows: 
Housing Land Supply Position – update to March 2016  
 
The trajectory demonstrates how the housing requirement set out in the 
Core Strategy can be met. It shows how the sites identified in the Housing 
Site Allocations DPD would assist in delivering the housing to meet the Core 
Strategy requirement, and contribute to the housing needs of the District in 
the short to medium term. and to meet the early part of the objectively 
assessed need (OAN) assessed in the 2015 Berkshire SHMA. The 
trajectory is indicative in that additional work on phasing will be carried out 
as part of the update of the Five Year Housing Land Supply. The trajectory 
and is also a snapshot in time. It, and represents the position at the date that 
the DPD was examined. The trajectory is updated annually as part of the 
annual monitoring process and reported in the Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR). 
The trajectory assumes that the Housing Site Allocations DPD sites will be 
delivered between 2017 and 2026 with the majority developed in the period 
from 2017/18 to 2022/23. Those sites identified as developable later in the 
plan period, together with the Pirbright Institute Site in Compton, are phased 
from 2021/22 to 2025/26. 
 
Summary of Allocated Residential Sites – amend table 
 
The figures in the trajectory have included a 10% discount for those sites 
with planning permission or identified through the prior approval process, 
where development had not commenced at March 20152016. The windfall 
allowance is applied up to 2020/21 for the whole District and only in the 
AONB in the last years of the plan period. 
The trajectory shows that the Core Strategy target is met over the plan 
period and that the DPD allocations will help meet the OAN up to 2022/23. 
There is flexibility in these numbers: there will be additional windfall and 
further identified sites which will enter the supply and the re-drawing of 
settlement boundaries will enable some additional smaller sites to come 

P
age 1018



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

forward for development. The Council will be preparing the new Local Plan, 
with a new housing requirement, following work with our neighbouring 
authorities on how best to meet the objectively assessed needs identified in 
the SHMA taking account of the planning constraints that apply. This new 
Local Plan will cover the period up to 2036 and will need to consider 
allocating new sites and to look again at the proposed housing distribution. 
and allocate new sites which will deliver in the later stages of the current 
plan period. 
 
Delete existing Housing Site Allocations Indicative Trajectory 2006-2026 
table on page 110 and replace with updated table 
 
Delete both existing charts on page 111 and replace with updated chart 
 

MM2 8 

Section 1.6 
Settlement 
boundary 
reviews 

Amend Para 1.36 as follows:  
Criteria for reviewing the settlement boundaries formed part of the preferred 
options consultation and have been updated as a result of the consultation.  
This DPD has only reviewed the settlement boundaries for those 
settlements within the settlement hierarchy set out in the Core Strategy. 
These boundaries and All other settlement boundaries, including those 
below the settlement hierarchy, will be reviewed through the Local Plan The 
settlement boundaries around the settlements within the settlement 
hierarchy These The settlement boundaries have been re-drawn... 

No: the proposed modification provides clarity on 
which settlements have had their settlement 
boundary reviewed. It does do not affect the 
findings of the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). 
 

MM3 8 

Before 
section on 
settlement 
boundary 
reviews 

Add section on Neighbourhood Plans as follows: 
Neighbourhood Plans 
The Council will support communities wishing to develop a Neighbourhood 
Plan. Any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward following the adoption of 
this DPD will help to boost the supply of housing across the district, adding 
additional flexibility. Any future allocations and housing requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered as part of the new Local 
Plan. 

No: the proposed modification clarifies that the 
Council will support communities wishing to develop 
a Neighbourhood Plan. It also specifies that any 
such plans coming forward following the adoption of 
the DPD will boost the supply of housing across the 
district adding flexibility. Any future 
allocations/housing requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered 
as part of the new Local Plan (which upon adoption 
at the end of 2019 will supersede the Core Strategy 

P
age 1019



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

and Housing Site Allocations DPD). 
 
The proposed modification therefore does not affect 
the findings of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
for Submission (April 2016). 
 
It should be noted that Neighbourhood Plans must 
be screened to determine if a SEA is required. 
 

MM4 13 
Policy HSA 
1 (site ref: 
NEW012) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
just over 0.5 approximately 0.7 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM5 14 
Policy HSA 
2 (site ref: 
NEW042) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 3.5 4.8 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 
 

MM6 14 
Policy HSA 
2 (site ref: 
NEW042) 

Amend the second sentence of the second bullet point of the policy and add 
a third sentence as follows: 

• ...The final choice/s will be informed by a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) for the site which. This will consider the 
development, design and layout. including a full consideration of the 
heritage setting of the site.  

 
Amend bullet point 4 as follows: 

• Informed by an archaeological desk based assessment as a 

Yes (MM to 2nd bullet of policy): the proposed 
modification adds additional heritage requirements 
to the policy in order to mitigate against the impact 
of development. Therefore the site assessment, 
SA/SEA and summary and recommendation sheets 
(included in Appendix 9a of the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report) have been updated to reflect 
this. 
 
The modification however, does not result in any 

P
age 1020



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

minimum and field evaluation if required to assess the historic 
environment potential of the site 

 
Amend penultimate bullet point as follows:  

• Development will protect and enhance the local distinctive character 
the special architectural and historic interest of the Speen 
Conservation Area. 

 
Update indicative site plan to reflect further landscape work and access 
points 
 

changes to the effects upon the SA objectives. 
 
 

MM7 16 
Policy HSA 
3 (site ref: 
NEW045) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2.5 3.3 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM8 16 

Policy HSA 
3 (site ref: 
NEW045) 

 
 

Add new bullet point as follows: 

• The following landscape mitigation is required to soften the edge 
and help integrate the site into the landscape: 

• Retention of vegetation along Stoney Lane, except at the 
access point  

• Development will be set back from Stoney Lane and a wide 
landscape buffer provided.  

• Development will be set back from the northern boundary and a 
woodland belt provided 

 
Update indicative site plan to show a landscape buffer  
 

Yes: as the proposed modification requires further 
detail on landscape mitigation measures, the site 
assessment, SA/SEA and summary and 
recommendation sheets (included in Appendix 9a) 
have been updated to reflect this.  
 
The SA/SEA Environmental Report for Submission 
(April 2016) does not require updating because 
section 1.5.1.1 on the summary of likely significant 
effects of the HSA DPD (p.7) and Table 14 
(summary of Newbury sites SA/SEA, p.47) make a 
general observation that landscaping will be 
required.  
 
The modification however, does not result in any 

P
age 1021



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

changes to the effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM9 18 

Policy HSA 
4 (site ref: 
NEW047B, 

047C, 
047D) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... 8.5 approximately  7.7 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM10 21  

Policy HSA 
5 (site ref: 
THA025) 

 

Amend relevant bullet point as follows:  
• Development will be informed by an extended phase 1 habitat 

survey together with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will 
need to be implemented to ensure any protected habitats and 
species are not adversely affected. 

 
Add additional bullet point as follows:  

• Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage system 
and an integrated water supply and drainage strategy will would be 
required for this site. 

Yes: the proposed modifications do not materially 
change the policy as they provide clarity and 
strengthen the existing wording. As a result the 
effects upon the SA objectives remain unchanged. 
However, the site assessment and summary and 
recommendation sheets included in appendix 9a of 
the Environmental Report for Submission (April 
2016) have been updated to include the proposed 
modification.  
 

MM11 22 
Policy HSA 
6 (site ref: 
COL002) 

Amend the sixth point of policy HSA6 as follows:  
• A heritage impact assessment will be required to assess the impact 

of development on the Grade II listed Poplar Farmhouse and its 
setting and to inform development on the site. Development will be 
required to ensure the conservation and enhancement of the 
Farmhouse and its setting. 

 
Update indicative site plan in relation to listed building 
 
Amend legend as follows: 

Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

Yes: as the proposed modification requires further 
detail on heritage and landscape mitigation 
measures, the site assessment, SA/SEA and 
summary and recommendation sheets (included in 
Appendix 9a) have been updated to reflect this.  
 
Nonetheless, this modification does not result in 
any changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives. 
 

P
age 1022



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

 

MM12 23 
Policy HSA 
6 (site ref: 
COL002) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.7 1.1 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 

MM13 25 
Policy HSA 
7 (site ref: 
COL006) 

Amend the fifth bullet point of policy HSA 7 as follows:  
• Where possible, To facilitate the future provision of a footways to 

link from the site with existing footways fronting St Finian’s School. 
This would include the provision of a footway across the frontage of 
the site. 

No: the proposed modification provides greater 
clarity and so does not change the main aim of the 
policy. The additional wording is already picked up 
in the site assessment sheets contained within 
appendix 9a of the Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). The SA/SEA 
Environmental Report for Submission (April 2016) 
does not go into the finer detail of the footway 
requirements and so does not need updating. 
 

MM14 28 & 29 
Policy HSA 
8 (site ref: 
EUA031) 

Amend 2nd bullet point as follows: 

• The site will be accessed from either Clements Mead or Sulham Hill, 
with the final access being determined by the LVIA, in order to 
preserve the semi-rural character of Sulham Hill. 

Consequent amendments to indicative site plan and legend 
 
 

Yes: the proposed modification changes the policy 
to identify that an alternative access would be 
suitable subject to the findings of a LVIA. The site 
assessment and summary and recommendation 
sheets within Appendix 4b of the Environmental 
Report have therefore been updated to reflect this. 
Because this modification does not result in any 
change to the effect upon the SA objectives (as set 
out within the table of effects upon the SA 
objectives in Appendix 9b), the Environmental 
Report for Submission (April 2016) does not need 
updating. 
 

P
age 1023



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM15 28 
Policy HSA 
8 (site ref: 
EUA031) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
This site is 1.4 hectares with has a developable area of  approximately 1 1.2 
hectares and will deliver in accordance with the following parameters:  
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM16 30 Para 2.26 

Amend developable area of both sites as follows: 
... EUA003 (0.8 approximately 0.7 hectares) and EUA008 (3.2 hectares with 
a developable area of 2.2 approximately 2.5  
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM17 34 
Policy HSA 
11 (site ref: 
EUA035) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 1.2 1 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM18 36 
Policy HSA 
12 (site ref: 
EUA025) 

Amend the beginning of the policy, the first bullet point and the seventh 
bullet point (sub-bullet 2) as follows:   
The site has a developable area of 1.7 approximately 4 hectares and will be 
delivered in accordance with the following parameters:  
 

• The provision of approximately 100 between 150 and 200 
dwellings... 

• The scheme will comprise a development design and layout that 
will: ..... 

o Front onto the A4 Bath Road to deal with potential noise 
pollution issues. A semi-continuous development frontage 

Yes: the site assessment, SA/SEA and summary 
and recommendation sheets contained within 
appendix 4b of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
have been updated to reflect the change in the 
developable area and subsequent development 
potential. Table 17 (summary of Eastern Urban 
Area Sites SA/SEA, p.85) has been updated to 
reflect this. This modification does not result in any 
changes to the effects upon the SA objectives (as is 
demonstrated within the SA/SEA of the site which is 
contained within Appendix 9b).  
 

P
age 1024



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

would act as a buffer to protect the rear gardens. Be based 
upon good acoustic design, to ensure a good standard of 
amenity for the occupants. 

 
Update indicative site plan to show revised developable area 

 
Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map in Appendix 6 

 

The re-wording in respect of the amenity upon 
occupiers does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives as it does not 
materially change the policy. It should be noted that 
Table 1.5.1.2 (Summary of likely significant effects 
of the HSA DPD, p.9) of the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report for Submission already identifies in general 
terms that mitigation will reduce noise impacts. 
 

MM19 38 
Policy HSA 
13 (site ref: 
EUA026) 

Amend policy bullet point 6.2 as follows: 

• Front onto the A4 Bath Road to deal with potential noise pollution 
issues. A semi-continuous development frontage would act as a 
buffer to protect the rear gardens. Be based upon good acoustic 
design, to ensure a good standard of amenity for the occupants. 

Yes: The re-wording does not result in any changes 
to the effects upon the SA objectives as it does not 
materially change the policy. However the site 
assessment, SA/SEA and summary and 
recommendation sheets have been updated to take 
account of the re-wording.  
 

MM20 38 
Policy HSA 
13 (site ref: 
EUA026) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... of just under a  approximately 1 hectare..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM21 

40 & 41,  
107,108 
& 110, 

141 

Policy HSA 
14 (site ref 
THE003) 

Appendix 1 
and 

Appendix 6 

Delete policy, indicative site plan and delivery and monitoring section from 
DPD 
Removal of site and figures in relevant text and tables in Appendix 1 
Removal of site from Theale map in Appendix 6 
Amend paragraph 2.28 as follows: 
The settlement boundary of Theale has been redrawn around the 
developable area of the site being allocated, and around the whole 
committed south Lakeside site. The southern portion of the site already has 

Yes: the site is no longer proposed for allocation 
because planning permission has been granted on 
part of the site which has the potential to impact 
upon the landscaping/open space requirements 
and access to the rest of the site.  
 
Both the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and site assessment, and 
summary and recommendation sheets contained 
within Appendix 9b have been updated to reflect 
this. 

P
age 1025



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

an extant planning permission for residential development and inclusion of 
the whole site would help to enable a comprehensive scheme which takes 
account of the nature and character of the area. No other changes have 
been made. This is shown on the Policies Map and a map of Theale can be 
found in Appendix 6. 
 

 

MM22 42 
Policy HSA 
15 (site ref 
THE009) 

Amend policy as follows:  
The site has a developable area of 2.3 3.4 ha hectares... 

• Provision of approximately 70 100 dwellings... 
 
Update indicative site plan to show the revised developable area and to 
reflect removal  of site ref THE003 
 
Amend legend as follows: 

Tree/Hedge Planting 
             Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 
 
Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map of Theale in 
Appendix 6 
 

Yes: the proposed modification has arisen following 
further landscape work (at the request of the 
Inspector) that has indicated that an increase in the 
developable area and subsequent development 
potential would be acceptable without any negative 
impact upon the landscape character of the area.  
 
Whilst the modifications do not result in any 
changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives, the site assessment, SA/SEA and 
summary and recommendation sheets included 
within Appendix 9b of the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report have been updated as has the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report (section 1.5.1.2 on p.9) and 
summary of the Theale sites SA/SEA in Table 18 
(p.95). 
 

MM23 45 
Policy HSA 
16 (site ref: 
BUR015) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
 
... approximately 3.5 4.8 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM24 47 
Policy HSA 
17 (site ref: 
BUR002, 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2 2.7 hectares..... 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 

P
age 1026



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

002a, 004)  development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM25 50 
Policy HSA 
18 (site ref: 
WOOL006) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 1 hectare 1.2 hectares..... 
 
Amend the indicative site plan as follows: 
Extend the developable area in the north western part of the site to include 
land behind 13 Orchard Close   
Extend the site boundary in the north to include the area required in the 
policy to be kept as open space/biodiversity corridor. 
 
Consequent amendment to legend  
Consequent amendment to settlement boundary for Woolhampton to follow 
amended developable area. 

Yes: whilst the proposed modification in relation to 
the changes to the indicative site plan does not 
result in any changes to the identified effects upon 
the SA objectives, the summary and 
recommendation sheet contained within Appendix 
9c has been updated to clarify that the remainder of 
the site will be retained as open space.  
 
In respect of the change to the developable area, 
no update is required. This is because the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report for Submission (April 2016) 
and its appendices do not refer to the developable 
areas of sites, only the development potential. The 
proposed modification does not impact upon the 
development potential of the site and it does not 
result in any changes to the effects upon the SA 
objectives. 
 

MM26 53 
Policy HSA 
19 (site ref: 
HUN007) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 5 5.7 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM27 53 
Policy HSA 
19 (site ref: 
HUN007) 

Add bullet point to policy as follows:  
• Provision of permanent allotments in association with the 

development of the site will be explored.  

No: the proposed modification does not result in 
any changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives.  
 
It should be noted that the SA/SEA Environmental 

P
age 1027



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

Report for Submission (April 2016) has been 
updated (section 1.5.1.3 and Table 22) to highlight 
that at the examination hearing sessions, the 
Inspector asked the Council to carry out additional 
work regarding the approach to allocations in 
Hungerford.  
 
The summary and recommendation sheet for 
omission site HUN001 (within Appendix 4 D) has 
been updated to reflect whilst there are significant 
constraints on the site, it is not considered 
appropriate to allocate HUN001 and HUN007 due 
to the cap on development in the AONB). 
 

MM28 55 

Policy HSA 
20 (site ref: 
LAM005) 

and 
indicative 
site plan 

Amend 2nd bullet point as follows: 
• To ensure effective integration with existing residential areas the 

development will be accessed via Lynch Lane., with additional 
access points to be delivered via The Park and/or Essex Place.  To 
enhance permeability through the site pedestrian and cycle links will 
be provided to enable connection with existing housing and the land 
to the north west of the site. it is preferred to have more than one 
access serving the development In addition, connections for 
pedestrians to link the existing housing with the development will be 
provided. 

 
Consequent amendments to indicative site plan  
 

Yes: the proposed modification provides additional 
clarity regarding pedestrian and cycle access to the 
site from the north west of the site. Because the 
modification provides clarity and does not materially 
change the policy, the identified effects upon the 
SA objectives remain unchanged. However the site 
assessment as well as the summary and 
recommendation sheet contained within appendix 
9d of the SA/SEA Environmental Report has been 
updated to reflect the proposed modification. 
 
 

MM29 55 
Policy HSA 
20 (site ref: 
LAM005) 

Amend 5th and 6th bullet points as follows: 
• Development will need to ensure the retention of existing riverside 

vegetation and the provision of a significant buffer/stand-off between 
the woodland and adjacent River Lambourn SSSI/SAC and any 
development. In light of an initial Phase 1 Habitat Survey it is 
considered that no development shall take place within 15m of the 
outer edge of Flood Zone 2, allowing a minimum buffer/stand-off 

Yes: the proposed modification provides additional 
clarity to the existing wording and does not 
materially change the policy. The identified effects 
upon the SA objectives therefore remain 
unchanged. However the site assessment as well 
as the summary and recommendation sheet 
contained within appendix 9d of the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report have been updated to reflect 

P
age 1028



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

from the SSSI/SAC of 38m (max. 88m). 
• Development will be informed by an further Extended Phase 1 

Habitat Survey together with further detailed surveys arising from 
that as necessary. Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures 
will need to be implemented, to ensure any protected habitats and 
species are not adversely affected. 

 
Amend 10th bullet point as follows:  

• Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage 
system.  Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been 
identified as a strategic issue within Lambourn; therefore an 
integrated water supply and drainage strategy will be required. 
particularly useful for this site 

the proposed modification. 

MM30 55 
Policy HSA 
20 (site ref: 
LAM005) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 3 4.5 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM31 57 

Policy HSA 
21 (site ref: 
LAM015) 
and HRA 
pages 14 
and 15 

Amend 7th bullet point as follows:  
• Development on the site will connect to the mains sewerage 

system.  Infiltration from groundwater into the network has been 
identified as a strategic issue within Lambourn; therefore an 
integrated water supply and drainage strategy will be required for 
this site. Would be particularly useful for this site 

 
Add another bullet point as follows:  

• Development will be informed by an extended phase 1 habitat 
survey together with further detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary.  Appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures will 
need to be implemented to ensure any protected habitats and 

Yes: the proposed modification regarding the 
sewerage system does not materially change the 
policy as it strengthens the existing wording. As a 
result the effects upon the SA objectives remain 
unchanged. 
 
However, the site assessment and summary and 
recommendation included in appendix 9d of the 
Environmental Report for Submission (April 2016) 
have all been updated to identify the requirement of 
Thames Water for development to connect to the 
mains sewerage system and the need for an 
integrated water supply and drainage strategy. 
 

P
age 1029



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

species are not adversely affected The proposed modification to include the 
requirement for an extended phase 1 habitat survey 
provides additional mitigation measures and so 
does not impact upon the effects already identified 
upon the SA objectives. The site assessment, 
SA/SEA and summary and recommendation sheets 
in Appendix 9d have however been updated to 
make reference to this specific requirement. 
 

MM32 57 
Policy HSA 
21 (site ref: 
LAM015) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.6 0.8 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM33 60 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy HSA 
22 (site ref: 
PAN002) 

 

Amend indicative site plan as follows: 
Remove sub-station from developable area.  
Replace tree/hedge planting along Pangbourne Hill with narrow 
landscape buffer and extend across the front of the electricity sub-
station 
Move potential access arrow to west of the electricity sub-station and 
confirm it will be the access to the site 
Extend the site boundary to the north of the sub-station in order to 
accommodate the main road to the site and widen the landscape buffer 
accordingly. 

      Consequent amendment to legend 
 

Yes: the proposed modifications update the 
indicative map and do not materially change the 
policy. The identified effects upon the SA objectives 
therefore remain unchanged. The summary and 
recommendation included in Appendix 9D of the 
SA/SEA Environmental Report has been updated to 
state that the inset map has been updated. 
 

MM34  
Policy HSA 
22 (site ref: 
PAN002) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 2.4 2.24 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 

P
age 1030



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM35 61 
Policy HSA 
23 (site ref: 
BRS004) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... 0.58 approximately 0.6 hectares..... 
 
Amend the indicative site plan as follows:  
Remove the protected trees in the eastern part of the site from the 
developable area 
 
Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The change in the 
developable area has not resulted in any change to 
the development potential of the site. 
 
Furthermore the proposed modifications which 
update the indicative site plan do not materially 
change the policy. Therefore the identified effects 
upon the SA objectives remain unchanged.  
 

MM36 61 
Policy HSA 
23 (site ref: 
BRS004) 

Add new bullet point: 
• An arboricultural survey will be required to inform the delivery of the 

site as there are protected trees present. 

Yes: whilst the site assessment, SA/SEA and 
summary and recommendation sheets contained 
within Appendix 9D of the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report already identify that there are TPOs present, 
they have been updated to reflect the additional 
mitigation that the proposed modification provides.  
 
The proposed modification does not result in any 
changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives as is demonstrated within the SA/SEA of 
the site (which is included within Appendix 9D). 
 

MM37 63 
Paragraph 

2.54 

Delete final bullet point: 
• Boundary altered to south of Chieveley at Green Lane to follow 

curtilage of dwellings.  Includes sites CHI017 and CHI001 
 
Consequent amendments to settlement boundary map  

 

Yes: in light of the proposed change not meeting 
the settlement boundary review criteria, the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report (Table 26, p.151 and the 
accompanying site selection summary on p.153, in 
addition to section 7.2.4.5 on page 150) and the 
site assessment (included within Appendix 9D) 
have been updated to reflect the proposed 
modification.  
 

P
age 1031



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM38 65 
Policy HSA 
24 (site ref: 
COM004) 

Add a final sentence to the final bullet point of the policy as follows: 
• ....It will also explain how the special architectural and historic 

interest of the Compton Conservation Area and its setting has been 
taken into account. 

Yes: the site assessment sheets contained within 
Appendix 9d of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
already makes reference to the adjacent 
conservation area, however they do not provide the 
additional detail that the proposed modification 
introduces and have therefore been updated. 
 
It should be noted that the SA/SEA of the site 
(included within Appendix 9D) does identify that 
there is an opportunity to enhance the site’s setting 
whilst respecting the adjacent conservation area 
and nearby Listed Buildings. The impact of the 
proposed modification upon the identified effects 
upon the SA objectives does not result in any 
changes.  
 

MM39 64 
Policy HSA 
24 (site ref: 
COM004) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 7 9.1 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM40 67 
Policy HSA 
25 (site ref 
HER001) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.8 1.1 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM41 67-68 
Policy HSA 
25  (site ref 
HER001) 

Amend second bullet point as follows: 
• The site will be accessed via Station Road and Charlotte Close with 

the provision of linkages through the site to HER004 (Land to the 

No: the proposed modification is already picked up 
in the site assessment sheets contained within 
Appendix 9D of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
for Submission (April 2016). The proposed 

P
age 1032



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

and 
indicative 
site plan 

south east of the Old Farmhouse. 
 
Consequent amendment to the indicative site plan to add a second access 
arrow at Charlotte Close. 
 
Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

modification does not result in any changes to the 
identified effects upon the SA objectives.  
 

MM42 67 
Policy HSA 
25 (site ref 
HER001) 

Delete sub-bullet 4 of bullet point 5: 
• It is expected that the site is developed comprehensively together 

with HER004 (Land to the south east of The Old Farmhouse) to 
ensure an integrated development. Both sites should ensure 
consistency of design and the provision of vehicular, pedestrian and 
cycle linkages between the two. 

No: the proposed modification does not change the 
substance of the policy and does not result in any 
changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives.  
 

MM43 69 
Policy HSA 
26 (site ref 
HER004) 

Amend developable area as follows: 
... approximately 0.5 0.6 hectares..... 
 

No: the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016) and its appendices do not 
refer to the developable areas of sites, only the 
development potential. The proposed modification 
does not impact upon the development potential of 
the site and it does not result in any changes to the 
effects upon the SA objectives. 
 

MM44 69 
Policy HSA 
26 (site ref 
HER004) 

Delete sub bullet 3 of bullet point 2: 
• It is expected that the site is developed comprehensively together 

with HER001 (Land off Charlotte Close) to ensure an integrated 
development. Both sites should ensure consistency of design and 
the provision of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle linkages between 
the two. 

 
Amend bullet point 4 as follows: 
The site will be accessed via Lipscombe Close with the provision of linkages 
through the site to HER001 (Land off Charlotte Close). Access can also be 
provided off Station Road if the site is developed in conjunction with 
HER001. An additional access to the site can be obtained via Lipscombe 

No: the proposed modification does not change the 
substance of the policy and does not result in any 
changes to the identified effects upon the SA 
objectives. 
 
The site assessments sheets contained within 
Appendix 9D of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
already identify refer to access from Lipscombe 
Close. 
 
The changes to the indicative site plan do not result 
in changes to the policy, therefore there are no 
changes to the identified effects upon the SA 

P
age 1033



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

Close, with the provision of linkages through the site to HER001 (Land off 
Charlotte Close). 
 
Amend indicative site plan: 
Extend the south eastern boundary of the site slightly southwards to show 
the developable area of the site includes the access to Lipscombe Close 
with the landscape buffer widened to the south. 
Amend legend as follows: 
Required Landscape Buffer (in accordance with LCA) 

objectives. 
 

MM45 69 
Policy HSA 
26 (site ref 
HER004) 

Amend bullet point 6: 

• An extended phase 1 habitat survey will be required together with 
further detailed surveys arising from that as necessary. A Great 
Crested Newt Survey will also be required to cover all ponds within 
the vicinity of the site. The final developable area will be dependent 
upon the extent of any Aappropriate avoidance and mitigation 
measures will need required to be implemented, to ensure any 
protected species are will not be adversely affected. 

Yes: the site assessment sheets contained within 
Appendix 9D of the SA/SEA Environmental Report 
already refer to the need for a Great Crested Newt 
Survey. However Table 29 of the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report has been updated to reflect 
this requirement as this was originally omitted. 

MM46 70 2.57 
Add additional bullet point: 

• Boundary altered to include the properties at Hermitage Green 

No: the proposed modification does not result in 
any impact upon policies within the HSA DPD.  
 
 

MM47 79 
Policy TS 3 
Para 1.42 
Para 3.19 

Delete policy, supporting text and indicative site plan. Update subsequent 
policy numbers 

Yes: the proposed allocation removes the policy 
following the change in definition of Gypsies and 
Travellers (as as set out in the Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites). There is now no evidence that this 
site is required to meet the Council’s need. 
 
The site assessment sheet within Appendix 10 has 
been updated as has the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report (section 1.5.2 on p.5, Table 31, and the site 
selection summary that follows Table 31). 
 

P
age 1034



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM48 85 Policy C1, 
table 

Include the following settlements in the table:  
Burghfield, Curridge, Donnington, Eddington, Upper Bucklebury, Wickham.  

No: whilst the settlements were omitted from the 
submission version of the HSA DPD, the SA/SEA of 
the policy (contained within Appendix 11 of the 
SA/SEA Environmental Report) does not explicitly 
state which settlements the policy has regard to. As 
such the proposed modification does not alter the 
identified effects of the policy upon the SA 
objectives. 
 

MM49 85 
Policy C1 
Para 4.9 

 

Revise policy as follows:  
Exceptions to this are limited to rural exception housing schemes, 
conversion of redundant buildings, housing to accommodate rural workers 
and extension to or replacement of existing residential units and limited infill 
in settlements in the countryside with no defined settlement boundary.  

No: the proposed modification provides clarity on 
the intent of the policy. The SA/SEA of the policy 
(contained within Appendix 11 of the SA/SEA 
Environmental Report) already identifies that the 
policy will enable development outside of the 
settlement boundary in very limited circumstances. 
The proposed modification therefore does not alter 
the identified effects of the policy against the SA 
objectives.  
 
Review, does not require update to SA/SEA 

MM50 93-94 
Policy C5, 
Supporting 

Text 

Include after existing paragraph 4.37: 
There are a number of existing educational and institutional establishments 
within the rural area of West Berkshire. Policy C5 does not apply to these 
uses. The policy provisions for new development associated with these 
establishments are set out in saved policy ENV.27 of the West Berkshire 
District Local Plan. 
 
Subsequent paragraphs need re-numbering. 
 
Amend first sentence of paragraph 4.42 as follows: 
Many people work in rural areas in offices, schools, workshops...... 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the 
application of the policy. The overall intent of the 
policy remains the same. There is therefore no 
change to the identified effects of the policy against 
the SA objectives. 
 

P
age 1035



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM51 93 
Policy C5, 
criterion vii 

Reword criteria as follows:  
No dwelling serving or closely associated with the rural enterprise has 
recently been either sold or changed converted from a residential use or 
otherwise separated from the holding within the last 10 years. The act of 
severance may override the evidence of need.  of the application for a new 
dwelling or converted from a residential use.  

No: the proposed modification clarifies the intent of 
the policy. There is therefore no change to the 
identified effects of the policy against the SA 
objectives. 
 
 

MM52 100 Policy P1 

Amend table as follows:  
Merge columns for 1 and 2 bed flats in EUA zones, so 1 & 2 bed flats 
require 1.5 spaces. Change the requirement for 2 bed flats in zone 1 to 1 
space per dwellings in line with 2 bed houses in this zone. 

No: the proposed modifications are included for 
clarity and the SA/SEA of the policy (contained 
within Appendix 11 of the SA/SEA Environmental 
Report) does not explicitly set out the levels of 
parking provision. The proposed modification 
therefore does not alter the identified effects of the 
policy upon the SA objectives. 
 
 

MM53 121 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘developable area’: 
 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the meaning 
of ‘developable area’ and this does not result in any 
changes to the effects upon the SA objectives as 
set out in the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). 
 

MM54 124 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘landscape buffer’: 
 
Consequent amendments to relevant indicative site plans where these have 
not been picked up in other main modifications, for the following policies: 
Policy HSA 7, Policy HSA 9, Policy HSA 10, Policy HSA 11, Policy HSA 19, 
Policy HSA 21, Policy HSA 24 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the meaning 
of ‘landscape buffer’ and this does not result in any 
changes to the effects upon the SA objectives as 
set out in the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). 
 

MM55 125 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of a ‘masterplan’: 
 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the meaning 
of ‘masterplan’ and this does not result in any 
changes to the effects upon the SA objectives as 
set out in the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). 
 

P
age 1036



Ref 

Page no. 
(in 

Proposed 
Submission 

DPD) 

Policy / 
Paragraph Summary of Main Modification SA/SEA update required? 

MM56 126 Appendix 4: 
Glossary 

Inclusion of a definition of ‘parking zones’: 
 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the meaning 
of ‘parking zones’ and this does not result in any 
changes to the effects upon the SA objectives as 
set out in the SA/SEA Environmental Report for 
Submission (April 2016). 

 
 

P
age 1037



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 1038



West Berkshire Local Plan 
 

Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document 
 
 
 

Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report  
 
 

Addendum – Proposed Main Modifications and Minor Changes 
 

 
December 2016 

 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1039



Contents 
 
1. Introduction          3 

 
2. Screening of proposed Main Modifications and Minor Changes     6 
 
3. Conclusions          42 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1040



 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This addendum to the submission Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document 

(DPD) Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report (April 2016)1 considers 
the proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations DPD that were issued 
by the Inspector on 17 October 2016. It also takes into account the Council’s proposed 
minor changes necessary to improve the clarity of the document, correct factual 
information, and correct typographical errors. 
 

1.2 European legislation2 and government regulations3 introduce the need to carry out a 
HRA on DPDs to protect the integrity of internationally important nature conservation 
sites. These internationally important sites, collectively known as Natura 2000 sites, 
include Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs). 
Within West Berkshire there are three designated SACs (Kennet and Lambourn 
Floodplain, River Lambourn and Kennet Valley Alderwoods), and a further two within 
2km of the boundary of West Berkshire (Hartslock Wood in South Oxfordshire and 
Hackpen Hill in the Vale of White Horse). Whilst there is no SPA within West Berkshire, 
the south eastern area of the district falls within the 5km boundary of the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA.  

 
1.3 The Housing Site Allocations DPD is the second DPD within West Berkshire’s Local 

Plan. It has been prepared following the adoption of the West Berkshire Core Strategy in 
July 2012 which sets out the overall planning framework for the site specific proposals 
and policies to be contained in other documents. The role of the Housing Site Allocations 
DPD is to implement the framework set by the Core Strategy by allocating non-strategic 
housing sites across the District in accordance with the spatial strategy of the Core 
Strategy. This means that the sites to be allocated are in the areas that the Core 
Strategy sets out, based on evidence, as suitable for some level of future growth and 
that the proposals will conform to the policy details set out in the Core Strategy. Sites for 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople are also provided in the DPD, as are a 
review of settlement boundaries of those settlements within the settlement hierarchy, 
policies for housing in the countryside and a residential parking policy for new 
development. 

 
1.4 The Housing Site Allocations DPD was submitted to the Secretary of State for 

examination on 6 April 2016, and one of the accompanying submission documents 
included the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). This report demonstrates that the 
allocations and policies within the DPD would not result in impacts and effects divergent 
to those assessed for the Core Strategy. Furthermore, the report concluded that the 
housing site allocations, proposed sites and an area of search for Gypsies, Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople, amendments to settlement boundaries, housing in the 
countryside policies, as well as a policy on residential parking standards will not 
introduce impacts that would lead to a significant negative effect on the Natura 2000 
sites of relevance.  

 

1 Housing Site Allocations DPD Submission Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report (April 2016): 
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=30373 
2 Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna: http://eur-
lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31992L0043 and European Directive 2009/147/EC on the 
conservation of wild birds (the Birds Directive): http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32009L0147 
3 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/regulation/41/made 

3 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

                                            

Page 1041

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=30373
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31992L0043
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31992L0043
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32009L0147
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32009L0147
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/regulation/41/made


1.5 Examination hearing sessions were held in June and July 2016 to discuss a number of 
issues upon which the Inspector required clarification. The purpose of the discussions at 
the hearings was for the Inspector, the Council and participants to gain the fullest 
possible understanding of any Main Modifications that may be required to make the DPD 
sound and legally compliant. The Council was then invited by the Inspector to make a 
formal request under section 20(7C) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(as amended) for him to recommend Main Modifications to the DPD. The Council made 
this formal request on 2nd September 2016. 

 
1.6 During the hearing sessions, the Inspector asked the Council to undertake additional 

work on a number of issues.  This work was completed in August 2016 and was 
submitted to the Inspector at the beginning of September.  The Inspector then sought 
additional comments on this work from those participants who attended the relevant 
hearing sessions. Based on the outcomes of the hearing sessions and the additional 
work undertaken, the Inspector issued his preliminary findings on 17th October 2016. The 
findings are without prejudice to his final report but set out the Main Modifications 4 he 
considers are required in order to make the DPD sound. 

 
1.7 It is important that any proposed Main Modifications do not undermine, or possibly 

undermine, the sustainability process that has informed the preparation of the DPD. The 
Council has therefore updated the SA/SEA Report and produced this addendum to the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment, both of which accompany the DPD. 

 
1.8 The Council has also published a Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes comprising 

modifications of a minor nature to update the DPD, to correct errors and to provide 
clarification in interpreting the policies of the DPD.  This is not subject to public 
consultation and so will not be considered by the Inspector, but is being published for 
information. These minor changes have been taken into consideration in this addendum 
to the Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

4 Housing Site Allocations DPD Main Modifications – Inspector’s Preliminary Findings (17 October 2016): 
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42906&p=0  

4 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

                                            

Page 1042

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42906&p=0


2. Screening of Modifications  
 
2.1 Table 2.1 considers in turn each main modification and Table 2.2 the proposed minor 

changes. Both tables set out whether the modifications would result in changes to the 
HRA Screening Report (April 2016) by way of introducing additional potential effects on 
Natura 2000 sites. If changes are identified, then mitigation/avoidance measures are 
identified within the tables. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1043



Table 2.1: Screening of proposed Main Modifications

6 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1044



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

MM1 Paragraphs 1.1 to 
1.9 (background 
and approach to 
housing numbers) 

4 Clarification of 
the role of the 
DPD, its 
relationship to 
the Core 
Strategy, its 
time-frame, the 
Council’s 
approach to 
development 
within the AONB 
and the 
relationship to 
the Policies 
Map. 
 
 

• To clarify that the plan is 
intended to cover the same 
period as the Core Strategy.  

• To clarify following the 
Inspector’s request to 
consider references to OAN in 
the DPD and provide clarity of 
the purpose of the DPD (see 
additional work ref HW1). 

• Request made by inspector 
for wording regarding the 
policies map to be included in 
the DPD (see additional work 
ref HW57). 

• Clarification following 
Inspector’s request to 
consider whether the 
trajectory is appropriate for 
inclusion in the DPD and to 
set out any changes (see 
additional work ref HW2). 

No: the proposed modifications provide clarity on 
the DPD’s role, timescale, relationship with the 
Core Strategy and approach to development 
within the AONB. They do not alter the amount or 
location of development. 
 
It should be noted that the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016) concludes that the allocations and 
policies within the DPD do not result in impacts 
that are divergent to those assessed in the Core 
Strategy HRA. 

MM2 1.35 to 1.37 
(settlement 
boundary reviews) 

8 Clarification 
regarding the 
review of 
settlement 
boundaries. 

To clarify that, in this DPD, 
settlement boundaries have only 
been reviewed for those 
settlements in the settlement 
hierarchy. 

No: the proposed modification provides clarity on 
which settlements have had their settlement 
boundary reviewed. The HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016) considered the review of settlement 
boundaries and concluded that it would not 
introduce impacts that would lead to a significant 
negative effect on the Natura 2000 sites of 
relevance. 

MM3 After 1.5 4 The modification 
introduces a 

To clarify the links between the 
DPD and Neighbourhood Plans 

No: the proposed modification clarifies that the 
Council will support communities wishing to 

7 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1045

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42278&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42618&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42279&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

new section on 
Neighbourhood 
Plans and within 
this provides 
clarification on 
the role of 
Neighbourhood 
Plans. 

following the Inspector’s request 
(see additional work ref HW5). 

develop a Neighbourhood Plan. It also specifies 
that any such plans coming forward following the 
adoption of the DPD will boost the supply of 
housing across the district adding flexibility. Any 
future allocations/housing requirements for 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver will be considered 
as part of the new Local Plan (which upon 
adoption at the end of 2019 will supersede the 
Core Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD).  
 
Whilst not all Neighbourhood Plans need a HRA, 
this will depend upon the area to be covered and 
whether its proposals and policies will impact upon 
any Natura 2000 sites.  

MM4 Policy HSA1 13 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
0.7ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM5 HSA2 14 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
4.8ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM6 HSA2 14 Add text 
regarding 

• To include information about 
the heritage setting of the site.  

No: the proposed modification adds additional 
heritage requirements to the policy. The site is not 

8 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1046

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42284&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

heritage setting, 
protecting 
archaeological 
remains and 
protecting the 
Speen 
Conservation 
Area. 

• Due to the presence of the 
site within the possible 2nd 
battle of Newbury site, field 
evaluation will be required in 
addition to an archaeological 
desk based assessment 
(DBA), not just as a result of 
the DBA. 

• To better reflect the purpose 
of designation of the 
Conservation Area. 

located in close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM7 HSA3 16 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
3.3ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM8 HSA3 16 Add new bullet 
point relating to 
specific 
landscape 
mitigation 
measures. 

• Landscape work has been 
carried out on the site and 
has made the 
recommendations proposed 
for inclusion within the policy 
regarding mitigation 

• To clarify how the site should 
be developed. 

• Further landscape information 
is now available for the site. 
Indicative site plan updated at 
request of Inspector (HW48). 

No: the proposed modification provides further 
detail on landscape mitigation measures. The site 
is not located in close proximity to a SAC or SPA 
as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

9 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1047

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42609&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

MM9 HSA4 18 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
7.7ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM10 HSA5 21 Refer to 
requirement for 
a mains sewer 
connection and 
protected 
habitats. 

• To clarify the HRA and the 
DPD with regard to 
‘compensation measures’ for 
European protected sites. 

• To strengthen the wording 
regarding the need for 
developments affecting 
European protected sites to 
connect to mains sewers for 
foul water 

No: whilst the site is within close proximity to the 
Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SAC, this 
proposed modification was identified within the 
HRA Screening Report (April 2016) (see Table 
3.1) and arose following the provision of advice 
from the Council’s Ecologist and Natural England 
during the preparation of the DPD.  

MM11 HSA6 23 Refer to the 
conservation 
and 
enhancement of 
the listed Poplar 
Farmhouse. 

• To provide clarification 
regarding the heritage setting 
of the site at request of 
Inspector (HW56) 

• Clarification of the site 
boundary in relation to the 
listed building. Indicative site 
plan updated at request of 
Inspector (HW55) 

• Landscape buffer clarification 
to show how the site should 
be developed. 

No: the proposed modification provides 
clarification on a Grade II Listed Building, the 
heritage setting of the site and landscape buffer. 
The site is not located in close proximity to a SAC 
or SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained 
in Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

10 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1048

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42617&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42616&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

MM12 HSA6 23 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
1.1ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM13 HSA7 30 Add requirement 
for a footway. 

To clarify the position with regard 
to the provision of footways. 

No: the proposed modification provides clarity on 
the footway requirements. The site is not located 
in close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM14 HSA8 28 Refer to 
potential for 
different access 
provision. 

• Provision of an alternative 
access to the site would be 
suitable in landscape terms 
and responds to comments 
made regarding access to the 
site.  

• To clarify how the site should 
be developed 

No: the proposed modification considers the 
provision of an alternative access. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM15 HSA8 28 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
1.2ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM16 Para 2.26  (policies 
HSA9 and HSA10) 

30 Modify text to 
refer to 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable areas in the policies, this is only so 

11 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1049



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

developable 
areas of 
approximately 
0.7ha and 2.5ha 
in relation to the 
two sites. 

developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

that it accurately reflects the gross developable 
area that is shown on the accompanying site plan. 
The site is not located in close proximity to a SAC 
or SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained 
in Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM17 HSA11 34 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
1ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan. 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM18 HSA12 36 Modify policy to 
refer to between 
150 and 200 
dwellings on 
approximately 4 
hectares and 
the need for 
good acoustic 
design. 

To reflect the revised developable 
area of the site following 
HW18/19.  

No: whilst the proposed modification increases the 
developable area and subsequent development 
potential on the site, there are no SACs or SPAs 
within close proximity as is demonstrated in the 
map contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM19 HSA13 38 Refer to the 
need for good 
acoustic design. 

Ensure consistency between 
policy HSA12 and HSA13 in 
relation to the requirement for 
noise mitigation following 
HW18/19. 

No: the proposed modification requires the need 
for good acoustic design. There are no SACs or 
SPAs within close proximity as is demonstrated in 
the map contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM20 HSA13 38 Modify policy to 
include 
‘approximately’ 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 

12 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1050

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42551&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42551&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

before 1ha. reflects the gross developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM21 HSA14 40 Delete policy 
HSA14 (North 
Lakeside) but 
include text 
explaining the 
Council’s 
approach to 
development at 
Lakeside. 

Site no longer proposed for 
allocation. 

No: the site, which is no longer proposed for 
allocation, is not located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening 
Report (April 2016). 

MM22 HSA15 42 Modify policy to 
refer to a 
developable 
area of 
approximately 
3.4ha and the 
provision of 
approximately 
100 dwellings. 

To reflect the increase in the 
developable area of the site 
following HW21. 

No: whilst the proposed modification increases the 
developable area and subsequent development 
potential on the site, there are no SACs or SPAs 
within close proximity as is demonstrated in the 
map contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM23 HSA16 45 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
4.8ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

13 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1051

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42554&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

MM24 HSA17 47 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
2.7ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM25 HSA18 50 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
1.2ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM26 HSA19 53 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
5.7ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM27 HSA19 53 Refer to the 
provision of 
allotments. 

Ensure reference to allotments is 
included within the DPD. 

No: the proposed modification arose following 
consultation responses to the proposed 
submission consultation of the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD. The site is not located in close 
proximity to a SAC or SPA as is demonstrated in 
the map contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

14 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1052



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

MM28 HSA20 55 Refer to the 
provision of 
pedestrian and 
cycle links. 

To clarify the position with regards 
to access to the site. 

No: there is the potential for impact on the nearby 
River Lambourn SAC as the proposed 
modification introduces two pedestrian/cycle links 
to land to the north west of the site through the 
landscape buffer. However the developable area 
of the site remains unchanged and it is considered 
that Housing Site Allocation DPD policies HSA20 
and GS1 in addition to several of the Core 
Strategy policies, will provide avoidance/mitigation 
measures, as set out below: 
 
Policy HSA 20: 
• a HRA to accompany any future planning 

application; 
• development will need to ensure the retention 

of the existing riverside vegetation and the 
provision of a significant buffer/stand-off 
between the woodland and adjacent River 
Lambourn SSSI/SAC and any development. In 
light of a Phase 1 Habitat Survey it is 
considered that no development shall take 
place within 15m of the outer edge of Flood 
Zone 2, allowing a buffer/stand-off from the 
SAC/SSSI of 38m (max 88m); and 

• development will be informed by an Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey together with further 
detailed surveys arising from that as 
necessary. Appropriate avoidance and 
mitigation measures will need to be 
implemented to ensure any protected habitats 
and species are not adversely affected. 

15 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1053



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

 
Policy GS1:  
• An integrated water supply and drainage 

strategy will be provided in advance of 
development to ensure the provision of 
adequate and appropriate infrastructure for 
water supply and waste water, both on and off 
site. Development will be occupied in line with 
this strategy. All sites that are not connected 
to the mains sewerage system will ensure 
there are no deleterious effects to SACs and 
river and wetland SSSIs. 

• All adverse impacts on habitats and species of 
principal importance for the conservation of 
biodiversity in England and other biodiversity 
will be mitigated addressed through 
avoidance, appropriate buffering, onsite 
mitigation and where applicable, off-site 
compensation measures. 

• Development on the site will connect to the 
mains sewerage system. Infiltration from 
groundwater into the network has been 
identified as a strategic issue within 
Lambourn; therefore an integrated Water 
Supply and Drainage Strategy would be 
particularly useful for this site. 

 
Core Strategy: 
• Policy CS17 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 

seeks to conserve and enhance the 
biodiversity and geodiversity assets across the 

16 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1054



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

District. The River Lambourn will receive the 
highest level of protection under this policy 
because of its internationally important 
designation as a Special Area of 
Conservation. 

• Policy CS5 (Infrastructure) seeks to co-
ordinate infrastructure delivery to protect 
environmental quality. The Council intends to 
maintain an infrastructure delivery plan 
identifying the key water and wastewater 
infrastructure projects required to support the 
delivery of the Core Strategy. 

• Core Strategy policies CS14 (Design 
Principles), CS15 (Sustainable Construction 
and Energy Efficiency) and CS16 (Flooding) 
will ensure there are minimal impacts on 
hydrology through sustainable design and 
development, and resisting development in 
areas liable to flood. 

• Core Strategy policies ADPPP5 (North 
Wessex Downs AONB) and CS19 (Historic 
Environment and Landscape Character) will 
ensure protection of the natural and functional 
components of the landscape and the 
conservation and enhancement of the AONB, 
within which the SAC is located. 

MM29 HSA20 55 Refer to a 
requirement for 
a connection to 
a main sewer 
and habitat 

To strengthen the wording 
regarding the need for 
developments affecting European 
protected sites to connect to 
mains sewers for foul water 

No: whilst the site is within close proximity to the 
River Lambourn SAC, this proposed modification 
was identified within the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016) (see Table 3.2) and arose following 
the provision of advice from the Council’s 

17 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1055



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

protection. Ecologist and Natural England during the 
preparation of the DPD. 

MM30 HSA20 55 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
4.5ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM31 HSA21 57 Refer to a 
requirement for 
a connection to 
a main sewer 
and habitat 
protection. 

• To strengthen the wording 
regarding the need for 
developments affecting 
European protected sites to 
connect to mains sewers for 
foul water 

• To clarify the HRA and the 
DPD with regard to 
‘compensation measures’ for 
European protected sites. 

No: whilst the site is within close proximity to the 
River Lambourn SAC, this proposed modification 
was identified within the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016) (see Table 3.2) and arose following 
the provision of advice from the Council’s 
Ecologist and Natural England during the 
preparation of the DPD. 

MM32 HSA21 57 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
0.8ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the site is located in close proximity to 
the River Lambourn SAC, the proposed 
modification amends the developable area in the 
policy so that it accurately reflects the gross 
developable area that is shown on the 
accompanying site plan. The developable area 
remains unchanged.  

MM33 HSA22 59 Extend site 
boundary and 
landscape 
buffer, amend 

• Operational sub-station in 
separate land ownership, so 
not available for development. 

• To clarify the site boundary 

No: whilst the proposed modification makes 
changes to the site boundary, landscape buffer, 
and settlement boundary, the site is not located in 
close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 

18 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1056



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

the settlement 
boundary and 
move the site 
access to the 
west of the 
electricity sub-
station. Remove 
sub-station from 
identified area 
and reduce 
hectarage 
accordingly. 

and developable area of the 
site (HW35). 

• To clarify the meaning of the 
term ‘landscape buffer’ 
(HW16).  

• To clarify how the site should 
be developed. 

demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM34 HSA22 59 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
2.24ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM35 HSA23 61 Amend 
developable 
area to 
approximately 
0.6ha (to take 
proper account 
of the protected 
trees). 

• To ensure consistency across 
the DPD by ensuring that the 
stated developable area in the 
policy reflects the gross  
developable area shown on 
the accompanying indicative 
site plan 

• For clarity in response to 
concerns raised by local 
residents (HW27). 

• To clarify how the site should 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

19 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1057

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42595&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42549&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42560&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

be developed. 
MM36 HSA23 61 Include the 

requirement for 
an arboricultural 
survey. 

Inspector’s request (HW28) No: the proposed modification includes a 
requirement for an arboricultural survey within 
policy HSA23. The site is not located in close 
proximity to a SAC or SPA as is demonstrated in 
the map contained in Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM37 Para 2.54 63 Delete reference 
to boundary 
change to the 
south of 
Chieveley. 

The Council does not feel that the 
proposed change to include 
Green Lane meets the criteria and 
would, therefore, not be a justified 
change. Whilst Green Lane is 
functionally part of Chieveley its 
character in the south relates 
more to the open countryside 
rather than the main settlement 
area.  The Council therefore 
proposes to revert to the original 
settlement boundary at Green 
Lane 

No: the proposed modification deletes a boundary 
change reference, and there is no SAC/SPA within 
close proximity to this as is demonstrated in the 
map contained in Appendix 3 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM38 HSA24 64 Refer to having 
regard to the 
Conservation 
Area. 

To ensure that the Compton 
Conservation Area and its setting 
are fully reflected in the design of 
the scheme. 

No: the proposed modification adds additional 
requirements to the policy that related to the 
Compton Conservation Area. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM39 HSA24 64 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
9.1ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 

20 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1058

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42561&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

indicative site plan SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM40 HSA25 67 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 
1.1ha. 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 
reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 
that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM41 HSA25 67 Refer to access 
via Charlotte 
Close.  

• The site promoter’s response 
to the proposed submission 
consultation requested 
another access to the site 
from Charlotte Close. Access 
from this location is 
considered to be acceptable 
by the Council’s Highways 
Development Control team.  

• To clarify how the site should 
be developed. 

No: whilst the proposed modification makes 
changes to the access to the site, it is not located 
in close proximity to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map contained in Appendix 1 
of the HRA Screening Report (April 2016). 

MM42 HSA25 67 Delete reference 
to a 
comprehensive 
development 
with the 
adjacent site. 

Amended following the 
Inspector’s request (HW34) that 
the Council consider the wording 
regarding the requirement for the 
comprehensive development of 
HER001 and HER004 

No: the proposed modification removes reference 
to comprehensive development with site HER004. 
Neither site is located in close proximity to a SAC 
or SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained 
in Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM43 HSA26 69 Modify policy to 
refer to 
approximately 

To ensure consistency across the 
DPD by ensuring that the stated 
developable area in the policy 

No: whilst the proposed modification amends the 
developable area in the policy, this is only so that 
it accurately reflects the gross developable area 

21 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1059

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42594&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

0.6ha. reflects the gross  developable 
area shown on the accompanying 
indicative site plan 

that is shown on the accompanying site plan. The 
site is not located in close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM44 HSA26 69 Delete reference 
to a 
comprehensive 
development 
with the 
adjacent site 
and clarify 
access 
requirements. 

Amended following the 
Inspector’s request (HW34) that 
the Council consider the wording 
regarding the requirement for the 
comprehensive development of 
HER001 and HER004 

No: the proposed modification removes reference 
to comprehensive development with site HER001. 
Neither site is located in close proximity to a SAC 
or SPA as is demonstrated in the map contained 
in Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM45 HSA26 69 Refer to the 
need for a Great 
Crested Newt 
survey.  

Advice from the Council’s 
Ecologist as included within the 
site assessment for HER004 (see 
SA/SEA Appendix 9D AONB site 
assessments, CD/01/04 (e)) 
sought the inclusion of a Great 
Crested Newt Survey within the 
policy to cover all ponds within the 
vicinity of the site. This 
requirement was omitted in error 
from the policy HSA26. 

No: the proposed modification includes a 
requirement for a Great Crested Newt survey. The 
site is located in close proximity to a SAC or SPA 
as is demonstrated in the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA Screening Report (April 
2016). 

MM46 HSA26 69 Add bullet point 
referring to the 
inclusion in the 
settlement 
boundary of 
properties at 

To correct an inconsistency – the 
settlement boundary review map 
for Hermitage (see Appendix 6, 
p.150 of the Proposed 
Submission HSA DPD) shows the 
revised settlement boundary as 

No: the proposed change to the settlement 
boundary is not included in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is demonstrated in the maps 
contained in Appendix 3 of the HRA Screening 
Report (April 2016). 

22 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1060

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42594&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Hermitage 
Green. 

including Hermitage Green. This 
change was omitted from the list 
of settlement boundary review 
changes in paragraph 2.57. 

MM47 TS3 
Para 1.42 
Para 3.19 

79 Delete policy 
TS3 and 
supporting text. 

Site no longer proposed for 
allocation. 

No: whilst the Clapper’s Farm area of search is 
located within tthe 5-7km boundary of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA, the proposed modification 
sees the deletion of the policy. Table 3.3 within the 
HRA Screening Report (April 2016) is therefore no 
longer applicable. 

MM48 C1 85 Include the 
following 
settlements that 
were 
erroneously 
omitted from 
Table: 
 
Burghfield, 
Curridge, 
Donnington, 
Eddington, 
Upper 
Bucklebury, 
Wickham. 

The 6 settlements were 
erroneously omitted from C1 at 
proposed submission. This was 
corrected via an errata, for ease 
of reference this is now formally 
addressed as a modification. 

No: The Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SAC 
runs along the southern boundary as well as a 
small area of the southern part of Donnington. The 
Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SAC also lies 
adjacent to the southern boundary of Eddington. 
There is therefore the potential for new 
development to be proposed in close proximity to 
a SAC.  
 
However, in combination with Core Strategy 
policies ADPP5, CS5, CS14, CS15, CS16, CS17, 
CS18 and CS19 (which all proposals will need to 
be assessed within the context of the development 
plan for West Berkshire. The Core Strategy forms 
part of the development plan), the impact would 
either be mitigated against or avoided: 
 
• CS17 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) seeks to 

conserve and enhance the biodiversity and 
geodiversity assets across the District. The 
Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain will receive 

23 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1061



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

the highest level of protection under this policy 
because of its internationally important 
designation as a SAC. 

• CS5 (Infrastructure) co-ordinates 
infrastructure delivery to protect environmental 
quality. The Council maintains an 
infrastructure delivery plan identifying the key 
water and wastewater infrastructure projects 
required to support the delivery of the Core 
Strategy. 

• Policies CS14 (Design Principles), CS15 
(Sustainable Construction and Energy 
Efficiency) and CS16 (Flooding) ensure there 
are minimal impacts on hydrology through 
sustainable design and development, and 
resisting development in areas liable to flood. 

• Policy CS18 (Green Infrastructure) ensures 
the effects of disturbance and vandalism are 
minimal by providing adequate open space in 
new development. 

• Policies ADPPP5 (North Wessex Downs 
AONB) and CS19 (Historic Environment and 
Landscape Character) will ensure protection 
of the natural and functional components of 
the landscape and the conservation and 
enhancement of the AONB, within which parts 
of the SACs are located within. 

 
Further to this, the General Sites Policy (GS1) in 
the Housing Site Allocations DPD includes a 
requirement for an integrated water supply and 

24 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1062



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

drainage strategy to be provided in advance of 
development to ensure the provision of adequate 
and appropriate infrastructure for water supply and 
waste water, both on and off site. Development 
must be occupied in line with this strategy. The 
requirement goes on to state that all sites that are 
not connected to the mains sewerage system will 
ensure there are no deleterious effects to SACs 
and river and wetland SSSIs.  
 
Policy C1 of the DPD states that planning 
permission will not be granted where development 
would have an adverse cumulative impact on the 
environment. 
 
None of the settlements that were omitted from the 
policy fall within the 5-7km buffer of the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA. 

MM49 C1 and para 4.9 84-85 Clarify the policy 
and supporting 
text regarding 
the 
circumstances 
where new 
dwellings in the 
countryside may 
be permitted. 

To ensure that the wording 
reflects the intention of the policy. 

No: the proposed modification provides clarity on 
the intent of the policy by stating that the policy 
also applies to limited infill in settlements in the 
countryside with no defined settlement boundary. 

MM50 C5 (supporting 
text) 

93 Clarify the 
approach 
regarding 
existing 
educational 

To make reference to saved West 
Berkshire Local Plan 1991-2006 
policy ENV. 27 and clarify policy 
application. 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the 
application of the policy with regard to existing 
educational establishments within the countryside 
to explain that there are a number of existing 
educational and institutional establishments within 

25 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1063



Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

establishments 
in the 
countryside. 

the rural area of West Berkshire. Policy C5 does 
not apply to these uses. The policy provisions for 
new development associated with these 
establishments are set out in saved policy ENV.27 
of the West Berkshire District Local Plan. 

MM51 C5(vii) 93 Reword criterion 
(vii) to ensure 
clarity. 

To clarify the intent of the 
criterion. 

No: the proposed modification clarifies the intent 
of criterion (vii) so that it reads: 
 
No dwelling serving or closely associated with the 
rural enterprise has recently been either sold or 
changed converted from a residential use or 
otherwise separated from the holding within the 
last 10 years. The act of severance may override 
the evidence of need.  of the application for a new 
dwelling or converted from a residential use.  

MM52 P1 100 Amend Table 
regarding 
parking spaces 
for flats. 

• Clarification regarding the 
additional spaces for flats. 

• Brings in line with Reading’s 
parking standards (as with all 
other requirements in this 
zone). Allows some flexibility 
for 1 bed flats in this area.  

• To bring the requirement for 2 
bed dwellings in line with 
each other. There is no 
evidence that 2 bed flats 
require more parking than 2 
bed houses in zone 1. 

No: as is already set out within the HRA 
Screening Report (April 2016), the policy in itself 
will not lead to new development.  

MM53 Glossary 
(Appendix 4) 

119-132 Include 
definition of 
‘Developable 

To clarify the meaning of the term 
‘developable area’ (HW58) 

No: the proposed modifications provide additional 
definitions within the Glossary.  

26 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1064

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42619&p=0


Main 
Modification 
Ref 

Policy/paragraph 
of DPD that Main 
Modification 
relates to 

DPD 
page 
number 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

Proposed Main 
Modification 

Reason for proposed Main 
Modification 

Do the proposed changes affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Area’. 
MM54 Include 

definition of 
‘Landscape 
Buffer’. 

To clarify the meaning of the term 
‘landscape buffer’ (HW16) 

MM55 Include 
definition of 
‘Masterplan’. 

To clarify the meaning of the term 
‘masterplan’ in response to 
question 2.6 in PS/01/04 
Inspectors Issues and Questions)  

MM56 Include 
definition of 
‘Parking Zones’. 

To clarify the meaning of the term 
‘parking zones’ in response to 
question 2.6 in PS/01/04 
Inspectors Issues and Questions)  

27 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1065

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42549&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=41663&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=41663&p=0


Table 2.1: Screening of proposed minor changes

28 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1066



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

PMC1 Throughout  Remove numbering of section headings 
To avoid any 
confusion with 
paragraph numbers 

No: proposed modification 
removes numbering of 
section headings. 

PMC2 Paras  
1.11 – 1.20 

5-6 

Between 30 April and 11 June 2014 we held a consultation 
about the scope and content of the DPD. This is was a 
regulatory consultation and we notified specified bodies and 
persons of the proposed subject of the DPD and asked them 
to make representations. We received over 40 responses 
and have carefully considered and responded to the points 
made. This information is set out in the Statement of 
Consultation that accompanies the DPD. 
 
Between 25 July and 12 September 2014, we held phase 1 
of the preferred options consultation, setting out shortlisted 
housing allocations, proposed sites for Gypsies, Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople as well as a policy on residential 
parking standards and an updated policy to guide the future 
development of Sandleford Park. This was an optional period 
of consultation, but in the Council’s view an important one as 
it providesd an opportunity to comment at an early stage of 
the planning process and enablesd us to take your views into 
account before final decisions are were made. 
 
Between 19 September and 31 October 2014, we held 
phase 2 of the preferred options consultation, which was on 
the draft policies to guide housing in the countryside. 
 
We received over 8,500 comments during these 
consultations. The comments received provided very useful 
information to help inform the decision making process. A 
Statement of Consultation has been produced which 
summarises the key points made during the consultation and 
also responds to these issues raised. The Statement of 

Factual update 

No: proposed modification is 
a factual update 

29 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1067



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Consultation accompanies this the DPD. 
 
We have now then produced the proposed submission draft 
of the Housing Site Allocations DPD. This is the plan that the 
Council wants to submit for Examination. It is therefore the 
plan that we feel is the most appropriate plan for West 
Berkshire, taking into account all of the technical evidence 
and the outcomes of the public consultation. We would like 
sought your comments on the soundness and legal 
compliance of the proposals within the draft Plan. This is a 
statutory period of consultation and is taking took place 
between 9 November and 21 December 2015. The proposed 
submission documents included the following: 

• The Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document (DPD) 

• The Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SA/SEA) 

• Consultation Statement 
• The Proposed Submission Policies Map 
• The Duty to Cooperate Statement 
• The Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

 
There are were also a number of supporting and evidenced 
based documents which have informed the preparation of 
the DPD. These include a Landscape Assessment, a 
Transport Assessment and a Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment. These are all available on the 
Council’s website. 
 
You can comment via our consultation portal at 
http://consult.westberks.gov.uk/portal and register using the 
'login/register' section. Alternatively please fill in the on-line 

30 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1068



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

consultation form which is available at 
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/hsaproposedsubmission and 
return it to us by email at planningpolicy@westberks.gov.uk. 
Hard copies of the Proposed Submission DPD and 
consultation form are also available to view at the Council 
Offices, Market Street and all libraries across the District. 
We are seeking your comments on the tests of soundness 
and legal compliance of the Proposed Submission DPD as 
this will be tested at the Examination. Your comments should 
therefore address whether the plan is: 
Positively prepared 
Justified 
Effective 
Consistent with national policy. 
 
We sought your comments on the soundness and legal 
compliance of the proposals in the DPD between 9 
November and 24 December 2015. All comments made at 
the preferred options stage have been taken into account in 
the production of the Proposed Submission DPD and will be 
submitted to the Inspector. Publication of the Proposed 
Submission document is a regulatory stage and any 
additional representations should relate specifically to the 
legal compliance and soundness of the document. Guidance 
notes for completing the form are available online. 
 
Following the consultation, all the responses will be were 
submitted to the Secretary of State who will appointed an 
independent Planning Inspector to examine the plan DPD. 
 
Examination hearing sessions were held in June and July 
2016 to discuss a number of issues upon which the Inspector 
required clarification. During the hearing sessions the 

31 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1069



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Inspector asked the Council to undertake additional work. 
The Inspector then sought additional comments on this work 
from participants who attended the relevant hearing 
sessions. Based on the outcomes of the hearing sessions 
and the additional work undertaken, the Inspector issued his 
preliminary findings on 17 October 2016. The findings are 
without prejudice to his final report but set out the Main 
Modifications he considers are required in order to make the 
DPD sound. We are seeking your comments on the 
soundness and legal compliance of the proposed main 
Modifications between 12 December 2016 and 30 January 
2017. 

PMC3 Policy GS 1 11 

Amend the 8th bullet point as follows:  
 
Development will respond positively to the local context, 
ensuring a high quality of design in keeping with  that 
responds effectively to the character of the surrounding area. 

To more accurately 
reflect Government 
policy as set out in 
the NPPF at 
paragraph 58.  

No: the proposed 
modification more accurately 
reflects Government policy 
on quality of design. 

PMC4 

Policy GS 1 
and HRA 
pages 15 
and 17 

11 

Amend the last bullet point as follows: 
  
All adverse impacts on habitats and species of principal 
importance for the conservation of biodiversity in England 
and other biodiversity will be mitigated addressed through 
avoidance, appropriate buffering, on-site mitigation and 
where applicable, off-site compensation measures. 
 

• To clarify the 
HRA and the 
DPD with 
regard to 
‘compensation 
measures’ for 
European 
protected sites. 

• To replace 
‘mitigated’ with 
‘addressed’ to 
more 
appropriately 
reflect national 
policy as set out 

No: whilst the site is within 
close proximity to the Kennet 
and Lambourn Floodplain 
SAC, this proposed 
modification was identified 
within the HRA Screening 
Report (April 2016) (see 
Table 3.1) and arose 
following the provision of 
advice from the Council’s 
Ecologist and Natural 
England during the 
preparation of the DPD. 

32 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1070



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

in paragraph 
118 of the 
NPPF. This 
wording also 
better reflects 
the Council’s 
intentions.  

PMC5 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy HSA 
1 
 

13 Amend plan to remove small triangle of land in the north 
west corner of the site 

Factual change 
following advice 
from agent 
regarding land 
ownership. Does not 
impact on the 
development 
potential of the site. 

No: factual change to 
remove small area of land. 
The site is not located in 
close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in 
the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 
2016). 

PMC6 Policy HSA 
4 18 Remove bullet point 6 regarding noise and air quality survey Bullet point 

unnecessary. 

No: the proposed 
modification removes a 
requirement for a noise and 
air quality survey that is not 
necessary. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC7 Policy HSA 
4 18 

Amend 2nd sentence of the 3rd sub bullet of the final bullet 
point of the policy as follows: 
 
This area of land... 

Typographical 

No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error. 

33 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1071



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

PMC8 

Delivery 
and 
Monitoring: 
Policy HSA 
4 

19 

Amend 2nd sentence of Delivery and Monitoring Box as 
follows:  
 
NEW047D will be the first part of the site to come forward, to 
be followed by NEW047B and NEW047C which will be 
developed in the medium term.  

To avoid 
unnecessarily 
holding back 
development if it 
can come forward 
sooner.  

No: the proposed 
modification reflects that the 
site could come forward 
sooner. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC9 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy 
HSA5 
 

22 Update indicative site plan to add newly designated footpath 
that runs across the site. 

Factual change. 
Footpath 
designation 
occurred since 
submission of DPD. 
Indicative site plan 
updated at request 
of Inspector (HW54) 

No: whilst the site is in close 
proximity to the River 
Lambourn SAC, the 
proposed modification makes 
a factual change to show a 
footpath designation within 
the site.  

PMC10 Policy HSA 
7 25 

Remove 7th bullet point as follows: 
 
The scheme will be informed by a phase I contamination 
report with further detailed reports arising from that as 
necessary. 

A contamination 
report is no longer 
required 

No: the proposed 
modification removes a policy 
requirement that is no longer 
necessary. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC11 Policy HSA 
8 28 

Amend 4th bullet point as follows: 
 
The scheme will comprise a development design and layout 
that will be further informed by a full detailed Landscape and 

Clarification of 
intention. 

No: the proposed 
modification claries how the 
site should be developed in 
relation to the landscape and 

34 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1072

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42615&p=0


Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) and will include the 
following measures: 
Faces in to Clements Mead to enable proper integration with 
the existing built form of Clements Mead; 
Explores the opportunities to provide sion of footpath links to 
locations including the Cornwell Centre, the Cornwell 
recreation ground and to existing footpaths and bus stops. 

access. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC12 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy 
HSA13 

39 Amend indicative site plan as follows: 
Reduce access arrow going into site EUA025 

Clarification of 
intention. 

No: the proposed 
modification claries how the 
site should be developed in 
relation to the access. The 
site is not located in close 
proximity to a SAC or SPA as 
is demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC13 

Delivery 
and 
Monitoring - 
Policy HSA 
12 

37 

Amend 2nd sentence of  Delivery and Monitoring Box as 
follows: 
 
Development of this site is therefore unlikely to commence in 
the year before 2018/19. 

Amendment to 
reflect what was 
originally intended.  

No: the proposed 
modification amends the 
wording of the timing of the 
delivery of the site. The site 
is not located in close 
proximity to a SAC or SPA as 
is demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC14 Policy HSA 
13 38 

Amend 2nd sentence of Delivery and Monitoring Box as 
follows: 
 
Development of this site is therefore unlikely to commence in 
the year before 2018/19. 

Amendment to 
reflect what was 
originally intended.  

No: the proposed 
modification amends the 
wording of the timing of the 
delivery of the site. The site 
is not located in close 

35 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1073



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

proximity to a SAC or SPA as 
is demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC15 Policy HSA 
16 45 

Amend sub-bullet point 6, of main bullet point 6 as follows:  
 
Create a new gateway to Burghfield Common to its north. , 
integrating  
the development to the north of Clayhill Road. 

To reflect concern 
that there was not 
an opportunity to 
integrate the site 
with the 
development to the 
north of Clayhill 
Road. 

No: the proposed 
modification reflects that 
reflects that there is not an 
opportunity to integrate the 
site development to the north 
of Clayhill Road.   
 
Burghfield Common is not 
within the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA 5km and 7km 
buffers. There are no SPAs 
within Burghfield Common as 
is demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC16 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy HSA 
16 

46 

Amend plan to show updated information for adjacent site 
HSA 17: 
 
Remove the arrow indicating the potential foot and cycle link 
into HSA17: 
 

Factual change for 
clarification 
 

No: the proposed 
modification makes a factual 
correction in relation to the 
access to an adjacent site. 
Neither site is located in 
close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in 
the map contained in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 
2016).  

36 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1074



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

PMC17 

Indicative 
site plan for 
Policy HSA 
17 
 

48 

Amend indicative site plan as follows:  
 
• Remove purple arrow coming from the woodland to the 

north west of the site 
• Add purple arrow linking the site to the existing right of 

way to the east of the site 
• Remove the required woodland buffer 
• Remove overlap between developable area and 

landscape buffer around The Hollies Nursing Home 
 
Consequent amendment to legend as follows: 
 
Potential Foot & Cycle Link 
Required Woodland Buffer 
Required Landscape Buffer 

• Link to 
woodland 
originally 
included in 
error.  

• Consistency 
with the policy 
which states 
that options for 
footpath and 
cycle links to 
the existing 
network should 
be considered 
(HW24). 

• To clarify how 
the site should 
be developed. 

No: the proposed 
modification removes a link 
to woodland that was 
included in error, ensures 
consistency in the policy with 
regard to footpath and cycle 
link options, and clarifies how 
the site should be developed 
in relation to the 
landscape/woodland. The 
site is not located within 
close proximity to a SAC or 
SPA as is demonstrated in 
Appendix 1 of the HRA 
Screening Report (April 
2016). 

PMC18 Policy HSA 
20 55 

Amend first bullet point as follows: 
 
The provision of approximately 60 dwellings, to be delivered 
at a low density in keeping with the surrounding area. The 
development should ensure a mix and type of dwellings 
appropriate for the local area, taking into account the needs 
of the racehorse industry which has a specific need for 
affordable single person accommodation. 

To clarify the 
accommodation 
needs of the 
racehorse industry 

No: the proposed 
modification clarifies the 
accommodation needs of the 
racehorse industry. Whilst 
the site is close to the River 
Lambourn SAC, the 
modification will not result in 
an increase to the location or 
level of development. 

PMC19 2.57 70 
Amend first bullet point: 
 
.......Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2009) (2011) 

Typographical 
No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error 

PMC20 Indicative 
site plan for 77 Amend indicative site plan to remove Ancient Woodland 

(Long Copse) from the site area.  
Factual change. The 
ancient woodland 

No: the proposed 
modification removes the 

37 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1075

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42558&p=0


Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Policy TS2 
 

was included in 
error. It does not 
form part of the site 
and will be 
protected by a 15 
metre landscape 
buffer. 

ancient woodland from the 
site plan. The site is not 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 1 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC21 Para 3.2 81 

Update text as follows: 
 
This policy supplements the detailed provisions for each of 
the sites set out in policies TS1 and 2 3. 

Policy TS3 to be 
deleted.  

No: the proposed 
modification reflects that TS3 
has been deleted. Neither 
New Stocks Farm (TS1) or 
Long Copse Farm (TS2) are 
located in close proximity to a 
SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 2 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC22 Policy TS 4 81 

Amend Policy TS4, 4th bullet point as follows:  
 
Be well designed and laid out with shelter and amenity 
buildings which are appropriately located and constructed of 
sympathetic materials suited for the purpose. ; and  

To make the 
requirement clearer 
for providing shelter 
that will afford 
significant protection 
against radiation in 
the unlikely event of 
an accident at AWE 
Burghfield. 

No: the proposed 
modification provides more 
clarity on the requirement for 
providing shelters. The site is 
not located in close proximity 
to a SAC or SPA as is 
demonstrated in the map 
contained in Appendix 2 of 
the HRA Screening Report 
(April 2016). 

PMC23 Para 4.11 84 
Amend second sentence as follows: 
 
Where approbate appropriate, ..... 

Typographical 
No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error 

38 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1076



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

PMC24 Para 4.36 92 
Amend 1st sentence as follows: 
 
...has to be followed 

Typographical  
No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error 

PMC25 Policy C5 93 

Amend first sentence as follows:  
 
New dwellings in the countryside related to and located 
adjoining  at or near to a rural enterprise will be permitted 
where:... 

To clarify the intent 
of the policy with 
regard to proximity 
to rural enterprise. 

No: the proposed 
modification clarifies the 
proximity of the rural 
enterprise (at or near to and 
not adjoining as was stated) 

PMC26 Policy C5, 
criterion iii 93 

Amend the first sentence of criterion iii as follows:  
 
It is demonstrated that there are no suitable alternative 
dwellings available or that could be made available in the 
locality in that location to meet the need. 
 
Make last sentence of criterion iii a separate criterion 
numbered iv.  Re-number subsequent criteria. 

• To follow the 
amendment in 
the first 
sentence of C5 
and to be 
consistent with 
the use of the 
word “location” 
in criteria ii and 
v.  

• The proximity of 
the settlement 
boundary is a 
different 
criterion to be 
satisfied. 

No: the proposed 
modification amends the 
wording regarding location to 
ensure consistency with 
other parts of the policy. 

PMC27 Para 4.38 93 
Amend second sentence as follows:  
 
The council accepts however, that there may be cases... 

Typographical 
No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error 

PMC28 Para 4.42 94 
Amend second sentence as follows: 
Being employed in a rural location is not sufficient to quality 
qualify as a rural worker... 

Typographical 
No: the proposed 
modification amends 
typographical error 

PMC29 Para 4.44 94 Amend second sentence as follows: 
 Typographical 

No: the proposed 
modification amends 

39 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1077



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

Where an agricultural occupancy condition has been applied 
this will not be related relaxed unless... 

typographical error 

PMC30 Para 4.60 98 

Delete entire paragraph: 
 
Intensification of development by adding an additional 
permanent dwelling will not be permitted on the site of an 
existing dwelling in the countryside, as this undermines the 
general restraint on building in the countryside.  

To correct an 
inconsistency with 
wording elsewhere 
in the section at 
4.14.  

No: the proposed 
modification deletes an 
inconsistency with supporting 
paragraph 4.14 which has 
regard to the intensification of 
development 

PMC31 Policy P1 100 

Deletion of point v from the policy as follows: 
 
When calculating the full allocation of parking for a 
development, numbers should be rounded up for each 
dwelling type and threshold 

Not considered 
necessary, and will 
allow some flexibility 
considered on a 
case by case basis 
depending on what 
is most appropriate 
for the location and 
mix of dwellings. 

No: as set out within the 
HRA Screening Report (April 
2016), policy P1 in itself will 
not lead to new development 

PMC32 Policy P1, 
point vii 100 

Delete reference to two parking zones in the EUA in second 
sentence:  
A residential travel plan will normally be required where 50 or 
more dwellings are proposed in Zones 1 and 2 and in the two 
Eastern Urban Area Zones... 

Typographical 

No: proposed modification 
amends typographical error 

PMC33 Table at 5.2 101 

Update text for EUA zone as follows:  
 
Entirety of the Eastern Urban Area within 500m buffer 
outside adopted settlement boundary 

Typographical 

No: proposed modification 
amends typographical error 

PMC34 Appendix 4 120 

Amend explanation for ‘affordable housing’ as follows: 
The Council uses the above definition of affordable housing 
and defines the term affordable as accommodation which is 
available at a price or rent which is not more than 30% of a 

Clarification 

No: proposed modification 
clarifies the Council’s 
approach 

40 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1078



Proposed 
minor 
change 
(PMC) 

Policy / 
Paragraph 
that PMC 
relates to 

DPD 
Page no. 
(in 
Proposed 
Submission 
DPD) 

 PMC Reason for PMC 
Do the proposed changes 
affect the HRA 
conclusions? 

householder’s new income. 
 

PMC35 Appendix 6, 
criterion (ii) 135 

Amend text as follows: 
 
cartilages curtilages 

Typographical 
No: proposed modification 
amends typographical error 

PMC36 

SA/SEA 
Appendix 
9d 
PAN011 

 
Amend text as follows: 
 
Station Road Shooters Hill.  

Address incorrect  

No: proposed modification 
amends incorrect address 

41 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

P
age 1079



3. Conclusions  
 
3.1 The potential effects of the West Berkshire Core Strategy have previously been 

considered by screening policies against the existing European Sites. Using the findings 
of this work, it was demonstrated in the HRA Screening Report (April 2016) that the 
housing allocations, allocated sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, 
policies for housing in the countryside as well as a policy on residential parking 
standards will not have any adverse effects on the integrity of European sites. Natural 
England concurred with the Council’s conclusions. 
 

3.2 The Inspector of the Housing Site Allocations DPD has issued the Council with proposed 
Main Modifications necessary to make the DPD ‘sound’. These modifications are largely 
concerned with providing additional clarity and updating factual information. The Council 
has also identified minor changes that correct typographical errors and update factual 
information. 

 
3.3 Tables 2.1 and 2.2 in this addendum to the HRA Screening Report (April 2016) conclude 

that none of the Main Modifications would affect the conclusions of the HRA Screening 
Report (April 2016). Whilst several of the Main Modifications have the potential to 
introduce additional effects on Natura 2000 sites, there are policy safeguards in the Core 
Strategy and Housing Site Allocations DPD. 

 
3.4 The Council are now seeking confirmation from Natural England that no further 

investigation or Appropriate Assessment is required under the Habitats Directive for the 
proposed Main Modifications and minor changes to the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

42 
West Berkshire Council Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report Addendum  
Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document December 2016 
 

Page 1080



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Neighbourhood Planning
Committee considering 
report: Council on 8 December 2016

Portfolio Member: Councillor Hilary Cole
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 30 September 2016

Report Author: Rachael Lancaster
Forward Plan Ref: C3198

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To inform Members of the Neighbourhood Planning Process and to set out the 
proposed approval process for the adoption of a Neighbourhood Plan. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to approve the process for approving Neighbourhood Plans  

(1) The designation of Neighbourhood areas is delegated to the Head of 
Planning. 

(a) The Scheme of Delegation is updated to allow the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area to be approved by the Head of Planning. 

(2) Following the examination, but prior to the referendum taking place. 
Council are asked to approve the Neighbourhood Plan progresses to 
referendum and agreed to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan into the 
development plan if there is a successful ‘yes’ vote at the referendum. 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The Council are currently able to claim up to £30,000 per 
Neighbourhood area designated (up to a maximum of 20 
areas per year). Payments are broken down into stages:

1) £5,000 following the designation of a 
neighbourhood area
2) £5,000 following publication of the proposed 
neighbourhood plan once it has been submitted to 
the council
3) £20,000 following successful completion of the 
neighbourhood plan examination. This is to part pay 
for the examination and costs associated with the 
referendum. 

The cost to the council is largely through officer time, and 
in the organisation of the referendum. It is estimated that 
approximately 90 to 100 hours of officer time is required to 
support a community develop a neighbourhood plan, at a 
cost of approximately £2,500. This is based on the time 

Page 1081

Agenda Item 16.



Neighbourhood Planning

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

given to support the development of the Stratfield Mortimer 
Neighbourhood Plan and does not include the cost of the 
examination. 
Based on average length of examinations the cost of the 
examination should be between £3,000 and £8,500 
depending on the length of time taken to examine the 
Neighbourhood Plan. However, the Stratfield Mortimer 
examination cost approximately £18,185.
On average referendums cost £5,000 per ballot box to 
deliver, plus the officer time associated with arranging the 
referendum. Some polling stations will have more than one 
ballot box. 

3.2 Policy: National Planning Policy makes provision for the 
development of Neighbourhood Planning. An adopted 
Neighbourhood plan forms part of the district’s 
development plan. 

3.3 Personnel: The Council has a duty to support the development of 
Neighbourhood Plans. Officer time will be required to offer 
this support. 

3.4 Legal: An adopted Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the 
development Plan. 

3.5 Risk Management: N/A

3.6 Property: N/A

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

4.1 None

Page 1082



Neighbourhood Planning

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The Localism Act 2011 brought in the ability for local communities to develop 
Neighbourhood Plans, allowing communities to decide the future shape of the 
places where they live. 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plans can only be developed by ‘Qualifying Bodies’. In West 
Berkshire Parish Councils are the ‘Qualifying Body’. As West Berkshire is wholly 
Parished, only parish council are able to develop Neighbourhood plans.  
Unfortunately, the legislation does not make any allowances for parishes that don’t 
have a large enough electorate/population to support a Parish Council.

5.3 The Council have a duty to support communities in the development of 
Neighbourhood Plans, and some limited funding is currently available to support the 
Council (up to £30,000 per neighbourhood area for up to 20 areas per year).

5.4  There are a number of stages to the development of a Neighbourhood Plan these 
are set out in table 1 below. 

Stage Responsibility Notes
Neighbourhood 
Area Application

Parish Council The Application form (shown in appendix C) will be 
published on the Council’s website for communities 
to download. 

Determination of 
Neighbourhood 
Area 

West Berkshire 
Council (Officer)

Current method
Upon receiving the application for a neighbourhood 
area from the parish council, the Council must 
publicise and consult upon the application for 4 
weeks (if the neighbourhood area is the same as 
the parish boundary) or 6 weeks (for all other 
areas).

The Council must determine the application within a 
prescribed timeframe (from the day after the 
application is publicised, this is 20 weeks for 
neighbourhood areas falling within two or more 
local authority areas, 8 weeks if the application is 
the same as the parish boundary, and 13 weeks for 
all other applications).

Proposed Change though the Neighbourhood 
Planning Bill
The Government are proposing that if the 
neighbourhood area is the same as the parish 
boundary, then the designation would have to be 
made as soon as possible once the Council is 
satisfied that the application is valid and complete.

Designation of 
Neighbourhood 
Area

West Berkshire 
Council (Head of 
Planning)

Approval of the Neighbourhood Area is proposed to 
be delegated to the Head of Planning.

Development of 
the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan

Parish Council The Council have a duty to support the 
development of Neighbourhood Plans.

 Service Level Agreement – Appendix D
 Neighbourhood Planning guidance – 

Page 1083



Neighbourhood Planning

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Stage Responsibility Notes
Appendix E

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council have a duty to support the 
development of the Neighbourhood Plan. This will 
involve attending a set number of meetings to offer 
advice and guidance as set out in the Service Level 
Agreement. 

In addition the Council are required to carry out 
Screening to determine whether Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) is required. This 
is best done early on in the development of the 
Neighbourhood Plan, once it has been agreed what 
Policy topics the will be included in the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

If a Neighbourhood Plan is proposing to allocate 
sites it is likely that SEA will be required. 

Pre Submission 
Consultation (6 
weeks)

Parish Council The Parish Council are required to consult their 
local community on their proposed plan before it is 
submitted to the Council for examination. 

The Council will respond to the pre-submission 
consultation giving an initial view of whether the 
proposed plan will meet the basic conditions and if 
any changes are required. Internal council 
consultees will also be consulted at this point. 

Submission of 
the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 

Parish Council The Parish Council will submit the proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan to the council for examination 
along with the following ‘Submission documents’ 
 Map/Statement identifying the area to which the 

proposed neighbourhood plan relates
 Consultation statement (setting out who was 

consulted, and how and a summary of the main 
issues raised and how these issues have been 
considered)

 Basic Conditions statement (setting out how the 
proposed neighbourhood plan meets the 
requirements)

 Copy of Screening opinion/Environmental report 
(depending on the outcome of the SA/SEA 
screening carried out by the Council during the 
development of the plan). 

Publication of the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan (6 weeks)

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council is required to publish the proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan, inviting comments for 6 
weeks. 

Examination West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

West Berkshire Council will, in discussion with the 
Parish Council, appoint an examiner to examine the 
proposed Neighbourhood Plan.
All procurement requirements will be completed 
following the appointment of an examiner. 

Page 1084



Neighbourhood Planning

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Stage Responsibility Notes
Examiner’s 
Report

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

Once the examiner’s report has been received the 
Council will review the report and consider the 
recommendations made within the report. 
It is likely that a meeting will take place at this stage 
with the Parish Council to discuss the 
recommendations included in the report. 

Modifications West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

Where the examiner has requested modifications 
are made to ensure the plan the council will review 
these and propose changes to the Parish Council 
for agreement. 

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that Local Planning Authorities will 
have a period of five weeks from receiving the 
examiner’s report to determine whether to submit 
the plan to referendum.  This would bring the 
Council policy in line with national policy.

Determination / 
Approval to 
proceed

Council to 
approve 
referendum and 
adoption of Plan

Following agreement of modifications with the 
Parish Council the Neighbourhood Plan will be 
brought to Council for approval. This will include a 
copy of the draft determination notice to be 
published. 
The motion would be:
To approve the neighbourhood plan for referendum 
and to adopt the neighbourhood plan immediately 
following a successful ‘yes’ vote

Referendum West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council are required to make the arrangement 
for the referendum.

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that the referendum should take 
place within 10 weeks of the decision being made 
that the referendum should be held.  This would 
bring the Council policy in line with national policy.

Adoption 
(Automatic on 
successful ‘yes’ 
vote)

West Berkshire 
Council 

Following a ‘yes’ vote the Council will have adopted 
the Neighbourhood Plan into the development plan 
for the area (following the council resolution above) 
and will use it to determine planning applications for 
the neighbourhood area. 

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that The Council should bring the 
neighbourhood plan into force within 8 weeks of the 
date of the referendum, unless there are unresolved 
legal challenges. This would bring the Council 
policy in line with national policy.

6. Conclusion

6.1 The provision for Neighbourhood Planning is set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and Neighbourhood Planning legislation.  

Page 1085



Neighbourhood Planning

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

6.2 The Council have a duty to support communities wishing to develop Neighbourhood 
Plans, and following a successful ‘yes’ vote at referendum the council are required 
to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan into the Development plan for the district. 

6.3 This report will progress through the committee process to be approved at Council 
in December 2016. 

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Neighbourhood Area Application Form 

Template form to be submitted to the Council by Parish Councils wishing to apply 
for a neighbourhood area designation

7.4 Appendix D – Service Level Agreement

Template agreement between the Council and the Parish Council setting out the 
expectations for the development of the Neighbourhood Plan. The Neighbourhood 
Planning Bill requires Councils to set out clearly the advice/assistance that the 
Council can offer the parish council. The SLA provides a clear indication of what the 
Council will, and will not do to support the development of a Neighbourhood Plan. 

7.5 Appendix E – Neighbourhood Planning Guidance

Guidance notes for communities wishing to develop a Neighbourhood Plan

Page 1086



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 brought in the ability for local communities to develop 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs), to decide the future shape of the 
places where they live. 

1.2 Neighbourhood Development Plans allocate land for development and establish 
general planning policies for development and use of land in a neighbourhood. It 
must be in general conformity with the Development Plan (in this case the Core 
Strategy and Local Plan Saved Policies), and cannot prevent new development.  
NDPs are the first plans at parish level that can be adopted to form part of the 
development plan, and which will therefore have full weight in the development 
management process. 

1.3 Neighbourhood Plans can only be developed by a ‘qualifying body’ in West 
Berkshire Parish Councils are considered to be this ‘qualifying body’.  
Neighbourhood Forums (which are the other type of qualifying body) can only be 
formed in areas which are un-parished and therefore are not applicable to West 
Berkshire.

2. Process of developing a Neighbourhood Plan

 

2.1 Designation of Neighbourhood Area

(1) Once a parish council has decided to develop a Neighbourhood Plan 
they need to submit an area designation application form to the Council 
(see appendix C). Currently, once an area application is received the 

Page 1087



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Council are required to publicise and consult upon the request – this is 
4 weeks for area applications covering a whole parish and 6 weeks for 
all other applications. Local authorities must issue a decision on 
whether to designate a neighbourhood area within a specified 
timeframe – 8 weeks for parish councils applying for the whole parish 
area, 20 weeks for neighbourhood areas falling within the area of two 
or more local authorities, and 13 weeks for all other applications. 

(2) However, the Government are currently proposing that for applications 
for whole parish areas, local planning authorities will no longer need to 
consult and determine the application within 8 weeks. Instead, the 
designation would be made as soon as possible once the authority is 
satisfied that the application is valid and complete.

(3) Following the designation of the Neighbourhood area the Parish 
Councils then start work on the neighbourhood Plan and the service 
level agreement between the Council and the Parish is signed. This 
sets out the expectations of the two parties during the development of 
the Neighbourhood Plan (see appendix D).

(4) Most parish council’s set up a separate working group to deal 
specifically with the neighbourhood plan, this group can include 
members of the parish council as well as members of the public who 
are interested in getting involved. The working group is required to 
keep the parish council informed of the progress being made, and all 
decisions need to be made by the parish council as the ‘qualifying 
body’. 

(5) It should be noted that the Neighbourhood Planning Bill, introduced to 
Parliament in early September 2016, introduces a process for 
modifying neighbourhood areas where a neighbourhood plan has 
already been made in relation to that area. 

2.2 Development of a Neighbourhood Plan

(1) Engagement with the local community is critical to the success of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Initial consultation should help to identify the 
issues and aims of the plan, with later periods of consultation helping to 
refine the policies and proposals included within the plan. 

(2) Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity to the 
Development Plan (Core Strategy and Local Plan Saved Policies) and 
have regard to national policy (NPPF). 

(3) The Council have a duty to support communities in the development of 
neighbourhood planning. This usually means an officer meeting with 
the working party to discuss the emerging neighbourhood plan and 
offer advice and guidance. The Council have produced a guidance note 
for communities developing Neighbourhood Plans (See appendix E).

(4) Officers will not help to write the plan, but will review policies as they 
are developed to ensure consistency and that they meet the 
requirement for neighbourhood plans. 

Page 1088



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(5) The Council are required to screen the emerging Neighbourhood Plan 
to determine whether Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
and/or Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required. This is 
to determine if the Neighbourhood Plan will have any significant effects 
on the environment or on sites of importance for nature conservation. 
The Screening opinion is then consulted on with the three statutory 
environmental consultees (Environment Agency, Historic England, and 
Natural England) to ensure that they do not disagree with the Council’s 
determination. Once agreed a determination letter is issued to the 
Parish Council setting out the outcome of the screening opinion. This 
will either require the Parish Council to carry out SEA and/or HRA or 
not. It is likely that where a Neighbourhood Area is within the AONB or 
the Neighbourhood Plan proposes site allocation an SEA will need to 
be carried out as part of the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

(6) Once a Parish Council is happy that they have completed their 
neighbourhood plan, they are required to carry out a six week 
consultation with the local community. Following this consultation, 
amendments can be made to the plan, before it is submitted to the 
Council for examination. 

(7) The Council will also respond to the formal consultation setting out an 
initial view as to whether the proposed neighbourhood plan meets the 
basic conditions, and what, if anything, would need to be changed to 
ensure that these conditions are met. 

2.3  Examination of the Neighbourhood Plan

(1) The Council review the neighbourhood plan to ensure any requested 
changes to ensure compliance with the basic conditions (as set out in 
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990) have been met. The Council are required to publish the 
proposed plan for 6 weeks before it progresses to examination. 

(2) The Council appoints an examiner to examine the neighbourhood plan, 
in agreement with the Parish Council. The Council has used the RICS 
Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service 
(NPIERS). NPIERS provides the referral provides the details of three 
people willing (and with the relevant qualifications) to carry out the 
examination. The details of these three people are passed on to the 
Parish Council for them to choose who they would like to carry out the 
examination. The Council will provide guidance on who they consider 
to be the most appropriate where this is relevant. The Council are 

Basic Conditions
 Have appropriate regard to national policy
 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development
 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan 

for the local area
 Be compatible with EU obligations

Page 1089



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

required to cover the cost of the examination. NPIERS examiners are 
paid a set price, currently set at £750 a day.

(3) The expectation is that neighbourhood plans will be examined using 
written representations. Although a hearing session can be called if the 
examiner considers that this would be more appropriate. Experience 
suggests that written representations only examinations will take 4 – 6 
days, with an examination requiring a hearing session taking 9 – 11 
days. 

(4) The examiner will only consider whether the proposed plan meets the 
basic conditions and other requirements set out by law

(a) Has appropriate regard to national policy

(b) Contributes to the achievement of sustainable development

(c) Is in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development 
plan for the local area

(d) Is compatible with EU obligations

(e) Meets human rights requirements

(5) The examiner will produce a report following the examination and will 
make one of three recommendations: 

(a) The plan proceeds to referendum (it meets all the legal requirements)

(b) Modifications are made to the plan and then it proceeds to referendum

(c) The plan does not proceed to referendum

(6) Currently the examiner’s report can only make recommendations. It is 
up to the Council, in discussions with the parish council, to decide 
whether to make any recommended modifications. If the examiner’s 
recommendations are not taken forward clear reasons need to be 
given. 

(7) If the parish council are not happy with the modifications being 
proposed they have the option of withdrawing the plan. 

(8) It is the responsibility of the Council to cover the costs of the 
independent examination and referendum. 

2.4 Referendum

(1) If the neighbourhood plan is found to be satisfactory (with modifications 
if required) the Council will arrange for the referendum to take place. 
This is organised by the elections unit and 28 working days before the 
date of the referendum the Council is required to publish information 
about the neighbourhood plan. 25 days before the date of the 
referendum the Council is required to give notice that a referendum is 
taking place and the date of the poll. 

Page 1090



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(2) The parish council may encourage voting and provide information on 
the proposed plan. They can only produce factual material, not promote 
a ‘yes’ vote. Individual members of the parish council and others may 
act independently, with independent funds, to campaign for a yes vote.

(3) The question asked is:

“Do you want West Berkshire Council to use the neighbourhood plan 
for [name of neighbourhood area] to help it decide planning 
applications in the neighbourhood area?”

(4) All those on the electoral register are entitled to vote. 

(5) If more than 50% of those voting vote yes then the local planning 
authority is required to bring the plan into force. 

2.5 The estimated cost of carrying out the referendum is a minimum of £5,000 per 
polling station; however, if a polling station contains more than one box the cost will 
be greater as the staffing costs will double. This is covered by the Council. 

3. Summary of the development of a Neighbourhood Plan

3.1 The table below sets out a summary of the stages of the development of a 
neighbourhood plan and who is responsible for each stage. 

Stage Responsibility Notes
Neighbourhood 
Area Application

Parish Council The Application form (shown in appendix C) will be 
published on the Council’s website for communities 
to download. 

Determination of 
Neighbourhood 
Area 

West Berkshire 
Council (Officer)

Current method
Upon receiving the application for a neighbourhood 
area from the parish council, the Council must 
publicise and consult upon the application for 4 
weeks (if the neighbourhood area is the same as 
the parish boundary) or 6 weeks (for all other 
areas).

The Council must determine the application within a 
prescribed timeframe (from the day after the 
application is publicised, this is 20 weeks for 
neighbourhood areas falling within two or more 
local authority areas, 8 weeks if the application is 
the same as the parish boundary, and 13 weeks for 
all other applications).

Proposed Change though the Neighbourhood 
Planning Bill
The Government are proposing that if the 
neighbourhood area is the same as the parish 
boundary, then the designation would have to be 
made as soon as possible once the Council is 
satisfied that the application is valid and complete.

Designation of West Berkshire Approval of the Neighbourhood Area is proposed to 

Page 1091



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Stage Responsibility Notes
Neighbourhood 
Area

Council (Head of 
Planning)

be delegated to the Head of Planning.

Parish Council The Council have a duty to support the 
development of Neighbourhood Plans.

 Service Level Agreement – Appendix D
 Neighbourhood Planning guidance – 

Appendix E

Development of 
the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council have a duty to support the 
development of the Neighbourhood Plan. This will 
involve attending a set number of meetings to offer 
advice and guidance as set out in the Service Level 
Agreement. 

In addition the Council are required to carry out 
Screening to determine whether Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) is required. This 
is best done early on in the development of the 
Neighbourhood Plan, once it has been agreed what 
Policy topics the will be included in the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

If a Neighbourhood Plan is proposing to allocate 
sites it is likely that SEA will be required. 

Pre Submission 
Consultation (6 
weeks)

Parish Council The Parish Council are required to consult their 
local community on their proposed plan before it is 
submitted to the Council for examination. 

The Council will respond to the pre-submission 
consultation giving an initial view of whether the 
proposed plan will meet the basic conditions and if 
any changes are required. Internal council 
consultees will also be consulted at this point. 

Submission of 
the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 

Parish Council The Parish Council will submit the proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan to the council for examination 
along with the following ‘Submission documents’ 
 Map/Statement identifying the area to which the 

proposed neighbourhood plan relates
 Consultation statement (setting out who was 

consulted, and how and a summary of the main 
issues raised and how these issues have been 
considered)

 Basic Conditions statement (setting out how the 
proposed neighbourhood plan meets the 
requirements)

 Copy of Screening opinion/Environmental report 
(depending on the outcome of the SA/SEA 
screening carried out by the Council during the 
development of the plan). 

Publication of the 
Neighbourhood 
Plan (6 weeks)

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council is required to publish the proposed 
Neighbourhood Plan, inviting comments for 6 
weeks. 

Page 1092



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Stage Responsibility Notes
Examination West Berkshire 

Council 
(Officers)

West Berkshire Council will, in discussion with the 
Parish Council, appoint an examiner to examine the 
proposed Neighbourhood Plan.
All procurement requirements will be completed 
following the appointment of an examiner. 

Examiner’s 
Report

West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

Once the examiner’s report has been received the 
Council will review the report and consider the 
recommendations made within the report. 
It is likely that a meeting will take place at this stage 
with the Parish Council to discuss the 
recommendations included in the report. 

Modifications West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

Where the examiner has requested modifications 
are made to ensure the plan the council will review 
these and propose changes to the Parish Council 
for agreement. 

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that Local Planning Authorities will 
have a period of five weeks from receiving the 
examiner’s report to determine whether to submit 
the plan to referendum.  This would bring the 
Council policy in line with national policy.

Determination / 
Approval to 
proceed

Council to 
approve 
referendum and 
adoption of Plan

Following agreement of modifications with the 
Parish Council the Neighbourhood Plan will be 
brought to Council for approval. This will include a 
copy of the draft determination notice to be 
published. 
The motion would be:
To approve the neighbourhood plan for referendum 
and to adopt the neighbourhood plan immediately 
following a successful ‘yes’ vote

Referendum West Berkshire 
Council 
(Officers)

The Council are required to make the arrangement 
for the referendum.

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that the referendum should take 
place within 10 weeks of the decision being made 
that the referendum should be held.  This would 
bring the Council policy in line with national policy.

Adoption 
(Automatic on 
successful ‘yes’ 
vote)

West Berkshire 
Council 

Following a ‘yes’ vote the Council will have adopted 
the Neighbourhood Plan into the development plan 
for the area (following the council resolution above) 
and will use it to determine planning applications for 
the neighbourhood area. 

Proposed Change to bring in time limits
It is proposed that The Council should bring the 
neighbourhood plan into force within 8 weeks of the 
date of the referendum, unless there are unresolved 
legal challenges. This would bring the Council 
policy in line with national policy.

Page 1093



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4. Costs and Funding

4.1 Local Authorities are able to claim up to £30,000 Neighbourhood Planning Grant per 
designated neighbourhood area from the government. The payments are broken 
into stages to reflect the work involved in getting a plan to that point of being 
published prior to examination. 

(1) £5,000 made following the designation of a neighbourhood area. This 
recognises the time that officers will have put into supporting an 
advising the community group to this point.

(2) £5,000 made when the Council publicises the NDP prior to 
examination. This is to contribute towards the cost of the examination 
and staff costs incurred at this stage.

(3) £20,000 made on successful completion of the NDP examination. This 
will part pay for the examination as well as further costs that will be 
incurred in taking the NDP through a referendum. 

4.2 The cost to the Council is made up of officer time, the examination and the 
organisation and delivery of the referendum. 

4.3 It is estimated that approximately 90 to 100 hours of officer time is required to 
support a community develop a neighbourhood plan, at a cost of approximately 
£2,500. This has been based on the time given to support the development of the 
Stratfield Mortimer Neighbourhood Plan.

4.4 The Council are required to fund the examination into the Neighbourhood Plan. On 
average the cost of the examination should be between £3,000 and £8,500 
depending on the time taken to examine the Neighbourhood Plan (4 -11 days at 
£750 a day + VAT). However, the Stratfield Mortimer examination cost 
approximately £18,185 (20 days at £750 a day + VAT). 

4.5 Referendums on average cost £5,000 per ballot box to deliver, plus the officer time 
associated with arranging the referendum. The overall cost of the referendum would 
therefore, depend on the number of ballot boxes required. 

5. Neighbourhood Plans in West Berkshire

5.1 There is some interest from communities in West Berkshire wishing to develop 
neighbourhood plans. Two areas have already been designated, with one 
Neighbourhood Plan currently at examination. A number of other communities have 
been in contact with the Planning Policy team regarding neighbourhood planning 
and initial meeting held with representatives of the communities. These initial 
meetings provide the community with some initial guidance on neighbourhood 
planning and allow the community to ask questions about the process. 

5.2 Designated Neighbourhood Areas

(1) Stratfield Mortimer – Plan is currently at examination. An examination 
hearing was held in August 2016. The Council has received the 
Examiner’s report and have agreed with the Parish Council to make a 
determination by May 2017 to allow for full consideration of the 
recommendations and issues raised in the report. The officer 

Page 1094



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

recommended determination will be brought to Council for approval in 
the spring 2017. Should the plan progress to Referendum there will be 
one polling station. 

(2) Tilehurst – The Neighbourhood area was designated in May 2015. 
Launch events were held in April 2016. Since the initial meetings to 
discuss the designation of the neighbourhood area there has been little 
contact with the neighbourhood planning group, however a meeting 
has now been scheduled for October. Should the plan progress to 
Referendum there will be four polling stations. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Area Applications

(1) Compton – An application for a Neighbourhood Area for Compton 
parish was submitted on 27th September 2016. The application has 
been refused and further information has been requested from the 
Parish Council as to why they wish to develop a Neighbourhood Plan. 
Should the plan progress to Referendum there will be one polling 
station. 

5.4 Parishes considering developing a Neighbourhood Plan

(1) Burghfield – seriously considering development of a Neighbourhood 
Plan. The Parish Council are currently considering whether to develop 
a plan for Burghfield Parish alone, or whether to include some or all of 
Sulhamstead Parish (as some of the settlement of Burghfield Common 
is located in Sulhamstead Parish). Sulhamstead Parish Council has 
indicated that they might be interested in a joint neighbourhood Plan. 
Should the plan progress to Referendum there would be four polling 
stations. Should the plan come forward for both Burghfield and 
Sulhamstead Parishes there would be an additional polling station 
resulting in a total of five polling stations. 

(2) Newbury – following discussions with officers it is unlikely that the 
Town Council will peruse a neighbourhood plan. However, if a plan did 
come forward and progresses to Referendum there would be 13 polling 
stations. 

(3) Lambourn – officers are in early discussions with the Parish Council 
over the suitability of a NDP for the parish. 

6. Adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan

6.1  As neighbourhood plans become part of the development plan, Members are 
required to approve the adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan. Following a successful 
referendum the Neighbourhood Plan becomes part of the development plan.

6.2 Members are asked to approve the following scheme of delegation, with all 
neighbourhood plans being brought to Council to agree the referendum and 
subsequent adoption should the referendum be successful. 

7. Recommendation

7.1 Members are asked to approve the process for approving Neighbourhood Plans  

Page 1095



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(1) The designation of Neighbourhood Areas is delegated to the Head of 
Planning. 

(a) The Scheme of Delegation is amended to allow the Head of Planning 
to make the determination in relation to a Neighbourhood Area. 

(2) Following the examination, but prior to the referendum taking place, 
Council are asked to approve the Neighbourhood Plan progresses to 
referendum and agreed to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan into the 
development plan if there is a successful ‘yes’ vote at the referendum.  

8. Consultation and Engagement

8.1 Bryan Lyttle (Planning), Laila Bassett (Planning), Phil Runacres (Electoral 
Services), Planning Advisory Group (PAG)

Background Papers:
Town and Country Planning, England The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012 (As amended) 
Wards affected:
All wards could be affected depending on Parish communities wish to develop a 
neighbourhood plan. 
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:

BEC – Better educated communities
HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities

The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priorities:

SLE1 – Enable the completion of more affordable housing

HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves
Officer details:
Name: Rachael Lancaster
Job Title: Senior Planning Officer
Tel No: 01635 519971
E-mail Address: rachael.lancaster@westberks.gov.uk

Page 1096



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One
We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Neighbourhood Planning

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): N/A

Owner of item being assessed: Rachael Lancaster

Name of assessor: Rachael Lancaster

Date of assessment: 20 September 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed No

Function No Is changing No

Service No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To help deliver the government’s policy for 
Neighbourhood Planning in the District. 

Objectives: To allow community groups to develop planning 
policies to shape the future of their communities

Outcomes: Completion and adoption by the Council of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Benefits: Delivery of government policy regarding neighbourhood 
planning
Give more control to local communities to shape their 
community going forward, including the potential 
allocation of future housing sites. 

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 

Page 1097



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

All

Neighbourhood planning should 
have a positive impact on all 
groups. Communities are more 
aware of the specific groups and 
issues within their communities 
and therefore, can ensure that 
minority groups and those with 
protected characteristics are 
fully informed of the process and 
are invited to fully engage with 
the development of the 
neighbourhood plan. 
Neighbourhood Planning has 
the opportunity to fully engage 
all members of society ensuring 
that they all have a say in the 
future development of their 
community. 
Neighbourhood plans must 
comply with EU obligations and 
therefore, should a submitted 
Neighbourhood plan have a 
negative impact on any one 
group/protected characteristic it 
would not meet the required 
basic conditions and therefore, 
would not be accepted. 

Neighbourhood Planning 
legislation, National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), 
National Planning Guidance 
(NPG)

Further Comments relating to the item:

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Neighbourhood Planning allows communities to develop a planning framework for 
their own community, enabling all members of society to engage in the local planning 
process. 

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Page 1098



Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Development of a neighbourhood plan should have a positive impact upon a local 
community as all members of the community are encouraged to engage with the 
process of developing the plan. 

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: Yes

Name: Rachael Lancaster Date: 20 September 2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1099



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1100



West Berkshire Council
Neighbourhood Area Designation Application form

Application to designate a Neighbourhood Area
Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

Please note that the information provided on this application form will be published on the Council’s website. If 
you require further clarification, please email planningpolicy@westberks.gov.uk 

1. Single point of contact regarding the Neighbourhood Plan:

Title: First Name: Surname:

Address 
(inc. 
postcode):

Telephone:

Email:

Position in relation to 
Neighbourhood area application:

2. Parish Clerk Details (if different from above):

Title: First Name: Surname:

Address 
(inc. 
postcode):

Telephone:

Email:

3. Relevant Body:
Please confirm that you are the relevant body to undertake neighbourhood planning in your 
area in accordance with section 61G of the 1990 Act1 and section 5C of the 2012 
Regulations2

Yes No

Name of Relevant Body: 

Note: in areas covered by a town or parish council, the town or parish council is the relevant body. For 
applications covering more than one parish area, please nominate a lead parish to act as the Relevant Body. 
If your area is not covered by a parish council (only a parish meeting), please contact the Planning Policy 
Team before making your application. 

1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted 
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/part/2/made 

Page 1101

mailto:planningpolicy@westberks.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/part/2/made


4. Name of Neighbourhood Area:
Please give the name by which your Neighbourhood Area will be formally known:

5. Extent of area:
Please attach an OS plan showing the extent of the proposed Neighbourhood Area and 
indicate below the relationship of the proposed area to parish boundaries. 

Proposed Area covers the whole of a single parish boundary area: 

Proposed area covers part of a single parish boundary area:

Proposed area covers multiple parish boundary areas: 

6. Areas covering more than one parish area: 
If the proposed Neighbourhood Area covers more than one parish, please list the parishes 
covered by the area application, the extent of the parish included and obtain consent from 
the parish by getting them to sign below: 

Name of Town/Parish Council

Extent of parish included in 
Neighbourhood Area

Name and Position

Signature 

Please add additional boxes if required

7. Intention of neighbourhood area: 
Please indicate which of the following you intend to undertake within your neighbourhood 
area

Neighbourhood Development Plan

Neighbourhood Development Order

Community Right to Build Order

8. Reasons for considering the area appropriate:
Please describe below why you consider this area is appropriate to be designated as a 
Neighbourhood Area: 
Please continue on separate sheet if necessary

9. Supporting Information

Page 1102



Please provide details of why you would like to carry out a Neighbourhood Plan and what 
you would like the Neighbourhood Plan to deliver for the Neighbourhood Area 
Please continue on separate sheet if necessary

10. Declaration:
I/We hereby apply to designate a Neighbourhood Area as described on this form and the 
accompanying plan
Name

Date

Signature

Please return your application form to:
Planning Policy, 
Planning and Countryside, 
West Berkshire Council,
Market Street, 
Newbury, 
RG14 5LD

planningpolicy@westberks.gov.uk 
01635 519111

Page 1103

mailto:planningpolicy@westberks.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1104



Service Level Agreement between West Berkshire Council and xxx Parish Council for 
the purpose of producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan

1. Purpose
The purpose of this agreement is to form a working relationship between XXX parish 
Council and West Berkshire Council (Planning and Countryside).  

Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 West Berkshire Council are responsible for:
a. fulfilling certain statutory requirements and 
b. the provision of advice and assistance

This agreement confirms:
a. how West Berkshire Council will undertake its statutory duties
b. the level and extent of the technical advice and assistance that West Berkshire 

Council will provide
c. how the xxx Parish Council will aim to progress the Neighbourhood Development 

Plan. 

2. Memorandum of Agreement:
This Agreement is between:-

West Berkshire Council 
signature Head of Planning and Countryside 

     date
and

xxx Parish Council
signature of chairman of the parish
date

3. Date and duration of agreement 
This agreement will commence once the document has been signed and dated by the 
selected representatives of both parties. 

It is expected that this agreement will run for 24 months, or until the parish council have an 
adopted Neighbourhood Plan (whichever is sooner), at which point there will be a review by 
both parties with respect to its continuation. 

4. Working Relationships 
The parties to this agreement seek:

a. an open and constructive working relationship
b. to work closely together at all levels, both in policy, and in strategic issues of 

importance
c. to respect each others’ views, and where different, after discussion to ensure proper 

understanding of the reasons for such differences
d. to have a ‘no surprises’ policy, based on notifying each other well in advance, where 

possible, of significant announcements and developments in policy

Page 1105



e. to minimise duplication of activity wherever possible
f. to inform other stakeholders about our relationship so as to reduce uncertainty. 

5. Service Roles and Responsibilities
5.1 The statutory obligations of West Berkshire Council
Following completion of the statutory procedures West Berkshire Council will meet the 
following standards of service – the regulation numbers apply to the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012, amended 2015.

Confirm that the draft plan meets the criteria in the Localism Act (Regulation 15) within 2 
weeks of submission to the Council. 

Publicise, for 6 weeks, the submission plan and other relevant documentation (Regulation 
16) within 4 weeks of receiving the submission documents which meet the criteria and pass 
on representations to the Independent Examiner within 4 weeks of the close of the 
consultation period (Regulation 17),
 
Consideration of the recommendations in the Examiners’ Report, that the draft plan meets 
the basic conditions and publication of a ‘Decision Statement’ (Regulation 18/19) within 4 
weeks following the receipt of the inspectors report.

Take the proposed plan to the first available council meeting following the publication of the 
‘Decision Statement’ to agree progression of the plan to referendum and adoption of the 
plan following a successful ‘yes’ vote. 

Make arrangements including the setting of a date for the holding of the referendum – 
within 5 working days of the council meeting where the plan is agreed. 

Hold the referendum within 10 weeks of making the decision to hold the referendum, unless 
it could be combined with another poll to be held within 3 months of the end of the 10 week 
period. 

Changes to the above timescales can be made following written agreement between the 
Parish Council and West Berkshire Council. 

Should new legislation be published that significantly changes the Neighbourhood Planning 
Process this agreement will be reviewed and updated as necessary. 

5.2 West Berkshire will make the following provision for advice and assistance: 

Published advice
A simple guide to procedures for Neighbourhood planning and a set of guidance notes.

Professional advice
Provide a named officer as first point of contact for advice and technical support.

In this case the support officer is: Name of officer and contact details

Page 1106



Initial Meeting
At the request of the parish council and following designation of the Neighbourhood Area 
the support officer will attend and provide an overview on the procedures and issues. The 
advice will cover: 

 The legal procedures 
 The preparation and content of a project plan
 Methods of consultation and engagement
 Consultation with the ‘consultation bodies’
 The requirements of other legislation such as Human Rights Act, the Habitats 

regulations and Environmental Assessments

Background Data and Evidence
The Council will make available on request:

 Annual Monitoring reports for the last 5 years
 Planning commitments for housing for the last 5 years (where available)
 Planning commitments for employment uses for the last 5 years (where available)
 Details of the SHLAA submissions for the parish
 List of planning applications made in the last 5 years
 The Local Plan Evidence Base and access to base data
 Maps showing constraints data

The Council will provide:
 OS base maps for the area (Council’s OS licence number must be included on all 

maps provided by the Council)
 Digitising of final proposals maps
 Links to research and demographic data

Professional advice and assistance
The Council will provide advice and assistance on:

 Methods of community engagement and consultation
 Questionnaires 
 Potential delivery partners 
 Conformity matters
 Up to date information on the Local Plan
 Advice on any requirement for Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (including screening as to whether SEA will be required)
 Emerging drafts of the plan 

For the Draft Neighbourhood Development Plan the Council will provide advice and 
assistance on:

 Conformity of the plan and whether in their view it meets the basic conditions
 Suitability of the Consultation Statement
 Suitability of any Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulations Assessments 

undertaken 
 Conformity with other legislative requirements
 OS mapping requirements 
 Coordinate consultation with internal Council consultees regarding the draft plan. 

Page 1107



West Berkshire Council will provide formal comments on the Neighbourhood Plan as part of 
the pre-submission consultation (Regulation 14) including a steer on whether the plan is 
considered to meet the Basic Conditions. 

West Berkshire Council will not offer advice or assistance in the following areas:
 Writing documents
 Undertaking survey work
 Attending every meeting
 Attending every consultation event
 Direct financial support
 Printing of documents for examination

6. Parish Responsibilities
a. Establish a steering group, made up of representatives of the local community, to 

develop the Neighbourhood Development Plan with clear terms of reference. 
b. Publish details of the steering group on the Parish Council’s website (including 

details of the area where each member of the steering group lives)
c. Arrange an initial meeting to which the named Council support officer can attend and 

advise the steering group.  
d. Undertake to work towards preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan with a defined 

project management approach, work programme and timetable to delivery (Project 
Plan).

e. Convene as a group on a regular basis throughout the period of preparation of the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and its examination.

f. Commit adequate resources to the task.
g. Provide regular updates on progress against the project plan to the Council via the 

named officer. 
h. Provide to the Council the Draft Submission Plan in electronic format.
i. Provide evidence base documents which would be helpful to the Council.  
j. Provide at least one hard copy of all documents (including evidence base 

documents) to the Council to pass on to the examiner. 

7. Progress and Review Process
The progress on the Neighbourhood Plan and success of the support from West Berkshire 
Council will be reviewed every 6 months, against this agreement and in a face to face 
meeting between the Council and the Parish steering group. 

8. Dispute settlement
In the unlikely event of a dispute it is expected that these will be resolved at the working 
level at which they arise. If this is not possible then the relevant signatory to this agreement 
will discuss the matter and decide on the action to take. 

Page 1108



Neighbourhood Planning 

What is Neighbourhood Planning?
Neighbourhood planning is a way for communities to decide the future shape of the 
places where they live and work. It was introduced through the Localism Act 2011, 
and the regulations came into force in April 2012. 

Communities can choose to produce either a Neighbourhood Development Plan or a 
Neighbourhood Development Order (which includes Community Right to Build 
Orders) or both. 

A Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) can allocate land for development and 
establish general planning policies for development and the use of land in a 
neighbourhood. The detail of the plan can be tailored to the wishes of local people. It 
must be in general conformity with the Development Plan, and cannot be used to 
prevent new development. 

Where there is a town/parish council, they are responsible for taking the lead in the 
preparation of a NDP. In areas without a parish/town council (this could be where a 
larger urban area covering a number of parishes wishes to do a NDP), a group of at 
least 21 people must be formed and apply to the Council to be designated as a 
“neighbourhood forum.”  

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, and Amendment 2015, 
set out the legal requirements involved in this process. 

NDPs and NDOs will be subject to a public referendum. Once plans or orders have 
been subjected to an independent examination and any necessary modification 
made to ensure they meet important legal requirements. It is necessary to gain more 
than 50% ‘yes’ vote of those voting in the referendum in order to bring the plan or 
order into force. 

Stage 1 - Designation of a Neighbourhood Area
For a town/parish council, there is a strong presumption that the neighbourhood area 
will be the same as the parish boundary. However, a smaller, more focused area, 
such as a town or local centre, could be chosen for the neighbourhood area. 

Once the area has been identified, it needs to be submitted to the Council. 
 
Applications for designation of a neighbourhood area must include: 

 Map of area
 Statement explaining why the area is considered appropriate to be designated 

as a neighbourhood area
 Statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a 

relevant body (S61G of 1990 Act)

Neighbourhood areas cannot overlap with other neighbourhood areas. 

Once an application has been received the Council must publish the application on 
its website and bring the application to the attention of the people who live, work or 

Page 1109

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/pdfs/uksi_20120637_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/pdfs/uksi_20150020_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents


carry out business in the proposed neighbourhood area.  The Council will invite 
comments on the proposed neighbourhood area to be submitted. Consultation must 
be for at least 6 weeks, and include the following details: 

 Copy of the area application (see above)
 Details of how to make representations
 A date by which representations must be received. 

Following the consultation, the Council will notify the qualifying body of the decision 
and publish details (including a map of the area) on the website.

Once a neighbourhood area has been designated it is advisable to publicise and 
promote the proposal to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan. The aim should be to make 
sure that everyone knows about the plan and has an opportunity to participate. 

Duty to Support
The Council have a duty to support groups producing Neighbourhood Plans. This 
can involve: 

 Attending meetings with the qualifying body
 Making data available for the evidence base
 Setting out local/national policies which need to be considered
 Providing advice on the legal requirements
 Providing general planning advice
 Checking the plan prior to formal submission
 Providing advice on who needs to be consulted
 Identifying any need for (screening) for environmental assessment (SEA) or 

Habitat Regulations assessment (HRA)

Stage 2 – Production of the Neighbourhood Development Plan
A NDP is a planning document that will guide the future development of an area. The 
plan should consider the use and development of land and associated social, 
economic and environmental issues. It cannot deal with non-planning matters. 
Matters should be those that would be used to determine a planning application. 
Other non-planning ‘policies’ can be included, but it must be made clear that these 
are community priorities, not the planning policies of the NDP. 

The scope of the NDP will depend on the local community. It could be a 
comprehensive and detailed document, cover one or two key issues, or set out 
guiding principles to guide new development. 

It is suggested that the plan could include:
 Vision and Aims – setting out the community’s overall aim for its future 

development. The vision and aims can then be translated into policies, 
guidance and proposals. 

 Planning Policies – once made the NDP will form part of the Development 
Plan and therefore, can contain policies against which development proposals 
will be considered. Planning applications in the neighbourhood area will then 
be determined in accordance with the NDP policies unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Policies should provide a clear indication of 
how a decision maker should react to a development proposal. 

Page 1110



 Planning Guidance – policies can be supplemented by more detailed 
guidance to help in the interpretation of the policies of the plan. 

 Site Allocations – The NDP may earmark key sites for specific kinds of 
development (Housing ,retail, employment or mixed use)

 Community Proposals – proposals can relate to the use and development of 
land such as: improving key public spaces, pedestrian links, provision of new 
community facilities, information regarding the use of CIL money received by 
the parish.

Community and stakeholder engagement 
It is important to engage with the local community and key local stakeholders. As the 
NDP will be subject to local referendum it is important to get local support for the 
plan as it progresses. 

Local Stakeholders can include: 
 Local councillors
 Local shopkeepers/businesses
 Community groups
 Local trusts/project groups
 Organisations representing minority groups
 Educational establishments
 Local health and social care providers
 Any other local organisations

Community engagement is also a statutory requirement of all plans, including NDPs. 
All NDPs submitted for examination need to be accompanied by a statement of 
consultation that shows that the legal requirements for consultation have been met. 

It is recommended that the following stages of community engagement are 
considered: 

 Early engagement – This should identify key issues and themes to inform the 
vision and aims. Open questioning should be used (eg. What is good/bad 
about the area? What makes a neighbourhood good to live/work in? What 
needs to change?) Different groups of the community should be consulted at 
this stage. Engagement could take the form of workshops/questionnaires/drop 
in sessions

 On-going Engagement – this can include consultation on the draft vision and 
aims for the plan, engage the community in the development of 
policies/themes for inclusion within the plan. This can include detailed 
questionnaires to determine what is important to the local community. For 
some sites/policies/proposals different options may be proposed so that 
people can express their preferences. 

 Consulting on the completed plan - This is a statutory period of consultation, 
that must be carried out before submission of the proposed plan to the 
Council. Few people are likely to read the whole document; therefore short 
summaries can be a useful way to set out the aims, themes and direction of 
policy. The plan may be amended taking into account any of the feedback 
received. 

Page 1111



Evidence Base
Planning policy and proposals need to be based on a proper understanding of the 
place they relate to in order for it to be relevant and realistic. 

The evidence base needs to be proportionate to the size of the neighbourhood area 
and the scope and detail of the NDP. 

A good starting point is to look at the local population (where do they live, how old 
are they, what jobs do they have). Other evidence may relate to housing, transport, 
environment, heritage, retail, community facilities etc. 

There are two main phases – firstly reviewing the existing evidence, and secondary 
identifying and developing any further evidence required. 

Existing Evidence – Talk to the Council about the evidence they already have that 
would be useful to support the NDP

New Evidence – this will usually be focused more at the local level. 

It is not necessary to include the evidence base and outcomes of community 
engagement in the plan itself as this will result in a very thick and unwieldy 
document. Instead a background document is suggested which lists sources of 
evidence, contains any new evidence and summarises the outcomes of the 
community engagement at the various stages of the plan making process. Any 
criteria used in decision making could also be included (such as site selection 
criteria). Having a background paper allows the NDP to focus on the policies and 
proposals themselves, rather than the process that created them. 

Evidence base documents should be kept simple and concise. 

Requirements of the NDP
The NDP must:

 Have appropriate regard to national policy
 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development 
 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for 

the local area (Core Strategy, Local Plan Saved Policies, Housing Site 
Allocations DPD – and any future Local Plan). 

 Be compatible with EU obligations, inc. Human rights requirements
o Must not have a significant adverse effect on a European Site or 

offshore marine site

The NDP should not re-state the Council’s plan, it should set out the community’s 
view on the development and use of land in their neighbourhood. 

The NDP should:
 Set a timescale over which the plan will be delivered
 Set the aims for the plan
 Set out policies and proposals 

Page 1112



Policies should:
 Give substance to the plan’s aims and vision
 Help the Council make decisions on planning applications in the 

neighbourhood area
 Be clear and concise
 Be accompanied by supporting or explanatory text to help make their intention 

clear

The NDP can put forward regeneration or enhancement proposals for the area (eg. 
New community centre, school). It can include policies relating to improvement of 
key public spaces, reduction in street clutter or enhancement of parks and green 
spaces

Considerations of how proposals will be funded (Community Infrastructure 
Levy/Section 106/other) should be sent out in the NDP. 

Site Allocations
NDPs do not have to include site allocations; it is for the parish/town council to 
decide if they want to allocate site/s through the NDP. 

Allocations could be for housing, employment, community facilities or other kinds of 
development. 

The Local Plan sets overall growth allocations for the local area, and allocations 
made through the NDP will need to be complementary and distinctive to any 
allocations made through the Local Plan or subsequent DPDs. 

Where allocations are to be included, they will need to be evidence based. There 
needs to be a clear and transparent process based on planning-focused selection 
criteria. Decisions should be informed by the Council’s Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) and Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 
and discussions with local landowners. 

Options consultations
In developing the plan, different options may be considered and be subject to 
consultation to find people’s preferences. The thinking behind each option should be 
fully explained, with lists of possible advantages/disadvantages to help people make 
informed choices. 

Supporting Sustainable Development
The NDP should contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. 
Sustainable Development can be seen as development that enables growth to cater 
for the needs of current generations but ensuring that growth does not mean worse 
lives for future generations. 

There are many ways that a NDP can address sustainable development, they can 
include: 

 Encourage and support travel choices, inc. facilities for walking and cycling
 Good mix of community facilities within walking distance of the majority of 

residents

Page 1113

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28795
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28795
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=28794


 Encourage the reuse and refurbishment of existing buildings
 Energy efficiency/water recycling and reuse is promoted for new development 

Environmental Assessments (SEA) and Habitats Regulation Assessments 
(HRA)
SEA is required where plans are likely to cause significant environmental effects. Not 
all NDPs will require SEA. 

The Council will screen the NDP as to whether SEA and HRA is required. It is best 
that this is done early on in the process, to assess whether the NDP is likely trigger 
any EU directives.  

If an SEA is required the gathering of evidence for its preparation can be integrated 
into the NDP process. 

Where a Neighbourhood Plan is proposing to allocate sites, or the Neighbourhood 
Area is located within the AONB it is likely that an SEA will be required. 

Even if there is no need to undertake formal SEA it is good practice to prepare a 
statement setting out how environmental issues have been taken into account and 
considered during the preparation of the NDP. 

Stage 3 - Pre-submission Consultation
The Parish/town council must carry out a 6-week consultation on the propose DNDP 
prior to the submission of the Plan to the Council. 

This includes: 
 Publicise the plan in such a way as it is brought to the attention of people 

living, working or running businesses in the neighbourhood area
 Consult with the statutory consultation bodies who’s interest may be affected 

by the plan
 Send a copy to the Council

Any comments received need to be taken into account and any changes made to the 
NDP prior to submission to the council. 

A summary of the comments received and how these have been taken into account 
in the preparation of the NDP. 

It is at this stage that the Council will response formally to the consultation setting out 
whether they think that the proposed NDP is in conformity with national/local policy. 

Stage 4 - Submission to the Council
Once the Parish/Town council is happy with the NDP and any changes following the 
pre-submission consultation have been made the NDP is submitted to the Council. 

The following documents need to be submitted: 
 A map identifying the area covered by the plan
 Consultation statement

Page 1114



 Proposed NDP
 Statement on how the plan fulfils the basic conditions and other legal 

requirements. 

Once the NDP has been received the Council will check that the NDP meets the 
legal requirements and is in general conformity with national/local policy. 

The Council will then publish the plan for 6 weeks, asking for comments. The Council 
will also notify anyone referred to in the consultation statement that the plan has 
been received. 

At the same time the Council will look to appoint an examiner to examine the plan. 

Consultation statement
The focus of the consultation statement should be on the pre-submission 
consultation. However, it is useful to include details of all previous consultations that 
have informed the NDP to ensure a clear and concise document setting out how 
consultation has informed the development of the NDP. 

It should include: 
 Names of people/organisations consulted on the NDP
 Details of how they have been consulted
 Summary of the main issues and concerns raised through the consultation
 Descriptions of how these issues and concerns have been considered and 

addressed in the NDP 

Basic Conditions statement 
This needs to demonstrate how the NDP meets the basic conditions and legal 
requirements of Neighbourhood Planning. 

It needs to confirm that:
 The draft plan is submitted by a qualifying body
 What is being proposed
 The NDP states the period for which it is to have effect
 Confirmation that the policies do not relate to “excluding development”
 Confirmation that the proposed NDP does not relate to more than one 

neighbourhood area
 Confirmation that there are no other NDPs in place within the neighbourhood 

area

Stage 5 - Independent Examination
The Council will appoint a person to carry out the examination. This appointment will 
be agreed with the parish/town council. 

The Council will send the plan and supporting information to the examiner 
electronically. Please note that it is usual for the Examiner to request hard copies of 
all documents used to support the NDP. These will need to be provided by the 
Parish Council. 

Page 1115



Normally the examination will be conducted by written representations. If the 
examiner thinks it necessary, they may invite interested parties to a public hearing to 
present their comments, to examine an issue in more depth or to ensure fairness. 

The examiner is only considering whether the NDP meets the basic conditions. Does 
the NDP:

 Have appropriate regard to national policy
 Contributes to the achievement of sustainable development 
 Is in general conformity with the policies in the development plan
 Compatible with human rights
 Compatible with EU obligations

Following the examination the examiner will issue a report to the Council and 
parish/town council. The examiner can make three recommendations: 

 Plan proceeds to referendum (meets the basic conditions)
 Modifications are required before the NDP can proceed to referendum (to 

meet the basic conditions)
 Plan does not proceed to referendum (does not meet the basic conditions and 

no modifications could be made to meet them)

Where referendum is recommended, the examiner will also make a recommendation 
about the area to be included within the referendum. It maybe that the referendum 
area covers a wider area than the neighbourhood area. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to cover the costs of the referendum. 

If the plan is not recommended to proceed, discussions need to be had with the 
Council and parish/town council as to whether to abandon the plan, or whether to 
make significant modifications and repeat the process again from the pre-submission 
consultation. 

Modifications
If the Council can make modifications to the NDP to ensure it meet the basic 
conditions, it is required to do so. The Council will take into account the examiners 
recommendations but the recommendations are not binding. 

Modifications should be explained to and discussed with the parish/town council to 
ensure consensus. If consensus is not possible the parish/town council have the 
option of withdrawing the plan. 

Where modifications are made the Council must publish details of the modifications 
made. 

Stage 6 - Referendum
If the NDP is found to be satisfactory, the Council will arrange for the referendum to 
take place. This is organised by the Council’s elections team.

28 working days before the referendum the Council will publish the information about 
the NDP. 

Page 1116



25 working days before the date of the referendum the council are required to give 
notice that a referendum is taking place and the date of the poll. 

The Parish/town council may encourage voting in the referendum. Public money and 
parish council can only produce factual material about the NDP, not promote a yes 
vote. However, individual members of the parish council and others may act 
independently to campaign for a ‘yes’ vote. 

The question will ask: 

Do you want West Berkshire Council to use the neighbourhood plan for 
<name of neighbourhood area> to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 

People on the electoral register are entitled to vote. 

If more than 50% of those voting vote yes, the Council will bring the plan into force. 

Making the Plan
Where the referendum has voted for the plan, the Council will bring the plan into 
force and make it part of the development plan. 

Decision on whether or not to grant planning permission in the neighbourhood area 
will need to be made in accordance with the NDP, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

Delivery of other parts of the NDP may come down to the Parish Council. It is not up 
to the Council to deliver the whole of the plan. 

Funding

The organisation Locality offer some grants and support. Further information is 
available at: http://mycommunity.org.uk/programme/neighbourhood-planning/. 

Planning Aid England has produced guidance on how to resource a NDP: 
http://www.ourneighbourhoodplanning.org.uk/storage/resources/documents/How_to_
resource_your_neighbourhood_plan4.pdf. 

Further guidance

Locality and Planning Aid England have produced a series of useful guides to help 
with the preparation of NDPs:

 Locality: 
http://mycommunity.org.uk/resources/?filterable=true&category=neighbourhoo
d-planning&_p=4 

 Planning Aid England: 
http://www.ourneighbourhoodplanning.org.uk/resources/documents/29. 

Page 1117

http://mycommunity.org.uk/programme/neighbourhood-planning/
http://www.ourneighbourhoodplanning.org.uk/storage/resources/documents/How_to_resource_your_neighbourhood_plan4.pdf
http://www.ourneighbourhoodplanning.org.uk/storage/resources/documents/How_to_resource_your_neighbourhood_plan4.pdf
http://mycommunity.org.uk/resources/?filterable=true&category=neighbourhood-planning&_p=4
http://mycommunity.org.uk/resources/?filterable=true&category=neighbourhood-planning&_p=4
http://www.ourneighbourhoodplanning.org.uk/resources/documents/29


Government guidance on NDPs is set out in the Planning Practice Guidance: 
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/neighbourhood-
planning/designating-a-neighbourhood-area/.

Page 1118

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/neighbourhood-planning/designating-a-neighbourhood-area/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/neighbourhood-planning/designating-a-neighbourhood-area/


West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Council Tax Scheme 2017/18
Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 8 December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor James Fredrickson
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 29 November 2016

Report Author: Sean Anderson
Forward Plan Ref: C3171

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To advise Council of the scope for changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme for 
2017/18. Review of the scheme is a statutory responsibility and, in addition, we 
need to identify the scope for cost reduction in the light of budget pressures.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Council is asked to: 

(1) Note the various options contained within this report and in particular 
paragraph 12.2. as the preferred recommendation.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The report describes 19 options which may be used for 
2017/18.Option 1 retains the existing scheme, the 
remaining 18 identify potential cost savings ranging 
between £76k and £685K

3.2 Policy: No direct implications at this stage but the options in the 
report for the year 2017/18 will inform the establishment of 
a policy 

3.3 Personnel: None

3.4 Legal: There is a statutory obligation to define a policy and to 
consult on proposals, failure to do so could result in legal 
challenge 

3.5 Risk Management: All figures given are estimated based on caseloads and 
factors as they exist at present. A less generous scheme 
may also result in a higher level of unpaid Council Tax.
 

3.6 Property: None

3.7 Other:

Page 1119

Agenda Item 17.



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4. Other options considered

4.1 None, where any change to a scheme is proposed there is a statutory requirement 
to consult on those changes and to make a decision reflecting the consultation 
outcomes by 31st January in the financial year preceding that in which the changes 
are due to take place

Page 1120



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary
6. Introduction/Background
6.1 Council Tax support (CTS) is a local scheme which replaced Council Tax Benefit (a 

national scheme) from 1st April 2013). The scheme provides assistance for those on 
low income to meet their council tax liabilities. Every billing authority is required to 
adopt its own scheme and to review that scheme annually. Legislation requires that 
pensioners and claimants deemed to be vulnerable are to be no worse off under 
CTS than they would be under the earlier Council Tax Benefit scheme. 

6.2 Council Tax Support schemes are a form of Council Tax discount, the effect of 
which is to reduce the size of the tax base and its ability to generate Council Tax 
income. Prior to 2013/14 support for those on low incomes was by way of Council 
Tax Benefit, this being fully funded by government grants.

6.3 Government funding for CTS has reduced since 2013/14. However, the true value 
of government support is impossible to assess because it has been rolled into the 
Revenues Support Grant and has ceased to be identified as a separate item.

6.4 At the present time the cost and volumes attributable to Council Tax Support are:

Claim Group Claimants Cost

Pensioners 3243 £3,219,268.06

Vulnerable persons 1862 £2,051,177.55

Working age – not working 902 £730,989.91

Working age - working 702 £455,264.53

Total 6709 £6,456,698.05

7. Comparison to schemes adopted elsewhere 

7.1 The supporting information gives details of schemes adopted elsewhere for 
2016/17:

7.2 Within Berkshire the schemes adopted for 2016/17 have the following 
characteristics:

Local Authority

Minimum 
council 

tax 
payment 

level

Savings 
limit

Council Tax 
band 

support is 
restricted to

Minimum 
weekly 

council tax 
support 

payment

Taper 
rate

Bracknell Forest 20.0% £16,000 N/A £0.00 21%
Reading 20.0% £6,000 D £5.00 20%
Slough 20.0% £16,000 C £0.00 20%
West Berkshire 25.0% £16,000 D £3.00 20%
Windsor and 
Maidenhead 10.0% £16,000 N/A £0.00 25%

Wokingham 10.0% £16,000 D £3.00 25%

Page 1121



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

7.3 In general terms the scheme currently adopted by West Berkshire uses factors 
which are common to the majority of councils and avoids the extremes; however it 
does need to be understood that all councils will currently be considering their 
schemes for 2017/18 and details are not yet available to form a basis for 
comparison in respect of next year. 

8. Consultation

8.1 In order that Council may make a properly informed decision on its scheme for 
2017/18 a consultation process needed to be carried out with affected parties if 
there is to be any change to the scheme. The Consultation commenced on the 26 
September and was completed on the 6 November 2016 The consultation consisted 
of a direct mail shot to all affected claimants and by using the  Council’s on line 
consultation tools.

8.2 Any element of the Council Tax Support Scheme can be modified subject to 
consultation and in developing the proposals for this years scheme 19 options were 
put forward for consideration. Those options are shown in table 10.3. It should be 
noted that options 18 & 19 were not consulted upon as the decision was taken after 
proper consideration that those claimants receiving Employment Support Allowance 
should maintain their vulnerable status.

8.3 Each option was described along with details of the numbers likely to be affected 
and the anticipated average financial impact on claimants. Consultees were asked 
to explain how each proposed change will affect them and for any additional 
comment they wish to make,

8.4 A total of 71 responses were received. 15 of these failed to answer any of the 
proposal specific questions so were removed for the purpose of the analysis. Given 
the statistically low level of response it is difficult to to draw any meaningful 
conclusion(s) but Members will be able to read the responses in  full in Appendix E 
of this report.

9. Options for Consideration

9.1 The Council’s Council Tax Support Scheme mirrors to a large degree its 
predecessor the Council Tax Benefit Scheme. This is essentially a set rules of over 
laid with a complex calculation formulae. It is possible for the Council to vary any 
aspect of the scheme but has opted since 2013 to maintain the broad underlying 
principals of the original Council Tax Benefit Scheme.

9.2 In considering the 2017 - 2018 scheme many possible amendments were 
considered – particularly in respect of the Council’s locally defined definition of what 
constitutes a “ Vulnerable Claimant” ( typically those in receipt if a range of disability 
benefits) which in 2016 – 2017 constituted over £2m of Council Tax Support out of a 
£6.4m spend. 

9.3 Eighteen options to vary the current scheme are explained in the supporting 
information report, these being:

(1) Redefine the vulnerable group

(2) Increase the contribution required from working age claimants from 
25% to 30% when calculating entitlement.

Page 1122



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(3) Change the tapers used in the calculation process

(4) Change the Council Tax band to which support is restricted

(5) Applying a limit to savings

(6) Setting a minimum weekly amount of support 

9.4 In summary, the table below shows how each of the options  when taken in 
isolation, would generate  in terms of cost reductions and the number of claimants 
who would cease to receive any support towards their council tax costs. 

Option Anticipated 
cost 

reduction

£,000

Anticipated 
number of 
claimants 
ceasing to 

receive 
support

Redefine the vulnerable group ( ESA) £240.69 106

Increase the contribution required from working age 
claimants from 25% of their Council Tax liability to 
30%

£157.16 117

Change the tapers used in the calculation process to 
25%

£116.31 173

Change the tapers used in the calculation process to 
30%

£155.05 251

Change the Council Tax band to which support is 
restricted from band D to Band C

£106.50 92

Reduce the limit on savings from £16k to £6k £76.31 96

Change the minimum weekly amount of support from 
£3 to £10

£163.17k 371

9.5 Combinations of these options will produce levels of cost reduction which differ from 
simple addition of the impacts of the individual components, various permutations 
being shown in the table below.

Option Anticipated 
cost 

reduction

£,000

Anticipated 
number of 
claimants 
ceasing to 

receive 
support

Redefine the vulnerable group, Capped at Band C. £308.49 131

Page 1123



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Redefine the vulnerable group, 30% deduction from 
liability.

£351.97 155

Redefine the vulnerable group, 30% deduction from 
liability, Capped at Band C.

£395.21 170

Capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per 
week

£186.26 371

30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C. £197.47 132

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week

£527.96 640

30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k

£537.90 657

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 25%

£572.52 708

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k, tapering 30%

£592.24 739

9.6 It does need to be stressed that the figures given are anticipated based on 
modelling of data as it currently exists in the software used to manage Council Tax 
Support. Any change in the council’s council tax levels will change the impacts 
identified above and, regardless of the Council’s own budget decisions, will be 
affected by the decisions of other precepting bodies.

10. Proposals

10.1 Eighteen options plus the current scheme have been modelled in order to assess 
the amount of cost reduction and the number of claimants affected .However only 
sixteen plus the current scheme have been consulted upon.

10.2 The detailed summaries are supplied at Appendix D to the Supporting Information 
report. 

10.3 The tables show as follows:

Scheme Details

1 Current scheme - ESA Protection, 25% contribution, Band D capping, £3 minimum 

2 Uniform protection for ESA claimants removed (still protected where disability premium 
included) 

3 30% deduction from liability, prior to deduction of CTR (currently 25%).

4 tapering 25%

5 tapering 30%

6 Capped at Band C rather than Band D

Page 1124



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

7 capital limit changed to £6k

8 Minimum award £10.00 per week

9 ESA protection removed, capped at Band C

10 ESA protection removed, 30% deduction from liability

11 ESA protection removed, 30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C

12 Capped at Band C, minimum award £10.00 per week

13 30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C

14 30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award £10.00 per week

15
30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award £10.00 per week, capital limit 
of £6k

16
30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award £10.00 per week, capital limit 
of £6k and tapering 25%

17
30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award 
£10.00 per week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 30%

18
30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award £10.00 per week, capital limit 
of £6k and tapering 25% with ESA protection removed (not consulted upon)

19

30% deduction from liability, capped at Band C, minimum award 
£10.00 per week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 30% with ESA 
protection removed (not consulted upon)

10.4 The following table summarises the level of cost reduction when compared to the 
anticipated cost of the current scheme in 2017/18. 

Scheme Estimated cost change from 
current scheme

1 £6,622,278.74

2 £6,251,028.47 -£240,693.51

3 £6,230,817.34 -£157,158.98

4 £6,271,666.60 -£116,309.72

5 £6,232,926.11 -£155,050.21

Page 1125



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

6 £6,281,473.80 -£106,502.52

7 £6,311,667.40 -£76,308.92

8 £6,224,802.76 -£163,173.56

9 £6,183,234.53 -£308,487.45

10 £6,139,748.98 -£351,973.00

11 £6,096,509.78 -£395,212.70

12 £6,201,717.36 -£186,258.96

13 £6,190,503.85 -£197,472.47

14 £5,860,014.01 -£527,962.31

15 £5,850,079.79 -£537,896.53

16 £5,815,451.94 -£572,524.38

17 £5,793,965.30 -£594,011.02

18 £5,951,333.05 -£670,945.69

19 £5,936,571.22 -£685,707.52

Page 1126



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

11. Conclusion

11.1 Based upon current Council Tax costs (i.e. an assumption that council Tax for 
2017/18 will remain the same as 2016/17) the various schemes modelled lead to 
reduced costs, when compared to the costs of the current scheme if continued into 
2017/18 of between £76.31K and £685,707K

11.2 The number of claimants who would cease to receive support varies depending 
upon which, if any, of the modelled options is adopted. All of these claimants, by 
virtue of their current entitlement, have been identified as being on low income and 
it follows that they will have limited capacity to absorb additional costs within their 
current disposable income. The inevitable conclusion would be that those among 
the least able to afford additional cost would be required to pay a higher proportion 
of their income in order to bridge the gap in council funding.

11.3 Reduction of costs in council tax support does present a risk for council tax 
collection. Although council tax collection remains high it is virtually impossible to 
predict how reductions in council tax support will impact on this in the future. The 
potential savings need to be considered with a degree of caution because the actual 
impacts are very difficult to assess. Whilst the cost of the scheme may reduce there 
is always a risk that other factors such as bad debt or calls on the exceptional 
hardship fund will reduce the value of those savings. The ability to assess impacts 
is severely constrained by the fact that those in receipt of CTS may also be in 
receipt of other benefits where changes are driven by Government rather than local 
authorities.

12. Recommendation

12.1 Having due regard to the continuing financial challenges faced by the council the 
recommendation to Council is for Option 17. This option maintains protection for the 
Districts most vulnerable claimants (typically those in receipt of disability benefits) 
and provides a continuing level of support for those most in need. As indicated at 
8.2 thought was given to consult on options 18 & 19 which involved the removal of 
the ESA protection for claimants, but the decision was made to maintain that 
protection. In view that, Option 17 is recognised as being difficult but is considered 
the most viable proposal; protecting the most vulnerable claimants, and recognising 
and supporting the Governments ongoing preservation of pensioner entitlement to 
Council Tax Support, and the significant financial challenges facing the Council.

12.2 Therefore, the recommendation, to Council is for the follow changes to be made to 
the Council Tax Support scheme for 2017 – 2018 (option 17);

Variable 16/17 (now) 17/18 (proposed)
Support for working age claimants 75% 70%
Cap support at property band Band D Band C
Redefine ‘vulnerable’ No NO
Capital limit before reduction 16k 6k * See below
Minimum weekly payment £3 £10
Tapering rate 20% 30% 
*Those “Non-Passported” persons of working age, for the purposes of who hold capital of 
£6,000 or above at the date of claim for a council tax reduction or during that same billing 
year within which a further claim is made, irrespective of whether or not their capital 

Page 1127



Council Tax Scheme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

subsequently falls below this level will be precluded from Council Tax Support within that 
billing year.

Appendices

Appendix A - Supporting Information

Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

Appendix C - Anticipated scheme costs for various options modelled and Anticipated 
number of claimants in receipt of support for each scheme modelled

Appendix D - Detailed presentation of each of the 17 schemes modelled and consulted 
upon.

Appendix E – Maps illustrating average cuts in Council Tax Support from 2013 to 2016 in 
England and Wales compared to previous system

Appendix F - Consultation Responses

Page 1128



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting 
Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Council Tax Support (CTS) is a local scheme which replaced Council Tax Benefit (a 
national scheme) from 1st April 2013). The scheme provides assistance for those on 
low income to meet their council tax liabilities. Every billing authority is required to 
adopt its own scheme and to review that scheme annually and this must take place 
by 31st December in the year preceding that to which the scheme will relate.

1.2 Legislation requires that pensioners and claimants deemed to be vulnerable are to 
be no worse off under CTS than they would have been under the earlier Council 
Tax Benefit scheme. For the purposes of the West Berkshire schemes vulnerable 
persons have been defined as those in receipt of Employment Support Allowance 
(ESA), Disability Living Allowance and Personal Independence Payments.  

1.3 Council Tax Support schemes are a form of Council Tax discount, the effect of 
which is to reduce the size of the tax base and its ability to generate Council Tax 
income. Prior to 2013/14 support for those on low incomes was by way of Council 
Tax Benefit, this being fully funded by government grants.

1.4 Government funding for CTS has reduced since 2013/14. However, the true value 
of government support is impossible to assess because it has been rolled into the 
Revenues Support Grant and has ceased to be identified as a separate item.

1.5 With the loss of specific government funding and in the light of ongoing reductions 
in Revenue Support Grant, Council has had to consider the affordability of Council 
Tax Support in the same manner as it has reviewed other forms of service 
provision. The various changes since 2013/14 are detailed in section 1.6.

1.6 The scheme has been changed each year since introduction in 2013/14, the most 
radical change being in relation to 2016/17:

(1) 2013/14 (initial scheme); Protection was given to pensioners and 
vulnerable persons. Support for working age claimants limited to 91.5% 
of their Council Tax liability

(2) 2014/15; No change to protected groups, support for working age 
claimants limited to 90% of their Council Tax liability

(3) 2016/17; No change to protected groups, support for working age 
claimants limited to 75% of their Council Tax liability with support 
restricted to the amount available if the property was in Council Tax 
charge band “D”. A minimum entitlement of £3 per week was also 
applied to these two groups.  Second Adult Rebate ceased to be 
applied

Page 1129



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

2. The 2016/17 Scheme – volumes and costs

2.1 At the present time the cost and volumes attributable to Council Tax Support are:

Claim Group Claimants Cost

Pensioners 3243 £3,219,268.06

Vulnerable persons 1862 £2,051,177.55

Working age – not working 902 £730,989.91

Working age - working 702 £455,264.53

Total 6709 ££6,456,698.05

2.2 For purposes of comparison, the anticipated scheme costs for 2016/17 given in the 
report to Council in December 2015 were:

Claim Group Claimants Cost

Pensioners 3,427 £3,274,563.67

Vulnerable persons 1,856 £1,918,158.75

Working age – not working 1,152 £810,297.42

Working age - working 848 £421,127.44

Total 7,283 £6,424,147.28

2.3 These anticipated scheme costs were based on Council Tax levels at the time the 
report was prepared and the report did contain a caveat that the scheme cost would 
increase if the Council Tax increased for 2016/17.

2.4 When compared to scheme costs for 2015/16 it was anticipated that the changes 
could generate reduced costs of £389,437

2.5 The increase in major precepts (i.e. ignoring that attributable to parish precepts) in 
2016/17 has been 3.65%. Adjusting the total at 2.2 to take account of this increase 
gives a revised value of £6,658,628 meaning that a reduced cost of £201,930 is 
currently being delivered, 48.15% less than the anticipated amount

3. Comparison to schemes adopted elsewhere 

3.1 Information published by the New Policy Institute identifies that following aspects of 
Council Tax Support Schemes for 326 councils:

(1) Retention of the former system of Council Tax Benefit (45 councils)

Page 1130



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(2) Establishment of a minimum Council Tax payment level for unprotected 
claimants (245 Councils ranging from 3% to 45%)

(3) Application of a limit to the amount of savings beyond which no support 
is given (240 councils using £16,000; 63 using £6,000; 9 using £8,000; 
1 using £9,000; 11 using £10,000 and 2 using £12,000)

(4) Restricting support to a particular Council Tax band (86 Councils, 4 
using A;1 using A/B; 5 using B; 9 using C; 57 using D; 2 using D with 
other restriction; 8 using E)

(5) Setting a minimum weekly amount for support, below which no support 
is given - higher minimum weekly amounts lead to a lower amount of 
Council Tax Support (52 Councils of which 6 use 50p; 15 use £1, 6 use 
£2, 2 use £2.50; 3 use £3; 1 uses £3.50, 1 uses £3.70, 1 uses £4. 15 
use £5 and 2 use £10)

(6) Varying the taper rate (the amount by which Council Tax Support is 
reduced for each additional £ of applicable income). Higher taper rates 
lead to a lower amount of Council Tax Support. 304 councils retain the 
20% rate used for Council Tax benefit, 3 have reduced it to 15% and 
19 have used values between 21% and 30%

3.2 Within Berkshire the schemes adopted for 2016/17 have the following 
characteristics:

Local Authority

Minimum 
council 

tax 
payment 

level

Savings 
limit

Council Tax 
band 

support is 
restricted to

Minimum 
weekly 

council tax 
support 

payment

Taper 
rate

Bracknell Forest 20.0% £16,000 N/A £0.00 21%
Reading 20.0% £6,000 D £5.00 20%
Slough 20.0% £16,000 C £0.00 20%
West Berkshire 25.0% £16,000 D £3.00 20%
Windsor and 
Maidenhead 10.0% £16,000 N/A £0.00 25%

Wokingham 10.0% £16,000 D £3.00 25%

3.3 In general terms the scheme currently adopted by West Berkshire uses factors 
which are common to the majority of councils and avoids the extremes; however it 
does need to be understood that all councils will currently be considering their 
schemes for 2017/18 and details are not yet available to form a basis for 
comparison in respect of next year. 

4. Consultation

4.1 In order that Council may make a properly informed decision on its scheme for 
2017/18 a consultation process needed to be carried out with affected parties if 
there is to be any change to the scheme. The Consultation commenced on the 26 
September and was completed on the 6 November 2016. The consultation 

Page 1131



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

consisted of a direct mail shot to all affected claimants and by using the Council’s 
on line consultation tools.

4.2 Each option was described along with details of the numbers likely to be affected 
and the anticipated average financial impact on claimants. Consultees were asked 
to explain how each proposed change will affect them and for any additional 
comment they wish to make,

4.3 A total of 71 responses were received. 15 of these failed to answer any of the 
proposal specific questions so were removed for the purpose of the analysis. Given 
the statistically low level of response it is difficult to draw any meaningful 
conclusion(s) but Members will be able to read the responses in full in Appendix E 
of this report.

5. Options for Consideration within the Consultation

5.1 Redefine the vulnerable group

(1) The current scheme provides for claimants in receipt of specific 
benefits to be placed into the vulnerable group for calculating their 
claim entitlements. Those benefits are:  Employment Support 
Allowance (ESA), Disability Living Allowance and Personal 
Independence Payments. Government prescription requires that we 
identify vulnerable groups and ensure that they are no worse off under 
Council Tax Support than they would have been when in receipt of 
Council Tax Benefit. However the definition of vulnerable groups is left 
to each billing authority. 

(2) Claimants can get ESA if their ability to work is limited by ill health or 
disability. ESA has two parts, contributory ESA and income-related 
ESA. Claimants may receive either one of these or both together, 
depending on their circumstances. 

(3) This option does follow the choices made by other council's in 
establishing their own schemes. Such a change could produce an 
anticipated reduction in scheme costs of £240.7k and would move 308 
out of 1588 current claimants from the vulnerable group into one of the 
two working age groups.

(4) It is  worth emphasising that this proposal is not removing protection 
from all ESA claimants - only those whose circumstances have been 
assessed by DWP as not qualifying for a disability premium. We would 
still continue to protect all claimants defined by DWP rules as disabled. 
In relation to other LAs, our scheme has previously offered much 
broader protection from scheme changes which may now need to be 
more fairly shared across a broader group in order to reduce the 
individual impact

(5) However this change would be controversial in that a group of 
claimants previously considered vulnerable would cease to be so. 

5.2 Increase the contribution required from working age claimants from 25% of their 
Council Tax liability to 30%

Page 1132



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(1) This was one of the options on which consultation took place for the 
2016/17 scheme and, as may be seen from the 3.1 and 3.2 (above) is 
an area with some variation across councils. However the majority of 
councils (274 out of 326) have adopted 2016/17 schemes using less 
than 25% and only 37 (including West Berkshire) use 25%. Figures of 
over 25% are used by only 15 councils, 9 of which use 30%.

(2) Consultation for the 2016/17 identified this as the least favoured option. 
The response from CAB being “ would seem to be the most unfair, 
hurting those people most in need/vulnerable. Many residents on JSA 
and workers on low pay can barely afford the current 10% contribution 
so how will they afford an increase on the same income?  The WBC 
proposed increases in contribution to 25% and 30% are respectively 
2.5 and 3 times what residents are paying currently which are 
unreasonable percentage increases compared to JSA incomes.     
Citizens Advice colleagues in York have recently published a report on 
the impact of the City of York Council implementing a Localised Council 
Tax Support Scheme requiring all working age claimants to pay at least 
30% of their Council Tax bill (from April 2013).   York CAB calculated 
that on average their poorest residents were being asked to pay an 
additional £4.80 in Council Tax per week. Findings included that half of 
working age Council Tax Support recipients in York (2858 people) got 
behind with their payment, were taken to court and received a Liability 
Order in 2014-2015.   In general people were trying to pay their Council 
Tax but the ways they were paying were concerning and had worrying 
consequences such as cutting back on essentials (food or fuel) or 
borrowing from elsewhere.   (October 2015 Advice York study “Every 
Penny Counts The Real Cost of Council Tax Support”) “

(3) Calculation of a minimum contribution can differ between billing 
authorities whilst we deduct 25% from the liability of all working age 
claimants prior to calculating CTS, this is not necessarily the same way 
that other Councils operate minimum contribution. It differs from 
Wokingham for example where CTS is deducted from 100% of liability 
in the usual way but they cap the CTS award at 90%. Quite aside from 
the percentages involved, Wokingham’s interpretation of ‘minimum 
contribution is already more generous than ours. 

(4) In year collection rates for Council Tax have remained at generally the 
same level since 2013 even though the amount of CTS granted has 
reduced each year. However CTS claimants in the unprotected groups 
represent only approximately 2.5% of households in the district and 
their capacity to impact on overall collection rates is limited.  Recent 
research has identified that anincreasing % of collectable amounts 
remains outstanding at the end of each year:

Group 31/03/2014 31/03/2015 31/03/2016

All 1.19% 1.21% 1.12%

Pensionable 0.51% 0.13% -0.95%

Page 1133



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Vulnerable 26.05% 20.70% 19.52%

Working age 
other

24.28% 19.75% 22.69%

Working age 
working

16.56% 14.81% 17.11%

No CTR 0.95% 1.01% 0.92%

(5) If adopted this option would reduce scheme costs by an anticipated 
£157.2k and would remove 117 current recipients of support from 
entitlement with a further unquantifiable number receiving a reduced 
entitlement.

5.3 Change the tapers used in the calculation process

(1) Increasing the taper from the current 20% would lead to a larger 
reduction in Council Tax Support received for each additional £ of 
applicable income in the household. The majority of councils have 
continued to use 20%, this being carried over from Council Tax Benefit. 
However, for Housing Benefit, tapers are set at 65%. 

(2) Initial modelling of the impact of this change indicates that the 
anticipated cost reduction from changing the taper to 25% would be 
£116.3K and from changing to 30% would be £155.05k. In the first 
case 173 claimants would be removed from entitlement increasing to 
251 in the second case. In both cases there would also be a number of 
claimants receiving a reduced entitlement to support which cannot be 
identified at present.

(3) It may be seen by claimants as a disincentive to work (contrary to the 
government intentions in its welfare benefit reform agenda) 

5.4 Change the Council Tax band to which support is restricted

(1) Support is currently restricted to the amount that would be given if the 
claimant’s property is in Council Tax band D.

(2) There is a historic preference for band D in that all other bands are 
calculated by reference to a proportion of band D and statistics such as 
the Council Tax base are expressed in terms of an equivalent number 
of band D properties. This may be the reason that the majority of 
councils applying a restriction chose to use that particular band rather 
than any other.  

(3) Modelling indicates that reducing the band to C would remove 92 
claimants from entitlement to support. cases there would also be a 
number of claimants receiving a reduced entitlement to support which 
cannot be identified at present.

(4) The anticipated cost reduction would be £106.5k

Page 1134



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(5) Other band restrictions have not been modelled, nor has the option to 
apply an enhanced band restriction where, in addition to that outlined 
above, claimants in higher banded properties are denied access to 
support altogether.

5.5 Applying a limit to savings

(1) Many councils have continued to use the £16k limit to savings where 
amounts greater than £16k remove claimants from entitlement to 
support. This mirrors the arrangement in place for Housing Benefit and, 
formerly, for Council Tax Benefit.

(2) This has not previously been explored at West Berkshire because 
earlier modelling indicated that it was unlikely to generate a significant 
level of cost reduction. The principal holders of larger amounts of 
capital tend to be pensioners, many of who are in receipt of pension 
credit guarantee and enter the benefits system by referral from DWP; in 
those cases we do not receive details of their capital holding.

(3) However, current modelling of a reduction in the capital allowance to 
£6k indicates an anticipated cost reduction of £76.31K with 96 
claimants removed from entitlement to support. This figure only 
represents the savings which can be identified from existing records. 
Should this option be adopted, further savings may be derived from 
claimants whose capital was previously means-tested solely by DWP 
and for whom the Council did not require any additional information, as 
long as CTS scheme rules for capital remained in line with DWP 
regulations. Any savings derived from the CTS scheme deviating from 
DWP capital regulations would however be offset in some way by the 
additional administrative cost in gathering new evidence of capital held 
by customers receiving ‘pass-ported’ benefits (pass-ported benefits 
include income based Job Seekers Allowance or Income Support) in 
order to consistently apply this measure across the working age 
caseload. This additional requirement for information would also cause 
some additional delay in the assessment of future new claims for CTS 
where the claimant is in receipt of a pass-ported benefit.’

5.6 Setting a minimum weekly amount of support 

(1) At present we apply a minimum of £3 and calculated entitlements of 
£2.99 or less per week result in no support being given. 

(2) This is an option which has been taken up by only 52 out of 326 
councils and only 20 use amounts greater than our current £3, the most 
extreme being £10 used by two councils.

(3) Modelling a minimum payment of £10 per week shows an anticipated 
cost reduction of £163.17k with 371 current claimants ceasing to 
receive any support. There would also be a number of claimants 
receiving a reduced entitlement to support which cannot be identified at 
present.

Page 1135



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5.7 In summary, the table below shows how each of the options detailed in sections 5.1 
to 5.6, when taken in isolation, would generate cost reductions and the number of 
claimants who would cease to receive any support towards their council tax costs. 
The actual number of claimants affected will differ because there will also be 
instances of reduced support which it has not been possible to assess.

Option Anticipated 
cost 

reduction

£,000

Anticipated 
number of 
claimants 
ceasing to 

receive 
support

Redefine the vulnerable group £240.69 106

Increase the contribution required from working age 
claimants from 25% of their Council Tax liability to 
30%

£157.16 117

Change the tapers used in the calculation process to 
25%

£116.31 173

Change the tapers used in the calculation process to 
30%

£155.05 251

Change the Council Tax band to which support is 
restricted from Band D to Band C

£106.50 92

Reduce the limit on savings from £16k to £6k £76.31 96

Change the minimum weekly amount of support from 
£3 to £10

£163.17k 371

5.8 Combinations of these options will produce levels of cost reduction which differ from 
simple addition of the impacts of the individual components.

Option Anticipated 
cost 

reduction

£,000

Anticipated 
number of 
claimants 
ceasing to 

receive 
support

Redefine the vulnerable group, Capped at Band C. £308.49 131

Redefine the vulnerable group, 30% deduction from 
liability.

£351.97 155

Redefine the vulnerable group, 30% deduction from 
liability, Capped at Band C.

£395.21 170

Page 1136



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per 
week

£186.26 371

30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C. £197.47 132

30% deduction, capped at Band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week

£527.96 640

30% deduction, capped at Band c, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k

£537.90 657

30% deduction, capped at Band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 25%

£572.52 708

30% deduction, capped at Band C, minimum £10.00 
award per week, capital limit of £6k, tapering 30%

£592.24 739

5.9 It does need to be stressed that the figures given are anticipated based on 
modelling of data as it currently exists in the software used to manage Council Tax 
Support. Any change in the council’s council tax levels will change the impacts 
identified above and, regardless of the Council’s own budget decisions, will be 
affected by the decisions of other precepting bodies.

6. Proposals

6.1 Any element of the Council Tax Support Scheme can be modified subject to 
consultation and in developing the proposals for this years scheme 19 options were 
put forward for consideration Those options are shown in table 6.4.  It should be 
noted that options 18 & 19 which were not consulted upon as the decision was 
taken after proper consideration that those claimants receiving Employment Support 
Allowance should maintain their vulnerable status.  

6.2 The detailed summaries at Appendix D follow a pattern which starts with the 
number and value of currently assessed claims (Imported Claim Data). Some of 
these claims will have been made more recently and the amount shown will not 
reflect a full year of entitlement. The following section (Calculated Claim Data) takes 
the live claims forward to a full financial year, dropping those claims closed during 
the earlier year or assessed to have nil entitlements

6.3 The next stage adjusts figures for known instances of claimants reaching pension 
age in the year ahead. Finally, there is an option to adjust for trends in caseload but 
this has not been used.

6.4 The tables show as follows:

Scheme Details

1 Current scheme - ESA Protection, 25% contribution, Band D capping, £3 minimum 

2 Uniform protection for ESA claimants removed (still protected where disability premium 
included) 

Page 1137



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

3 30% deduction from liability, prior to deduction of CTR (currently 25%).

4 tapering 25%

5 tapering 30%

6 Capped at Band C rather than Band D

7 capital limit changed to £6k

8 Minimum award £10.00 per week

9 ESA protection removed, Capped at Band C. 

10 ESA protection removed 30% deduction from liability.

11 ESA protection removed  30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C.

12 capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per week

13 30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C.

14 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week

15 30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k

16 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k and 
tapering 25%

17 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 30%

18 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k and 
tapering 25% with ESA protection removed (not consulted upon)

19 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 30% with the ESA protection removed (not consulted upon)

6.5 The following table summarises the level of cost reduction when compared to the 
anticipated cost of the current scheme in 2017/18. 

Scheme Estimated cost change from 
current scheme

1 £6,622,278.74
2 £6,251,028.47 -£240,693.51
3 £6,230,817.34 -£157,158.98
4 £6,271,666.60 -£116,309.72
5 £6,232,926.11 -£155,050.21
6 £6,281,473.80 -£106,502.52
7 £6,311,667.40 -£76,308.92
8 £6,224,802.76 -£163,173.56
9 £6,183,234.53 -£308,487.45

10 £6,139,748.98 -£351,973.00

Page 1138



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

11 £6,096,509.78 -£395,212.70
12 £6,201,717.36 -£186,258.96
13 £6,190,503.85 -£197,472.47
14 £5,860,014.01 -£527,962.31
15 £5,850,079.79 -£537,896.53
16 £5,815,451.94 -£572,524.38
17 £5,793,965.30 -£594,011.02
18 £5,951,333.05 -£670,945.69
19 £5,936,571.22 -£685,707.52

7. The national perspective, 

7.1 In order to assist understanding of the national picture and West Berkshire’s 
position relative to other Council’s Appendix D illustrates the degree of change 
since 2013 by each billing authority. 

8. Conclusion

8.1 Based upon current Council Tax costs (i.e. an assumption that council Tax for 
2017/18 will remain the same as 2016/17) the various schemes modelled lead to 
reduced costs, when compared to the costs of the current scheme if continued into 
2017/18, of between £76.31K and £685K

8.2 The number of claimants who would cease to receive support ranges up to 739 
depending upon which, if any, of the modelled options is adopted. All of these 
claimants, by virtue of their current entitlement, have been identified as being on low 
income and it follows that they will have limited capacity to absorb additional costs 
within their current disposable income. 

8.3 Reduction of costs in council tax support does present a risk for council tax 
collection. Although council tax collection remains high it is virtually impossible to 
predict how reductions in council tax support will impact on this in the future. 

The potential savings must, however, be considered with a degree of caution 
because the actual impacts are very difficult to assess. Whilst the cost of the 
scheme may reduce there is always a risk that other factors such as bad debt or 
calls on the exceptional hardship fund will reduce the value of those savings.  The 
ability to assess impacts is severely constrained by the fact that those in receipt of 
CTR may also be in receipt of other benefits where changes are driven by 
Government rather than local authorities.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Having due regard to the continuing financial challenges faced by the council the 
recommendation to Council is for Option 17. This option maintains protection for the 
Districts most vulnerable claimants (typically those in receipt of disability benefits) 
and provides a continuing level of support for those most in need. As indicated at 
6.1 thought was was given to consult on options 18 & 19 which involved the 
removal of the ESA protection for claimants but the decision was made to maintain 
that protection. In view that option 17 is recognised as being difficult but is 
considered the most viable proposal reflecting the Governments ongoing 

Page 1139



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

preservation of pensioner entitlement to Council Tax Support and also the 
significant challenges facing the Council.

9.2 Therefore, the recommendation, to Council is for the follow changes to be made to 
the Council Tax Support scheme for 2017 – 2018 (Option 17);

Variable 16/17 (now) 17/18 (proposed)
Support for working age claimants 75% 70%
Cap support at property band Band D Band C
Redefine ‘vulnerable’ No No
Capital limit before reduction 16k 6k * See below
Minimum weekly payment £3 £10
Tapering rate 20% 30% 

*Those“ Non Passported” persons of working age, for the purposes of who hold capital of 
£6,000 or above at the date of claim for a council tax reduction or during that same billing 
year within which a further claim is made, irrespective of whether or not their capital 
subsequently falls below this level will be precluded from Council Tax Support within that 
billing year.

Background Papers:
None

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  
The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
All
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

SLE – A stronger local economy
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the above Council Strategy aim 
and priorities by taking account of the cost of providing support at a time when financial 
pressures require the Council to make difficult decisions about service provision across all 
of its functions.

Officer details:
Name: Bill Blackett
Job Title: Revenues and Benefits Manager
Tel No: 01635 519305
E-mail Address: bill.blackett@westberks.gov.uk

Page 1140



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Council tax Support Scheme 2017/18

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Head of Customer Services

Name of assessor: Bill Blackett

Date of assessment: 16 Aug. 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing Yes

Service No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To provide support to those on low incomes in order to 
help them meet their liability for council tax payments

Objectives: To maximise support 

Outcomes: To maximise support whilst keeping within budget at a 
time of reducing government funding

Benefits: Contol of costs

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group What might be the effect? Information to support this

Page 1141



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Affected

Further Comments relating to the item:

The nature of the scheme is that it must comply with government directive with regard 
to pensioners and vulnerable persons. In both cases claimants must be no worse of 
under the council tax support scheme than they were when council tax benefit was in 
place, there is therefore positive discrimination in favour of these two groups. However 
vulnerability has not been specifically defines and it is left to individual billing 
authorities to provide their own definition. Since April 2013 West Berkshire’s definition 
has been more generous than other councils and one of the options offered in this 
report would change this definition.
For all other strands the scheme does not differentiate between claimants based upon 
their presence in a particular strand, in all cases the assessment of entitlement to 
support is linked to household size, income, and council tax costs. The detailed 
definition of the scheme is linked directly to the default scheme presented by the 
government in 2013.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? Yes

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
A reduction in the level of support to those on low incomes will inevitably place 
a financial burden on those affected and which will force them to make choices 
not previously faced

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

Page 1142



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required Yes

Owner of Stage Two assessment: Bill Blackett

Timescale for Stage Two assessment: By December 2016 for report to full 
council

Stage Two not required: No

Name: Bill Blackett Date:16 Aug. 2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1143



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix C
Anticipated scheme costs for various options modelled

Scheme Details Pension age Vulnerable
Working age 
employed

Working age 
not working Total

1 Current scheme - ESA Protection, 25% contribution, Band D 
capping, £3 minimum £3,409,608.41 £2,032,854.98 £478,535.18 £701,280.17 £6,622,278.74

2 Uniform protection for ESA claimants removed (still 
protected where disability premium included) £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £459,117.77 £880,256.94 £6,251,028.47

3 30% deduction from liability, prior to deduction of CTR 
(currently 25%). £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £403,925.85 £625,169.61 £6,230,817.34

4 tapering 25% £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £401,414.02 £668,530.70 £6,271,666.60

5 tapering 30% £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £365,996.15 £665,208.08 £6,232,926.11

6 Capped at Band C rather than Band D £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £425,557.71 £654,194.21 £6,281,473.80

7 capital limit changed to £6k £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £444,076.29 £665,869.23 £6,311,667.40

8 Minimum award £10.00 per week £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £364,848.52 £658,232.36 £6,224,802.76

9 ESA protection removed, Capped at Band C. £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £432,074.96 £839,505.81 £6,183,234.53

10 ESA protection removed 30% deduction from liability. £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £410,108.36 £817,986.86 £6,139,748.98

11 ESA protection removed  30% deduction from liability, 
Capped at Band C. £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £386,790.80 £798,065.22 £6,096,509.78

12 capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per week £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £356,405.67 £643,589.81 £6,201,717.36

13 30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C. £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £380,734.38 £608,047.59 £6,190,503.85

14 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award 
per week £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £285,226.16 £373,065.97 £5,860,014.01

15 30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum £10.00 award 
per week, capital limit of £6k £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £279,680.06 £368,677.85 £5,850,079.79

16 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award 
per week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 25% £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £247,113.28 £366,616.78 £5,815,451.94

17 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award 
per week, capital limit of £6k, tapering 30% £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £226,669.84 £365,573.58 £5,793,965.30

P
age 1144



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Anticipated number of claimants in receipt of support for each scheme modelled

Scheme Details
Pension 

age Vulnerable
Working age 
employed

Working age 
not working Total

1 Current scheme - ESA Protection, 25% contribution, Band D 
capping, £3 minimum 3314 1829 696 842 6681

2 Uniform protection for ESA claimants removed (still protected 
where disability premium included) 3313 1554 703 1103 6673

3 30% deduction from liability, prior to deduction of CTR (currently 
25%). 3313 1824 651 836 6624

4 tapering 25% 3313 1824 600 831 6568

5 tapering 30% 3313 1824 530 823 6490

6 Capped at Band C rather than Band D 3313 1824 673 839 6649

7 capital limit changed to £6k 3313 1824 681 827 6645

8 Minimum award £10.00 per week 3313 1824 437 796 6370

9 ESA protection removed, Capped at Band C. 3313 1554 681 1100 6648

10 ESA protection removed 30% deduction from liability. 3313 1554 659 1098 6624

11 ESA protection removed  30% deduction from liability, Capped at 
Band C. 3313 1554 645 1097 6609

12 capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per week 3313 1824 437 796 6370

13 30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C. 3313 1824 637 835 6609

14 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per 
week 3313 1824 402 562 6101

15 30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum £10.00 award per 
week, capital limit of £6k 3313 1824 393 554 6084

16 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per 
week, capital limit of £6k and tapering 25% 3313 1824 347 549 6033

17 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per 
week, capital limit of £6k, tapering 30% 3313 1824 318 547 6002

P
age 1145



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix D
Details of all schemes modelled

1 Current scheme - ESA Protection, 25% contribution, Band D capping, £3 minimum 
Single 

change
2

Uniform protection for ESA claimants removed (still protected where disability premium 
included) 

3 30% deduction from liability, prior to deduction of CTR (currently 25%).
4 tapering 25%
5 tapering 30%
6 Capped at Band C rather than Band D
7 capital limit changed to £6k
8 Minimum award £10.00 per week

Combinat
ions 

9 ESA protection removed, Capped at Band C. 
10 ESA protection removed 30% deduction from liability.
11 ESA protection removed  30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C.
12 capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 per week
13 30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C.
14 30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week
15 30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k

16
30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k and 
tapering 25%

17
30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum £10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 30%

Page 1146



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

1 Current scheme CTR Scheme

Pension Age Vulnerable Household 
Vulnerable

Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data        

Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709

Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09

Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data        

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3233 1846 0 702 900 6681

Total weekly awards £63,751.16 £39,350.30 £0.00 £9,247.38 £14,336.56 £126,685.41

Average weekly award £19.66 £21.13 £0.00 £13.17 £15.89 £18.88

Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age        

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52

Total weekly awards £6,311.60 £4,175.81 £0.00 £151.66 £795.55

Average weekly award £20.23 £21.41 £0.00 £11.67 £15.30
No. of claims adjustment for pension age 

change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3314 1829 0 696 842 6681

Adjusted total weekly awards £65,389.75 £38,986.26 £0.00 £9,177.39 £13,449.21 £127,002.60

Adjusted average weekly award £19.73 £21.32 £0.00 £13.19 £15.97 £19.01

Adjustment for Caseload Trend        

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Adjusted number of claims 3314 1829 0 696 842 6681

Adjusted total weekly awards £65,389.75 £38,986.26 £0.00 £9,177.39 £13,449.21 £127,002.61

Total annual CTS Awards £3,409,608.41 £2,032,854.98 £0.00 £478,535.18 £701,280.17 £6,622,278.74

P
age 1147



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 2 CTR Scheme

Current Scheme, Uniform protection for ESA 
claimants removed (still protected where 
disability premium included) 

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 709 1165 6673
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £8,870.66 £17,787.67 £119,556.11
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £12.49 £15.23 £17.82
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £142.27 £1,227.53
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £10.94 £14.61

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 703 1103 6673
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £8,805.00 £16,881.64 £119,882.74
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £12.52 £15.31 £17.97
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 703 1103 6673
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £8,805.00 £16,881.64 £119,882.74

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £459,117.77 £880,256.94 £6,251,028.47

P
age 1148



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 3 CTR Scheme
Current Scheme, 30% deduction from 

liability, prior to deduction of CTR (currently 
25%).

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 657 894 6624
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £7,802.97 £12,774.83 £119,119.44
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £11.12 £14.16 £17.76
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £122.30 £704.04
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £9.41 £13.54

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 651 836 6624
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,746.52 £11,989.55 £119,495.13
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £11.90 £14.34 £18.04

Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 651 836 6624
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,746.52 £11,989.55 £119,495.13

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £403,925.85 £625,169.61 £6,230,817.34

P
age 1149



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 4 CTR Scheme

Tapering 25% A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable

Working 
Age 

Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 606 889 6568
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £7,753.28 £13,652.43 £119,947.35
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £11.04 £15.14 £17.88
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £119.02 £745.30
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £9.16 £14.33

No. of claims adjustment for pension age change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 600 831 6568
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,698.35 £12,821.14 £120,278.54
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £12.83 £15.43 £18.31
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 600 831 6568
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,698.35 £12,821.14 £120,278.54

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £401,414.02 £668,530.70 £6,271,666.60

P
age 1150



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 5 CTR Scheme

Tapering 30% A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 536 881 6490
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £7,070.77 £13,578.70 £119,191.11
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £10.07 £15.05 £17.77
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £111.94 £736.33
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £8.61 £14.16

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 530 823 6490
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,019.10 £12,757.42 £119,535.57
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £13.24 £15.50 £18.42
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 530 823 6490
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,019.10 £12,757.42 £119,535.57

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £365,996.15 £665,208.08 £6,232,926.11

P
age 1151



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 6 CTR Scheme
Current scheme, capped at Band Czaxxrather 
than band D A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 679 897 6649
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £8,221.73 £13,385.81 £120,149.18
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £11.71 £14.84 £17.91
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £130.77 £752.76
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £10.06 £14.48

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 673 839 6649
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £8,161.38 £12,546.19 £120,466.62
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £12.13 £14.95 £18.12
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 673 839 6649
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £8,161.38 £12,546.19 £120,466.62

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £425,557.71 £654,194.21 £6,281,473.80

P
age 1152



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 7 CTR Scheme

Capital limit changed to £6k A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 687 885 6645
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £8,572.73 £13,572.75 £120,687.12
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £12.21 £15.05 £17.99
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £121.76 £719.62
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £9.37 £13.84

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 681 827 6645
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £8,516.53 £12,770.09 £121,045.67
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £12.51 £15.44 £18.22
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 681 827 6645
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £8,516.53 £12,770.09 £121,045.68

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £444,076.29 £665,869.23 £6,311,667.40

P
age 1153



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 8 CTR Scheme

Minimum award £10.00 per week A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 

Employed
Working Age 

Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 443 854 6370
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £7,047.53 £13,441.62 £119,030.79
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £109.29 £733.37
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 437 796 6370
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £6,997.09 £12,623.63 £119,379.78
Adjusted average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 437 796 6370
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £6,997.09 £12,623.63 £119,379.78

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £364,848.52 £658,232.36 £6,224,802.76

P
age 1154



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 9 CTR Scheme

ESA protection removed, Capped at Band C. A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 687 1162 6648
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £8,346.72 £16,965.44 £118,209.94
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £11.76 £14.53 £17.62
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £130.77 £1,172.38
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £10.06 £13.96

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 681 1100 6648
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £8,286.37 £16,100.11 £118,582.58
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £12.17 £14.64 £17.84
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 681 1100 6648
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £8,286.37 £16,100.11 £118,582.58

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £432,074.96 £839,505.81 £6,183,234.53

P
age 1155



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 10 CTR Scheme

ESA protection removed  30% deduction from 
liability

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 665 1160 6624
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £7,921.54 £16,526.41 £117,345.73
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £11.16 £14.15 £17.49
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £122.30 £1,136.70
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £9.41 £13.53

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 659 1098 6624
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £7,865.09 £15,687.42 £117,748.61
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £11.93 £14.29 £17.78
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 659 1098 6624
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £7,865.09 £15,687.42 £117,748.61

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £410,108.36 £817,986.86 £6,139,748.98

P
age 1156



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 11 CTR Scheme

ESA protection removed  30% deduction from 
liability, Capped at Band C.

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 651 1159 6609
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £7,472.41 £16,134.19 £116,504.38
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £10.52 £13.81 £17.37
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £118.10 £1,122.93
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £9.08 £13.37

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 645 1097 6609
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £7,417.91 £15,305.36 £116,919.36
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £11.50 £13.95 £17.69
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 645 1097 6609
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £7,417.91 £15,305.36 £116,919.37

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £386,790.80 £798,065.22 £6,096,509.78

P
age 1157



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 12 CTR Scheme

Capped at band C, minimum award of £10.00 
per week

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 

Employed
Working Age 

Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 443 854 6370
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £6,884.72 £13,150.12 £118,576.48
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £107.35 £723.79
Average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 437 796 6370
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £6,835.18 £12,342.82 £118,937.04
Adjusted average weekly award £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 437 796 6370
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £6,835.18 £12,342.82 £118,937.05

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £356,405.67 £643,589.81 £6,201,717.36

P
age 1158



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 13 CTR Scheme

30% deduction from liability, Capped at Band C. A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 643 893 6609
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £7,356.26 £12,436.49 £118,334.39
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £10.48 £13.79 £17.64
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £118.10 £695.10
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £9.08 £13.37

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 637 835 6609
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,301.76 £11,661.19 £118,721.99
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £11.46 £13.97 £17.96
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 637 835 6609
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £7,301.76 £11,661.19 £118,721.99

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £380,734.38 £608,047.59 £6,190,503.85

P
age 1159



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 14 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum 
£10.00 award per week

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 408 620 6101
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £5,499.85 £7,630.14 £111,671.63
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £7.83 £8.46 £16.65
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £64.48 £426.26
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £4.96 £8.20

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 402 562 6101
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £5,470.09 £7,154.69 £112,383.83
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £13.61 £12.73 £18.42
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 402 562 6101
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £5,470.09 £7,154.69 £112,383.83

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £285,226.16 £373,065.97 £5,860,014.01

P
age 1160



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

 Scheme 15 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band c, minimum 
£10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data

Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 399 612 6084
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £5,386.86 £7,522.78 £111,451.28
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £7.67 £8.34 £16.61
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £50.13 £405.46
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £3.86 £7.80

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 393 554 6084
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £5,363.73 £7,070.53 £112,193.31
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £13.65 £12.76 £18.44
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 393 554 6084
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £5,363.73 £7,070.53 £112,193.31

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £279,680.06 £368,677.85 £5,850,079.79

P
age 1161



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 16 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum 
£10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k and 
tapering 25%

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data       
Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 353 607 6033
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £4,756.37 £7,458.69 £110,756.69
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £6.78 £8.27 £16.51
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £37.29 £383.44
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £2.87 £7.37

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 347 549 6033
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £4,739.16 £7,031.01 £111,529.21
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £13.66 £12.81 £18.49
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 347 549 6033
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £4,739.16 £7,031.01 £111,529.22

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £247,113.28 £366,616.78 £5,815,451.94

P
age 1162



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 17 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum 
£10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 30%

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data

Number of claims 3243 1862 0 702 902 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £39,337.61 £0.00 £8,731.10 £14,018.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.13 £0.00 £12.44 £15.54 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £2,051,175.55 £0.00 £455,264.53 £730,989.91 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1841 0 324 605 6002
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £37,697.08 £0.00 £4,359.42 £7,425.90 £110,326.96
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.25 £0.00 £6.21 £8.23 £16.44
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 195 0 13 52
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £4,004.48 £0.00 £26.71 £371.98
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.54 £0.00 £2.05 £7.15

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -17 0 -6 -58

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 318 547 6002
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £4,347.09 £7,011.00 £111,117.14
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.48 £0.00 £13.67 £12.82 £18.51
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1824 0 318 547 6002
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £37,347.97 £0.00 £4,347.09 £7,011.00 £111,117.14

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,947,429.89 £0.00 £226,669.84 £365,573.58 £5,793,965.30

P
age 1163



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 18 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum 
£10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 25% ESA Protection Removed

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data

Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 351 1076 6226
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £5,258.38 £15,466.63 £113,622.78
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £7.41 £13.24 £16.94
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £59.20 £1,027.82
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £4.55 £12.24

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 345 1014 6226
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £5,231.05 £14,708.00 £114,135.15
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £15.16 £14.50 £18.33
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 345 1014 6226
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £5,231.05 £14,708.00 £114,135.15

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £272,762.15 £766,917.14 £5,951,333.05

P
age 1164



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Scheme 19 CTR Scheme

30% deduction, capped at band C, minimum 
£10.00 award per week, capital limit of £6k, 
tapering 30% ESA Protection Removed

A B C D E

 
Pension Age Vulnerable Household 

Vulnerable
Working Age 
Employed

Working Age 
Other

Totals

Imported Claim Data

Number of claims 3243 1588 0 710 1168 6709
Total weekly awards £61,739.39 £33,804.76 £0.00 £8,895.96 £19,386.98 £123,827.09
Average weekly award £19.04 £21.29 £0.00 £12.53 £16.60 £18.46

Total annual awards £3,219,268.06 £1,762,676.56 £0.00 £463,860.78 £1,010,892.65 £6,456,698.05
Calculated Claim Data

Number of claims with non-zero awards 3232 1567 0 334 1071 6204
Total weekly awards £60,844.56 £32,053.22 £0.00 £5,026.20 £15,407.68 £113,331.65
Average weekly award £18.76 £20.18 £0.00 £7.08 £13.19 £16.89
Adjustment for Rise in Pension Age

No. of claims at pension age +/- 3 yrs 312 163 0 13 84
Total weekly awards £6,033.99 £3,362.78 £0.00 £59.20 £1,016.94
Average weekly award £19.34 £20.63 £0.00 £4.55 £12.11

No. of claims adjustment for pension age 
change 81 -13 0 -6 -62

Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 328 1009 6204
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £4,998.87 £14,657.08 £113,852.05
Adjusted average weekly award £18.84 £20.45 £0.00 £15.24 £14.53 £18.35
Adjustment for Caseload Trend

Adjustment  (-) %age 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Adjusted number of claims 3313 1554 0 328 1009 6204
Adjusted total weekly awards £62,411.08 £31,785.02 £0.00 £4,998.87 £14,657.08 £113,852.05

Total annual CTS Awards £3,254,291.99 £1,657,361.77 £0.00 £260,655.53 £764,261.93 £5,936,571.22

P
age 1165



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix E

Maps illustrating average cuts in Council Tax Support from 2013 to 2016 in England 
and Wales compared to previous system 

P
age 1166



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016
Page 1167



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016
Page 1168



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016
Page 1169



Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016
Page 1170



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

1. **Are you...? Please tick all that apply **compulsory questions

A resident in West Berkshire
Employed by West Berkshire Council 
A Parish/Town Councillor
A District Councillor
A service provider
A partner organisation (e.g. Police / Fire Authority)
Other

Additional information e.g. group / organisation name:                               

A total of 71 responses were received.  15 of these failed to answer any of the proposal-
specific questions, so were removed for the purposes of analysis.

94.6% were resident in West Berkshire
1.8% was a District Councillor
3.6% were service providers
7.1% described themselves as ‘other’

2. **Do you pay Council Tax?

Yes No

66.1% answered ‘yes’
33.9% answered ‘no’

3. **Do you currently receive Council Tax Support?

Yes No

75% answered ‘yes’
25% answered ‘no’

4. **Are you employed?

Yes No

37.5% answered ‘yes’
62.5% answered ‘no’

Page 1171



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

5. **How far do you agree with the single change options? Please read the option guide

Agree
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Don't 
know

Not 
answered

1. Redefine the protected group 21.4% 23.2% 39.3% 10.7% 5.4%

2. Increase the contributions of 
working age claimants 32.1% 19.6% 46.4% 1.8% -

3. Change the calculation tapers to 
25% 23.2% 37.5% 26.8% 12.5% -

4. Change the calculation tapers to 
30% 17.9% 26.8% 41.1% 10.7% 3.6%

5. Change which council tax bands 
get support 28.6% 32.1% 26.8% 8.9% 3.6%

6. Apply a limit to the amount of 
savings allowed before you get 
support

55.4% 21.4% 19.6% 1.8% 1.8%

7. Set a minimum weekly amount of 
support 37.5% 25% 25% 10.7% 1.8%

Please tell us the reasons for your 
responses:

A total of 37 comments were received, a significant 
proportion of which were from persons with disabilities 
or long-term illnesses.  Comments were wide-ranging but 
there was some agreement with options 5, 6 and 7.  A 
number of respondents felt that those unable to work due 
to disability should be protected.

Page 1172



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

6. What do you think we should be aware of in terms of how these proposals might impact 
people? For example, do you think it will affect particular individuals more than others?

Please refer to the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) to see what has already been 
identified.
 

1. Redefine the protected 
group

21 responses including:

 If ESA WRAG claimants are excluded they would 
face a sudden jump from paying no contribution to 
paying a 25% contribution.  This is a big jump for 
people on subsistence income

 People on basic rate ESA are the most vulnerable 
financially.  They should not have to live on £73.10 
and pay Council Tax

 Older people, the disabled and single parents
 The existing protected group could be means tested.  

If they can afford to pay, they should
 It seems you are only wanting to change the ESA 

group
 Be careful who loses out, especially with disabilities
 Ensures all are included

2. Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants from 25% of their 
Council Tax liability to 30%

22 responses, 7 of which indicated some agreement with 
this suggestion.  Comments included:

 This includes those on JSA and low income who are 
already impacted by the welfare benefits cap

 The working age group includes people on JSA 
whose benefits are £73.10 or £57.90.  This group 
can barely afford a 25% contribution.  This measure 
is unaffordable and also risks hitting the same group 
repeatedly who are affected by the welfare benefits 
cap

 Working age people and single people on JSA are 
the most vulnerable.  Their liability should not be 
increased

 Most are already struggling and are the poorest 
members of society

 Residents who are out of work will face an increased 
burden

 People aged 60 are working age but have you tried 
getting a job at 60 after ill health?

3. Change the tapers used in 
the calculation process to 
25%

16 responses, 5 of which indicated some agreement with 
this suggestion.  Comments included:

 This isn’t too big a hike
 Low income working families will be particularly 

affected.  More of what they try to earn will be taken 
away in benefit. Real danger of making it more 
attractive to remain on benefits rather than work

Page 1173



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

4. Change the tapers used in 
the calculation process to 
30%

18 responses, only 2 of which indicated some agreement 
with the suggestion.  Comments included:

 30% is very high
 Too big a hike
 Would put people like myself into severe debt
 Will affect a lot of hard working people
 Shouldn’t go to 30%

5. Change the Council Tax 
band to which support is 
restricted

20 responses, 8 of which indicated some agreement with 
this suggestion.  Comments included:

 We would support this option.  Research by our 
money advice team shows that most of their clients 
live in bands A to C

 People with band C and D houses are mostly not as 
vulnerable as single people on basic ESA and JSA

 This may be a viable option as most of our clients are 
in band C

 Disagree, many are unable to change their house 
and it is unreasonable to expect them to because 
they have fallen on hard times

 Unfair to penalise residents based on their 
geographical location within the district

 This could be a little harsh as the claimant doesn’t 
get much choice where they live

 Agree, I’m sure someone in band F/G doesn’t have 
the same financial pressures as someone in B/C/D

6. Apply a limit to savings

23 responses, 17 of which indicated some agreement 
with this suggestion.  Comments included:

 This would be acceptable
 This would be a preferred option
 This may be the best option, people with savings 

have some capital they can use
 Definitely apply a limit to savings
 Yes, if people can afford to save they can afford to 

pay full CTax
 If people have £16,000 sitting in the bank why do 

they get any help towards Council Tax?
 Seems a reasonable option but savings will diminish 

quickly if used to pay Council Tax
 Disagree, you should be allowed any amount of 

savings
 Will affect most older people who have saved all their 

working life and deter others from saving at all
 Savings shouldn’t be gained through Council help
 Could be reviewed and set at a fair level
 Yes, if you have £30,000 savings you don’t have the 

same pressures as me with £300

Page 1174



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

7. Set a minimum weekly 
amount of support

16 responses, 8 of which indicated some agreement with 
this suggestion.  Comments included:

 I believe this could be an option
 Would need to look at the likelihood of more 

claimants falling behind with Council Tax
 Agree, it is expensive to administer and help is 

limited in these cases
 Again, be careful
 Won’t really affect that many as I guess they have 

more money coming in
 Increase into poverty for the low paid
 If small enough this would bring everyone to the 

paying group – all involved/all in it together
 £10 to £15 per week would cover me

Page 1175



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

7. **How far do you agree with the combined options? Please read the option guide

Agree
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Don't 
know

Not 
answered

8. Redefine the protected group and 
cap support at band C. 17.9% 16.1% 35.7% 7.1% 23.2%

9. Redefine the protected group and 
Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30%

17.9% 12.5% 37.5% 8.9% 23.2%

10.Redefine the protected group, 
increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30% and cap 
support at band C 

12.5% 14.3% 42.9% 7.1% 23.2%

11.Cap support at band C, set a 
minimum award of £10.00 per 
week

23.2% 14.3% 25% 14.3% 23.2%

12.Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30% and cap 
support at band C

17.9% 16.1% 32.1% 10.7% 23.2%

13.Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30%, cap support at 
band C and set a minimum award 
of £10 per week

14.3% 17.9% 37.5% 7.1% 23.2%

14.Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30%, cap support at 
band C, claimants to 30%, cap 
support at band C and set a 
minimum award of £10 per week

10.7% 19.6% 39.3% 7.1% 23.2%

15.Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30%, cap support at 
band C, set a minimum award of 
£10 per week, apply a capital limit 
of £6,000 and use a taper of 25%

12.5% 17.9% 35.7% 10.7% 23.2%

16.Increase the contribution 
required from working age 
claimants to 30%, cap support at 
band C, set a minimum award of 
£10 per week, apply a capital limit 
of £6,000 and use a taper of 30%

12.5% 16.1% 35.7% 12.5% 23.2%

Page 1176



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

Please tell us the reasons for 
your responses:

20 responses were received.  Comments included:

 I am concerned with the most vulnerable, the single unemployed, 
and a lot of these options hit these people

 Most of your combined options rely on redefining the protected 
group/ increasing contributions from working age clients.  Both will 
unfairly affect young single claimants

 None of these options actually address individuals’ ability to pay.  I 
am not against anyone paying CTax even if they are disabled as 
long as they can afford it

 This should all be explained better as this makes no sense to me 
at all

 I think instead of picking on the poor and vulnerable in society it 
would be better to increase council tax for those working and able 
to afford it. It is unfair to tax people who are already struggling to 
put food on the table

 There are people taking advantage and disadvantage we need to 
check the rewards and make sure all claimants are eligible for the 
allowance not those who are collecting their allowance and 
enjoying

 I disagree with the cap at band c - most of us are in homes that our 
equipment needs more space.  I prefer the option that you restrict 
to band D and support a level of say 30% (or 25% if that is the 
current level) up to band D - if you meet criteria

 Actually rather confusing, but then so is the council tax benefit 
system and our bills!

 Accept a reduction is needed but options 13 - 16 are too severe 
and will place far too many in hardship. I do not agree with the 
criteria in 10-12 and believe option 9 is the only option that 
approaches being 'fair to all'

 Capping it at band c isn't right. There are plenty of band d, e and f 
properties that may not be high value and will be more likely to 
have families in.  Therefore it could be argued that capping at band 
c is discriminating against families

 I know there has to be change but the harshest would be the 
change to the protected group.  The hoops needed to get here are 
enough please don't add even more!  The other ideas are hopefully 
the fairest (and smallest) increases that could be managed by the 
claimants

 I have been in the support group and still in it but have to pay a 
certain amount to council tax which I don't understand

 As I still don't know what you mean by taper I cannot comment on 
the last 2

Page 1177



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

8. Do you have any other suggestions as to how significant savings might be achieved 
within this service, or how we might be able to generate income across the council? If so, 
please provide details.

20 responses were received.  Comments included:

 Cut the salaries that are being raked in by Councillors!  Some of these overpaid thieves are 
raking in 6 figure pay packets and have the balls to vote through a 16% pay rise for 
themselves last year.  Cut the expenses that these Councillors are claiming on top of wages.

 Cut the money wasting staff car scheme that WBC employees are getting at the minute.

 Don’t spend 60 million pounds on road works and don’t give away millions of pounds worth 
of land (bus station) for nothing!  Get rid of this vanity car rental rubbish that started recently - 
the cars never get used.

 Get Vodafone to pay some tax!  It never ceases to amaze me that west berks council are 
only interested in attacking the poor, Disabled and lower class when it comes to things like 
this.

 Increase the sharing of administration with other councils.

 Cut some staff in the council offices, particularly management and stop sending out so much 
in the way of glossy advertising.  Also council tax should be increased if the house is a 
second property owned by someone and left unoccupied (as in holiday homes)

 The ones who do not receive housing benefits should pay extra council tax by 30%.  Start 
monitoring blue badge offenders, increasing fines for failure to display a blue badge.

 Get more council parking spaces added, ones that can be paid for.  Lots of parking wanted 
round here but not enough spaces.  Offer more start up low business rates.  Give more 
reasons for folks to pay something to try and start a store based business.

 Consider fines to companies that don’t support rental of their spaces and premises.  We 
have building spaces staying empty and they should be encouraged to get occupants in.

 It’s becoming harder and more expensive to hire places like the childrens centre.  Why not 
offer this space out of hours for parties eg at weekends?  I’m sure you would get interest.

 Turn the cameras on during roadworks.  With the number of vehicles jumping red lights and 
blocking junctions of the A339 it would probably pay all the council staff for the next year!

 Target those who blatantly abuse the system, I know a number of people that have claimed 
single person benefit and are living with partners.  Raise Council Tax.

 Save money by turning off lights at night.  No pay increase to Councillors.

 Everyone should pay something towards their Council Tax.  People should live in the area 
for 2 or 3 years before they are eligible for CTS.

 Nearly all the examples pick on those that get help due to their circumstances, which I 
assume is a small percentage of council tax payers.  So what about the large percentage 
who can afford the 100% council tax - maybe they could be asked to pay an extra 1% to 
keep it at 25% for those in the community who need the help.  Or maybe 0.5% and reduce 
the increase for the vulnerable in West Berks to 27%.  Maybe it's time to remove the blinkers 
and stop picking on the easy targets?

Page 1178



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

9. Any further comments.

12 responses were received.  Comments included:

 We believe that those on basic rate ESA should continue to be protected and remain in the 
excluded group.  Some pensioners on state retirement pension and pension credits who will 
get full CTR are likely to have higher income than those on JSA.

 Redefining the protected group could be a good idea as long as those on basic rate ESA are 
protected.  Single people on JSA should also be in the protected group.

 I am currently in receipt of CTR.  All my children of age have worked and I believe that it is 
wrong for them to have to contribute and be penalised because they still live at home whilst 
trying to get on the housing ladder.

 I’m appalled at the lack of support for accessibility for disabled users.

 It’s a very hard decision to be made.  Hopefully this can be done fairly and with the least 
impact on those hardest hit, i.e. those with ill health/disability and on limited funding.

 Help the older person out more and don’t pick on the disabled people who will most need 
help with benefits.

Page 1179



Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2017/18
Summary of responses to proposal

ABOUT YOU (OPTIONAL)

Information provided here is for monitoring purposes only and will be kept confidential. You don't have to 
answer these questions, but if you do responses won’t be used to identify individuals. 

10. Gender:

Male Female

11. Age:

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

12. Ethnicity:

Asian or Asian British

Black or Black British

White or White British

Mixed

Gypsy or Irish Traveller

Other – please specify:      

13. Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

A disability is defined as a physical or mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term effect on a 
person’s ability to carry out normal day to day activities.

Yes No

Please send completed surveys, by midnight on 6 November 2016, to:

The Benefits Team, West Berkshire Council, 
Council Offices, Market Street, 

Newbury, RG14 5LD

Email: benefits@westberks.gov.uk

Page 1180



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 
2017/18

Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 8 December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Graham Jones
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 24 November 2016

Report Author: Jim Sweeting
Forward Plan Ref: C3098

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To consider the fees and charges for the 2017/18 Activity Team West Berkshire 
programme in order to enable the service to competitively advertise and promote 
activities and maximise advanced books and income.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Council approves the proposed maximum Fees and Charges for the Activity 
Team West Berkshire’s programme and the hire of equipment and resources for 
2017/18 as set out in appendix C

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: Activity Team West Berkshire have been tasked at 
delivering a cost neutral programme to the Council, the 
proposal takes into account charges levied by alternative 
providers and what is believed to be sustainable in the 
market.

3.2 Policy: In 2013/14 Price rises brought activity prices into line with a 
fair market price, this was followed by an average price rise 
of 1.5% in 2014/15, 2% for 2015/16 and a price freeze in 
2016/17. Early agreement on price changes enables 
activities to be advertised in a timely manner to achieve 
business objectives

3.3 Personnel: None

3.4 Legal: None

3.5 Risk Management: If income streams are lost there is a risk that the cost 
neutral objective would not be achieved. It is felt increasing 
the current level of charges would not negate this risk

3.6 Property: None

3.7 Other: None

Page 1181

Agenda Item 18.



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4. Other options considered

4.1 An further freeze in charges – this was not pursued however as it was felt it would 
be counterproductive given inflationary pressures on costs

Page 1182



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 Following the development of a business plan in 2013/14 to support a target of 
Activity Team West Berkshire delivering their programme cost neutral to the Council 
the fees and charges were reviewed to align them to other providers in the Outdoor 
Activity Market. 

5.2 It is proposed to increase the fees and charges for activity for 2016/17 (in line with 
other increases in sports and leisure activity) to allow Activity Team West Berkshire:

(a) To remain competitive in the market with other neighbouring providers

(b) To remain an attractive offer to local groups and organisations whilst 
developing new markets and income streams

(c) To counter inflationary increases in costs incurred by the team.

5.3 The proposed charges are for the commercially focussed ‘traded’ programme and 
do not include any aspect of the internal Service Level Agreements or the 
agreement to use the site with the Adventure Dolphin (Pangbourne) Charity.

5.4 This proposed set of charges takes account of previous booking trends and 
compares with other local facilities to remain competitive and maximise the potential 
for bookings.

6. Conclusion

6.1 An increase of 1.6% in Fees and Charges for activity for 2016/17 will allow the team 
to remain competitive with local competition for the commercial traded aspect of the 
programme whilst new markets are explored

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Proposed Fees and Charges for 2017/18.

Page 1183



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1184



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 
2017/18– Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Activity Team West Berkshire (ATWB) commenced operation in April 2014 within a 
new business plan with the aim for the team to be delivering their programme cost 
neutral to the Council by March 2017.

1.2 Increases to the fees and charges were applied for 2013/14 to bring them in line 
with other providers in the market. This was followed by further annual increases as 
follows:

2014/15 – An average increase of 1.5% 
2015/16 – An average increase of 2.0% 
2016/17 – A freeze in fees and charges

2. Supporting Information

2.1 ATWB is seeking to maintain and develop a range of competitive charges for the 
commercial element of the programme along with competitive room hire tariffs 
which particularly factor in the competition and market price for similar activity 
centres elsewhere. 

2.2 The proposed charges are for the commercially focussed ‘traded’ programme and 
do not include any aspect of the internal Service Level Agreements or the 
agreement to use the site with the Adventure Dolphin (Pangbourne) Charity.

2.3 This proposed set of charges takes account of previous booking trends; recognises 
peak and off peak time tariffs and compares with other local facilities and feedback 
from parents and participants during the summer period to remain competitive and 
maximise the potential for bookings which will help the service achieve its business 
objectives and help develop new markets

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 To maintain fees and charges for activity at the 2016/17 rate to consolidate the 
programme.

3.2 To increase the fees and charges applied at least by the level of inflation, 1.6% to 
reflect inflationary rises in costs.

4. Proposals

4.1 The Activity Team West Berkshire service is seeking to maintain and develop a 
range of competitive charges for the commercial element of the programme along 
with revised room hire tariffs which particularly factor in the competition and market 
price for similar activity centres elsewhere whilst reflecting inflationary pressures on 
costs.

Page 1185



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18– Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4.2 The proposed maximum charges for activity for 2016/17 would be as set out in 
Appendix C. 

4.3 It is proposed to increase the charges set in 2016/17 by 1.6% for 2017/18

5. Conclusion

5.1 Increasing the fees and charges by 1.6% will help maintain the service on a similar 
footing to market competition for the commercial traded aspect of the programme 
whilst new markets are developed.

6. Consultation and Engagement

6.1 The proposed charges follow feedback from parents and participants during the 
summer period - plus a review of other similar types of facilities

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
All Wards – participants come from all areas of the district and wider.
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities

The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:

HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves

Officer details:
Name: Jim Sweeting
Job Title: Sport and Leisure Manager
Tel No: 01635 519251
E-mail Address: jim.sweeting1@ntlworld.com

Page 1186



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18– Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and 
Charges for 2017/18

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Jim Sweeting

Name of assessor: Jim Sweeting

Date of assessment: 28-09-2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To bring in Activity Team West Berkshire programme of 
activity cost neutral to the Council

Objectives: Annual review of fees and charges to allow the service 
to market their programme

Outcomes: To increase the fees and charges for 2017/18 by an 
average of 1.6%

Benefits: Service remains competitive against local similar 
providers

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 

Page 1187



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18– Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Further Comments relating to the item:

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
All groups are treated in the same way – the team has been proactive in recent years 
to develop buddy schemes which will open up activity to those with a disability

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Charges are for a universal service and do not impact adversely on anyone who does 
not wish to participate in the advertised programme. The service has been pro active 
in developing support programmes which have opened up the service to people who 
would traditionally not be able to access similar provision previously

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name:  Jim Sweeting Date:  28-09-2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1188



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18– Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix C
Activity Team West Berkshire proposed maximum charges for 2016/17 

 2016/17 2017/18
Bronze DofE Package £400.00 £405.00
Silver DofE Package £496.00 £504.00
Gold DofE Package. £605.00 £615.00

School Holiday activities – core commercial activity

 2016/17 2017/18
Evening Climbing Course £60.00 £61.00

Adult Evening Courses £70.00 £71.00

Taste of Adventure (1 day) £37.50 £38.00

School Holiday half day canoeing courses –adult (5 half days) £130.00 £132.00

School Holiday half day canoeing courses –young person (5 half 
days)

£110.00 £112.00

School Holiday half day climbing courses –Adult (4 half days) £120.00 £122.00

School Holiday half day climbing courses – young person (4 half 
days)

£110.00 £112.00

Local Activity Weeks £250.00 £255.00

Multi Activity Camp £395.00 £401.00

Day Trips - Targeting 13 - 18 age group £47.50 £48.00

Trailer Per ½ Day £10.00 £10.20

Trailer Per Day £15.00 £15.25

Trailer Per Week £75.00 £76.20

Boat Hire (Must have own qualified staff) per boat per 2 hr 
Session.

£5.00 £5.10

Administration Charge Per Hour £25.00 £25.50

Staff Day Rate (7.5 hrs) £300.00 £305.00

Staff Residential Day Rate (16hrs) £500.00 £508.00

Night Staff Rate (7.5hrs) £300.00 £305.00

Emergency Staff call out £250.00 £255.00

Page 1189



Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18– Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Group prices

 2016/17 2017/18
School (Groups of up to 8 for 2hrs) £100.00 £102.00
School Price per head - over 8 participants for 2 hours. £12.50 £12.70
Schools Climbing - Group of up to 12 £144.00 £146.50
Schools climbing Price per head - over 12 participants £12.00 £12.20
1:2 Session (1.5hrs) Individual coaching (market led) £90.00 £91.50
West Berkshire Council Children’s’ Services (Hourly Rate) - 
Groups of up to 8

£40.00 £41.00

West Berkshire Council Children’s’ Services (Hourly Rate) - cost 
per head for over 8 participants

£5.00 £5.10

Support Staff (per hour) £40.00 £41.00
Evening Sessions (1.5) (scouts/guides/brownies/community 
groups (Market Led) - Groups up to 40 participants

£80.00 £81.50

Evening Sessions (1.5) (scouts/guides/brownies/community 
groups (Market Led) - For every eight above 40.

£80.00 £81.50

AAP DofE Bronze £95.00 £96.50
AAP DofE Silver £142.50 £145.00
AAP DofE Gold £190.00 £193.00
Parties up to 12 £150.00 £152.50
Parties up to 16 £200.00 £203.00
Parties per individual above £12.50 £12.70

HALL HIRE CHARGES
1ST April 2016 – 1ST April 2017

MAIN HALL
Hourly Rate

LOUNGE
Hourly Rate

DEVELOPMENT 
ROOM 
Hourly Rate

Monday to Friday £25.40 £15.30 £15.30

Saturday and Sunday
10am-6pm

£25.40 £15.30 £17.80

£254.00 Total 
Hire

Included Not AvailableSaturday 
6pm – 11.30pm

         (Plus £250 Bond – refundable after event)

Weddings 
This would include setup Friday after 
6pm and take down up to 12pm on 
the Sunday.

£762.00 Included Not Available

Corporate Events – 
This rate is exclusive to hirers 
booking 1 or more activity sessions 
@ £130 per 2 hour session.

£30.50

Page 1190



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017
Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 8 December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Graham Jones
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 10 November 2016

Report Author: Jim Sweeting
Forward Plan Ref: C3099

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To implement the contractual requirement for an annual price review for 2017 for 
the leisure contractor to come into effect from 1st January 2017.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Council approve the proposed increase in Fees and Charges as outlined for 
the leisure management contract.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: There are no direct implications to the Council’s own 
budgets from the contractor implementing any increase in 
Fees and Charges. Within the terms of the Leisure 
Contract, the contractor retains all income. An income 
share arrangement is specified within the contract should 
end of year surpluses be above a certain threshold

3.2 Policy: The Leisure contract was changed in 2010/11 to 
accommodate a review of Fees and Charges prior to 
January of the following and subsequent years. This now 
forms a condition of the contract between West Berkshire 
Council and Legacy Leisure

3.3 Personnel: None

3.4 Legal: Agreement to any increase in leisure Contract Fees and 
Charges will be formally recorded through an exchange of 
letters and will be included in the Council’s published 
schedule of Fees and Charges for 2017/18

3.5 Risk Management: None

3.6 Property: None

3.7 Other: None

Page 1191

Agenda Item 19.



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

4. Other options considered

4.1 The Fees and Charges for the Leisure Centres are set by the leisure contractor, the 
proposals outlined are those which have been presented by Legacy Leisure as part 
of their Business Plan for the West Berkshire contract for 2016. Consideration is 
given to the level of fees and charges set by local competitors in the industry.

4.2 The contractor was invited to consider an increase in fees and charges above the 
rate of inflation however it was considered this would make the centres 
uncompetitive and increase the potential for a fall in income received.

Page 1192



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 In establishing their proposed fees and charges for core activity at leisure centres 
for 2017 the contractor has outlined the standard (non card holder) prices as 
outlined in Appendix C. Once discounts as set out in 5.2 are applied it results in an 
average increase of 1.6% in the charges applied to West Berkshire Card holders in 
line with the Retail Price Index at the end of the Contract year (June 2016).

5.2 To make it simpler for customers to understand the benefits of being a West 
Berkshire Card holder it was agreed in December 2016 that the discount applied to 
West Berkshire Card holders would change from a basic 10% to flat rates applied 
as follows:

(a) £1.00 for adult activity

(b) £0.50p for junior activity

(c) £5.00 for team sports

It is not proposed by the contractor to change the level of discount received by West 
Berkshire Card Holders in 2017.

5.3 Benchmarking against other authorities indicates that the discounts applied for West 
Berkshire card holders are in line with other Local Authority leisure centres in the 
neighbouring area

6. Conclusion

6.1 When the proposed fees and charges are benchmarked against surrounding Local 
Authority owned facilities it is seen that charges in West Berkshire are at the lower 
end of the comparison thus representing good value for money to West Berkshire 
residents.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Maximum Fees and Charges Proposed for ‘Core Activity’ at the 
Leisure Centres for 2017

Page 1193



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1194



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – 
Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The leisure centre fees and charges are reviewed annually for implementation on 
the 1st January each year.

1.2 The Council’s contractor is Parkwood Leisure Ltd with the management of the 
centres delivered by their charitable arm Legacy Leisure. The current contract runs 
through to the end of June 2022. The contractor sets the charges for each year 
based on its business plan and then submits them to West Berkshire Council as 
part of their business plan for the year.

1.3 For 2016 West Berkshire Council agreed an average increase in Fees of Charges 
of 1.0%

1.4 Within the terms of the Leisure Contract, the contractor retains all income raised. An 
income share arrangement is specified within the contract should end of year 
surpluses be above a certain threshold.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 In drawing up their proposed fees and charges for 2017 the contractor has reviewed 
their business plan for the West Berkshire contract and benchmarking the proposed 
fees and charges against Local Authority owned leisure facilities for the surrounding 
area demonstrates that the proposed Fees and Charges represent good value for 
money for West Berkshire residents.

2.2 The West Berkshire Card was introduced in 2009 in response to an Audit 
Commission inspection of Cultural Services which recommended that a 
methodology should be adopted to ensure that service providers knew who their 
customers were. 

2.3 The West Berkshire card is provided free of charge to West Berkshire residents and 
the ability to purchase the benefits at leisure centres was made available to non 
residents. Card holders initially received a 10% discount against standard charges 
at leisure centres.

2.4 To date over 47,000 cards have been activated in leisure centres with over 24,300 
currently regarded as being active in 2016.

2.5 Following a proposal from the contractor to simplify the discounts applied for card 
holders it was agreed that the 10% discount would be replaced with a flat rate as 
follows:

(a) £1 per for adult activity

(b) £0.50p for junior activity

Page 1195



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

(c) £5.00 for team sports

With a minimum discount of 10% applied to ensure any future price increases 
maintain the level of discount outlined.

2.6  For 2017 the contractor is not proposing any changes to the discounts applied to 
West Berkshire card Holders.

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 The contractor has considered a range of fees and charges which ensure the 
leisure centres remain competitive with other facilities within the district and those 
within neighbouring authorities also.

3.2 The contractor was invited to consider an increase in fees and charges above the 
rate of inflation however it was considered this would make the centres 
uncompetitive and increase the potential for a fall in the income received.

4. Proposals

4.1 For 2017 the contractor is looking at Flexible competitive charges across the 
contract which particularly factor in the competition and market rates for West 
Berkshire Leisure centres both within the district and from those in neighbouring 
authorities.  To accommodate this, Legacy Leisure are looking at flexible charges to 
respond to local markets with an average rise across the contract of 1.6%, against 
the RPI rate of 1.6% for June 2016 – the end of the previous contract year.

4.2 The proposed maximum ‘Core’ activity charges for the leisure centres would be as 
set out in Appendix C.

5. Conclusion

5.1 When the proposed fees and charges are benchmarked against surrounding Local 
Authority owned facilities it is seen that charges in West Berkshire are at the lower 
end of the comparison thus representing good value for money to West Berkshire 
residents

6. Consultation and Engagement

6.1 The proposed fees and charges are being considered during the current round of 
leisure centre Joint Advisory Committee meetings involving representatives from 
schools, Parish/Town Councils, contractor. In addition the most recent customer 
survey has informed the report.

Background Papers:
Minutes from Joint Advisory Committees for the Leisure centres

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council

Page 1196



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
The leisure centres draw customers from across the district therefore all wards are 
affected.
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:

HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves

Officer details:
Name: Jim Sweeting
Job Title: Sport and Leisure Manager
Tel No: 01635 519251
E-mail Address: jim.sweeting@westberks.gov.uk 

Page 1197

mailto:jim.sweeting@westberks.gov.uk


Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One
We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Jim Sweeting

Name of assessor: Jim Sweeting

Date of assessment: 16-09-2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To consider the fees and charges proposed by the 
leisure contractor for 2016

Objectives: To agree the core fees and charges with the leisure 
contractor for 2016

Outcomes: Fees and Charges agreed and published prior to 
coming into effect on January 1st

Benefits: Consistent charging policy across facilities in West 
Berkshire.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 1198



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Further Comments relating to the item:

None of the listed groups are affected more positively or negatively than others by the 
proposed changes. For those on low incomes in which ever group access to a 
concessionary programme is available which provides reduced admission during off 
peak times. Bespoke schemes have also been commissioned by Public Health and 
the Communities directive to provide further support towards programmes.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Benchmarking suggests that the charges levied at West Berkshire’s leisure centres 
compare very favourably with other similar types of facilities in the area. Access is by 
both pay and play and membership so participants can access the facility on a pay as 
you go basis rather than having to commit to a monthly membership or contract.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Benchmarking suggests that the charges levied at West Berkshire’s leisure centres 
compare very favourably with other similar types of facilities in the area. Access is by 
both pay and play and membership so participants can access the facility on a pay as 
you go basis rather than having to commit to a monthly membership or contract.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Page 1199



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Name:Jim Sweeting Date:16-09-2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1200



Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix C
Proposed Core Charges for Leisure Centre Users

 2016 2017  

 

WB 
Card 
price

Non 
WB 
Card 
price  

WB 
Card 
price

Standard 
(Non WB 
Card 
price)  

West Berkshire Card Resident Free   Free  
West Berkshire Card - non resident £20.00   £20.00
    
Swimming    
Adult £3.60 £4.60 £3.70 £4,70
Junior £2.30 £2.80  £2.40 £2.90
  
Early Morning Swim  
Adult £2.80 £3.80  £2.90 £3.90
Junior £1.65 £2.15  £1.70 £2.20
  
Gym  
Casual User £7.20 £8.20  £7.30 £8.30
Casual User Induction £15.00 £16.00  £15.00 £16.00
Classes £5.60 £6.60  £5.70 £6.70
Activity for Health – GP Referral £3.10 £4.10  £3.20 £4.20
Hall Hire/Sports  
Full Sports Hall (4 courts) - adult £42.00 £47.00  £43.00 £48.00
Full Sports Hall (4 courts) - junior £22.00 £27.00  £22.50 £27.50
Badminton Court - adult £8.80 £9.80  £9.00 £10.00
Badminton - junior £5.50 £6.00  £5.60 £6.10
Squash Court - adult £10.30 £11.30  £10.50 £11.50
Squash Court - junior £3.80 £4.30  £3.90 £4.40
  
Monthly Direct Debit £36.00 £39.00  £36.00 £39.00
     
Concession     

Gym £3.40 £3.50
During 

concessionary 
periods

Swimming/Badminton/Squash/Table 
Tennis £1.85 £1.90

During 
concessionary 

periods

Page 1201



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1202



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Proposed Member Development Programme 
2017/18

Committee considering 
report: Council on 8 December 2016

Portfolio Member: Councillor James Fredrickson
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 16 November 2016

Report Author: Jude Thomas
Forward Plan Ref: C3097

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To agree the proposed Member Development Programme for 2017/18.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members are asked to discuss and, if appropriate, agree the proposed Member 
Development Programme for 2017/18.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The Member Development Programme will be delivered 
within the existing budget.

3.2 Policy: N/A

3.3 Personnel: N/A

3.4 Legal: N/A N/A

3.5 Risk Management: N/A

3.6 Property: N/A

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

Not to run a Member Development Programme

Page 1203

Agenda Item 20.



Proposed Member Development Programme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The Member Development Group initially met on 21 September 2016 and gave 
consideration to the Member Development Programme for the 2017/18 Municipal 
Year. Following initial consultation, the Member Development Group met again on 
23 November 2016 to update and finalise the draft programme.

5.2 To ensure that the programme for 2017/18 addresses the issues that are of most 
interest and use, Members, Corporate Directors and Heads of Service had been 
canvassed for suggestions as to what should be included. All proposals were given 
full consideration.  

5.3 The Member Development Group agreed to continue with the three tier programme 
for 2017/18 which included mandatory, strategic (linked to the Council’s priorities) 
and specialist subjects. The proposed programme has been populated with these 
topics, together with the suggestions received from Members and Heads of Service. 
See Appendix A.

5.4 The start time for evening sessions was moved to 7:00pm from 6:00pm for the 
current programme, in response to requests from Members that found the earlier 
start time an obstacle to attendance. It was agreed that the impact on attendance of 
the new time would be reviewed at the end of the programme and the start time 
adjusted, if appropriate. Some Members that have previously been unable to attend 
the sessions due to the 6:00pm start time, have attended within the current year’s 
programme, whilst others have found the start time too late. With this in mind, the 
Member Development Group proposes amending the start time from 7:00pm to 
6:30pm. In the main, an earlier 2:00pm session is also scheduled.

5.5 Mindful of the demands upon Members’ time, the Member Development Group is 
continually exploring additional ways of delivering the training, in order to make it 
more accessible to Members. 

5.6 With this in mind,  the use of webcasting for some sessions to allow them to be 
viewed remotely  is also being explored. The Policy & Finance Update session held 
on 23 November 2016, was webcast to four Members, as a pilot. At the time of 
writing the report, Members and presenters have not had the opportunity to provide 
detailed feedback but initial comments have been received. Feedback is mixed, but 
would suggest that it is worth developing further. As a result, further sessions will be 
piloted and specific sessions within the programme have been identified for possible 
webcasting, subject to the pilot. Whilst webcasting removes the disadvantages of 
travel for geographically remote Members, there is some concern about the impact 
live-streaming will have on the quality of discussion and debate within the more 
interactive/workshop style of session, favoured by Members. The impact on officer 
time should also be noted. A short session on the technicalities of webcasting will 
be organised for Members immediately before the June Council meeting.

5.7 Further to the contents of the draft programme, an additional, more strategic 
discussion session, The Future of Transport in West Berkshire, has been proposed 
and will be confirmed upon the decision of Council. 

5.8 Officers are also exploring other options such as video-conferencing, on-line 
training, instant messaging and Skype to complement and enhance the current 
format of the Member Development Programme and further training on the how to 

Page 1204



Proposed Member Development Programme 2017/18

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

get the best from the tablets will be offered in the new year. It is hoped that this will 
encourage greater use and maximise the potential of the tablets. 

5.9 It is also proposed that e-learning sessions be re-launched. 

5.10 As is existing practice, the presentations from all sessions will be published on the 
intranet after the repeat session.

6. Conclusion

6.1 In order to ensure that all Members are fully briefed on the diverse activities, 
responsibilities and pressures on the Council, and in order to best undertake their 
roles as elected Councillors, Members are encouraged to adopt the proposed 
programme and make every effort to attend all sessions.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Proposed Member Development Programme 2017/18

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 1205



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1206



 Member Development Programme 2017-18

 Title Date Time Venue Audience Mandatory Content Lead Officer

MANDATORY

Planning & Licensing Update 1 13.11.17

23.11.17

TBC

14:00

18:30

All For Planning and 

Licensing 

Members

To include Planning Committees for 

Planning Members

Head of Planning & Countryside

Head of Culture & Environment Protection

Planning & Licensing Update 2 Ad Hoc TBC All For Planning and 

Licensing 

Members

Standing item Head of Planning & Countryside

Head of Culture & Environment Protection

STRATEGIC

How the Council works (Update) * 22.5.17

7.6.17

18:30

14:00

All No Head of Strategic Support

Monitoring Officer

Health Prevention Matters */** 15.6.17

20.6.17

18:30

14:00

All No Abbreviated update of LGA training  - 

Oct 2016

Head of Health & Wellbeing

Housing * 3.7.17

13.7.17

18:30

14:00

All No Benefits & Welfare Reform 

Update/Staying Put

Head of Care Comm, Housing & Safeguarding

Housing Strategy & Operations Manager

Safeguarding 7.9.17

11.9.17

18:30

14:00

All No Children & Adult Head of Children & Family Services

Head of Care Comm, Housing & Safeguarding

Head of Adult Social Care

Policy & Finance Update 1 * 19.10.17 

7.11.17

18:30

14:00

All No Standing item Chief Executive

Head of Strategic Support

Head of Finance

Future of Transport in West Berkshire TBC 15.2.18

26.2.18

TBC

18:30

14:00

All No Strategic discusson session Head of Highways & Transport

Policy & Finance Update 2 * 19.3.18

29.3.18

14:00

18:30

All No Standing item Chief Executive

Head of Strategic Support

Head of Finance

Corporate Programme * 19.4.18

24.4.18

14:00

18:30

All No Standing item Head of Corporate Programme Management

29/11/16 2

P
age 1207



 Member Development Programme 2017-18

 Title Date Time Venue Audience Mandatory Content Lead Officer

SPECIALIST

Dealing With Waste in West Berkshire – 

Padworth & Chineham

18.9.17

25.9.17

TBC

18:30

18:30

Padworth  Household 

Waste & Recycling Centre

All No Including tour of Padworth site and 

film of Chineham

Limited No.s

Head of Culture & Environment Protection

Waste Manager

Digital Transformation * 2.10.17

11.10.17

18:30

14:00

All No Head of Strategic Support

Digital Services Manager

Scrutiny – for Scrutiny Members 18.1.18

22.1.18

18:30

14:00

All No External provider

E-LEARNING

Declarations of Interest TBC Head of Legal 

Democratic Services Manager

Pre-budget finance TBC Head of Finance

Equalities ** All Members that 

have not already 

attended traininig

Yes Principal Policy Officer (Equalities)

Solicitor

Team Leader - Legal

REPEAT MANDATORY INDUCTION SESSIONS

* Subject to the pilot, these sessions have been identified for webcasting.

** These sessions have been identified as suitable for parish attendance.

29/11/16 2

P
age 1208



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix B
Equality Impact Assessment – Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage 2, Equality 
Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Member Development Programme 2017-18

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): V1 – 4 October 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Jude Thomas

Name of assessor:

Date of assessment:

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed Yes

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed No

Function Yes Is changing No

Service No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To ensure that Members are fully briefed in significant 
functions and policies of the Council.

Objectives: That all Members are well briefed in significant 
functions and policies of the Council.

Outcomes: That Members have an understanding of the diverse 
role of the Council.

Benefits: That Members are informed on the issues affecting the 
Council.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 1209



Error! No text of specified style in document.

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

All Members fully informed of 
impact issues for groups.

Further Comments relating to the item:

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required NA

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name: Jude Thomas Date: 4.10.16

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1210



West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of 
Public Meetings

Committee considering 
report: Council on 8 December 2016

Portfolio Member: Councillor Roger Croft
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 10 November 2016

Report Author: Moira Fraser, Democratic and Electoral Services Manager
Forward Plan Ref: C3197

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To recommend a timetable of meetings for the 2017/18 Municipal Year. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 To approve the timetable of public meetings for the 2017/18 Municipal Year. 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: There are no financial implications associated with the 
publication of this report. The costs associated with holding 
meetings, Members’ attendance and the publication of 
agendas will be met from existing budgets. 

3.2 Policy: This report accords with the Council’s policy of publishing 
its timetable of meetings. 

3.3 Personnel: None. 

3.4 Legal: None. 

3.5 Risk Management: None. 

3.6 Property: None. 

3.7 Other: n/a. 

4. Other options considered

4.1 None 

Page 1211

Agenda Item 21.



2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of Public Meetings

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The timetable of meetings for the Municipal Year 2017/18 is attached as Appendix 
B to the report and has been based on the following:

 Council meetings to be held in May, July, September, December and March;
 Executive meetings have been arranged to take cognisance of democratic 

requirements and holiday periods;
 Two Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission meetings are scheduled 

(May and December). Further meetings and Select Committee meetings will be 
convened as and when required;

 Area Planning Committees (both Western and Eastern) to be held on a three 
weekly cycle with provisional dates included for District Planning Committees. 
District Planning Committees will only be held if the meetings are required and 
additional meetings may be arranged to ensure that Planning timescales are 
adhered to.

 Licensing Committee meetings are arranged on an ad hoc basis;
 Health and Wellbeing Board meetings have been included on a bi-monthly 

basis. 
 Governance and Ethics Committees have been arranged to perform the roles 

previously undertaken by both the Standards Committee, i.e. to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors/co-opted Members and by 
the Governance and Audit Committee, i.e. to meet deadlines for Council 
meetings and to facilitate the signing off of the Council’s financial accounts;

 Personnel Committee meetings are arranged on an ad hoc basis;
 Four Corporate Parenting Panels are scheduled (June, September, December 

and March);
 Two District/Parish Conferences are scheduled each year (at the request of 

parishes these will be held on two different days of the week);
 Member Development sessions are scheduled in the timetable. Members are 

currently being consulted on a proposal to reschedule sessions at the 
conclusion of early evening meetings. These proposed dates will be finalised at 
the Member Development Group on 23 November 2016 and will be agreed at 
the December 2016 Council meeting. 

5.2 In addition the timetable, once agreed, is also shared with Town and Parish 
Councils and the Fire Authority so that it can be taken into consideration when their 
schedules of meetings are agreed.

6. Conclusion

6.1 The schedule has been drafted to ensure that the number of meetings takes into 
account the volume of business demands. Early adoption will allow time for 
Members to put meetings into their diaries prior to the commencement of the 
Municipal Year. The timetable will also form the basis of a committee programme 
for administrative purposes.  

7. Recommendation

7.1 It is recommended that the schedule for the 2017/18 Municipal Year be approved. 

Page 1212



2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of Public Meetings

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  
The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected: n/a

The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve all the Council Strategy aims 
and priorities by ensuring that a robust decision making framework is in place. 

Officer details:
Name: Moira Fraser
Job Title: Democratic and Electoral Services Manager
Tel No: 01635 519045
E-mail Address: mfraser@westberks.gov.uk

8. Appendices

8.1 Appendix A – Equalities Impact Assessment

8.2 Appendix B – Timetable of meetings May 2017 – May 2018

Page 1213



2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of Public Meetings

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Appendix A

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Timetable of public meetings

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Proposed timetable due for publication on 
30 November 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Moira Fraser

Name of assessor: Stephen Chard

Date of assessment: 1 October 2015

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function Yes Is changing Yes

Service No

1 What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy, function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims:

Objectives:

Outcomes:

To agree a timetable of public meetings for publication. 

Benefits: Agreeing and publishing the timetable in advance of the 
Municipal Year gives advanced notice of forthcoming 
public meetings. 

2 Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 1214



2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of Public Meetings

West Berkshire Council Council 8 December 2016

Comments relating to the item:

It is not envisaged that agreeing the dates of meetings in advance of the Municipal 
Year in which they will take place will adversely affect the majority of individuals who 
would wish to attend the meetings. Care is taken to ensure that meetings are held in 
venues with disabled access. It is noted that most of the Council’s public meetings do 
take place in the evenings which might impact on the ability of some residents to 
attend the meetings. Advertising meeting dates in advance should assist with 
mitigating this issue as those wishing to attend the meetings would have advance 
warning as to when they should take place. 

3 Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Please see comments above. 

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, then you should carry 
out a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4 Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No. 

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name: Stephen Chard Date: 1 October 2015

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 1215



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1216



West Berkshire Council – Timetable of Meetings - May 2017 to May 2018
MAY 2017 JUN 2017 JUL 2017 AUG 2017 SEP 2017 OCT 2017 NOV 2017 DEC 2017 JAN 2018 FEB 2018 MAR 2018 APR 2018 MAY 2018

Mon 1 1
Tues 2 1 2 1
Weds 3 E 2 1 W 3 2 E
Thur 4 X 1 3 2 4 1 1 C 3 X
Fri 5 2 4 1 3 1 5 2 2 4
Sat 6 3 1 5 2 4 2 6 3 3 5
Sun 7 4 2 6 3 1 5 3 7 4 4 1 6
Mon 8 5 3 7 4 2 6 4 8 5 G&E 5 2 7

Tues 9 C 6 CPP 4 C 8 5 3 7 DPC 5 CPP/ 
OSMC 9 6 6 3 8 C

Weds 10 7 W 5 E 9 W 6 E 4 D 8 E 6 10 7 E 7 D 4 W 9
Thur 11 8 6 10 7 X 5 9 7 C 11 8 8 5 10
Fri 12 9 7 11 8 6 10 8 12 9 9 6 11
Sat 13 10 8 12 9 7 11 9 13 10 10 7 12
Sun 14 11 9 13 10 8 12 10 14 11 11 8 13
Mon 15 12 10 14 11 9 13 11 15 12 12 9 14
Tues 16 OSMC 13 11 15 12 10 14 12 16 13 13 10 15
Weds 17 W 14 E 12 D 16 E 13 11 W 15 D 13 W 17 E/W 14 14 W 11 E 16 W
Thur 18 15  X 13 17 14 C 12 16 14 18 X 15 X 15 DPC 12 17
Fri 19 16 14 18 15 13 17 15 19 16 16 13 18
Sat 20 17 15 19 16 14 18 16 20 17 17 14 19
Sun 21 18 16 20 17 15 19 17 21 18 18 15 20
Mon 22 19 G&E/ARE 17 21 G&E 18 16 20 18 22 19 19 16 21
Tues 23 20 18 22 19 CPP 17 21 19 23 20 20 17 22
Weds 24 E 21 19 W 23 D 20 W 18 E 22 W 20 E 24 D 21 W 21 E 18 D 23 E
Thur 25 HWBB 22 20 24 21 19 X 23 X 21 X 25 HWBB 22 22 19 24 HWBB
Fri 26 23 21 25 22 20 24 22 26 23 23 20 25
Sat 27 24 22 26 23 21 25 23 27 24 24 21 26
Sun 28 25 23 27 24 22 26 24 28 25 25 22 27
Mon 29 26 24 28 25 23 27 G&E 25 29 26 26 23 G&E 28
Tues 30 27 25 29 26 24 28 26 30 27 27 CPP 24 29
Weds 31 D 28 W 26 E 30 W 27 E 25 29 E 27 31 W 28 E 28 25 W 30 D
Thur 29 27 X 31 28 HWBB 26 30 28 29 X 26 31
Fri 30 28 29 27 29 30 27
Sat 29 30 28 30 31 28
Sun 30 29 31 29
Mon 31 30 30
Tues 31

{{

C Council – 7.00pm except Budget meeting which starts at 6.30pm OSMC Overview & Scrutiny Mgmt Com – 6.30pm W Western Area Planning Cttee – 6.30pm HWBB Health and Wellbeing Board – 9.30am
X Executive – 5.00pm CSC Communities Select Cttee – 6.30pm E Eastern Area Planning Cttee – 6.30pm
G&E Governance and Ethics Committee – 5.00pm ESC Environment Select Cttee– 6.30pm D District Planning Committee (provisional dates) – 6.30pm 1 Bank Holiday
CPP Corporate Parenting Panel – 6.30pm RSC Resources Select Cttee – 6.30pm DPC District/Parish Conference – 6.30pm School Holiday

Public Meetings: All meetings are open to the public, with the exception of Conservative & Liberal Democrat Group Meetings. 
Venues: All meetings are held at Council Offices, Market Street, Newbury with the exception of: Eastern Area Planning Committee is usually held at the Calcot Centre, Highview.
Questions to Council and Executive: Questions must be submitted by 10.00am seven clear working days before the meeting.
District Planning: All stated dates are provisional subject to requirement.

P
age 1217



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 1218


	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	Draft Minutes - Extraordinary Meeting

	14. Joint Public Protection Partnership (C3158)
	14a. Joint PPP Supporting Information
	14b. Draft Inter Authority Agreement PPP

	15. Proposed Main Modifications to the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (HSA DPD) (C3188)
	15a. HSA main mods - App A supporting info
	15b. Appendix B - EQiA for HSA MM
	15ci. Appendix Ci  Schedule of MMs for FC
	15cii. Appendix Cii - SA Report for MM consultation with Appendices
	SA Report for Main Mods Consultation - FC version
	List of appendices:
	1  Relevant Plans and Programmes
	1  Non-Technical Summary
	1.1 Background
	1.2 Purpose of the Sustainability Appraisal
	1.3 Summary of the SA Process
	1.4 Statement dealing with the difference which the SA process has made
	1.5 Summary of likely significant effects of the Housing Site Allocations DPD
	1.5.1 Housing Site Allocations
	1.5.1.1 Newbury and Thatcham
	1.5.1.2 Eastern Area
	1.5.1.3 North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

	1.5.2 Sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
	1.5.3 Policies

	1.6 Conclusion

	2 Introduction
	2.1 The Development Plan for West Berkshire

	3 The Appraisal Methodology
	3.1 What is the SA/SEA? Why does it need to be done?
	3.2 Stages to the SA / SEA
	3.3 Consultation
	3.4 Difficulties encountered in compiling information or carrying out the assessment

	4 Background to the SA Report
	4.1 Requirement for the Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
	4.2 Stages of the SA
	4.3 Compliance with the SEA Directive / Regulations

	5 Sustainability Objectives, Baseline and Context
	5.1 Link to other policies, plans and programmes
	5.2 Key environmental, social and economic issues and opportunities
	5.3 Developing the SA Framework
	5.4 Background to Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects

	6 Developing and Refining Options and Assessing Effects
	6.1 Introduction
	6.2 Developing the Options
	6.3 Method of Approach
	6.4 Reasonable Alternatives
	6.4.1 Approach to Site Allocations
	6.4.2 Housing Sites
	6.4.3 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople sites
	6.4.4 Countryside Policies
	6.4.5 Parking Standards Policy
	6.4.6 Sandleford Park Policy

	6.5 Assessment of Options

	7 Appraisal
	7.1 Approach to Site Allocations

	Four options for the approach to Site Allocations were assessed.
	7.2 Housing Site Selection
	7.2.1 Newbury & Thatcham Spatial Area
	7.2.1.1 Newbury
	Newbury
	7.2.1.2 Thatcham
	7.2.1.3 Cold Ash

	7.2.2 Eastern Area Spatial Area
	7.2.2.1 Eastern Urban Area
	7.2.2.2 Theale

	7.2.3 East Kennet Valley Spatial Area
	7.2.3.1 Burghfield Common
	7.2.3.2 Mortimer
	7.2.3.3 Aldermaston
	7.2.3.4 Woolhampton

	7.2.4 AONB Spatial Area
	7.2.4.1 Hungerford
	7.2.4.2 Lambourn
	7.2.4.3 Pangbourne
	7.2.4.4 Bradfield Southend
	7.2.4.5 Chieveley
	7.2.4.6 Compton
	7.2.4.7 Great Shefford
	7.2.4.8 Hermitage
	7.2.4.9 Kintbury


	7.3 Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople Site Selection
	7.4 Countryside Policies
	7.5 Parking Standards Policy
	7.6 Sandleford Park Policy

	8 Next Stages
	9 Implementation
	In particular and in line with the guidance, monitoring will be focused on significant environmental effects, such as those;
	 Which indicate a likely breach of international, national or local legislation, recognised guidelines or standards
	 That may give rise to irreversible damage with a view to identifying trends before such damage is caused
	 Where there was uncertainty over possible adverse effects, and where monitoring would enable mitigation measures to be taken
	As The Housing Site Allocations DPD is a daughter document of the Core Strategy, and therefore, the Monitoring Framework of the Core Strategy will be used to monitor the impact of the DPD.  The key indicators fed into the Monitoring Framework which wi...
	10 Conclusions on the Overall Sustainability of the Housing Site Allocations DPD

	Appx 9a Newb_Thatch
	Cover Appx_9a_Newb_Thatcham
	Newbury Site Assessments
	NEW042 Site As (25.10.16)
	NEW042 SA_SEA (updated 25.10.26)
	NEW042 Sum (25.10.16)
	NEW045 Site As (5.10.16)
	NEW045  SA_SEA (updated 25.10.16)
	NEW045 Sum (25.10.16)
	Thatcham Site Assessments
	THA004 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	THA006 Sum & Rec Post PS
	THA007 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA007 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA007 Sum & Rec (21.11.2016)
	THA008 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA008 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA008 Sum & Rec (21.11.2016)
	THA011 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA011 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA011 Sum & Rec (21.11.2016)
	THA014 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA014 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA014 Sum (21.11.2016)
	THA016 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	THA019 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA019 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA019 Sum & Rec (21.11.2016)
	THA024 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA024 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA024 Sum (21.11.2016)
	THA025 Site As ( sept 16)
	THA025 SA_SEA (updated 22.09.15)
	THA025 Sum & Rec (sept 16)
	THA027 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA027 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA027 Sum (21.11.2016)
	THA028 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THA0028 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THA028 Sum (21.11.2016)
	Cold Ash Site Assessments
	COL002 Site As (25.10.16)
	COL002 SA_SEA (25.10.16)
	COL002 Sum (25.10.16)
	COL004 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	COL004 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	COL004 Summary & Rec (21.11.2016)
	COL008 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	COL010 Site As (exc.) (21.11.2016)

	Appx 9b EUA & Theale
	Appx 9b EUA & Theale
	SA-SEA_Appx_9b_Eastern_Area Cover
	EUA Site Assessments
	EUA008 Summary & Recommendation (updated sept 2016
	EUA025 Site Assessment (updated 25.10.16)
	EUA025 SA_SEA (updated 25.10.16)
	EUA025 Summary & Recommendation (updated 25.10.16)
	EUA026 Site Assessment (updated 26.10.16)
	EUA026 SA_SEA (updated 26.10.16)
	EUA026 Summary & Recommendation 2 (updated 26.10.16)
	EUA031 Site Assessment (updated 25.10.16)
	EUA031 Summary & Recommendation (25.10.16)

	Theale Site Assessments
	THE001 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THE001 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THE001 Summary & Recommendation (21.11.2016)
	THE002 Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THE002 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THE002 Summary & Recommendation (21.11.2016)
	THE003 Site Assessment (updated 26.10.16)
	THE003 Summary & Recommendation (updated 26.10.16)
	THE004 Site Assessment (SB) (21.11.2016)
	THE005 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	THE005 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	THE005 Summary & Recommendation 2 (21.11.2016)
	THE007 Site Assessment (exc) (21.11.2016)
	THE009 Site Assessment (Updated Sept 16)
	THE009 SA_SEA (Updated Sept 16)
	THE009 Summary & Recommendation (updated sept 2016)

	Appx 9c EKV
	SA-SEA_Appx_9c_East_Kennet_Valley Cover
	Aldermaston Site Visits
	ALD001 Site Assessment (exc.) (21.11.2016)
	ALD002 Site Assessment (exc) (21.11.2016)
	Woolhampton Site Assessments
	WOOL001 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	WOOL001 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	WOOL001 Summary & Recommendation (21.11.2016)
	WOOL003 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	WOOL003 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	WOOL003 Summary & Recommendation (21.11.2016)
	WOOL004 Site Assessment (exc) (21.11.2016)
	WOOL005 Site Assessment (21.11.2016)
	WOOL005 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	WOOL005 Summary & Recommendation (21.11.2016)
	WOOL006 Sum & Rec (updated sept 16)

	Appx 9d AONB
	SA-SEA_Appx_9d_AONB Cover
	Hungerford Site Assessments
	HUN001Sum (26.10.16)
	HUN007 Sum (26.10.16)
	Lambourn Site Assessments
	LAM002A Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM002A SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	LAM002A Sum (21.11.2016)
	LAM002B Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM003 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	LAM004 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	LAM005 Site As (26.10.16)
	LAM005 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	LAM005 Sum (14.11.16)
	LAM006 Site As (exc) (21.11.2016)
	LAM007 Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM007 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	LAM007 Sum (21.11.2016)
	LAM009 Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM009 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	LAM009 Sum (21.11.2016)
	LAM013 Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM013 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	LAM013 Sum
	LAM014 Site As (21.11.2016)
	LAM015 Site As (26.10.16)
	LAM015 SA_SEA (updated 26.10.16)
	LAM015 Sum (26.10.16)
	Pangbourne Site Visits
	PAN001 Site As (21.11.2016)
	PAN001 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	PAN001 Site Sum (21.11.2016)
	PAN002 Sum (26.10.16)
	PAN008 Site As (SB) (21.11.2016)
	PAN009 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	PAN010 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	PAN011 Site As (exc) (21.11.2016)
	Bradfield Southend Site Assess
	BRS001 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	BRS003 Site As (21.11.2016)
	BRS003 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	BRS003 Sum (21.11.2016)
	BRS004 Site As (26.10.16)
	BRS004 SA_SEA (sept 2016)
	BRS004 Sum (sept 16)
	BRS005 Site As (21.11.2016)
	BRS005 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	BRS005 Sum (21.11.2016)
	BRS006 Site As (21.11.2016)
	BRS006 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	BRS006 Sum (21.11.2016)
	Chieveley site assess
	CHI001 Site As (26.10.16)
	CHI008 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	CHI009 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	CHI011 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	CHI015 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	CHI018 Site As (ncd) (21.11.2016)
	Compton site assess
	COM001 Site As (21.11.2016)
	COM002 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	COM004 Site As (26.10.16)
	COM004 SA_SEA (26.10.16)
	COM004 Sum (26.10.16)
	Recommendation:
	Justification:
	Development on this site would provide the opportunity to develop a brownfield site, adjacent to the settlement boundary. The site has been identified as an ‘opportunity area’ within the adopted Core Strategy and a Supplementary Planning Document has ...

	COM006 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	COM007 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	COM008 Site As (exc.) (21.11.2016)
	COM009 Site As (Exc)(21.11.2016)
	COM010 Site As (21.11.2016)
	COM010 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	COM010 Sum (21.11.2016)
	Recommendation:

	COM011 Site As (exc.) (21.11.2016)
	Great Shefford site assessments
	GSH001 Site As (21.11.2016)
	GSH001 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	GSH001 Sum (21.11.2016)
	Hermitage site assessments
	HER001 Site As (21.11.2016)
	HER001 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	HER001 Sum (21.11.2016)
	HER004 Site As (26.10.16)
	HER004 SA_SEA (26.10.2016)
	HER004 Sum (26.10.16)
	HER007 Site As (Excl.) (21.11.2016)
	HER009 Site As (21.11.2016)
	HER009 SA_SEA ((21.11.2016)
	HER009 Sum (21.11.2016)
	HER010 Site As (Exc.) (21.11.2016)
	HER011 Site As (21.11.2016)
	HER011 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	HER011 Sum (21.11.2016)
	HER012 Site As(Exc) (21.11.2016)
	HER013 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	HER015 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	HER016 Site As (21.11.2016)
	HER016 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	HER016 Sum (21.11.2016)
	Kintbury site assessments
	KIN001 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	KIN002 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	KIN004 Site As (21.11.2016)
	KIN004 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	KIN004 Sum (21.11.2016)
	KIN005 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	KIN008 Site As (21.11.2016)
	KIN008 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	KIN008 Sum (21.11.2016)
	KIN009 Site As (21.11.2016)
	KIN009 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	KIN009 Sum (21.11.2016)
	KIN010 Site As (NCD) (21.11.2016)
	KIN014 Site As (Exc) (21.11.2016)
	KIN015 Site As (21.11.2016)
	KIN015 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	KIN015 Sum (21.11.2016)
	KIN016 Site As (21.11.2016)
	KIN016 SA_SEA (21.11.2016)
	KIN016 Sum (21.11.2016)

	Appx 10 GTSS
	GTSS Appx 10 cover
	GTTS6B Site assessmentl+Site commentary (updated 01.11.16)

	Appendix 14

	15ciii. Appendix Ciii - HRA Screening Report Addendum
	West Berkshire Local Plan
	Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document
	Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report
	Addendum – Proposed Main Modifications and Minor Changes
	Contents
	1. Introduction          3
	2. Screening of proposed Main Modifications and Minor Changes     6
	3. Conclusions          42


	16. Neighbourhood Planning (C3198)
	16a. Neighbourhood Planning – Supporting Information
	16b. Neighbourhood Planning – Appendix C
	16c. Neighbourhood Planning – Appendix D
	16d. Neighbourhood Planning – Appendix E

	17. Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 (C3171)
	17a. Council Tax Support Scheme 2017_2018 supporting information
	17b. Hard copy survey - Ctax 2017-18 as at 9-11-16

	18. Activity Team West Berkshire Fees and Charges 2017/18 (C3098)
	18a. ATWB - Fees and Charges - Support Information

	19. Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017 (C3099)
	19a. Supporting Information - Leisure Centre Fees and Charges 2017

	20. Proposed Member Development Programme - 2017/18 (C3097)
	20a. Member Development Programme 2017 18
	20b. Proposed Member Development Programme 201718 - EIA

	21. 2017/18 West Berkshire Council Timetable of Public Meetings (C3197)
	Timetable of Meetings 2017-18 (without OB etc)




